
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

Tuesday, 23rd September, 2025 
at 4.00 pm – please note earlier start time 
 
 
 

in the Card Room, Town Hall, Saturday Market 
Place, King’s Lynn and available for the public to 
view on WestNorfolkBC on You Tube 
 

https://www.youtube.com/user/WestNorfolkBC


 

 
 
 

King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX 
Telephone: 01553 616200 
Fax: 01553 691663 
 

  
CABINET AGENDA 

 

 

 

DATE: CABINET - TUESDAY, 23RD SEPTEMBER, 2025 
 

VENUE: CARD ROOM - TOWN HALL, SATURDAY 
MARKET PLACE, KING'S LYNN PE30 5DQ 
 

TIME: 4.00 pm 
 

 

As required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012  -  no items are scheduled to be considered 
in private.   
 
Should you wish to make any representations in relation to the meeting 
being held in private for the consideration of the any items, you should 
contact democratic.services@west-norfolk.gov.uk  

 
 

1.   APOLOGIES  

 To receive apologies for absence. 

2.   MINUTES (Pages 5 - 21) 

 To approve the Minutes of the Meetings held on 21 July 2025, 24 July 2025 
and 16 September 2025 (to follow).  

3.   URGENT BUSINESS  

 To consider any business, which by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chair proposes to accept, under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Page 22) 

 Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not 
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it 

mailto:democratic.services@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 

relates.  If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the member should 
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed. 

 

These declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 
of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area. 

5.   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  

 To receive any Chair’s correspondence. 

6.   MEMBERS PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34  

 To note the names of any Councillors who wish to address the meeting under 
Standing Order 34. 
 
Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chair of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to be heard 
before a decision on that item is taken. 

7.   CALLED IN MATTERS  

 To report on any Cabinet Decisions called in. 

8.   FORWARD DECISIONS (Pages 23 - 27) 

 A copy of the Forward Decisions List is attached 

9.   MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET FROM OTHER BODIES (Pages 28 - 
39) 

 To receive any comments and recommendations from other Council bodies:   
 
Recommendations from Regeneration & Development Panel  
CIL Funding Policy and Spending Strategy 
 
Recommendations from Corporate Performance Panel  
Quarter 1 25-26 Performance Management Report 
Changes to the Constitution  
Budget Monitoring Quarter 1 – 25-26 
 
Recommendations from the Environment and Community Panel  
Playing Pitch and Sports Facilities Strategy Adoption 
King’s Lynn Cemetery Provision 
 

10.   QUARTER 1 2025-2026 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT (Pages 
40 - 66) 
 

11.   COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) - FUNDING POLICY AND 
SPENDING STRATEGY (Pages 67 - 145) 
 



 

 

12.   PLAYING PITCH AND SPORTS FACILITIES STRATEGY ADOPTION 
(Pages 146 - 552) 
 

13.   BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 1 - 2025/2026 (Pages 553 - 588) 
 

14.   KING'S LYNN CEMETERY PROVISION (Pages 589 - 594) 
 

15.   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE INFORMAL WORKING 
GROUP (Pages 595 - 601) 
 

16.   CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION (Pages 602 - 626) 
 

 
To: Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors A Beales (Chair), P Bland, M de Whalley, S Lintern, J Moriarty, 

C Morley, S Ring (Vice-Chair), J Rust and S Squire 
 
 

 For Further information, please contact democratic.services@west-
norfolk.gov.uk : 
 

  
 

mailto:democratic.services@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 
120 

 

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes from the Meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 21st July, 2025 at 
6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Saturday Market Place, King's 

Lynn PE30 5DQ 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Beales (Chair), Bland, de Whalley, Lintern, Moriarty, Ring 

(Vice Chair), Rust and Squire. 
 
PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34: Councillor Parish (remotely). 
 
OFFICERS: 
Kate Blakemore – Chief Executive 
James Arrandale – Deputy Monitoring Officer  
Honor Howell – Assistant Director, Transformation and Change 
Siobhan Cleeve – Head of Leisure 
Karl Patterson – Housing Development Manager 
Richard Allen – Assistant Director, Leisure and Culture 
Andy King – Senior Housing Manager 
 

CAB27   APOLOGIES  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Morley. 
 

CAB28   MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED: The minutes from the meetings held on 10th June and 7th 
July 2025 were agreed as a correct record. 
 

CAB29   URGENT BUSINESS  
 

There was none. 
 

CAB30   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillors Moriarty, Lintern and Ring declared an interest in Item 13 – 
Council Tax Discounts and Premiums Resolution.  A dispensation for 
this item had been granted by the Standards Committee.  Councillors 
Moriarty and Lintern left the room during consideration of the item and 
did not participate in the vote.  Councillor Ring remained in the room 
during consideration of the item, however he did not participate in the 
debate or vote on the matter. 
 

CAB31   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  
 

There was none. 

5

Agenda Item 2



 
121 

 

 

CAB32   MEMBERS PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34  
 

Councillor Parish for CAB37: Changes to Social Housing Allocations 
Policy (remotely). 
 

CAB33   CALLED IN MATTERS  
 

There were no called in matters. 
 

CAB34   FORWARD DECISIONS  
 

The Forward Decisions List was noted. 
 

CAB35   MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET FROM OTHER BODIES  
 

Cabinet took into account the following recommendations from the 
Panels during consideration of the relevant items: 
 
Corporate Performance Panel 2 July 2025: 
  

- Leisure Facilities Feasibility Study 
- 2025 Staff Cost of Living Pay Award 

 
Environment and Community Panel 8 July 2025 
 

- Social Housing Allocations Policy. 

 

CAB36   2025 STAFF COST OF LIVING PAY AWARD  
 

Click here to view the Recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
Cabinet noted that the Corporate Performance Panel had considered 
this report and supported the recommendation. 
 
Councillor Ring introduced the report outlining the reasons for the 
proposals and asked Cabinet to note that the Trade Unions had been 
consulted and supported the proposals. 
 
Councillor Rust commented that she was pleased that the Trade 
Unions were in support of this. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales indicated his support for the proposals. 
 
The Chief Executive, Kate Blakemore outlined the timescales involved. 
 
Councillor Lintern referred to the report which stated that many other 
Norfolk Local Authorities had adopted this process.  It was confirmed 

6

https://youtu.be/GIzzZWiSryM?t=143


 
122 

 

that Broadland and Breckland had localised processes and that any 
successor Unitary Authority would have to make its own decision on 
the procedure to be followed. 
 
RECOMMENDED:  
 
1. That with effect from 1st April 2025 the Council agrees to adopt the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services annual cost of 
living pay award, as determined by the national pay bargaining process 
on an ongoing basis. 
 
2. That the Council agrees that its 2025 cost of living pay award should 
match the award agreed via the NJC national pay bargaining process. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To implement an annual cost of living pay increase for employees 
which is consistent with the outcomes of the national pay bargaining 
processes undertaken by the National Joint Council for local 
government. 
 

CAB37   CHANGES TO SOCIAL HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY  
 

Click here to view the Recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
Cabinet noted that the Environment and Community Panel had 
considered this report and supported the recommendations. 
 
Councillor Rust presented the report highlighting the Policy review had 
accounted for changes in legislation and changes to the homelessness 
and rough sleeping strategy.  She outlined the consultation and 
feedback that had been received and considered.  Councillor Rust 
explained that following feedback the criteria for one in ten properties 
to be allocated to people in work had been removed to make it fairer to 
those not in work.  Processes for care leavers had also now been 
formalised. 
 
Councillor Parish addressed Cabinet under Standing Order 34 and 
stated that the removal of the one in ten allocations to those in work did 
not reflect the consultation results.  He stated that it was important to 
incentivise people to work. 
 
Councillor Rust explained that all feedback had been considered and 
greater weight had been given to those that had lived experience of the 
housing processes.  She confirmed that this did not prevent those in 
employment from applying as they would still be eligible.  Councillor 
Rust referred to a recent legal case where the one in ten policy had 
been challenged as indirect discrimination. 
 

7

https://youtu.be/GIzzZWiSryM?t=428


 
123 

 

The Senior Housing Manager referred Cabinet to the full Equalities 
Impact Assessment which was included in the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
To recommend that the revised Home Choice Allocations Policy (with 
changes as set out in paragraph 1.3) is adopted by Full Council. 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 
To adopt the Home Choice Allocations Policy. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The new policy fulfils the council’s legal responsibilities, aligns with the 
borough’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and seeks to 
make the fairest use of a limited local resource. 
 

CAB38   COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW  
 

Click here to view the Recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer outlined the report and explained that 
this was a non-executive function, therefore it should be Council, rather 
than the Cabinet developing the processes and procedures.  It had 
originally be recommended that Full Council establish a Working Group 
to carry out this function. 
 
The Leader of the Council commented that he wished for this process 
to be as transparent and open as possible, therefore a formal 
Committee or Task Group should be established by Full Council and 
the recommendations to Cabinet should be amended as such.  He 
reminded Cabinet that this Committee would take forward the 
proposals for Hilgay and Burnham Market, but would then be involved 
in the creation of a King’s Lynn Town Council, so transparency was 
critical. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Moriarty, the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer agreed to clarify allowances and mileage claimable 
by Members involved in the formal Committee. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Lintern, the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer confirmed that the timescales for the Burnham 
Market and Hilgay review would be slightly delayed whilst the 
proposals were considered by Full Council.  It was confirmed that the 
recommendations from this meeting would be considered by Full 
Council on 31st July, and if approved, proposals would be developed 
for presentation to Full Council in October 2025. 
 
RECOMMENDED: 

8

https://youtu.be/GIzzZWiSryM?t=1107


 
124 

 

 
1. That a formal Committee be created by Full Council, to take forward 
Community Governance Reviews and the Terms of Reference for the 
Burnham Market and Hilgay Community Governance Reviews be 
amended accordingly. 
2. Council be invited to appoint a Chair of the Committee as the two 
Community Governance Reviews are currently ongoing. 
3 To note the creation of a Governance Framework for the 
administration of CGR processes. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To enhance the Council’s governance for CGR’s, better reflecting the 
non-executive nature of this function, consistent with wider local 
government practice. 
 

CAB39   COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS AND PREMIUMS RESOLUTION  
 

Click here to view the Recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
Cabinet noted the dispensation granted by the Standards Committee at 
their meeting on 16th July in relation to this item. 
 
Councillors Moriarty, Lintern and Ring declared an interest in this item.  
Councillors Moriarty and Lintern left the room during consideration of 
this item.  Councillor Ring remained in the room, however he did not 
participate in the debate or vote on the matter.  
 
The Revenues and Benefits Manager presented the report to Cabinet 
and outlined the Councils powers in relation to Council Tax discounts 
and premiums and the proposals within the report which recommended 
the levels of discounts to be applied. 
 
The Revenues and Benefits Manager outlined the types of properties 
eligible, the levels of exceptions and the financial implications and 
impact of premiums.  It was confirmed that the impact of the premiums 
would continue to be monitored. 
 
Councillor Squire commented that she was pleased that exceptions 
were made in certain circumstances.  The Revenues and Benefits 
Manager confirmed that exceptions related to age restrictions and 
unusual circumstances, for which case was considered on its individual 
circumstances. 
 
The Leader, Councillor Beales commented that exceptions were 
considered in detail and he was pleased to see some element of 
discretion within the scheme to account for unusual circumstances.  He 
reminded Cabinet that revenue from this scheme was ringfenced for 
homelessness prevention. 
 

9

https://youtu.be/GIzzZWiSryM?t=1806


 
125 

 

In response to a question from Councillor Rust, the Revenues and 
Benefits Manager explained that there had not been a significant 
reduction on the amount of Long Term Empty Properties as a result of 
the implementation of this scheme, however she agreed to monitor 
levels. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED:  
 
1. The following discounts and premiums are recommended to Council 
for 2026/2027: 
 
Class A Second Homes Discount for 2026/2027: 

 No reduction, i.e. a 0% discount: 

 
Class B Second Homes Discount for 2026/2027: 

 No reduction, i.e. a 0% discount, plus 

 An additional premium of 100%, which will only be applied 
subject to agreement being reached with Norfolk County 
Council by no later than 30 November 2025 to return a share 
of their additional revenue raised from the Second Home 
Premium of no less than the percentage allocation for 
2025/2026 

 
Class C Empty/ Unfurnished Discount 2026/2027: 

 0% for both the initial and follow on periods 

 
Long-Term Empty Property Premiums (Levy) for 2026/2027: 

 100% for properties empty between one and five years, 

 200% for properties empty longer than five years, and 

 300% for properties empty longer than ten years. 

 
Class D Uninhabitable Properties for 2026/2027: 

 25% for 12 months starting on the day the property becomes 
uninhabitable; then: 

 0% once the 12 month period has expired. 

 
2. Cabinet and Council note and consider the government guidance of 
November 2024 as included at Appendix D 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To ensure the discounts, premiums and exceptions policy for Second 
Homes and Long-Term Empty properties are agreed for 2026/2027. 
 

CAB40   LOCAL AUTHORITY HOUSING FUND - ADDITIONAL ROUND 3 
FUNDING  
 

Click here to view the Recording of this item on You Tube. 
 

10

https://youtu.be/GIzzZWiSryM?t=2524


 
126 

 

Cabinet noted that a General Exception Notice had been published 
with this report as it had not been advertised on the Forward Decisions 
list for 28 days. 
 
Councillor Rust presented the report and the successful application for 
funding to provide three temporary accommodation units and one unit 
for Afghan refugees.   
 
The Housing Development Manager outlined what had been delivered 
through the rounds of the Local Authority Housing Fund awards to 
date.  With the additional funding it would bring the total to 46 homes, 
with 28 currently occupied. 
 
Councillor Ring highlighted the importance of supporting those that 
needed temporary accommodation or were looking to resettle in the 
area. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales thanked the officers and Members 
involved for bringing forward these opportunities to increase the 
housing stock and provide housing for those who needed it. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Moriarty, it was confirmed 
that the properties were likely to be located in, or around King’s Lynn 
and, with regard to the temporary accommodation, it would not be 
known who would be occupying it until it was needed. 
 
Councillor Rust reminded Cabinet of the savings that would be 
achieved by having additional temporary accommodation provision, 
rather than relying on bed and breakfasts etc. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
1. The Council will enter a Memorandum of understanding with 
MHCLG based on the prospectus for the Local Authority Housing Fund 
available at Local Authority Housing Fund: Round 3 prospectus and 
guidance - GOV.UK.  Authority is delegated to the Chief Executive 
Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for People and 
Communities to agree the final terms of the Memorandum of 
Understanding with MHCLG. 
2. The Council will accept the total sum of £568,000 offered to the 
Council by MHCLG under the Local Authority Fund to deliver the 
programme, understanding the external match funding requirements as 
set out in the report and attached prospectus. 
3. Cabinet agrees that, subject to agreement from West Norfolk 
Housing Company, the properties will be acquired by West Norfolk 
Housing Company, funded by the grant, debt financing and other 
available funding. 
4. Authority is delegated to Assistant Director Finance/Deputy S151 in 
consultation to agree terms for deferred consideration (if necessary) 
with West Norfolk Housing Company in relation to the transfer of 
properties on the Council’s developments. 

11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-housing-fund-round-3/local-authority-housing-fund-round-3-prospectus-and-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-housing-fund-round-3/local-authority-housing-fund-round-3-prospectus-and-guidance


 
127 

 

5. The Council requests that West Norfolk Housing Company works 
with the Council to deliver the properties through the fund. 
6. That delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive Officer in 
consultation with the Leader for the acceptance of further funding 
offered to the Council under the Local Authority Housing Fund (LAHF) 
or successor programme. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The recommendations will ensure that the opportunity presented by the 
Local Authority Housing Fund to deliver affordable housing in the 
borough will be fully realised and will help to relieve pressures on the 
council’s homelessness services. 
 

CAB41   LEISURE FACILITIES FEASIBILITY STUDY  
 

Click here to view the Recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
Cabinet noted that the Corporate Performance Panel had considered 
this report and supported the recommendations to Cabinet, however 
the Panel wished Cabinet to note that they were disappointed with 
delaying delivery of improvements to the Oasis, but understood the 
reasoning behind this. 
 
The Assistant Director, Transformation and Change presented the 
report and provided Cabinet with the reasons for the proposals, the 
importance of the facilities, and that the Oasis would be considered as 
part of the overall Hunstanton Masterplan. 
 
Councillor Ring commented that the Oasis would be considered as part 
of the wider all encompassing masterplan for Hunstanton.  He 
highlighted the importance of the Hunstanton offer to the visitor 
economy and the additional work required in Hunstanton, such as 
works to the promenade. 
 
Councillor Ring provided information on the proposals for Lynnsport 
and how it was important to provide a facility which delivered for all of 
King’s Lynn and the surrounding area, recognising depravation issues 
and challenges. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Lintern, it was confirmed that 
any changes to the proposals during development of the RIBA phases, 
would be reported to Members. 
 
Councillor Ring was hopeful that the next RIBA stage for Lynnsport 
would be presented to Cabinet in December 2025 and there had been 
early engagement with the appropriate organisations. 
 

12

https://youtu.be/GIzzZWiSryM?t=2951


 
128 

 

Councillor Squire commented that the current layout of Lynnsport was 
difficult to navigate and she was pleased that improvements overall 
would be considered. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Moriarty, Councillor Ring 
indicated that he was hopeful that Lynnsport proposals could be 
considered by Cabinet in December and work would continue at pace, 
whilst being thorough. 
 
The Assistant Director, Transformation and Change commented that 
consultation with users, stakeholders and partner organisations were 
ongoing. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. Cabinet noted the 2 x RIBA Stage Reports. 
2. Cabinet resolved to progress to RIBA 3 for Lynnsport. 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 
1. Cabinet recommends to council an amendment to the capital 
programme of £1,462,184 to progress to RIBA Stage 3. 
2. Cabinet and council note that a further report at the end of RIBA 
stage 3 for Lynnsport will be brought forward in December 2025. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
To progress the design and survey work to support the completion of 
the business case for a major upgrade of Lynnsport, incorporating a 
swimming pool to replace St James Swimming Pool which is at the end 
of its economic life, ensuring continuity of provision of sports, 
swimming and leisure facilities for the residents of West Norfolk 
residents but also significantly enhancing the social venue and positive 
impact on resident wellbeing within the community. 
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 7.20 pm 
 

 

13



 
132 

 

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes from the Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 24th July, 2025 
at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Saturday Market Place, 

King's Lynn PE30 5DQ 
 

PRESENT: Councillor A Beales (Chair), P Bland, S Lintern, J Moriarity, S Ring 
(Vice-Chair) and J Rust 

 
PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34: Councillor T Parish  
 
OFFICERS:  
Kate Blakemore – Chief Executive  
James Arrandale – Deputy Monitoring Officer  
Michelle Drewery – Deputy Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer)  
Debbie Ess - Corporate Performance Officer  
Carl Holland – Assistant Director, Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer  
Jason Birch – Interim Assistant Director, Property & Projects 
Barry Brandford – Waste and Recycling Manager 
Paul Lowes - Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Services 
Mark Willetts – Technical Services Manager 
 

CAB42   APOLOGIES  
 

Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Morley, Squire 
and de Whalley.    
 

CAB42   APOLOGIES  
 

Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Morley, Squire 
and de Whalley.    
 

CAB43   URGENT BUSINESS  
 

There was no urgent business.  
 

CAB44   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest.  
 

CAB45   CHAIR'S CORRESPONDENCE  
 

There was none.  
 
 

14



 
133 

 

CAB46   MEMBERS PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34  
 

Councillor Parish was present under Standing Order 34.  
 

CAB47   CALLED IN MATTERS  
 

There was none.  
 

CAB48   MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET FROM OTHER BODIES  
 

The Panels had considered the following items and made comments 
which were taken into account by Cabinet during consideration of each 
item: 
 
Action Plan 2025 – 2027  
Revenue Outturn Report  
Capital Outturn Report  
Extension of the Processing of Co-mingled Dry Recyclables Contract  
Exempt – Microsoft Enterprise License  
Exempt – Sale of Land 
 

CAB49   ACTION PLAN 2025-2027  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Chief Executive presented the report.  
 
The Chair invited questions and comments from Cabinet Members.  
 
Councillor Moriarty questioned how the action plan would be 
disseminated beyond the Council.  
 
The Chief Executive explained work with the Communications Team 
had been prepared subject to Cabinets approval of the plan. She 
added there was data in the plan which highlighted the work which had 
been achieved already. She commented the plan would be upload to 
the website, the resident newsletter and internal communications within 
the Council.  
 
Councillor Moriarty commented there was overlap with work going 
forward such as the Transformation Programme and Planning and 
highlighted to be aware of not replicating work.  
 
Councillor Rust commented on the outcomes of the action plan and 
acknowledged as Cabinet Members; work did overlap.   
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales commented on the improvement on the 
plan which included accountability and responsibility along with 
including what has already been achieved. 

15

https://youtu.be/egzQGuHWmL4?t=93


 
134 

 

 
The Cabinet Members acknowledged the recommendation made by 
Corporate Performance Panel and agreed this would be done within 
the planned Communications.  
 
RESOLVED: Cabinet endorsed and adopted the Action Plan for 2025- 
2027.  
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Council to set out their 
priorities for 2025-2027, considering the budget setting process and 
external factors affecting the residents, businesses and visitors of the 
borough. 

CAB50   EXTENSION OF THE PROCESSING OF CO-MINGLED DRY 
RECYCLABLES CONTRACT  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Waste and Recycling Manager presented the report and 
highlighted a correction in the first recommendation. He explained the 
extension of the contract was through to 31st March 2030 not 
September 2030. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales commented this was discussed at the 
Norfolk Leaders Group and there was unanimous agreement as this 
was a pragmatic approach. Councillor Beales sought the views of the 
Waste and Recycling Manager in relation to collection of plastic film 
becoming mandatory.   
 
The Waste and Recycling Manager explained the difficulties in 
separating plastic film and the cost in commercial terms. He advised 
there was no established market to sell to with any value.  
 
Councillor Moriarty questioned if the term ‘dry – recyclables’ should be 
tweaked in the existing contract.  
 
The Waste and Recycling Manager explained once carboard or paper 
was collected wet, the product would go mouldy due to the moisture in 
the product. He explained this affected and devalued the product.  
 
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved: 
 
1. The extension of the Processing of Co-mingled Dry Recyclables 
contract (the Contract) with NEWS Ltd through to 31st March 2030 on 
its current terms is agreed. 
 
2. Extending the scope of the services provided by NEWS Ltd to under 
the Contract from the year 2026/7 to comply with the change in law 
introducing Simpler Recycling and Extended Producer Responsibility 
requirements is agreed conditional on such changes being approved in 
accordance with the Shareholder Agreement with NEWS Ltd.  

16

https://youtu.be/egzQGuHWmL4?t=466


 
135 

 

 
REASON FOR DECISION: To ensure a continuation of the current JV 
through the period of local government reorganisation to provide 
consistent recycling services to residents of Norfolk and west Norfolk. 
Develop and implement business cases, where these evidence 
efficiency and effectiveness which implement changes in law on 
Simpler Recycling and Extended Producer Responsibility. 
 

CAB51   APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales introduced report.  
 
Cabinet considered which nominations for Executive appointments to 
serve on outside bodies and partnerships for 2025/2026.  Cabinet 
made amendments to the appointments in line with the changes of 
Portfolio Holders.  
 
It was highlighted to Cabinet these appointments were different to 
those going to Full Council on the 31st July 2025. 
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales advised a review of the Outside Bodies 
would be conducted following the submission of the business case in 
relation to Local Government Reorganisation.  
 
RESOLVED: Cabinet agreed:  
 
1) That the Cabinet appoints representatives to serve in an Executive  
capacity on the outside bodies and partnerships requiring appointment 
in the Appendix attached. 
 
2) That Cabinet note that a review of Outside Bodies will be carried out 
and brought back to Cabinet for consideration in due course. 
 
3) To note that all other appointments to Outside Bodies will be made 
at the Council meeting on 31 July 2025.  
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To ensure continued involvement in the 
community by the Council. 
 

CAB52   REVENUE OUTTURN 2024/25  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
presented the report.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales invited questions and comments from 
Cabinet Members.  

17

https://youtu.be/egzQGuHWmL4?t=1006
https://youtu.be/egzQGuHWmL4?t=2103


 
136 

 

 
Councillor Lintern referred to page 56 and questioned why the Local 
Plan was not budgeted for as this was a statutory requirement.  
 
The Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
explained due to the change in government and the revised deadline of 
two years not five, funding needed to be found for the Local Plan.  
 
Councillor Moriarty commented the importance of the Local Plan 
reflecting this administration. He added Officers are considering ways 
of funding from Central Government including grants.  
 
The Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
explained Planning Officers had made an estimation on the cost of the 
Local Plan which had been reduced however the earmarked reserves 
was a significant contribution to the financial need.  
 
RESOLVED: Cabinet Agreed:  
 
 1. The draft revenue outturn position for 2024/2025 (section 2) 
 
2. Review and agree the new transfers to earmarked reserves as 
stated in para 2.3. 
 
3. Review and agree the amendments to the Earmarked Reserves 
Policy (Section 4) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To consider and approve the draft revenue 
outturn position for 2024/2025 for the Council 
 

CAB53   CAPITAL OUTTURN 2024/2025  
 

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  
 
The Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
presented the report.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales commented the Capital Budget for CCTV 
and Lynnsport was pragmatic however he questioned the inclusion of 
St James Pool in the Capital Program.  
 
The Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
explained the Leisure Management Team had confirmed how the 
essential works were to be funded and confirmed they could be 
deferred.  
 
In response to a further question from the Chair, the Assistant Director 
for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer explained assets which 
were sold were no longer used by the Council and this income was 
ringfenced as capital receipts.  

18

https://youtu.be/egzQGuHWmL4?t=2662


 
137 

 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet:  
 
 1. noted the outturn of the capital programme for 2024/2025 of 
£39,656,557 including Exempt Schemes; 
 
2. noted the financing arrangements for the 2024/2025 capital 
programme; 
 
3. Approved the commencement of spend by moving project from tier 3 
to tier 2  
(paragraph 9.1) 
 
4. Approved reallocation of budget to new project at tier 2. (paragraph 
9.2) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To report the outturn 2024/2025 for the 
Capital Programme and receive an update to the Capital Programme 
2024/2029.  
 

CAB54   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of  
Schedule 12A to the Act. 
 

CAB55   EXEMPT - CAPITAL OUTTURN 2024/2025 EXEMPT ELEMENT OF 
THE REPORT  
 

The Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy Section 151 Officer 
presented the Exempt part of the report.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales thanked the Assistant Director for 
Finance for the report.  
 
Cabinet Members had no question in relation to the report.  
 
RESOLVED: Approved addition of budget to existing exempt project at 
tier 1. (paragraph 15.2) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: To report the outturn 2024/2025 for the 
Capital Programme and receive and update to the Capital Programme 
2024/2029 
 
 
 
 

19



 
138 

 

CAB56   EXEMPT - MICROSOFT ENTERPRISE LICENSE  
 

The Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Services presented the 
report.  
 
The Technical Services Manager provided further details on the report.  
 
The Chair, Councillor Beales invited questions and comments from 
Cabinet Members.  
 
Cabinet Members sought further clarifications on the report and 
Officers responded with further details. 
 
Cabinet considered the recommendations from Corporate Performance 
Panel and agreed to include the recommendation relating to Member 
training of the new products.  
 
RESOLVED: Cabinet approved: 
 

1. Approve the purchase of M365 E5 as the new standard user 
license via framework agreement.  
 

2. That Members be provided with training as required so that they 
could make the best use of technology available. 

 
REASON FOR DECISION:  To maintain service provision, enable 
delivery of the Council’s Service Innovation & Digital Transformation 
pillar and ensure ICT provision going forward is fit for future.  
 

CAB57   EXEMPT - SALE OF LAND - SOUTHEND ROAD, HUNSTANTON  
 

Portfolio Holder, Councillor Ring introduced the report.  
 
The Assistant Director Property & Projects provided further detail on 
the report.  
 
The Chair invited Councillor Parish, under Standing Order 34 to 
comment on this item.  
 
The Chair invited questions and comments from Cabinet Members 
which Officers responded to.  
 
Cabinet Members considered the recommendations made by the 
Regeneration and Development Panel however did not agree to 
ringfence the Capital Receipts from this sale of land to be reinvested 
into Hunstanton.  
 
In addition, it was discussed that the Portfolio Holder for Open Spaces 
and Parking would investigate Hunstanton Car Parking, and this was to 
be brought forward to a Panel to be scrutinised.  

20



 
139 

 

 
RESOLVED: The disposal of this land asset delineated on the Site 
Plan attached to this report and known as Seagate East Car Park, 
Southend Road, Hunstanton is progressed in accordance with the 
Disposal Terms set out within this report subject to the Assistant 
Director for Property and Projects being authorised to negotiate non-
material changes to the Disposal Terms where necessary.   
 
REASON FOR DECISION: The proposal set out within this report will 
facilitate the disposal of the asset to deliver a Capital Receipt.  
 

 
The meeting closed at 7.31 pm 
 

 

21



 

 

            START 
 

          YES ←    → NO 

                      

                                                             YES ↙           ↓ NO 

  

                                                                                                                                            

 YES ←  

                                ↓ NO 

                       

           YES ←       

  

 ↓ NO 

                                                           ↓ YES                     ↓NO                                   

                

                                                           

                                                                                                YES   ↙               ↓ NO 

                                                                      

 YES ←   

      

  NO ← 

 

                                                                                                                         ↙ 

                                                                                        NO TO BOTH           YES TO ONE ↓ 

  

 

Does the matter directly 

relate to one of your DPIs?  

DECLARING AN INTEREST AND MANAGING 

ANY CONFLICTS FLOWCHART 

Does the matter directly 

relate to the finances or 

wellbeing of one of your ERIs? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting *  

 

Does it directly relate to the 

finances or wellbeing of you, 

a relative or a close associate? 
Declare the interest. You have 

a conflict and cannot act or 

remain in the meeting * 

Does it affect the finances or 

wellbeing of you, a relative, a 

close associate or one of my 

ERIs? 

Declare the interest. Are you 

or they affected to a greater 

extent than most people? And 

would  a reasonable person 

think you are biased because 

of the interest?  

Does it relate to a Council 

Company or outside body to 

which you are appointed by 

the Council? 

* without a dispensation 
 
Glossary: 
DPI: Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest 
ERI: Extended Registrable 
Interest 

 

 

 

You have a conflict and 

cannot act or remain in 

the meeting * 

Take part 

as normal 

Does another interest make 

you that feel you cannot act 

in a fair, objective or open 

manner? Would a 

reasonable person knowing 

the same interest think you  

could not act in a fair, 

objective or open manner? 

Declare the 

interest. Do you, or 

would a reasonable 

person think there 

are competing 

interests between 

the Council and the 

company/outside 

body?  

Other actions to mitigate 
against identified conflicts: 
1. Don’t read the papers  
2. Tell relevant officers 
3. Ask to be removed from any 
email recipient chain/group 

 
 

You can remain the meeting if the Chair 

agrees, for you to speak in your external 

capacity only. Do not vote. 

You can take part in discussions but make 

clear which capacity you are speaking in. 

Do not vote.  

You have a 

conflict. Declare 

the interest. Do 

not participate and 

do not vote. 

Declare the interest for 

the sake of openness 

and transparency. Then 

take part as normal. 

22

Agenda Item 4



15-Sep-25 
 

 
 
 

FORWARD DECISIONS LIST 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

16 
September 
2025 

LGR Business Case Key Council Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public 

 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

23 
September 
2025 – 
Additional 
Meeting 

CIL Governance Non Cabinet Planning and Licensing 
Asst Dir – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 Q1 2025-2026 Performance 
Management Report 

Non Cabinet Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public 

 Adoption of Playing pitch 
and Sports facilities strategy 

Non Council Deputy Leader and Business 
Asst Dir – R Allan 

 Public 

 Review of Constitution Non Council Leader 
Monitoring Officer 

 Public 

 Cemeteries  Key Cabinet Parking and Open Spaces 
Asst Dir - Operational & 
Commercial 

 Private 

 Recommendations from the 
Regeneration and 
Development Panel – 
Transport Informal Working 
Group 

Non Cabinet Planning and Licensing and 
Leader of the Council 
Assistant Director Duncan Hall 

 Public 

 Quarter 1 Budget Monitoring 
Report 

Non  Cabinet Finance 
Asst Dir – Finance 

 Public 

       

 
 

23

A
genda Item

 8



15-Sep-25 
 

 
 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

11 
November 
2025 

      

 Council Tax Support 
Scheme 2026/2027 

Key Council  Finance  
Ass Dir – M Drewery 

 Public  

 Plan for Neighbourhoods 
Fund 

Non Council Leader 
Asst Director – Regeneration, 
Housing and Place 

 Public 

 Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy (Adoption) 

Non Council Climate Change and Bio 
Diversity 
Asst Dir – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 NORA Access Road Non Cabinet Deputy Leader 
Asst Director – Regeneration, 
Housing and Place 

 Public 

 Padel Tennis  Non Council  Deputy Leader and Business 
Asst Dir – R Allan 

 Public 

 Scrutiny Review Non Council  Leader 
Monitoring Officer 

 Public  

 Licensing Act 2003 Policy 
Review 

Non Council Planning and Licensing 
Ass Dir – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 
 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and 
Lead Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or 
Private 
Meeting 

9 December 
2025 

      

 Q2 2025-2026 Performance 
Management 

Non Cabinet  Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public  

 King’s Lynn Enterprise Park Non Cabinet Business and Culture 
Asst Dir – D Hall 

 Public 

 Risk Strategy and Policy 
Report                                              

Non Cabinet Leader 
Monitoring Officer 

 Public 

24



15-Sep-25 
 

 
 
 

 Air Quality Action Plan Non Council Climate Change and 
Biodiversity 
Asst Dir – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 Safeguarding Policy Non Council Corporate Governance 
People & Communities 

 Public 

 Transformation Programme – LGR 
Readiness 

Non Cabinet Chief Executive 
Leader 

 Public 

 Climate Change Strategy Key Council Climate Change and 
Biodiversity 
Stuart Ashworth 

 Public 

 

Date of 
meeting 

Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and 
Lead Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or 
Private 
Meeting 

3rd 
February2026 
(BUDGET)  

      

 Budget  Key Council  Leader S151 Officer Asst 
Dir Resource 

 Public 

 Capital Programme  Key Council  Leader S151 Officer Asst 
Dir Resource 

 Public 

 Treasury Management Strategy  Key Council  Leader S151 Officer Asst 
Dir Resource 

 Public 

 Capital Strategy  Key Council  Leader S151 Officer Asst 
Dir Resource 

 Public 

 
 

Date of meeting Report title Key or 
Non Key 
Decision 

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer 

List of 
Background 
Papers  

Public or Private 
Meeting 

4th February 2026  
(NON- BUDGET) 

      

 Q3 2025-2026 Performance 
Management 

Non Cabinet  Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public  

25



15-Sep-25 
 

 
 
 

 King’s Lynn Transport 
Strategy 

Key Council Planning and Licensing 
Asst Dir D Hall 

 Public 

 
 
Items to be scheduled 
 

 
 

Custom and Self Build Site 
– Stoke Ferry 

Non Cabinet Regeneration and Development 
Assistant Director - D Hall 

 Public 

 Overnight Campervan 
parking in Hunstanton 

Non  Cabinet Leader 
Asst Director – M Chisholm 

 Public 

 Florence Fields – Tenure 
Mix 

Non Council Deputy Leader  Part Public and 
part Private- 
Contains exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 
information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 Article 4 Direction Non Cabinet Regeneration and Development 
Assistant Director – S Ashworth 

 Public 

 Empty Homes Strategy 
Review 

Key Council People and Communities 
Asst Dir M Whitmore 

 Public 

 King’s Lynn Town Football 
Club 

Non Cabinet Property  Private- Contains 
exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 
information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority) 

 Housing Assurance Strategy Non Council People and Communities 
Asst Dir M Whitmore 

 Public 

26



15-Sep-25 
 

 
 
 

 Domestic Abuse 
Tenants/Residents Policy 
and Domestic Abuse 
Intersectionality Policy  

Non Council  People and Communities 
Asst Dir - D Hall  

 Public  

 IT Hardware Refresh Key Cabinet Finance 
Assistant Director - Corporate 
Services 
 

 Private  

 Local Government 
Reorganisation Readiness  

Non Cabinet Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public 

 Local Government 
Reorganisation Consultation 
Response 

Key Council Leader 
Chief Executive 

 Public 

 Heacham Beach Huts Key Cabinet Business 
Asst Dir – Property 

 Exempt 

 

27



RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET FROM THE REGENERATION AND 

DEVELOPMENT PANEL HELD ON THE 9TH SEPTEMBER 2025 

RD38:  Cabinet Report - CIL Governance  

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  

The Planning Control Manager introduced the report with the Senior CIL Officer 

providing additional information.  

The Chair provided background to CIL and invited questions and comments from the 

Panel.  

The Chair sought clarification of the CIL distribution in 2017 when CIL was first 

introduced and it was confirmed, 60% for strategic projects, 20% for community 

projects and 20% for local projects.  

The Chair commented it had now been reversed to 80% and 20% with the minority 

going to Parish Council’s. He referred to the match funding of 50%.  

In response to the Chair, the Senior CIL Officer confirmed the consultation was free 

and no charge was incurred.  

Councillor Bubb referred to a previous application he was aware of which had been 

impacted by the change of criteria and asked for assurance that applications could be 

protected and considered.   

The Senior CIL Officer explained with the new process, training and guidance would 

be provided to Members and Parish Clerks to ensure the criteria was met.  

Councillor Colwell highlighted the restrictions for ward members of unparished areas 

and sought assurance on funding opportunities and engagements for members of 

unparished areas in King’s Lynn.  The Senior CIL Officer explained a significant 

amount of CIL funding had been spent in unparished areas and highlighted other 

funding opportunities. She reiterated the CIL Spending Panel would decide the 

applications.   

In response to a question from Councillor Ryves the Senior CIL Officer confirmed there 

was currently £3.5million of CIL infrastructure funding and there had been changes in 

legislation and regulations therefore the governance was now being reviewed.    

Officers responded to questions from Councillor Ratcliffe regarding percentage 

payments relating to Neighbourhood Plans and requests for consistent terminology to 

be used in the report.  

Councillor Bone indicated his support for the proposed changes and identified there 

was not a fair balance as it was dependant on the effectiveness of the parish clerk.  

 

28

Agenda Item 9

https://youtu.be/iF17MKtjbqc?t=212


In response to Councillor Ryves, the Senior CIL Officer explained applications were 

previously decided by scoring and added there was no longer a scoring criteria. The 

Senior CIL Officer advised parishes were being recommended to create a parish 

infrastructure investment plan to ensure CIL was being spent effectively and guidance 

was to be provided.  

Councillor Ryves questioned the impact of Local Government Reorganisation and the 

changes in boundaries which could further disadvantage Parish Council’s. He sought 

reassurance the funding was to be spent within the Borough.  

The Senior CIL Officer provided assurance CIL funding was to be spent within in the 

Borough based on parish boundaries. She reminded the Panel CIL was designed to 

support Local Plan developments.  

Councillor Crofts questioned the control members had to ensure the parish council 

had spent the CIL funding that had been awarded and was advised this was monitored 

annually and parish councils had a statutory obligation to submit an annual report to 

the Borough Council on the CIL funding which had been spent or not.  

Under Standing Order 34, Councillor Long commented good projects had been 

delivered from CIL funding. He questioned what scrutiny arrangement were in place 

to determine the applications and it was clarified that the projects which were on the 

capital programme tier 1 to 3 were already able to be scrutinised as part of the capital 

programme. 

Under Standing Order 34, Councillor Long sought further clarification on where 

scrutiny of applications for CIL funding would take place. 

The Senior CIL Officer confirmed the applications would be reviewed and decided by 

the CIL Spending Panel. It was subsequently confirmed that the Member Major 

Projects Board is not a scrutiny function, it is a sub-Committee of Cabinet. 

In response to a question from the Chair, the Senior CIL Officer confirmed funding was 

not allocated automatically and was not able to be transferred to make a project 

sustainable.  

The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Moriarty reminded Councillor Long, decisions on 

applications could be called in following Cabinet. He provided assurance that work 

was ongoing in relation to the governance document and highlighted terms of 

reference were to be sent with applications to parish council’s and 60 days were 

allowed rather than 30 days.  

The Senior CIL Officer highlighted amendments made to the CIL documents following 

consultation with the legal and audit teams. She also highlighted parish councils were 

informed that the governance arrangements were to be reviewed but had not been 

consulted.  

29



RESOLVED: That the Panel make the following amended recommendation to 

Cabinet: 

Cabinet approves the revised Community Infrastructure Levy Funding Policy and 

Spending Strategy for the allocation and spend of Borough Community Infrastructure 

Levy raised by this Council and a method of scrutiny is developed to ensure funding 

allocation to strategic projects can be appropriately monitored.  

 

30



RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 23 SEPTEMBER FROM THE CORPORATE 
PERFORMANCE PANEL HELD ON 3 SEPTEMBER 2025 
 
CP51: CABINET REPORT – Q1 2025-2026 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
REPORT 
 
Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
The Corporate Performance Officer presented the report which provided an update on 
progress against the Council’s Corporate Strategy and Key Performance Indicators. 
 
The Panel were provided with an overview of the indicators which had, and had not, 
met their target along with information on new targets and indicators which had been 
incorporated into the suite of Performance Management for the 2025-2026 year. 
 
The Chair thanked the Corporate Performance Officer for the report and invited 
questions and comments from the Panel, as summarised below. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Osborne relating to development of the Car 
Parking Strategy it was confirmed that there had been a delay, but work was now 
progressing and the item had been scheduled onto the Cabinet Forward Decisions 
List. 
 
Councillor Blunt referred to the indicators relating to the number of homes being built 
and affordable housing levels.  It was confirmed that this would be covered during the 
presentation on Major Housing Projects later on in the Agenda. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Cabinet be informed that the Panel support the 
recommendations to Cabinet as set out below. 
 
CABINET RECOMMENDATION: To review the Performance Management Report and 
comment on the delivery against the Corporate Strategy. 
 
CP52: CABINET REPORT – QUARTER 1 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 
 
Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
The Assistant Director presented the report which provided an assessment of the 
council’s financial performance against its 2025/2026 approved budget.  He 
highlighted budget movement, the savings and efficiency plan, general fund reserves, 
revenue, income, capital, borrowing and investments. 
 
The Chair thanked the Assistant Director for the report and invited questions and 
comments from the Panel, as summarised below. 
 
The Vice Chair, Councillor Blunt referred to the 11% total spend and asked if 
comparative data from the previous year could be included.  The Assistant Director 
agreed to include this in future reports.  
 
Councillor Dickinson referred to the longevity of loans and ask if redemption dates 
could be included in future reports.  The Assistant Director confirmed that this could 
be included in future reports and informed Members that this information was also 

31

https://youtu.be/29crxNOLMnY?t=131
https://youtu.be/29crxNOLMnY?t=634


included in the Treasury Management Report which was considered by the Audit 
Committee.   
 
The Assistant Director confirmed that the Public Works Board was a 12-month loan to 
support Capital Programme Housing Schemes and would be reviewed as required. 
 
The Chair stated that an age of debt analysis would be useful for inclusion in the report.  
He also commented that it was good that the increase in fees and charges had not 
impacted income and there was still demand for services. 
 
The Chair explained that he had read in the media that the French economy was in 
trouble and he asked if the loans with BNP were to be reviewed.  The Assistant Director 
explained that a Risk Categorisation System was used and monthly reviews took place 
in liaison with the Council’s brokers.  The Assistant Director confirmed that for 
prudency purposes he would further investigate the French economy. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Spikings it was confirmed that the Council 
had professional indemnity and the Government had protective measures in place to 
protect investments should banking systems collapse. 
 
The Leader, Councillor Beales thanked the Panel for their comments and suggestions.  
He noted that the increase in fees and charges had not impacted income and he hoped 
that future increases in fees and charges would only need to be in line with inflation.  
With regard to Major project investment the Leader explained that the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance was monitoring this carefully each quarter. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Panel support the recommendations to Cabinet, as set out 
below and ask the Cabinet to note the comments made by the Panel. 
 
CABINET RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Note the forecast outturn for revenue and Capital monitoring position as at 30th 
June 2025 for 2025/2026. 

2. Review and approve the new transfer of Capital items from Tier 3 to Tier 2. 
Cabinet recommends to Full Council: 

3. Revisions as set out in Appendix F to this report to the ‘Capital Programme 
Process’ within the approved Capital Strategy for 2025/2026 are adopted. 

 
CP53 – PROPOSALS FROM THE CONSTITUTION INFORMAL WORKING GROUP 
 
Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube. 
 
The Monitoring Officer presented the report as included in the agenda and presented 
a schedule of proposed substantive changes to the Constitution which had been 
developed by the Constitution Informal Working Group. 
 
The Monitoring Officer asked the Panel to note the future work plan of the Informal 
Working Group, which included the review of Scrutiny arrangements, deep dives as 
required and a further housekeeping exercise to continuously improve the 
Constitution. 
 

32

https://youtu.be/29crxNOLMnY?t=2363


The Monitoring Officer provided detail of the substantive changes proposed as 
included in the Agenda and the reasons for the proposed amendments. 
 
The Chair thanked the Monitoring Officer for the report and welcomed the 
establishment of the Community Governance Review Committee. 
 
RESOLVED:  
1. The Panel acknowledged the work of the Constitution Informal Working Group 
during 2025 in reviewing and recommending changes to the Constitution. 
2. The Panel recommend to Cabinet the adoption of the Schedule of Substantive 
Changes to the Constitution. 
 
 

33



RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 23RD SEPTEMBER FROM THE 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY PANEL MEETING HELD ON 2ND 

SEPTEMBER  

EC29:  Cabinet Report - Playing Pitch and Sports Facilities Strategy 

Adoption  

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube.  

The Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture presented the report.  

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture and invited 

questions and comments from the Panel.  

Councillor Long referred to the Pre-Screen EIA and suggested, health inequalities 

should be a positive rather than neutral. He also referred to discrepancies in the 

report as mentioned locations had been sold and no in longer public use. He urged 

that all members should consider the report and facilities within their areas.  

The Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture explained the information included in 

the report was originally from 2023 and although it had been updated in 2025, 

welcomed Members input so that the information could be reviewed.  

Councillor Long proposed an email be sent to all members to review the report and 

feedback to the Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture with correct information in 

their wards.  

Councillor Kemp commented on the St James Swimming Pool facilities being 

relocated and the concerns of residents accessing a new location out of the town 

centre. She commented further on policies to promote the footfall in the town centre.  

The Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture explained St James Swimming Pool 

was at 100% occupancy and locations were identified by consultants, however 

Lynnsport fulfilled the demographic of Sports England and Swim England. He added 

further, a traffic management plan would be considered to ensure accessibility for 

residents. He highlighted this was supported following the public consultation results.  

In response to a further question from Councillor Kemp, the Assistant Director for 

Leisure and Culture explained the public consultation included Alive members, Active 

Norfolk, Ward Members, National Governing bodies, Sports England, Social media 

and groups affected.  

Councillor Colwell referred to page 94 and commented his appreciation of the details 

on 5G pitches in the report. He commented on previous issues with 5G pitches and 

the impact on the surrounding local area and encouraged Officers to consult with 

local high schools. He highlighted on page 264, an issue in Fairstead Centre Point 

was limited capacity due to the lighting.  

34

https://youtu.be/HVH0xVW3K8Y?t=258


Councillor Heneghan supported Councillor Longs comments and asked if the report 

could be simplified before sending to members.  

The Assistant Director for Operations and Commercial commented on Fairstead 

Centre Point and explained the flood lights were on timers and could be used by a 

button. He added, he would follow up to ensure there were no maintenance issues.  

Councillor Bullen commented he had visited all Alive sites and recognised the 

commitment and professionalism of the Alive Leisure staff. He highlighted the award 

Lynnsport had been nominated for and the importance of engaging and supporting 

local sports clubs. 

The Assistant Director for Leisure and Culture explained Lynnsport had applied for 

centre of the year award for the region and were shortlisted for the final five or six 

centres out of forty. He added the award ceremony was on 30th October. 

In response to a question from the Chair, the Assistant Director for Leisure and 

Culture confirmed the current 3G pitches were owned by Alive Leisure and confirmed 

an alternative location had been identified which was to be announced in due 

course.  

Councillor Devulapalli asked if there were any plans for additional indoor tennis 

courts or padel courts. In addition, she asked if there were any future plans for 

Downham Market facilities and it was explained there was currently no indoor tennis 

courts but there was an upcoming project next year. He added a report on Padel was 

on the Forward Decision List for November and this included Lynnsport and 

Hunstanton but there was no demand identified in Downham Market. 

The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Ring commented on the importance in developing 

the strategies and focussing on ensuring all sports were catered for. He recognised 

the success of the public consultations with currently over 800 responses so far. In 

addition, he welcomed the knowledge of members and facilities within their ward. 

Councillor Ring acknowledged Downham Market was to become a sports and leisure 

hub for rural areas.  

Councillor Long questioned if fouling of playing fields within the protection order 

included cricket pitches/fields and was advised the public protection order was on 

the dog control webpage but did not currently include recreational spaces including 

cricket grounds. He advised further the order was last reviewed 1st December 2024 

and valid for three years. He explained the difficulties with enforcement and including 

sports clubs in the order would be considered at the next renewal.   

Councillor Devulapalli commented on foot and cycle paths and walking was the 

primary exercise for residents but there was lack of routes for example there was no 

way of crossing the A10. The Assistant Director for Operations and Commercial 

provided assurance Officers were working with Norfolk County Council on Walking 

and Cycling.  

35



Councillor Colwell agreed there was no safe way of crossing the A149. He 

commented active travel should be encouraged and suggested a potential route for 

the new development at Knights Hill.  

Councillor Devulapalli asked for the report to include capacity for cycling and 

walking.  

The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Ring explained the report was based on demand for 

sports such as padel etc. He recognised the importance of walking and cycling but 

advised the report reflected the demand from residents. He reiterated this was a 

Norfolk County Council issue.  

Councillor Kemp additionally commented on the transport strategy and the 

importance of active travel.  

Councillor Long commented the points raised were a transport issue. He referred 

back to the additional proposed recommendation that an email was sent to all 

members to be made aware of the report and use their local knowledge to identify 

leisure facilities within their wards.  

RESOLVED: The Panel supported the following recommendations to Cabinet and 

provided the additional recommendation: 

All Members to be made aware of the report and notify of any corrections in the 

report on current leisure facilities within their wards to the Assistant Director for 

Leisure and Culture and Portfolio Holder.  

Cabinet Resolves:  

To recommend to Full Council the adoption of the playing pitch and sports facilities 

strategies.  

Recommendations to Full Council:  

That Council agree to adopt the playing pitch and sports facilities strategies.  

EC30:  Cabinet Report - Cemeteries  

Click here to view the recording of this item on YouTube. 

The Assistant Director for Operations and Commercial and Cemeteries and 

Crematorium Manager presented the report  

Representatives from CDS Group gave a presentation to the Panel. 

The Chair invited Andrew Thornalley, Local Funeral Director to speak on this item. 

The Chair invited questions and comments from the Panel.  

36

https://youtu.be/HVH0xVW3K8Y?t=3175


The Chair, Councillor Collop sought clarification on how many plots were taken at the 

cemetery last year. and was advised there was an average of 30 new burials each 

year.  

 

The Vice-Chair, Councillor Kunes sought clarification on the groundwater level on 

Gaywood Allotment site and the CDS Representative confirmed at the beginning of 

the investigation it was 1.6 metres, and new burials were between 1.3 to 1.8 metres 

depending on single or double depth burials and 1 metre above groundwater level. 

He confirmed groundwater was needed to be a minimum of 2.4 metres.   

Councillor Long commented the Environmental Agency needed to provide flexibility. 

He highlighted the significance of finding an interim solution due to the timescales of 

a new cemetery and although it was not a mandatory service the Council provided 

but was recognised by the public. He questioned if under draining the land was a 

solution.  

The Chair, Councillor Collop asked if water could be drained has been carried out at 

Florence Fields.  

The Assistant Director for Operations and Commercial explained the relationship 

with the Environment Agency was exemplar. He added the Environment Agency 

were the regulators and had to issue the permit for an extension or a new site. He 

explained they were flexible with considering each individual ground space. He 

provided assurance all plots and burials would be honoured as previously agreed.  

The Cemeteries and Crematorium Manager highlighted the relationship with the 

Environment Agency was key to delivering the bereavement services and continuing 

to operate the site by delivering the committed burials.  

Representatives of the CDS Group confirmed the Environment Agency had been 

consulted and had confirmed use of the existing site was not feasible. He explained 

dewatering required a discharge consent to the sewage system as surface water 

would be contaminated.  

Councillor Long appreciated and understood the complexity of drainage and sewage. 

He commented it was Environmental Agency national policy he was referring to not 

local Officers.  

Councillor Heneghan questioned the gap with the Gayton Road Cemetery being 

closed and a new cemetery not opening until May 2028. She sought clarification and 

assurance on where burials were to be made, she highlighted the report included 

Hunstanton and questioned the delay in this being resolved. She hoped local funeral 

directors were listened to and invited to future meetings as appropriate.  

The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Ring commented on the long journey of the 

cemetery and highlighted South Wootton were allowing plots to be bought and there 

37



was space in Hunstanton which could be used. He highlighted to the Panel it would 

not be the current Borough Council that would be delivering the Cemetery due to 

LGR. He reminded the Panel this was not a statutory obligation, and he could not 

see another option than to close Gayton Road Cemetery. He asked for CDS Group 

to explain the changes in regulations of the Environmental Agency.  

The representative from CDS Group explained there were updates to the 

Environment Agency regulations in 2022 and 2024, which meant the regulations for 

groundwater and buffer zones were more stringent. He reiterated that this was 

outside the geographical extent of the existing cemetery and therefore treated under 

the new regulations in which the Environmental Agency was to act as a consultee 

and perimeter. He commented there was no resolution for the site.  

Councillor Kemp commented she understood a bespoke environmental permit was 

needed for dewatering. She sought clarification, on what criteria, other than flood 

risk, were all the sites were discounted. She asked if there was any disused or 

industrial land which could be used, and sites be revisited.   

The representative from CDS Group explained the predominant reason a site had 

not been identified within the boundary was due to being urbanized and any open 

space were parks. He added further accessibility was considered for sites which 

were two or more miles out of the boundary.  

In response to Councillor Kemp the representative from CDS Group explained 

usually cemetery sites accommodated around 800 burials per acre therefore sites 

over 3 acres were recommended.  

Councillor Long was concerned with the second recommendation and proposed the 

following recommendation – to urgently review all potential sites within a suitable 

distance of King’s Lynn and explore opportunities for developing a burial cemetery 

within a quicker timescale as possible.  

Councillor Kunes seconded the proposed recommendation. The Panel agreed the 

additional recommendation.  

Councillor Colwell asked in terms of research, how many test pits were dug in the 

Gaywood allotment site.  

and it was explained that tier two was trial pits and tier three included groundwater 

monitoring. He concluded all areas of the site were non- compliant. He added that 

the Defra map was considered around vulnerability and would circulate to the Panel.  

The Chair, Councillor Collop questioned if the deadline for closure of the cemetery 

needed to be April 2026. 

The Cemeteries and Crematorium Manager explained the right of burials included up 

to 2 burials which consequently meant 30 burials could become 60. He commented 

38



this was unlikely; however, capacity was dwindling. He added, it also allowed for 

capacity for commitments in other parts of the cemetery for non- compliant graves.   

The Assistant Director for Operations and Commercial explained the 1st April 2026 

provided clarity of expectation to members, funeral directors and others. He 

explained Hunstanton was n cemetery was operational and included in the report as 

an alternative. He understood the frustration in terms of timescales and 

acknowledged it was a difficult decision with no easy solution.  

Andrew Thornalley, local funeral director summarised his comments to the Panel.   

RESOLVED: The Panel did not support the following recommendation to Cabinet: 

Cabinet Resolves: 

1) Close Gayton Road Cemetery to new full body burials from 1st April 2026 

unless operational circumstances require this date to be brought forward.  

The Panel made amendments to the second recommendation;  

2) To urgently review all potential sites within a suitable distance of King’s Lynn 

and explore opportunities for developing a burial cemetery within a quicker 

timescale as possible. 

 

39



REPORT TO CABINET 

Open Would any decisions proposed : 

Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES 
Need to be recommendations to Council    NO 

Is it a Key Decision NO 

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

Mandatory 

Lead Member: Cllr Alistair Beales, Leader 
E-mail: cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Other Cabinet Members consulted: All Cabinet members 

Other Members consulted: Corporate Performance Panel 

Lead Officer:  Debbie Ess, Corporate 
Performance Officer 
E-mail: debbie.ess@west-norfolk.gov.uk
Direct Dial: 01553 616282

Other Officers consulted: Senior Leadership Team 

Financial 
Implications 
NO 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
NO 

Statutory 
Implications  
NO 

Equal Impact 
Assessment NO 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
NO 

If not for publication, the paragraph(s) of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act considered to 
justify that is (are) paragraph(s)    

Date of meeting:     23 September 2025 

Q1 2025-2026 Performance Management Report 
Summary 

In July 2025, Cabinet endorsed and adopted the 2025-2027 Action Plan to enable the Council to 
set out their priorities for the next two years. From Q1, the number of actions to be monitored 
will increase from 26 to 55.  

The Q1 2025-2026 overall position of the Corporate Strategy is reporting: 
• 81% of the current projects are on track and progressing well
• 19% have minor issues or delays
• 2 projects have been completed within the target date.

An annual review of key performance indicators (KPIs) was completed in May 2025 and the 
number of indicators was reduced from 64 to 60. It is essential KPIs are in place to monitor 
performance and track progress against the council’s corporate objectives. 

In Q1, the overall position of the performance indicators is reporting: 
• 78% have met or exceeded targets
• 22% have not met the target.

 

Key KPI changes in Q1 
% of local supplier invoices paid within 10 days Amber to Green ↑ 4% 
Number of days to process housing benefit and council tax support 
changes of circumstances Red to Green ↓ 2 days 

% of housing adaptations completed within time Red to Green ↑ 3% 

% of major planning applications provided with an extension of time Green to Red ↑ 10% 

% of rent arrears on retail/general units Green to Red ↑ 2.56% 

% of customer calls answered within 90 seconds Green to Red ↓ 14% 
40

Agenda Item 10

mailto:cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.ess@west-norfolk.gov.uk


Recommendation 
 
Cabinet Resolves: 

1. To review the Performance Management Report and comment on the delivery against 
the Corporate Strategy. 

 
Reason for Decision 
Cabinet should use the information within the management report to review progress on the 
agreed actions and indicators and satisfy themselves that performance is at an acceptable level.  
Where progress is behind schedule members can seek additional information to explain 
variances. 
 

41



1.   Background 
 
1.1 The Council’s 2023-2027 Corporate Strategy was approved by Council on 23 

November 2023, it sets out the broad framework for the period of the 
administrative term 2023-2027.  In July 2025, Cabinet adopted the new 2025-
2027 Action Plan covering the final period of the Corporate Strategy. It outlines 
how key activities have been prioritised to deliver our Corporate Strategy and 
meet the needs of the residents of the borough. 

 
1.2 The priority areas are: 

• Promote growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk 
• Protect our environment 
• Efficient and effective delivery of our services 
• Support our communities 

 
1.3 These priorities are further defined in 37 objectives and 55 actions that are 

reflected in the new Executive Team Plans. These actions define what the 
council will do to achieve the high-level aspirations set out within the corporate 
strategy. 

 
1.4 In addition to the corporate priorities, the Transformation Programme launched 

on 1st April 2025 will be an additional key area to monitor over the next two 
years.  A quarterly update will be included in the Performance Management 
Report and will cover: 
• Organisational development 
• Service innovation and digital transformation 
• Enterprising our assets 

 
2.  Management Report  
 
2.1 The management report focuses on each of the corporate priorities individually, 

providing the Corporate Leadership Team and members with an overview on 
the current status of projects and performance levels achieved by key indicators. 
A selection of people performance measures has been included to provide an 
overview of key employee data and features within the ‘our organisation’ section 
of the report.   

 
2.2 Assistant Directors are responsible for providing the latest update on progress 

as well as rating each of the projects they are responsible for up to 30 June 
2025. An overall summary of the actions and indicators is provided at the 
beginning of the report to highlight the current position for each of the priorities 
in place to support the delivery of the corporate strategy. 

 
2.3 The Q1 2025-2026 overall position of the Corporate Strategy is reporting 81% of 

the current projects are on track and progressing well, 19% have minor issues 
or delays and 2 projects have been completed within the target date. Trend 
arrows indicate the performance trend on the previous reported quarter.  

 
2.4 Q1 position of the Corporate Strategy for each of the corporate priorities:  
 
2.4.1 Protect our environment and support our communities: 100% on target  

No projects recorded with an amber or red status, indicating major or minor 
issues/delays. 

 
 
 

42



2.4.2  Efficient and effective delivery of our services: 71% on target 
The following 4 projects have an amber status, indicating minor issues/ delays: 
• Lobby Government for alternative means of Internal Drainage Board funding  
• Review and determine impact of government changes to Internal Drainage 

Board funding 
• Review the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) infrastructure requirements 

and assess the new governance arrangements 
• Implement a performance management system to manage information to 

support decision-making 
 
2.4.3 Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk: 64% on target 
 The following 4 projects have an amber status, indicating minor issues/ delays: 

• Develop the Car Parking Strategy, produce a draft and adopt the strategy in 
2024-2025 

• Develop and commence implementation of an investment strategy for 
property assets owned by the council for income generation 

• Progress the West Winch Housing Access Road Project 
• Progress the Southgates Masterplan 

 
2.5 Q1 position of the key performance indicators for each of the corporate priorities: 
 
2.5.1 Protect our Environment: 100% on target 

All 3 performance indicators have met the agreed targets. 
 
2.5.2 Support our communities: 85% on target 

The following 2 performance indicators did not meet the target by more (>) than 
5%: 
>5% Increase participation at all leisure and culture facilities 
>5% Reduce net subsidy per head 

 
2.5.3 Efficient and effective delivery of our services: 75% on target 

The following 3 performance indicators did not meet the target by more (>) than 
or less (<) than 5%: 
>5% Customer calls answered within 90 seconds 
<5% Supplier invoices paid within 30 days 
<5% Purchase orders created retrospectively after goods have been 

received 
 
2.5.4 Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk: 69% on target 

The following 4 performance indicators did not meet the target by more (>) than 
5%: 
>5% Major planning applications provided with an extension of time (EOT) 
>5% New homes delivered in the Borough to meet the housing need target  
>5% New homes built through the Council's Major Housing Programme 
>5% Rent arrears on retail/general units 

 
3 Options Considered  
 
3.1 None. 
 
 

43



4 Policy Implications 
 
4.1 The Corporate Strategy sets the council’s policy framework and as such is the 

council’s primary policy document. All other documents and plans will need to 
take account of this policy framework when they are being prepared or 
refreshed.  

 
5 Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial implications of this plan as its implementation 
 is through the existing services, programmes and budget provisions already 
 in place.  
 
6 Personnel Implications 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7 Environmental Considerations 
 
7.1 The corporate strategy includes a specific priority focused on protecting our 

environment including tackling climate change. This will be progressed through 
the delivery of the council’s climate change strategy and action plan and through 
related plans such as the emerging Local Plan. 

 
8 Statutory Considerations 
 
8.1 None. 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 
9.1 This report is reporting on the performance of projects/workstreams across the 

council, and as such there are no direct equality considerations related to this 
report however, each project/workstream that is being reported on will have had 
an EqIA completed. 

 
10 Risk Management Implications 
 
10.1 Progress with corporate strategy actions provides an input for risk management 

and may identify emerging risks and evidence improvement/ deterioration in risk 
scores and the delivery of mitigation measures. This will need to be factored into 
updates of the corporate, directorate and project risk registers. 

 
11 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
11.1 None. 
 
12 Background Papers 
 
12.1 None. 
 

44



 

 

 

  

       

Borough Council of  
King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 
 
Q1 2025-2026 Performance 
Management Report 
 

45



2 
 

Contents 
 

Introduction and Summary          Page 

Purpose of the report              3 

Summary of Corporate Strategy Projects            3 

Summary of Key Performance Indicators           4 

 

Delivering our Corporate Strategy 

Priority: Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk           5 

Priority: Protect our environment            7 

Priority: Efficient and effective delivery of our services       10 

Priority: Support our communities          13 

 

Managing the business 

Our key performance indicators in detail         15 

Our Organisation            20 

 

Delivering our Transformation Programme        21 

 

 

  

46



3 
 

Introduction and Executive Summary 
The purpose of the report is to demonstrate the performance of the Council for Q1 2025-2026 against the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy and key performance indicators. It sets out the key activities to deliver our corporate priorities 
and summarises the measures in place by aligning key performance indicators to our priorities within the 2023-2027 
Corporate Strategy and 2025-2027 Action Plan.  

This report does not contain details of the numerous activities ongoing in each service area that also contribute to 
delivering important services which make a difference to the residents of West Norfolk.  

Executive summary of the Corporate Strategy - current position for Q1 2025-2026 

    
Promoting growth and 
prosperity to benefit 

West Norfolk 

Protect our environment Efficient and effective 
delivery of our services 

Support our communities 

 

Corporate 
Priorities 

Status of projects and actions 

 

R A G B Completed 
Promoting growth 
and prosperity to 
benefit West 
Norfolk 

0 
(0%) 

5 
(38%) 

8 
(62%) 

0 
(0%) 

0 

Protect our 
environment 

0 
(0%) 

0 
(0%) 

13 
(100%) 

0 
(0%) 

0 

Efficient and 
effective delivery of 
our services 

0 
(0%) 

4 
(29%) 

10 
(71%) 

0 
(0%) 

1 

Support our 
communities 

0 
(0%) 

0 
(0%) 

7 
(100%) 

0 
(0%) 

1 

Overall position 0 
(0%) 

9 
(19%) 

38 
(81%) 

0 
(0%) 

2 

  

  
R Major issues to resolve A Minor issues/delays G Project on target B Project aborted/closed  Project completed 

A

G

62%
on 

Target

G

100%
on 

Target

A

G

71%
on 

Target

G

100%
on 

Target

6
7 9

14
19

38

11 12

2
0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

23-24 24-25 Q1 25-26

N
um

be
r o

f a
ct

io
ns

Corporate Strategy monitoring
Q1 2025-2026

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24
24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of actions

Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit 
West Norfolk

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24
24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of actions

Protect our environment

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24

24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of actions

Efficient and effective delivery of our 
services

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24

24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of actions

Support our communities

47



4 
 

Executive summary of the Key Performance Indicators - current position for Q1 2025-2026 

    

  

Promoting growth and 
prosperity to benefit  

West Norfolk 

Protect our environment Efficient and effective 
delivery of our services 

Support our communities   

 
 

Corporate 
Priorities 

Status of performance indicators 

 

R A G Monitor 
only 

In 
progress 

Promoting 
growth and 
prosperity to 
benefit West 
Norfolk 

4 
(31%) 

0 
(0%) 

9 
(69%) 

6 
 

0 

Protect our 
environment 

0 
(0%) 

0 
(0%) 

3 
(100%) 

5 
 

0 

Efficient and 
effective 
delivery of our 
services 

1 
(8%) 

2 
(17%) 

9 
(75%) 

1 
 

1 

Support our 
communities 

2 
(15%) 

0 
(0%) 

11 
(85%) 

5 
 

1 

Overall 
position 

7 
(17%) 

2 
(5%) 

32 
(78%) 

17 
 

2 

  

  

R Performance indicator is 5% 
or more below target A Performance indicator is up to 

5% below target G Performance indicator has 
achieved target M Monitor only   

  

R

G

69%
on 

Target

G

100%
on 

Target

R

A

G

75%
on 

Target

R

G

85%
on 

Target

6 6 7

1

6
2

31

37
32

21

13
17

5
2 2

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

23-24 24-25 Q1 25-26

N
um

be
r o

f a
ct

io
ns

Key performance indicator 
monitoring

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24

24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of indicators

Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit 
West Norfolk

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24

24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of indicators

Protect our environment

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24

24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of indicators

Efficient and effective delivery of our 
services

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

23-24

24-25

Q1 25-26

Number of indicators

Support our communities

48



5 
 

  Delivering our Corporate Strategy 
 
Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk 
To create job opportunities, support economic growth, develop skills needed locally, encourage housing development   
and infrastructure that meets local need; and promote West Norfolk as a destination. 

Actions carried out by the council 

R Major issues to resolve A Minor issues/delays G On track  B On hold/closed    Completed  
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Agree and deliver financing for the Council Housing companies to support delivery of 
affordable and rental homes in the Borough 
 
Company Boards are being supported on the development of their financial strategy and 
financing agreements have been drafted for board consideration. At the same time, additional 
funding from the Local Authority Housing Fund has been awarded and needs to be considered 
as part of the financial strategy.  
 
Q2 actions: Once considered and if agreed by Company Boards and approved by Council, 
financing agreements will be actioned within the financial year. 
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Develop the Car Parking Strategy, produce a draft and adopt the strategy in 2024-2025 
 

Discussions held with the Informal Transport Working Group and Regeneration and 
Development Panel on strategy priorities and opportunities during Q4 2024/25. 
 
Q2 actions: Updated draft strategy received for internal review by officers and forthcoming 
cabinet briefing.   
 

Dec 2025 A 
↔ 

 

Progress the Building Conditions Survey to review property assets and valuations 
which will inform a new Asset Management Strategy and Plan 
 
Detailed survey put on hold pending disposals strategy. Interim photographic schedule to be 
arranged.  
 
Q2 actions: Co-ordinate photographic schedule.  
 

Mar 2026 G 
↔ 

 

Develop and commence implementation of an investment strategy for property assets 
owned by the council for income generation 
 
Initial asset challenge review is completed. Rent reviews, lease renewals, lettings and sales 
now outsourced to maximise income generation of existing assets. Other properties have been 
identified for disposal and capital receipts. 
 
Q2 actions: Further work on progress disposals and capital receipts. 
 

Oct 2025 A 
↔ 

 

Review and develop existing events programme across the Borough 
 
Additional logistical challenges and a 20% budget reduction is making delivery of the 
programme of events difficult and resource intensive. 
 

Q2 Actions: Continue to deliver the 2025-2026 programme. 
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Develop the investment plan for West Norfolk 
 
Economic Growth Officer appointed to lead on the drafting of the Action Plan for the West 
Norfolk Economic Strategy (WNES). Progression of the Masterplans for King’s Lynn and 
Hunstanton and preparation of the Neighbourhoods Regeneration Plan will inform the 
preparation of the final Investment Plan. 
 
Q2 actions: Review work from the WNES to prepare the Action Plan, progression of 
masterplans and regeneration plan will inform the drafting of the Investment Plan during Q3-
Q4. 
 

Mar 2026 G 
 
 

49



6 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Complete housing needs assessment 
 
It has been agreed with Planning Policy that the Housing Needs Assessment will be 
progressed to completion to support the new Local Plan. Initial discussions have been held with 
consultants and timescales for delivery are awaited. 
 
Q2 actions: Agree timescales for completion with consultants. 
 

Nov 2025 
 

G 
 
 

Progress the West Winch Housing Access Road Project 
 
The Constitution Hill planning application has been granted permission with all S106 
agreements signed securing planning obligations including land required for the housing 
access road.  Discussions with landowners regarding a Collaboration agreement are ongoing. 
 
Q2 actions: Continue discussions with landowners regarding collaboration agreement. 
 

Aug 2026 A 
 
 

Progress the Southgates Masterplan 
 
RIBA 2 design on the development sites and RIBA 3 on the strategic landscaping for the 
masterplan is completed. Final planning strategy awaited following decision by Norfolk County 
Council  to remove highways and active travel element of the masterplan from the King’s Lynn 
Sustainable Transport and Regeneration Scheme Levelling Up Fund project. 
 
Q2 actions: Due to the extensive consultation, design and technical work undertaken to date 
across the 3 workstreams, the development of the overall masterplan is in a position to 
progress to Outline Business Case in preparation for other funding streams to be available 
under Devolution in 2026/27. Immediate works to the area of Southgates to be explored. 
 

Ongoing 
 

A 
 
 

Progress the King’s Lynn Masterplan 
 
A brief has been prepared, Cabinet report approved, procurement process commenced and 
engagement with key landowners undertaken. 
 
Q2 actions: Appointment of multidisciplinary team to be completed and inception and baseline 
work to commence. 
 

May 2026 G 
 
 

Progress the Hunstanton Masterplan 
 
Initial baseline work undertaken and options being developed for wider internal and external 
engagement. 
 
Q2 actions: Wider internal and external engagement on draft masterplan to commence. 
 

Nov 2025 G 
 
 

Promote the King’s Lynn Enterprise Park 
 
Marketing plan and new branding launched early in 2025 and the site has been promoted at 
UK Real Estate Investment and Infrastructure Forum. Brown & Co will be appointed from July 
2025 as agent to promote and manage enquiries in line with the marketing plan.  
 
Q2 actions: Joint site promotion will launch by Brown & Co and marketing agent in August 
2025. 
 

Sept 2025 G 
 
 

Deliver the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) and Rural England Prosperity Fund 
(REPF) for 2025/26 
 
Full UKSPF and REPF funding for 2022/25 confirmed following the 2024/25 year end 
submission. UKSPF and REPF programme for 2025/26 was agreed by Cabinet in March. Rural 
Community grant scheme and West Norfolk Rural Business Grant are in process. 
 
Q2 actions: Finalise Rural Community Grant awards. Progress Rural Business Grant 
applications. Agree allocation of uncommitted UKSPF with West Norfolk SPF Programme 
Board. 

Sept 2025 A 
 
 

 

50



7 
 

Actions carried out in partnership with others (Information only) 

Project description and comments 
Work with the Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO) and King’s Lynn Town Board on delivery of the St 
Georges Guildhall project 
 
There is on-going contact with the CIO and work continues on fundraising matters. A trustee of the CIO regularly 
attends the Guildhall project meetings. 
 
Engage with schools and colleges particularly in relation to skills development 
 
The council continues to facilitate the West Norfolk Headteachers Network. Support has been provided to run a small 
grant scheme to support attainment (in core subjects), this funding has supported 13 local primary schools with a 
range of projects and initiatives designed to develop skills in core attainment subjects and improve attainment. We will 
be seeking feedback on the impact of these projects in September 2025.  
 
The skills and attainment budget, and associated activities, are currently under review following the merger of the 
Corporate Policy and Corporate Governance teams.  
 

 

Protect our environment  
To create a cleaner, greener, and better protected West Norfolk by considering environmental issues in all we do and by 
encouraging residents and businesses to do the same. 

Actions carried out by the council 

R Major issues to resolve A Minor issues/delays G On track  B On hold/closed    Completed  
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Work proactively to support residents, regardless of tenure, to access funding for energy 
efficiency improvements and to continue to work to alleviate fuel poverty 
 
Continue to work with the Integrated Care Board to proactively identify eligible residents for Eco-
Flex property upgrades. Promotion of self-referral portal for domestic energy efficiency 
improvements and continued use of Beat your Bills events with the Lily/Careline team and 
Community Action Norfolk.  
 
Q2 Actions: Mail out to eligible households for the Warm Homes government grant. Active 
promotion of Thinking Fuel initiative and provide further Beat you Bills roadshows.   
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Adopt the new Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan 
 
Contextual data analysis has been completed on carbon emissions and the council’s carbon 
footprint for 2023/2024 has been published. The Department for Net Zero and Energy Security 
published territorial carbon emissions data on 3rd July 2025. Discussions were held with 
directorate management and portfolio holder on potential focus of draft strategy. 
 
Q2 Actions: Undertake risk assessment and prepare draft strategy for internal consultation by 
the end July 2025. 
 

Sept 2025 G 
↔ 

 

Develop the Asset Management Plan to include measures to reduce impact on the 
environment from property we occupy and use as investment 
 
Projects include the installation of solar panels and maximising the use of existing heat pumps. 
LED lighting upgrades are in progress and an investigation for the provision of EV charging at 
KLIC. 
 
Q2 Actions: Continue to seek opportunities. 
 
 

Mar 2026 G 
↔ 

 
 

51



8 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Develop and deploy a climate change assessment tool for council policies and projects 
 
Governance and Democratic Services are working on the development of the assessment tool to 
assist with the decision making and evaluation of environmental and social impacts.  
 
Q2 actions:  Consult with a wide range of officers on the proposed design. 
 

Mar 2026 G 
↑  
A 

Create a community orchard at South Lynn 
 
The footpath and CCTV column installation has been completed, concrete bases for benches are 
prepared for installation by October. An inspection of the trees was undertaken and weekly 
watering has been underway since mid-May 2025. 
 
Q2 Actions: Installation of CCTV cameras, benches, dog bin, waste bin, raised beds and design 
of interpretation board by October 2025. 
 

Mar 2026 G 
↔ 

 
 

Upgrade street lighting and other council assets with energy-efficient LED lighting 
 
The street lighting contract was awarded to AMEY and works are due to commence imminently. 
 
Q2 Actions: Oversee the contract. 
 

Jun 2026 G 
↔ 

 

Complete a review of the vehicle fleet 
 
Consultant’s report was received at the end of May, the Corporate Leadership Team have 
considered the report and recommendations for a demonstrator project on 1st July. Capital 
programme planning work underway. 
 
Q2 Actions: Provide update to the Climate Change Informal Working Group on 29th July. 
Subject to identification of financial resources, commission upgrade of depot electrical 
infrastructure to support electric vehicle charging.  Commission consultants to support 
implementation of a demonstrator project by October 2025. 
 

Apr 2027 G 
↔ 

 

Promote householder group buying scheme 
 
Solar Together campaign for 2024/2025 closed at the end of June. In total, 65 solar PV 
installations, 64 battery storage systems, 5 retrofit battery storage systems and 7 EV charge 
points were installed. Preparations for 2025/2026 Solar Together campaign is complete. 
 
Q2 Actions: Registrations are open for Solar Together campaign until September. Distribute 
targeted mailshot to residents, decision phase for interested residents until December 2025 and 
installations completed by July 2026. 
 

Aug 2027 G 
 
 

Procurement Strategy on net zero 
 
Since the implementation of the Procurement Act 2023 and the Council’s new standing orders on 
24th February 2025, quality questions have been developed to be included in tender documents. 
In Q1 there were no tenders available to be advertised under the new regime.  
 
Q2 Actions: We anticipate there will be four tenders to be advertised during Q2 and will include 
a question on how contractors will support the council’s climate change strategy, a copy of the 
strategy will be included in all tender packs. 
 

Mar 2027 G 
 
 

Air Quality Action Plan and Strategy 
 
The 2024 Annual Status Report (ASR) concluded that the Railway Road Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA) was no longer justified, as air quality levels now meet the relevant NO2 air quality 
objectives. The ASR has been submitted to DEFRA for auditing, and we await their response.  
 
Q2 Actions: A draft Cabinet report is being prepared to withdraw the AQMA and this would lead 
to the Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) being replaced by an Air Quality Strategy in due course. 
 

Jun 2027 G 
 
 

52



9 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Implement the Hunstanton Coastal Management Plan 
 
Repairs package was completed in June 2025.  
 
Q2 Actions: Final version of the Geotechnical report to be received. Start to consider the 
implications and relevant actions for the Hunstanton capital sea defence works.  
 

Aug 2028 G 
 
 

New Local Plan 
 
Internal preparation work for a new local plan has commenced, as has Duty to Cooperate (DtC) 
conversations with all the planning authorities in Norfolk and our other neighbours. By Autumn 
2025, Government to confirm the detail of the new plan-making system, this requires further 
policy, guidance, templates, and possibly legislation, the process cannot commence until this has 
been confirmed and is in place.   
 
The overall time scale envisaged in the new system is 30 months (with an additional 4-month 
lead in) once the LPA formally starts the process and then once submitted for final examination 
the planning inspectorate are in charge of the timetable. The end date will be dependent upon 
the start and the process, as well as being condensed if more tightly structured. 
 
Q2 Actions: Continue to actively monitor information/announcements from government 
regarding the new plan-making system. Also continue with DtC engagement and gearing up with 
preparatory work where possible, with a view to starting the process as soon as we are in a 
position to do so. 
 

Dec 2028 G 

Hold a climate change focused business expo in 2025 and 2027 
 
A Business Expo will be held on 23rd September 2025 (10am-4pm) at the Corn Exchange, 
King’s Lynn. Norfolk Chamber of Commerce have been commissioned to organise and deliver 
the event see https://norfolkchamber.co.uk/chamber-events/climate-change-expo-kings-lynn/ 
 
Q2 Actions: Ongoing social media communications by the council to support promotional work 
by Norfolk Chamber of Commerce. Conduct an evaluation report by November 2025. 
 

Nov 2027 
 

G 

 

   Actions carried out in partnership with others (Information only) 

Project description and comments 
Engage with Anglian Water (AW) and the Environment Agency (EA) to improve sea and river water quality  
 
Results from the first two months of the sampling season are encouraging despite interventions which have been 
exhausted. Continue with inter-organisational working. 
 
Engage with Anglian Water (AW) and the Environment Agency (EA) concerning the shingle ridge at Heacham 
and Hunstanton sea defences 
 
Meetings have been held with partners regarding the ongoing work to maintain the shingle ridge flood defences. 
Further meetings have been held as part of the Wash East Coastal Management Strategy review. 

Participate in a regional benchmarking exercise to understand our preparedness for new procurement 
requirements that consider economic, social, environmental and cultural factors to determine Scope 3 
emissions 
 
The council is representing the Norfolk Climate Change Partnership on the Regional Climate Change Forum (RCCF) 
from July 2025. The regional project has three workstreams:  
1. Developing local economies 
2. Collaborative working with common contractors 
3. Knowledge sharing and community of practice 
 
Workstream 1 is being led by consultants and will deliver 3 best practise guides for councils to use. Remaining 
workstreams are being progressed by a RCCF Sustainable Development and Joint Procurement subgroup. 
 

53

https://norfolkchamber.co.uk/chamber-events/climate-change-expo-kings-lynn/


10 
 

Project description and comments 
Work with stakeholders supporting the delivery of the Norfolk Net Zero Communities project in the parish of 
Marshland St James 
 

The project was completed in July. End of project facilitated meetings were held with a wide range of stakeholders in 
June, and the project lead issued a report to the funders, Innovate UK, in July 2025. 
 

 

Efficient and effective delivery of our services  
To provide cost-effective, efficient services that meet the needs of our local communities, promote good governance, 
and provide sustainable financial planning and appropriate staffing. 

Actions carried out by the council 

R Major issues to resolve A Minor issues/delays G On track  B On hold/closed    Completed 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Lobby Government for alternative means of Internal Drainage Board funding 
 

We are still waiting for confirmation of the allocations from Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) for the £5m grant for 2025/2026 for IDB levies.  The Special 
Interest Group (SIG) continue to meet regularly and lobbying continues for a permanent solution 
to be found.  Defra are commissioning a review to support a future funding solution but this 
continues to be delayed.  It is expected that the outcome of the review may not be known for 
another year which is beyond the spending review committed to by Government for 2026/2027.   
 
Q2 actions: A meeting has been set up with Nico Heslop, MHCLG at the LGA Conference for 
SIG representatives to discuss further. 
 

Mar 2026 
 
 

G 
↓ 
A 

Review and determine impact of government changes to Internal Drainage Board funding 
 
Meetings with IDBs have taken place to understand the context of a number of consultations that 
are taking place at the moment and the financial implications for the council.  The Chief 
Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive have both responded separately to IDBs on these 
matters.   
 
Q2 actions: A further consultation by Defra on ‘Reforming approach to floods funding’ is being 
reviewed and a draft response being prepared for submission by the deadline of 29th July 2025.  
  

Mar 2026 
 
 

A 
↔ 

 

Undertake actions to encourage employees to cycle to work and investigate options for 
provision of a cycle to work scheme 
 
At the Sustainable Travel Working Group meeting held on 16th May, responsibility for active 
travel transferred from Corporate Policy to the Climate Change Team.  Focus continues on 
developing an active travel plan to be presented to the Corporate Leadership Team. 
 
Q2 actions: Arrange for bike sheds to be cleared and new locks to be fitted. Property Services to 
issue keys and maintain a register. Next meeting to be held in September. 
 

Mar 2026 G 
↔ 

 

Develop a transformation programme and commence a review of the council and its 
operations to ensure it is efficient and ‘fit for the future’ 
 
The council’s Transformation Programme commenced officially on the 1st April. The 
transformation programme covers three key pillars of transformation:- 
• Organisational Development 
• Service Innovation and Digital Transformation 
• Enterprising our Assets 
 
All projects have commenced and a timeline against each project has been developed. A 
quarterly update on the transformation programme workstreams will be included in the 
Performance Management Report from Q1 2025-2026.  
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

54



11 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
In addition to the projects covered within the transformation programme framework, the Project 
Management Office is also co-ordinating the rollout of Docusign across the organisation and a 
project to review and improve the working environment in Kings Court. This will involve 
refreshing our meeting room space, reviewing workspace and the working environment in 
general.  
 
Q2 Actions: Continue with the rollout of Docusign, and the outputs identified and reported as 
part of the transformation programme. Commence the project to review and refresh the working 
environment in line with new working practices and hybrid working.  
 
Review the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) infrastructure requirements and assess 
the new governance arrangements 
 
Planning Advisory Service have undertaken a review of CIL Governance with the report being 
received on 29th May 2025 and recommendations being made.  
 
Q2 Actions:  Recommendations including draft CIL Policy and Spending Strategy documents 
will be taken to CIL Spending Panel on 29th July for discussion and associated decisions. 
Subject to review and amendments identified, will go to Cabinet for approval of documents on 
16th September. 
 

Sept 2025 A 
↔ 

 

Analyse and identify actions arising from a staff survey, including development of 
corporate values 
 
A project team has been formed to develop corporate values and behaviours. 
 
Q2 Actions: Staff sessions will be undertaken to develop values during August and September 
with a session arranged for councillors. Report to Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet in 
October/November. Work on behaviours will then follow. 
 

Mar 2026 G 
↔ 

 

Develop a Digital Strategy 
 
Review was commissioned of digital approach and commenced in Q1 in partnership with Entec 
SI. 
 
Q2 Actions: Review to be completed and digital road map presented to Corporate Leadership 
Team and shared with Cabinet and Strategic ICT group. 
 

Mar 2027 G 
↔ 

 

Implement a performance management system to manage information to support 
decision-making 
 
The Interim Corporate Governance Manager has been recruited and a review of the Governance 
team structure and associated job descriptions is underway.  
 
Q2 actions: Work continues with the implementation of the system. Report templates will be 
produced and consultation with Portfolio Holder and Corporate Leadership Team on the format of 
the reports will commence.  
 

Sept 2025 A 
↔ 

 

Engage in formal Land Registry Migration Project 
 
The Discovery and Design report has been received, signed off and returned to HM Land 
Registry (HMLR) in June. We will continue to validate our spatial data for listed buildings and 
scheduled ancient monuments. 
 
Q2 actions: Contact HMLR to establish timescales for receiving a draft project plan and 
commencement date. 
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Engage with the Devolution programme to deliver the best outcome for West Norfolk 
 
The Chief Executive is a member of the Devolution Programme Board and is fully engaged with 
the discussions between Norfolk County Council and Suffolk County Council on the set up of the 
Strategic Authority. This will include the Target Operating Model of the Strategic Authority and 
how it will work with the future unitary authority(s). 

Mar 2027 G 
 
 

55



12 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
 
Q2 Actions: Continue to meet with the Devolution Programme Board on the set up of the 
Strategic Authority and report to the Leader/Cabinet on any impact on West Norfolk. 
 
Engage with the Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) programme to deliver the best 
outcome for West Norfolk 
 
Following the submission of the Interim Plan in March 2025, the 6 District Councils are now 
working with a Strategic Partner on the full business case for a three unitary submission to 
MHCLG in September 2025. Consultation and engagement events are currently being worked on 
throughout July and the consultation ends on 31st July. The response and comments received 
from the engagement will then be considered for the full business case. The Subject Matter 
Experts workstreams on Adult Social Care, Human Resources and Housing have now met and a 
large amount of financial data has been collected which will be analysed to inform the full 
business case.  
 
Q2 Actions: Continue to work with the other 5 district councils to develop the full business case 
for a three unitary model of government for Norfolk for submission to MHCLG in September 
2025. 
 

Mar 2027 G 
 
 

Improve governance and assurance of corporate health and safety 
 
Pre-market engagement was undertaken and completed, a preferred contractor to undertake a 
review of the governance and assurance work has been identified.  
 
Q2 Actions: Contract negotiations with the preferred contractor to be completed and contract 
awarded. 
 

Nov 2025 G 
 
 

Delivery of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 
A quarterly forecast against the MTFS is provided to Cabinet throughout the year. Data for Q1 is 
being prepared in July for consideration by the Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet. 
 
Q2 Actions: Income from discretionary fees and charges and savings expected under the 
Savings and Efficiency Plan, will be monitored and the impact on the forecast as at Q2 will be 
reported. 
 

Annual G 
 
 

Development of the Corporate Leadership Team and service managers 
 
Programme of team coaching commissioned from SOLACE for Corporate Leadership Team. 
People Management Passport to support performance management commissioned and in 
delivery from Birketts. 
 
Q2 Actions: Team coaching commences over the summer for Corporate Leadership Team. 
 

Mar 2026 G 
 
 

Implement and embed improvements to internal and external communications and 
engagement 
 
The communications and engagement service development plan has been implemented. 
 

Completed  

 

 

  

56



13 
 

Support our communities  
To support the health and wellbeing of our communities, help prevent homelessness, assist people with access to 
benefits advice and ensure there is equal access to opportunities. 

Actions carried out by the council 

R Major issues to resolve A Minor issues/delays G On track  B On hold/closed    Completed 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Progress our commitment to the Care Leavers Covenant by developing and promoting 
our local offer to care leavers 
 

Care leavers have been included in our EIA process as a recognised group and are given 
specific consideration when officers are developing new policies, services, events and functions. 
A range of initiatives have taken place to engage care leavers in the development of our ‘local 
offer’, unfortunately these initiatives received little to no engagement from care leavers, despite 
working with the relevant teams at Norfolk County Council.  
 
Q2 actions: A review of how we progress this work is planned. 
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Further develop ‘Creating Communities’ events 
 

Creating Communities events have been held at Florence Fields and Salters Road. Two 
community leaflets and one statutory based leaflet have been created and are available on the 
council’s website.  The community leaflets focus on voluntary and community groups / 
organisations, and the statutory leaflet concentrates more on key services from organisations 
such as the Borough Council, Norfolk County Council, health and emergency services. Currently 
in discussions with Allison Homes to create a leaflet for the Wootton area. 
  
Q2 actions: Continue with the agreed events to integrate communities and increase the 
prosperity for the areas. 
 

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Undertake a review of the council’s equality policy and continue to progress a range of 
workstreams to support equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) 
 
The revised EDI policy was withdrawn from the democratic approval process, after being 
presented to Corporate Performance Panel, following the Supreme Court ruling on the definition 
of ‘sex’ as defined within the Equality Act 2010. We are still waiting on further guidance on the 
implications of this ruling. Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) training was delivered to key 
officers and members 

Q2 actions: The Corporate Equalities Working Group continues to meet to progress the various 
workstreams that have been identified to support the ongoing development of our approach to 
equality, diversity and inclusion. Continue to deliver EIA training on a rolling basis and build it into 
the council’s training plan.  

Ongoing G 
↔ 

 

Develop a Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Action Plan 
 
Strategy to be aligned to year 1 Marmot recommendations due in October 2025. 
 
Q2 Actions: To keep Health and Wellbeing Partnership informed of Marmot review progress.  
 

Apr 2026 G 
 
 

Develop 5-year Strategy for Leisure and Culture ensuring growth and additional 
partnership working 
 
A strategy day was held with Alive Senior Leadership Team to determine the projects to link to 
the council’s corporate strategy and priorities.  
 
Q2 Actions: Draft strategy to be circulated for feedback and input from Corporate Leadership 
Team and Cabinet. Finalise Strategy by September 2025 
 
 
 

Jun 2026 G 
 
 

57



14 
 

Project description and comments Target Date 
Develop and support partnerships with key stakeholders to deliver improved health and 
wellbeing for West Norfolk Residents drawing on outcomes of Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy and Marmot recommendations 
 
First Marmot stakeholder workshop was delivered in Hunstanton and feedback collated and 
published on the Health Equity Network. Planning of second and third workshops in Downham 
Market and King’s Lynn. Launch of West Norfolk Marmot group on the Health Equity Network.  
 
Q2 Actions:  Deliver Downham Market workshop. Plan individual stakeholder sessions with the 
Institute Health Equity (IHE) to inform draft recommendations and provide support with the 
development of the draft recommendations. Develop comms strategy for draft recommendations 

 G 
 

CIC transformation plan 
 
Phase one is complete with the implementation of the MITEL omni-channel software, softphones, 
and remote working. Phase two is underway, with a proof of concept being produced by the 
Corporate Web Team to demonstrate the Talkative Digital Helper on web chat.  
 
Q2 Actions: The CIC is reviewing waste information on our website, reviewing historic web 
chats, and producing FAQs for the AI Knowledge Base. The plan is to launch the Talkative 
Digital Helper on web chat in Summer 2025, starting initially with the waste service. A business 
case is to be written for Talkative VOICE, this is to replace the switchboard and IVR options (call 
routing to queues), plus answer quick and simple customer enquiries instead of being transferred 
to a CIC Advisor.  
 

Nov 2025 G 
 
 

Develop a Community Engagement Strategy as part of the Corporate Peer Challenge 
Action Plan 
 

The council now has an engagement framework and consultation standards and processes are 
in place. 
 

Completed  

  

58



15 
 

 

Managing the Business 
Our Performance Indicators in detail  

R Performance indicator is 
5% or more below target A Performance indicator is up to 

5% below target G Performance indicator has 
achieved target M Monitor only   

 

Promote growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

1.1 

% of non-major 
planning applications 
determined within 8 
weeks or within 
agreed timescale 

93% 92%    70% G
↔ 

 
 

1.2 

% of major planning 
applications 
determined within 13 
weeks or within 
agreed timescale 

94% 80%    60% G
↔ 

Two major 
applications 
not granted 
with EOTs has 
impacted the 
Q1 figure 

1.3 

% of decisions on 
applications for 
major development 
that have been 
overturned at appeal, 
measured against 
total number of major 
applications 
determined 

3.03% 3.06%    10% G
↔  

1.4 

% of decisions on 
applications for non-
major development 
that have been 
overturned at appeal, 
measured against 
total number of non-
major applications 
determined 

0.85% 0.93%    10% G
↔  

1.5 

% of major planning 
applications provided 
with an extension of 
time (EOT) 

50% 60%    50% 
G
↓ 
R 

Two of the five 
major 
applications 
were not 
granted with 
EOTs 

1.6 

% of non-major 
planning applications 
provided with an 
extension of time 
(EOT) 

25% 33%    40% G
↔  

1.7 

Amount of planning 
fees returned under 
the Planning 
Guarantee 

£0 £0    Monitor 
Only M  

1.8 

% of new 
enforcement cases 
actioned within 12 
weeks of receipt 
 

85% 85%    85% G
↔  

59



16 
 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

1.9 

No of new homes 
built through the 
Council's Major 
Housing Programme 

97 14    124 
(Q1 18) 

R
↔ 

Delay due to a 
design feature 
which required 
additional  
architectural 
input. 1.10 

No of new Affordable 
Homes delivered by 
the Major Housing 
Programme 

61 1    25 
(Q1  3) 

G
↓ 
R 

1.11 % of rent arrears on 
industrial units 5.11% 4.80%    5% G

↔  

1.12 % of rent arrears on 
retail/general units 6.94% 9.50%    6% 

G
↓ 
R 

The increase 
relates to one 
tenant, talks to 
resolve the 
issue are in 
place.  

1.13 
King's Lynn long stay 
car parking tickets 
purchased 

162,127 43,987    162,127 G
↔ 

Cumulative 
data 

1.14 
King's Lynn short 
stay car parking 
tickets purchased 

1,033,739 254,209    1,033,739 G
↔ 

Cumulative 
data 

1.15 

Local (West Norfolk) 
contracts awarded to 
SMEs: (include %, 
number and value) 

- 
67% 

2 
£70,829 

   Monitor 
only M  

1.16 

Non-local contracts 
awarded to SMEs: 
(include %, number 
and value) 

- 
85% 
11 

£1,497,074 
   Monitor 

only M  

1.17 

Capital contracts 
awarded to SMEs: 
(include %, number 
and value) 

- 
100% 

3 
£694,100 

   Monitor 
only M  

1.18 

Revenue contracts 
awarded to SMEs: 
(include %, number 
and value) 

- 
77% 
10 

£603,803 
   Monitor 

only M  

1.19 

No of new homes 
delivered in the 
Borough to meet the 
housing need target 

427 78    Monitor 
only M 554 target 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 

Protect our Environment 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

2.1 
% of street lighting 
within the borough 
converted to LED 

30.24% 30.24%    Monitor 
only M Cumulative 

data  

2.2 
Solar power (kWh) 
generated across 
council sites 

488,227 171,690    Monitor 
only M Cumulative 

data 

2.3 No of brown bins in 
use for composting 29,430 29,718    29,000 G

↔  

2.4 
Total tonnage of 
garden waste 
collected and treated 

11,123 3,250    11,000 G
↔ 

Cumulative 
data 

60



17 
 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

2.5 
Total tonnage of food 
waste collected and 
treated 

1,655 380    Monitor 
only M Cumulative 

data 

2.6 
Total tonnage of 
mixed recycling 
collected and treated 

14,082 3,506    Monitor 
only M Cumulative 

data 

2.7 No of fly tipping 
incidents recorded 2,267 480    Monitor 

only M Cumulative 
data 

2.8 

% of fly tipping cases 
initially assessed 
within 1 day of being 
recorded 

100% 100%    95% G
↔  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Efficient and effective delivery of our services 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

3.1 % of calls reduced by 
web chat 86% 86%    75% G

↔  

3.2 % of calls answered 
within 90 seconds 75% 61%    75% 

G
↓ 
R 

Q1 is a peak 
period for 
council tax 
calls, up by 
12% on 24/25, 
issues of staff 
sickness and 
recruitment are 
being reviewed. 

3.3 

% of press releases 
covered by media 
within one month of 
being issued 

97% 100%    95% G
↔  

3.4 
% of supplier 
invoices paid within 
30 days 

98% 98%    99% A
↔  

3.5 
% of local supplier 
invoices paid within 
10 days 

93% 97%    96% 
G 
↑ 
A 

 

3.6 
% of Council Tax 
collected against 
outstanding balance 

97.1% 28.1%    97.1% 
G 
↑ 
A 

Cumulative 
data  

3.7 
% of Business Rates 
collected against 
outstanding balance 

98.6% 33.7%    98.6% G
↔ 

Cumulative 
data  

3.8 % of BID Levy 
collected 95.4% 55.8%    97.5% 

G 
↑ 
A 

Cumulative 
data  

3.9 

No of completed 
fraud/corruption 
investigations 
including data 
matching exercises 

9,753 

Fraud is currently in transition between 
services following some structure changes and 
arrangements are currently underway to 
establish responsibilities to take this work 
forward.  An update will be provided in Q2. 

5,000   

3.10 No of cyber security 
incidents reported 0 0    Monitor 

only M  

61



18 
 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

3.11 

% spend in  
compliance with 
authorised 
procedures 

 
- 95%   

 
95% G 

 

3.12 
% of “open rate” for 
the Our News staff e-
newsletter 

 
- 99%   

 
95% G 

 

3.13 

% of purchase orders 
created 
retrospectively after 
goods have been 
received 

81% 58%    30% A 

 

3.14 

% of savings 
delivered and 
forecast towards the 
2025/2026 Savings 
and Efficiency Plan 

- 11%    100% G 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Support our communities 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

4.1 

No of people in bed 
and breakfast and 
nightly paid 
accommodation 

320 70    Monitor 
only M  

4.2 

Spend on bed and 
breakfast, nightly 
paid accommodation 
and block bookings 
(gross) 

£508,442 £125,245    Monitor 
only M Cumulative 

data 

4.3 

No of households 
prevented from 
becoming homeless 
for a minimum of 6 
months 

89 19    Monitor 
only M Cumulative 

data 

4.4 No of verified rough 
sleepers 1 3    Monitor 

only M  

4.5 

No of days to 
process new housing 
benefit and council 
tax support claims 

15 14    20 G
↔  

4.6 

No of days to 
process housing 
benefit and council 
tax support changes 
of circumstances 

20 18    20 
G 
↑ 
R 

 

4.7 
% of food premises 
achieving a rating of 
3 or above 

94% 100%    90% G
↔  

4.8 

% of housing 
adaptations 
completed within 
time 

77% 80%    80% 
G 
↑ 
R 

 

62



19 
 

Ref Performance 
indicator 2024/25 2025/26 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Full Year Target Comments 

4.9 

Through effective 
use of District Direct 
service reduce the 
number of beds 
occupied by 350 per 
quarter 

2,001 549    1,400 G
↔ 

Cumulative 
data 

4.10 

% of ASB incidents, 
nuisance and 
environmental crime 
incidents reported 
that have been 
resolved within 120 
days of receipt 

89% 97%    80% G
↔  

4.11 

No of young people 
engaged through 
UKSPF Employability 
and Skills Project 

302 76    190 G
↔ 

Cumulative 
data 

4.12 No of HMO licence 
applications received - 1    Monitor 

only M Cumulative 
data 

4.13 

% of HMO licence 
applications 
receiving a draft 
licence or draft 
refusal within 45 
working days of 
application validation 

- 100%    80% G  

4.14 
Increase participation 
at all leisure and 
culture facilities 

- -2%    5% R 

Review the 
swimming 
programme 
and focus on 
opportunities 
from working 
with KL Town 
FC    

4.15 
Increase the number 
of outreach activities 
into the community 

- 13%    10% G  

4.16 
Improve Alive 
customer satisfaction 
levels 

- Annual data to be reported in Q4 5%  

Data release 
from Net 
Promoter 
Score (NPS) in 
March 2026   

4.17 

Increase number of 
Alive participants on 
exercise referral or 
special populations 
programme 

- 86%    10% G  

4.18 Reduce net subsidy 
per head - 47%    -5% R 

Plans to 
stimulate 
income growth 
and reduce 
operating 
costs are in 
place. 

4.19 Energy usage per 
user - -11%    -10% G  

63



20 
 

Our Organisation 
The following is a selection of our people performance measures: 

Performance Indicator 2024/25 2025/26 Summary 
Notes Ref Full 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Full 
Year 

Target 

Pe
rm

an
en

t 
 s

ta
ff 

Total established permanent posts 572 707    - (1) 

Total permanent post FTE 537.34 651.20    - (1) 
Total number of people in established  
posts 537 667    - (1) 

% of voluntary permanent staff 
turnover (cumulative) 9.82% 2.27%    12% (2) 

Number of voluntary leavers from 
permanent roles (cumulative)  50 16    - (3) 

Number of starters to permanent roles 
(cumulative) 47 12    - (3) 

Average no of working days lost to 
sickness absence per permanent 
employee FTE (cumulative) 

10.85 2.20    8.7 
days (4) 

Number of permanent employees who 
have had a period of long term 
sickness (cumulative) 

70 17    
- 

(5) 

% of employees undertaking an 
apprenticeship 3.8% 2.6%    2.3%  

Te
m

po
ra

ry
 

st
af

f 

Total number of temporary posts 22 27    - (6) 

Total number of temporary staff FTE 19.46 25.43    - (6) 
Average no of working days lost to 
sickness absence per temporary 
employee FTE (cumulative) 

5.79 0.81    
- 

(7) 
 

Position summary 

1. The staffing numbers reflect the Alive West Norfolk staff TUPE transfer to the Borough Council from 1st April 2025. 

2. Voluntary turnover rate remains within the anticipated turnover levels. 

3. Indicators in relation to the number of voluntary leavers from permanent roles and the number of starters to permanent 
roles should be read in isolation from each other due to the time lag between resignation of one employee and start date 
for a new employee, which often spans any particular quarter. 

4. The average number of working days lost due to sickness absence by permanent employees is below the Q1 2024-25 
figure of 2.64 days.   HR are supporting proactive management by managers to address sickness absence issues during 
2025/26.  

5. Number of employees who have had a period of long term sickness in Q1 is below the Q1 2024-25 figure of 27.  It is 
not a record of the number of employees who are absent due to long term sickness at that point in time.   

6. The number of temporary staff will vary due to the temporary needs that occur, this number includes short term 
temporary staff, and also longer term fixed term contracts which also include out apprenticeships throughout the Council.  
These numbers also include Alive West Norfolk temporary staff who transferred into the Council. 

7. The average number of working days lost due to sickness absence by temporary employees is impacted by movement 
within this part of our workforce (for example, temporary employees who had taken sickness absence and are leaving our 
employment to be replaced by employees who have not had absence, or employees who were previously temporary 
moving into permanent roles). 

  

64



21 
 

Delivering our Transformation Programme 
The programme has been established to support the council in becoming the most effective and high-performing 
organisation it can be, ensuring operational efficiency and the successful delivery of its strategic objectives. 
 
Further information on the key pillars of activity, aims, cross cutting themes and actions is available in the 
2025-2027 Action Plan.   
 

 Pillar One – Organisational Development  
Senior Responsible Officers (SRO):  Assistant Director Corporate Services 

Assistant Director Environment and Planning 
Workstreams  
1. Develop a People Strategy roadmap that reflects a modern and flexible workforce and aligns with our aim to 

deliver efficient and effective public services  
2. Develop an agreed set of core values and behaviours that become embedded in the organisation’s culture and 

shape the way employees work.  
3. Support a culture of high performance in line with corporate priorities, to ensure we deliver our services in the 

best way possible.  
4. Support the development of an organisational structure, which enables effective and efficient delivery of 

services and projects.  
Outcomes  Progress Update  
Improved processes around HR matters   Development of employee relations framework, undertaken 

with HR colleagues & trade unions   
Improved access to the service through content on the 
new Intranet which will be launched in June 2025   

All HR data has been made available digitally with links 
from the newly launched intranet  

Updated policies and procedures in line with 
legislation   

Review, revise and then implement procedures/policies  

Review of performance management system  This is underway to be launched online through Ciphr  
Improved perception of HR as Business Partners   Communication is more pro-active with ‘Ask HR’ sessions 

being held across the organisation.   
Positive feedback from staff across the organisation   Following the Transformation activities staff will be asked 

for feedback  
 

 Pillar Two – Service Innovation & Digital Transformation  
Senior Responsible Officers (SRO):   Assistant Director Corporate Services 

Assistant Director Health, Wellbeing and Public Protection 
Workstreams  
1. Review and modernise the various technologies used by colleagues at all levels to ensure that they are fit for 

purpose.  
2. Discovery and baselining of ICT to shape requirements to support ICT transformation and enablement across 

the council whilst minimising business risk  
3. Empower and enable the workforce by developing training, access to online learning and in-person to fully 

utilise our range of IT systems and infrastructure.  
4. Unlock and enable assisting technologies (AI) to remove unnecessary administrative burdens  
5. Improve health equity for all residents of the borough, through the implementation of the eight Marmot 

Principles  
Outcomes  Progress Update   
To create a workplan to meet the objectives 
identified   

Discovery work has been undertaken to baseline the 
organisation’s ICT position.  A roadmap is now being 
developed  

Increased understanding of residents lived experience 
of health inequalities and challenges faced   

The current focus is on young people (aged 18-25), data is 
being collected/collated and the first report is due later this 
year  

Improved understanding amongst council staff on 
Health Equity and how they can deliver positive 
change in their areas of expertise.    

Officer group set up to look at how well the Marmot 
principles are applied currently and what improvements can 
be made.  A full staff briefing is planned.  

65

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20191/corporate_performance/1233/action_plan_2025_-_2027/8


22 
 

 

 Pillar Three – Enterprise our Assets  
Senior Responsible Officers (SRO):  Assistant Director Regeneration, Housing and Place 

Assistant Director Leisure and Culture 
Workstreams  
1. Improve the place of work by reviewing office accommodation  
2. Prepare a housing delivery strategy  
3. Develop a property strategy and an asset management strategy to recognise that council owned property 

assets can be used strategically as well as operationally for the benefit of the council, its residents and other 
stakeholders  

4. Review our leisure and culture assets to ensure we are maximising their potential, financially, environmentally, 
and for the wellbeing of our communities  

Outcomes  Progress Update  
More productive time spent with office space suitable for 
modern ways of hybrid and flexible working  

A project team has been identified to undertake this 
piece of work.  Business Requirements currently being 
collated.   

Improvements to recruitment and retention, staff health 
and well-being, and satisfaction  

This is a future aspiration. 

Stakeholders clear about an approach to housing delivery 
that can inform business planning and investment 
decisions  

Preparation of Housing Delivery Strategy is 
underway.  Literature and data reviews have 
commenced.  

Promotes well-being and prevents homelessness and 
improves life chances of children     

This is the change that will come as a result of the 
strategy being delivered.    

More investable opportunities and more private 
investment in the area   

 A review is underway of current assets with a strategy 
to be designed once the review is complete  

Better cost recovery and lower subsidy by BCKLWN of 
the Leisure and Culture operations  

Leisure facilities project is underway, an update report 
will go to Cabinet in July 2025.  Leisure and culture 
assets review has commenced.  

 

 

 

 

66



REPORT TO CABINET 
 

Open Would any decisions proposed : 
 
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES 
Need to be recommendations to Council      NO 
Is it a Key Decision    YES  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 
 
All wards 

Mandatory 
 
 

Lead Member: Cllr J Moriarty 
E-mail: cllr.james.moriarty@west-
norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted:  

Other Members consulted: CIL Spending Panel, R & D 
Panel 

Lead Officer: Amanda Driver 
E-mail: Amanda.driver@west-
norfolk.gov.uk  
Direct Dial: 01553 616443 

Other Officers consulted:  
Assistant Directors: Stuart Ashworth & Duncan Hall 
Planning - Hannah-Wood-Handy 
Audit – Matthew Head 
Legal – James Arrandale 

Financial 
Implications  
YES 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
YES 

 

Statutory 
Implications  
YES 

Equal Impact 
Assessment 
YES 
If YES:  
Pre-screening 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
NO 

 

Date of meeting: 23 September 2025 
 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) – FUNDING POLICY AND 
SPENDING STRATEGY 
 

Summary  
The CIL Governance has been reviewed in line with advice from the Planning 
Advisory Service, to ensure compliance with up-to-date statutory guidance 
relating to developer contributions. The revised procedures will ensure that CIL 
funding relates directly to projects identified to support the Councils’ Corporate 
Objectives, linked to the Local Plan, to support growth within West-Norfolk. 
 
The Spending Strategy will be the over-arching document relating to how 
projects will be identified and funding allocated. The strategy will provide clarity 
on how this Collecting Authority intends to spend CIL collected in West-Norfolk. 
 
The details relating to the application process will be formulated by the CIL 
Spending Panel, prior to the next round of CIL funding applications.  
 
The Funding Policy document contains the Terms and Conditions (T&Cs) for 
applicants, if funding is allocated.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Cabinet Resolves: 
 
Cabinet approve the revised Community Infrastructure Levy Funding Policy and 
Spending Strategy for the allocation and spend of Borough Community 
Infrastructure Levy raised by this Council. 
 
Reason for Decision 

67

Agenda Item 11

mailto:cllr.james.moriarty@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:cllr.james.moriarty@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Amanda.driver@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Amanda.driver@west-norfolk.gov.uk


To ensure that the CIL monies collected are being spent on appropriate 
infrastructure projects to reflect the growth of population occurring in West 
Norfolk. 
 

 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk approved the 
introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in December 2016 and started 
charging on 15 February 2017. The Levy is paid to the Borough Council by developers 
after their planning permissions are implemented. It is governed by the CIL 
Regulations 2010 (amended). In the Borough of King's Lynn and West Norfolk, CIL is 
charged on all residential and retail developments, which add one or more new 
dwelling(s) or more than 100sqm of floor space. It is charged at a rate per square 
metre and varies according to land use. CIL is just one funding stream that can be 
used, in conjunction with others, to fund infrastructure projects. Alongside CIL, S106 
obligations will still exist, but generally as one-off agreements to mitigate the impacts 
of larger developments and to secure on-site developer requirements, such as the 
provision of affordable housing. 
 
1.2 As a Charging Authority the Council has an obligation to:  
 

Determine CIL spend, ensuring it is used to fund the provision, 
improvement, replacement, operation; or maintenance of infrastructure to 
support development of its area 

 
1.3. The Borough Council is required, in the CIL Regulations, to identify the types 
of infrastructure it wishes to fund in whole or in part by CIL monies. These are outlined 
in the Council's Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS). CIL money collected 
can only be allocated to and spent on these types of infrastructure.  
 
1.4. The Planning Advisory Service (PAS) carried out a review of our current CIL 
governance arrangements, in consultation with the CIL Spending Panel and officers, 
taking into consideration ‘lessons learned’ from previous rounds of funding and best 
practice examples from other collecting authorities. The PAS Report (attached as 
Appendix A) provided recommendations to ensure that this Council spends CIL in line 
with changing statutory requirements relating to developer contributions including CIL. 
 
1.5. The Senior CIL Officer reviewed the PAS Report and produced a draft Policy 
and Spending Strategies, in consultation with the Chair of the Spending Panel and the 
Planning Control Manager. (attached at Appendices:  Appendix B - CIL Funding Policy 
& Appendix C: CIL Spending Strategy at Appendix C. 
 
1.6. In addition to reviewing the CIL Governance, the funding Terms & Conditions 
(T&Cs) were reviewed. Within the existing process, the T&Cs are not published and 
only distributed after funding has been approved by the panel. The applicant is then 
sent a copy of the T&Cs, they must sign and return agreement with the T&Cs before 
funding is formally allocated. To provide greater transparency the T&Cs now form part 
of the Policy document, to enable applicants to review arrangements, prior to making 
an application. 

68



 
1.7. The CIL Spending Panel met on 29 July 2025, to discuss the PAS Report and 
the proposed process. During the meeting, the Panel reviewed the draft policy and 
strategy, made recommendations, and agreed the next stage of the project. 

 
1.8. The Strategy & Policy documents have been written by officers, taking into 
account the amendments recommended by Spending Panel. 

 
1.9. After the Spending Panel, CIL Officers consulted with Audit and Legal, to 
ensure compliance with internal procurement arrangements & local policies. 

 
1.10. The recommendations from Audit and Legal, related to operational 
requirements, have been amalgamated into the documents for consideration before 
Cabinet. 

 
1.11. The main changes proposed for CIL Project Funding are set out below. 
 
1.12. The Borough CIL money received, after the parish payments and administration 

fees are removed, is proposed to be split into 2 separate funding processes, one 
being Local Projects and the other Strategic Projects.  

 
1.12.1. Local Projects - 20%  

o Using an online application form similar to the existing process 
o Amendment of application amounts from £2k-£50k revised to £10k 

minimum with maximum request up to £100k – ensuring the local project 
funds are not all allocated to just 1 project 

o No specific list of criteria for local project applications, however there will 
be validation requirements; 

o All valid projects will be considered for funding; 
o Delegated responsibility for allocating funding for the local projects – 

raised from £50k to £100k; 
 

1.12.2. Strategic Projects - 80%  
o No application process 
o Officers from across the council will work  in liaison with the Chair of the 

Spending Panel to identify projects within Tiers 1 to 3 of the Council’s 
Capital Projects Programme: 
 

 Tier 1 – Major Projects/schemes that are approved by 
Cabinet/Council to go live/are in progress. 
 

 Tier 2 – Operational Projects that are approved by 
Cabinet/Council to go live/are in progress. 

 
 

 Tier 3 – Projects and schemes awaiting detailed consideration by 
Cabinet or Council before transition to go live under either Tier 1 
or 2. 

 

69



Projects will be identified using the following criteria, as detailed in the 
Spending Strategy: 

 
Essential Infrastructure 

a Infrastructure is necessary to support an approved 

development (proposed developments with planning 

permission granted) in order that development carried 

out is sustainable 

b Is identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Framework of 

the Local Plan, is identified in a Neighbourhood Plan or 

Corporate Strategy as a priority 

c Represents key infrastructure as identified in the Local 

Plan, Neighbourhood Plan or Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan (IDP) 

d The identification of need must demonstrate that the 

time of delivery for funding is correct.  

a The provision of this infrastructure addresses a current 

inadequacy in infrastructure terms and the benefits of the 

infrastructure are clear 

b The infrastructure is identified as ‘desirable’ or a ‘priority’ 

in the Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan or recent Parish 

Infrastructure Investment Plan (PIIP) 

c Neighbourhood CIL funding has been formally allocated to 

fund the project 

d It would allow infrastructure to be delivered through 

collaborative funding with Borough CIL. 

Beneficial Infrastructure  

a. By provision of infrastructure, would unlock further 

opportunities within the Borough for housing and 

employment growth – e.g. the relocation of a 

Community Centre or similar infrastructure to a new 

building which would be mostly funded through the 

sale/re-use of the land as residential or business use 

Desirable Infrastructure  

70



and there are adequate facilities in the area to serve 

the development.  

b It is infrastructure which has not previously been 

identified as essential, or desirable in the Local Plans 

or within a Neighbourhood Plan, but a clear link can be 

identified in supporting the sustainability of the Local 

Plan.  

c) It is infrastructure which addresses a recently 

unexpected shortfall in infrastructure or community 

provision accounted for as having an influence on the 

sustainability of a community in the Local Plan. - e.g. 

closure of a pre-school facility and the need for a 

replacement, or the more rapid adoption of the use of 

electric vehicles or other beneficial environmental 

infrastructure or technologies. 

 
o 68. The list of eligible Capital Projects  will be prepared and presented 

to the CIL Spending Panel 
o The Spending Panel will have delegated responsibility to select and 

allocate CIL funding up to £100k to any project(s) from the prepared list, 
Panel may make recommendations of projects over £100k to Cabinet 

o For any Strategic Project above £100k, decision making will rest with 
Cabinet. 

 
1.13 To ensure transparency and adequate scrutiny: 

 
o Details of projects to be considered for CIL funding, wlll be published 

with the Spending Panel’s agenda 
o Payment of CIL will only be made on receipt of evidence to demonstrate 

that funds are spent in accordance with the project plan/application 
submission. 

o All projects allocated funding over £100k will be monitored as part of the 
Capital Projects Programme.  All projects over £100k will be considered 
by Cabinet, following the Council’s defined scrutiny procedures. 

o Projects allocated funding over £100k that are also defined to be ‘Major 
Projects’ by Cabinet, will be required to produce quarterly Project 
Highlight reports and will be considered by the Member Major Projects 
Board for assurance and monitoring purposes. 

 
1.14 All CIL income, allocations and spend will be recorded and available for public 

scrutiny. Details will also be included in the IFS submitted to Central 
Government. 

 
 

2 Options Considered  

71



2.1 There is a legal duty to spend CIL in accordance with the Regulations, but the 

priorities can be determined to suit local circumstances within the overall framework.  

 

Option 1 – Adopt a new CIL Process: 

The Spending Panel recommend approval of the CIL Funding Policy and 
Spending Strategy. The CIL Strategy is a longer-term plan which will ensure 
there is clarity relating to the future allocation and spend of CIL for West Norfolk. 
Enabling CIL to be allocated to larger strategic projects will benefit the wider 
community, and link directly to the Council’s vision for the future. 

 
Option 2 – Keep the current governance arrangements: 
 
The current arrangements are based on an annual review. This is a short-term 
plan relating to the allocation of CIL and does not provide any assurance of 
future CIL allocations for this Council.  
 

2.2. Currently, CIL funding is allocated using a scoring system that is based on the 
quality of the application submitted and gives priority to short term projects but does 
not consider how each application aligns with growth in West Norfolk or the community 
value of projects. The selection criteria is open to interpretation, and many projects 
allocated funding to-date, do not align with the revised government guidance on how 
developer contribution should be spent. 
 
3 Policy Implications 
 
CIL legislation gives scope for Councils to direct CIL spending to reflect the local 
situation but must relate to ‘Infrastructure to support new development’. The proposed 
procedures align to the Council’s vision for the future, to support growth across West 
Norfolk. 
 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 CIL is collected and administered by the Borough Council as a CIL Collecting 

Authority, in accordance with the CIL regulations (as amended). CIL income 
and expenditure is reviewed bi-annually and verified by accountancy.  

 
4.2 Local project 20% - funding will be allocated based on verified CIL receipts.  

Strategic Projects 80% - future income may be forecast, to allow for longer term 
projects to be considered but only verified income will be formally allocated to 
projects. 

 
5 Personnel Implications 
 
5.1 None 
 
6 Environmental Considerations 
 
6.1 None 
 

72



7 Statutory Considerations 
 
7.1 CIL spending and governance must conform to the relevant regulations. 
 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
8.1 Pre-screening EIA is attached. 
 
9 Risk Management Implications 
 
9.1 None specifically. Monitoring of spending and more particularly delivery is 

important to ensure money is directed to improved infrastructure in West 
Norfolk. The Infrastructure Spending Statement, published on the council’s 
website each year, is part of that risk management, as well as ensuring 
transparency. 

 
10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
10.1 None 
 
11 Background Papers 

 CIL Project Plan 

 Corporate & Local Plan Priorities  

 PAS Guidance – Start with the spend in mind 
 
12 Appendices: 
 

 A - PAS CIL Governance Report 

 B - CIL Funding Policy Document 

 C - CIL Spending Strategy 
 

73



 

Revision 6   1 

Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  
 

For equalities profile information please visit Norfolk Insight - Demographics and Statistics - Data Observatory 

Name of policy/service/function Community Infrastructure Levy Funding Policy (Existing) 
& CIL Spending Strategy (New) -- Planning 

Is this a new or existing policy/ 
service/function? (tick as appropriate) 

New  x Existing x 

Brief summary/description of the main aims 
of the policy/service/function being screened. 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations, and 
identify relevant legislation. 

Amendment to CIL Governance Document to meet 
legislation changes and to align with the Corporate 
Objectives. 

CIL spend is constrained by CIL Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) Reg 59. 

Who has been consulted as part of the 
development of the policy/service/function? – 
new only (identify stakeholders consulted with) 

Planning Advisor Service, CIL Spending Panel, Exec 
Director Planning, Planning & Policy Officers, Legal and 
Audit. 

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a specific 
impact on people from one or more of the 
following groups, for example, because they 
have particular needs, experiences, issues 
or priorities or in terms of ability to access 
the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 
impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are identified, 
then a full Equality Impact Assessment 
(Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

 

*For more information on health inequalities 
please visit The King's Fund 

 

 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a
ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u

re
 

Age x    

Disability x    

Sex   x  

Gender Re-assignment   x  

Marriage/civil partnership   x  

Pregnancy & maternity   x  

Race   x  

Religion or belief   x  

Sexual orientation   x  

Armed forces community   x  

Care leavers   x  

Health inequalities*   x  

Other (eg low income, caring 
responsibilities) 

  x  

Please provide a brief explanation of the answers above:  

80% of funding will be allocated to Corporate Projects, that should have already been through the EIA 
Process.  

20% will be allocated by the CIL Spending Panel through an application process.  The new CIL 
Spending Strategy requires decisions to be made, taking into consideration inclusion & diversity.  

74

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell


 

Revision 6   2 

✓ Please tick to confirm completed EIA Pre-screening Form has been shared with 
Corporate Policy (corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk) 

Every application must meet specific criteria, which relates to supporting new development as required 
within CIL Reg 59 and each project must increase provision/capacity or provide additionality of function.  

Each application will also include details of how need has been identified and how the project will benefit 
the community. The Spending Panel will make their funding decisions based on this information. 

Applications will positively impact age and disability, as applications will be viewed favourably if 
they include improvements to or creation of accessible facilities including open space play areas 
and community buildings. 

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 
affect relations between certain equality 
communities or to damage relations between 
the equality communities and the Council, for 
example because it is seen as favouring a 
particular community or denying 
opportunities to another? 

No Legal & Audit have been consulted to 
ensure the CIL documents align with the 
Council’s Procedures. Any constituted 
body may apply for CIL Funding, if their 
project will support new development. 

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as 
impacting on communities differently? 

No Projects should have a positive effect by 
improving or enlarging facilities for all. 

4. Are any impacts identified above minor 
and if so, can these be eliminated or reduced 
by minor actions? 

If yes, please agree actions with a member 
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group 
and list agreed actions in the comments 
section 

N/A Actions: 

 

 

 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 

………………………………………. 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 

 

Decision agreed by EWG member: ………………………………………………….. 

5. Is the policy/service specifically designed 
to tackle evidence of disadvantage or 
potential discrimination? 

No Please provide brief summary: 

Assessment completed by: 

Name  

 

Amanda Driver 

Job title  Senior CIL Officer 

Date completed  05/08/2025 

Reviewed by EWG member Amy Pearce Date 07/08/2025 

75

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 1 

                                                                                                                                             
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enhancing Infrastructure Planning and Delivery for 

English Councils 
 

Governance Report 
 

Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk  

 

May 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

76



 

 2 

1. Summary 
 
Summary of support 

 
1.1 As part of the Planning Advisory Service’s (PAS) programme to enhance infrastructure 

planning and delivery in English Councils, Inner Circle Consulting provided support to the 
Borough of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk to develop a set of practical recommendations to 
help you improve the governance of developer contributions.  
 

1.2 The support included one workshop with officers and a meeting with the Members of your  
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Spending Panel which enabled an assessment of your 
current processes and practices around infrastructure planning and delivery. The support 
was based on the PAS Improving the Governance of Developer Contributions Handbook and 
accompanying self-assessment toolkit. 

 

Key messages 

 

1.3 From our workshop there appears to be a good level of support and consensus at a senior 

officer level that a new approach towards the allocation and spend of CIL is required. It was 

discussed that the approach needs to move away from a short-term, locally-focused 

approach towards one which establishes a link between CIL spend and the Local Plan. More 

oversight at a corporate level is also needed to both add assurance into the process and 

allow wider council priorities to be considered for CIL spend.  

 

1.4 Some further work will be required, especially with your CIL Spending Panel, to get 

agreement and consensus on a new approach, and the changes required to implement it. A 

Cabinet decision is likely to be required to ensure implementation.  

 

1.5 It is also necessary to ensure that a new approach is based on up-to-date policy and 

evidence, which can be achieved by progressing a new Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) to 

ensure you have an up-to-date understanding of your infrastructure needs, and a framework 

or programme to prioritise these needs and agree spend.  

 

1.6 Our recommendations outlined in Section 3 cover the following areas: 

 

• The need for a new spending strategy for CIL focussed on a number of key 

principles 

• That the mandate for this new strategy should be secured through a Cabinet 

decision 

• That your new strategy should be underpinned by strengthened governance at 

corporate and officer level  

• That more support for parish and town councils could enable more informed spend 

of CIL 

• That future updates to your IDP should move towards a more programme-led, 

evidence-based approach to CIL Spend.  

• And your new IDP should be digitised to make it easier to update and communicate 

to stakeholders. 

2. Introduction 
 

77

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions/improving-governance-developer-contributions-full-guidance#recommendations-for-creating-the-conditions-for-good-governance-
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions/improving-governance-developer-contributions-full-guidance#recommendations-for-creating-the-conditions-for-good-governance-


 

 3 

2.1 Councils play a unique and critical role in planning, funding and delivering the infrastructure 
that is required to ensure that the vision and growth objectives set out in local plans are 
sustainable and meets the needs of communities. 
 

2.2 The various forms of developer contributions that exist to mitigate the impact of this 
development are rarely, if ever, sufficient to fund all the infrastructure that is required to 
support demand from development in an area. Therefore, to ensure that they are used 
effectively we recommend that they should be considered as part of a wider, corporate 
approach towards funding and delivering infrastructure.  
 

2.3 This Advice Note considers your Council’s current governance processes for developer 
contributions and provides some practical steps to help improve them based on the PAS 
Improving the Governance of Developer Contributions Handbook and accompanying Self-
Assessment Toolkit.  

 
Background 

 
2.4 In 2021 PAS published a handbook which was intended to help improve the ways that 

councils manage and allocate developer contributions. This is to ensure that money collected 
is used to deliver infrastructure in an efficient, transparent, robust and effective way. The 
guidance encourages councils to see infrastructure planning and delivery as a ‘system’, 
within which there are a number of interdependent parts, none of which are more important 
than another.  
 

2.5 This system of infrastructure planning and delivery goes beyond just how developer 
contributions are collected and includes: 

 

• A consideration of the resources available to allocate them and the organisation 
around that.  

• the processes and systems for how developer contributions are collected, monitored 
and managed.  

• how decisions are made.  

• the policy and evidence which support these decisions.  

• and the resources and capabilities available to ensure projects are delivered to 
realise their intended outcomes. 

 
2.6 Alongside the development of the handbook, PAS has provided facilitated support to 

individual councils to address their specific needs and challenges associated with the 
governance of developer contributions.  
 

2.7 As part of the current PAS programme to enhance infrastructure planning and delivery in 
English Councils, the Borough Council of Kings Lynn & West Norfolk received facilitated 
support specifically focussed on the governance of developer contributions. This Advice Note 
is the output of that support.  

 
Methodology 
 
2.8 The support was undertaken by Inner Circle Consulting on behalf of PAS. A workshop was 

held with officers from the Council in March 2025, including representatives from the CIL 
Team, Planning and Environmental Health (both policy and planning control), Strategic 
Housing and Community Safety, and the Portfolio Holder for Planning (who is also the Chair 
of the CIL Spending Panel). Following the Workshop a further meeting was held in April 2025 
with Members of the CIL Spending Panel to seek further input from them.  
 

2.9 The aim of the workshop was to complete the ‘self-assessment toolkit’ to evaluate your 
current processes and agree a set of recommendations for improvement based on principles 

78



 

 4 

within the Improving the Governance of Developer Contributions guidance. The self-
assessment covered five key areas, aligned to the guidance: 

 

• Leadership and resources 

• Governance  

• Policy and Evidence  

• Systems and Processes 

• Project Delivery.  
 
2.10 This was supplemented by desk-based research of key council documents including the CIL 

Governance Policy Document (2024), Draft CIL Spending Strategy (unpublished), the 
Strategic CIL Application Form, the Local CIL Application Form, and CIL Project Business 
Case.  

 

3. Findings & Recommendations 
 
3.1 We recognise a number of areas of good practice, including: 

• That you have a number of documents and guidance which are up to date and available on 
your website which sets out your approach to governance, the ‘rules’ around CIL and your 
processes, including the adopted CIL Governance Document; and  

• The efficiency of your processes and your track record of spend, meaning that retained or 
unspent CIL balances are minimised. 

 
3.2 The key recommendations from the support are as follows: 

 

• Develop and adopt a new Spending Strategy for CIL focused on a number of key 

principes 

• Implement a new governance framework at corporate and officer level to ensure 

consistency, transparency, and to integrate different parts of the council. 

• Move towards a more business-plan led approach for CIL spend 

• consider providing additional support and resources for Parish and Town Councils to 

enable more informed spend of the Local CIL Fund and Neighbourhood portion. 

• Updates to your IDP should be digitised to allow it to be a ‘living document’ that can be 

regularly updated 

• Consider reviewing your CIL Charging Schedule as part of your Local Plan Review.  

 
3.3 In supporting a new approach, we provide below some links to work from other Local 

Planning Authorities (LPAs). The resources are relevant in the way that the LPAs have taken 
an evidence-led, programme-based approach to CIL spend. 

 

• The Greater Norwich Partnership’s Five Year Infrastructure Investment Plan 

• Chichester District Council’s Infrastructure Business Plan. 

• Sevenoaks’ CIL Spending Board 
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=320&)=1  

• Elmbridge District Council’s Strategic Priority Programme 
https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/cil-strategic-
infrastructure-projects  

• East Suffolk’s resources for Parish Councils 
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/community-infrastructure-
levy/parish-support/  

 
Part 1: Policy and Strategy 

 

79

https://innercircleconsulting.sharepoint.com/sites/PAS/Shared%20Documents/Enhancing%20Infrastructure%20Planning%20and%20Delivery/03%20Delivery/Unit%204%20-%20Governance%20Support/Exeter/Five%20Year%20Infrastructure%20Investment%20Plan
https://www.chichester.gov.uk/infrastructurebusinessplan
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=320&)=1
https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/cil-strategic-infrastructure-projects
https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/cil-strategic-infrastructure-projects
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/community-infrastructure-levy/parish-support/
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/community-infrastructure-levy/parish-support/


 

 5 

Assessment 

 

3.4 From the feedback we received in the workshop and from a review of other documents we 

consider that the current approach towards allocating CIL is not ‘strategic’, in that spending 

decisions are not made with a clear link to either the Local Plan or Corporate Plan Instead 

allocations can be characterised as being ad-hoc to local projects, based largely on 

applications for funding from parish councils. In addition to this we heard that expenditure of 

the ‘strategic’ element of CIL does not currently happen in areas where new development 

has occurred.  

 

3.5 To support this analysis, your (Draft) CIL Spending Strategy stated that from the adoption of 

CIL in 2017 through to 2024 £4.5m was allocated to 258 projects. This puts considerable 

pressure on the team responsible for processing applications given the administration 

involved in managing these allocations.  

 

3.6 The current process (as set out in the CIL Governance Policy Document) favours projects 

which can demonstrate local support and can be delivered in the short-term (to commence in 

1 year and be completed in 5), rather than demonstrating the need for the project to support 

new development and / or alignment with strategic priorities.  

 

Recommendation 1: Develop and adopt a new Spending Strategy for CIL focussed on a 

number of key principles. 

 

3.7 Through our engagement with your Council at both officer and member level we recognised 

that there is a clear desire to adopt a more strategic, plan-led approach to the use of CIL. 

This requires a move away from an ad-hoc approach based on applications to being more 

proactive and strategic based on both evidence of the need for infrastructure as a result of 

planned growth, as well as to align spend with strategic priorities linked to the Local Plan and 

Corporate Plan.  

 

3.8 In developing a more strategic approach you are currently proposing to separate CIL into 2 

project types, with the aim of meeting wider borough infrastructure requirements through two 

‘pots’, in addition to the Neighbourhood portion & CIL admin ‘pot’: 

 

• a Strategic CIL Fund (80% of CIL receipts, excluding the Neighbourhood portion) for 

large-scale infrastructure projects selected by the Council,  

• and a Local CIL Fund (20%) to be allocated through an application process.  

 

3.9 It is recommended that the principles outlined in paragraphs 3.11 to 3.26 below would mainly 

apply to the governance of your Strategic CIL Fund, whereas the current ‘application’ based 

process can be used to manage your Local CIL Fund.  

 

3.10 Based on our findings, we propose the following key principles as a starting point for your 

new approach.  

 

3.11 That strategic CIL should be used to unlock or support planned development as set 

out in the Local Plan.  

 

3.12 As outlined above, the link between the use of CIL and new development is considered to be 

currently weak, with CIL spend not linked to areas where new development has occurred, 

and allocations targeted at smaller scale, parish-led projects.  

 

80



 

 6 

3.13 The Planning Act (2008) and CIL Regulations (2010) both make a clear link between the use 

of CIL to support the development of its area, with the accompanying CIL guidance stating 

that CIL should be used to “fund the infrastructure needed to deliver the relevant plan”. Now 

that the new Local Plan is adopted, this presents an opportunity to establish a defining 

principle for the use of CIL that it should be used as a way of mitigating and supporting plan-

led growth. 

 

3.14 It also must be considered that CIL on its own will not be able to fund all the infrastructure 

required to support new development. Therefore, it should be used alongside other types of 

funding to ensure its benefits can be maximised. 

 

3.15 CIL should be used in a way which leverages other sources of funding for greater 

impact.  

 

3.16 Feedback from the Workshop suggested that the current system does not have sufficient 

mechanisms or processes to provide an opportunity to leverage in other sources of funding, 

particularly external funding that either the council or external partners can bring in (Towns 

Fund was provided as an example).  

 

3.17 Therefore, another key principle of a new approach should be that the use of CIL should be 

considered alongside other sources of Council-controlled funding, such as Section 106 or 

New Homes Bonus, as well as where it can be used to leverage in external sources of 

funding such as that controlled by the County Council, Towns Fund, Shared Prosperity Fund, 

or in the future funding as part of a Devolution deal.  

 

3.18 CIL funded projects can also contribute towards achieving the objectives across key 

corporate strategies. 

 

3.19 The workshop also fed back that as well as a weak link between CIL spend and the Local 

Plan, there is no strong process or governance to link the use of CIL to other Council-wide 

strategy or objectives. As well as the recently adopted Local Plan, there are a number of 

other relatively recent Council strategies which should be considered as part of a new 

approach to spending CIL. This includes the Corporate Strategy adopted in June 2024, the 

West Norfolk Economic Strategy adopted in January 2025, and the Norfolk Growth Plan.  

 

3.20 Whilst the primary purpose of CIL is to support plan-led, new development, the use of CIL 

should also consider how the projects it is funding will contribute to and align with this wider 

policy context providing that they support development within the area. For example, in 

relation to transport and connectivity (raised as a particular issue in our workshop as well as 

in the Economic Strategy), specific projects such as those referenced in the Norfolk Strategic 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan to which the Norfolk Growth Plan is linked do not appear to be 

currently funded by CIL. 

 

3.21 A new CIL Spending Strategy should follow a programme-led, evidence-based 

approach. 

 

3.22 From the workshop, it was reported that the projects applying for CIL are not based on any 

robust evidence of ‘need’ that relates to the Local Plan. There is a lack of long-term, strategic 

consideration of how CIL balances could be built up to meet longer-term infrastructure needs 

and instead are focused on allocating smaller sums of money to projects that can be realised 

in the short-term. 

 

81



 

 7 

3.23 By adopting an evidence-led, programme-based approach (through an updated 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), potentially accompanied by ‘programme’ or priority list of 

what projects as to what you intended to fund) as part of your CIL Strategy, it will allow you to 

be more proactive in your infrastructure spending decisions. It will allow the Council to 

engage in more informed and considered longer-term strategies around investing in 

infrastructure to support planned growth in line with the Local Plan, whilst aligning the 

allocation of CIL funding with its broader corporate objectives.  

 

3.24 Taking an evidence-led approach will allow the council to identify and prioritise funding for 

infrastructure based on thorough analysis and evidence of what infrastructure is needed to 

support the delivery of the Local Plan. Adopting an evidence-led approach to CIL allocation 

also promotes transparency and accountability in decision-making processes.  

 

3.25 Further guidance on this new approach is provided below. 

 

3.26 A new approach to CIL should recognise the Importance of working with partners to 

deliver infrastructure. 

 

3.27 From our workshop we understand that CIL is almost exclusively allocated to parish councils, 

and its use is not joined up with other services inside the council or external organisations. A 

more strategic CIL spending strategy will require a commitment to working in partnership with 

stakeholders within and outside the Council who are responsible for planning, funding and 

delivering infrastructure. 

 

3.28 Key partners will include the County Council (where they are the statutory provider for 

infrastructure such as education and highways), the Integrated Care Board for the delivery of 

primary care, National Highways, neighbouring councils, utility providers and others. The 

Council will need to be transparent in its new approach towards allocating CIL and engage 

other partners in any new formal governance arrangements. 

 

Recommendation 2: Secure a mandate for your new approach through a Cabinet decision 

 

3.29 Through engagement with your Management Team and CIL Spending Panel, you should 

seek to agree and adopt through a Cabinet decision a set of key principles that your new 

approach will adhere to.  

 

3.30 Securing a Cabinet decision on these key principles will secure a strong mandate to move 

forward and secure the support and buy-in from key officer and councillor stakeholders. From 

this strong foundation you can then make the necessary changes to the detail of your 

governance and processes.  

 

3.31 This Cabinet decision could be used to demonstrate the ‘business case’ for a new approach, 

outlining not just the objectives and benefits of a new approach, but also a programme for 

implementation and any resources required for its successful development and delivery. 

 

Part 2: Governance 
 
Assessment 
 
3.32 The key messages that came through the workshop regarding the current governance 

structures for CIL was that the current process for approving projects for CIL funding through 

the CIL Spending Panel is considered too subjective, and applications are not receiving the 

level of scrutiny required to ensure that CIL is being used in an optimal way. It is felt that in 

82



 

 8 

some spending rounds ‘weak’ applications are being approved as the process favours 

allocating money to smaller, short-term projects rather than taking a more strategic 

perspective.  

 

3.33 There is a view that there is a lack of senior officer oversight of the process, without the 

opportunity to scrutinise some of the approved applications. The CIL Governance Policy 

Document states that “funding applications will not be filtered, based on Management Team 

recommendations”. It is felt that this presents a risk in terms of scrutiny and transparency 

over spending decisions.  

 

3.34 It also means that an opportunity is lost to link the use of CIL into infrastructure programmes 

that are being delivered across the council, such as transport and connectivity programmes.  

 

3.35 Therefore, there is an opportunity to integrate different parts of the Council by bolstering the 

governance that currently exists at corporate and officer level to underpin a new spending 

strategy for CIL.  

 
Recommendation 3 Implement a new governance framework at corporate and officer level 
to ensure more consistency, transparency, and to integrate different parts of the council.  
 
3.36 To ensure more scrutiny and transparency over CIL spend we recommend strengthening the 

role of the BCKLWN Management Team, as well as establishing officer-level governance, 

which will have a wider remit to support not just the governance process but in wider 

infrastructure planning matters.  

 
3.37 We provide an overview of the role and purpose, and key responsibilities of each below: 

 
Corporate level governance (currently the BCKLWN Management Team) 

3.38 From your CIL Governance Policy Document we understand that the Management Team are 

currently required to review funding applications, to identify whether projects may be linked to 

corporate projects; consider links to other areas of corporate or partner spend and make 

recommendations to the Spending Panel on which projects are eligible for CIL funding. 

However, we understand that in practice this isn’t happening effectively. 

 

3.39 We recommend that the role of the Management Team in a new process should be 

strengthened, to provide not just additional scrutiny and transparency, but also to provide 

more opportunities to link CIL with infrastructure programmes across the Council.  

 

3.40 The role of the Management Team should be to provide oversight and strategic direction on 

your CIL Spending Strategy, and the programme it will fund, and to ensure that this 

programme adheres to the agreed principles of a new strategy as set out above. It would 

have a key role in agreeing the programme and evidence (e.g. IDP) which would underpin a 

new approach.  

 

3.41 The key responsibilities of this group should include: 

 

• Provide leadership, oversight, governance and assurance over all S106 and CIL spending 
decisions before reporting to CIL Spending Panel.  

• Consider / endorse the IDP and any related infrastructure programme. 

• Maintain an overview of S106 funds and CIL balances.  

• Monitor spend & commitments of CIL & S106, and the progress of schemes funded by CIL / 
S106. 

83



 

 9 

• Resolve any competing priorities, funding or delivery issues relating to the programme or 
CIL funded projects. 

 
3.42 To avoid creating additional meetings or layers of governance, the responsibilities above 

could be incorporated into existing Management Team meetings, with specific meetings 

reserved for CIL matters. 

 
Officer Governance 
 
3.43 From our understanding of the CIL Governance Policy Document and through feedback in 

the workshop, the role of officers in the allocation of CIL is limited to validating and initial 

scoring of projects which are then taken to the Management Team to review. The role is 

limited to the CIL team and officers from across the Council are not involved in proposing or 

selecting projects which could use CIL. There is a need to move from this to a more 

integrated way of working. 

 

3.44 There is an opportunity to establish an officer-level governance as part of your new approach 

to enable better linkages across the Council on infrastructure planning matters, who could 

play a more active role in identifying infrastructure needs and projects which could be funded 

by CIL as well as other funding sources. 

 

3.45 We identified in recommendation 1 above a key principle of involving external stakeholders in 

a new approach to CIL spend. It may prove helpful to engage partners such as the Integrated 

Care Board (ICB) and County Council in this group to identify and work with them to 

understand their infrastructure needs and plans and will provide sub-regional perspective to 

your work which may be helpful ahead of any Local Government Reform process.  

 
3.46 This officer-level group could also perform a functional role, including being collectively 

responsible for the IDP, Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) and any other evidence 

needed to support your new approach. 

 

3.47 Key responsibilities of this group could include: 

• Contribute towards the production of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and 
Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS). 

• Reviewing and monitoring of CIL & S106 income. 

• Escalating risks, issue and providing management information to the corporate level 
governance regarding CIL & S106 balances & spend. 

• Ensure engagement and consultation with all key stakeholders, including external partners. 
 

Recommendation 4: consider providing additional support and resources for parish and 

town councils to enable more informed spend of the Local CIL Fund and Neighbourhood 

portion.  

 

3.48 Your suggested approach for CIL allocations includes a Local CIL Fund of 20% which would 

be allocated to local infrastructure projects via an application process, which would be in 

addition to the ‘neighbourhood portion’ of CIL that is passed through to parish councils and / 

or neighbourhood forums.  

 

3.49 Within this approach there is an opportunity for your council to work in a different way with 

town and parish councils and neighbourhood forums to encourage them to think about how 

this Local CIL Fund and the Neighbourhood portion of CIL they receive can be used in a 

more informed way, considering match-funding with other funding sources (such as 

84



 

 10 

community chest, lottery funding), combining the Neighbourhood portion with strategic CIL, 

and ensuring their spending decisions are based on evidence. 

 

3.50 This would be achieved through providing additional support and guidance on CIL spend as 

part of neighbourhood planning, and through working with officers who assist town and 

parish councils and neighbourhood plans.  

 

3.51 This is an approach that East Suffolk Council has taken, who offer support to parishes on CIL 

which includes a guidance document for Town and Parish Councils, a guide to ‘identifying, 

prioritising and delivering infrastructure’ and other resources on spending CIL including a 

template for a Parish Infrastructure Investment Plan. 

 

Part 3: Evidence 

 

Assessment 

3.52 From our workshop we understand that the current IDP which was prepared to support the 

recently adopted Local Plan was done as a specific exercise to support the examination. You 

now intend to start preparing a new IDP which will be able to support your new approach to 

CIL spend as well as a review of the Local Plan (or review of CIL Charging Schedule if 

needed).  

 

3.53 Having an up-to-date IDP is an essential element of any informed approach to spending CIL 

in a strategic, considered way. PAS will shortly be publishing guidance on a number of 

aspects of producing an IDP, but one specific element of this which will be helpful for your 

new CIL strategy is to build in a mechanism which will allow the IDP to be kept up to date in 

the future and potentially link up with your GIS system – which was identified in the workshop 

as an aim.  

 

Recommendation 5: Updates to your IDP should be digitised to allow it to be a ‘living 

document’  

 

3.54 Once you have a robust IDP in place it should then be kept up to date to provide evidence on 

infrastructure requirements (and how they are prioritised) in order that can be fed into your 

new CIL spending strategy.  

 

3.55 This process can be made more efficient by digitising the IDP project schedule, including 

linking it to GIS mapping, and using the data to create maps, charts or other types of data 

visualisation to support your CIL allocation process.  

 

3.56 We understand your Council currently uses Microsoft 365, and this could be an option to 

meet the requirements above. We propose that you engage with IT or GIS officers to assist 

in this process.  

 

3.57 Recommendation 6: Move towards a more programme-based approach for CIL spend 

 

3.58 In recommendation 1 above we propose that a new approach to CIL should be more 

evidence-led and could adopt a programme-based approach towards planning CIL spending 

decisions.  

 

3.59 This approach would be reliant on an up-to-date IDP to provide the evidence of infrastructure 

needs in relation to the Local Plan, and a framework to enable decisions to be made as to 

what projects from the IDP should be funded in any given period.  

85

https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/community-infrastructure-levy/parish-support/
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Community-Infrastructure-Levy/Parish-Support/Identifying-prioritising-and-delivering-infrastructure.pdf
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Community-Infrastructure-Levy/Parish-Support/Identifying-prioritising-and-delivering-infrastructure.pdf
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Community-Infrastructure-Levy/Parish-Support/Parish-Infrastructure-Investment-Plan-template.docx


 

 11 

 

3.60 This framework would allow you to prioritise the infrastructure projects in a new IDP, 

considering how projects will both support development and growth, support corporate 

priorities, and how various forms of funding can be used to deliver them.  A more 

programme-led approach would allow the Council to spend in a more proactive way, 

considering in a balanced way short-term as well as longer-term needs.  

 

3.61 We outline below a number of options as to how this can be achieved, based on some best 

practice case studies that we have found through our work with PAS.  

 

3.62 The options below are intended to be applied to the use of your Strategic CIL Fund, rather 

than the Local CIL Fund or the Neighbourhood portion; The options are: 

 

Option 1: Priority-led 

A number of infrastructure ‘priorities’ are agreed on an annual basis, based on need and the 

infrastructure requirements of sites coming forward from the Local Plan. Funding proposals 

are then assessed against these priorities. This is the approach followed by Sevenoaks 

District Council, as described in Appendix B below. 

 

Option 2: Priority-programme 

Strategic CIL funds are allocated through a Strategic Priority Programme, which sets out the 

priority projects the Council wishes to fund through CIL and then receives and assess 

applications against these and other criteria. This is the approach followed by Elmbridge 

District Council, as described in Appendix B below. 

 

Option 3: Business Plan-led 

The Council and other partners produce an annual Infrastructure Business Plan, identifying 

the infrastructure needs, priority projects, funding available from various sources, and an 

agreed programme of projects to be funded. This is the approach followed by Chichester 

District Council, as described in Appendix B below. 

 

3.63 A brief SWOT analysis is provided in Appendix A to assist in the consideration of the options 

above.  

 

3.64 Recommendation 7: Consider reviewing your CIL Charging Schedule as part of your 

Local Plan Review 

 

3.65 We understand that your current CIL rates were set in 2010 – and that you took a cautious 

approach when setting these. Therefore, you may wish to consider a review of your Charging 

Schedule to ensure you are maximising the amount of CIL you can collect from new 

development. 

 

3.66 In considering this you will have to make a judgment as to whether the time, cost and 

resources it will take to review your CIL Charging Schedule will result in enough additional 

CIL to make this investment worthwhile.  

 

3.67 To inform this you could work with your Local Plan viability advisers to do a high-level 

comparison of the viability evidence prepared for the Local Pan against your current index-

linked CIL rates or compare these with nearby authorities with similar land values.  

 

3.68 In terms of the time, cost and resources to undertake a review, the 3 elements of this are 

essentially the viability evidence, the evidence on infrastructure need, and the management 

86



 

 12 

of the review and subsequent Examination. If you are intending to do a review of your Local 

Plan, you could make the review process more efficient by twin-tracking the Examination, or 

if not, using the evidence being prepared for the Local Plan to inform your CIL review, even if 

the Examination is done separately.  

 

 

3.69 Conclusion 

 
3.70 In conclusion, it is our view that your Council is in a good position to, in both the short and 

medium-term, make changes to your processes and governance as well as undertake other 

activities which will lead to a more informed, transparent approach to allocating CIL, within a 

governance framework that can ensure infrastructure needs and priorities from across your 

area are considered, which could lesd to the delivery of infrastructure that creates better 

outcomes for residents and can leverage finance and support from your partners.  

 

3.71 The building blocks for this, as outlined above, is an IDP which captures up to date 

infrastructure needs from infrastructure providers within and outside the Council, and an 

improved governance framework to ensure spending decisions are taken based on this 

evidence, as well as being informed by other elements such as your Local Plan and 

corporate priorities.  

 

3.72 In order to make these changes, a short-term priority should be to confirm the principles for a 

new strategy with your CIL Spending Panel, and seek the mandate from your Council 

through a Cabinet decision. 

 

3.73 Other councils have been through this process and as a result there are some elements of 

good practice and lessons to be learned from other places. Resources on the PAS website 

includes:  

 

• The Improving the Governance of Developer Contributions Handbook  

• A guide to Infrastructure Funding Statements  

• A guide on types of infrastructure, approval routes, and funding sources    

• And a guide to help your senior leadership understand the role of develop 

contributions. 

 

87

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions/improving-governance-developer-contributions
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/infrastructure/developer-contributions/infrastructure-funding-statements
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/infrastructure/developer-contributions/navigating-infrastructure-planning-types
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions/start-spend-mind
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/topics/developer-contributions/start-spend-mind


 

 1 

Appendix A: SWOT Analysis for Recommendation 6 

 Option 1: Priority-led Option 2: Priority-programme Option 3: Business Plan-led 

Strengths Retains flexibility to allocate against 

agreed priorities set on an annual basis 

by CIL Spending Panel.  

Provides more opportunity to proactively 

decide on priorities for the year. 

Provides a balance between being 

strategic and flexible as to how CIL is 

allocated. 

Can provide a strong link to plan-led, new 

development. 

Provides more transparency and certainty 

on how CIL will be allocated.  

Provides the ability to plan and prioritise 

CIL spend. 

Can provide a strong link to plan-led, new 

development. 

Allows proactive consideration of various 

funding sources, including income 

projections from various sources to inform 

future planning of spend. 

Weaknesses Still relies on a bidding process rather 

than being proactive and strategic.  

Would require additional officer resource 

to establish and implement the process.  

Would need additional officer-level 

governance to prepare and agree the 

Business Plan. 

Does not offer much flexibility once the 

Business Plan has been approved.  

 

Opportunities Current bidding process could be 

retained, with updates to the assessment 

criteria to ensure more objectivity.  

 

Offers an opportunity to work with 

partners to identify priority projects. 

Offers an opportunity to ensure the 

assessment of bids is more objective than 

subjective.  

Income projections of future CIL revenue 

could be calculated to inform future 

spending plans. 

Provides an opportunity for more 

formalised partnership working.  

Threats Uncertainty as to the number and type of 

projects that come forward.  

Would rely on the existing IDP to inform 

the priority programme until a new IDP is 

available as part of the plan-making 

process.  

Will require significant officer resource 

and data to implement and maintain.  

88



 

 2 

Relies on the quality of the proposals 

coming forward. 

Would require a change to governance 

and process which may take some time to 

fully embed, with a need for continual 

improvement. 

Relies on good quality data for project 

costs, funding sources and income 

projections. 

89



 

 1 

Appendix B: Best Practice Case Studies for Recommendation 6 

 

Sevenoaks District Council 

 

Approach to governance and spend. 

The Sevenoaks CIL Spending Board is responsible for making decisions about infrastructure 

funding. This board is made up of elected members and council officers. The Chair determines the 

frequency of meetings.  

Decisions about expenditure are based on a set of criteria. These criteria are outlined in the 

Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). Projects are 

evaluated based on how well they align with the priorities outlined in the IFS and IDP.  

The Board also considers other factors when making decisions. For example, they look at how well 

a project can unlock proposed new development or allocated sites. They also consider whether a 

project can demonstrate strong social, environmental, or economic justification.  

Finally, the board looks at the potential for maximising other funding sources to support the 

proposed infrastructure projects. 

 

Criteria used for Decision-Making: 

The Board agrees a set of criteria to inform their decision-making, including: 

• Alignment with identified infrastructure types in the Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) 

report. 

• Correlation with the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 

• Direct relevance to proposed or allocated developments. 

• Strong social, environmental, or economic justifications. 

• Absence of prior CIL funding for the project. 

• Endorsement from infrastructure providers. 

• Project urgency. 

• Feasibility within the next five years. 

• Critical need. 

• Clarity on funding plans. 

 

Chichester District Council – Infrastructure Business Plan 

https://www.chichester.gov.uk/infrastructurebusinessplan  

Approach to governance and spend. 

Spend is based on an Infrastructure Business Plan (IBP), a 5-year rolling programme based on 

• Infrastructure needs,  

90

https://www.chichester.gov.uk/infrastructurebusinessplan


 

 2 

• Prioritised projects,  

• The growth trajectory,  

• Estimated CIL receipts, & additional funding sources. 

The IBP is endorsed and monitored by an officer-led Development Plan and Infrastructure Panel 

(DPIP) (on which County can attend), with the final decision made by Full Council, based on an 

endorsed IBP. 

 

Criteria used for Decision-Making: 

The following definitions are used to guide which projects CIL funding should be directed to. 

• Critical Infrastructure: 

• Essential for enabling growth, acting as prerequisites for future works. Often linked 

to triggers controlling development commencement. 

• Essential Infrastructure: 

• Necessary to mitigate impacts from development operations. Linked to triggers 

controlling site occupation, addressing planning acceptability. 

• Policy High Priority Infrastructure: 

• Required for broader strategic or site-specific objectives in planning policy or 

statutory duties. Less direct relationship with population increases, influenced by 

individual choices. 

• Desirable Infrastructure: 

• Needed for sustainable growth but optional for short to medium-term development. 

Supports sustainable growth without immediate impact on development timelines. 

 

Elmbridge District Council 

https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/cil-strategic-infrastructure-

projects  

Approach to governance and spend. 

Strategic CIL funds, which support the future growth of the borough from new development, are 

allocated to Borough-wide infrastructure projects via the Strategic Priority Programme (SPP) which 

follows the following annual process: 

Draft Priority List:  

• Creation of a draft Strategic Priority Programme (SPP) list. 

Review and Recommendation:  

• Strategic CIL Working Group will review the draft list in June and recommend funding 

priorities to the Cabinet. Cabinet finalises the SPP for the year. 

Project Development:  

• Infrastructure providers were notified of priorities and developed relevant projects for 

Strategic CIL funding application. 

91

https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/cil-strategic-infrastructure-projects
https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/community-infrastructure-levy-cil/cil-strategic-infrastructure-projects


 

 3 

Application Review and Decision:  

• SCILWG reviews applications in autumn and recommends funding allocations to the 

Cabinet, which makes final funding decisions. 

Ongoing Review:  

SPP reviewed by SCILWG, allowing for new project proposals based on annual priorities 

 

92



 

 1 

 

 

 
Local Government Association 

18 Smith Square 

Westminster 

London 

SW1P 3HZ 

 

  
 

93



 

CIL Funding Policy                                                                                     Author:  Amanda Driver 

 

 
 

  

BCKLWN Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  

Funding Policy  

Formally approved by Cabinet xxxxxxx     –    Author: Amanda Driver, Senior CIL Officer 
 
Version No Reason for update Review Author Review Date 
    

 
 
 

94



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 1 

 

 

 

Contents 

 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 2 

CIL Funding Applications .......................................................................................................... 2 
Award of funding ....................................................................................................................... 2 
Starting the project .................................................................................................................... 2 
Approved projects for CIL funding ............................................................................................. 3 
Payment of funding ................................................................................................................... 3 
Withholding or recovery of payment .......................................................................................... 4 
Compliance and insurance ........................................................................................................ 5 
Limitation of liability ................................................................................................................... 5 
Communication and monitoring ................................................................................................. 5 
Publicity for the project .............................................................................................................. 6 
Freedom of information ............................................................................................................. 6 

CIL Funding – Strategic Projects .............................................................................................. 7 
Award of funding ....................................................................................................................... 7 
Payment of funding ................................................................................................................... 7 
Communication and monitoring ................................................................................................. 7 

Miscellaneous ............................................................................................................................. 7 
 

95



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 2 

 

 

Introduction 
 

This document provides the Council’s Policy requirements, relating to the allocation and 
spending of CIL.  

This document will be read in conjunction with the Council’s CIL Spending Strategy, which 
provides specific details relating to the funding criteria and processes. 
Within this document, reference to the ‘applicant’, refers to the Organisation allocated CIL 
funding, not a specific individual.  
 

CIL Funding Applications 

This section of the document specifically relates to CIL funding allocated through an application 
process. 
 
Award of funding 
 
1. The allocation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Infrastructure Fund is subject to 

the applicants’ acceptance of these terms and conditions, and any other requirements 
prescribed by the Council, as well as the completion and return of the Funding Agreement. 

2. Any award must be used exclusively for the delivery of the Project as set out in the application 
submitted. 

3. The Project must be carried out and completed to the standard and specification stated 
within the application form. 

4. If the Organisation awarded funding fails to comply with any of these terms and conditions, 
BCKLWN (‘the Council’) may withhold, vary, terminate, or require any or all of the CIL 
award to be repaid. 

5. The CIL funding will be conditional upon the applicant obtaining any necessary building 
regulations and/or planning permission and any other consents or permissions as may be 
required. 

6. The CIL funding is a one-off payment. The Council will not be responsible for any future 
maintenance, revenue liability or ongoing funding related to the application. 

7. There is no right of appeal against an award, refusal or withdrawal of CIL funding. 

Starting the project 
 
8. The Project must commence within the period stated in the application. If this is not possible, 

the applicant must inform the Council, in writing, of when they will start the project and the 
reason for the delay for approval by the Council.  

9. For the purpose of this document, commencement is defined as when the works relating 
to the delivery of the Project materially begin.  

10. Works already completed or expenditure incurred prior to the Applicant’s acceptance of the 
offer will not be funded. 

  

96



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 3 

 

 

 

Approved projects for CIL funding  
 

11. The works that are the subject of the CIL funding must be carried out strictly in accordance 
with the details as described in the application submission and in accordance with these 
terms and conditions. 

12. The Council reserves the right to carry out independent financial checks, where appropriate, 
and may withdraw the offer at its sole discretion if it considers the public funds may be put 
at risk. 

13. If during the course of the work, the applicant finds it impracticable to carry out the work in 
accordance with what was approved, then changes must only be made after written approval 
has been given by the Council. Failure to do so may result in the withdrawal or withholding 
of the funding or requirement to repay any sums already provided by the Council. 

14. Where requested by the Council, the applicant must provide a written statement, or an 
appropriate certificate of completion, and the Council must be satisfied that the work has 
been carried out in accordance with the attached application form before payment of the 
funding.   

15.  On completion of the project, for publicity purposes, the applicant agrees to submit 
photographs (with no copyrights) of the completed project and agrees that these may be 
used to promote the CIL funding allocations. 

 

Payment of funding 
 

16. Subject to these terms and conditions, the Council shall pay the funds to the Applicant only 
after completion of the project and the submission of verifiable invoices.  

17. The original invoices/receipts need to be submitted to the Council as proof of purchase 
and/or expenditure.  

18. The Applicant agrees and accepts that the payment of the funds can only be made to the 
extent that the Council has available funds.      

19. The organisation applying for funding must have a bank account into which the Council will 
pay the funding. As part of the acceptance of the offer of funding, you will need to provide 
the bank account details including the sort code, account number and name on the account.     

20. CIL funding equivalent to the Project costs as demonstrated in compliance with paragraphs 
11 and 15 of this Policy is the maximum CIL funding awarded to this scheme. If the Project 
cost is lower than the amount stated in the attached application form, unspent monies cannot 
be used on matters not included in the Offer Letter.    

21. There will be no obligation on the Council to increase its offer in the event of cost increases 
affecting the work approved in the Offer Letter. 

22. The Applicant shall repay to the Council any money incorrectly paid to it, whether this 
resulted as of an administrative error or otherwise, within 28 days. This includes (without 
limitation) situations where either an incorrect sum of money has been paid or where monies 
have been paid in error before all conditions attaching to the funds have been complied with 
by the Applicant. 

 

97



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 4 

 

 

Withholding or recovery of payment 

23. It is the Council’s intention that the funds will be paid to the Applicant in full. However, without 
prejudice to the Council’s other rights and remedies, the Council may at its discretion 
withhold or suspend payment of the funds and/or require repayment of all of part of the funds 
if: 

a) the Applicant uses the funds for purposes other than those for which they have been 
awarded. 

b) the Council considers that the Applicant has not made satisfactory progress with the 
delivery of the Project in accordance with approved or reasonable timelines; 

c) the Applicant is, in the reasonable opinion of the Council, delivering the Project in a 
negligent manner. 

d) the Applicant obtains funding from a third party which, in the reasonable opinion of the 
Council, undertakes activities that are likely to bring the reputation of the Project or the 
Council into disrepute. 

e) the Applicant provides the Council with any materially misleading or inaccurate 
information. 

f) the Applicant commits or committed a prohibited act under the Bribery Act. 

g) any member of the governing body, employee or volunteer of the Applicant has (a) 
acted dishonestly or negligently at any time and directly or indirectly to the detriment 
of the Project or (b) taken any actions which, in the reasonable opinion of the Council, 
bring or are likely to bring the Council’s name or reputation into disrepute. 

h) the Applicant ceases to operate for any reason, or it passes a resolution (or any court 
of competent jurisdiction makes an order) that it be wound up or dissolved (other than 
for the purpose of a bona fide and solvent reconstruction or amalgamation). 

i) the Applicant becomes insolvent, or it is declared bankrupt, or it is placed into 
receivership, administration or liquidation, or a petition has been presented for its 
winding up, or it enters into any arrangement or composition for the benefit of its 
creditors, or it is unable to pay its debts as they fall due. 

j) the Applicant fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions set out in this 
Agreement and fails to rectify any such failure within 30 days of receiving written notice 
detailing the failure. 

24. The Council may retain or set off any sums owed to it by the Applicant which have fallen 
due and payable against any sums due to the Applicant under this Agreement or any other 
agreement pursuant to which the Applicant is a party of.        

25. Where the Applicant receives or intends to apply to a third party for other funding for the 
Project, it will notify the Council in advance of its intention to do so and, where such funding 
is obtained, it will provide the Council with details of the amount and the purpose of that 
funding. The Applicant agrees and accepts that it shall not apply for duplicate funding in 
respect of any part of the Project.           

26. If the Applicant receives funding from a third party either during the delivery or after 
completion of the project, which in the reasonable opinion of the Council duplicates any part 
of the CIL Funding, the Council reserves the right to recover that amount of funding from the 
applicant.         

 

98



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 5 

 

 

27. If the Project does not comply with the delivery timetable stated within the application form 
and Offer Letter, the Council reserves the right to revoke or recover the amount of the 
funding, or such other amount as it considers reasonable. 

 
Compliance and insurance 

 
28. The applicant must ensure compliance with all regulations and legislation relating to the 

project including equality, sustainability and health and safety.     

29. The applicant must ensure appropriate and sufficient insurance cover, including public 
liability and employer liability applicable to the project. 

 

Limitation of liability 
 

30. The Council accepts no liability for any consequences, whether direct or indirect, that may 
come about from the Applicant running the Project, the use of the funds or from withdrawal 
of the funds.  

31. The Applicant shall indemnify and hold harmless the Council, its employees, agents, officers 
or sub-contractors with respect to all claims, demands, actions, costs, expenses, losses, 
damages and all other liabilities arising from or incurred by reason of the actions and/or 
omissions of the Applicant in relation to the Project, the non-fulfilment of the obligations of 
the Applicant or its obligations to third parties.        

32. Subject to clause 27, the Council’s liability under these terms and conditions is limited to the 
payment of the funds. 

 

Communication and monitoring 
33. The Applicant must maintain regular communication with the Council, following the 

acceptance of the offer, as detailed within the Offer Confirmation Letter. The Applicant 
should provide regular updates and information on the project until it has been completed.      

34. In any event the Applicant shall within 7 days after written request by the Council provide 
the Council with such information and documents as the Council may reasonably require, to 
enable the Council to verify that the Applicant has complied with its obligations under these 
terms and conditions.       

35. The applicant must provide an annual return no later than 01 May each year, with information 
on the progress of the Project, within the previous financial year This will ensure the Council 
is able to fulfil its monitoring requirements under the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended 
Sept 2019). 

  

99



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 6 

 

 

 

Publicity for the project 
36. The Applicant must acknowledge the support of the Council in any materials that refer to the 

Project, and in any written or spoken public representations about the Project, in a form or 
style agreed in advance with the Council.        

37. Where the Council has provided the Applicant with any of its intellectual property rights for 
use in connection with the Project (including without limitation its name and logo), it shall 
only be used in accordance with reasonable brand guidelines.          

38. The Council reserves the right to use images of the Project, resulting from the award of the 
CIL funding, as part of any publicity material that it may wish. 

 

Freedom of information 
39. The Applicant acknowledges that the Council is subject to the requirements of the Freedom 

of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIRs).      

40. The Applicant shall: 
a) provide all necessary assistance and cooperation as reasonably requested by the 

Council to enable the Council to comply with its obligations under the FOIA and 
EIRs; 

b) transfer to the Council all requests for information relating to this agreement that 
it receives as soon as practicable and in any event within 2 working days of 
receipt; 

c) provide the Council with a copy of all information belonging to the Council 
requested in the request for information which is in its possession or control in the 
form that the Council requires within 5 working days (or such other period as the 
Council may reasonably specify) of the Council’s request for such information; 
and 

d) not respond directly to a request for information unless authorised in writing to do 
so by the Council. 

41. The Applicant acknowledges that the Council may be required under the FOIA and EIRs to 
disclose information without consulting or obtaining consent from the Applicant. The Council 
shall take reasonable steps to notify the Applicant of a request for information (in accordance 
with the Secretary of State’s section 45 Code of Practice on the Discharge of the Functions 
of Public Authorities under Party 1 of the FOIA) to the extent that it is permissible and 
reasonably practical for it to do so but notwithstanding any other provision in this agreement) 
the Council shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any 
information is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the FOIA and/or the EIRs. 

  

100



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 7 

 

 

CIL Funding – Strategic Projects 

This section of the document specifically relates to CIL funding allocated to projects identified by 
Cabinet, as infrastructure to support development within West Norfolk. 
 
The Project Lead Officer(s) will be responsible to managing the project in line with the Council’s 
internal policies and procedures which will include procurement and legislative requirements, in 
addition to these terms and conditions. 
 
Award of funding 
 
42. Any award of CIL funding must be used exclusively for the delivery of the identified Project. 

43. CIL funding will not be allocated for future maintenance, revenue liability or ongoing funding 
related to the Project. 

Payment of funding 
 

44. The Lead Project Officer(s) will be responsible for ensuring that all CIL expenditure is 
reported to the CIL Team.  

45. The CIL Team will transfer the allocated CIL to the project Cost Code, on receipt of 
expenditure information. 

46. Payment can only be made, to the extent that there are available CIL funds. 

47. CIL funding equivalent to the Project costs as stated at the time of project allocation, is the 
maximum CIL funding awarded to this scheme.  

48. If the Project cost is lower than the amount allocated, unspent monies cannot be used on 
matters not included in the original identified project.    

49. There will be no obligation to increase the CIL allocated to the project, in the event of cost 
increases affecting the work.  

Communication and monitoring 

50. The Council’s project lead must communicate with the CIL Team, by providing details of CIL  
expenditure, until such time that all of the allocated funds have been spent. 

51. The Project Lead Officer(s) must provide an annual return no later than 01 May each year, 
with information on the progress of the Project, within the previous financial year This will 
ensure the Council is able to fulfil its monitoring requirements under the CIL Regulations 
2010 (as amended Sept 2019). 

52. Details of all CIL funds allocated and spent will be recorded in the Council’s Annual 
Infrastructure Funding Statement. 

 
Miscellaneous 
 
53. The Council reserves the right to vary these terms and conditions. Such a right will be 

exercised by the Council acting reasonably.           

54. No provision of these terms and conditions shall be enforceable or intend to confer any 
contractual benefit on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.          

101



V1 CIL Funding Policy                                                                                                                       P a g e  | 8 

 

 

55. Insofar as any clause or clauses of these terms and conditions are found (for whatever 
reason) to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable then such invalidity, illegality or 
unenforceability shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of 
these terms and conditions.         

56. All notices and other communications in relation to these terms and conditions shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed to have been given if personally delivered, emailed or mailed 
(first class postage prepaid) to the address of the relevant party, as referred to above or 
otherwise notified in writing. If personally delivered or if emailed all such communications 
shall be deemed to have been given when received (except that if received on a non-working 
day or after 5.00 pm on any working day they shall be deemed received on the next working 
day) and if mailed all such communications shall be deemed to have been given and 
received on the second working days following such mailing.            

57. These terms and conditions shall not create any partnership or joint venture between the 
Council and the Applicant, nor any relationship of principal and agent, nor authorise any 
party to make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of the other party.           

58.  No waiver (whether expressed or implied) by the Council or Applicant of any breach or 
default in performing or observing any of the covenants, terms, or conditions of these terms 
and conditions shall constitute a continuing waiver and no such waiver shall prevent the 
Council or Applicant from enforcing any of the relevant terms or conditions or for acting upon 
any subsequent breach or default.              

59. These terms and conditions are governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of 
England and Wales 

102



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                       A u t h o r :  A m a n d a  D r i v e r  

BCKLWN 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Spending Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Formally approved by Cabinet xxxxxxx     –    Author: Amanda Driver, Senior CIL Officer 
 

Version No Reason for update Review Author Review Date 

    

 
  

103



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 2 

 

 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

BACKGROUND ............................................................................................................................................... 4 

NEIGHBOURHOOD (PARISH) CIL ................................................................................... 4 

BOROUGH CIL ............................................................................................................. 5 

THE CIL EXPENDITURE REVIEW ...................................................................................................................... 5 

THE NEW CIL SPENDING PROCESS .................................................................................................................. 7 

CIL WILL NOT FUND .................................................................................................... 8 

PRIORITIES FOR FUNDING INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS ................................................. 8 

BOROUGH CIL ALLOCATIONS ......................................................................................................................... 9 

SUPPORT FOR £0 CIL RATED STRATEGIC SITES .......................................................... 10 

LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS ............................................................................................................. 10 

PRINCIPLES OF LOCAL CIL ALLOCATIONS ........................................................................ 11 

LOCAL CIL APPLICATIONS MUST ............................................................................... 12 

LOCAL CIL APPLICATIONS SHOULD .......................................................................... 12 

CIL FUNDING APPLICATION REVIEW............................................................................ 12 

CIL FUNDING APPLICATIONS - VALIDATION PROCESS .................................................. 13 

LOCAL CIL FUNDING NOTIFICATIONS .......................................................................... 13 

STRATEGIC PROJECT IDENTIFICATION .......................................................................................................... 14 

STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS – ALLOCATION OF FUNDING .......................... 14 

ESSENTIAL INFRASTRUCTURE ..................................................................................... 14 

DESIRABLE INFRASTRUCTURE .................................................................................... 15 

BENEFICIAL INFRASTRUCTURE .................................................................................... 15 

BOROUGH CIL FUNDING - DECISION MAKING PROCESSES ........................................................................... 15 

EXACOM – DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTION DIGITAL SOLUTION ........................................................................ 16 

 

Contents 

104



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 3 

 

Introduction 

1. This document details arrangements by the Borough Council of King's Lynn and West 
Norfolk, for the allocation and spending of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  

2. This document will be read in conjunction with the Council’s CIL Policy, which 
provides the Council’s Policy requirements, relating to the allocation and spending of 
CIL  

3. The Borough Council of King's Lynn and West Norfolk approved the introduction of 
the CIL in December 2016 and started charging on 15 February 2017. 

4. CIL is: 

a) charged on residential and retail developments, which add one or more new 

dwelling(s) or more than 100sqm of floor space. 

b) charged at a rate per square metre and varies according to land use.  

c) paid to the Borough Council by developers after their planning permissions 

are implemented.  

d) just one funding stream that can be used, in conjunction with others, to fund 

infrastructure projects. 

e) governed by the CIL Regulations 2010 (amended). In the Borough of King's 

Lynn and West Norfolk. 

5. Alongside CIL, S106 obligations will still exist, but generally as one-off agreements to 
mitigate the impacts of larger developments and to secure on-site developer 
requirements, such as the provision of affordable housing.  

6. The Planning Practice Guidance1 on the GOV.UK website further explains how CIL 
should be managed under the revised CIL Regulations. 

7. The original parameters for the governance arrangements of CIL were agreed at 
Cabinet on 17 August 2020.  

8. This CIL Spending Strategy aims to put in place processes and controls to ensure the 
effective management and transparency around reporting on CIL, and all developer 
contributions.  

9. The governance arrangements will be reviewed periodically, to meet the Corporate 
Objectives and Priorities, by Cabinet. 

10. The spending priorities (see below) are aligned to the Corporate Business Plan and 
will be amended accordingly to meet the infrastructure needs of the Council. 

  

                                                

1 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy 

105



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 4 

 

Background 

11. CIL is paid on commencement of planning permissions that are CIL liable 
development, where exemptions or relief from CIL has not been granted.  

12. Payments are usually made in instalments and can take up to 3 years to be received 
in full. Once received, the CIL payments are automatically split down into their 
statutory “pots” or funds:  

a 5% Administration,  

b 15% or 25% to parish councils (Neighbourhood CIL), and  

c the remainder to the Borough CIL Fund (Borough CIL).  

13. Under the CIL Regulations, the Neighbourhood CIL is passed to the town and parish 
councils every 6 months; on the 28th of April and the 28th of October. Only 
Neighbourhood CIL amounts received in the previous 6 months can be passed on, so 
areas where there is no new development commencing and thus paying CIL will not 
receive any Neighbourhood CIL. 

14. Parish councils have 5 years from the date of receipt to spend the Neighbourhood 
CIL. Where there is not a parish council, then the funds are held and spent in 
consultation with the community, under the same terms as the town and parish 
councils spend.  

15. Parish councils can choose to fund projects collaboratively where local infrastructure 
priorities are shared with other parish councils or other infrastructure providers, such 
as Health, Police, Highways, or Education. The CIL Regulations state that parish 
councils can spend their Neighbourhood CIL on:  

a. the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of 
infrastructure; or  

b. anything else that is concerned with addressing the demands that 
development places on an area. 

16. Where town and parish councils have a Neighbourhood Plan made in their area, the 
expectation is that Neighbourhood CIL is prioritised and spent to deliver the projects 
identified in the Neighbourhood Plan.  

17. This may mean that in some areas where the Neighbourhood Plan has identified 
health or education, or other strategic infrastructure as a priority infrastructure 
requirement, there will be the opportunity to collaboratively fund projects of this 
nature.  

 
18. For those town and parish councils receiving 15% Neighbourhood CIL, they should 

consider the infrastructure needs of their area using a Parish Infrastructure 
Investment Plan (PIIP) to help understand, evidence and prioritise their infrastructure 
needs, and to focus Neighbourhood CIL spend.  

  

Neighbourhood (Parish) CIL 

106



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 5 

 

 

19. The Borough CIL:  

a) needs to be focused on infrastructure projects linked to the Local Plans.  

b) may take a number of years to collect enough funds for projects, as they come 
forward if they come forward ahead of the growth. There is no spending 
deadline for Borough CIL. 

The key element to support delivery of timely infrastructure is monitoring 

commencements and sharing data with infrastructure providers. 

20. The Borough CIL must be proportionate in the way that infrastructure projects are 
funded: 

a) where new housing and retail growth has commenced in areas; and 

b) infrastructure needs have been identified in the Local Plan, Neighbourhood plan 
and through the planning process.  

20. The list of projects that have been allocated Borough CIL is reported within the 
Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement, together with information on their progress.  

21. The previous CIL spending process related to the formative years for CIL and was an 
open opportunity to fund local projects, especially during a period where not much 
Neighbourhood CIL had yet been paid out to town and parish councils.  

The CIL Expenditure Review 

22. CIL expenditure processes have been under regular review since changes in the CIL 
Regulations that affect CIL collection, spending and reporting came into effect from 1 
September 2019.  

23. The current CIL expenditure review began by looking at the Revised CIL Legislation 
and the emphasis placed within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
the updated Planning Practice Guidance.  

 
24. There is greater flexibility for parish councils’ spending as detailed within the CIL 

Regulations, although any unspent Neighbourhood CIL still held after 5 years from 

the allocation date must be returned to the Council. Under the CIL Regulations, the 

Council would then spend this CIL to support new development in the area of the 

local council(s).  

  

Borough CIL 

There is a risk that the past practice of funding local projects diminishes 
the projected funds and would leave developments without necessary 

infrastructure. 

107



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 6 

 

 

25. CIL should be viewed as a method to mitigate and support growth, and therefore its 
collection and spending is linked to a plan-led approach. There is a golden thread 
linking the requirements for how CIL can and should be spent, with the infrastructure 
identified within the Local Plan. 

 

The 2019 changes in the CIL Regulations, supported by the NPPF 
and Planning Practice Guidance, 

emphasise the need to spend developer contributions (CIL and s106) to ensure 
that development is sustainable in planning terms. 

26. There is now a legislative requirement for the Council to produce and publish an 
Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement which details those projects the Council is 
collecting CIL toward and planning to deliver, together with details of the expenditure 
for the financial year in relation to both s106 and CIL.  

 
27. The Annual Infrastructure Statement is published by 31 December each year (relating 

to the previous financial year). 
 
28. Previously, this Council has produced an Annual Infrastructure List, which detailed 

the types of infrastructure Borough CIL would support, not directly linked to the Local 
Plan or Corporate Project requirements.  

 
29. The Infrastructure Funding Statement places a greater emphasis towards the projects 

identified from the growth detailed in the Local Plan. This means more focus on 
working with statutory infrastructure providers to identify projects needed to be 
delivered, as indicated through the Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans and identified 
through planning applications.  

 
30. The new CIL Spending Strategy will prioritise the allocation of CIL funds; 

a to infrastructure projects that will make development within the local plan 
sustainable in planning terms; and  

b to projects that are demonstrably deliverable and are ready to be included on the 
Annual Infrastructure Funding Statement. 

 

  

If we do not do this, 
the risk is that the development coming forward  

will not be sustainable in planning terms 

108



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 7 

 

The New CIL Spending Process  

31. Borough CIL spend will need to initially focus on the infrastructure already identified 
through the local plan and communicated within the planning process.  

32. The spending process will ensure: 

a. Borough CIL funding is secured or ringfenced to deliver selected projects in a 
timely manner; and 

b. Priority projects for Borough CIL funding are identified; and 

c. Project progress will be communicated within the Infrastructure Funding  

Statement, which is a requirement in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

33. The first Infrastructure Funding Statement 2 was produced and published by 31 
December 2020. Towards the end of each year a new Infrastructure Funding 
Statement will be published.  

34. Town and parish councils will be encouraged to look at their local infrastructure 
needs, and to plan delivery of local projects using their Neighbourhood CIL. 

35. Where local priorities have been identified and Neighbourhood CIL has been received 
in the area, Neighbourhood CIL should be directed to these projects and used as 
match funding for any application submitted for infrastructure funding. 

36. It should be noted that the CIL Regulations give town and parish councils 5 years 
from the date of receipt in which to spend Neighbourhood CIL.  

37. As well as being clear about what CIL could be used for, it is equally as important to 
be clear about the project costs that Borough CIL cannot fund.  

 

 
 

  

                                                

2 https://www.west-

norfolk.gov.uk/info/20223/cil_financial_reports/687/cil_infrastructure_funding_statements 

The new CIL Spending Strategy  
will prioritise and safeguard Borough CIL Strategic and Local funds, 

 for recognised infrastructure to support growth. 

109



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 8 

 

The allocation of CIL to infrastructure projects should not 
be viewed as ‘money to support local projects’ or as an even share of 

funding. 

38. The following will no longer be considered as appropriate spend from Borough CIL:  

a Up front funding for feasibility studies and professional fees, where there is no 

guarantee that the infrastructure would be delivered; or 

b Infrastructure replacement or improvements in areas where there are no major 

developments commencing and there is limited growth; or 

c Infrastructure that is not supported by lead statutory bodies, for example, traffic 

calming or pedestrian crossings if these are not considered as required 

infrastructure by the Highways Authority, projects within education settings 

(including Academy and other school or early years settings) that are not 

supported by Norfolk County Council; or 

d Ongoing operational or maintenance costs; or 

e VAT where this can be reclaimed.  

 

39. In order to understand which infrastructure should be prioritised for funding from the 
Borough CIL, the Spending Panel will need to use a prioritisation framework.  

40. In this way the council will be able to consider those projects that have not been 
captured in the Local Plans or Neighbourhood Plans.  

41. Where town or parish councils have a ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plan and they receive 
25% of the CIL collected from commenced development, this funding should be 
prioritised towards the infrastructure highlighted within the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

 
 

  

 

By releasing Borough CIL funding, we can achieve 

infrastructure provision through collaborative spend 
(i.e. other grant funding, Community Partnership/Locality funding, 
government funding, neighbourhood CIL and crowd funding/donations) 

CIL will NOT fund  

 Priorities for Funding Infrastructure Projects  

110



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 9 

 

 

To ensure transparency, it will be essential,  
to demonstrate links with the demands of a growing population  

and the need for the infrastructure project. 

Borough CIL Allocations 

42. The Borough CIL Fund is separated into 2 specific project types for the following 
reasons:  

a to enable the funding to meet wider borough infrastructure requirements, 

and  

b to support local community infrastructure needs 

Each project group is allocated a percentage of the CIL income as follows: 

 

Local CIL Fund 20% - Local Infrastructure Projects 
 

 identified through an application process 

 project funding between £10k and £100k 

 applications reviewed and selected by the CIL Spending Panel 

Strategic CIL Fund 80% - Large Scale Infrastructure Projects  

 
 no application process  

 officers from across the council will work in liaison with the CIL Spending 

Panel Chair, to review the list of identified infrastructure projects, to ensure 

that the CIL Spending Strategy operates accordingly. 

 projects selected from the Council’s Corporate Project Programme, in line 

with Corporate Objectives and Local Plan  

 spending panel will have delegated responsibility to select and allocate CIL 

funding up to £100k to any project(s) from the prepared list.  

 spending panel may make recommendations of projects over £100k to 

Cabinet. 

 any Strategic Project above £100k - decision making will rest with Cabinet. 

 
  

111



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 10 

 

43. In areas where there is significant growth from strategic sites and these sites are 
zero-rated for CIL as detailed in the adopted Charging Schedule3, the Borough 
Council will work with the affected town and parish councils to understand 
infrastructure needs/priorities, and help them to access Borough CIL for relevant 
priority projects.  

44. Where infrastructure projects accord with the CIL Regulations, the Council is aware 
this could mean that a project may not be ‘match funded’ with existing Neighbourhood 
CIL or other funds. 

45. Where several parishes are affected by zero-rated strategic sites, all councils should 
work together to support and fund the delivery of local infrastructure projects.  

46. Parishes/Town Councils and Parish Meetings will be encouraged to produce an 
Parish Infrastructure Investment Plan (PIIP), to identify infrastructure to support new 
development. 

47. Where projects accord with a PIIP or a Neighbourhood Plan, and direct links between 
the infrastructure and the strategic growth can be demonstrated, and the project 
accords with CIL Regulations, there will be a presumption in favour of supporting the 
project.  This will need to be tracked alongside housing delivery and the cumulative 
spend in each area will be reviewed and form a key consideration. 

Local Infrastructure Projects 

Infrastructure Projects -  seeking funding no less than £10k, but no more than £100k 

48 The Council will publish details of when the application window will open and close. 

49 Applications will be reviewed and allocated funds by the CIL Spending Panel. 

50 20% of the Borough CIL amount is allocated as a ceiling level of funding, to put into 
the Local CIL Fund; 

a the 20% ceiling value of Local Infrastructure funding will be reviewed 
annually. 

b where the Local CIL Fund has not all been allocated in that funding 
period, any remaining funds will be ringfenced and added to the 20% 
available for the next bid round. 
 
 

It is important that applications for CIL funds are robust, relate to 

projects that are deliverable, and that all avenues for collaborative 

funding have been explored. 

  

                                                

3 https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20201/cil_charges_and_payments/543/charging_schedule 

Support for £0 CIL Rated Strategic Sites  

112



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 11 

 

51. There are a few key principles to bear in mind when considering applying for 
funding from CIL:  

a The infrastructure supports new housing and/or employment growth 

b Timeliness - has the new housing for which the infrastructure is required 
started?  

c The benefits of the infrastructure are clear 

d The infrastructure is capable of being used by the wider community 

e The infrastructure proposed represents value for money 

f The infrastructure should be new or if being enhanced there must be some 
additionality in what facilities and/or services are being provided 

g Deliverability can be demonstrated 

h The project has community support, demonstrated through evidence of 
meaningful engagement 

i Feasibility studies will only be funded when they form part of a fully costed 
project that is ready to be immediately delivered – feasibility studies alone 
do not produce infrastructure 

j Where the infrastructure is provided by a statutory partner, they must agree 
the project is required and have the project tabled into their delivery plans 

k Borough CIL Funds may be applied for by the infrastructure provider where this 
is delivered by or through a statutory partner such as Highways, Education, 
Health or Police 

l A suitable package of measures has been identified, which allows for funding of 
ongoing maintenance of the infrastructure, in order to secure continued use  

m The timing of delivery of the project is clear and payment stages are defined 

n Costings must be clearly defined, and evidence based 

o Submission of at least 3 quotes (from different providers) or quantity surveyors 
costings in accordance with the Contract Standing Orders and the Request for 
Quotation processes 

p Where VAT can be claimed back, this should be clear and discounted from 
costings 

q All avenues for collaborative spend have been explored – e.g. grants, other 
government funding, County Council, District, Parish, Neighbourhood Parish 
CIL, community fundraising, crowd funding 

r There is certainty around other funding sources.  

  

Principles of Local CIL Allocations  

113



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 12 

 

52 Local Infrastructure applications will be considered on a case-by-case basis and 
MUST meet ALL of the following validation criteria:  

a be located in or close to areas where new developments are coming 
forward (granted permissions have commenced or are about to 
commence); and 

b increase the provision, capacity or function to benefit a growing 
community; and 

c take into consideration inclusivity and accessibility; and 

d be deliverable in the short term (within 2/3 years); and 

e be supported by the submission of evidence to confirm the finance 
arrangements (quotes or procurement process and match funding); and  

f have written support of the Ward Member(s). 

53. The CIL Local Funding Application is an online process— details relating to how to 
apply will be published on the CIL webpages. 

54. Local Infrastructure applications will be considered on a case-by-case basis and 
SHOULD meet the following:  

a be partly funded through Neighbourhood Parish CIL or have a minimum of 
50% match funding guaranteed 

b be identified through a Parish Infrastructure Investment Plan (PIIP), 
Neighbourhood Plan or provide equivalent evidence to demonstrate feasibility 

 

55. Only valid Local Funding applications will be considered by the CIL Spending Panel. 

56. Where applications are made by statutory infrastructure providers, such as Police, 
Health, Highways and Education, these should not require further evidence of value 
for money since procurement frameworks are reviewed, ensuring best value is 
achieved. The expectation is that the project will form part of the relevant 
organisations’ Capital Programmes. These bodies are required to report on the use of 
developer contributions, for transparency.  

57. Where applications are made by local councils and other community or charitable 
bodies, these will have greater information requirements. This will ensure best value 
is obtained, clarity on funding sources, and to further understand subsidy implications.  

58. The CIL Spending Panel may recommend that applications submitted by statutory 
partners be given an approval “in principle” decision, to allow CIL funding to be 
allocated to the project until such time as the project can then progress.  This would 
only apply to applications where planning permission or other minor barrier prevents 
the application from being valid, and where the project will commence within 6 
months of the “in principle” decision.  

Local CIL applications MUST 

Local CIL Applications SHOULD 

CIL Funding Application Review  

114



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 13 

 

 

59. Local Project CIL Funding Applications will not be validated if the project does not 
meet ALL of the ‘MUST’ criteria as detailed above. 

60. All Local Project application forms must be completed in full, with at least 3 
quotes from different suppliers. All quotes must relate to the same specification 
of works/materials (like-for-like). 

61. If the project requires sourcing of different materials/contractors, 3 quotes for 
each material/contractor will be required. 

62. If further information is required, a failure to provide this in a timely manner will delay 
the application from validation. 

63. Where information is not provided by deadlines set within this process, the likelihood 
that the application will be rejected will be increased. 

 

 

64. If your application has been confirmed as being valid by the CIL Team, the CIL 
Spending Panel will review and allocate funding at their calendared meeting. 

65. Once the CIL Local Fund has been allocated, the results will be published on the 
Council public facing digital platform (Exacom). 

66. All applicants will be notified in writing, via email, of the Spending Panel’s decision.  

 

There are no grounds of appeal, as all decisions are final. 

  

CIL Funding Applications - Validation Process 

Local CIL Funding Notifications 

115



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 14 

 

Strategic Project Identification  

67. Projects will be selected from the Council’s Capital Projects Programme from Tiers 1 
to 3. 
 
Capital Tiering (May 2025) 
 
Tier 1 – Major Projects/schemes that are approved by Cabinet/Council to go live/are 
in progress. 
 
Tier 2 – Operational Projects that are approved by Cabinet/Council to go live/are in 
progress. 
 
Tier 3 – Projects and schemes awaiting detailed consideration by Cabinet or Council 
before transition to go live under either Tier 1 or 2. 

68. A list of eligible Capital Projects that meet the definition of ‘infrastructure to 
support development’ will be produced by the CIL Officers,and presented to the 
CIL Spending Panel. 

 

Projects already identified as infrastructure to support development 

70. 80% of CIL Borough Funds will be allocated to Strategic Infrastructure Projects. 

71. Projects will be identified and classified into 3 categories by officers in liaison 

with the CIL Spending Panel Chair, as detailed below. 

72. The Spending Panel may select projects up to £100k and Cabinet will select 

projects over £100k from any/all of the criteria as follows: 

a Infrastructure is necessary to support an approved development 
(proposed developments with planning permission granted) in order that 
development carried out is sustainable 

b Is identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Framework of the Local Plan, is 
identified in a Neighbourhood Plan or Corporate Strategy as a priority 

c Represents key infrastructure as identified in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plan or Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 

d The identification of need must demonstrate that the time of delivery for 
funding is correct.  

  

Strategic Infrastructure Projects – Allocation of funding 

Essential Infrastructure 

116



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 15 

 

 

a The provision of this infrastructure addresses a current inadequacy in 
infrastructure terms and the benefits of the infrastructure are clear 

b The infrastructure is identified as ‘desirable’ or a ‘priority’ in the Local Plan 
or Neighbourhood Plan or recent Parish Infrastructure Investment Plan 
(PIIP) 

c Neighbourhood CIL funding has been formally allocated to fund the 
project 

d It would allow infrastructure to be delivered through collaborative funding 
with Borough CIL. 

a. By provision of infrastructure, would unlock further opportunities within the 
Borough for housing and employment growth – e.g. the relocation of a 
Community Centre or similar infrastructure to a new building which would be 
mostly funded through the sale/re-use of the land as residential or business use 
and there are adequate facilities in the area to serve the development.  

b It is infrastructure which has not previously been identified as essential, or 
desirable in the Local Plans or within a Neighbourhood Plan, but a clear 
link can be identified in supporting the sustainability of the Local Plan.  

c It is infrastructure which addresses a recently unexpected shortfall in 
infrastructure or community provision accounted for as having an 
influence on the sustainability of a community in the Local Plan. - e.g. 
closure of a pre-school facility and the need for a replacement, or the 
more rapid adoption of the use of electric vehicles or other beneficial 
environmental infrastructure or technologies.  

Borough CIL Funding - Decision Making Processes 

73. The CIL Spending Panel have delegated powers to allocate funding up to £100k. 

 

74. Meetings will be held at least once per year: 

a Strategic CIL funded projects 

i Up to £100k - will be selected by the CIL Spending Panel, from 
projects already identified by the Council as necessary 
infrastructure to support development. Over £100k projects may 
be recommended by the Spending Panel to Cabinet. 

ii Over £100k -  will be selected by Cabinet. 

b Local CIL Applications – will be reviewed and funding allocated by the 
CIL Spending Panel. 

  

Desirable Infrastructure  

Beneficial Infrastructure  

117



 

CIL Spending Strategy_V1                                                                    P a g e  | 16 

 

75. The CIL Spending Panel is not a forum for presentations from potential funding 
applicants, or promotion of local projects by members of the panel, substitutes, 
or other invited member attendance.  

76. The CIL Spending Panel is not a forum for appeals against Borough CIL funding 
decisions.  

77. All CIL Spending Panel funding decisions are final.  

 

It is important to recognise that large infrastructure projects may require  
CIL to be built up over a period of time. 

 

Exacom – Developer Contribution Digital Solution 

78. The Revised CIL Regulations place new demands in relation to recording developer 
contributions and reporting on both S106 and CIL. As a result, information and 
services must be provided more digitally.  

79. The Council have implemented a digital solution, using Exacom software, in order to 
provide an efficient and effective service, and to meet statutory requirements.  

80. The digital solution for managing developer contributions will: 

a enable the council to safeguard West Norfolk CIL Funds, 

b give an opportunity to the public, developers, infrastructure 
providers, local councils and other key stakeholders who will be able 
to understand the infrastructure that is being delivered through 
developer contributions, 

c publicly present the amount of unspent or uncommitted CIL that the 
council holds. 

81. The allocation of funds in this way will require periodic review and annual reporting on 
the “approved projects” that will be the focus of the Infrastructure Funding Statement.  

 

118



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CIL Policy Document – Report Document 1 

 Funding Terms of Reference 

 Legal Requirements 

EIA Report 

Review by Legal & Audit 

Produce Business Case 

Report for Cabinet. 

16 September 

Cabinet Approval 

CIL Spending Strategy – Report Document 2 

 Principles of Allocation 

 Spending Process 
o 20% Local Infrastructure  
o 80% Strategic Infrastructure 

 Decision Making Process 

 Documentation, Validation & Review 

STAGE 1 

CIL 

Spending 

Panel mtg 

29/07/2025 

20% Local 

Infrastructure Projects 

80% Strategic 

Infrastructure Projects 

 Create Application Form 

 Identify Validation Criteria 

 Agree process to recommend 

projects to Cabinet 

STAGE 2 

CIL 

Spending 

Panel mtg 

09/09/2025 

 Publicise: Cllrs/Parish/NCC/Internal/Comms 

 Provide training for Parish Clerks & members 
STAGE 3 

CIL 

Officers 

01 March 2026  Produce Application Documents 

 Set up online Application process 

 Update CIL webpages 

 Internal Agreement of 

process  

Set Application 

Timetable 

Set ‘Go Live’ 

Date 

119



 

 

Terms of Reference: CIL Spending 
Panel 
The CIL Spending Panel is a sub-committee of Cabinet. 

 

1. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Spending Panel will be required to work with 
officers to review and select projects for CIL Infrastructure Funding; 

a Local Infrastructure Funding Applications - to consider the 
relevance of applications in terms of the objectives of CIL through 
making development sustainable in planning terms. Approvals are at 
a maximum CIL funding of £100k per project.  

b Strategic Infrastructure Projects – to consider the wider 
infrastructure requirements to support growth in West Norfolk. 

2. Consider the findings of evidence-based documents to inform funding decisions. 

3. Act as a focal point for knowledge and information about the application of CIL to 
infrastructure projects.  

4. Receive progress updates on the delivery of CIL funded infrastructure projects, as 
appropriate.  

5. Scrutinise and have input into the review of the CIL Spending Strategy, to ensure 
compliance with regulatory requirements and the continued delivery of infrastructure 
to support growth in West Norfolk.  

6. The CIL Spending Panel will meet at least 3 times a year, subject to business.  

7. Vice Chair to be elected at the first meeting of the municipal year.  

8. The CIL Spending Panel maintains a standing invite to relevant officers responsible   
for the delivery of infrastructure and other local authority or representatives, and 
organisations will also be invited as and when appropriate.  

 

120



Corporate Priorities 
Promote growth & prosperity to benefit West Norfolk 

• Create job opportunities 
• Support economic growth 
• Develop skills needed locally – support new & existing businesses, working with local 

employers & partners to equip workforce with skills & knowledge 
• Encourage housing development & infrastructure – increase number of good quality 

homes & associated infrastructure 
• Promote West Norfolk as a destination – support year-round programme of events, 

festivals, and activities for residents & visitors 
• Maximise opportunities to regenerate & transform high streets & heritage assets 

Protect our environment 
• Create a cleaner, greener, better protected West Norfolk – leading by example by 

reducing our carbon emissions 
• Work with partners across Norfolk to minimise carbon emissions & support others 
• Considering environmental issues & encouraging residents & businesses to do the 

same 
• Encourage active travel by reducing barriers to walking & cycling, improve EV 

infrastructure 
• Minimise domestic & corporate waste by encouraging responsible disposal 
• Increase biodiversity & create wildflower & pollinator opportunities 
• Work with other agencies to manage & protect our coastline, rivers, streams, and 

improve sea water quality 

Efficient and effective delivery of our services 
• Provide cost-effective, efficient services 
• Focus capital expenditure on priority areas 
• Provide sustainable financial planning & appropriate staffing – manage our finances 

to remove projected deficits over financial plan 
• Promote good governance – provide information in a timely & accessible manner, 

consult & engage with communities 
• Expand support to parish councils, undertake governance review 
• Consider investigating town council for King’s Lynn & renaming borough to West 

Norfolk – make KLACC decision-making body 

Support our communities 
• Support health & wellbeing of communities by working with partners to reduce 

isolation & supporting people to live independently 
• Tackle social & health inequalities, encourage healthy active lifestyles 
• Seek improvements to NHS dentistry in West Norfolk 
• Work with schools & colleges to improve educational opportunities & inclusion 
• Help prevent homelessness, improve access to affordable homes & improve rented 

accommodation quality 
• Address all types of antisocial behaviour & encourage respect for each other 
• Assist people with access to benefits advice 
• Ensure equal access to opportunities 

121



Current LP Priorities 
Economy 

• Continue to grow strong local economy 
• Improvements to strategic transport connects 
• High calibre communications network 

Society 
• Reduce inequality 
• Adapt new development to climate change 
• Deal with social change & bring higher wages, improved quality of life 

Environment 
• Protect & enhance natural & historic environment 
• Support use & development of sustainable transport systems 
• Build connections, reduce reliance on cars  

Places 
• Ensure local places meet the demands of the area 
• Appropriate scale of new development 
• Manage impact of climate change, including threats of erosion & flooding 

Current LP Infrastructure Requirements 
LP05 
Identified investment requirements include: 

• NORA – utilities 
• Waterfront regen – remediation & utilities 
• King’s Lynn Transportation Strategy – implementation 
• Green infrastructure and community facilities 
• Flood Coastal Risk Management (phase 1) for the Fens 
• Surface water managements – in collaboration with NCC as LLFA 

1. All development in the plan area will need to be accompanied by appropriate infrastructure 
(including off-site infrastructure) in a timely way, with arrangements for its subsequent 
maintenance. 

2. The Borough Council operates a CIL. These contributions (in accordance with the CIL 
charging schedule) will support borough wide facilities to accommodate increasing 
population. 

3. In addition, obligations will be sought from developers through Section 106 Legal 
Agreements or other successor mechanisms. All obligations are required to meet the 
tests in the NPPF and CIL Regulations. These contributions will be sought for specific on-
site infrastructure (or otherwise directly related to the development). Details of required 
provision is listed in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, set out in either allocation policies in 
this plan or negotiated at planning application stage if it is not an allocation. This will apply to 
but is not limited to infrastructure including, where applicable: 

122



a. Community and recreation facilities (including education facilities, community halls, 
health facilities, libraries, social services facilities, allotments, indoor/outdoor sports 
facilities); 

b. Improved public transport facilities 
c. Other appropriate transport infrastructure including pedestrian and cycle links; 
d. Affordable or supported housing (in line with LP28 Housing and the NPPF) 
e. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), including surface water 
f. Flood management infrastructure 
g. Green infrastructure including habitat creation/recreation facilities/landscaping 
h. Water conservation measures 
i. Emergency services 
j. Recycling/composting facilities 
k. Improvements to the public realm including the historic environment: S106 will 

continue to offer opportunities for funding improvements to and the mitigation of 
adverse impacts on the historic environment, such as archaeological investigations, 
access and interpretation, and the repair and reuse of buildings or other heritage 
assets; 

l. Utilities; 
m. Green Infrastructure as required by policy LP19. 

4. Key borough wide infrastructure projects will be funded by CIL, they include: 

 a. infrastructure detailed in Policy LP13 - Transportation. 

 b. infrastructure needed to support policies LP39 Downham Market & LP40 
Hunstanton 

 c. infrastructure needed to support regeneration in King's Lynn detailed in Policy 
LP38 King's Lynn & appropriate transport infrastructure including the implementation of the 
King's Lynn Transport Strategy (KLTS) 

 d. infrastructure needed with regard to flood resilience and resistance measure 

5. Provision will be achieved through: 

a. CIL; 
b. Contributions from all market residential and commercial development in the plan 

area through appropriate legal agreements or other successor mechanisms; 
c. Coordination with the investment programmes of other public bodies and utility 

providers; 
d. Taking full advantage of mainstream Government funding streams; 
e. Active use, where necessary, by the local planning authorities and County Council of 

their legal powers to bring about the strategically significant development, including 
compulsory purchase. 

LP13 
• deliver a sustainable transport network improving connectivity within and beyond 
• improve strategic networks serving passengers & freight including the port, reducing 
• congestion and improving reliability and safety within A10, A17, A134, A47, A148/9 
• bypass for Middleton & East Winch working with A47 alliance 
• West Winch Housing Access Road 
• junction improvements at key interchanges including A47/A149 

123



• improvements to rail infrastructure, facilities and services on King's Lynn-King's 
Cross line including better frequency & quality 

• implement the KLTS including a package of transport improvements, balancing ease 
of access with car parking and highways safety 

• priority locations are A149 QE Way; A47/17 Pullover; Southgates (A148 STARS); 
town centre gyratory; Tennyson Avenue & A148; A148/Castle Rising Road/A1078 
signals; A1078 Edward Benefer Way 

• improve towns especially in air quality issue areas 
• maximise alternative modes of freight via rail & port 
• improve accessibility & connections between towns & villages 
• improve quality of bus network 
• improve public transport connectivity through enhanced integration of bus & rail 

services at King's Lynn, Downham Market, Watlington & Lakenheath 
• extend choice of transport available 
• work with commercial broadband providers to increase high speed connections 
• provide integrated and safe routes for pedestrians & cyclists 
• recognise that private cars are important in rural areas 

LP19 
• proposals to protect and enhance landscape, biodiversity, and geodiversity to be 

encouraged 
• conserve County Wildlife sites, ancient woodlands & County geodiversity sites 
• support initiatives and proposals to improve areas of poor quality and maintaining 

areas of  good quality 
• work to ensure integrated network of green infrastructure (Green Infrastructure 

Management Plan) including SUDS 

LP38 
• provide at least 3000 new jobs in the allocated sites at Boal Quay, Hardwick, 

Saddlebow Road and Estuary Road and as part of the West Winch Growth Area 
• focus for regeneration is waterfront & regeneration projects including Nelson Quay 
• open space and recreational facilities to be provided to serve needs of growing 

population, assessed at application stage in accordance with LP22 
• enhance green infrastructure in town in accordance with Green Infrastructure 

Strategy, especially Gaywood Valley 
• alternative links for walking & cycling to be maintained and extended 
• work to ensure continued presence of general hospital 

LP39 
• enhancing strong convenience & service offer (Downham Market) 
• strengthening night-time economy by accommodating diversity of uses 
• facilities and services for full demographic including young pros, families and older 

people 
• improving arts and culture 
• promoting as a visitor destination 
• improve pedestrian, cycling and public transport links 
• enhance green infrastructure, maintain landscape and quality of open space 
• conserve and enhance built, historic, and natural environment  

124



LP40 
• provide modest employment growth for year-round, less reliance on seasonal 
• residential development in town centre including mixed-use 
• strengthen role as visitor destination, support for sustainable tourist facilities and 

leisure developments 
• secure provision of adequate parking levels, especially in summer 
• improvements to public transport, increasing frequency & reducing journey times to 

KL 
• supporting more frequent coast services & public transport in rural areas 
• improvements to routes, signage and facilities for walking & cycling 
• enhance green infrastructure in town in particular Oasis Way 

Current IDP (2022) 
Annual List (2021) 

• Education 18+, transport, environment, education, health, economic development, 
community facilities, green, open space & leisure, community transport 

Specific projects in schedule 
• West Winch Health Centre (unknown costs, S106, CCG) 
• Additional Sports Halls (unknown costs, S106, BCKLWN) 
• Lynnsport additional cycling facilities (CIL, completed) 
• Lynnsport Wellness Hub (CIL, completed) 
• Lynnsport 3G pitch (CIL – problematic) 
• West Winch Primary School expansion (S106, NCC) 
• New WW Primary School (S106, NCC) 
• New Wisbech Primary School (S106, CCC) 
• King’s Lynn Secondary Schools (delivery not known, S106, NCC) 
• South Wootton Jr School (unknown costs & delivery, S106, NCC) 
• Fire hydrants (unknown costs & delivery, S106, Norfolk Fire Service) 
• WW Community Centres (delivery not known, S106, BCKLWN) 
• Library modernisation (unknown costs & delivery, S106, NCC) 
• A10 slip road (West Winch, S106 & DfT Major Road Network Fund, NCC) 
• A10 bypass (West Winch, S106 & DfT Major Road Network Fund, NCC) 
• A47 dualling (by 2026!, (S106 & DfT Major Road Network Fund, NCC)NCC) 
• Hardwick widening (S106 & DfT Major Road Network Fund, NCC) 
• A47 roundabout expansion (by 2026, S106 & DfT Major Road Network Fund, NCC) 
• Traffic calming in West Winch (S106 & DfT Major Road Network Fund, NCC) 
• Reffley Lane cycle barriers (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Fairstead Cycleway (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Oldmedow Road (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Fairstead Cycleway connection (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Review Hulton Road barriers (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Queen Mary Road crossing (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Hulton Road barriers (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Wootton Park barriers (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Edward Benefer Way cycle lane (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Hardwick cycle lane (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 

125



• St Valery Lane chicane barriers (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• NORA (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Baker Lane Active Travel Hub (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Bishops Road to Gaywood Hall Drive (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Gayton Rd toucan (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Sandringham Railway Path (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Low Road toucan (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Tennyson Avenue railway crossing (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Low Road toucan (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Edward Benefer Way island (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Edward Benefer Way toucan (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• Blackfriars Road table (Towns Fund, BCKLWN) 
• WWGA playing fields (S106, BCKLWN) 
• WWGA equipped play areas (S106, BCKLWN) 
• WWGA allotments (S106, BCKLWN) 
• WWGA other green spaces (S106, BCKLWN) 
• WWGA natural spaces (S106, BCKLWN) 
• WWGA MUGA (S106, BCKLWN) 
• Downham Market play equipment (BCKLWN) 
• Sewer upgrades (developers, Anglian Water) 

Neighbourhood Plans 
Brancaster – 22.02.2021 
5.9 We hope that housing and other development in Brancaster will contribute towards 
improving local services and infrastructure notably Highways. An increase in population 
within the villages means an increase in the need for transport, education, library services 
etc. There are mechanisms to do this (for example CIL, section 106 agreements and 
planning conditions) and it is important that these mechanisms are used to ensure that the 
infrastructure grows with the population. 

 

Burnham Market – 26.09.2023 
The Parish Council will work with the local community to encourage action to enhance 
habitat and wildlife in public areas and in all gardens. This may include activities to 
encourage insect friendly planting, bird, and bat boxes, making the most of compost and 
encouraging wild patches. In public areas actions will be investigated including less frequent 
mowing, pond maintenance and planting trees. In relation to this, priority will be to work with 
local landowners to improve habitats for wildlife within the green corridors. 

The Parish Council will work proactively with riparian owners, landowners, and statutory 
agencies, such as the Lead Local Flood Authority, to ensure that watercourses are properly 
maintained with a view to ensuring that they continue to play their role in the management of 
water and flood risk. 

The Parish Council will work with local landowners, statutory agencies, and adjacent 
parishes to establish new and improved existing footpaths and routes. This will apply 
particularly to proposals for the use of the former Heacham to Burnham Overy railway line 
within the Parish as a walking and cycle route. The Parish Council will work with other public 

126



bodies to secure the implementation of this important initiative. This includes improving 
signage and publicity and establishing all weather routes where appropriate. 

 

Castle Acre – 10.02.2022 
Support given for the creation of new designated visitor parking off Priory Road. 

Historic Environment: • Support a Castle Acre Heritage project for a programme of 
archaeological investigations and activities in and around Castle Acre including wildlife 
surveys and improvements to habitats, aimed at both residents, their families, special 
interest groups and visitors. • Press the Borough Council to review the Conservation Area 
Appraisal with a view to serving an Article 4 Direction 

Natural Environment: Protecting the River Nar SSSI: • To prohibit vehicles from using part of 
South Acre Road from 50 metres below the junction with Blind Lane, across South Acre ford 
and onto Church Farm. This is to preserve the tranquillity of this SSSI beauty spot and to 
protect the gravel riverbed from engine pollution and damage to fish spawning. Open spaces 
and Community Facilities: • Secure an agreement with Holkham Estate to maintain open 
access over the lands close to the river Nar, converting existing footpaths to Public Rights of 
Way (PROW). 

Traffic and Transport: • Restrict vehicular access to South Acre Ford to protect the riverbed 
and aquatic habitats and species. • Develop an appropriate contingency plan to identify and 
deliver an appropriate ‘off road’ parking facility should the proposed plan for a car park on 
Priory Road not be granted ‘change of use’ permission. • Review speed limits in and around 
the village through liaison with NCC Highways • Encourage/promote the use of public 
transport and look at different routes • Support discrete directional signing on Stocks Green 
and along Priory Road to new designated visitor parking off Priory Road. • Lobby for 
effective road safety measures at the Massingham Road/Back Lane junction by the SPAR 
shop. • Maintain the through traffic directions Newton Road/North Street/St James’ 
Green/Massingham Road and to press for both North Street and St James Green to be 
gritted in the winter. • Encourage residents to park off-road on their driveways/garages to 
keep traffic pinch points clear e.g. Bailey Street, Pales Green, North Street. • Encourage 
Highways to amend the second directional sign to Castle Acre on the A1065 at Lower Lane 
(from Swaffham) to encourage restricted traffic to continue to the Newton Road turning. • 
Encourage all suppliers/HGVs/farm vehicles not to drive up or down Bailey Street and 
through Bailey Gate. • Contact national Sat Nav. suppliers to amend their software to 
highlight through routes and to avoid unsuitable routes e.g. Bailey Street. • Add a one way 
priority chicane before the eastern edge of the 30 mph sign on Newton Road to reduce traffic 
speeding. • Extend the Trod along St James’ Green to North Street. • Maintain vigilance on 
vehicle speeding within the village boundaries and take appropriate action. • Press for a 20 
mph speed limit within the village boundaries. • To lobby for ‘High Risk’ signs along the West 
Acre Road between Manor Farm and West Acre house to warn drivers of blind bends and 
the danger of further fatal vehicle collisions. • Not to add any further entry gates to village 
access routes. 

Tourism and Community Facilities: • Manage visitor activity in a more sustainable manner 
through the promotion of green tourism and walking and cycling access. • Working with 
tourism providers such as English Heritage to manage sustainable tourism with particular 
emphasis on appealing to younger visitors. • Support arrangements likely to improve the 
visitor experience by encouraging a year round programme of activities, openings and 
events (which would benefit locals too). • Engage local residents in a Heritage Lottery 

127



funded programme of archaeological and environmental studies of Castle Acre’s rich 
heritage 

 

Grimston, Pott Row, Roydon, Congham – 27.08.2024 
Expectation is that providers will indicate whether infrastructure requirements are necessary. 
Where this is the case growth should be phased accordingly (Policy 2) 

 

Heacham – 30.06.2022 
Policy 11: Green Infrastructure: 

1. Enhance the quality, accessibility & usage of public open spaces, allotment provision 
& areas of sport provision 

2. Existing public rights of way within the parish, and to seek opportunities to create 
new public rights of wage to create linkages to the beaches, and into the wider 
countryside locally 

3. The preservation & enhancement of Areas of Natural Beauty & local habitats 
4. Increasing the number of trees in the village & enriching green areas with wild flower 

planting 
5. Maintain existing grass verges where possible, eg where there is a footpath on the 

opposite side of the road 

 

Holme-next-the-Sea – 27.07.2021 
Policy 8: New or improved footpaths and cycleways will be supported where it can be 
demonstrated that they will enhance he connectivity and pattern of destinations served by 
the existing network and where they will encourage a more sustainable modal share. 
Associated recreational facilities may also be supported. All development must demonstrate 
it will not impact negatively on habitats, wildlife and biodiversity. 

Where proposals for footpaths / cycleways satisfy these criteria, encouragement will be 
given to the following routes: (i) Those that assist in dispersing pressure from the Protected 
Sites Zone including the National Nature Reserve (ii) Those that improve pedestrian access 
to the south of the A149, especially to and within the Adaptation and Resilience Zone (iii) 
Links between the east side of the village, Drove Orchards and Thornham (iv) A link from the 
west side of the village to join the Peddars Way footpath near its junction with Beach Road / 
the bus stop (v) Links from the west side of the village to Old Hunstanton / Hunstanton 
including an improved footpath along the River Hun 

 

North Wootton – 27.11.2024 
Community Action 2: The Parish Council will work with the local community and primary 
school to encourage action to enhance habitat and wildlife in public areas and in people’s 
gardens. This may include activities to encourage insect friendly planting, use of bird 
feeders, bird, and bat boxes, making the most of compost and encouraging wild patches. In 
public areas actions will be investigated including less frequent mowing, pond maintenance 
and planting trees. In relation to this, priority will be to work with local landowners to improve 

128



habitat for wildlife. The Parish Council will implement a programme of tree planting, with 
emphasis on further greening of existing green spaces within the settlement. 

Community Action 3: The Parish Council will work proactively with riparian owners, 
landowners, and statutory agencies, such as the Lead Local Flood Authority 37 and relevant 
IDB, to ensure that watercourses are properly maintained with a view to ensuring that they 
continue to play their role in the management of water and flood risk. This will ensure that 
issues with blocked ditches, which can create surface water flooding, are reduced. The 
Parish Council will look to secure Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) as well as other 
funding to support improvements where needed 

Community Action 5: The Parish Council will work with local landowners, statutory agencies, 
community groups and adjacent parishes to establish new and improved existing permissive 
paths and routes. This includes improving signage and publicity and establishing all weather 
routes where appropriate. The parish will be proactive in promoting walking and cycling 
routes to residents and visitors within the parish especially with the expected growth in 
movement from future development expanding around the parish boundary including at 
Knights Hill and South Wootton. 

Community Action 6: The Parish Council will proactively engage North Wootton Primary 
School, The Trust, relevant statutory bodies, and local landowners to try and find appropriate 
additional land for car parking. This will include conversations on the need for a school travel 
plan to accompany any school expansion if suitable land is agreed. Discussions will also 
take place regarding improving off street car parking. 

 

Ringstead – 20.02.2025 
Community Action 2: The Parish Council will work proactively with riparian owners, 
landowners, and statutory agencies, such as the Lead Local Flood Authority, to ensure that 
watercourses are properly maintained with a view to ensuring that they continue to play their 
role in the management of water and flood risk. 

Community Action 3: The Parish Council will work with partners such as landowners and the 
County Council to ensure that Public Rights of Way and permissive routes within the parish 
are well maintained for the continued enjoyment of residents and visitors. 

 

Sedgeford – 16.09.2019 
The level and quality of flow in the Heacham River • The designation of the King William IV 
Inn and the Old Station as “non-designated heritage assets” • The designation of the King 
William IV Inn as an asset of community value • The provision of a regular bus service to 
serve the village • The designation of Fring Road as a Green Lane • Investigate the potential 
to deliver superfast broadband to all households • The continued monitoring of traffic volume 
and speed and exploration of measures to improve these • The problems associated with 
parking, especially around Cole Green • Investigate the need for future planning applications 
to be accompanied with planning obligations to provide or to contribute to off-site highway 
improvements or traffic calming measures where the need for such works directly arises 
from the development proposed 

 

129



South Wootton – 20.01.2023 (review; prev 2015) 
Policy S2 – The parish council will liaise with the Borough and County Councils to ensure 
that local infrastructure funding is applied to ensure that local facilities are developed in 
association with new residential growth in the Plan area. Funding will be directed to the 
following priorities: 

• A community centre with library 
• Community sports facilities with playing fields and changing facilities 
• The development of youth facilities and activities 
• Maintenance or development of community open spaces and woodland belts 
• Expansion of post office services 

Policy T1 – The development of additional footpaths and cycle routes more generally within 
the Plan area will be supported, particularly where they have the ability to integrate new 
residential developments into existing footpaths and cycle routes. 

 

Stoke Ferry – 29.08.2023 
The PC will work to retain and enhance routes identified.

 

 

Terrington St John – 12.10.2021 
Parish aspiration 3 – the PC will work with NCC & BCKLWN to achieve improvements to the 
roads passing through the village which will ensure that the increasing volume of traffic 
passing through the village as a result of development in the parish and the surrounding 
area is not harmful to the safety and living conditions of the residents 

 

Tilney All Saints – 27.07.2021 
Community Policy 1: CIL – The Neighbourhood Plan priorities for investing the 25% CIL 
money raised by the borough council and managed by the Parish Council will be used to 
meet agreed community needs such as new children’s playground at the Millennium Green 
and improved facilities at the Glebe Estate playing field; village hall improvements; 
maintenance of VH, MG, GE & allotments; walking & cycle network improvements within the 
parish 

130



 

Upwell – 27.07.2021 
Community Action 4: CIL – Funding from the CIL, whether that portion deployed by the 
Parish Councill or that deployed by the Borough Council, will where reasonable be spent on 
projects that either support and make more sustainable and acceptable the overall level of 
planned growth in the Parish, or that are otherwise identified community priorities. This will 
include, but is not limited to, the following: measures to improve pedestrian safety and 
access; improvements to community buildings such as village halls; improved car parking at 
Three Holes VH; new off-road routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders; improved 
children’s play areas; improved/wider footways within the village; improved bus waiting 
facilities; traffic calming/village gateways; appropriate tree planting that does not detract from 
the openness and character; the removal of features that detract from the village character; 
improved street lighting; schemes that support local distinctiveness; and cycle parking 
facilities. 

 

Walpole Cross Keys – 05.10.2017 
Community aspirations – footpaths clear & open; dykes maintained properly and managing 
local flood risk including schemes to address surface water drainage; maintenance of 
gardens and sign; maintain and increase bus shelter capacity. 

 

Watlington – 13.12.2023  
Community action 1 – where the opportunity arises the PC will work with external agencies, 
including the Highway Authority and future developers, to address parking issues around the 
station. 

Community action 2 – the PC will work with the local community to encourage action to 
enhance habitat and wildlife in public areas, people’s gardens and at the rail station. This 
may include activities to encourage insect friendly planting, use of bird feeders, bird and bat 
boxes, making the most of compost and encouraging wild patches. In public areas actions 
will be investigated including less frequent mowing, pond maintenance and planting trees. In 
relation to this, priority will be to work with local landowners to improve habitat for wildlife 
within the Green Corridors. 

Community action 3 – the PC will work proactively with riparian owners, landowners, and 
statutory agencies, such as the LLFA, to ensure that watercourses are properly maintained 
with a view to ensuring that they continue to play their role in the management of water and 
flood risk. 

Community action 4 – the PC will work with NCC as the Highway Authority, as well as other 
agencies, to introduce the following measures that seek to reduce traffic speeds through the 
village: village gateway schemes to alert drivers to speed limit changes and the village 
environment; and a community speed watch initiative. 

 

West Winch & North Runcton – 05.10.2017 
GA03 – For the purpose of the West Winch Growth Area, infrastructure will be delivered in 
line with an Infrastructure Delivery Plan adopted by the Borough Council to which all major 

131



development proposals will be required to adhere to by planning condition and/or section 
106 legal agreement – including relief road. 

In order to mitigate impact on WWGA, developers will be expected to contribute as follows: 
delivery of new primary school; improvements to existing KL library or new library; fire 
service facilities; community meeting space; healthcare provision; transport infrastructure 
improvements; improvement of local bus services; green infrastructure; additional open 
space & play provision; affordable housing; commuted sums to assist in upgrading existing 
community facilities. 

 

132



PAS 
Developer 
Contributions
Start with the spend in mind

An introduction to PAS’ CIL and 
S106 Fact Sheets for leadership 
teams and officers responsible 
for developer contributions 

February 2020 133



Introduction to PAS’  
CIL & S106 Fact Sheets

2PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Developer contributions is a collective term mainly used to refer to the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and planning obligations (commonly 
referred to as ‘Section 106’ or ‘S106’ obligations after Section 106 of the  
Planning Act). These are planning tools that can be used to secure financial  
and non-financial contributions (including affordable housing), or other works,  
to provide infrastructure to support development and mitigate the impact  
of development. Developer contributions might also relate to highways works 
secured under Section 278 of the Highways Act. 

This Planning Advisory Service (PAS) advice is aimed at local authority leadership 
teams with responsibility for CIL and planning obligations (S106) and officers involved 
in the design and implementation of CIL and S106 policies and processes. It has been 
developed in response to changes in legislation and Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) on how CIL and S106 can be used and how they must be reported on. It is also 
published against a backdrop of growing challenge from the development industry,  
as well as growing media scrutiny, of the real or perceived lack of spending of 
developer contributions by local authorities. 

If your Council collects money – or secures the delivery of in-kind works –  
through developer contributions, it is the job of the local authority leadership 
team to ensure that the policy requirements are justified, that contributions are 
spent lawfully and effectively and that these are reported on transparently. You 
need to ensure that you have the systems and resources in place to do this and  
to continuously review and improve these to ensure that they are fit for purpose.

This advice takes the form of a series of fact sheets which draw on examples of 
good practice from local authorities in England, lessons from relevant case law and 
insights from research. It is also informed by the PAS developer contributions project 
that was undertaken with authorities in Hertfordshire in 2019 – distilling some of the 
learning points from that programme as well as the experience of the project team’s 
work across the country. 

CIL and S106 is relevant to your leadership team

Developer contributions are normally a key component of any authority’s approach 
to developing and delivering an infrastructure strategy for their area. Effective 
infrastructure planning, prioritisation and governance of spend are critical to 
supporting the delivery of sustainable development and growth. Local authorities 
have a fundamental role in leading the coordination and delivery of infrastructure 
that will support their areas, and the activities that are required to do this permeate 
and interrelate throughout the planning system as illustrated on below in figure 1. 

Leadership teams need to focus on infrastructure delivery to ensure that their 
authorities are supporting sustainable development and are meeting a number of key 
collaborative outputs that the government expects planning authorities to deliver. 
The advice in the following sections ‘zoom in’ to the legal policy and practical issues 
associated with developer contribution systems, but this advice should be read and 
understood in this wider context of infrastructure planning, governance and delivery.

134



A CORPORATE 
APPROACH 

TO DELIVERY

STRATEGIC 
PLANNING

LOCAL 
PLAN

STATEMENT 
OF COMMON 

GROUND
EFFECTIVE 

AND EFFICIENT 
DECISION 
MAKING

HOUSING 
DELIVERY AND 

HDT/HDTAP

DELIVERY, 
MONITORING 
AND REVIEW

INFRA-
STRUCTURE 

FUNDING 
STATEMENT

3PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

FIGURE 1:

Infrastructure planning – 
the glue in the delivery 
framework

INFRASTRUCTURE, 
STRATEGY,  

GOVERNANCE & 
PRIORITISATION

A CORPORATE APPROACH  
TO DELVERY

	. �Develop an infrastructure business  
plan that is updated annually and  
reflects planned development growth

	. �Reflects corporate priorities  
(beyond CIL & S106)

	. Focuses on delivery  

EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT  
DECISION MAKING

	. �Transparency over priorities through 
strategy, business planning and local  
plan policies makes expectations of 
development clear 

	. �Reduces pressure on use of viability 
assessments where requirements  
are clear

INFRASTRUCTURE  
FUNDING STATEMENT

	. �Transparency over receipts and 
projected spend of CIL and S106

	. �Wider use of tool for engagement  
with key stakeholders and promotion 
of delivery

	. �Opportunity to promote delivery of 
infrastructure and delivery beyond  
S106 and CIL

DELIVERY, MONITORING  
AND REVIEW

	. �Clear governance and business  
plan process enables delivery  
of prioritised infrastructure to 
support development

	. �Enables wider conversations on 
funding and match funding

	. �Review of delivery and monitoring 
of policies and obligations ensures 
requirements are deliverable or  
triggers a need for local plan review

HOUSING DELIVERY  
AND HDT/HDTAP

	. �Commitment to delivery of 
infrastructure priorities informs  
site allocations and HDT/HDTAP and 
enables development to come forward

STRATEGIC PLANNING

	. �Informs strategic infrastructure 
priorities and discussions with 
neighbours 

	. �Reflects wider growth and  
development aspirations

	. �Collaborative working across 
administrative boundaries

STATEMENT OF  
COMMON GROUND

	. �Informs discussions with key 
stakeholders and evidence of 
collaboration for statement of  
common ground and duty to 
cooperate

	. Provides focus for delivery

LOCAL PLAN

	. �Evidence on infrastructure 
requirements and priorities help 
determine local plan policies  
(S106 & CIL)

	. �Tested for soundness and viability 
against development aspirations

	. �Stakeholder engagement in 
development of policies

	. �Sets framework for negotiations  
on development

135



4PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Using PAS CIL and S106 Fact Sheets 

Each fact sheet contains information and advice on how to develop or improve your 
approach to developer contributions and the service that you provide. Key questions 
that can help you and the rest of the leadership team to assess and ‘health check’ 
your CIL and S106 systems are included. Reading all of the fact sheets will give you an 
overview of CIL and S106 alternatively skip straight to the topic you are interested in.

	. CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 1:	 Securing developer contributions – the basics 	

	. CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 2:	 Spending developer contributions – the basics	

	. �CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 3:	� Collating evidence on impact, infrastructure  
need and viability	

	. �CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 4:	� Choosing CIL and/or S106 and setting out  
policy requirements	

	. CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 5:	 Strategy and governance for developer contributions

	. �CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 6:	� Processes that enable effective and efficient  
spend of developer contributions	

	. CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 7:	 Requirements for Infrastructure Funding Statements

	. CIL & S106 Fact Sheet 8:	� Administering and Monitoring developer 
contributions	

CIL legislation has been subject to multiple amendments since 2010 – new case law 
and innovations in practice mean that things will continue to change and evolve –  
so PAS will aim to keep this advice up to date.

Other Sources of advice and support

The Government has produced Planning Practice Guidance on developer 
contributions. This includes links to relevant legislation and is an essential starting 
point for developing local policies and designing administrative and monitoring 
processes for developer contributions. 

The PAS website includes further details on CIL and S106 and support available  
to local authorities and other advice to supplement the matters covered in this 
guidance. There is also an active PAS KHub online discussion forum which many 
practitioners have used over the last few years to ask questions of colleagues  
about specific cases and new policies. 

There are also a number of groups and networks across the country of officers 
involved in developer contributions – and in particular monitoring. Contact the  
PAS team if you would like to be put in touch with one of these groups or would  
like support to set one up in your area. 

136

https://local.gov.uk/pas
https://khub.net/web/planningadvisoryservicepas/welcome-group?p_p_state=normal&p_p_mode=view&refererPlid=47383402&saveLastPath=false&_com_liferay_login_web_portlet_LoginPortlet_mvcRenderCommandName=%2Flogin%2Flogin&p_p_id=com_liferay_login_web_portlet_LoginPortlet&p_p_lifecycle=0&_com_liferay_login_web_portlet_LoginPortlet_redirect=%2Fgroup%2Fplanningadvisoryservicepas


Planning applications must be determined in accordance 
with the development plan (that is the ‘local plan’ 
document(s) and, if relevant, spatial development strategy), 
unless ‘material considerations’ indicate otherwise. 
S106 obligations are negotiated between the council 
and developer to mitigate the impact of a development 
or to secure local plan policy requirements as part of 
the development. They are ‘secured’ through planning 
agreements entered into under section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 by a person with an interest 
in the land and the local planning authority; or through a 
unilateral undertaking entered into by a person with an 
interest in the land but without the local planning authority. 

S106 obligations can include:  

	. �Requirements for parts of a development to be used  
in certain ways, for example for affordable housing;

	. �Requirements for certain works to be undertaken or for 
other requirements and/or restrictions on the form of  
the development, for example requiring the development  
to be car free; 

	. �Financial contributions to address the impacts of 
development – usually limited to those cases where it is 
not feasible to meet policy requirements on site and/or  
to mitigate specific development impacts, for example  
the carbon emissions from development.

S106 can only be used where the legal tests set out in the 
CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) are met. That is that the 
obligations must be: 

a	 �necessary to make the development acceptable  
in planning terms; 

b	 directly related to the development; and 

c	 �fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind  
to the development.

Since 2010, authorities in England and Wales have also been 
empowered to establish a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
to help pay for infrastructure, other than affordable housing, 
to support development. This charge on the development can 
operate alongside S106. Combined authorities with planning 
powers can charge a strategic infrastructure tariff in addition 
to a local CIL. The Mayor of London can also charge a CIL for 
strategic transport projects. 

Local planning authorities set, charge and administer CIL 
in line with CIL regulations. CIL is a fixed, non-negotiable, 
charge on most development of 100 square metres or more, 
or a new dwelling of any size. Payment becomes due from 
commencement of the development. Exemptions from CIL  
can be sought in respect of charitable development,  
affordable housing, self-build housing, residential annexes  
and residential extensions. 

1– Securing developer  
contributions – the basics

5PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

CIL and S106 are similar in that they 
are tools to address the impacts of 
development. But S106 is designed to 
mitigate the specific impacts of that 
individual development while CIL is a 
tool to deal with the cumulative impacts 
of development on infrastructure.  

CIL is specifically designed to enable 
the pooling of contributions from 
development. Attempting to make 
S106 operate like CIL by using tariff 
based approaches are unlawful if the 
obligation does not meet the tests  
for the use of S106. 

Does the leadership team 
(councillors and officers) 
understand when and how S106 and 
CIL may be applied to development? 

Does the leadership team 
(councillors and officers) 
understand that CIL is a tool  

to deal with cumulative impact 
and S106 for specific development 
impacts? 

Where relevant, are Parish  
Councils similarly informed? 

Mitigating 
development 
impact

Key Questions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 1:

137

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106


Any S106 financial contributions are payable at the time 
specified in the obligations contained within the S106 legal 
planning agreement or undertaking – this will usually (but 
not exclusively) be on commencement of development. S106 
payments can only be used for the specific purposes defined in 
the agreement or undertaking. The spend of S106 contributions 
is often time restricted by clauses in the legal agreement– 
monies which are no longer needed or unspent may need to be 
returned to the developer. In some cases there may be scope to 
vary the original agreement or undertaking but any variance 
must still meet the legal tests for the use of S106 which are: 

a	 �necessary to make the development acceptable  
in planning terms; 

b	 directly related to the development; and 

c	 �fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind  
to the development. 

Monitoring fees can be secured as part of a S106, but the 
amount secured must fairly and reasonably relate to the 
development and must be applied to monitoring costs.

CIL is only payable within 60 days of commencement – or as 
defined in the authority’s instalment policy. CIL is not subject  
to the same restrictions on spend as S106 but the legislation 
does set some parameters for the way in which it can be used. 
For most authorities the breakdown of how CIL receipts are 
ring-fenced and spent is as follows:

	. �75–85% of receipts on infrastructure projects –  
the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or 
maintenance of infrastructure to support the development 
of the area. The charging authority decides what these 
priorities are and when and where to spend CIL. This can 
be outside an authority area, providing it addresses the 
impacts of development within it;

	. �15% (capped at £100 plus indexation per dwelling) 
rising to 25% (uncapped) in areas with an adopted 
neighbourhood plan for spend within the neighbourhood 
within which the CIL was received. These receipts must be 
spent on projects that support development of the area 
but is not limited to infrastructure. In areas with parish 
councils or community councils these funds are passed 
to them. Outside of these areas the council should engage 
with communities on how the money should be spent.

	. �5% of CIL receipts in the first 3 years of operation 
and annually thereafter can be spent on the cost of 
administering CIL. These administration costs can include 
staff, software and, in the first three years of charging CIL, 
costs associated with setting the CIL Charge. In London, 
the Mayor is able to retain 1% of CIL receipts for the costs of 
administering the CIL, whereas the London Boroughs are 
able to retain 4% of the Mayoral CIL collected in their area 
for administration.

There are no time limits on the main CIL spend, however,  
there are time limits on the neighbourhood portion. 

2– Spending developer  
contributions – the basics

6PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

It is worth remembering that S106 
and CIL are designed to address 
individual or cumulative impacts of 
development – and must be used in 
line with the legal agreement and CIL 
regulations respectively. These developer 

contribution tools cannot be used 
to remedy existing deficiencies or 
demands from population growth 
driven by other factors such as birth 
rates - they are both only to be used to 
deal with the impact of development.

Does the leadership team 
(councillors and officers) 
understand how S106 and CIL 
funding must be used, including 
specific requirements related  
to the ‘neighbourhood portion’? 

Are Parish Councils and 
Neighbourhood Forum’s  
similarly informed? 

Do relevant officers, including your 
finance teams, understand the 
limitation on how any CIL or S106 
monitoring fees must be used?

Spend must link  
to development

Key Questions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 2:

138



In deciding your approach to CIL and S106, even if you  
decide not to charge CIL, don’t base this on assumptions 
about development impact, infrastructure need or viability. 
You must base it on evidence and draw on relevant 
data in your development area. CIL has been effectively 
implemented in parts of the country with variable or low 
viability and can be used in combination with S106. 

Identification of S106 requirements should be driven by  
the impact of specific development(s) and the need to deliver 
local plan policies. Requirements for developer contributions 
should be clearly identified in local plan documents,  
consulted on and tested for viability. Updates to government 
guidance in September 2019, as well as recent case law 
(McCarthy and Stone Retirement Lifestyles Ltd) v Greater 
London Authority [2018] EWHC 1202 (Admin) make clear that 
relying on supplementary planning documents, which are  
not subject to examination, for S106 policy requirements  
is unlikely to be sufficient. 

In order to establish a CIL charge, or revise your existing  
rates, you must prepare a ‘Charging Schedule’. Before the 
charge can take effect, a Charging Schedule must be subject 
to consultation and an independent examination to consider 
whether the charge is needed to meet infrastructure costs  
and viable for most developments to pay.

You need evidence demonstrating that a CIL is needed to 
fund infrastructure to support development – that is there 

is a funding gap which CIL is needed to fill. This means 
understanding current infrastructure needs, the funding 
available and priorities for delivery over the life of your local 
plan. This needs to cover infrastructure your authority or 
the County are delivering and may extend to sub-regional 
infrastructure. Engaging with infrastructure providers, 
neighbouring authorities and the County, or strategic  
planning authority, is essential. Any disconnect between  
LPA and infrastructure providers (including, in some cases, 
county authorities) needs to be overcome to ensure effective 
delivery – and this will only happen through continuous  
efforts at collaboration on both sides. 

CIL rates are based on viability evidence. Differential  
rates can be set based on the use (use in the wider sense, 
unconstrained by the Use Classes Order), scale and location  
of development. The examiner needs to be satisfied that the 
rates are set at a level that will not put the overall development 
of the area at risk. Engaging with the development industry 
in setting this charge and assessing viability is essential, 
especially on strategic sites that your plan’s delivery is 
dependent upon. There may be onsite requirements for 
infrastructure or particular costs to bring a site forward –  
and your approach to CIL and use of S106 on these sites  
needs to take account of these. Very simply, too high a CIL 
charge that does not properly account for S106 requirements 
and other costs will result in no development and zero CIL 
receipts – and failure to deliver the local plan. 

3– Collating evidence on impact, 
infrastructure need and viability 

7PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 3:

Are you clear on the viability 
of development in your area – 
development costs, values and 
trends which may affect these? 

Have you worked collaboratively
with developers, service providers, 
the County, the Greater London 

Authority or strategic planning 
authority in relation to identify  
these requirements?

Is it clear what developer contributions 
are required on strategic sites 
through CIL and/or S106?

Key Questions

RTPI research A Smarter Approach to 
Infrastructure Planning highlights the central 
role that planning plays in coordinating  
the delivery of infrastructure. It notes 
the clear challenges both for planners 
in managing these processes, and for 
infrastructure providers in engaging with 

planning frameworks. The research 
highlights the need for a more  
joined-up approach that proactively 
addresses the infrastructure needs  
to avoid adverse impacts on 
economic competitiveness and the 
delivery of sustainable places. 

A Smarter 
Approach to 
Infrastructure 
Planning

139



The decision on whether or not to adopt a CIL alongside  
any use of S106 is a genuine choice for local authorities.  
It should be informed by the infrastructure needed to support 
your local plan, patterns of development and the viability 
context you are operating in – and supported by evidence and 
not assumptions. CIL charges must be set out in a Charging 
Schedule by law and the NPPF and national planning practice 
guidance make clear S106 requirements should be set out 
in a development plan document. This means authorities 
should look to include any S106 requirements where they 
apply in policies as part of local plans updates. The rationale 
is to ensure S106 and CIL is justified by evidence on viability 
– ensuring development is deliverable – and informed by 
clear evidence on need. The Charging Schedule and local plan 
process ensure that this evidence is subject to consultation 
and testing through an independent examination and that 
these policy requirements are clearly set out. 

The CIL Amendment Regulations (2) (2019) more explicitly allow 
for S106 to be used in parallel with CIL to fund infrastructure. 
This does not mean that authorities should revert to the 
pre-CIL practice of using S106 tariffs for infrastructure. CIL is 
the principal tool designed to deal with cumulative impacts 

of development on infrastructure. S106 obligations must still 
meet the legal tests for their use and there are also a number  
of practical advantages to CIL which is:

	. �non-negotiable providing greater certainty for developers 
on requirements and predictability on likely levels of 
receipts for local authorities

	. �captures contributions from the smaller scales of 
development addressing their cumulative impact  
over time; and

	. �has less limitations on how it can be spent reducing  
the risk of it being no longer needed for the project by  
the time funds are received which can happen with S106. 

Your authority’s use of CIL or S106 needs to respond to this 
legal context and be focused on how best to deliver your 
infrastructure priorities. For some authorities this might mean 
a single CIL rate with S106 restricted on large sites; or a higher 
CIL rate; or S106 only on larger sites. This needs to be developed 
in consultation with developers, tested for viability and the 
eventual requirement clearly communicated in the Local Plan 
and CIL Charging Schedule.

4– Choosing CIL and/or S106 and  
setting out policy requirements 

8PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Recent case law has sharpened the 
focus on the legal tests for the use of 
S106. including Aberdeen City and Shire 
Strategic Development Planning Authority 
v Elsick Development Co Ltd [2017]. 
In this case the authority introduced 
Supplementary Guidance requiring 
contributions to a pooled fund. But the 
developer objected to being required to 
make contributions to the fund given  
the trivial impact its development would 
have in respect of the need for some  

of the proposed interventions.  
The judgement, relevant across the 
UK, found that the contribution must 
be connected to the development 
proposed in more than a trivial sense. 
It concluded that, without a statutory 
basis such as is provided for by 
the CIL regime in England, pooled 
contributions of the type sought were 
unlawful. While they interact and have 
features in common, S106 is not CIL 
and CIL is not S106 – the law is clear.

Is your approach to choosing to 
adopt CIL (or not) evidence rather 
than assumption led? 

Is the approach informed by both 
legal and practical considerations 
(and advantages of CIL or S106 
in different contexts) which can 
impact delivery? 

The charge setting dimension of 
CIL and S106 is intrinsically linked 
with the local plan in so far as it 
relates to infrastructure planning 
and deliverability, are your planning 
policy officers leading or centrally 
involved in developing a CIL? 

CASE STUDY 

Aberdeen City

Key Questions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 4:

140

https://cornerstonebarristers.com/cmsAdmin/uploads/uksc-2016-0157-judgment.pdf
https://cornerstonebarristers.com/cmsAdmin/uploads/uksc-2016-0157-judgment.pdf
https://cornerstonebarristers.com/cmsAdmin/uploads/uksc-2016-0157-judgment.pdf


The absence of leadership is the biggest predictor of an 
absence of effective spend. Developer contributions need 
to deliver infrastructure or other mitigation measures that 
support development. There is a statutory responsibility 
to make sure this happen, and legal and reputational risk 
where it does not. 

The CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) require local authorities 
to publish annual Infrastructure Funding Statements by  
31 December 2020 which must set out the projects intended 
to be funded by CIL over the next five years – and guidance 
suggests this should extend to S106 too. Authorities are required 
to report the sums of developer contributions secured, allocated 
to projects and spent (not just transferred within or across 
organisations). The first challenge is getting the data ready to 
report and it is recommended that you can accurately project 
and model likely receipts based on reasonable assumptions on 
future development patterns. The second is that the authorities 
should plan in advance how they will spend these estimated 
sums upfront – rather than decide once received. Monitoring – 
and good data – is a precursor to defining your strategy. 

Your strategy starting point should be how to support 
development and address its impacts informed by your 
infrastructure planning evidence. This might mean channeling 
all funds into a specific project, such as a transport scheme,  
a type of infrastructure, such as schools, or particular location. 
It might also mean funding different types of projects across 
your whole area. The decision making structure you then chose 
will decide on these allocations and should reflect this strategy. 
If funding a single project, it may be sufficient to incorporate 
this into an existing capital programme budget processes. 
Other spend strategies may require new or expanded remits 
for governance groups or councillors and/or officers and 
potentially other external stakeholders. But any governance 
arrangements must ensure lawful spend of CIL and/or S106. 

Being able to articulate the strategy is essential to ensure it is 
understood across the Council, by developers and communities. 
This is particularly important in the context of challenges or 
Freedom of Information (FOI) requests on spend, ‘saving’ or 
pooling of CIL. Matching this strategy with transparent decision 
making processes and structures that serve that strategy is  
the best way to ensure developer contributions get spent. 

9PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Collaborative approaches to both 
identifying projects and spend on 
infrastructure has been pursued by 
authorities with ambitious growth 
agendas. In December 2013, Broadland, 
Norwich City, Norfolk County, South 
Norfolk councils and the New Anglia 
LEP signeda City Deal with central 
government. A central theme of this was 
to support infrastructure delivery to 
accelerate planned growth and this is now 
collaboratively managed by the Greater 

Norwich Growth Board (GNGB).  
Their infrastructure planning process 
programme and the allocation and 
pooling of contributions to projects 
across the area to deliver major 
transport improvements. It also 
led the board to determine that the 
best approach for their area was 
to establish a fixed sum towards 
education, to provide certainty 
for delivery (see: Greater Norwich 
infrastructure plan approach). 

Are you confident your strategy  
for spending supports development 
of the area in the case of CIL and, 
where it relates to S106, the terms of 
specific agreements or undertaking? 

Have you worked collaboratively with 
infrastructure service providers to 
develop an effective spend strategy? 

Have you invested in the monitoring 
systems and staff necessary to 
meet new statutory reporting 
requirements? 

Are you using the insights and 
experience of your monitoring 
officers to inform your strategy  
for spending CIL and S106?

Strategic Leadership 
and Cross Boundary 
Collaboration

Key Questions

5– Strategy and governance  
for developer contributions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 5:

141

https://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/greater-norwich-infrastructure-plan/


The processes you adopt will be shaped by your strategy 
for spend and determined through the decision-making 
structures you put in place. There need to be clear and 
transparent processes that ensure timely and effective 
spend that comply with the legislation on the use of 
developer contributions. Failure to have clear processes 
that take you from strategy to allocation and spend on a 
project is, along with failure to identify priorities, a major 
cause of unspent developer contributions. It is important 
to document in a process guide how and when funds will be 
allocated, and who will be involved in recommending spend 
to the appointed decision makers. This involves both the 
identification of future spend over 5 years in your annual 
Infrastructure Funding statement and the allocation to 
projects once money is received. 

CIL must be spent on infrastructure or projects that support 
development and S106 is applied to mitigate the impacts of 
development and make it acceptable in planning terms. For CIL 
this relates to the overall development envisaged in the local 
plan, and for S106 the individual development from which the 
S106 contributions arises and as defined in the legal agreement. 
Infrastructure planning documents developed in support of 
local plans or CIL schedules should help with identifying and 

prioritising projects. Processes for CIL allocation might  
also consider: 

	. �The ability to leverage other funding as other funding 
streams play an important or even critical role in delivery 
as CIL receipts are likely to fund only a small element of the 
total necessary infrastructure project(s); 

	. �Any opportunities for joint/collaborative working in the 
context of strategic planning and pooling across authority 
areas to enable delivery of critical infrastructure – especially 
on county wide or cross boundary infrastructure costs;

	. �community engagement, especially in areas that are 
outside of a parish or community council, where there is a 
requirement to engage on priorities for neighbourhood CIL 
expenditure.

You also need to consider who needs to be around the table 
both within and beyond your authority, and when to support 
this process. Those involved need to understand the process 
and their roles and responsibilities. Again process guides, 
which can be supported by terms of reference for governance 
groups or memorandums of understanding with external 
stakeholders, can have a valuable role. 

6– Processes that enable effective 
and efficient spend of developer 
contributions 

PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Chichester District Council have a 
well-oiled process for identifying and 
allocating developer contributions. 
The Council produce an ‘Infrastructure 
Business Plan’ which is updated on 
an annual cycle through structured 
engagement with the County and 
Infrastructure providers. This is 
implemented by three officers who 
also have wider responsibility for 

CIL and S106 administration who 
adopt a proactive approach. The 
Chichester Infrastructure Business 
Plan prioritises the infrastructure 
needed to support growth identified 
in the Local Plan via a five year 
rolling programme for its delivery, 
together with possible funding broken 
down by source (see: Chichester 
Infrastructure Business Plan 2019).

Who identifies which projects are 
to be funded? For example, are 
these projects identified through 
a bidding process or identified in 
an infrastructure delivery plan? 
How do you ensure these projects 
support/mitigate the impact of 
development? 

How are external agencies involved, 
e.g. developers/infrastructure 

providers, and in the case of 
neighbourhood CIL, communities? 

When is funding allocated and do the 
relevant people know? For example, 
is it at specified times of the year or 
when the certain amount of funding 
is accrued? How do you record the 
delivery of projects (or return of 
funds to the CIL pot or developer  
in the case of S106)?

Establish effective 
and continuous 
processes for 
allocation 

Key Questions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 6:

10
142

https://www.chichester.gov.uk/article/29784/Infrastructure-Business-Plan-including-CIL-Spending-Plan
https://www.chichester.gov.uk/article/29784/Infrastructure-Business-Plan-including-CIL-Spending-Plan


Authorities must publish an Infrastructure Funding 
Statement (IFS) by the 31 December 2020 to cover the 
reporting year for 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 and annually 
thereafter. The objective of an IFS is to improve transparency 
of monitoring and reporting so that monies secured, 
received, allocated, spent and delivered can be followed 
through the system. The information responds to questions 
that are frequently asked of authorities through Freedom of 
Information requests and should be information that can 
be readily accessed. County councils which receives Section 
106 funds also have requirements to report on these. Further 
information about IFS can be found on the PAS website.

Schedule 2 of the CIL regulations 2010 (as amended) sets out 
what is required in an IFS by legislation and the Planning 
Practice Guidance sets out what the Government encourage 
authorities to include in the IFS. The initial stages of developing 
an IFS will involve identifying S106 receipts that are still being 
held by the Council but which were received before the 1st April 
2019. These receipts must be included in the IFS so authorities 
will need to work with other departments and county  
to ensure that all monies are accounted for.

The requirement to produce an IFS should ensure that 
monitoring practices across the country are improved going 
forward. MHCLG are working to develop a template for IFS; 
however, authorities will not be bound by this format and it  
is for the authority to decide how to present the information.  
A recurring story in the national media has related to unspent 
development contributions by local authorities – this also 
features in local press. Increased transparency of IFS means 
that data will potentially draw more scrutiny initially, but it also 
presents an opportunity to promote what has been delivered 
through development contributions and the positive benefits 
of development. PAS are encouraging authorities to consider 
the value of an IFS beyond finance reporting mechanism for 
numbers. You may want to work with your communication 
team on a strategy to tell the story of how developer 
contributions are being invested.

7– Requirements for Infrastructure 
Funding Statements 

11PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Cornwall have created a new interactive S106 ‘story 
map’ on the council’s website. The story map gives 
information on:

	. �What S106 monies have been received in each 
Parish (and Community Network Area);

	. �The planning application it relates to; and

	. �How much S106 money has been spent in the area

Most importantly, the story map allows residents 
to zoom into their local area to see for themselves 
where and how communities have benefitted from 
improvements, funded by developer contributions.  
The projects range from play parks to affordable 
housing for local people.

In what state is your historic data 
on S106 agreements and CIL cases – 
including allocations, receipts and 
expenditure of funds – which you 
are now required to report on?

What are the main challenges that 
you envisage in preparing your first 

IFS? How will you overcome these? 
Who will be responsible for collating 
IFS and do they have the skills and 
resources they need?

Do you currently use your reporting 
to promote the benefits of 
development? If not, why not?

Key Questions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 7:

Promote and publicise 
delivery funded by 
developer contributions

143

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/council-news-room/media-releases/news-from-2019/news-from-november-2019/residents-can-see-where-money-is-spent-on-community-projects-on-new-story-map/
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/council-news-room/media-releases/news-from-2019/news-from-november-2019/residents-can-see-where-money-is-spent-on-community-projects-on-new-story-map/


CIL and S106 administration and monitoring is essential.  
The new requirements for an Infrastructure Funding Statement 
– and legal requirements for reporting on CIL and S106 – 
mean monitoring is an even more important dimension of 
developer contributions. CIL and S106 administration and 
monitoring needs to be recognised for its contribution to 
enabling infrastructure and resourced appropriately. Costs 
can be met by CIL and S106 monitoring/administration fees. 

CIL administration involves following a structured and nationally 
defined process for the charging which involves calculating CIL, 
issuing a liability notice with the potential payment and a demand 
notice with the actual payment required on commencement and 
administering any claims for relief. The two charging notices 
(liability and demand) and any relief granted are registered as a 
land charge. The S106 process is different as it involves recording 
the details of the legal agreement (also registered as a land 
charge) and monitoring the implementation of each obligation to 
ensure it is complied with. For non-financial S106 requirements 
this can mean making sure it is complied with beyond 
completion and potentially even for the life of the development. 

Whether there are CIL and S106 monitoring officers and/or 
elements are taken up by development management planners, 
technical support staff or whether it sits in the policy team or 
even in planning at all is the job of the leadership to determine. 
Many aspects are financial and legal, but it is all about new 
development and addressing its impacts, which is why it 

most often sits in the planning service which then needs to 
work closely with legal and finance teams (as well as other 
departments). It is vital an officer is tasked with oversight 
of the monitoring aspects of the system. This also provides 
opportunities for identifying system improvements. For 
example, opportunities to link up data within planning.  
This could include linking development commencement  
data from CIL with discharge of pre-commencement  
conditions and building control data to support monitoring. 

Busier authorities may need to consider appointing dedicated 
monitoring officers. They should recruit methodical and 
numerate staff with the confidence to deal with complex 
enquiries and challenging customers (they are often asking 
people for money!). An interest in planning and understanding 
of development management is essential, as well as the ability 
to navigate legislation and interpret legal agreements, it is not 
just a role for planners or lawyers. 

It can be a stretching role and it can feel isolated if you are 
the only monitoring officer. To aid retention, create a sense of 
‘team’ around that officer and network with other monitoring 
officers beyond the authority. While staff are key to the quality 
of your service, you also need to build resilience and avoid 
relying on systems only one or two officers can understand  
or operate. Document the monitoring process, including how 
you record and report, to ensure service continuity and  
provide a baseline for continuous improvement. 

8– Administering and Monitoring 
developer contributions

12PAS Developer Contributions: Start with the spend in mind / February 2020

Most authorities will need to use 
software packages that help officers 
stay on top of monitoring. You should 
consider how this software is integrated 
with any existing planning applications 
database, finance systems and any 
other relevant databases. The Digital 

Land team at MHCLG is working with a 
number of authorities on digital tools 
that support Infrastructure Funding 
Statements. For updates on this pilot 
work please visit the Digital Land 
website and MHCLG’s website. 

Who is responsible for managing 
and improving the S106 and CIL 
admin and monitoring function?

Who has day to day responsibility 
for S106 and CIL? Do they have the 
skills and support to deliver this 
service and any improvements 
needed to meet new requirements?

Who has access, understanding 
and the ability to maintain these 
systems and records?

Do you need new software to enable 
you to report more easily? Have the 
costs of software set up, including 
any data entry/ cleansing required, 
been properly considered?

Digital 
solutions

Key Questions

CIL & S106 FACT SHEET 8:

144

https://digital-land.github.io/project/developer-contributions/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/publish-your-developer-contributions-data


�Planning Advisory Service 
Local Government Association
Local Government House
Smith Square
London
SW1P 3HZ 

Email: pas@local.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 7664 3000

Design: Claire Warner Studio

This advice has been developed  
for the Planning Advisory Service  
by CITIESMODE PLANNING 

Acknowledgments:

	. MHCLG

	. PAS 

	. Gilian Macinnes Associates 

	. �Hertfordshire County Council  
and officers from Hertfordshire 
Districts that participated  
in the PAS pilot study

	. London Borough of Brent

145

mailto:pas%40local.gov.uk?subject=


 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 

Open/Exempt 
 

Would any decisions proposed: 
 
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  NO 
 
Need to be recommendations to Council      YES 
 

Is it a Key Decision    NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 
N/A 

 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr. Simon Ring 
E-mail: simon.ring@west-norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Cllr. Simon Ring 

Other Members consulted: Environment & Community 
Panel. 

Lead Officer: Richard Allan   
E-mail: Richard.allan@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
Direct Dial:07710760852 

Other Officers consulted: Corporate Leadership Team. 
Tommy Goode, Siobhan Cleeve. 

Financial 
Implications  
 
NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
Yes – Town 
Plan 
implications 
 

Statutory 
Implications   
 
NO 
 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 
YES/NO 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
 
NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
 
NO 

 

Date of meeting: Cabinet 23 September 2025 
    
 
TITLE: PLAYING PITCH AND SPORTS FACILITIES STRATEGY ADOPTION 
 
Summary  
 
Local Authorities must adopt a Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) and Sports Facilities 
Strategy (SFS) based upon Sport England models to access funding towards capital 
developments and ensure ongoing support from Sport England.  The strategies look 
at demand through to 2040 in line with the Local Plan with population and housing 
developments, quality of facilities, accessibility, inclusivity and take account of West 
Norfolk’s natural uniqueness and environmental features. 
 
PPS and SFS should be renewed every 3 years and adoption of these strategies by 
King’s Lynn and West Norfolk would enable access to Sport England capital funding 
for facility developments.   
 
The PPS identifies a need to protect existing facilities, gain community access 
agreements for school facilities, and attract developer contributions for facility 
developments.  Key projects include: 

 Development of additional 3G pitches 

 Development of Padel courts,  

 Development of non-turf cricket pitches  

 Feasibility of netball specific facilities. 
 

                               
The SFS looks at population projections based on ONS and housing development 
targets which could lead to a population increase of 16% by 2040.  Based on this, any 
future decisions of BCKLWN and any alternative authority set up, would be based on 

146

Agenda Item 12



the data contained within the strategies and Sport England/National governing body 
frameworks.   
 

Implementing AND USING the Strategy 

 We should look to adopt a policy of protecting existing facilities unless it 
can be proven that there is sufficient spare capacity to accommodate any 
displaced demand at other existing facilities in the borough or the facilities 
are replaced with new facilities. 

 Work with clubs, landowners, parish councils, national governing bodies 
of sport, the private sector and other organisations to bring this strategy to 
fruition. 

 The Strategies can be used to support: 
 Sports development planning 
 Planning Policy review 
 Planning applications reviews 
 CIL application priorities 
 Funding bids 
 Facility and asset management 
 Public health and tackling health inequalities 
 Coordinating resources and investment 
 Capital programmes 

 

Recommendation 
 
Recommendations to Full Council: 
 
That Council agree to adopt the playing pitch and sports facilities strategies. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To ensure that any decisions around the provision of sport and leisure facilities within 
the borough are in line with the overall strategy. 

 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Ploszajski Lynch Consulting LTD (PLC) consultants were originally commissioned to 
produce a Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) and Sports Facilities Strategy (SFS) which concluded 
in 2023.   

 
1.2 With the current work being undertaken for the leisure investment plan and the need 
to finance any future projects we commissioned PLC to undertake a “Stage E” refresh of the 
strategies and bring them up to date.  The strategies will now have a 3-year life span before 
they must be updated again. 

 
1.3 The strategy reviews have included analysis of demand based on Sport England 
models, use of Sport England Facility Planning Models for Sports Halls and Swimming Pools 
and consultation with a range of National Governing Bodies, Active Partnership, Sport England 
and a range of consultants currently undertaking work for us. 
 
2 Options Considered 
 
2.1 The option to not adopt the policies would not be proposed at this time, as this limits 
both the financial and non-financial support that can be obtained through Sport England for 

147



the current Leisure Development and future joint working projects. There are a number of 
other benefits of strategy adoption including: Sports Development planning; planning policy 
review; CIL application priorities; funding bid support; facility and asset management priorities; 
tackling public health inequalities (Marmot Place work), and coordination of future capital and 
revenue spend.  
 
 
3 Policy Implications 
 
3.1  The strategies have been produced in line with the objectives/policies of the currently 
adopted Local Plan to 2040. They will also form part of the preparation of the evidence base 
for a new Local Plan in the future.  
 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 The adoption of policies would allow BCKLWN to apply for funding through Sport 
England, which could reduce the capital cost of current and future capital projects. 
 
4.2 There are no direct costs associated with the adoption of the strategies, although future 
provision, capital developments, and revenue spend would be shaped by the contents of the 
strategies. 
 
5 Personnel Implications 
 
5.1 There will be no direct personnel implications from the adoption of the policy.  
 
6 Environmental Considerations 
 
6.1  Any future developments based on recommendations from the strategies will be in line 
with BCKLWN and Sport England Environmental policies to ensure best practice is achieved. 
 
7 Statutory Considerations 
 
7.1 There are no statutory considerations.  
 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
8.1 Pre-screening report completed and attached  
 
9 Risk Management Implications 
 
9.1 There are no risk Management Implications from direct adoption of the policy. however, 
failure to adopt the policy could affect future funding streams from Sport England. 

  
10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
10.1 None 
 
 
11 Background Papers 
 
 11.1 – Sports facilities Strategy document 
 11.2 – Playing Pitch Strategy document 
 
  

148



Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  
For equalities profile information please visit Norfolk Insight - Demographics and Statistics - Data Observatory 

Name of policy/service/function Playing Pitch Strategy and Sports facilities Strategy 

Is this a new or existing policy/ 
service/function? (tick as appropriate) 

New   Existing  

Brief summary/description of the main aims 
of the policy/service/function being screened. 

 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations, and 
identify relevant legislation. 

Playing Pitch and Sports Facilities strategies.  

The adoption of the policies by BCKLWN will allow more 
opportunities to achieve external funding from Sport 
England, along with shaping the strategic priorities for 
Leisure and Sports Provision within the Borough. 

Who has been consulted as part of the 
development of the policy/service/function? – 
new only (identify stakeholders consulted with) 

Corporate Leadership Team, Tommy Goode, Siobhan 
Cleeve. 

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a specific 
impact on people from one or more of the 
following groups, for example, because they 
have particular needs, experiences, issues 
or priorities or in terms of ability to access 
the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 
impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are identified, 
then a full Equality Impact Assessment 
(Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

 

*For more information on health inequalities 
please visit The King's Fund 

 

 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a

ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u
re

 

Age   
 

 

Disability   
 

 

Sex   
 

 

Gender Re-assignment   
 

 

Marriage/civil partnership   
 

 

Pregnancy & maternity   
 

 

Race   
 

 

Religion or belief   
 

 

Sexual orientation   
 

 

Armed forces community   
 

 

Care leavers   
 

 

Health inequalities*   
 

 

Other (eg low income, caring 
responsibilities) 

  
 

 

Please provide a brief explanation of the answers above: the strategies to be adopted look at the 
provision of playing pitches and sports facilities and doesn’t go into detail on the layout, functionality, or 

149

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell


use of the facilities. Any impacts would be derived from these factors rather than the adoption of the 
policies. 
 
 
 
 
 

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 
affect relations between certain equality 
communities or to damage relations between 
the equality communities and the Council, for 
example because it is seen as favouring a 
particular community or denying 
opportunities to another? 

No  

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as 
impacting on communities differently? 

No  

4. Are any impacts identified above minor 
and if so, can these be eliminated or reduced 
by minor actions? 
If yes, please agree actions with a member 
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group 
and list agreed actions in the comments 
section 

Yes / No Actions: 
 
 
 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 
………………………………………. 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 
 
 
 
Decision agreed by EWG member: ………………………………………………….. 

5. Is the policy/service specifically designed 
to tackle evidence of disadvantage or 
potential discrimination? 

No Please provide brief summary: 

Assessment completed by: 
Name  

 
Richard Allan 

Job title  Assistant Director – Leisure & Culture 

150



 

☐ Please tick to confirm completed EIA Pre-screening Form has been shared with Corporate Policy 

(corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk) 
 

Date completed  31st July 2025 

Reviewed by EWG member  Date  

151

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
 

Ploszajski Lynch 
 Consulting Ltd. 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

Borough Council 
 

Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports 
Facilities Strategy 

First Update 
 

June 2025  

 

 
 

152



 

                              

 
     CONTENTS 
 

1   INTRODUCTION       1 

     

2   ASSESSING NEEDS      5 

 

3   THE LOCAL CONTEXT      13 

 

4   STRATEGIC INFLUENCES     21 

 

5   FOOTBALL PITCH NEEDS     36 

 

6   CRICKET PITCH NEEDS      93 

 

7   RUGBY PITCH NEEDS      120 

 

8   HOCKEY PITCH NEEDS      136 

 

9   TENNIS COURT NEEDS      151  

 

10   BOWLS GREEN NEEDS      171 

 

11   NETBALL COURT NEEDS     187 

  

12  ATHLETICS TRACK NEEDS     198 

 

13  WATERSPORTS NEEDS      211 

 

14  MULTI-USE GAMES AREA NEEDS    225 

 

15  FOOTPATHS AND CYCLE PATHS NEEDS   235 

 

16  APPLYING AND REVIEWING THE STRATEGY  247

153



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 1 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 Introduction 
 
In 2022, Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council (KL&WNBC) appointed Ploszajski 
Lynch Consulting Ltd. (PLC) to update the Sports Facilities and Playing Pitch Strategies for the 
Borough. The study covers: 
 

• Indoor sports and active recreation facilities. 

 

• Playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities. 

 

• Informal/casual outdoor active recreational opportunities.  

 
This document comprises the first review of the assessment of playing pitches and outdoor 
sports facilities needs. 

 
1.2 The rationale for the strategy 
 

1.2.1 Purpose 
 
The Council produced a Sports Facilities Strategy since 2011 and a Playing Pitch and Outdoor 
Facilities Strategy in 2023. Following Sport England guidance on the need for regular reviews, it 
therefore now requires an update of both documents to help shape the future of leisure provision 
for West Norfolk. The future need assessments have been extended from 2036 in the original 
strategy, to 2040, to conform with the new Local Plan period. 
 

1.2.2 Benefits 
 
The benefits of the study are as follows: 
 

• The case for facilities developments: The Council has a number of sports projects at 
concept stage and the need and demand for these will be determined by the results of this 
strategy. 
 

• The Local Plan: The Local Plan/ Neighbourhood Plans: The strategy documents will 
form part of the evidence base for the Local Plan review and/or emerging Neighbourhood 
Plans, which will enable the Borough Council and Town/Parish Councils to: 
 
- Include evidence-based policies on the provision and retention of sports facilities in 

the Borough. 
 

- Identify the additional sports facilities needs arising from new development. 
 

- Compile a charging schedule for developer contributions to fund additional facilities 
provision. 

 

154



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 2 

• Health and wellbeing: Facilities needs will be related to local health and wellbeing 
priorities and the delivery of sport and physical activity programmes. 
 

• Stakeholder engagement: Sports facilities and pitch provision is a ‘mixed economy’ 
involving the public sector (KL&WNBC, schools and town/parish councils), the voluntary 
sector (sports clubs and associations) and the commercial sector (fitness gyms). The 
strategy compilation process (which is covered in more detail below) involved engagement 
with all providers (and the umbrella organisations that represent them like Sport England, 
Active Norfolk and the governing bodies of sport), so has identified who is best placed to 
deliver the established needs. 
 

• External funding bids: All bids for external funding for sports facilities and pitch 
provision will involve demonstrating the strategic priority of the proposed developments, 
so the strategy documents will provide the basis for this. 

 

• Tourism and the visitor economy: The visitor economy in West Norfolk is estimated to 
be worth around £496 million to the wider economy. Around 482,000 staying visitors 
spend an estimated £111 million per annum. Around 7.8 million day visitors spend around 
£259 million. The visitor economy supports around 17% of jobs in the economy. Sports 
facilities such as the Oasis Pool in Hunstanton and some coastal water sports provision 
make a significant contribution to the tourism offer and the study will address these needs 
in addition to those of the resident population. 

 

1.3 The study brief 
 
The study brief states that the project should culminate with the production of an updated Sports 
Facilities and Playing Pitch Strategy for West Norfolk considering short, medium and long term 
requirements and accounting for the West Norfolk Local Plan which runs to 2040. The plan 
should also consider the geography of the borough and the rurality and population demographic. 
In doing so, the assessment considers the following questions:  
 

• What is the overall picture across West Norfolk in terms of the quantity of sports 
provision?  
 

• What is the overall picture across West Norfolk in terms of the quality, accessibility, and 
sustainability of sports provision? 

 

• What is the overall picture for West Norfolk in terms of disability sport and inclusive 
facilities, considering if demand for facilities is being met? 

 

• Which geographical areas have poor access to sports facilities? 

 

• How much informal and formal community use and security of community access is there 
to educational sites? 

 

• Are there facilities which complement the natural environment and features of West 
Norfolk and is there demand for them? 

 

• Is there a need to develop new standards for provision for sports facilities and pitches? 

155



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 3 

The study assesses need at a boroughwide, sub-area (north, central and south) and site-specific 
level and takes account of facilities in neighbouring areas that serve the needs of the Borough’s 
population. 
 

1.4 The scope of the strategy 
 

The playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities included in the Strategy are: 
 

• Football pitches. 
 

• Cricket pitches. 

 

• Rugby pitches. 
 

• Hockey pitches. 

 

• Tennis courts. 

 

• Bowls greens.  

 

• Netball courts. 

 

• Athletics tracks. 

 

• Watersports facilities. 

 

• Multi-use Games Areas. 

 

• Footpaths, cycle paths and public rights of way. 
 

1.5 Strategy format 
 

The structure of the document is as follows: 
 

• Assessing playing pitch and outdoor sports facilities needs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 

 

• The local context for facilities provision. 
 

• Strategic influences on facilities provision. 
 

• Football pitches. 
 

• Cricket pitches. 

 

• Rugby pitches. 
 

• Hockey pitches. 
 

156



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 4 

• Tennis courts. 

 

• Bowls greens.  

 

• Netball courts. 

 

• Athletics tracks. 

 

• Watersports facilities. 

 

• Multi-use Games Areas. 

 

• Footpaths, cycle paths and public rights of way. 

 

• Applying and reviewing the Strategy. 
 

 

157



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 5 

2 ASSESSING PLAYING PITCH AND OUTDOOR SPORTS 
FACILITIES NEEDS  

 
2.1 Introduction 
 
This section describes the basis on which playing pitch and outdoor sports facilities needs in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk were assessed. Two different methodologies were applied: 
 

• Sport England’s ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ (2013) for football, cricket, rugby and hockey 
pitches. 

 

• Sport England’s ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ (2014) for tennis courts, bowling 
greens, netball courts, athletics tracks, watersports facilities, multi-use games areas and play 

and informal recreation facilities and footpaths, cycle paths and public rights of way. 
 

2.2 Playing Pitch Methodology 
 

2.2.1  Introduction 
 
The methodology for the pitches follows the ’Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ (2013) developed by 
Sport England. The process involves five stages and ten steps as follows: 
 

• Stage A - Prepare and tailor the approach (Step 1). 
 

• Stage B - Gather information on the supply of and demand for provision (Steps 2 and 3). 
 

• Stage C - Assess the supply and demand information and views (Steps 4, 5 and 6). 
 

• Stage D - Develop the strategy (Steps 7 and 8). 
 

• Stage E - Deliver the strategy and keep it robust and up-to-date (Steps 9 and 10). 
 

2.2.2 Preparing and tailoring the approach 
 

KL&WNBC convened a project steering group in October 2021 led by officers from Leisure,  
Policy Planning and Corporate Performance and involving advice from Sport England and the 
relevant governing bodies of sport to devise: 
 

• The vision and objectives of the review of playing pitches in the borough. 
 

• The scope of the exercise, including the types of facilities to include, the geographical scope 
and the overall timeframe for the assessment. 

 

• The local and wider strategic context. 
 

• The project management arrangements for the study, including the decision to engage 
assistance from external consultants.  

 

158



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 6 

A project brief was produced, approved and signed-off to complete Stage A of the process.  
 

2.2.3  Assessing current needs 
 

To assess whether the current provision is adequate to meet existing demand an understanding of 
the situation at all sites available to the community needs to be developed.  This is achieved by 
providing a brief overview for each site, which comprises: 
 

• A comparison between the carrying capacity of a site and how much demand currently 
takes place there. The carrying capacity of a site is defined as the amount of play it can 
regularly accommodate over an appropriate period of time without adversely affecting its 
quality and use. Demand is defined in terms of the number of ‘match equivalent sessions’ 
at each site. 

 

• An indication of the extent to which pitches and related facilities are being used during 
their respective peak periods. 

 

• The key issues with and views on the provision at a site and its use.  
 

• The site overviews identify the extent to which pitches are: 
 

- Being overplayed - where use exceeds the carrying capacity. 
 
-  Being played to the level the site can sustain - where use matches the carrying capacity. 

 
- Potentially able to accommodate some additional play - where use falls below the 

carrying capacity. 
 

The situation at individual sites can then be aggregated to identify the position at a wider 
geographical area, to identify the potential for excess demand at some sites to be accommodated 
by excess supply at others in the locality. Other factors can also be assessed such as: 
  

• Any demand being accommodated on sites with unsecured community access. 
 

• The impact of latent or displaced demand. 
 

• The situation at priority sites.  
 

This analysis then enables an assessment to be made of the adequacy of existing pitch and related 
facility provision. 
 

2.2.4  Assessing future needs 
 

The methodology applied to assess the additional future needs for pitches and related facilities 
arising from population growth also involves the approach advocated in Sport England’s PPS 
guidance, namely: 
 

• Establishing projected population change.  
 

• Analysing sports development proposals and participation trends. 
 

159



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 7 

• Considering existing deficiencies or spare capacity. 
 

• Taking account of any forthcoming changes to facility supply. 
 

2.2.5 Assessed demand parameters 
 

Analysis of the above factors influencing the future supply and demand for playing pitches in the 
borough has led to the following conclusions, which are reflected in the subsequent assessment 
of future needs: 
 

• Population change: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

• Participation trends: According to Sport England’s ‘Active People’ and ‘Active Lives’ 
surveys, participation at a national level in all the pitch sports has remained static or fallen 
in the period since 2015, in some cases by quite significant margins. This means that future 
increases in participation in the pitch sports cannot be assumed based upon historic trends 
and have therefore not been factored into projected needs. 

 

• Sports development initiatives: A number of sports development initiatives are delivered 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by the council, the governing bodies of the pitch sports 
and their member clubs (full details are in the individual sports sections). The impact on 
sustained increases in participation directly attributable to these activities has been factored 
in to projected future needs. 

 

• Changes in supply: Any known proposed gains or losses in pitches and related facilities 
provision will influence the ability to accommodate the additional demand arising from the 
increased population and this has been included in the capacity assessments (full details are 
in the individual sports sections).  

 

2.2.6  Delivering future needs 
 

To identify the most appropriate way to meet the additional pitch and related facilities needs 
arising from population growth, four sequential questions were addressed:  
 

• Existing deficiency or spare capacity: To what extent do existing pitches and related 
facilities have any current shortfalls or any over-supply? 

 

• Additional needs: What additional needs will arise from population growth? 
 

• Accommodating needs: Which needs can be met in whole or part by spare capacity in 
existing pitches and related facilities and which will need to be met in whole or part by new 
provision? 

 

• Extra pitches: What extra pitches and related facilities of each type are required to provide 
for the residual unmet demand? 

160



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 8 

2.2.7  Outputs 
 

The methodology provides quantified answers to the above questions as follows:  
 

• Current provision: The adequacy of current provision and any existing spare capacity was 
assessed using Sport England’s approved methodology, adapted where appropriate to 
assess informal demand and facilities. 

 

• Additional needs: Additional needs were calculated by identifying the existing Team 
Generation Rates in the borough, to identify the number of people that are currently 
required to form a team of various types in each of the pitch sports. These figures have 
then been applied to both of the population projections, to calculate the gross additional 
team and related pitch needs arising from the additional population. 

 

• Net requirements: The net requirement for additional provision was calculated by 
comparing the extra required capacity to the current spare capacity where appropriate, to 
identify the difference. 

 

• Location of provision: The location of additional pitch and related facilities needs was 
established by comparing the respective levels of projected population growth in each part 
of the borough.  

 

2.2.8  The criteria assessed 
 

• Quantity: The number of pitches and related facilities was established and cross checked 
against other sources provided by local stakeholders and consultees.  

 

• Quality: The quality of playing pitches was assessed by visiting every pitch in the borough 
during the respective playing seasons and assessing quality criteria using the recognised 
non-technical visual assessment criteria. The ratings for each aspect of each pitch were 
compared with the clubs’ and stakeholder consultations and amended where necessary.  

 

• Accessibility: The accessibility of pitches, in particular the extent of secured community 
use and pricing was assessed, to identify any barriers to use that might impact on the 
capacity of local provision. 

 

• Strategic priority: The assessment of need and priorities for provision was identified by 
the governing bodies of the respective pitch sports. 

 

• Used capacity: The used capacity of existing pitches at each site was assessed using a 
bespoke supply-demand spreadsheet. 

 

2.2.9  Keeping the assessment robust and up-to-date 
 

Sport England advocates that the PPS should be reviewed on an annual basis from the date it is 
formally signed off by the steering group. Along with ensuring that the strategy is used and 
applied, the process to keep it robust and up to date will expand the life of the strategy, providing 
people with the confidence to continue to both use it and attach significant value and weight to 
its key findings and issues, along with its recommendations and actions. Taking into account the 
time to develop the PPS this should also help to ensure that the original supply and demand 
information is no more than two years old without being reviewed. 

161



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 9 

The review should highlight:  

 

• How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any changes 
required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g. the priority of some may increase 
following the delivery of others). 
 

• How the SFS has been applied and the lessons learnt. 
 

• Any changes to particularly important facilities and/or sites in the area (e.g. the most used 
or high-quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what 
this may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues. 

 

• Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport. 
 

• Any new or emerging issues and opportunities. 
 

2.3 Outdoor Sports Facilities Methodology 
 
The methodology applied to assess the needs and opportunities for sports facilities follows Sport 
England’s recommended approach, advocated in ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ (2014).  
 

2.3.1  Preparing and tailoring the approach 
 

KL&WNBC convened a project steering group in October 2021 led by officers from Policy 
Planning, Corporate Performance and Alive West Norfolk (the Council-owned not-for-profit 
company that runs its leisure facilities) involving advice from Sport England and the relevant 
governing bodies of sport to devise: 
 

• The vision and objectives of the review of outdoor sports facilities in the borough. 
 

• The scope of the exercise, including the types of facilities to include, the geographical scope 
and the overall timeframe for the assessment. 

 

• The local and wider strategic context. 
 

• The project management arrangements for the study, including the decision to engage 
assistance from external consultants.  

 
A project brief was produced, approved and signed-off to complete Stage A of the process.  
 

2.3.2  Assessing sports facilities supply 
 

The assessment of sports facilities supply at Stage B of the study involved four main elements:  
 

• Quantity: Establishing what facilities there are in the borough, with details of their 
dimensions, technical information like playing surfaces and floodlighting. This included 
consideration of facilities not currently in use, those not available to the community and 
significant provision in neighbouring areas that serves some needs of Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk residents. 

162



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 10 

• Quality: Auditing the quality of facilities. This involved assessing each facility in terms of 
its condition (its age, appeal, fabric and ancillary provision like changing and car parking - 
factors that will influence its attractiveness to users) and fitness for purpose (its technical 
specifications and ability to accommodate an appropriate standard of play). 

 

• Accessibility: Determining spatial distribution of provision in the borough by GIS 
mapping of each facility type, including catchment analysis appropriate to the scale and role 
of each facility.  

 

• Availability: Identifying how much each facility is used, whether there is any existing spare 
capacity and if there is any scope to increase capacity. This involved consideration of 
programming and usage data, opening times and pricing levels, which was secured through 
consultation with facility providers and operators. 

 
The information was collated and analysed in a facilities supply report, which was evaluated and 
approved by the project steering group. 
  

2.3.3  Assessing sports facilities demand 
 
The assessment of sports facilities demand at Stage B of the study involved five main elements:  

• Local population profile: Establishing the local demography, including the size, age 
profile, affluence/deprivation, health indices and growth projections. 

 

• Sports participation: Identifying local sports participation characteristics, through 
analysing the results of Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey, local facilities usage figures and 
a survey of local clubs to establish membership patterns and trends. 

 

• Unmet, displaced and future demand: In addition to current expressed demand, 
analysis of unmet (demand which exists but cannot currently be satisfied), displaced 
(demand from within the borough that is satisfied elsewhere) and future demand (based on 
projected population and participation increases) was identified. 
 

• Local participation priorities: Establishing any local priorities for the use of sports 
facilities, such as those relating to corporate health and well-being policies. 

 
The information was collated and analysed in a facilities demand report, which was evaluated and 
approved by the project steering group. 
 

2.3.4  Assessing the balance between sports facilities supply and demand 
 
To complete Stage B of the process, the supply and demand information was brought together 
for each type of facility to establish:  
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users? 
 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them? 

163



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 11 

2.3.5  Applying the assessment - Developing the strategy 
 

The results of the assessment was applied to produce an assessment which included: 
 

• Options for provision: The options for meeting current and future facilities needs were 
identified under Sport England’s recommended headings of ‘Protect’, ‘Provide’ and 
‘Enhance’. 
 

• Policy recommendations: Arranged under the headings of ‘Protect’, ‘Provide’ and 
‘Enhance’, planning policy recommendations were developed to ensure that the 
implementation of the strategy will be supported by the provisions of the Local Plan.   

 

• Strategy implementation: An action plan which identifies the ways in which the strategy 
can be implemented, subject to human and financial resource availability, but a wide range 
of stakeholders from the public, voluntary and commercial sectors. 

 
Sport England advocates that the SFS should be reviewed on an annual basis from the date it is 
formally signed off by the steering group. Along with ensuring that the strategy is used and 
applied, the process to keep it robust and up to date will expand the life of the strategy, providing 
people with the confidence to continue to both use it and attach significant value and weight to 
its key findings and issues, along with its recommendations and actions. Taking into account the 
time to develop the SFS this should also help to ensure that the original supply and demand 
information is no more than two years old without being reviewed. 
 

2.3.6  Keeping the assessment robust and up-to-date 
 
The review should highlight:  

 

• How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any changes 
required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g. the priority of some may increase 
following the delivery of others). 
 

• How the PPS has been applied and the lessons learnt. 
 

• Any changes to particularly important facilities and/or sites in the area (e.g. the most used 
or high-quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what 
this may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues. 

 

• Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport. 
 

• Any new or emerging issues and opportunities. 
 

2.4 Stakeholder consultation 
 

Information was gathered from a wide range of consultees including: 
 

• Sport England: Guidance on the assessment methodology.  
 

164



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 12 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council: Consultation with officers from 
Policy Planning, Corporate Performance on their respective areas of responsibility. 
 

• Neighbouring local authorities: Information on their playing pitch and outdoor sports 
facilities assessments and the impact of any cross-border issues was obtained from South 
Holland District Council, North Norfolk District Council, Breckland District Council, 
West Suffolk Council, East Cambridgeshire District Council and Fenland District 
Council. 
 

• Active Norfolk: Information on local and wider strategic priorities. 
 

• National Health Service: The NHS Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Board and 
the West Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Partnership provided information on links with 
sport and physical activity. 
 

• Governing bodies of sport: Information on local and wider strategic priorities and local 
supply and demand information. 

 

• Sports clubs: Information on sports facilities provision and use, current and future needs 
and opinions on quality, which was submitted via an on-line survey. 

 

• Schools: Information on sports facilities provision and use, plus attitudes towards 
community use, which was submitted via an on-line survey. 
 

• Parish Councils: Information on sports facilities provision and use, current and future 
needs and opinions on quality, which was submitted via an on-line survey. 

 

2.5 Summary 
 

Assessing playing pitch needs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk using the approach advocated by 
Sport England in its ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’  and outdoor sports facilities using its ‘Assessing 
Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ has ensured that the exercise is both robust and evidence-based 
and as a result complies with the provisions of the Government’s National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

  

165



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 13 

3 THE LOCAL CONTEXT FOR FACILITIES PROVISION 

 

Key findings: 
 

• An elderly and ageing population: The borough has an elderly age profile and 
demographic change by 2040 will see a significant increase in the proportion of people 
aged over 50. Since sport and physical activity rates typically decline with age, the market 
for local sports facilities will evolve accordingly. 
 

• Population growth: The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections increase of 4,750 
(or 3.1%) over the period 2021 to 2040. If housing targets are met, population growth 
could be as high as 25,000. This will increase demand for facilities for sport and physical 
activity. 

 

• Overall sports participation rates: Local participation rates in sport and physical activity 
are low and have fallen over the past five years (based upon Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ 
survey) and whilst they close to the Norfolk average, they are well below the respective 
national and regional figures.  

 

• Facilities supply: Sports facilities are provided by a mosaic of owners and operators from 
the public, voluntary and commercial sectors, which highlights the need for and benefits of 
a strategic approach to co-ordinating provision. 

 

3.1 Introduction 
 

This section identifies the context within which sports facilities provision is made in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 
 

3.2 Background 
 

3.2.1 Location 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk borough covers approximately 556 square miles, which makes it 
the thirteenth largest authority area in England. The council area shares boundaries with six local 
authorities across four counties. These are Breckland District Council and North Norfolk 
District Council from Norfolk, South Holland District Council from Lincolnshire, Fenland 
District Council and East Cambs District Council from Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk 
Council. 
 

3.2.2 Settlement pattern 
 

King’s Lynn is the major settlement in the area with a population of 42,800. The remainder of the 
population is spread across a network of small villages and market towns. Downham Market at 
10,000 is the largest town in the south of the borough.  To the north the largest settlement is the 
seaside town Hunstanton at 4,300 residents. Other larger settlements like Dersingham, Heacham, 
Terrington St Clements, Upwell/Outwell are of similar size and population. There are 102 
parishes in the borough. 
 

The replacement Local Plan review, which will cover a period of 15 years ahead, proposes a 
focus for growth along the A10/ Main Rail Line corridor, specifically at King’s Lynn, Downham 

166



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 14 

Market and the Growth Key Rural Service Centres of Marham and Watlington.  Other significant 
growth is proposed east of Wisbech (Walsoken Parish) and at Hunstanton. 
 

3.2.3 Transport links 
 

Road links to and through the borough include the A10, which links Kings Lynn and Downham 
Market with to the south, the A17, which links Kings Lynn to the west, the A47, which links 
Kings Lynn to Wisbech and Norwich and the A148 which links to Fakenham and Cromer. A 
north-south rail line links the Kings Lynn and Downham Market with London via Ely and 
Cambridge. 
 

3.2.4 Tourism and the visitor economy 
 
The visitor economy in West Norfolk is estimated to be worth around £496 million to the wider 
economy. Around 482,000 staying visitors spend an estimated £111 million per annum. Around 
7.8 million day visitors spend around £259 million. The visitor economy supports around 17% of 
jobs in the economy. Sports facilities such as the Oasis Pool in Hunstanton make a significant 
contribution to the tourism offer. 
 

3.3 Demography 
 

3.3.1 Current population 
 

The 2021 census data for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk indicates 154,300 residents. This 
represents an increase of 6,849 people (4.6% growth) since the 2011 Census figure of 147,451.  
 

3.3.2 Age structure 
 
Analysis of the 2021 census data shows that Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has a relatively elderly 
age profile compared with both Norfolk and England. The average age of residents of the 
borough is 48.4 years, compared with a national average of 43.1 years. 
 

Table 1: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Age Structure 
 

Age Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk No. 

Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk % 

Norfolk % England % 

0-14 24,000 15.6% 15.2% 17.4% 

15-24 14,400 9.3% 10.7% 11.7% 

25-49 43,400 28.1% 29.1% 33.0% 

50-64 32,600 21.1% 26.6% 19.4% 

65+ 39,900 25.9% 24.4% 18.4% 

Total 154,300 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

3.3.3 Sub-areas 
 
The borough can be divided into sub-areas, to assist with analysing provision at a more local level 
and in particular to assess the differential spatial impact on supply and demand for sports 
facilities arising from housing growth. Three areas have been selected on the basis that they 
comprise discrete areas within which the resident population will typically look to access 
provision like sports facilities on a relatively local basis.  
 

167



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 15 

 
 
The sub-area ward populations are based upon ONS 2019 small-area estimates and are as 
follows: 

168



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 16 

 
Table 2: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk sub-areas 

 

Sub-area Wards Ward Population 
2020 

Sub-area 
Population 2020 

Hunstanton and 
surrounds 

Bircham with Rudhams 
Brancaster 
Burnham Market and Docking 
Dersingham 
Heacham 
Hunstanton 
Massingham with Castle Acre 
Snettisham 

2,645 
2,256 
2,520 
5,807 
5,197 
4,189 
3,094 
2,608 

28,316 

Kings Lynn and 
surrounds 

Clenchwarton 
Fairstead 
Gayton and Grimston 
Gaywood Chase 
Gaywood Clock 
Gaywood North Bank 
North Lynn 
South and West Lynn 
Springwood 
St. Margaret's with St. Nicholas 
Terrington 
The Woottons 
West Winch 

2,705 
6,930 
5,700 
2,903 
3,300 
7,746 
6,701 
5,399 
3,426 
5,285 
5,857 
6,816 
4,875 

67,643 

Downham 
Market and 
surrounds 

Airfield 
Denver 
Downham Old Town 
East Downham 
Emneth and Outwell 
Feltwell 
Methwold 
North Downham 
South Downham 
Tilney, Mershe Lande and Wiggenhall 
Upwell and Delph 
Walsoken, West Walton and Walpole 
Watlington 
Wissey 

6,128 
2,381 
3,344 
3,165 
4,883 
5,814 
2,814 
2,425 
2,135 
4,919 
6,155 
5,762 
2,717 
2,644 

55,286 

 

3.3.4 Population growth 
 

The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 2040, an 
increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). Comparison of the 2021 census data with the 2018 sub-national 
population projections for 2040 shows that the percentage of people aged under 50 falls from 
53.0% to 48.0%, with proportion population increases amongst the over 50s.  
 
 
 

169

javascript:sym('E05012322')
javascript:sym('E05012323')
javascript:sym('E05012324')
javascript:sym('E05012327')
javascript:sym('E05012337')
javascript:sym('E05012338')
javascript:sym('E05012339')
javascript:sym('E05012344')
javascript:sym('E05012325')
javascript:sym('E05012331')
javascript:sym('E05012333')
javascript:sym('E05012334')
javascript:sym('E05012335')
javascript:sym('E05012336')
javascript:sym('E05012342')
javascript:sym('E05012345')
javascript:sym('E05012347')
javascript:sym('E05012343')
javascript:sym('E05012348')
javascript:sym('E05012349')
javascript:sym('E05012354')
javascript:sym('E05012321')
javascript:sym('E05012326')
javascript:sym('E05012328')
javascript:sym('E05012329')
javascript:sym('E05012330')
javascript:sym('E05012332')
javascript:sym('E05012340')
javascript:sym('E05012341')
javascript:sym('E05012346')
javascript:sym('E05012350')
javascript:sym('E05012351')
javascript:sym('E05012352')
javascript:sym('E05012353')
javascript:sym('E05012355')


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 17 

Table 3: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Population Projections to 2040 
 

Age  Population 2021 % 2021 Population 2040 % 2040 
0-14 24,000 15.6% 22,736 14.3% 

15-24 14,400 9.3% 14,690 9.2% 

25-49 43,400 28.1% 38,974 24.5% 

50-64 32,600 21.1% 30,339 19.1% 

65+ 39,900 25.9% 52,311 32.9% 

Total 154,300 100.0% 159,050 100.0% 
 

3.3.5 Housing needs 
 

The location of population growth will be determined to a large extent by housing development 
allocations. The Local Plan (submission Plan, para 2.1.3) specified a Local Housing Need (LHN) 
for 554 dwellings per year (8,085 dwellings over the next 15 years). At an average of 2.3 people 
per dwelling this would amount to a population increase of approximately 25,000, which is 
significantly more than the ONS projection. This would take the population in 2040 to 179,300, a 
16.1% from 2021. 

 

3.3.6 Deprivation 
 

The English Indices of Deprivation (2019) show that the borough is ranked 73 out of 317 local 
authority areas in England on a range of deprivation issues. 14.6% of the population live in 
Lower Super Output Areas that are amongst the 20% most deprived in the country. These areas 
are mostly concentrated in the urban parts of the borough. Average weekly earnings in the 
borough are low at £558 compared with the regional average of £629 and national average of 
£613. 
 

 

170



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 18 

3.3.7 Ethnicity 
 

Figures from the 2011 census reveal that a low proportion of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk’s 
population identifies themselves as from the Black and Minority Ethnic groups - only 7.4% 
compared to the England average of 14.6%.  
 

3.3.8 Health 
 

Local health indices recorded in Public Health England’s ‘Health Profile for Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk’  (2019) show that in general the health of people in the borough is around the average 
for England as a whole, although: 
 

• Life expectancy at birth in in the borough is 0.1 years shorter for men and 0.4 years shorter 
for women than the respective national averages. However, life expectancy is 7.4 years 
lower for men and 1.2 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of the borough 
than in the least deprived areas. 
 

• The prevalence of obese children aged 10-11 years is 21.5%, compared with 21.0% 
nationally. 

 

• 62.8% of the adult population of the borough is classified as overweight or obese the same 
as the national average. 

 

3.4 Disability  

 
The Public Health Profile for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk identifies that the proportion of 
people in the borough reporting that they have a limiting long-term illness or disability is 21.3%, 
compared with 17.6% nationally. Based on the borough’s population of 154,300 this equates to 
32,866 people. 
 
People with disabilities have significantly higher levels of inactivity than the population as a 
whole, 43% compared with the national figure of 23%. 
 
According to the National Disability Survey 2021 Over a quarter of disabled respondents often 
had difficulty accessing public buildings, whilst one in three disabled respondents often had 
difficulty accessing public spaces. These figures present substantial barriers to participation.  
 

3.5 Sport and physical activity 
 

3.5.1 Participation rates  
 

Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey measures physical activity rates amongst people aged 16 and 
over at district, county, regional and national levels. The definitions used in the survey are as 
follows: 

 

• Sport and physical activity: This includes at least 10-minutes of moderate or higher 
intensity sports activities, walking and cycling for leisure or travel, fitness and dance. 
 

• Active: The ‘Active’ population is defined as those doing at least 150 minutes of the above 
activities per week. 

 

171



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 19 

• Fairly active: The ‘Fairly active’ population is defined as those doing between 30 and 149 
minutes of the above activities per week. 

 

• Inactive: The ‘Inactive’ population is defined as those doing 30 minutes or less of the 
above activities per week. 

 

The key data for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk since 2015 is set out below and shows a 
downward trend in activity levels: 
  

Table 4: ‘Active Lives’ survey sport and physical activity participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Activity 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
Active 58.2% 55.2% 53.1% 56.6% 57.0% 50.2% 51.6% 53.9% 58.1% -0.1% 

Fairly active 16.3% 10.0% 12.8% 14.4% 12.5% 12.1% 12.7% 11.4% 12.9% -3.4% 

Inactive 25.5% 34.8% 34.1% 29.0% 30.4% 37.7% 35.6% 34.7% 29.1% +3.6% 

 
In comparative terms, activity levels are well below the county, regional and national figures: 
 

Table 5: ‘Active Lives’ survey 2023/24 sport and physical activity participation rates comparisons 
 

Area Active Fairly active Inactive 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 58.1% 12.9% 29.1% 

Norfolk 62.3% 12.5% 25.2% 

East of England 63.9% 12.4% 23.7% 

England 63.7% 11.2% 25.1% 

 

3.5.2 Demographic variations 
 

The ‘Active Lives’ survey national level data identifies that there are significant demographic 
variations in participation rates: 

 

• Gender: Men’s participation rates are higher at 65% than women’s at 61%. 
 

• Socio-economic groups: Those in routine/semi-routine jobs and those who are long-
term unemployed or have never worked have lower participation rates (54%) than those in 
professional/managerial roles (72%) 

 

• Age: Activity levels decrease with age, from 70% in the 16 - 34 age group, to 66% on the 
35 - 54 age group, 61% for 55 - 74 year olds to 40% for those aged 75 and over.  

 

• Disability and long-term health conditions: Activity is less common for disabled people 
or those with a long -term health condition (47%) than those without (68%). 

 

• Ethnicity: participation rates are lower for minority ethnic groups than for the White 
population and are lowest for those of Asian heritage (54%). 

 

3.5.3 Sports club membership 
 

The ‘Active Lives’ survey also records rates of sports club membership amongst people aged 16 
and over and who participated at least twice in the previous 28 days. The figures below show that 
rates are higher in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk than for all the wider geographical comparators: 

172



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 20 

Table 6: ‘Active Lives’ survey sports club membership rates comparisons 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Norfolk East England 
48.1% 41.9% 42.6% 42.8% 

 

3.6 The local playing pitch and outdoor sports facilities supply network 
 

Sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk comprises a mixed economy 
involving the public, voluntary and commercial sectors. The key providers are as follows: 
 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council: The Council provides the borough’s 
leisure centres, some of which provide pitches and outdoor sports facilities. 

 

• Town and parish councils: Town and Parish Councils provide a range of pitches and 
outdoor sports facilities. 

 

• Schools: Schools are significant pitch and outdoor sports facilities providers in the 
borough, although not all provision is fully community accessible. 

 

• Sports clubs: Voluntary sector sports clubs provide and run a range of pitches and outdoor 
sports facilities. 

 

3.7 The implications for sports facilities provision 
 

The implications of the local context for sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk are as follows: 
 

• An elderly and ageing population: The borough has an elderly age profile and 
demographic change by 2040 will see a significant increase in the proportion of people aged 
over 50. Since sport and physical activity rates typically decline with age, the market for local 
sports facilities will evolve accordingly. 
 

• People with a disability: Almost 33,000 people in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk have a 
have a limiting long-term illness or disability, so ensuring that sports facilities are accessible 
for people with disabilities is an important local priority. 
 

• Population growth: The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections increase of 4,750 
(or 3.1%) over the period 2021 to 2040. If housing targets are met, population growth could 
be as high as 25,000 (or 14.6%). This will increase demand for facilities for sport and 
physical activity. 

 

• Overall sports participation rates: Local participation rates in sport and physical activity 
are low and have fallen over the past five years (based upon Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ 
survey) and they are well below the respective national, regional and county figures.  

 

• Facilities supply: Playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities are provided by a mosaic of 
owners and operators from the public and voluntary sectors, which highlights the need for 
and benefits of a strategic approach to co-ordinating provision. 

  

173



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 21 

4 STRATEGIC INFLUENCES ON PITCH AND OUTDOOR 
FACILITIES PROVISION 

 

Key findings: 
 

The review of strategic influences on pitch and outdoor sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk identified policy convergence on the following issues: 
 

• Active, healthy communities: There is strong policy support for the creation of active, 
healthy communities, including the provision of affordable accessible facilities with 
appropriate activity programmes. 

• Active design: Ensuring that the community provision creates opportunities for active 
travel and an attractive range of co-located facilities is embedded in local and wider policies. 

• Protect and retain: Local and national planning policy is supportive of protecting and 
retaining sports facilities for which there is an assessed need. 

• Integration with health and social care: Closer links with the health and social care 
system, to ensure that there is better integration between the needs of low participant 
groups and the sport and physical activity opportunities provided is a strong theme. 

• Low participant groups: There is universal recognition of which groups have lower 
engagement with sport and physical activity and a shared policy commitment to address 
this. 

 

Based upon the shared policy influences, the local strategic outcomes that will provide the 
underpinning rationale for the provision of pitch and outdoor sports facilities in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk are as follows: 
 

• To promote active, healthy communities in the borough, local stakeholders will support the 
provision of sustainable community sport and leisure facilities and the spaces and 
infrastructure that individuals, clubs, schools and individuals can access and use to take part. 

• The network of pitch and outdoor sports facilities and supporting community infrastructure 
will be reviewed to ensure that their quantity, quality, accessibility and availability is 
appropriate to the needs of existing and prospective users. 

• Closer links will be developed with the health and social care system, including the co-
location of health and sports facilities where feasible and appropriate, to ensure that there is 
better integration between the needs of low participant groups and the sport and physical 
activity opportunities provided. 

 

4.1 Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance 
 

In May 2019 Sport England supplemented its guidance on the production of sports facilities 
strategies by publishing ‘Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance’.  The approach advocated involves  

 

• Developing an understanding of the wider local strategic outcomes of the study area. 
 

• Using a cross sector approach to identify local community needs and priorities. 
 

• Establishing the contribution that sport and physical activity can make. 

• Securing stakeholder ‘buy-in’ to the shared local outcomes. 

174



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 22 

 
The aim is to ensure that the development of sports and leisure facilities is not just an end in 
itself but is fully integrated into the strategic objectives of a range of key stakeholders in any given 
area. For example, rationale for the design, siting and operation of a new swimming pool in 
addition to the obvious benefits for sport and physical activity, should include the role it can play 
in delivering objectives relating to health inequalities, economic regeneration, tourism and socio-
economic deprivation. 
 
As a prelude to the assessment of supply and demand for facilities in King’s Lynn and West 
Norfolk,  this section reviews the relevant policies and priorities of the council and its strategic 
partners, to establish:  
 

• The key relevant policies and local strategic outcomes. 
 

• The extent to which these are convergent or divergent in respect of sport and physical 
activity. 

 
4.2 Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council Corporate Strategy 
 

4.2.1 Corporate vision  
 

The Council’s current aspirations for the borough are set out in its ‘Corporate Strategy 2023-2027’ 
(2023). The Council’s current aspirations for the borough are set out in its ‘Corporate Strategy 2023-
2027’ (2023). The vision of the plan is ‘to establish West Norfolk as a place on the map rather 
than an administrative boundary and ensure it is a welcoming rural district, with vibrant 
communities and successful, growing businesses. A place where people can thrive, the 
environment is protected, heritage is preserved, and development meets the needs of people as 
well as legislation’. 
 

4.2.2 Corporate priorities 
 

To achieve this vision the Strategy sets out four priorities: 
 

• Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk. 
 

• Protecting our environment. 
 

• Efficient and effective delivery of services. 
 

• Supporting our communities. 
 

Priorities three, five and six are directly relevant to this study and the other priorities are of at 
least tangential relevance. 
 

4.2.3 Delivery objectives 
 

To support the priorities, the following delivery objectives relate directly to sport and physical 
activity: 
 

• Promote West Norfolk as a desirable leisure, cultural and tourism destination. 
 

175



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 23 

• Encourage active travel by reducing barriers to walking and cycling. 
 

• Work with partners, and provide access to leisure, cultural and outreach experiences, to 
reduce isolation, improve health and wellbeing, and support people to live independently at 
home for longer. 

 

• Tackle social and health inequalities, encourage healthy, active lifestyles and help prevent 
avoidable hospital admissions by working with the NHS and other partners. 

 

• Support the local voluntary sector as a vital element of the local community. 
 

• Promote and maintain attractive public open spaces across the borough for all to enjoy. 
 

4.3 Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Local Plan 
 

4.3.1 Introduction 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk’s current adopted development plan is made up of:  
 

• The ‘West Norfolk Local Plan 2024-2040’ (2025). 
 

• ‘Made’ (adopted) Neighbourhood Plans covering individual Parish areas. 
 

4.3.2 The Local Plan 
 

The Local Plan Vision is that ‘people want to be part of the success story that is West Norfolk, 
drawn here to live, work, invest and visit. West Norfolk enjoys an unparalleled balance between 
quality of life and quality of opportunity with people drawn to the area to take advantage of this’.  
 

Policy LP36: Community and Culture:  
 

• ‘Delivering community well-being and enhancing quality of life through good design’. 
 

• ‘Where possible, developers should examine best practice on design in new development and 
should aim to involve the community early in the design process of new development. 
 

• ‘The form, design, location and layout of development should enhance community 
wellbeing, by: 

 
- Being accessible and inclusive - ensuring that people of any age, gender, ethnicity and 

ability can use and access the development. 
- Being adaptable - creating high quality development which is capable of being modified 

either for different uses or to suit people with different needs. 
- Being locally distinctive - contributing to a sense of place and identity. 
- Reducing the opportunity for crime - considering factors such as natural surveillance, 

boundaries and security features, lighting and the management of public space to 
promote safe living environments. 

- Being within walking distance of open space - to increase peoples quality of life and 
enable active and healthy lifestyles. 
 

176



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 24 

- Creating places that promote social interaction, to allow people who are isolated and 
more vulnerable to cope with the impacts of climate change’. 

 

• ‘Creating sustainable communities through the provision of community infrastructure. The 
Borough Council will: 
 
- Support proposals that protect, retain or enhance sports, leisure and recreation facilities 

including children’s playgrounds or create new facilities in accessible locations. 
- Work with NHS Norfolk to ensure that new health facilities are provided to serve an 

expanded population, particularly in growth areas in King's Lynn’. 
 

• ‘The Borough Council recognises the importance of community facilities and services (also 
referred to as community infrastructure) to improving people’s quality of life, reducing 
inequality and improving community cohesion. The Council will, working with partners, seek 
opportunities to gain funding for the development of community infrastructure, particularly 
in deprived parts of the borough (see Policy LP05)’. 
 

• ‘Protecting, enhancing and promoting cultural facilities The Borough Council will seek to 
protect and enhance existing cultural assets. If a cultural facility is no longer viable and the 
Council cannot secure funding, the Council will seek to explore alternative options such as 
co-locating multiple facilities on a single site to prevent the loss of cultural facilities and to 
increase the economic viability of such facilities’. 

 

• ‘Development will not be permitted in cases where it would result in a loss of existing 
cultural facilities, unless equivalent new or improved facilities, where need justifies, can be 
provided within the same settlement boundary or in close proximity of the existing facility’. 

 

• ‘New cultural facilities will actively be encouraged by the Borough Council, providing they 
are compatible with their location and setting and do not conflict with Economy Policy 
LP07.  New cultural facilities will be located sequentially, in accessible sites in King's Lynn 
and the Main Towns of Hunstanton and Downham Market.  Cultural facilities proposed in 
accessible locations in Key Rural Service Centres or the more rural settlements and areas will 
be considered based on localised impacts’. 

 
Policy LP37 – Community Facilities: 

 

• ‘The Council will encourage the retention of existing community facilities and the provision 
of new facilities, particularly in areas with poor levels of provision and in areas of major 
growth’. 
 

• ‘Development leading to the loss of an existing community facility will not be permitted 
unless it is demonstrated that either: 

 
- The area currently served by it would remain suitably provided following the loss, or, if 

not; 
- It is no longer viable or feasible to retain the premises in a community facility use’. 

 

  

177



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 25 

4.3.3 Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
 
The latest assessment of Local Housing Need for the Borough equates to 554 new homes per 
year.  This would require delivery of an additional 8,085 new dwellings over the next 15 years. 
The location of new housing development in the Local Plan is identified as follows: 
 

Table 8: Location of new housing development in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk (Local Plan - breakdown of 
housing land allocations) 

 

Place New dwellings  % Allocation 
Kings Lynn and surrounds 3,835 62% 

Downham Market 390 6% 

Hunstanton 333 5% 

Wisbech fringe 550 9% 

Key Rural Service Centres 857 14% 

Rural villages 210 3% 

TOTAL 6,175 100% 

 
4.4 Active Norfolk 
 

4.4.1 Introduction 
 

Active Norfolk is the County Sports Partnership, one of a network of 43 Active Partnerships 
across the country. It works with sports clubs and organisations and a range of partners in the 
public, private and voluntary sectors to increase participation in sport and physical activity. Active 
Norfolk’s strategy ‘Getting Norfolk Moving’ covers the period 2021-26.  
 

4.4.2 Vision 
 

‘A Norfolk where being physically active is just ‘what people do’ in their daily life. Where 
financial circumstances, health and ability aren’t a barrier to exercise. Where opportunities are 
designed around individual and community needs and promoted so effectively that everyone 
knows about them and why they should be involved’. 

 
The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to assess the extent to 
which the existing facilities network addresses local needs, particularly those of non-users and 
propose appropriate changes. 

 

4.4.3 Priorities 
 

Physical Health and Mental Well-Being 
 

• Building and strengthening connections between health and social care partners to embed 
physical activity into health system culture. 
 

• Using insight to support population health management approaches. 
 

• Improving health and care professionals’ understanding and use of physical activity to 
support patient outcomes 

178



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 26 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy will need to propose ways to better 
integrate the existing facilities network and the activity programmes it offers with the needs and 
priorities of health and social care and propose appropriate changes if necessary. 
 

Children and Young People  
 

• Improving awareness and understanding of the role that physical activity plays in improving 
outcomes for young people. 
 

• Ensuring physical activity is a normal part of the day for education settings. 
 

• Making physical activity accessible to all young people and families regardless of their 
circumstances. 

 

• Integrating physical activity into health, education and community strategies and services. 
 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address the extent to 
which the existing facilities network addresses the needs of young people and propose 
appropriate changes if necessary. 
 
Active Environments 
 

• Advocating for walking and cycling to be the first choice for short journeys. 
 

• Improving and increasing the use of green and blue spaces and infrastructure for all. 
 

• Increasing physical activity’s prominence in local policy – promoting good design decisions 
that help people to move more. 

 
The strategy will need to address the extent to which the existing environment, both built and 
natural, promotes or inhibits physical activity and propose appropriate changes if necessary. 
 
Strengthening Communities 

 

• Working more closely with communities to develop accessible and appropriate 
opportunities to be active. 
 

• Improving communities’ awareness and understanding of the opportunities available to 
them locally. 

 

• Identifying and using national and local funding to create more relevant activity 
opportunities. 

 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address the extent to 
which existing sports facilities and the programmes that they deliver provide ‘accessible and 
appropriate opportunities to be active’ and propose appropriate changes if necessary. 
 

  

179



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 27 

4.5 Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

4.5.1 Introduction 
 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires local Health and Wellbeing Boards to be 
responsible for the production of a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for their area. This 
enables them and the community as a whole to understand the health and wellbeing needs of 
their area. The local Health and Wellbeing Boards Strategy is built on the needs identified within 
the JSNA. The JSNA is used to: 
 

• Inform the Health and Wellbeing board and their strategy. 
 

• Provide information from a central resource for commissioners and funding bids. 
 

• Provide demographics and information for various population levels or need profiles. 
 

4.5.2 Norfolk JSNA 
 

Norfolk’s JSNA provides a picture of the health and wellbeing of the people in the county and 
the issues which affect their needs, inequalities and services, aiming to inform and improve their 
health and wellbeing. There are three local health priorities:  
 

• Starting Well - Promoting the social and emotional wellbeing of pre-school children. 
 

• Living Well - Reducing obesity. 
 

• Ageing Well - Making Norfolk a better place to live for people with dementia and their 
carers.  

 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address ways in which 
facilities for sport and physical activity and the programmes that they deliver can address the 
three local health priorities, which a particular emphasis on reducing obesity. 
 

4.5.3 Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

To deliver these priorities the current ‘Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 - 2020’ (2018) sets 
out a number of ways of working namely: 

 

• A Single Sustainable system. 
 

• Prioritising Prevention. 
 

• Tackling Inequalities. 
 

• Integrating Ways of Working. 
 

The West Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Partnership (HWP) has three priorities at present, 
mental health, weight management and alcohol reduction. All three are benefitted by access to 
exercise and the Partnership is funding 12 projects to deliver improvements in community 
provision at present. Alive West Norfolk will be delivering a range of activities. Active Norfolk 
also sits on the HWP and amongst other sub-groups there is a Healthy and Active Lifestyles 
group. 

180

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/strategy


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 28 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address ways in which 
facilities for sport and physical activity and the programmes that they deliver can address these 
issues, in particular:  
 

• Their role within a Single Sustainable system. 
 

• How they can be involved in the prevention and mitigation of harmful health conditions. 
 

• Ways in which they can be used to tackle inequalities. 
 

• How they and their activity programmes can become better integrated with the wider health 
and wellbeing sector. 

 

4.5.4  Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Strategy 
 

The ‘Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Strategy’ (2022) builds on the ‘Norfolk Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2018-2020’ setting out priorities, identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, that 
partners will deliver together to improve health and wellbeing outcomes.  

 
The Health and Wellbeing Boards for Norfolk and Suffolk have their own strategies aimed at 
highlighting the need for collective responsibility for health and wellbeing. The recent changes 
under the Health Act 2022, has created a new Integrated Care System (ICS) which has formally 
brought together a wide range of organisations and stakeholders to improve services and provide 
more joined-up health and care for residents.  

 
It also created an Integrated Care Partnership which key organisations - including health, care, 
local authority, Healthwatch, and voluntary sector from across Norfolk and Waveney - are part 
of. This partnership has produced an Integrated Care Strategy which is the key document for all 
ICS partners to develop their strategies and plans from and sets out the challenges and 
opportunities we face that can only be addressed by partnership working and joint approaches. 
As there is a clear cross-over between an Integrated Care Strategy and a Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, this creates an opportunity to work together as a collective ICS around shared high-level 
health and wellbeing priorities. 

 
The strategic vision is working as a single sustainable system that enables us to achieve the 
overarching mission’ to help the people of Norfolk and Waveney to live longer, healthier, and 
happier lives’. Prevention and early intervention are critical to the long- term sustainability of the 
health and wellbeing system - stopping ill health and care needs happening in the first place and 
targeting high risk groups, as well as preventing things from getting worse through systematic 
planning and proactive management. Sport and physical activity has a key role in supporting this 
objective. 

 

4.5.5  NHS Core 20 plus five 
 

‘Core20PLUS5’ is a national NHS England approach to inform action to reduce healthcare 
inequalities at both national and system level. The approach defines a target population - the 20% 
most deprived areas of the country - and additionally identifies five focus clinical areas requiring 
accelerated improvement plus disadvantaged groups in the community identified at local level. 
Sport and physical activity has an important role in addressing these priorities. 

181



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 29 

4.6 The Government’s Planning Policies 
 
In December 2024, the Government published an update to the ‘National Planning Policy 
Framework’  setting out its economic, environmental and social planning policies for England. 
Taken together, these policies articulate the Government’s vision of sustainable development, 
which should be interpreted and applied locally to meet local aspirations.  

 
4.6.1 Sustainable development 
 

The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Sustainable development means development that meets the needs of the present 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs’. 
 

4.6.2 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 

Paragraph 96 of the NPPF states that ‘planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve 
healthy, inclusive and safe places and buildings which:  

 

• Promote social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people who might 
not otherwise come into contact with each other - for example through mixed-use 
developments, strong neighbourhood centres, street layouts that allow for easy pedestrian 
and cycle connections within and between neighbourhoods, and active street frontages. 

 

• Are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 
the quality of life or community cohesion - for example through the use of well-designed, 
clear and legible pedestrian routes, and high-quality public space, which encourage the active 
and continual use of public areas. 
 

• Enable and support healthy lives, through both promoting good health and preventing ill-
health, especially where this would address identified local health and well-being needs and 
reduce health inequalities between the most and least deprived communities - for example 
through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local 
shops, access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling’.  

 

4.6.3 Open space and recreation 
 

Paragraph 103 of the NPPF states that ‘access to a network of high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of 
communities and can deliver wider benefits for nature and support efforts to address climate 
change. Planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the need for 
open space, sport and recreation facilities (including quantitative or qualitative deficits or 
surpluses) and opportunities for new provision. Information gained from the assessments should 
be used to determine what open space, sport and recreational provision is needed, which plans 
should then seek to accommodate’. 
 

4.6.4 Planning Practice Guidance  
 

The Government’s ‘Planning Practice Guidance’ (2022) contains the following of particular 
relevance: 

 

  

182



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 30 

• Open space, sport and recreation provision: ‘Open space should be taken into account 
in planning for new development and considering proposals that may affect existing open 
space (see National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 96). Open space, which includes 
all open space of public value, can take many forms, from formal sports pitches to open 
areas within a development, linear corridors and country parks. It can provide health and 
recreation benefits to people living and working nearby; have an ecological value and 
contribute to green infrastructure (see National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 171, 
as well as being an important part of the landscape and setting of built development, and an 
important component in the achievement of sustainable development (see National 
Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 7-9)’. 
 

• ‘It is for local planning authorities to assess the need for open space and opportunities for 
new provision in their areas. In carrying out this work, they should have regard to the duty 
to cooperate where open space serves a wider area. See guidance on Local Green Space 
designation, which may form part of the overall open space network within an area’. 

 

• Assessing needs: ‘Local planning authorities are required to consult Sport England in 
certain cases where development affects the use of land as playing fields. Where there is no 
requirement to consult, local planning authorities are advised to consult Sport England in 
cases where development might lead to: 
 

- loss of, or loss of use for sport, of any major sports facility; 
- proposals which lead to the loss of use for sport of a major body of water; 
- creation of a major sports facility; 
- creation of a site for one or more playing pitches; 
- development which creates opportunities for sport (such as the creation of a body of 

water bigger than two hectares following sand and gravel extraction); 
- artificial lighting of a major outdoor sports facility; 
- a residential development of 300 dwellings or more’. 

 
4.7 The Government’s Sports Strategy 
 

4.7.1 Introduction 
 

The Government’s sports strategy ‘Get Active - A Strategy for the Future of Sport and Physical Activity’ 
(2023) contains three main priorities, outlined below. 
 

4.7.2 Driving participation and addressing inactivity 
 

• ‘Ensuring everyone is focused on increasing physical activity, meaning fewer inactive 
children, and narrowing the gap on inactivity where groups are not being reached, with 
visible progress across the country by 2030’. 

 

• ‘Setting the future direction for facilities and spaces where people can be active by 
delivering multi-million pound investment into grassroots facilities and setting a clear 
strategic ambition for the future. This will mean facilities that reflect the needs of local 
communities, supported by hundreds of millions of pounds of government and local 
authority investment’. 

 
 

183

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/8-promoting-healthy-and-safe-communities#para96
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment#green-infrastructure
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/15-conserving-and-enhancing-the-natural-environment#para171
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/2-achieving-sustainable-development
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/duty-to-cooperate
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/duty-to-cooperate
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-planning
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters#Statutory-consultees-on-applications


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 31 

4.7.3 Strengthening the integrity of sport 
 

• ‘Help the sector to be welcoming to all, by promoting women’s and disability sport, 
championing diversity across the sector and holding the sector to account for investing in 
these groups. This will mean groups feel the benefit of public and private investment, that 
we see meaningful progress by 2030 and that cultural issues which put people off sport are 
relentlessly tackled’. 

 

• ‘Improve how issues and concerns are dealt with in the sector, starting by launching a call 
for evidence around sport integrity issues. This will increase confidence in sport so that 
everyone knows that their welfare is at the heart of the sport system, whatever sport they 
play’. 

 
4.7.4 Making sport more sustainable 
 

• ‘Supporting the sector to access additional, alternative forms of investment to help it 
continue to grow and thrive, and by highlighting best practice, good governance 
mechanisms, and opportunities offered by technology and innovation. This will allow sport 
to thrive for future generations and support the continuation of our sporting institutions’. 

 

• ‘Working towards a more environmentally sustainable sector that delivers on the 
government’s net-zero ambitions. We will do this by championing the role that sport can 
play in sustainability, and bringing together government departments, the sport sector and 
subject matter experts to share information and provide support’. 

 

4.8 Sport England Strategy 
 
4.8.1 Vision 
 

Sport England’s strategy ‘Uniting the Movement’ (2021) contains a vision for ‘a nation of more 
equal, inclusive and connected communities. A country where people live happier, healthier 
and more fulfilled lives’.  

 
4.8.2 Context 

 
The strategy concludes that ‘there are deep-rooted inequalities in sport and physical activity, 
which mean there are people who feel excluded from being active because the right options and 
opportunities are not there:  

 

• Disabled people and people with a long-term health condition are twice as likely to be 
physically inactive than those without a disability or health condition.  
 

• People from a lower socioeconomic group (NS-SEC 6-8) are more likely to be inactive than 
people in higher social groups.  

 

• Women are less active than men and this gender gap starts with girls being less active from a 
very young age.  

 

• People from Asian and black backgrounds are far more likely to be physically inactive than 
people who are white’. 

184



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 32 

 
4.8.3 Advocating movement, sport and physical activity  
 
Proposed actions include: 
 

• ‘Continue to build, establish and grow partnerships and a common purpose across both the 
government and our sector to join up policies, strategies and approaches’. 
 

• ‘Continue to develop and deliver behavioural change campaigns, building on the success of 
‘This Girl Can’, ‘We Are Undefeatable’ and ‘Join the Movement’, to put movement, sport and 
physical activity at the forefront of national conversations’.  

 

• ‘Keep building evidence that shows the links between the issues we all care about as a 
nation and the value of movement, sport and physical activity as part of the solution’. 

 

• ‘Grow the extent to which we communicate, both to people and organisations, the power of 
getting active to help strengthen public consensus around the importance of being 
physically active’. 

 

4.8.4 Five key issues 
 

These are identified as: 
 

• Recover and reinvent: ‘Recovering from the biggest crisis in a generation and reinventing 
as a vibrant, relevant and sustainable network of organisations providing sport and physical 
activity opportunities that meet the needs of different people’. 
 

• Connecting communities: Focusing on sport and physical activity’s ability to make better 
places to live and bring people together.  

 

• Positive experiences for children and young people: Unrelenting focus on positive 
experiences for all children and young people as the foundations for a long and healthy life. 

 

• Connection with health and wellbeing: Strengthening the connections between sport, 
physical activity, health and wellbeing, so more people can feel the benefits of, and advocate 
for, an active life.  

 

• Active environments: Creating and protecting the places and spaces that make it easier for 
people to be active.  

 

4.8.5 Active Environments 
 

The key proposals for facilities are contained in the ‘Active Environments’ theme. This identifies 
three types of provision: 
 

• Dedicated sport and physical activity facilities: ‘Dedicated sport and leisure facilities like 
leisure centres need to be co-created, well designed, supported and maintained to benefit the 
local community and their users’. 

 

• Other community spaces: ‘Not usually designed exclusively for exercise, and certainly not 
for specific sports, these places are a vital resource for many and the activity they host 

185



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 33 

provides a useful income to the venue. They may never be perfect competition or training 
spaces, but they attract people who might never go to a sports club, leisure centre or private 
gym. The development of community spaces like these is important to people who are 
regularly or newly active’. 

 

• The wider built environment: ‘These places and spaces influence how much we move. 
Good design can help to increase activity levels by encouraging walking and cycling. This 
means connecting dedicated sport and activity facilities and community spaces, by making it 
easy for people to walk and cycle, by better design and by using the built and natural 
environments around us’. 

 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address the extent to 
existing sports facilities and the programmes that they deliver address Sport England’s new 
strategic priorities and in particular the emphasis on non-specialist community spaces or informal 
facilities. 
 

4.9 Sport England Playing Pitch Policies 
 

Sport England is a statutory consultee on all planning applications involving either the provision, 
or loss of, playing pitches. It considers proposals affecting playing fields in the context of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (in particular paragraph 97) and against its own playing 
fields policy which states the following: 
 
‘Sport England will oppose the granting of planning permission for any development that would 
lead to the loss, or prejudice the use of: 
 

• All or any part of a playing field, or  
 

• Land which has been used as a playing field and remains undeveloped, or  
 

• Land allocated for use as a playing field.  
 
Unless in the judgement of Sport England, the development as a whole meets one of more of 
the following specific exceptions: 
 

• Exception 1: A robust and up-to-date assessment has demonstrated to the satisfaction of 
Sport England that there is an excess of playing field provision in the catchment, which will 
remain the case should the development be permitted and the site has no special 
significance to the interests of sport. 
 

• Exception 2: The proposed development is for ancillary facilities supporting the principal 
use of the site as a playing field and does not affect the quantity or quality of playing pitches 
or otherwise adversely affect their use. 

 

• Exception 3: The proposal affects only land incapable of forming part if a playing pitch 
and does not: 

 
- Reduce the size of any playing pitch. 

 

186



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 34 

- Result in the inability to use any playing pitch (including the maintenance of adequate 
safety margins and run-off areas). 

 
- Reduce the sporting capacity of the playing field to accommodate playing pitches or the 

capacity to rotate or reposition pitches to maintain their quality. 
 

- Result in the loss of other sporting provision or ancillary facilities on the site. 
- Prejudice the use of any remaining areas of playing field on the site. 

 

• Exception 4: The area of playing field to be lost as a result of the proposed development 
will be replaced prior to the commencement of the development by a new area of playing 
field: 

 

- Of equivalent or better quality. 
 

- Of equivalent or greater quantity. 
 

- In a suitable location. 
 

- Subject to equivalent or better accessibility and management arrangements. 
 

• Exception 5: The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the 
provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport to outweigh 
the detriment caused by the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the area of playing field’. 

 

4.10 Activity Alliance Strategy 

 
The Activity Alliance is the leading voice for disabled people in sport and activity. Established in 
1998 as a national charity, they were previously known as the English Federation of Disability 
Sport. ‘We All Belong’ (2024) is the Alliance’s Strategy for 2025 to 2028: 
 

• Vision:: The vision is for ‘a future where all disabled people feel they belong in sports and 
activities’. 

 

• Mission: This is as follows:  
 

- To improve opportunities to be active, empowering disabled people to get involved in 
sports and activities in the way they choose.  
 

- We will work with disabled people and an alliance of committed partners to build a 
movement for change. 

 

• Ambitions: These are as follows:  
 

- Sports and activities meet disabled people’s needs.  
 

- Disabled people influence campaigning, policy and decision making.  
 

- Address inequalities by working with others. 
 

187



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 35 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to assess the ability of 
sports facilities to accommodate the needs of disabled people and plan the provision of facilities 
and services accordingly.   
 

4.11 The implications for shared strategic outcomes 
 

4.11.1 Policy convergence 
 

The review of strategic influences on pitch and outdoor sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk identifies policy convergence on the following issues: 
 

• Active, healthy communities: There is strong policy support for the creation of active, 
healthy communities, including the provision of affordable accessible facilities with 
appropriate activity programmes. 

 

• Active design: Ensuring that the community provision creates opportunities for active 
travel and an attractive range of co-located facilities is embedded in local and wider policies. 

 

• Protect and retain: Local and national planning policy is supportive of protecting and 
retaining sports facilities for which there is an assessed need. 

 

• Integration with health and social care: Closer links with the health and social care 
system, to ensure that there is better integration between the needs of low participant 
groups and the sport and physical activity opportunities provided is a strong theme. 

 

• Low participant groups: There is universal recognition of which groups have lower 
engagement with sport and physical activity and a shared policy commitment to address 
this. 

 

4.11.2 Shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the shared policy influences, the shared strategic outcomes that provide the 
underpinning rationale for providing sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as 
follows: 
 

• To promote active, healthy communities in the borough, local stakeholders will support the 
provision of sustainable community sport and leisure facilities and the spaces and 
infrastructure that individuals, clubs, schools and individuals can access and use to take part. 

 

• The network of pitch and outdoor sports facilities and supporting community infrastructure 
will be reviewed to ensure that the quantity, quality, accessibility and availability is 
appropriate to the needs of existing and prospective users. 

 

• Closer links will be developed with the health and social care system, including the co-
location of health and sports facilities where feasible and appropriate, to ensure that there is 
better integration between the needs of low participant groups and the sport and physical 
activity opportunities provided. 

188



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 36 

5 FOOTBALL PITCH NEEDS 

 
5.1 Introduction 
 
The key stakeholders delivering football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are: 

 

• Norfolk FA: All football clubs in the borough affiliate to the Norfolk FA, which 
administers the game in the county.  

 

• FA-affiliated clubs: There are 38 FA-affiliated clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
who collectively run 64 adult teams, 88 youth teams and 67 mini-soccer teams (219 teams 
in total). 

 

• Pitch providers: A range of organisations provide football pitches in the borough, in 
particular the council, parish councils clubs and schools. 

 
5.2 Strategic context 
 

5.2.1 The Football Association 
 

‘Time for Change: The FA Strategy 2020-2024’ (2020) has a number of targets with important 
implications for football and its facilities needs at grassroots level (see box below). 

 

• Equal opportunities for every girl: ‘We will work in partnership with schools and teachers to 
provide tailored programmes and training. We will ensure all girls (5-16 years of age) have 
access to an inclusive club with an appropriate competitive pathway (including our innovative 
Wildcats programme)’. 
 

• Deliver 5,000 quality pitches: ‘The poor quality and availability of our pitches remains the 
number one frustration in grassroots football and an embarrassment for our country. 
Significantly improving the quality and durability of our grass pitches and building more 
artificial pitches is a necessity. To achieve this ambition by 2024, we will work through our 
delivery partner the Football Foundation, to build and improve 5,000 pitches across England, 
including using new digital methods to support ground staff up and down the country’. 

 

The Football Association’s ‘National Facilities Strategy’ (2020) also contains a number of longer-
term (10-year) facilities-related targets: 

 

• 1,000 new ‘3G’ football turf pitches in a mix of sizes and settings, dependent upon local 
needs, all aimed at enhancing the quality of the playing experience. 

• 20,000 improved natural-turf pitches: to help address drop-off due to a poor playing 
experience. 

• 1,000 new changing pavilions/clubhouses all linked to priority sites. 

• Small-sided facilities to grow the small-sided game for teams and leagues, recreational and 
informal play. 

 
  

189



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 37 

5.2.2 The Local Football Facility Plan 
 

The ‘Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Local Football Facility Plan’ (LFFP) is strategically aligned to the 
National Football Facilities Strategy (NFFS) a 10-year plan to change the landscape of football 
facilities in England. The NFFS represents a major funding commitment from the funding 
partners (the FA, Premier League and Department for Culture, Media and Sport) and is delivered 
by the Football Foundation to inform and direct an estimated £1 billion of investment into 
facilities over the next ten years. As a ‘live’ document, the LFFP will be updated following the 
completion of the PPS as an up-to-date supply and demand assessment may present findings and 
recommendations that need to be incorporated for investment purposes. LFFPs identify key 
projects to be delivered and act as an investment portfolio for projects that require funding. As 
such, around 90% of all national football investment will be identified via LFFPs. 
 

Overall priorities for football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

• Increase the number of youth teams playing futsal. 

• Grow female participation growth across all ages. 

• Further develop recreational football provision. 

• Expand and develop affiliated leagues operating within the district, including the Mid-
Norfolk Youth Football League, North-West Norfolk Football League and Norfolk Women 
and Girls Football League. 
 

3G’ football turf pitches:  
 

• There is currently one full-sized (11v11) ‘3G’ football turf pitch in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk and one small-sided ‘3G’ pitch. 

• There is a current requirement for an additional three full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitches in 
the borough. Potential sites to meet the shortfall are identified as River Lane Playing Fields 
in Kings Lynn, Downham Market Academy/Downham Market Leisure Centre, the 
Terrington/Clenchwarton area and the Hunstanton/Heacham area. 

 

Grass pitches:  
 

• Nine priority projects for potential investment were identified by local partners based on a 
rationale of selecting sites in the poorest condition that are currently/potentially well-utilised 
and which reflect the strategic focus to improve football participation. 

• Potential sites to meet the shortfall are currently being examined in the Kings Lynn area, the 
Downham Market area and the west of the borough. 

 

Changing rooms/pavilions/clubhouses:  
 

Three priority projects for potential investment were identified as Clenchwarton Recreation 
Ground, King George V Playing Field (Shouldham) and Docking Playing Field. 
 

Small-sided facilities, parks and open green spaces 
 

Two priority projects for potential investment were identified as King’s Way Playing Field, Kings 
Lynn (MUGA) and Fairstead and Gaywood area, Kings Lynn (small-sided informal grass pitch). 

 
 

190



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 38 

5.2.3 Neighbouring local authorities 
 
Football needs assessments in the neighbouring local authorities highlighted the following cross-
boundary issues: 
 

East Cambridgeshire 
 

• The ‘East Cambridgeshire Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2020) identifies that there is a shortfall of all types of 
football pitch, including two ‘3G’ football turf pitches.  

 

• The ‘East Cambridgeshire Local Football Facility Plan’ (2020) notes a shortfall of three ‘3G’ football turf 
pitches. One new ‘3G’ pitch is proposed in Littleport, which is close to the boundary with Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 

 

Fenland 
 

• The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is current and projected 
future spare capacity of all types of grass football pitches but a shortfall of two ‘3G’ football turf 
pitches.  

 

• The ‘Fenland Local Football Facility Plan’ (2019) notes a shortfall of three ‘3G’ football turf pitches. Two 
new ‘3G’ pitches is proposed in Wisbech, which are close to the boundary with Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 

 

South Holland 
 

• The ‘South Holland Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that there is a shortfall of youth and mini-
soccer pitches and a deficit of three ‘3G’ football turf pitches. 

 

• The ‘South Holland Local Football Facility Plan’ (2019) notes a shortfall of three ‘3G’ football turf pitches. 
One new ‘3G’ pitch is proposed in Sutton Bridge, which is close to the boundary with Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 

 

North Norfolk 
 

• The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies significant spare capacity of grass football 
pitches, but no provision of ‘3G’ football turf pitches, leading to a shortfall. 

 

• The ‘North Norfolk Local Football Facility Plan’ (2019) notes a shortfall of three ‘3G’ football turf 
pitches. One new ‘3G’ pitch is proposed in Fakenham, which is close to the boundary with Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

Breckland 
 

• Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of current or 
projected pitch needs. 
 

• The ‘Breckland Local Football Facility Plan’ (2020) notes a shortfall of four ‘3G’ football turf pitches, one 
of which is in Swaffham which is close to the boundary with Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 
 
 

191



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 39 

West Suffolk 
 

• The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies a shortfall of all types of grass football 
pitches and a deficit of six ‘3G’ football turf pitches. 

 

• The ‘West Suffolk Local Football Facility Plan’ (2020) notes a shortfall of six ‘3G’ football turf pitches. 
One new ‘3G’ pitch is proposed in Brandon, which is close to the boundary with Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk. 

 

5.2.4 Implications of the strategic context 
 

The implications of the strategic context for football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as 
follows: 
 

• ‘3G’ pitches: The increased dependence on ‘3G’ football turf pitches for youth football 
and mini-soccer matches will place stresses on existing provision in the borough. 

 

• Neighbouring areas: There is some evidence of deficiencies in pitch provision in 
neighbouring areas which are likely to impact on Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.  

 

5.3 Football pitch demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

5.3.1 Expressed demand 
 

A questionnaire survey was circulated to all FA-affiliated football clubs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk in 2023. The following 15 clubs responded, collectively representing 130 teams, or 
59.4% of all the 219 affiliated teams in the Borough.  
 

• Alive Kings Lynn Community Football 

• Birchwood FC 

• Dersingham Rovers FC 

• Downham Town FC 

• Gayton United FC 

• Heacham FC   

• Heacham Minors FC 

• Holly Meadows Youth FC 

• Kings Lynn Soccer Club 

• Narborough FC 

• Reffley Youth FC 

• Terrington Tigers FC 

• Walpole Community Youth FC 

• Watlington Sports and Social Club FC 

• West Winch Junior FC 
 

The following clubs affiliate to the Norfolk FA and play in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk in 
season 2024/25. Clubs based outside the borough but using Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
pitches are shown in italics, as are any pitches used by Kings Lynn and West Norfolk-based clubs 
that are outside the borough: 
 
 

192



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 40 

Table 9: Football clubs and teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2024/25 
 

Club Match venue(s) Training venue(s) Adult 
teams 

Youth 
(11v11)  

Youth 
(9v9)  

Mini 
(7v7)  

Mini 
(5v5)  

AFC Lynn Napier Leonard Towler Pl. Field  2 2 - - - 

Castle Acre Swifts FC Castle Acre Playing Field  2 1 - - - 

Clenchwarton FC Clenchwarton Playing Field  2 6 4 4 3 

CSKA Emneth  Outwell Playing Field  2 - - - - 

Denver FC Denver Playing Field  - 1 1 - - 

Dersingham Rovers FC The Pastures The Pastures 4 3 3 3 3 

Docking Rangers FC Docking Playing Field  3 - - 1 - 

Downham Town FC Memorial Playing Field 
Rouses Lane Playing Field 

Memorial Pl Field 
Rouses Lane PF 

1 5 4 4 3 

FC Abrui Town River Lane Playing Field  1 - - - - 

FC St. Edmunds Hunstanton Old Hunstanton Pl. Field  1 - - - - 

Feltwell United FC Feltwell Playing Field  2 1 - - - 

Gayton United FC Gayton Playing Field Lynnsport 3 - - - - 

Gaywood FC River Lane Playing Field  1 2 - - - 

Heacham FC Station Road Playing Field Heacham ‘3G’ 3 1 - - - 

Heacham Minors FC Station Road Playing Field Heacham ‘3G’ 2 3 3 5 4 

Holly Meadows Youth FC Holly Meadows School Holly Meadows - 1 2 1 1 

Ingoldisthorpe FC Ingoldisthorpe Pl. Field  2 - - - - 

Kings Lynn Town FC The Walks Stadium The Walks Stadium 6 8 8 7 6 

Kings Lynn Soccer Club West Lynn Playing Field 
Kingsway Playing Field 

Lynnsport 5 4 4 4 6 

Marshland Saints FC Marshland St. James Pl. Fld  2 2 2 2 2 

Northwold FC Northwold Sp. & Soc. Club  1 - - - - 

Reffley Youth FC River Lane Playing Field  1 4 2 1 1 

Shouldham Youth FC KGV Pl. Field, Shouldham  1 3 4 3 3 

Snettisham FC Snettisham Playing Field  - - 1 - - 

South Creake FC South Creake Playing Field  1 - - - - 

Terrington Tigers Youth FC Terrington St. Clement P.F. 
St. Clements High School 

Eagles Golf Centre 
Lynnsport 

3 5 5 4 4 

The Wanderers FC River Lane Playing Field  1 1 - - - 

(The) Woottons FC Wootton Park  4 5 3 2 2 

Upwell Town FC Upwell Playing Field  - 2 2 2 1 

Walpole Community YFC Walpole St. Andrew PF Tilney St. Lawrence - - - - 1 

Watlington Sp. & Soc. Club Watlington Recn. Ground Watlington Rec Gd 4 2 1 2 2 

West Lynn FC West Lynn Playing Field  1 2 1 1 - 

West Winch William Burt FC William Burt Comm. Centre 
Tottenhill Playing Field 

 1 2 2 1 1 

Wisbech Town FC Fenland Stadium Fenland Stadium 4 1 - - - 

TOTALS - - 62 67 51 47 43 

  

193



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 41 

Sub-area analysis: Teams are distributed by sub-area as follows: 
 

Table 10: Football teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Adult 
11v11 

Youth   
11v11  

Youth  
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini  
5v5 

Hunstanton and surrounds 13 13 6 10 4 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 29 45 29 25 24 

Downham Market and Surrounds 20 23 15 12 15 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 62 67 51 47 43 
 

5.5.2 Changes since 2023 
 

Team numbers in 2021/22 compare with the current figures (2024/25) as follows: 
 

• District summary: 
 

Table 11: Changes in football team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2021-2025 
 

Season Adult 
11v11 

Youth   
11v11  

Youth  
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini  
5v5 

2021/22 64 51 37 34 33 

2024/25 62 67 51 47 43 

Change -2 +16 +14 +13 +10 
 

• Changes at club level: 
 

Table 12: Club level changes in football team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2021-2025  
 

Club Year/change Adult 
teams 

Youth 
(11v11)  

Youth 
(9v9)  

Mini 
(7v7)  

Mini 
(5v5)  

TOTAL 

AFC Lynn Napier 2021/22 2 1 0 0 0 3 

2024/25 2 2 0 0 0 4 

Change 0 +1 0 0 0 +1 

AFC Walpole 2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change -1 0 0 0 0 -1 

Birchwood FC 2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change -1 0 0 0 0 -1 

Castle Acre Swifts FC 2021/22 2 1 0 0 0 3 

2024/25 2 1 0 0 0 3 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Castle Rising FC 2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change -1 0 0 0 0 -1 

Clenchwarton FC 2021/22 2 4 2 2 1 11 

2024/25 2 6 4 4 3 19 

Change 0 +2 +2 +2 +2 +8 

  

194



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 42 

Club Year/change Adult 
teams 

Youth 
(11v11) 

Youth 
(9v9) 

Mini 
(7v7) 

Mini 
(5v5) 

TOTAL 

College of West Anglia FC 2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change -1 0 0 0 0 -1 

CSKA Emneth 2021/22 2 0 0 0 0 2 

2024/25 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Denver FC 2021/22 1 1 1 1 0 4 

2024/25 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Change -1 0 0 -1 0 -2 

Dersingham Rovers FC 2021/22 3 1 1 2 0 7 

2024/25 4 3 3 3 3 16 

Change +1 +2 +2 +1 +3 +9 

Docking Rangers FC 2021/22 3 0 0 0 0 1 
2024/25 3 0 0 0 0 1 
Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Downham Town FC 
 

2021/22 2 5 2 3 3 15 
2024/25 1 5 4 4 3 17 

Change -1 0 +2 +1 0 +2 

FC Abrui Town 2021/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2024/25 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Change +1 0 0 0 0 +1 

FC St. Edmunds 
Hunstanton 

2021/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 
2024/25 1 0 0 0 0 1 
Change +1 0 0 0 0 +1 

Feltwell United FC 2021/22 1 1 0 0 0 2 
2024/25 2 1 0 0 0 3 

Change +1 0 0 0 0 +1 

Gayton United FC 2021/22 3 0 0 0 0 3 

2024/25 3 0 0 0 0 3 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gaywood FC 2021/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2024/25 1 2 0 0 0 0 

Change +1 +2 0 0 0 0 

Heacham FC 2021/22 2 0 0 0 0 2 

2024/25 3 1 0 0 0 4 

Change +1 +1 0 0 0 +2 

Heacham Minors FC 2021/22 2 2 2 4 4 14 

2024/25 2 3 3 5 4 17 

Change 0 +1 +1 +1 0 +3 

Holly Meadows Youth FC 2021/22 0 1 3 1 1 6 

2024/25 0 1 2 1 1 5 

Change 0 0 -1 0 0 -1 

Ingoldisthorpe FC 2021/22 2 0 0 0 0 2 

2024/25 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

195



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 43 

Club Year/change Adult 
teams 

Youth 
(11v11) 

Youth 
(9v9) 

Mini 
(7v7) 

Mini 
(5v5) 

TOTAL 

Kings Lynn Town FC 2021/22 4 2 0 0 0 6 

2024/25 6 8 8 7 6 35 

Change +2 +6 +8 +7 +6 +29 

Kings Lynn Soccer Club 2021/22 3 4 1 4 6 18 

2024/25 5 4 4 4 6 23 

Change +2 0 +3 0 0 +5 

Marshland Saints FC 2021/22 2 0 2 2 2 8 
2024/25 2 2 2 2 2 10 

Change 0 +2 0 0 0 +2 

Northwold FC 
 

2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Redgate Rangers FC 2021/22 0 0 2 1 0 3 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change 0 0 -2 -1 0 -3 

Reffley Youth FC 2021/22 1 5 2 1 1 10 

2024/25 1 4 2 1 1 9 

Change 0 -1 0 0 0 -1 

Runcton Holme FC 2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change -1 0 0 0 0 -1 

Shouldham Youth FC 
 

2021/22 1 2 3 2 3 11 

2024/25 1 3 4 3 3 14 

Change 0 +1 +1 +1 0 +3 

Snettisham FC 2021/22 1 0 1 0 0 2 

2024/25 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Change -1 0 0 0 0 -1 

South Creake FC 
 

2021/22 1 0 0 0 0 1 

2024/25 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Terrington Tigers Youth FC 
 

2021/22 2 5 5 3 4 20 

2024/25 3 5 5 4 4 22 

Change +1 0 0 +1 0 +2 

The Wanderers FC 2021/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2024/25 1 1 0 0 0 2 

Change +1 +1 0 0 0 +2 

The Woottons FC 2021/22 3 5 2 1 1 12 

2024/25 4 5 3 2 2 16 

Change +1 0 +1 +1 +1 +4 

Upwell Town FC 2021/22 2 0 0 0 0 2 

2024/25 0 2 2 2 1 7 

Change -2 +2 +2 +2 +1 +5 

Walpole Community YFC 2021/22 0 0 0 0 1 1 

2024/25 0 0 0 0 1 1 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 

196



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 44 

Club Year/change Adult 
teams 

Youth 
(11v11) 

Youth 
(9v9) 

Mini 
(7v7) 

Mini 
(5v5) 

TOTAL 

Watlington Sp. & Soc. Club 
 

2021/22 2 2 1 2 2 9 

2024/25 4 2 1 2 2 11 

Change +2 0 0 0 0 +2 

West Lynn FC 2021/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2024/25 1 2 1 1 0 5 

Change +1 +2 +1 +1 0 +5 

West Winch William Burt 
FC 
 

2021/22 2 2 3 1 2 10 

2024/25 1 2 2 1 1 7 

Change -1 0 -1 0 -1 -3 

Wisbech Town FC 
 

2021/22 4 1 0 0 0 5 

2024/25 4 1 0 0 0 5 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 0 
 

The key expressed demand issues are as follows: 
 

• Team numbers: 59 men’s teams, three women’s teams, 58 youth male (11v11) teams, nine 
youth female (11v11) teams, 40 youth male (9v9) teams, 11 youth female (9v9) teams, 47 
mixed mini-soccer (7v7) teams and 43 mixed mini-soccer (5v5) teams play in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 
 

• England Football accreditation: 26 clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk have 
achieved the FA’s quality-assured England Football Accredited status. In terms of teams, 
85.9% (232 out of 270) are part of an England Football Accredited club in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, compared with the national average of 81.1%. This means that the benefits 
of belonging to an accredited club with formalised safeguarding procedures and qualified 
coaches is enjoyed by all youth and mini-soccer players in the borough. 

 

• Women and girl’s football: Women and girl’s football has grown rapidly in the borough, 
with three adult women’s teams, nine youth 11v11 teams and 11 youth 9v9 teams, although 
it is still below the levels in other parts of the county. 

 

5.3.2 Expressed demand trends 
 

The trend in team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk between season 2021/22 and 
season 2024/24 is as follows: 
 

 Table 13: Changes in football team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Age group and gender Teams 2021/22 Teams 2024/25  +/- % +/- 
Adult male 62 59 -7 -4.8% 

Adult female 2 3 +1 +50% 

Youth 11v11 male 51 58 +7 +13.7% 

Youth 11v1 female 0 9 +9 - 

Youth 9v9 male 36 40 +4 +11.1% 

Youth 9v9 female 1 11 +10 +1,100% 

Mini 7v7 mixed 34 47 +13 +38.2% 

Mini 5v5 mixed 33 43 +10 +30.3% 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 219 270 +51 +23.3% 

197



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 45 

5.3.3 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to play by teams or other users of football pitches from within the 
study area which takes place outside of the area, or vice versa.  

 

• Imported demand from external clubs: Five teams from outside the borough play their 
‘home’ games at pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.  
 

• Exported demand from internal clubs: No teams from Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
play their ‘home’ games at pitches outside the borough. 

 

The net effect of displaced demand for match pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is five 
imported teams. 
 

5.3.4  Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Teams may have access to a pitch for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Pitches of a particular size or type may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and consequent limited capacity of pitches in the area and/or a lack of 
provision and ancillary facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 

The clubs’ survey revealed some evidence of unmet demand.  
 

• Waiting list: Only one club has a membership waiting list. 
 

• Extra pitch needs: Twelve clubs have unmet demand for additional match pitches. 
 

• Extra training needs: Thirteen clubs have unmet demand for additional floodlit, all-
weather training pitches. 

 

5.3.5  Latent demand 
 

Whereas unmet demand is known to exist, latent demand is demand that evidence suggests may 
be generated from a population if they had access to more or better provision. Given the recent 
rapid growth in the game in the borough, there is no evidence of any latent demand. 

 

5.4  Football pitch supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

5.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the detail of football pitch supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The 
pitches included in the analysis are defined as natural or artificial turf areas permanently laid out 
with regulation markings, with the following dimensions as specified in the FA’s ‘Guide to Pitch 
Dimensions’ (2013): 
 
 
 
 

198



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 46 

Table 14: Football pitch standard dimensions  
 

Pitch Type Pitch length Pitch width Size including run-offs 
Adult football 100m 64m 106m x 70m 

Youth football 11v11 (U17-U18) 100m 64m 106m x 70m 

Youth football 11v11 (U15-U16) 91m 55m 97m x 61m 

Youth football 11v11 (U13-U14) 82m 50m 88m x 56m 

Youth football 9v9 (U11-U12) 73m 46m 79m x 52m 

Mini-soccer 7v7 (U9-U10) 55m 37m 61m x 43m 

Mini-soccer 5v5 (U7-U8) 37m 27m 43m x 33m 

‘3G’ Football Turf Pitch 100m 64m 106m x 70m 

 

5.4.2  Full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitches 
 
There is one full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitch in the borough which is on the FA’s ‘3G’ Pitch 
Register. A ‘3G’ surface is created using a blend of grass-like fibres attached to a special backing. 
Unlike older style synthetic pitches which were filled with sand, 3G pitches are filled with sand as 
well as rubber granules. The rubber helps to keep the turf pile upright and makes the surface less 
abrasive. 
 

Table 15: Full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Dimensions  Floodlit  Built  Sub-area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 2NB 101m x 69m Yes 2011 Kings Lynn 

 

5.4.3 Small-sided ‘3G’ football turf pitches 
 
The following small-sided pitches are available for community use. None of the pitches are on 
the FA’s ‘3G’ Pitch Register and therefore they can only be used for training purposes: 
 

Table 16: Small-sided ‘3G’ football turf pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Dimensions Floodlit Built Sub-area 
Eagles Golf Centre School Road, Tilney PE34 4RS 35m x 32m Yes 2019 Kings Lynn 

Station Road Playing 
Field 

Station Road, Heacham  PE32 7EX 58m x 33m Yes 2019 Hunstanton 

 

5.4.4 Other full-sized artificial turf pitches used for football 
 

The following all-weather pitches are available for community use and have some football use: 
 

Table 17: Other artificial grass pitches used for football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Dimensions Surface Floodlit Built Sub-area 
Lynnsport Pitch 1 Greenpark Avenue, Kings 

Lynn PE30 2NB 
99m x 62m Sand-dressed Yes 2018 Kings Lynn 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 Greenpark Avenue, Kings 
Lynn PE30 2NB 

99m x 62m Sand-dressed Yes 2018 Kings Lynn 

 

199



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 47 

5.4.5  Grass football pitches 
 

Provision of grass pitches with regulation line markings and goalposts for organised football are 
as follows. Pitches overmarked on other pitches are shown in brackets: 
 

• Available for community use and used: 
 

Table 18: Grass football pitches with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Adult 
11v11 

Youth   
11v11  

Youth  
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini  
5v5 

Sub-area 

Castle Acre Playing 
Field 

St. James Green, Castle Acre 
PE32 2BD 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Clenchwarton 
Recreation Ground 

Main Road, Clenchwarton 
PE34 4DT 

2 - 1 1 1 Kings Lynn 

Denver Playing Fields 
 

Nightingale Walk, Denver 
PE38 0DS 

1 1 - 1 - Downham 
Market 

Docking Playing 
Field 

Bradmere Road, Docking 
PE31 8NQ 

2 - - 1 - Hunstanton 

Feltwell Playing Field Paynes Lane, Feltwell IP26 
4BB 

1 1 - - - Downham 
Market 

Fenland Stadium Lynn Road, Walsoken PE14 
7AL 

2 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Gayton Playing Field Lime Kiln Road, King’s Lynn 
PE32 1QT 

1 - - - - Kings Lynn 

Holly Meadows 
School 

Vong Lane, King’s Lynn PE32 
1BW 

- 1 1 1 - Kings Lynn 

Ingoldisthorpe 
Playing Field 

The Drift, Ingoldisthorpe 
PE31 6NW 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

Fairstead Drove, Shouldham 
PE33 0DL 

1 - 1 (1) 2 Downham 
Market 

Kingsway Playing 
Field 

Edward Benefer Way, King’s 
Lynn PE30 2HY 

2 - 1 1 - Kings Lynn 

Leonard Towler 
Playing Field 

Mill Road, Wiggenhall St. 
Germans PE34 3HL 

1 - - - - Kings Lynn 

Marshland St. James 
Playing Field 

Smeeth Road, Marshland St. 
James PE14 8ES 

2 - 1 (1) 1 Downham 
Market 

Memorial Playing Field 
 

Lynn Road, Downham Market 
PE38 9QE 

2 
 

- - - - Downham 
Market 

Northwold Sports 
and Social Club 

Hovells Lane, Northwold 
IP26 5LX 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Old Hunstanton 
Sports Pavilion 

Old Hunstanton Road, 
Hunstanton PE36 6HH 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Outwell Playing 
Fields 

Wisbech Road, Outwell PE14 
8PF 

1 - 1 1 (1) Downham 
Market 

River Lane Playing 
Field 

Greenpark Avenue, King's 
Lynn PE30 2NB 

2 - 1 1 1 Kings Lynn 

Rouses Lane Playing 
Field 

Rouses Lane, Downham 
Market PE38 9AN 

1 - 1 2 1 Downham 
Market 

  

200



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 48 

Site Address Adult 
11v11 

Youth 
11v11 

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7 

Mini 
5v5 

Sub-area 

Snettisham Memorial 
Playing Field 

Old Church Road, 
Snettisham PE31 7LX 

1 - 1 - - Hunstanton 

South Creake Playing 
Fields 

Back Lane, South Creake 
NR21 9PP 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Station Road Playing 
Fields 

Station Road, Heacham 
PE31 7EX 

1 1 1 1 1 Hunstanton 

St. Clements High 
School 

Churchgate Way, Terrington 
St. Clement PE34 4LZ 

1 1 - - - Kings Lynn 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

Churchgate Way, Terrington 
St. Clement PE34 4PG 

1 1 1 (1) (1) Kings Lynn 

The Pastures  Manor Road, Dersingham 
PE31 6LN 

2 1 2 1 - Hunstanton 

The Walks Stadium 
 

Tennyson Road, Kings Lynn 
PE30 5PB 

1 - - - - Kings Lynn 

Tottenhill Playing 
Fields 

Whin Common Road. 
Tottenhill PE33 0RS 

1 - - - - Kings Lynn 

Upwell Playing Field New Road, Upwell PE14 
9AB 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Walpole St. Andrew 
Community Centre 

Summer Close, Walpole St. 
Andrew PE14 7JW 

1 - - 1 (1) Downham 
Market 

Watlington Recreation 
Ground 

Church Road, Watlington 
PE33 0HE 

1 - - 1 1 Downham 
Market 

West Lynn Playing 
Field 

St. Peter’s Road, Kings Lynn 
PE34 3LB 

1 - 1 (1) 1 Kings Lynn 

William Burt 
Community Complex 

Watering Lane, Kings Lynn  
PE33 0JY 

- 1 1 1 1 Kings Lynn 

Wootton Park  Cranmer Avenue Kings 
Lynn PE30 3QW 

2 - 1 1 - Kings Lynn 

TOTALS - 40 8 15 14(4) 10(2) - 
 

• Available for community use and not used:  
 

Table 19: Grass football pitches with community use and not used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Adult 
11v11 

Youth   
11v11  

Youth  
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini  
5v5 

Sub-area 

Bircham Newton 
Training Centre 

B1155, Bircham Newton 
PE31 6RH 

2 
 

- - - - Hunstanton 

Brancaster Playing 
Fields 

Cross Lane, King’s Lynn 
PE31 8AE 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Burnham Market 
Playing Field 

Station Road, Burnham 
Market PE31 8HA 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Castle Rising 
Playing Field 

Old Hunstanton Road, 
Castle Rising PE31 6DZ 

1 - - - - Kings Lynn 

Cross Lane Playing 
Fields 

Cross Lane, Stanhoe 
PE31 8PS 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

East Rudham 
Playing Field 

School Road, East 
Rudham PE31 8GN 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

201



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 49 

Site Address Adult 
11v11 

Youth 
11v11 

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7 

Mini 
5v5 

Sub-area 

Emneth Playing 
Field 

Hungate Road, Emneth 
PE14 8DE 

2 2 2 - - Downham 
Market 

Flitcham Playing 
Field 

Abbey Road, Flitcham 
PE31 6BT 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Great Massingham 
Playing Field 

Station Road, Great 
Massingham PE32 2HU 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Hockwold Playing 
Field 

Main Street, Hockwold 
IP26 4LW 

- - - - 1 Downham 
Market 

Hovells Lane 
Recreation Ground 

Hovells Lane, Northwold 
IP26 5LX 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Hunstanton 
Recreation Ground 

Greevegate, Hunstanton  
PE36 6AE 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Marham 
Coronation Playing 
Field 

The Street, Marham PE33 
9JQ 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Methwold 
Recreation Ground 

Crown Street, Methwold 
IP26 4NR 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

North Creake 
Playing Field  

Dunns Lane, North 
Creake NR21 9JX 

- - - 1 - Hunstanton 

Runcton Holme 
Recreation Ground 

School Road, Runcton 
Holme PE33 0AQ 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Sedgeford 
Recreation Ground 

Jarvie Close, Sedgeford 
PE36 5NG 

2 - - 1 - Hunstanton 

Southery Playing 
Fields 

Recreation Drive, 
Southery PE38 0NB 

2 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Stow Bridge Playing 
Field 

Holme Road, Stow Bridge 
PE34 3PW 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Thornham 
Recreation Ground 

High Street, Thornham 
PE36 6LX 

1 - - - - Hunstanton 

Three Holes 
Playing Field 

Squires Drove, Three 
Holes PE14 9JY 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Welney Playing 
Field 

Herne Drove, Welney 
PE14 9SD 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

Wiggenhall St. Mary 
Magdalen Pl. Field 

Park Road, Wiggenhall 
PE34 3BU 

1 - - - - Downham 
Market 

TOTALS - 23 2 2 2 1 - 

  

202



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 50 

• Pitches not available for community use: The following grass pitches on school sites 
are not available for community use: 

 

Table 20: Grass football pitches not available for community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Site Address Adult 
11v11 

Youth 
11v11 

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7 

Mini 
5v5 

Sub-area 

Anthony Curton 
Primary School 

The Chase, Walpole St. Peter 
PE14 7NG 

- 1 - - - Downham 
Market 

Brancaster Primary 
School 

Market Lane, Brancaster 
PE31 8AB 

- - - - 1 Hunstanton 

Burnham Market 
Primary School 

Friars Lane, Burnham 
Norton PE31 8JA 

- - 1 1 1 Hunstanton 

Castle Acre Primary 
School 

Back Lane, Castle Acre 
PE32 2AR 

- - 1 - - Downham 
Market 

Clenchwarton 
Primary School 

Main Road, Clenchwarton 
PE34 4DT 

- 1 - - - Kings Lynn 

Dersingham 
Primary School 

Admirals Drive, 
Dersingham PE31 6LR 

- - 2 - - Hunstanton 

Downham Market 
Academy 

Bexwell Road, Downham 
Market PE38 9LL 

1 1 - - 4 Downham 
Market 

Eastgate Academy Littleport Terrace, Kings 
Lynn, PE30 1QA 

- - - 1 - Kings Lynn 

Gayton Primary 
Academy 

Lynn Road, Gayton PE32 
1PA 

- - - 1 - Kings Lynn 

Glebe House 
School 

2 Cromer Road Hunstanton 
PE36 6HW 

- - 1 3 - Hunstanton 

Great Massingham 
Primary School 

Weasenham Road, Great 
Massingham PE32 2EY 

- - 1 - - Hunstanton 

Howard Junior 
School 

Parkway, Kings Lynn, PE30 
4QJ 

- 1 - - - Kings Lynn 

Hunstanton 
Primary School 

Collingwood Road, 
Hunstanton PE36 5DY 

- - 1 1 - Hunstanton 

Ingoldisthorpe 
Primary School 

Shernborne Road, 
Ingoldisthorpe, PE31 6PE 

- - - 1 - Hunstanton 

King Edward VII 
Academy 

Gayhood Road. Kings 
Lynn PE30 2QB 

1 - 2 - 1 Kings Lynn 

Kings Lynn 
Academy 

Queen Mary Road, Kings 
Lynn PE30 4QG 

4 - - 2 - King’s Lynn  

Litcham School Church Street, Litcham 
PE32 2NS 

1 1 1 1 2 Hunstanton 

Marshland High 
School  

School Road, West Walton 
PE14 7HA 

- 2 - - - Downham 
Market 

North Wootton 
Academy 

Priory Lane, King’s Lynn 
PE30 3PT 

- - - 3 - Kings Lynn 

RAF Marham Woodview Road, Marham 
PE33 9JX 

1 1 - - - Downham 
Market 

Reffley Academy  Reffley Lane, Kings Lynn 
PE30 3SF 

- - - 4 - Kings Lynn 

203



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 51 

Site Address Adult 
11v11 

Youth 
11v11 

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7 

Mini 
5v5 

Sub-area 

Rudham Primary 
Academy 

School Road, East Rudham 
PE31 8RF 

- 1 - - - Hunstanton 

Sandringham and 
West Newton 
Primary School 

School Road, West Newton 
PE31 6AX 

- - - 1 - Hunstanton 

Smithdon High 
School 

Downs Road, Hunstanton 
PE36 5HY 

1 1 1 - 2 Hunstanton 

Springwood High 
School 

Queensway, Kings Lynn 
PE30 4AW 

1 1 3 - - Kings Lynn 

St. Germans 
Primary School  

School Road, Wiggenhall St. 
Germans PE34 3DZ 

- - - 1 - Downham 
Market 

St. Martha’s 
Primary School 

Field Lane, King’ Lynn 
PE30 4AY 

- - - 1 - Kings Lynn 

St. Michael’s 
Primary Academy 

Saddlebow Road, Kings 
Lynn PE30 5BN 

- - - 1 1 Kings Lynn 

South Wootton 
Junior School 

Hall Lane, Kings Lynn, 
PE30 3JZ 

- - 1 1 - Kings Lynn 

Terrington St. John 
Primary School 

School Road, Terrington St. 
John PE14 7SG 

- 1 - - - Downham 
Market 

Walpole Cross 
Keys Primary 
School 

Sutton Road, Walpole Cross 
Keys PE34 4HD 

- - - - 1 Kings Lynn 

Watlington Primary 
School 

Rectory Lane, Watlington 
PE33 0HU 

- 2 - - - Downham 
Market 

West Lynn 
Primary School 

St Peter's Road, West Lynn 
PE34 3JL 

- - - - 1 Kings Lynn 

West Walton 
Primary School 

School Road, West Walton 
PE14 7HA 

- 1 - - - Downham 
Market 

West Winch 
Primary School 

Back Lane, West Winch 
PE33 0LA 

- 1 - - - Downham 
Market 

Whitefriars Primary 
Academy 

Whitefriars Road, King’s 
Lynn PE30 5AH 

- - 1 - - Kings Lynn 

Wimbotsham and 
Stow School 

Church Rd, Wimbotsham, 
King's Lynn PE34 3QG 

- - 1 - - Downham 
Market 

TOTALS - 10 16 17 23 14 - 
 

5.4.6  Provision by sub-area 
 

Pitches with community use and used by sub-area are as follows. Over-marked pitches are shown 
in brackets: 

Table 21: Grass football pitches with community use and used by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Sub-area Adult 11v11 Youth 11v11  Youth 9v9 Mini 7v7  Mini 5v5 
Hunstanton and surrounds 9 2 4 3 1 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 15 4 8 6(2) 4(1) 

Downham Market and Surrounds 16 2 3 5(2) 5(1) 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 40 10 15 14(4) 10(2) 

204



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 52 

5.4.7  Artificial turf pitch quality 
 

The quality of the ‘3G’ football turf pitches in the borough was assessed from site visits, to apply 
the Non-technical Visual Assessment criteria developed for use in conjunction with the ‘Playing 
Pitch Strategy Guidance’. The assessment generates an overall ‘score’ by evaluating the playing 
surface, fencing, floodlighting, disability access and changing provision.  
 

Table 22: ‘3G’ football turf pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Site Pitch Changing Comments 
Alive 
Lynnsport 

Good Good The pitch is ‘good’ quality and the carpet was replaced in 
2024. ‘Good’ quality changing. 

Eagles Golf 
Centre 

Good Good The small-sided pitch is ‘good’ quality. Changing provision 
is adequate. 

Station Road 
Playing Field 

Good Good The pitch and changing facilities were Football Foundation 
funded and are both ‘good’ quality. 

 

5.4.8  Grass pitch quality 
 

The quality of all grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk with community use and 
used was assessed from site visits during the playing season, to apply the Non-technical Visual 
Assessment criteria developed by the FA for use in conjunction with the ‘Playing Pitch Strategy 
Guidance’. The criteria assessed are as follows. A percentage score and associated ratings are 
generated as an overall measure of quality: 

 

• The playing surface: This includes grass cover, pitch dimensions, gradient, evenness, 
length of grass, drainage and evidence of any unauthorised use. 
 

• The changing facilities: This includes the availability of changing rooms, kitchen and/or 
bar, the interior and exterior appearance, showering and toilet provision, medical room, 
disability access and parking arrangements. 

 

• Grounds maintenance: This includes the frequency of grass cutting, seeding, aeration, 
sand-dressing, fertilising, weed killing and chain harrowing. 

 

The ratings for each grass football pitch in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are below. The 
percentage scores generated equate to ratings of ‘Good’ for scores of 100% - 75% (highlighted in 
green below), ‘Standard’ for scores of 74.9% - 50% (highlighted in yellow below), ‘Poor’ for 
scores of 49.9% - 25% (highlighted in red below) and ‘Unsuitable’ below 25%: 
 

Table 23: Grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Site Pitches Pitch  Changing  Comments 
Castle Acre Playing Field Adult pitch Poor Standard ‘Poor’ quality pitch with longstanding 

drainage issues and ‘standard’ changing. 

Clenchwarton Recreation 
Ground 

Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch 2 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Standard ‘Standard’ quality pitches with a floodlit 
training area. Proposals to provide new 
changing facilities in a new community 
centre. 

205



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 53 

Site Pitches Pitch Changing Comments 

Denver Playing Fields Adult pitch 
Youth 11v11 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 

Good 
Good 
Good 

Good ‘Good’ quality pitches with a floodlit 
training area. ‘Good’ quality changing. 

Docking Playing Field Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch2 
Mini 7v7 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Standard ‘Standard’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities. 

Feltwell Playing Field Adult pitch 
Youth 11v11 pitch 

Good 
Good 

Good ‘Good’ quality pitches and changing.  

Fenland Stadium Stadium pitch 
Adult pitch 

Good 
Good 

Good ‘Good’ quality stadium and training 
pitches and changing.  

Gayton Playing Field Adult pitch Poor Poor ‘Poor’ quality pitch with chafer bug 
problems and ‘poor’ changing. 

Holly Meadows School Youth 11v11 pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Standard Pitches at the lower end of ‘standard’ 
quality with some chafer bug problems 
and ‘standard’ changing facilities. 

Ingoldisthorpe Pl. Field Adult pitch Good Good ‘Good’ quality pitches and changing.  

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

Adult pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
(Mini 7v7 pitch) 
Mini 5v5 pitch1 
Mini 5v5 pitch 2 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Poor ‘Standard’ quality pitches with and 
additional floodlit training area. ‘Poor’ 
quality ‘portacabin-style’ changing 
facilities. 

Kingsway Playing Field Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch 2 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Standard ‘Standard’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities. 

Leonard Towler Playing 
Field 

Adult pitch Standard Standard ‘Standard’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities. 

Marshland St. James 
Playing Field 

Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch 2 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
(Mini 7v7 pitch) 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Good Pitches at the lower end of ‘standard’ 
quality. ‘Good’ quality changing. 

Memorial Playing Field, 
Downham Market 
 

Stadium pitch 
Adult pitch 

Good 
Standard 

Standard Stadium pitch is ‘good’ quality, training 
pitch and changing are ‘standard’ 
quality. 

Northwold Sports and 
Social Club 

Adult pitch Standard Standard ‘Standard’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities in social club. 

Old Hunstanton Sports 
Pavilion 

Adult pitch Standard 
Standard 

Standard ‘Standard’ quality sloping pitch with 
‘standard’ quality changing. 

Outwell Playing Fields Adult pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
(Mini 5v5 pitch) 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Standard Pitches at the lower end of ‘standard’ 
quality. ‘Standard’ changing in the 
village hall. 

River Lane Playing Field Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch 2 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Poor 
Poor 
Poor 
Poor 
Poor 

Good ‘Poor’ quality pitches with drainage 
problems. ‘Good’ quality changing 
facilities. 

206



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 54 

Site Pitches Pitch Changing Comments 

Rouses Lane Playing Field Adult pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 1 
Mini 7v7 pitch 2 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

None ‘Standard’ quality pitches, with no on-
site changing. 

Snettisham Memorial 
Playing Field 

Adult pitch  
Youth 9v9 pitch 

Good 
Good 

Standard ‘Good’ quality pitches on cricket 
outfield and ‘standard’ changing 
facilities. 

South Creake Playing 
Field 

Adult pitch Standard Good ‘Standard’ quality pitches with ‘good’ 
changing facilities. 

Station Road Playing 
Field 

Adult pitch 
Youth 11v11 pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 

Good ‘Good’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities, funded by the Football 
Foundation. 

St. Clements High School Adult pitch 
Youth 11v11 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 

None ‘Standard’ quality pitches. No changing 
facilities for community hirers. 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

Adult pitch 
Youth 11v11 pitch  
Youth 9v9 pitch  
(Mini 7v7 pitch) 
(Mini 5v5 pitch) 

Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 

Good ‘Good’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities. 

The Pastures  Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch 2 
Youth 11v11 pitch  
Youth 9v9 pitch 1 
Youth 9v9 pitch2 
Mini 7v7 pitch 

Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 

Standard ‘Good’ quality pitches which benefitted 
from Football Foundation Grass Pitch 
Maintenance Fund with changing ate 
the lower end of ‘standard’ quality. 

The Walks Stadium Stadium pitch Good Good ‘Good’ quality stadium pitch and 
changing. 

Tottenhill Playing Fields Adult pitch Poor None ‘Poor’ quality pitch, no changing. 

Upwell Playing Field Adult pitch Standard Good ‘Standard’ pitch, ‘good’ changing. 

Walpole St. Andrew 
Community Centre 

Adult pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
(Mini 5v5 pitch) 

Good 
Good 
Good 

Poor ‘Good’ quality pitches with ‘poor’ 
quality changing. 

Watlington Recreation 
Ground 

Adult pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Poor Sloping pitches and at the lower end of 
‘standard’ quality. ‘Poor’ ‘portacabin -
style’ changing with no running water. 

West Lynn Playing Field Adult pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
(Mini 7v7 pitch) 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Good 
Good 
Good 
Good 

Poor ‘Good’ quality pitches with ‘poor’ 
quality changing facilities. 

William Burt Community 
Complex 

Youth 11v11 pitch 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 
Mini 5v5 pitch 

Poor 
Poor 
Poor 
Poor 

Poor ‘Poor’ quality pitches and changing 
facilities. 

  

207



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 55 

Site Pitches Pitch Changing Comments 

Wootton Park  Adult pitch 1 
Adult pitch 2 
Youth 9v9 pitch 
Mini 7v7 pitch 

Standard 
Standard 
Standard 
Standard 

Standard Poorly drained pitches at the lower end 
of ‘standard’ quality, changing also at 
the lower end of ‘standard’. 

 

5.4.9  Summary of grass pitch quality 
 

The number and percentage of pitches in each quality band is tabulated below. Just over 15% of 
pitches in the borough are rated as ‘poor’ quality, with consequent reductions in carrying capacity. 
Many more suffer from poor drainage and are rated at the lower end of ‘standard’ quality. 
 

Table 24: Grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality summary 
 

Pitch type Good Standard Poor 
 Number % Number % Number % 
Adult 11v11 14 36.8% 18 47.4% 6 15.8% 

Youth 11v11 5 62.5% 2 25.0% 1 12.5% 

Youth 9v9 6 37.5% 6 37.5% 4 25.0% 

Mini-soccer 7v7 6 31.6% 11 57.9% 2 10.5% 

Mini-soccer 5v5 4 30.8% 6 53.8% 2 15.4% 

TOTAL 36 37.5% 45 46.9% 15 15.6% 

   
5.4.10  Summary of changing facilities quality 
 

The number and percentage of pitches of each type that are served by ‘poor’ quality or no 
changing facilities is tabulated below. 22.9% of pitches are served by ‘poor’ quality or no 
changing facilities and the adverse impact on such a high proportion of pitch users makes it more 
difficult to recruit and retain new players, particularly women and girls. A number of changing 
improvement projects are being developed to address this including KGV (Shouldham), The 
Pastures (Dersingham), Watlington Recreation Ground and William Burt Community Complex.  
 

Table 25: Grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Pitches served by ‘poor’ quality or no changing 
 

Pitch type Number %  
Adult 11v11 5 13.2% 

Youth 11v11 1 12.5% 

Youth 9v9 3 20.8%  

Mini-soccer 7v7 6 31.6% 

Mini-soccer 5v5 7 58.3% 

TOTAL 22 22.9% 

 

5.4.11  Grass pitch maintenance 
 

Football pitch maintenance in the borough is organised as follows: 
 

• Borough Council-owned pitches: The council has an in-house grounds maintenance 
team to undertake football pitch maintenance. 
 

208



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 56 

• Club-managed pitches: Downham Town FC, Kings Lynn Town FC and Wisbech Town 
all maintain the pitches they use. This involves a combination of external contractors and 
volunteer help. 

 

• Parish Council-owned pitches: Parish Council’s generally employ grounds maintenance 
contractors to maintain the football pitches they own. 

 

• Pitches on education sites:  The school sites with community use all employ or contract 
their pitch maintenance staff. 

 

5.4.12  Pitch hire charges 
 
The cost of hiring grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and comparisons with 
other areas are as follows.  
 

Table 26: Grass football pitches: Hire charges in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and neighbouring areas 
 

Pitch Cost per match (£)  
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
Adult pitch 
Youth pitch 

 
£42 

£16.80 

South Holland  
Adult pitch 
Youth pitch 

 
£42.36 
£24.78 

West Suffolk  
Adult pitch  
Youth pitch  
Mini pitch  

 
£44 
£25 
£20 

East Cambridgeshire  
Adult and youth pitches 

 
£40 

Fenland  
Adult pitch 

 
£48.50 

 

The cost of hiring artificial grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and 
comparisons with other areas are as follows: 
 

  

209



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 57 

Table 25: ‘3G’ football turf pitches: Hire charges in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and neighbouring areas 
 

Pitch Cost per match (£)  
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
Lynnsport ‘3G’ pitch 
Whole pitch 
One-third pitch 

 
 

£87 (match) 
£37 (training) 

East Cambridgeshire  
The Hive, Ely 
Full pitch  
Half pitch 

 
 

£65 
£32.50 

Fenland  
Thomas Clarkson Academy, Wisbech 
Full pitch (Adult) 
Full pitch (Junior) 
One-third pitch (Adult) 
One-third pitch (Junior) 

 
 

£57.50 
£47.50 
£32.50 
£27.50 

West Suffolk  
Skyliner Sports Centre, Bury St. Edmunds 
Whole pitch 

 
 

£80 

Breckland District Council 
Dereham Neatherd High School 
Full pitch (adult) 
Full pitch (junior) 

 
 

£80 
£53 

 

The comparison shows that prices in the borough are broadly comparable to neighbouring areas.  
 

5.4.13 Ownership, management and security of access 
 

The ownership, management and security of community access of football pitch sites is detailed 
below. Security of access refers to the extent to which community use is protected (through 
public ownership, community use agreements etc.), rather than the security of tenure of specific 
club users.  

 

Table 26: Grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Ownership, management and security of access 
 

Site Ownership Management Access 
Castle Acre Playing Field Castle Acre Parish Council Castle Acre Parish Council Secured 

Clenchwarton Recreation 
Ground 

Clenchwarton Parish Council Clenchwarton Parish Council Secured 

Denver Playing Fields Denver Parish Council Denver Parish Council Secured 

Docking Playing Field Docking Parish Council Docking Parish Council Secured 

Feltwell Playing Field Feltwell Parish Council Feltwell Parish Council Secured 

Fenland Stadium Wisbech Town FC Wisbech Town FC Secured 

Gayton Playing Field Gayton Estates Gayton United FC Secured 

Holly Meadows School Norfolk County Council Holly Meadows School Unsecured 

Ingoldisthorpe Playing Field Ingoldisthorpe Parish Council Ingoldisthorpe Parish Council Secured 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

Shouldham ParishCouncil Shouldham Parish Council Secured 

210



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 58 

Site Ownership Management Access 

Kingsway Playing Field KL&WNBC KL&WNBC Secured 

Leonard Towler Playing 
Field 

Wiggenhall Parish Council Wiggenhall Parish Council Secured 

Marshland St. James Playing 
Field 

Marshland St. James Parish 
Council 

Marshland St. James Parish 
Council 

Secured 

Memorial Playing Field KL&WNBC Downham Sports Federation Secured 

Northwold Sports and Social 
Club 

Northwold Sports and Social 
Club 

Northwold Sports and Social 
Club 

Secured 

Old Hunstanton Pavilion Redgate Rangers FC Redgate Rangers FC Secured 

Outwell Playing Fields Outwell Parish Council Outwell Parish Council Secured 

River Lane Playing Field KL&WNBC Alive West Norfolk Secured 

Rouses Lane Playing Field Downham Town Council Downham Town Council Secured 

Snettisham Memorial Playing 
Field 

Snettisham Parish Council Snettisham Parish Council Secured 

South Creake Playing Field South Creake Parish Council South Creake Parish Council Secured 

Station Road Playing Field Heacham Parish Council Heacham United FC Secured 

St. Clements High School St. Clements High School St. Clements High School Unsecured 

Terrington Memorial Playing 
Field 

Terrington Parish Council Terrington Parish Council Secured 

The Pastures  Sandringham Estate Dersingham Parish Council Secured 

The Walks Stadium Kings Lynn Town FC Kings Lynn Town FC Secured 

Tottenhill Playing Fields Tottenhill Parish Council Tottenhill Parish Council Secured 

Upwell Playing Field Upwell Parish Council  Upwell Parish Council Secured 

Walpole St. Andrew 
Community Centre 

Walpole Parish Foundation 
and Recreation Trust 

Walpole Parish Foundation 
and Recreation Trust 

Secured 

Watlington Recreation 
Ground 

Watlington Parish Council Watlington S&S FC Secured 

West Lynn Playing Field KL&WNBC Kings Lynn Soccer Club Secured 

William Burt Complex West Winch Parish Council West Winch Parish Council Secured 

Wootton Park  KL&WNBC KL&WNBC Secured 
 

The number and proportion of football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk with 
community use and used that have secured access is as follows.  
 

Table 27: Grass football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Security of tenure 
 

Pitch Type Secured Unsecured 
 Number % Number  % 
Adult football 39 97.5% 1 2.5% 

Youth football (11v11)  6 75.0% 2 25.0% 

Youth football (9v9)  14 93.3% 1 6.7% 

Mini-soccer (7v7) 17 94.4% 1 5.6% 

Mini-soccer (5v5) 12 100% 0 0% 

TOTALS 88 94.6% 5 5.4% 

 
  

211



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 59 

5.5  Geographical distribution 
 

The geographical distribution of football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has been 
assessed by identifying catchments to illustrate local level accessibility. This is based on the results 
of the clubs’ survey, which identifies 15-minutes travel time as the typical maximum for grass 
pitches and 20 minutes for full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitches.  
 

5.5.1 Adult grass pitches 

  

212



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 60 

5.5.2 Youth 11v11 grass pitches 

 
 
 

213



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 61 

5.5.3 Youth 9v9 grass pitches 

 
 
 

214



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 62 

5.5.4 Mini-soccer 7v7 grass pitches 

 
 
 

215



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 63 

5.5.5 Mini-soccer 5v5 grass pitches 

 
 
 

216



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 64 

5.5.6 Full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitches 

 
 
 

217



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 65 

5.5.7 Small-sided ‘3G’ football turf pitches 

  

218



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 66 

5.6  The views of local stakeholders 
 

5.6.1 Norfolk FA 
 

Consultation with the Norfolk FA highlighted that: 
 

• Local Football Facility Plan: The LFFP was produced in 2020 and is currently being 
reviewed in the light of the PPS findings.  
 

• ‘3G’ football turf pitches: A key local issue is the shortage of ‘3G’ football turf pitches.  
 

• Grass pitch quality: Many of the grass pitches in the district have poor quality drainage 
(and consequent reductions in usage capacity). 

 

• Changing facilities: The quality of changing is poor at several key sites. 
 

• Disability football: There are two football teams/sessions in the borough specifically for 
people with a disability. It is a priority of the County FA to sustain this. 

 

• Women and girls football: FA Wildcats girls football centres provide the first step on the 
recreational pathway, the programme provides girls aged 5-11 with regular opportunities to 
play football in a fun and engaging environment. Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has one 
FA Wildcats girls football centre and the priority is to grow and sustain this activity. The 
number of female teams in the borough is lower than local areas of a similar size. The 
County FA’s priority is to support existing clubs to grow and encourage more clubs to 
develop playing opportunities for females. There is no local women and girls’ league in the 
borough, so teams compete in the Norfolk Women and Girls Football League, which 
involves additional travel. 

 

• Recreational football: Recreational football is played where facilities are typically booked 
and there might be someone to help organise. Examples include FA ‘Just Play’ sessions, 
walking football and casual pitch hire for small-sided match play. There are currently no 
FA Just Play centres in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Walking football and Just Play are 
County FA priorities for further growth and development. 

 

• Informal football: Informal football is played in local parks and green spaces - it is free, 
open access and often played spontaneously (normal clothing is worn). Common examples 
include a kick-about at a local park or on a multi-use games area (MUGA.) Currently, 
informal football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is played particularly in the central part 
of the local authority. Lynnsport, The Walks, and River Lane Playing Fields are key heavily 
used site locations. 

 

5.6.2  Local football clubs 
 

Alive Kings Lynn Community Football: The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘We would like to increase our membership and add girls only teams. We currently run 
mixed teams as appropriate’. 
 

• ‘We offer an Ability Counts session for those with disabilities and walking football for 
those over the age of 50 years’. 

219



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 67 

• ‘We are hoping to increase our teams and add new girls teams and a further adult team but 
this will be dependent on facility availability. KLWN and Alive Lynnsport in particular 
would benefit from another 3G pitch’. 

 

Birchwood FC: The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘There are few council owned pitches in West Norfolk and the ones available are very poor 
in quality. The pitches at River Lane are ruined by November’. 
 

• ‘There is a major issue with training pitch facilities in Kings Lynn. This leaves local clubs 
with a lack of resources at peak times’. 
 

Gayton United FC: The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘Our pitch has been attacked by chafer grubs. We have done some work but if they 
reappear we might have to relocate’. 
 

• ‘We have struggled financially due to the high cost of renting pitches’. 
 

Holly Meadows Youth FC: The club commented that ‘our training area has deteriorated 
significantly and we’ve been unable to use it on approximately 6 weeks due to conditions in the 
wet. Very difficult to find alternatives for one-offs or short duration bookings for a few weeks’. 
 
Kings Lynn Soccer Club: The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘We are desperate to find a ground that we can turn into pitches as we are currently being 
out priced by local authority pitches. The cost is not sustainable at £17 per game for youth 
pitches and £60 for 11-a-side pitches. Due to the costs involved we are looking to 
downsize the club meaning less participation for local children and adults’. 
 

• ‘We would like our own facilities to operate as a club. There is adequate land provision in 
the area and we with a tenancy we could seek support from funding initiatives to ensure we 
have pitches that are of good quality and keep the club sustainable’. 

 

Terrington Tigers FC: The club commented that ‘we have too many teams for the number of 
pitches available to us’. 
 

Walpole Community Youth FC: The club commented that ‘Tilney St Lawrence playing field is 
used for winter training under poor floodlights’. 
 

Watlington Sports and Social FC: The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘We are planning to build a new Pavilion with changing and showering facilities to meet 
FA requirements’. 
 

• ‘We have one full-sized pitch so have to use neighbouring village pitch. Also our training 
pitch becomes unusable in the winter months and we struggle to find available 
artificial/indoor pitches for training’. 

 

• ‘We need more all-weather pitches for winter training as facilities at Lynnsport are always 
fully booked up during winter months’. 

220



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 68 

 

West Winch Junior FC: The club commented that ‘we are short of training facilities, especially 
for Winter. This prohibits growth greatly’. 
 

5.7  Changes since 2023 
 

There have been a number of significant changes since 2023: 
 

• The total number of football teams in the borough has grown from 219 to 270, a 23.3% 
increase. 
 

• Women and girl’s football has grown rapidly in the borough, with three adult women’s 
teams, nine youth 11v11 teams and 11 youth 9v9 teams, although it is still below the levels 
in other parts of the county. 

 

• A number of options are currently being considered for additional ‘3G’ pitch provision, 
with a view to providing a total of three pitches (two in the Kings Lynn sub-area, including 
one in the west of the area) and one in the Downham Market sub-area. 

 

5.8  The implications for football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Analysis of local supply of football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk indicates the 
following: 
 

• Local clubs:  There is a strong network of England Football Accredited clubs in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk, providing high quality coaching and playing opportunities, 
although women and girl’s football is developing rapidly locally. 
 

• Unmet demand: Consultation with local clubs indicated that a total of 44 additional teams 
of all age groups could be accommodated in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk if the quality 
and quantity of pitch provision was improved, an increase of 16.3% from the number of 
existing teams. 

 

• Grass pitch supply: An examination of grass pitch supply suggests that there are some 
site-specific pinch points.  

 

• Grass pitch quality: 15.6% of pitches in the borough are rated as ‘poor’ quality, with 
consequent reductions in carrying capacity. Several more are rated at the lower end of 
‘standard’ quality. 

 

• Changing facilities: 22 pitches in the district (22.9%) are served by ‘poor’ quality or no 
changing facilities. A number of changing improvement projects are being developed to 
address this, including Snettisham Memorial Playing Field, The Pastures (Dersingham) and 
Watlington Recreation Ground.  

 

• ‘3G’ football turf pitches: There is only one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, but many local clubs have identified the lack of floodlit, all-weather pitches as an 
impediment to the development of the game locally. Based upon the FA calculation that 
there should be one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch per 38 teams, there should be 7.11 pitches in the 
borough. 

 
 

221



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 69 

• Secured community use: 5.4% of the pitches with community use and used are on sites 
without secured use, meaning that in theory community use could be rescinded at any time. 
Measures to secure community use at education sites, such as formal Community Use 
Agreements, would therefore be advisable. 

 

5.8  Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which football facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 

 

• Football has wide appeal to a large cross-section of the community, although adult team 
numbers in the rural parts of the borough have fallen significantly in recent years.  
 

• Investment in floodlit, all-weather ‘3G’ pitches will be required to maximise the ability of 
the sport to provide good-quality training opportunities. 

 

5.8  Assessment of current needs 
 

5.8.1  Introduction 
 

To assess whether the current supply of pitches is adequate to meet existing demand an 
understanding of the situation at all sites available to the community needs to be developed.  This 
is achieved by providing a brief overview for each site, which comprises: 
 

• A comparison between the carrying capacity of a site with how much demand currently 
takes place there. The carrying capacity of a site is defined as the amount of play it can 
regularly accommodate without adversely affecting its quality and use. Demand is defined 
in terms of the number of ‘match equivalent sessions’ at each site. A ‘match equivalent 
session’ represents the wear and tear on a pitch equivalent to a formal match, so the impact 
of training sessions and unauthorised use can also be accounted for.   
 

• An indication of the extent to which pitches are being used during their peak periods. 
 

The site overviews identify the extent to which pitches are: 
 

• Being overplayed: Where use exceeds the carrying capacity (highlighted in red in the 
tables below). 
 

• Being played to the level the site can sustain: Where use matches the carrying capacity 
(highlighted in yellow in the tables below). 

 

• Potentially able to accommodate some additional play: Where use falls below the 
carrying capacity (highlighted in green in the tables below). 

 

In line with FA guidance, the following assumptions have been made in relation to the number of 
weekly match equivalents that can be accommodated by different quality pitches:  
 

  

222



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 70 

Table 28: Grass football pitches standard carrying capacity 
 

Pitch type Good quality Standard quality Poor quality 
Adult 3 2 1 

Youth 11v11 4 2 1 

Youth 9v9 4 2 1 

Mini-soccer 7v7 6 4 2 

Mini-soccer 5v5 6 4 2 
 

5.8.2 Adult pitches 
 

Table 29: Adult football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance 
 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Castle Acre Playing 
Field 

1 Castle Acre Swifts FC 1.0 2.0 -1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Clenchwarton 
Recreation Ground 

2 Clenchwarton FC 4.0 4.0 Balanced 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Denver Playing 
Fields 
 

1 Denver FC 3.0 1.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Docking Playing 
Field 

2 Docking Rangers FC 4.0 3.0 +1.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Feltwell Playing Field 1 Feltwell United FC 3.0 3.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Fenland Stadium 2 Wisbech Town FC 6.0 4.0 +2.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Gayton Playing Field 1 Gayton United FC 1.0 2.0 -1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Ingoldisthorpe 
Playing Field 

1 Ingoldisthorpe FC 3.0 2.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

1 Shouldham Youth FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Kingsway Playing 
Field 

2 Kings Lynn Soccer Club 4.0 4.0 Balanced 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Leonard Towler 
Playing Field 

1 AFC Lynn Napier 2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Marshland St. James 
Playing Field 

2 Marshland Saints FC 4.0 2.0 +2.0 2.0 1.0 +1.0 

Memorial Playing 
Field 

2 
 

Downham Town FC 5.0 5.0 Balanced 2.0 
 

2.0 Balanced 

Northwold Sports 
and Social Club 

1 Northwold FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Old Hunstanton 
Playing Field 

1 FC St. Edmund’s Hunstanton 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Outwell Playing Field 1 CSKA Emneth 2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

River Lane Playing 
Field 

2 FC Abrui Town 
Gaywood FC 
Reffley Youth FC 
The Wanderers FC 

2.0 2.0 Balanced 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Rouses Lane Playing 
Field 

1 Downham Town FC 2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

  

223



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 71 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Snettisham Memorial 
Playing Field 

1 No recorded use 3.0 0.0 +3.0 1.0 0.0 +1.0 

South Creake Playing 
Fields 

1 South Creake FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Station Road Playing 
Fields 

1 Heacham FC 3.0 2.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

St. Clements High 
School 

1 Terrington Tigers Youth FC 
St. Clements High School 

2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

1 Terrington Tigers Youth FC 3.0 3.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

The Pastures  2 Dersingham Rovers FC 6.0 4.0 +2.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

The Walks Stadium 
 

1 Kings Lynn Town FC 3.0 3.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Tottenhill Playing 
Fields 

1 West Winch William Burt FC 1.0 1.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Upwell Playing Field 1 Upwell Town FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Walpole St. Andrew 
Community Centre 

1 No recorded use 3.0 0.0 +3.0 1.0 0.0 +1.0 

Watlington 
Recreation Ground 

1 Watlington Sports & Social 
Club 

2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

West Lynn Playing 
Field 

1 Kings Lynn Soccer Club 
West Lynn FC 

3.0 3.0 Balanced 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Wootton Park  2 The Woottons FC 4.0 4.0 Balanced 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

TOTALS 40 - 89.0 69.0 +20.0 40.0 40.0 Balanced 

 
The supply-demand balance for adult pitches by sub-area is as follows: 
 

Table 30: Adult football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton and surrounds 23.0 13.0 +10.0 8.0 7.0 +1.0 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 33.0 37.0 -4.0 18.0 22.0 -4.0 

Downham Market and Surrounds 33.0 19.0 +14.0 13.0 11.0 +2.0 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 89.0 69.0 +20.0 39.0 40.0 -1.0 

 
The key findings are: 
 

• Peak time utilisation shows an overall deficit at four sites, is balanced at 24 sites and shows 
spare capacity at three sites. 

 

• The collective peak time supply-demand position in adult pitch capacity in the borough is 
balanced. This figure becomes to a deficit of 1.0 match equivalent session if the St. 
Clements High School pitch without secured community access is excluded. 

 
 

  

224



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 72 

5.8.3 Youth 11v11 pitches 
 

Table 31: Youth 11v11 football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance 
 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Denver Playing Fields 1 Denver FC 4.0 1.0 +3.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Feltwell Playing Field 1 Feltwell Youth FC 4.0 1.0 +3.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Holly Meadows School 1 Holly Meadows Youth FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Station Road Playing 
Fields 

1 Heacham Minors FC 4.0 3.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

St. Clements High 
School 

1 Terrington Tigers Youth FC 
St. Clements High School 

2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

1 Terrington Tigers Youth FC 4.0 4.0 Balanced 1.0 3.0 -2.0 

The Pastures  1 Dersingham FC 4.0 3.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

William Burt 
Community Complex 

1 West Winch William Burt 
FC 

1.0 2.0 -1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

TOTALS 8 - 25.0 17.0 +8.0 8.0 12.0 -4.0 

 
The supply-demand balance for youth 11v11 pitches by sub-area is as follows: 
 
Table 32: Youth 11v11football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance by sub-area 

 

Sub-area Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton and surrounds 8.0 6.0 +2.0 2.0 4.0 -2.0 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 9.0 9.0 Balanced 4.0 6.0 -2.0 

Downham Market and Surrounds 8.0 2.0 +6.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 25.0 17.0 +8.0 8.0 12.0 -4.0 

 
The key findings are: 
 

• Peak time use shows a deficit at three sites and balanced provision at five sites. 
 

• The collective peak time deficit in the borough is 4.0 match equivalent sessions. This figure 
increases to 5.0 match equivalent sessions if the St. Clements High School pitches without 
secured community access is excluded. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

225



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 73 

5.8.4  Youth 9v9 pitches 
 

Table 33: Youth 9v9 football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance 

 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Clenchwarton 
Recreation Ground 

1 Clenchwarton FC 2.0 4.0 -2.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Holly Meadows School 1 Holly Meadows Youth FC 2.0 3.0 -1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

1 Shouldham Youth FC 2.0 4.0 -2.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Kingsway Playing Field 2 Kings Lynn Soccer Club 4.0 4.0 Balanced 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Marshland St. James 
Playing Field 

1 Marshland Saints FC 2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

River Lane Playing 
Field 

1 Reffley Youth FC 1.0 2.0 -1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Rouses Lane Playing 
Field 

1 Downham Town FC 2.0 4.0 -2.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Snettisham Memorial 
Playing Field 

1 Snettisham FC 4.0 1.0 +3.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Station Road Playing 
Fields 

1 Heacham Minors FC 4.0 3.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

1 Terrington Tigers Youth FC 4.0 5.0 -1.0 1.0 3.0 -2.0 

The Pastures  2 Dersingham FC 8.0 3.0 +5.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

West Lynn Playing 
Field 

1 Kings Lynn Soccer Club 
West Lynn FC 

4.0 1.0 +3.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

William Burt 
Community Complex 

1 West Winch William Burt 
FC 

1.0 2.0 -1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Wootton Park  1 (The) Woottons FC 2.0 3.0 -1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

TOTALS 16 - 42.0 41.0 +1.0 16.0 23.0 -7.0 

 
The supply-demand balance for youth 9v9 pitches by sub-area is as follows: 
 

Table 34: Youth 9v9 football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton and surrounds 16.0 4.0 +12.0 4.0 5.0 -1.0 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 22.0 29.0 -7.0 10.0 14.0 -4.0 

Downham Market and Surrounds 4.0 8.0 -4.0 2.0 4.0 -2.0 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 42.0 41.0 +1.0 16.0 23.0 -7.0 

 
The key findings are: 
 

• There is a peak time deficit at six sites and a balance at eight sites. 
 

• The collective peak time deficit is 7.0 match equivalent session, which increases to 8.0 
match equivalent sessions if the Holly Meadows School pitch without secured community 
access is excluded. 

 

226



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 74 

5.8.5 Mini-soccer 7v7 pitches 
 

Table 35: Mini-soccer 7v7 pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance 
 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Clenchwarton Recreation 
Ground 

1 Clenchwarton FC 4.0 4.0 Balanced 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Denver Playing Field 1 No recorded use 6.0 0.0 +6.0 1.0 0.0 +1.0 

Docking Playing Field 1 Docking Rangers FC 4.0 1.0 +3.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Holly Meadows School 1 Holly Meadows School 4.0 2.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

(1) Shouldham Youth FC 2.0 3.0 -1.0 1.0 3.0 -1.0 

Kingsway Playing Field 1 Kings Lynn Soccer Club 4.0 2.0 +2.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Marshland St. James 
Playing Field 

(1) Marshland Saints FC 2.0 2.0 Balanced 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

River Lane Playing Field 1 Reffley Youth FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Rouses Lane Playing Field 2 Downham Town FC 8.0 4.0 +4.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Station Road Playing Field 1 Heacham Minors FC 6.0 5.0 +1.0 1.0 3.0 -2.0 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

(1) Terrington Tigers Youth 
FC 

3.0 4.0 -1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

The Pastures  1 Dersingham Rovers FC 6.0 3.0 +3.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Walpole St. Andrew 
Community Centre 

1 No recorded use 6.0 0.0 +6.0 1.0 0.0 +1.0 

Watlington Recreation 
Ground 

1 Watlington Sp. & Soc. 
Club 

4.0 2.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

West Lynn Playing Field (1) Kings Lynn Soccer Club 3.0 2.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

William Burt Community 
Complex 

1 West Winch William 
Burt FC 

2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Wootton Park  1 (The) Woottons FC 4.0 2.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

TOTALS 14(4) - 70.0 38.0 +32.0 18.0 25.0 -7.0 
 

The supply-demand balance for mini-soccer 7v7 pitches by sub-area is as follows: 
 

Table 36: Mini-soccer 7v7 pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance by sub-area 

 

Sub-area Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton and surrounds 9.0 4.0 +5.0 1.0 3.0 -2.0 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 36.0 22.0 +14.0 10.0 12.0 -2.0 

Downham Market and Surrounds 25.0 12.0 +13.0 7.0 20.0 -3.0 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 70.0 38.0 +32.0 18.0 25.0 -7.0 

 
The key findings are: 
 

• There is a peak time deficit at seven sites, use is balanced at eight sites and there is spare 
capacity at two sites. 

 

• The collective peak time position shows a deficit of 7.0 match equivalent sessions, which 
increases to 8.0 match equivalent sessions if the Holly Meadows School pitch without 
secured community access is excluded. 

227



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 75 

5.8.6  Mini-soccer 5v5 pitches 
 

Table 37: Mini-soccer 5v5 pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance 
 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Clenchwarton Recreation 
Ground 

1 Clenchwarton FC 4.0 3.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

2 Shouldham Youth FC 8.0 3.0 +5.0 2.0 2.0 Balanced 

Marshland St. James 
Playing Field 

1 Marshland Saints FC 4.0 2.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

River Lane Playing Field 1 Reffley Youth FC 2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Rouses Lane Playing Field 1 Downham Town FC 4.0 3.0 +1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Station Road Playing Field 1 Heacham Minors FC 6.0 4.0 +2.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

(1) Terrington Tigers Youth 
FC 

3.0 4.0 -1.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Walpole St. Andrew 
Community Centre 

(1) Walpole Community YFC 3.0 1.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

Watlington Recreation 
Ground 

1 Watlington Sp. & Soc. 
Club 

4.0 2.0 +2.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

West Lynn Playing Field 1 Kings Lynn Soccer Club 6.0 6.0 Balanced 1.0 3.0 -2.0 

William Burt Community 
Complex 

1 West Winch William Burt 
FC 

2.0 1.0 +1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

TOTALS 10(2) - 46.0 30.0 +16.0 12.0 18.0 -6.0 

 

The supply-demand balance for mini-soccer 5v5 pitches by sub-area is as follows: 
 

Table 38: Mini-soccer 5v5 pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton and surrounds 6.0 4.0 +2.0 1.0 2.0 -1.0 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 17.0 14.0 +3.0 5.0 8.0 -3.0 

Downham Market and Surrounds 23.0 12.0 +11.0 6.0 8.0 -2.0 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 46.0 30.0 +16.0 12.0 18.0 -6.0 

 
The key findings are: 
 

• Peak time utilisation shows an overall deficit at five sites and is balanced at six sites. 
  

• The collective peak time position shows a deficit of 6.0 match equivalent sessions. 
 

  

228



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 76 

5.8.7  ‘3G’ football turf pitches 
 
There is only one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, plus two small-sided 
pitches. These provide collectively the equivalent of 78 team training sessions per week (based on 
38 sessions on a full-sized pitch and 20 sessions on a small-sided pitch). 13 of 15 local clubs 
responding to the clubs survey identified unmet demand for additional floodlit, all-weather 
training pitches and there is very limited spare capacity in the peak period at existing pitches. 
Based upon the FA calculation that there should be one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch per 38 teams, there 
should be 7.10 full-sized pitches in Kings Lynn. If the 44 additional teams identified by local 
clubs as representing unmet demand are included, the requirement increases to 8.26 pitches. If 
the capacity provided by the existing small-sided ‘3G’ pitches is included, the net shortfall is 6.21 
pitches if unmet demand is included. The breakdown by sub-area based on expressed demand is 
as follows: 
 

Sub-area No. teams Weekly capacity 
(sessions) 

Balance 
(sessions) 

Balance (full-
sized pitches) 

Hunstanton and surrounds 46 20 -26 0.68 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 144 58 -86 2.26 

Downham Market and Surrounds 80 0 -80 2.11 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 270 78 -192 5.05 

 

5.9  Changes since 2023 
 
The supply-demand balance for pitches with secured community access in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk has changed as follows since 2023. All deficits have increased, with the exception of 
adult grass pitches: 

 

Pitch type Balance 2022/23 Balance 2024/25 Change 
Adult -4.0 -1.0 +3.0 

Youth 11v11 -1.0 -5.0 -4.0 

Youth 9v9 -2.0 -8.0 -6.0 

Mini 7v7 -4.0 -8.0 -4.0 

Mini 5v5 -5.0 -6.0 -1.0 

‘3G’ football turf pitch -3.71 -5.05 -1.34 

 
5.10 Assessment of future needs 
 

5.10.1  Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 
 

229



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 77 

5.10.2  Potential changes in demand 
 
Consultation with local clubs indicated that the following additional teams could be 
accommodated if the quality and quantity of pitch provision was improved. The projected 
increase is equivalent to a 16.3% rise in current team numbers.  
 

Table 39: Potential additional football teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Club Adult 
teams 

Youth 
(11v11)  

Youth 
(9v9)  

Mini 
(7v7)  

Mini 
(5v5)  

Alive Kings Lynn Community Football 1 1 1 1 1 

Downham Town FC 3 2 1 1 1 

Heacham Minors FC 0 1 0 0 1 

Kings Lynn Soccer Club 0 0 0 1 2 

Reffley Youth FC 1 1 1 1 1 

Terrington Tigers FC 0 0 2 2 2 

Walpole Community Youth FC 0 0 0 1 1 

Watlington Sports and Social Club FC 1 1 1 2 2 

West Winch Junior FC 1 1 1 1 1 

TOTALS 8 7 7 10 12 
 

5.10.3  Site-specific pressures 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council needs to identify to deliver its housing targets. 
Whilst planning policy offers protection to playing pitches, some sites may be vulnerable unless it 
can be proved that they are needed to accommodate existing or future shortfalls in supply or 
serve some other green space functions. At present, the analysis in section 5.8 above shows that 
there is no effective spare capacity in the peak periods, so the case for retention is strong. 
 

5.10.4 Potential changes in supply 
 

A number of options are currently being considered for additional ‘3G’ pitch provision, with a 
view to providing a total of three pitches (two in the Kings Lynn sub-area, including one in the 
west of the area) and one in the Downham Market sub-area. 
 

5.10.5 Existing spare capacity 
 

The existing position for grass football pitch peak-time capacity has been calculated in terms of 
‘match equivalent sessions’ in section 5.8 above and is as follows, for all sites and for sites with 
secured community access only. It is important to note that the shortfalls cannot be met by 
improvements to pitch quality (and related capacity), because they relate to peak period demand, 
which is defined by the number of pitches: 
 

Table 40: Grass football pitch peak-time capacity in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Pitch type All sites Secured sites 
Adult  Balanced -1.0 

Youth 11v11 -4.0 -5.0 

Youth 9v9 -7.0 -8.0 

Mini-soccer 7v7 -7.0 -8.0 

Mini-soccer 5v5 -5.0 -6.0 

 

230



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 78 

Peak-time utilisation rates of ‘3G’ pitches in the borough is as follows. There is no effective spare 
capacity. 

Table 41: ‘3G’ football turf pitch peak-time capacity in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Used hours % capacity 
Alive Lynnsport 20 100% 

Eagles Golf Centre 10* 50%* 

Station Road Playing Field 20 100% 

TOTALS 50 83.3% 
 

 * Limited usage because primarily a golf centre and relatively remote location. 
 

5.10.6  Future grass pitch needs 
 

Future formal grass pitch needs to 2040 are modelled below using ‘Team Generation Rates’ 
(TGRs), which identify how many people in a specified age group in the borough are required to 
generate one team. These are then applied to projected changes in population to identify the 
likely number of teams in the future: 
 

Table 42: Football Team Generation Rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

• ONS projections:  
 

Sport Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

Unmet 
demand 

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Adult male football 17-45 23,760 55 0 1: 432 22,464 52 -3 

Adult female football 17-45 23,980 7 8 1: 1,599 21,177 12 -2 

Boys youth 11v11 football 12-16 3,980 58 0 1: 69 3,943 57 -1 

Girls youth 11v11 football 12-16 3,820 9 7 1: 239 3,725 16 0 

Boys youth 9v9 football 10-11 1,640 40 0 1: 41 1,574 38 -2 

Girls youth 9v9 football 10-11 1,640 11 7 1: 91 1,498 16 -2 

Mini-soccer 7v7 (mixed) 8-9 3,428 47 10 1: 60 3,038 51 -6 

Mini-soccer 5v5 (mixed) 6-7 3,428 43 12 1: 63 3,038 48 -7 

 

• Housing projections:  
 

Sport Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

Unmet 
demand 

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Adult male football 17-45 23,760 55 0 1: 432 28,585 69 +16 

Adult female football 17-45 23,980 7 8 1: 1,599 27,481 17 +2 

Boys youth 11v11 football 12-16 3,980 58 0 1: 69 4,621 67 +9 

Girls youth 11v11 football 12-16 3,820 9 7 1: 239 4,435 19 +3 

Boys youth 9v9 football 10-11 1,640 40 0 1: 41 2,148 52 +12 

Girls youth 9v9 football 10-11 1,640 11 7 1: 91 2,148 24 +6 

Mini-soccer 7v7 (mixed) 8-9 3,428 47 10 1: 60 3,980 66 +8 

Mini-soccer 5v5 (mixed) 6-7 3,428 43 12 1: 63 3,980 63 +8 

 

  

231



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 79 

5.10.7 Future ‘3G’ pitch needs 
 

Based upon the ONS projections, the net reduction in team numbers of 23 by 2040 will reduce  
demand equivalent to 0.61 full-sized ‘3G’ football turf pitches. Based on the housing projections, 
the increase of 64 teams will increase demand equivalent to 1.68 full-sized ‘3G’ football turf 
pitches (this is the likelier outcome). 

 
5.11 Key findings and issues 

 

5.11.1 What are the main characteristics of current supply and demand? 
 

• Local clubs:  There is a strong network of England Football Accredited clubs in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk, providing high quality coaching and playing opportunities, 
although women and girl’s football is developing rapidly locally. 
 

• Unmet demand: Consultation with local clubs indicated that a total of 44 additional teams 
of all age groups could be accommodated in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk if the quality 
and quantity of pitch provision was improved, an increase of 16.3% from the number of 
existing teams. 

 

• Grass pitch supply: An examination of grass pitch supply suggests that there are some 
site-specific pinch points.  

 

• Grass pitch quality: 15.6% of pitches in the borough are rated as ‘poor’ quality, with 
consequent reductions in carrying capacity. Several more are rated at the lower end of 
‘standard’ quality. 

 

• Changing facilities: 22 pitches in the district (22.9%) are served by ‘poor’ quality or no 
changing facilities. A number of changing improvement projects are being developed to 
address this, including Snettisham Memorial Playing Field, The Pastures (Dersingham) and 
Watlington Recreation Ground.  

 

• ‘3G’ football turf pitches: There is only one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, but many local clubs have identified the lack of floodlit, all-weather pitches as an 
impediment to the development of the game locally. Based upon the FA calculation that 
there should be one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch per 38 teams, there should be 7.11 pitches in the 
borough. 

 

• Secured community use: 5.4% of the pitches with community use and used are on sites 
without secured use, meaning that in theory community use could be rescinded at any time. 
Measures to secure community use at education sites, such as formal Community Use 
Agreements, would therefore be advisable. 
 

5.11.2 Is there enough accessible and secured community use to meet current 
demand? NO - there is a significant deficit for all pitch types in the peak period 

 

• Adult grass pitches: There is a collective peak deficit of 4.0 weekly match equivalent 
sessions at accessible, community-secured sites.  
 

232



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 80 

• Youth 11v11 pitches: There is a collective peak deficit of 1.0 weekly match equivalent 
sessions at the community-secured sites. 

 

• Youth 9v9 pitches: There is a collective peak deficit of 2.0 weekly match equivalent 
session at community-secured sites. 

 

• Mini-soccer 7v7 pitches: There is a collective peak deficit of 4.0 weekly match equivalent 
session at community-secured sites. 

 

• Mini-soccer 5v5 pitches: There is a collective peak deficit of 5.0 weekly match equivalent 
sessions at the community-secured sites. 

 

• ‘3G’ football turf pitches: Based on the FA’s calculation of training needs, there should 
be an extra 4.8 ‘3G’ pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, if the 44 additional teams 
identified by local clubs as representing unmet demand are included. 

 
5.11.3 Is the accessible provision of suitable quality and appropriately maintained? 

NO – More than one-sixth of pitches are ‘poor’ quality 
 

• Quality: 15.6% of pitches in the borough are rated as ‘poor’ quality, with consequent 
reductions in carrying capacity. Many more suffer from poor drainage and so are rated at 
the lower end of ‘standard’ quality. 
 

• Maintenance: Improved maintenance at 32 ‘poor’ quality and low rated ‘standard’ quality 
pitches in the borough would improve their carrying capacity. 

 

5.11.4 What are the main characteristics of future supply and demand? 
 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

• Changes in demand: Projecting future need based on current demand patterns (including 
identified unmet demand) is a reasonable basis for forecasting. 

 

• Changes in supply: Potential sites for three ‘3G’ football turf pitches in the borough have 
been identified, but none have been subject to a detailed feasibility study. 
 

• Existing spare capacity: There is no current space capacity in the peak period.  
 

• Future needs: Based on the two projected population growth scenarios, demand for 
football pitches by 2040 will vary as follows: 

 
 
 
 

233



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 81 

Table 43: Future football pitch demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Pitch type ONS projections Housing growth projections 
Adult  -5.0 +18.0 

Youth 11v11 -1.0 +12.0 

Youth 9v9 -4.0 +18.0 

Mini-soccer 7v7 -6.0 +8.0 

Mini-soccer 5v5 -7.0 +8.0 

‘3G’ football turf -0.61 +1.68 

 

5.11.5 Is there enough accessible and secured provision to meet future demand? NO 
- there is a deficit for all pitch types under the higher population projections, 
and the currently unused pitches in the borough are in the wrong locations to 
meet the new demand. 

 

On the basis of the housing projections, the following additional pitch capacity will be needed: 
 

Table 44: Additional future football pitch capacity required in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Pitch type Extra pitches 
Adult  18 

Youth 11v11 12 

Youth 9v9 18 

Mini-soccer 7v7 8 

Mini-soccer 5v5 8 

‘3G’ 1.68 
 

The additional capacity can be provided in four ways: 
 

• New pitch provision: Securing the provision of additional pitches at part of new housing 
developments in the borough. 
 

• Pitch quality improvements: If the ‘poor’ quality pitches were upgraded to ‘standard’ 
quality, it would add significant additional capacity. 

 

• Reinstating disused pitches: There are 30 pitches in the borough (23 of them adult 
pitches) where use has recently been discontinued and some of these could be reinstated, 
although they are not necessarily in the geographical areas of greatest demand. 

 

• Using pitches on school sites with no community use: There are 80 pitches on school 
sites with no community at present. Gaining access to these would provide significant 
additional pitch capacity. Active Norfolk received funding from Sport England’s School 
Sport and Activity Action Plan for three years from 2022 to help support developing 
access to school facilities outside of core hours, which will support this process. Providing 
community access to the existing grass pitches at Downham Market Academy should be a 
priority. 

 
 

234



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 82 

5.12 Scenario testing  
 

5.12.1 Introduction 
 

Based upon the key findings and issues identified above, a number of scenarios have been 
examined, to identify the optimum approach to addressing needs. 
 

5.12.2 Scenario 1: Reinstating disused pitches 
 

• Rationale: The following pitches on in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are not currently 
used, but have the potential to be reinstated subject to local demand: 
 

Table 45: Disused football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk with potential club users  
 

Site Adult 
11v11 

Youth   
11v11  

Youth  
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini  
5v5 

Potential club users 

Bircham Newton Training Centre 2 - - - - - 

Brancaster Playing Fields 1 - - - - - 

Burnham Market Playing Field 1 - - - - - 

Castle Rising Playing Field 1 - - - - - 

Cross Lane Playing Fields 1 - - - - - 

East Rudham Playing Field 1 - - - - - 

Emneth Playing Field 2 2 2 - - - 

Flitcham Playing Field 1 - - - - - 

Great Massingham Playing Field 1 - - - - Castle Acre FC 

Hockwold Playing Field - - - - 1 - 

Hovells Lane Recreation Ground 1 - - - - - 

Hunstanton Recreation Ground 1 - - - - Heacham FC 

Marham Coronation Playing Field 1 - - - - - 

Methwold Recreation Ground 1 - - - - - 

North Creake Playing Field  - - - 1 - - 

Runcton Holme Recreation Ground 1 - - - - - 

Sedgeford Recreation Ground 2 - - 1 - Heacham FC 

Southery Playing Fields 2 - - - - - 

Stow Bridge Playing Field 1 - - - - Downham Town FC 

Thornham Recreation Ground 1 - - - - - 

Three Holes Playing Field 1 - - - - CSKA Emneth 

Welney Playing Field 1 - - - - - 

Wiggenhall St. Mary Magdalen Pl. Field 1 - - - - Watlington SSC 

TOTALS 23 2 2 2 1 - 
 

• The table below models the effect of gaining access to disused pitches to meet current 
unmet community demand. It shows that additional capacity would still need to be 
provided for youth 9v9, mini 7v7 and mini 5v5 pitches, the amount of provision required 
would be reduced. It would nevertheless make sense to consider investigating the 
potential for securing use of some of these pitches to meet additional future demand, 
where they are geographically accessible to teams with unmet demand, prior to making 
entirely new provision. 

 
 
 

235



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 83 

Table 46: The impact of reinstating disused football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Pitch type Disused 
pitches 

Peak match 
equivalent 
capacity 

Unmet current peak 
demand (match 

equivalents) 

Balance  

Adult football 23 20.0 -1.0 +19.0 

Youth 11v11 2 2.0 -5.0 -3.0 

Youth 9v9 2 2.0 -8.0 -6.0 

Mini 7v7 2 2.0 -8.0 -6.0 

Mini 5v5 1 1.0 -6.0 -5.0 

 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The pitches already exist and therefore could be brought into use at little or no 
additional cost, depending on the current quality of the respective pitches. 

 
-  The pitches should be available during the peak demand periods at weekends. 

 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 
- The locations of most pitches are in rural parts of the borough, where demand is 

low and they are too distant for teams with surplus demand (particularly those on 
Kings Lynn and Terrington), to access within a realistic time/distance. 

 
- No assessment has been made of the quality of the disused pitches, so the extent of 

their capacity to accommodate additional use is unknown. 
 

• Conclusions: This scenario offers some limited opportunities for enhancing local pitch 
capacity on a cost-effective basis and should therefore be examined further on a site-by-
site basis. 

 

5.12.3 Scenario 2: Accessing pitches on education sites 
 

• Rationale: The following pitches on school sites in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk have 
no community use at present. The football clubs with current unmet needs that would 
benefit most from getting access to the pitches are listed alongside each site: 
 

Table 47: Football pitches without community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site  Adult  Youth 
11v11  

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini 
5v5 

Football Club 

Anthony Curton Primary School - 1 - - -  

Brancaster Primary School - - - - 1  

Burnham Market Primary School - - 1 1 1  

Castle Acre Primary School - - 1 - -  

Clenchwarton Primary School - 1 - - -  

Dersingham Primary School - - 2 - -  

Downham Market Academy 1 1 - - 4 Downham Town FC 

Eastgate Academy - - - 1 -  

Gayton Primary Academy - - - 1 - Kings Lynn Soccer Club 

236



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 84 

Site Adult Youth 
11v11 

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7 

Mini 
5v5 

Football Club 

Glebe House School - - 1 3 -  

Great Massingham Primary School - - 1 - -  

Howard Junior School - 1 - - - Kings Lynn Soccer Club 

Hunstanton Primary School - - 1 1 -  

Ingoldisthorpe Primary School - - - 1 -  

King Edward VII Academy 1 - 2 - 1 Gayton United FC 

Kings Lynn Academy 4 - - 2 - Kings Lynn Soccer Club 

Litcham School 1 1 1 1 2  

Marshland High School  - 2 - - -  

North Wootton Academy - - - 3 -  

RAF Marham 1 1 - - -  

Reffley Academy  - - - 4 -  

Rudham Primary Academy - 1 - - -  

Sandringham & West Newton PS - - - 1 -  

Smithdon High School 1 1 1 - 2  

Springwood High School 1 1 3 - - Gayton United FC 

St. Germans Primary School  - - - 1 -  

St. Martha’s Primary School - - - 1 -  

St. Michael’s Primary Academy - - - 1 1  

South Wootton Junior School - - 1 1 -  

Terrington St. John Primary School - 1 - - - Terrington Tigers FC 

Walpole Cross Keys Primary School - - - - 1  

Watlington Primary School - 2 - - - Watlington SSC 

West Lynn Primary School - - - - 1 Terrington Tigers FC 

West Walton Primary School - 1 - - -  

West Winch Primary School - 1 - - -  

Whitefriars Primary Academy - - 1 - -  

Wimbotsham and Stow School - - 1 - -  

TOTALS 10 16 17 23 14 - 
 

• The table below models the effect of gaining access to school pitches to meet future 
community demand. It shows that all needs could theoretically be met. Whilst pitch 
capacity is reduced by the education use, it would nevertheless make sense to consider 
investigating the potential for securing community use of these pitches to meet current 
and additional future demand, prior to making entirely new provision. 

 

Table 48: The impact of allowing community use of school pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Pitch type Current 
School 
pitches 

Peak match 
equivalent 
capacity 

Unmet current peak 
demand (match 

equivalents) 

Balance  

Adult football 10 10.0 -1.0 +9.0 

Youth 11v11 16 16.0 -5.0 +11.0 

Youth 9v9 17 17.0 -8.0 +9.0 

Mini 7v7 23 23.0 -8.0 +15.0 

Mini 5v5 14 14.0 -6.0 +8.0 

 

237



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 85 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The pitches already exist and therefore could be brought into use at little or no 
additional cost, depending on the current quality of the respective pitches. 

 
- There would be opportunities to establish closer school-club links if community-

based clubs were playing on school sites. 
 

-  The pitches should be available during the peak demand periods for community-
based teams at weekends. 

 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 
- None of the schools has community use at present and there is no obvious 

mechanism for securing it, so there is no guarantee that they would be prepared to 
commence such an arrangement. 

 
- No site has a Community Use Agreement so continued access would be unsecured. 

 
- No assessment has been made of the quality of schools pitches without community 

use, so the extent of their capacity to accommodate additional use is unknown. 
 

• Conclusions: This scenario offers some advantages for enhancing local pitch capacity on 
a cost-effective basis and should therefore be examined further on a site-by-site basis. 
 

5.12.4 Scenario 3: Improve existing grass pitch carrying capacity 
 

• Rationale: The following football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are either 
‘standard’ or ‘poor’ quality and as such their carrying capacity is compromised. Pitches 
shown in brackets are over-marked: 

 
Table 49: ‘Standard’ and ‘poor’ quality football pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Site Pitch 
rating 

Adult 
11v11 

Youth   
11v11  

Youth  
9v9 

Mini 
7v7  

Mini  
5v5 

Castle Acre Playing Field Poor 1 - - - - 

Clenchwarton Recreation Ground Standard 2 - 1 1 1 

Docking Playing Field Standard 2 - - 1 - 

Gayton Playing Field Poor 1 - - - - 

Holly Meadows School Standard - 1 1 1 - 

KGV Playing Field, Shouldham Standard 1 - 1 (1) 2 

Kingsway Playing Field Standard 2 - 1 1 - 

Leonard Towler Playing Field Standard 1 - - - - 

Marshland St. James Playing Field Standard 2 - 1 (1) 1 

Memorial Playing Field Standard 2 - - - - 

Northwold Sports and Social Club Standard 1 - - - - 

Old Hunstanton Sports Pavilion Standard 1 - - - - 

River Lane Playing Field Poor 2 - 1 1 1 

  

238



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 86 

Site Pitch 
rating 

Adult 
11v11 

Youth 
11v11 

Youth 
9v9 

Mini 
7v7 

Mini 
5v5 

Rouses Lane Playing Field Standard 1 - 1 2 1 

South Creake Playing Field Standard 1 - - - - 

St. Clements High School Standard 1 1 - - - 

Tottenhill Playing Fields Poor 1 - - - - 

Upwell Playing Field Standard 1 - - - - 

Watlington Recreation Ground Standard 1 - - 1 1 

William Burt Community Complex Poor - 1 1 1 1 

Wootton Park  Standard 2 - 1 1 - 

TOTALS - 26 3 9 10(2) 8 

 

• The table below models the effect of improving the pitches to ‘good’ quality and 
subsequently maintaining them as such. 

 

Table 50: The impact of upgrading football pitch quality to ‘good’ in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Pitch type Increased pitch capacity 
with improvements 
(match equivalents) 

Unmet current peak 
demand (match 

equivalents) 

Balance (match 
equivalents) 

Adult football 31.0 -1.0 +30.0 

Youth 11v11 8.0 -5.0 +3.0 

Youth 9v9 20.0 -8.0 +12.0 

Mini 7v7 24.0 -8.0 +16.0 

Mini 5v5 20.0 -6.0 +14.0 
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- Overall usage capacity would be improved, the collective weekly and peak time 
capacity deficiencies would be eliminated and the distribution of the sites gives 
good geographical coverage across the whole district. 

 

- This would be a cost-effective option compared with the expense of providing new 
pitches, particularly if land acquisition costs are factored in. 

 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows:  
 

- Whilst the capital cost of pitch improvements may be supported by the Football 
Foundation grants programmes, the main financial challenge to many pitch 
providers would be meeting the revenue cost implications of the enhanced works 
associated with maintaining the pitch quality as ‘good’. 

 

- The grounds maintenance specification at council-owned pitches is not consistent 
with maintaining the pitches to a high standard, so the only option for achieving 
this at council-owned pitches is through an asset transfer to user clubs. 

 

• Conclusions: Based upon the sub-area assessment, improving the pitches at Holly 
Meadows School, KGV Playing Field, Kingsway Playing Field, River Lane Playing Field, 
Rouses Lane Playing Field, Watlington Recreation Ground and the William Burt 
Community Complex would have the greatest impact on current deficiencies. 

 

239



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 87 

5.12.5 Scenario 4: The impact of current ‘3G’ pitch proposals 
 

• Rationale: A number of options are currently being considered for additional ‘3G’ pitch 
provision, with a view to providing a total of three pitches (two in the Kings Lynn sub-
area, including one in the west of the area) and one in the Downham Market sub-area. 
 

• Based upon the FA calculation that there should be one full-sized ‘3G’ pitch per 38 
teams, there should be 7.10 full-sized pitches in Kings Lynn. If the 44 additional teams 
identified by local clubs as representing unmet demand are included, the requirement 
increases to 8.26 pitches. If the capacity provided by the existing small-sided ‘3G’ pitches 
is included, the net shortfall is 6.21 pitches if unmet demand is included. The breakdown 
by sub-area based on expressed demand is as follows: 

 

Sub-area No. teams Weekly capacity 
(sessions) 

Balance 
(sessions) 

Balance (full-
sized pitches) 

Hunstanton and surrounds 46 20 -26 0.68 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 144 58 -86 2.26 

Downham Market and Surrounds 80 0 -80 2.11 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 270 78 -192 5.05 
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows. 
 

- Providing two full-sized pitches with full community access in the Kings Lynn sub-
area and one in the Downham Market sub-area would be capable of 
accommodating an additional 114 sessions across the three pitches, so the proposed 
facilities would reduce the current shortfall. 

 

- In addition to the extra training capacity, assuming the permissibility of staggered 
kick-off times and the accreditation of each pitch on the FA Register, the pitches 
could collectively provide for 8 adult or youth 11v11 (two fixtures x 4 pitches), or 
12 youth 9v9 or mini 7v7 (three fixtures x 4 pitches) or 16 mini 5v5 match 
equivalent sessions (four fixtures x 4 pitches) per weekend, thus eliminating peak 
demand deficits on grass pitches. 

 
- The location of the proposed facilities would give good geographical coverage. 

 

• Disadvantages: The only disadvantage of this scenario is that the proposed levels of 
provision would only meet around 60% of the unmet demand for ‘3G’ pitches. 
 

• Conclusions: The provision of additional ‘3G’ pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
has the potential to provide for most current football training needs and some match play 
deficits. 

 

5.13 Policy recommendations 
 

5.13.1  Introduction 
 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk PPS is a robust and evidence-based assessment of the current 
and future needs for football in the borough. The recommendations in relation to football are 
made in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 104, which 
stipulates that existing open space including playing pitches, should not be built upon unless: 

240



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 88 

• An assessment has taken place which has clearly shown the open space to be surplus to 
requirements, or; 
 

• The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality, in a suitable location, or;  

 

• The development is for alternative sport and recreation provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweighs the loss. 

 
The following recommendations are arranged under the three main headings of ‘protect’, 
‘enhance’ and ‘provide’. 
 

5.13.2 Protect 
 
Recommendation 1 - Safeguarding existing provision: The Study identifies a need for all 
current football pitch sites to be retained, on the basis of the specific identified roles that each 
can play in delivering the needs of the sport and other wider open space functions in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk both now and in the future. It is therefore recommended that existing 
planning policies continue to support the retention and protection of all sites, based upon the 
evidence in the PPS. If any pitch sites do become the subject of development proposals, this will 
only be permissible if they are replaced and meet policy exception E4 of Sport England’s Playing 
Fields Policy. This states that ‘the playing field or playing fields which would be lost as a result of 
the proposed development must be replaced by a playing field or playing fields of an equivalent 
or better quality and of equivalent or greater quantity, in a suitable location and subject to 
equivalent or better management arrangements, prior to the commencement of development’. 
 
Recommendation 2 - Security of tenure: 5.4% of the football pitches in the borough are on 
sites without secured community use. Without Community Use Agreements it is impossible to 
assume their continued availability for the community. It is therefore recommended that efforts 
are made to achieve security of Community Use Agreements at sites without them at present. 

 
5.13.3 Enhance 
 
Recommendation 3 - Improving existing ‘poor’ quality provision, including disused sites: 
15 pitches in the borough are rated as ‘poor’ quality and several more are rated at the lower end 
of ‘standard’ quality. Additionally, 22.9% of pitches are served by ‘poor’ quality or no changing 
facilities. Improved pitch quality at Holly Meadows School, KGV Playing Field, Kingsway 
Playing Field, River Lane Playing Field, Rouses Lane Playing Field, Watlington Recreation 
Ground and the William Burt Community Complex would have the greatest impact on current 
deficiencies: 
 

• The owners of sites with ‘poor’ quality pitches should subscribe to the Football 
Foundation’s Pitch Power programme, a low-cost service that provides a pitch quality 
assessment and recommendations on how to improve maintenance to enhance capacity.  
 

• The site owners concerned should be supported to apply for external funding for facility 
enhancements, including the receipt of developer contributions (see below) where the 
usage capacity would be enhanced. 
 

241



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 89 

• User clubs at council-owned pitches should be offered the opportunity to take over the 
maintenance of the pitches to improve quality and capacity, with appropriate initial 
support such as the loan of equipment, training and financial support. 

 
Recommendation 4 - Developer contributions and external funding (enhancements): 
Some of the additional demand for football arising from the proposed housing development in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk to 2040, can be accommodated through enhancements to existing 
pitches and facilities. Improving the pitches at Holly Meadows School, KGV Playing Field, 
Kingsway Playing Field, River Lane Playing Field, Rouses Lane Playing Field, Watlington 
Recreation Ground and the William Burt Community Complex would have the greatest impact 
on current deficiencies. It is recommended that the site-specific action plan in the Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk PPS be used as the basis for determining facility enhancements that 
demonstrably relate to the scale and location of specific developments and that an appropriate 
level of financial contributions be sought under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL 
is a limited resource whose availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of 
development realised and which is subject to a wide range of competing infrastructure demands) 
and/or through applications for external funding to cover the capital and revenue implications of 
the enhancements.  
 

5.13.4 Provide 
 
Recommendation 5 - ‘3G’ football turf pitches: Based upon the FA’s guide figure, there is a 
current shortfall of 6.21 full-sized ‘3G’ pitches in the borough, with additional demand equivalent 
to 1.68 full-sized pitches being generated by the higher population growth projections by 2040. 
‘3G’ pitches are an important component of provision because their all-weather nature and 
floodlights enable a high volume of play to be accommodated on good quality playing surfaces. 
The provision of additional ‘3G’ pitches to meet needs identified in the Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk PPS should be supported as a priority in appropriate locations. 
 
Recommendation 6 - Developer contributions and external funding (new provision): 
Some of the extra demand for football in particular arising from the proposed housing 
development in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk to 2040, may need to be accommodated through 
the provision of new pitches and facilities, once options for improving capacity at existing sites 
have been explored. It is recommended that an appropriate level of financial contributions be 
sought under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL is a limited resource whose 
availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of development realised and which 
is subject to a wide range of issues to meet the specific future needs identified in the Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk PPS to cover the capital and revenue implications of new provision.  

 
5.14 Action Plan 
 
5.14.1 Introduction 

 
In the context of the high-level recommendations above, the tables below set out the football 
site-specific action plan to guide the implementation of the Study. The abbreviations stand for 
KL&WNBC - Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council, FA - Football Association, FF - 
Football Foundation, PP - Pitch Power (the Football Foundation’s pitch improvement tool) and 
AN - Active Norfolk. The capital cost estimates are based upon Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - 
Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024), but actual costs will vary based on site-specific conditions. 
 

242



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 90 

5.14.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 51: Key strategic action plan for football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Community access 
to public and 
private education 
pitches 

Pursue formal Community Use 
agreements at all existing and any 
future proposed pitches on public 
and private education sites. 

KL&WNBC
/Active 
Norfolk 

Academies 
and schools 

Possible funding for 
improvements to 
physical 
accessibility. 

High 

Securing developer 
contributions  

Ensure that policy provision is 
made to secure developer 
contributions towards new and 
improved football facilities. 

KL&WNBC Developers Determined by 
Sport England’s 
Playing Pitch 
Calculator 

High 

Identify sites for 
additional ‘3G’ 
football turf pitches 

Examine the feasibility of 
providing additional ‘3G’ pitches at 
the identified key sites.  

Potential 
host sites 
 

FF 
Norfolk FA 
CIL funds 

£1,150,000 per 
pitch 

High 

Site specific 
grounds 
maintenance needs 

Review site specific grounds 
maintenance needs through the FA 
Pitch Improvement Programme. 

FA PP £100 per site 
annually. 

High 

 

5.14.3 Site specific actions 
 

Table 52: Site-specific action plan for football in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Alive 
Lynnsport 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Castle Acre 
Playing Field 

• ‘Poor’ quality pitch. 

• Pitch used to over 
capacity 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

Castle Acre 
Parish Council 

PP TBC Medium 

Clenchwarton 
Recn. Ground 

Aspiration for new 
changing facilities 

Progress when resources 
allow 

Clenchwarton 
PC 

- TBC Medium 

Denver Playing 
Fields 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Docking Playing 
Field 

Aspiration for new 
changing facilities 

Progress when resources 
allow 

Docking PC - TBC Medium 

Feltwell Playing 
Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Fenland Stadium No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Gayton Playing 
Field 

• ‘Poor’ quality pitch 
with chafer bug 
problems. 

• ‘Poor’ changing. 

• Pitch used to over 
capacity 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Assess the need for 
changing 

Gayton Estates PP TBC Medium 

Holly Meadows 
School 

• Youth 9v9 pitch used 
to over-capacity. 

• Unsecured 
Community Use 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Negotiate Community 
Use Agreement 

Holly 
Meadows 
School 

PP 
AN 

TBC Medium 

  

243



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 91 

Site Issues Action Lead Partners Resources Priority 

Ingoldisthorpe 
Playing Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

KGV Playing 
Field, 
Shouldham 

• Youth 9v9 pitch used 
to over-capacity. 

• ‘Poor’ quality changing 
facilities. 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Improve changing. 

Shouldham 
Parish Council 

PP 
FF 

TBC 
£100,000 to 
refurbish 
changing. 

High 

Kingsway 
Playing Field 

Mini 7v7 pitch used to 
over-capacity at peak 
times. 

Schedule back-to-back 
fixtures 

Kings Lynn 
Soccer Club 

- - Low 

Leonard Towler 
Playing Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Marshland St. 
James Playing 
Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Memorial 
Playing Field, 
Downham 
Market 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Northwold 
Sports and 
Social Club 

No current issues. • No action required. - - - - 

River Lane 
Playing Field 

• ‘Poor’ quality pitches 

• Youth 9v9 pitches 
used to peak capacity  

Reschedule matches to the 
proposed ‘3G’ pitch on 
the site. 

KL&WNBC - - Low 

Rouses Lane 
Playing Field, 
Downham 
Market 

• No on-site changing. 

• Mini 5v5 pitch used to 
over peak capacity. 

• Assess the need for 
changing 

• Schedule back-to-back 
fixtures 

Downham 
Town Council 

Downha
m Town 
FC 

- Medium 

Snettisham 
Memorial 
Playing Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

South Creake 
Playing Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Station Road 
Playing Field 

Adult and mini 7v7 and 
5v5 pitches used to over 
capacity at peak times. 

• Move some adult games 
to currently disused 
pitches in Hunstanton 
or Sedgeford  

• Reschedule mini 
matches to the ‘3G’ 
pitch on the site. 

Heacham FC KL&WN
BC 
Sedgeford 
Parish 
Council 

£2,000 to 
reinstate 
pitches 

Medium 

St. Clements 
High School 

• Adult pitch used to 
over-capacity. 

• Unsecured Community 
Use 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Negotiate Community 
Use Agreement 

St. Clements 
High School 

PP 
AN 

TBC Medium 

Terrington 
Memorial 
Playing Field 

All pitches used to over 
capacity at peak times. 

Provide a ‘3G’ pitch in the 
vicinity 

Terrington 
Parish Council 

KL&WN
BC 
FF 

£1,150,000 High 

The Pastures, 
Dersingham  

Aspiration for new 
changing facilities 

Progress when resources 
allow 

Dersingham 
PC 

- TBC Medium 

244



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 92 

Site Issues Action Lead Partners Resources Priority 

The Walks 
Stadium 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Tottenhill 
Playing Fields 

• ‘Poor’ quality pitch 
Pitch used to over 
capacity 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

Seek resources to improve 
maintenance. 

Tottenhill 
Parish Council 

PP TBC Low 

Upwell Playing 
Field 

No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

Walpole St. 
Andrew 
Community 
Centre 

‘Poor’ quality changing Assess the need for 
improved changing. 
 

Walpole Parish 
Foundation 

- TBC Low 

Watlington 
Recreation 
Ground 

• Mini 7v7 pitch used to 
over-capacity at peak 
times. 

• ‘Poor’ quality changing 

• Assess pitch using Pitch 
Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Improve changing. 

Watlington 
Parish Council 

PP 
FF 

TBC 
£100,000 to 
refurbish 
changing. 

Medium 

West Lynn 
Playing Field 

• Adult and mini 5v5 
pitches used to over-
capacity at peak times. 

• ‘Poor’ quality changing 

• Assess pitches using 
Pitch Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Improve changing. 

KL&WNBC PP 
FF 

TBC 
£100,000 to 
refurbish 
changing. 

Medium 

William Burt 
Complex 

• ‘Poor’ quality pitches 

• Youth 11v11 and 9v9 
pitches used to over-
capacity at peak times. 

• ‘Poor’ quality changing 

• Assess pitches using 
Pitch Power. 

• Seek resources to 
improve maintenance. 

• Improve changing. 

West Winch 
Parish Council 

PP 
FF 

TBC 
£100,000 to 
refurbish 
changing. 

Medium 

Wootton Park  No current issues. No action required. - - - - 

 

5.14.4 Potential project impact 
 

The football projects with the potential to have the greatest impact on identified needs and 
deficiencies are the three proposed ‘3G’ football turf pitches. 
 

 
 
 

  

245



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 93 

6 CRICKET PITCH NEEDS  

 

6.1 Key stakeholders 
 

The key stakeholders delivering cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are: 

 

• Norfolk Cricket Foundation: The Foundation manages cricket in the county. 
 

• Affiliated cricket clubs: There are 14 affiliated clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
who collectively run 65 open aged teams, 12 women’s teams, 43 mixed junior teams and 
ten junior girl’s teams.  

 

• Pitch providers: Pitches in the borough are managed and maintained by parish councils 
and cricket clubs. 

 
6.2 Strategic context 
 

6.2.1 National cricket strategy 
 
The England and Wales Cricket Board’s (ECB) strategy for 2025-2028 ‘Inspiring Generations 2025-
2028’ (2024) contains six key objectives: 
 

• Make cricket diverse, inclusive and accessible: Measurably improve cricket’s diversity, 
inclusion, equity and fair access. 
 

• Transform women’s and girls’ cricket: Cricket to be seen just as much as a sport for 
girls as for boys. 

 

• Connect communities through play: Support a network of diversified delivery partners 
to get more people playing than ever before. 

 

• Inspire through winning England teams: Win the big series and events, playing 
entertaining cricket. 

 

• Support a thriving and sustainable men’s and women’s professional game: Ensure 
the long-term health of the professional game by developing players for club and country, 
and inspiring and engaging fans. 

 

• Win the battle for attention: Get more people attending, watching and following cricket, 
more often. 

 

6.2.2 Norfolk Cricket Foundation Countywide Plan 
 
The Foundation’s strategy for 2025 - 2029 ‘A Game for Everyone’ (2025) is closely aligned to the 
ECB strategy and contains the following priorities and activities: 
 
 
 
 

246



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 94 

Sustainable and thriving community cricket clubs: This includes: 
 

• Rollout of ECB Club Development Framework. Creating safe and welcoming cricket clubs. 

• Continued growth in Women and Girls cricket. Increase the number of cricket clubs providing girls 
teams. 

• Countywide support of open age leagues and competitions across the county 

• Help clubs and communities retain, train and reward volunteers. Inspire a new generation of 
volunteers. 

• Support continued facility developments in line with the countywide facilities strategy. 

• Develop a new wave of coaches, officials and grounds people through a comprehensive recruitment, 
training and development programme. 

• Cricket clubs at the heart of the community providing all-inclusive cricket. 
 
A clear player pathway for boys and girls in Norfolk Cricket: This includes: 
 

• Support and delivery of an inclusive junior softball and hardball cricket league programme. 

• Delivery, management and administration of the ECB Early Engagement Programme. 

• Delivery, management and administration of primary and secondary school Successful cricket 
competitions. 

• Delivery, management and administration of a successful County Age Group Programme. 

• Successful Men’s and Women’s Norfolk County teams. 

• Close links and partnerships with professional organisations and counties. 

• Create a pathway for Disability Cricket. 

• Growth, support and administration of ECB National Programmes. 
 

Making cricket accessible by breaking down barriers: This includes: 
 

• Develop sustainable participation. 

• Continue to remove barriers for aspiring cricketers of all backgrounds. 

• Striving for diverse representation in every part of the game. 

• Delivering a quality County-Age-Group programme that enhances player development. 

• Use cricket as the tool to address and deliver societal priorities including health and wellbeing. 

• Use cricket as the tool to meet Educational priorities and needs. 

• Get new people interested in cricket by engaging new audiences. 
 

Connect communities through cricket: This includes: 
 

• Support Lord’s Taverners SEND schools delivery.  

• Increase the presence of Cricket in state schools. 

• Support and delivery of Charitable Partners programmes and initiatives. 

• Increase the opportunities to develop non-traditional forms of cricket. 

• Support Chance to Shine schools delivery including Lower Socio Economic Groups. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

247



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 95 

6.2.3 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Pitch needs assessments in neighbouring local authorities highlighted the following: 
 

East Cambridgeshire  
 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2020) identifies that supply and demand for pitches 
is currently balanced and that additional capacity will be required to meet future needs.  
Fenland  
 
The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is current and projected 
future spare capacity of cricket pitches.  

 
South Holland 
 
The ‘South Holland Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that there is a shortfall of cricket pitch 
provision in the district and that additional capacity will be required to meet future needs. 
 
North Norfolk 
 
The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies ‘a buoyant youth sector, and stable 
demand for adult play’. Demand from an additional 28 teams is projected by 2036, some of which 
will need to be met with additional pitch capacity. 

 

Breckland 
 
Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of current 
or projected pitch needs. 
West Suffolk 
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that supply and demand for pitches is 
currently balanced and that additional capacity will be required to meet future needs. 

 
6.2.4 Implications of the strategic context 
 

The implications of the strategic context for cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as 
follows: 
 

• Local corporate priorities: Given the increasing limitations on public finances, 
demonstrating the role Cricket can play in delivering wider agendas such as health and 
wellbeing is a key requirement for attracting investment. 
 

• Planning policy:  Whilst local planning policy is supportive of the retention and provision 
of playing pitches, including those for Cricket, the current work on the PPS will provide a 
methodologically robust basis for determining current and future needs. 

 

• Policy shifts: The move in national sports policy towards prioritising new participants will 
create a challenge for Cricket to demonstrate that it can attract new and lapsed participants.  

 
 

248



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 96 

• Junior Cricket: Growth: of junior cricket (boys and girls) remains a key priority area for 
the ECB and Norfolk Cricket Foundation. Creating a clear pathway from junior cricket 
through to open-age senior cricket for boys and girls is crucial to the sustainability of 
cricket within the area. Therefore is it pivotal that facilities are welcoming environments for 
families and can accommodate the needs of the users as this can be a barrier to 
participation. Current participation by clubs in junior programmes is as follows:   

 
Table 53: Involvement by clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk in junior cricket programmes 

 

Club All Stars Dynamos Junior Cricket 
Bircham Cricket Club No No Yes 

Castle Acre Cricket Club No No Yes 

Castle Rising Cricket Club No No No  

Denver Cricket Club Yes Yes Yes 

Dersingham Cricket Club No No No 

Downham Stow Cricket Club Yes Yes Yes 

Grimston Cricket Club Yes No Yes 

Hockwold Cricket Club Yes No Yes 

North Runcton Cricket Club Yes Yes Yes 

Rudham and District CC No No No 

Sandringham Cricket Club No No Yes 

Snettisham Cricket Club Yes Yes Yes 

Thornham Cricket Club Yes Yes Yes 

Terrington St. Clement CC No No No 

 

• Women and Girls:  Expansion of female participation in cricket is a key objective of the 
ECB and the Norfolk Cricket Foundation will lead to a significant increase in participation. 
This will require additional pitches and new and/or improved changing pavilions.  
 

6.3 Cricket demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

6.3.1 Expressed demand 
 

The information on cricket clubs and teams based in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk was supplied 
by the ECB through its ‘Play Cricket’ database, cross-referenced to a local clubs survey. A 
questionnaire survey was circulated by the Norfolk Cricket Board to all affiliated clubs in the 
borough. The following nine clubs responded, collectively representing 56 teams, or 75.7% of all 
the 74 affiliated teams in the Borough.  
 

• Bircham Cricket Club 

• Castle Acre Cricket Club 

• Castle Rising Cricket Club 

• Downham Stow Cricket Club 

• Grimston Cricket Club 

• North Runcton Cricket Club 

• Sandringham Cricket Club 

• Snettisham Cricket Club 

• Terrington St. Clement Cricket Club 
 

249



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 97 

The following affiliated clubs play in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

Table 54: Cricket clubs and teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Home Ground(s) Open 
age 

teams 

Adult 
female 
teams 

Mixed 
junior 
teams 

Junior 
female 
teams 

Bircham Cricket Club Bircham Playing Field 7 1 6 0 

Castle Acre Cricket Club Castle Acre Playing Field 3 0 1 0 

Castle Rising Cricket Club Castle Rising Playing Field 4 0 0 0 

Denver Cricket Club Denver Playing Field 6 0 5 2 

Dersingham Cricket Club The Pastures, Dersingham 1 0 0 0 

Downham Stow Cricket Club Stow Hall 
Memorial Playing Field, Downham 

10 2 7 1 

Grimston Cricket Club Grimston Cricket Ground 3 2 2 1 

Hockwold Cricket Club Hockwold Cricket Club 5 0 4 4 

North Runcton Cricket Club North Runcton Cricket Club 6 4 8 1 

Rudham and District CC East Rudham Playing Field 1 0 0 0 

Sandringham Cricket Club Sandringham Estate 4 0 3 0 

Snettisham Cricket Club Snettisham Playing Field 6 3 4 1 

Thornham Cricket Club Thornham Playing Field 7 0 3 0 

Terrington St. Clement CC Terrington Recreation Ground 1 0 0 0 

TOTALS - 64 12 43 10 
 

The number of teams by sub-area is as follows: 
 

Table 55: Cricket clubs and teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Open 
age 

teams 

Adult 
female 
teams 

Mixed 
junior 
teams 

Junior 
female 
teams 

Hunstanton and surrounds 26 4 8 1 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 15 6 18 2 

Downham Market and Surrounds 23 2 17 7 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 64 12 43 10 
 

6.3.2 Changes since 2023 
 

Team numbers in 2022 compare with the current figures (2025) as follows: 
 

• District summary: 
 

Table 56: Changes in cricket team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2021-2025 
 

Season Open age 
teams 

Adult female 
teams 

Mixed junior 
teams 

Junior female 
teams 

2022 45 4 36 2 

2025 64 12 43 10 

Change +19 +8 +7 +8 
 

250



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 98 

• Changes at club level: 
 

Table 57: Club level changes in football team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2021-2025  
 

Club Year/change Open 
age 

teams 

Adult 
female 
teams 

Mixed 
junior 
teams 

Junior 
female 
teams 

TOTAL 

Bircham Cricket Club 2022 4 1 6 0 11 

2025 7 1 6 0 14 

Change +3 0 0 0 +3 

Boughton Cricket Club 2022 1 0 0 0 1 

2025 0 0 0 0 0 

Change -1 0 0 0 -1 

Castle Acre Cricket Club 2022 3 0 0 0 3 

2025 3 0 1 0 4 

Change 0 0 +1 0 +1 

Castle Rising Cricket Club 2022 4 0 0 0 4 

2025 4 0 0 0 4 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 

Denver Cricket Club 2022 3 0 4 0 7 

2025 6 0 5 2 13 

Change +3 0 +1 +2 +6 

Dersingham Cricket Club 2022 1 0 0 0 1 

2025 1 0 0 0 1 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 

Downham Stow Cricket 
Club 

2022 5 1 7 0 13 
2025 10 2 7 1 20 

Change +5 +1 0 +1 +7 

Grimston Cricket Club 2022 1 0 1 1 3 
2025 3 2 2 1 8 

Change +2 +2 +1 0 +5 

Hockwold Cricket Club 2022 3 0 3 0 6 
2025 5 0 4 4 13 

Change +2 0 +1 +4 +7 

North Runcton Cricket Club 2022 5 0 5 1 11 
2025 6 4 8 1 19 

Change +1 +4 +3 0 +8 

Rudham and District CC 2022 1 0 0 0 1 
2025 1 0 0 0 1 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 

Sandringham Cricket Club 2022 4 0 3 0 7 
2025 4 0 3 0 7 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 

Snettisham Cricket Club 2022 4 2 5 0 11 
2025 6 3 4 1 14 

Change +2 +1 -1 +1 +3 

  

251



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 99 

Club Year/change Open 
age 

teams 

Adult 
female 
teams 

Mixed 
junior 
teams 

Junior 
female 
teams 

TOTAL 

Thornham Cricket Club 2022 5 0 2 0 7 

2025 7 0 3 0 10 

Change +2 0 +1 0 +3 

Terrington St. Clement CC 2022 1 0 0 0 1 

2025 1 0 0 0 1 

Change 0 0 0 0 0 
 

The number of cricket teams in the borough increased from 87 in 2022 to 127 in 2025, a 48.3% 
increase. 
 

6.3.2 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to play by teams or other users of playing pitches from within the 
study area which takes place outside of the area and vice versa. There is no evidence of any 
displaced demand for cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

6.3.3 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Teams may have access to a pitch for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some pitches may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and consequent limited capacity of pitches in the area and/or a lack of 
provision and ancillary facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 
There is no evidence of any unmet demand for cricket in the borough at present. 
 

6.3.4 Latent demand 
 
Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist, latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from a population if they had access to more or better provision. 
There is no evidence of any latent demand for cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 
6.4 Cricket supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

6.4.1 Cricket facilities quantity 
 
Provision of cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is set out below. The pitches 
included in the analysis are defined as natural grass or non-turf pitches (shown in brackets). 
 
  

252



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 100 

• Available for community use and used: 
 

Table 59: Cricket pitches with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Pitches Wickets Sub-area 
Bircham Playing Field Church Lane, Great Bircham PE31 6XJ 1 8(1) Hunstanton 

Castle Acre Playing Field St. James Green, Castle Acre PE32 2BD 1 8 Downham 
Market 

Castle Rising Playing Field Old Hunstanton Rd, Castle Rising PE31 6DZ 1 6 Kings Lynn 

Denver Playing Field Nightingale Walk, Denver PE38 0DS 1 8 Downham 
Market 

East Rudham Playing Field School Road, East Rudham PE31 8GN 1 4 Hunstanton 

Grimston Cricket Ground Congham Hall, Grimston PE32 1AH 1 5(1) Kings Lynn 

Hockwold Cricket Club Main Street, Hockwold IP26 4LW 1 10(1) Downham 
Market 

Memorial Playing Field 
 

Lynn Road, Downham Market PE38 9QE 1 10(1) Downham 
Market 

North Runcton Cricket Club New Road, North Runcton PE33 0RA 1 12 Kings Lynn 

Sandringham Cricket Club Sandringham Estate, Sandringham PE35 6EH 1 10 Hunstanton 

Snettisham Cricket Club Old Church Road, Snettisham PE31 7LX 1 9 Hunstanton 

Stow Hall Cricket Ground Stow Bardolph PE34 3HU 1 10 Downham 
Market 

Terrington Memorial Playing 
Field 

Churchgate Way, Terrington St. Clement PE34 
4PG 

1 10 Kings Lynn 

The Pastures  Manor Road, Dersingham PE31 6LN 1 8 Hunstanton 

Thornham Recreation Ground High Street, Thornham PE36 6LX 1 6 Hunstanton 

TOTAL - 15 124(4) - 

 

• Pitches where use has recently been discontinued: These are as follows: 
 

Table 60: Cricket pitches where use has recently been discontinued in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Pitches Wickets Sub-area 
Hall House Cricket Field Wretton Road, Boughton PE33 9AJ 1 4 Downham 

Market 

Hovells Lane Recn Ground Hovells Lane, Northwold IP26 5LX 1 6 Downham 
Market 

Hunstanton Recn Ground Greevegate, Hunstanton  PE36 6AE 1 (1) Hunstanton 

River Lane Playing Field Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 2NB 1 (1) Kings Lynn 

Station Road Playing Fields Station Road, Heacham PE31 7EX 1 8 Hunstanton 

William Marshall Centre Hernside, Welney PE14 9SD 1 (1) Downham 
Market 

TOTAL - 6 18(3) - 
 

  

253



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 101 

• Not available for community use:  
 

Table 61: Cricket pitches not available for community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Pitches Wickets 
Glebe House School Cromer Road Hunstanton PE36 6HW 1 4 

Iceni Academy Stoke Road, Methwold IP26 4PE 1 (1) 

King Edward VII Academy Gaywood Road, King's Lynn PE30 2QB 2 6(1) 

King’s Lynn Academy Queen Mary Road, King's Lynn PE30 4QG 1 (1) 

Marshland High School  School Road, West Walton PE14 7HA 1 (1) 

St. Clements High School Churchgate Way, Terrington St. Clement PE34 4LZ 1 (1) 

TOTAL - 7 10(5) 
 

• Provision by sub-area: Pitches with community use and used by sub-area are as follows: 
 

Table 62: Cricket pitches by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Population No. 
Pitches  

Pitches per 
capita 

No. 
wickets 

Wickets 
per capita 

Hunstanton  28,316 6 1: 4,719 42 1: 674 

Kings Lynn  67,643 4 1: 16,911 31 1: 2,128 

Downham Market  55,286 5 1: 11,057 52 1: 1,063 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 15 1: 10,083 125 1: 1,210 

 

6.4.2 Cricket facilities quality 
 
The qualitative analysis of cricket pitches and facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk involved 
visits to all cricket pitches during the playing season, to undertake the non-technical visual 
inspections produced by the ECB for Sport England’s ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ (2013). The 
assessment evaluated the condition of: 
 

• Grass wickets: This includes presence of line markings, evidence of rolling, grass cut and 
height, repaired wickets, grass coverage and ball bounce. 
 

• Outfield: This includes grass coverage, length of grass, evenness and evidence of unofficial 
use or damage to the surface. 

 

• Non-turf pitches: This includes integration with the surrounding grass, evenness, stump 
holes any evidence of moss, tears or surface lifting and ball bounce. 

 

• Changing facilities: This includes the presence or absence of umpires’ provision, toilets, 
hot/cold water, heating and an assessment of the condition of the building. 

 

• Non-turf practice nets: This includes integration with the surrounding grass, surface 
quality, ball bounce, safety and integrity of the steel frame and nets and safety signage. 

 
  

254



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 102 

The assessment generates a ‘score’ for each site. The percentage scores generated equate to 
ratings of ‘Good’ for scores of 81% or more (shaded green in the table below) ‘Standard’ for 
scores of 80% - 51% (shaded yellow in the table below) and ‘Poor’ for scores of 50% or below 
(denoted by shaded red in the table below). Blank cells in the table mean that the feature 
concerned is absent from the site in question. The scores are as follows: 
 

Table 63: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Site Wicket Non-turf Outfield Changing Practice nets 
Bircham Playing Field Standard Good Standard Good Good 

Castle Acre Playing Field Good None Poor Good Poor 

Castle Rising Playing Field Standard None Good Standard Standard 

Denver Playing Field Standard None Standard Good Standard 

East Rudham Playing Field Standard None Standard Standard Poor 

Grimston Cricket Ground Standard Good Standard Good Good 

Hockwold Cricket Club Good Good Standard Good Poor 

Memorial Playing Field Good Good Good Good Good 

North Runcton Cricket Club Good None Good Good Good 

Sandringham Cricket Club Good None Standard Standard Good 

Snettisham Cricket Club Standard None Good Standard Poor 

Stow Hall Cricket Ground Good None Good Good Good 

Terrington Memorial Playing Field Standard None Standard Standard Standard 

The Pastures, Dersingham  Standard None Standard Good None 

Thornham Recreation Ground Standard None Standard Standard Standard 

 
6.4.3 Pitch carrying capacity 

 
The carrying capacity of pitches is related to their quality and is expressed as the number of 
‘match equivalents’ that can be accommodated each season. The ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ 
indicates the following seasonal carrying capacities for cricket pitches: 
 

• A ‘good’ quality wicket will accommodate five matches per season, a ‘standard’ quality 
wicket will accommodate four and a ‘poor’ quality wicket will accommodate none.  
 

• ‘Good’ and ‘Standard’ quality non-turf pitches accommodate 60 matches per season and a 
‘poor’ quality wicket will accommodate none. 

 

• The seasonal pitch carrying capacity of each cricket site in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is 
as follows: 

 
The pitch carrying capacity of each site with cricket pitches with community use in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk, expressed in seasonal match equivalents, is as follows: 

 
  

255



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 103 

Table 64: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Carrying capacity 
 

Site Grass wickets Artificial wickets Total capacity 
Bircham Playing Field 8 1 92 

Castle Acre Playing Field 8 0 40 

Castle Rising Playing Field 6 0 24 

Denver Playing Field 8 0 32 

East Rudham Playing Field 4 0 16 

Grimston Cricket Ground 5 1 80 

Hockwold Cricket Club 10 1 110 

Memorial Playing Field 10 1 110 

North Runcton Cricket Club 12 0 60 

Sandringham Cricket Club 10 0 50 

Snettisham Cricket Club 9 0 36 

Stow Hall Cricket Ground 10 0 50 

Terrington Memorial Playing Field 10 0 40 

The Pastures, Dersingham  8 0 32 

Thornham Recreation Ground 6 0 24 

TOTALS 124 4 796 

 

6.4.4 Pitch maintenance 
 
The pitches owned and managed by local sports clubs are all maintained by the clubs themselves. 
This involves a combination of paid grounds staff, external contractors and volunteer help. 
Council-owned pitches are maintained by the Council’s in-house grounds maintenance staff.  

 
6.4.5 Ownership, management and security of access 
 
The ownership, management and security of community access of all cricket pitch sites in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk is detailed below. Security of access refers to the extent to which 
community use of the site is protected (through public ownership, planning policy ownership 
covenants etc.), rather than the security of tenure of specific club users. The pitches not available 
for community use, listed in section 6.4.1 above, are all owned and managed by the schools 
concerned. 
 

Table 65: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Ownership, management and security of access 
 

Site Ownership Management Security of 
access 

Bircham Playing Field Sandringham Estate Bircham Cricket Club Secured 

Castle Acre Playing Field Castle Acre Parish Council Castle Acre CC/Castle Acre 
Playing Field Assoc. 

Secured 

Castle Rising Playing Field Fields in Trust Castle Rising Cricket Club Secured 

Denver Playing Field Denver Parish Council Denver Parish Council Secured 

East Rudham Playing Field East Rudham Parish Council Rudham and District CC Secured 

Grimston Cricket Ground Congham Hall Grimston Cricket Club Secured 

Hockwold Cricket Club Fields in Trust Hockwold Cricket Club Secured 

  

256



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 104 

Site Ownership Management Security of 
access 

Memorial Playing Field KL&WNBC Downham Stow CC/Downham 
Sports Federation 

Secured 

North Runcton Cricket Club North Runcton Cricket Club North Runcton Cricket Club Secured 

Sandringham Cricket Club Sandringham Estate Sandringham Cricket Club Secured 

Snettisham Cricket Club Snettisham Parish Council Snettisham Cricket Club  Secured 

Stow Hall Cricket Ground Stow Estates Downham Stow Cricket Club Secured 

Terrington Memorial Playing 
Field 

Terrington Parish Council Terrington St. Clement CC/ 
Terrington Parish Council 

Secured 

The Pastures, Dersingham  Sandringham Estate Dersingham Parish Council Secured 

Thornham Recreation Ground Thornham Parish Council Thornham Cricket Club Secured 

 
6.4.6 Geographical distribution 

 
The geographical distribution of cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has been 
assessed by identifying catchments to illustrate local level accessibility. This is based on the results 
of the clubs’ survey, which identifies 15-minutes travel time as the typical maximum. Based upon 
this, the map overleaf shows that the entire local population is within the catchment of at least 
one pitch. 

257



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 105 

 

258



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 106 

6.5 The views of local stakeholders 
 

6.5.1 Norfolk Cricket Foundation 
 

The Norfolk Cricket Foundation exists to develop the game of cricket in Norfolk. Its ambition is 
to retain and increase participation across all pillars of the game. Consultation with the Norfolk 
Cricket Board highlighted that: 
 

• There are 14 clubs with a good geographical spread in the borough, although there is no 
club in Kings Lynn. 
 

• The Foundation remains committed to supporting all cricket clubs within the borough. 
The Board are especially keen to work with clubs who are seeking to grow and expand 
Junior Sections and/or Women and Girls Sections. 

 

• Women and Girls cricket continue to grow steadily in the area with significant increases 
since 2022. One of the key focuses over the next few years is to grow the number of Girls 
teams participating in cricket clubs in the borough. 

 

• The Foundation will also seek to support clubs with general club development and facility 
enhancement projects. Current priorities include new pavilions at Sandringham CC, 
Snettisham CC and Thornham CC. 

 

• There is a general shortage of indoor net facilities in the borough, although two nets have 
been installed in the sports hall at King Edward VII Academy in Kins Lynn, which now 
host an indoor softball cricket league as part of an MCC Foundation Hub. 

 

6.5.2 Downham Stow Cricket Club 
 
The club made the following comments: 

 

• ‘We have two lovely grounds, we do though have issues with dog fouling at the Memorial 
Ground. The net situation in the West of the County is limited and expensive. Somewhere 
with good quality nets would be wonderful. At the moment we are limited because of the 
availability and cost of average facilities’. 
 

• ‘Winter nets are difficult as the facilities at Downham aren't great (don't like us using 
mats/hall not long enough/very expensive)’. 

 

6.5.3 Grimston Cricket Club 
 
The club made the following comments: 

 

• ‘We have been hugely helped by CIL funding in renovating our existing facilities, this is the 
first step towards growing our club and attracting new players. We hope that eventually we 
will be able to reach a point where we grow organically and can retain and attract coaches 
and volunteers, however council funding until we reach this point would be appreciated. 
Norfolk Cricket Board have also been hugely helpful’. 
 

259



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 107 

• ‘We have a CIL funding application currently submitted for a new shed - this will help us 
to store our kids coaching equipment and offer better facilities for supporters. We can then 
offer individual gender lavatories which will help to attract female players. As always, any 
help to promote our initiatives or gain sponsorship would be appreciated’. 

 

• ‘Cricket in West Norfolk is dominated by North Runcton, a huge club with great facilities. 
Everyone else struggles to compete, which is understandable. The smaller clubs are trying 
to help ourselves, but we lack the clout and financial backing to grow at any serious pace. 
Anything the council can do to support the remaining clubs would be hugely appreciated - 
attracting sponsors and attracting new players are the two biggest issues we have - for 
example local inter-school competitions are hosted at North Runcton, this entrenches their 
position’. 

 

6.5.4 North Runcton Cricket Club 
 

The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘We are self-funded and grateful to generous sponsors but never entirely financially 
comfortable, whilst not challenged - we run a tight ship with full-on budgeting and with 
access when possible to Grant and ECB loan support. We would like to improve links with 
schools in the Borough and would enjoy indoor winter nets opportunities’. 
 

• ‘We have a constant plan to modernise, improve and add clubhouse facilities, when 
finances permit as well as focussing on our pitch, grounds and practice facilities which are 
fundamental to our future growth and success’. 
 

6.5.5 Sandringham Cricket Club 
 

The club commented that ‘we would like to increase membership at all levels with are main 
current objective being ladies junior and adult cricket’. 
 

6.5.6 Snettisham Cricket Club 
 

The club made the following comments: 
 

• ‘We have lost a lot of junior players during the covid pandemic as they have now found 
something else to do in their spare time. This is having an impact on games played as there 
are not enough junior teams to play. Why turn up to training if there are no games to play? 
Vicious circle really. We think it will take a long time to build up the club again. We are 
trying to run All Stars and Dynamos to entice youngsters back to cricket’. 

 

• ‘We are trying to fund new nets as they are facing in the wrong direction according to the 
ECB’. 

 

• ‘The trustees of the pavilion are working towards funding for a brand new building - 
Snettisham Pavilion Restoration Project. It is going to cost in the region of £500,000’. 

 

6.5.7 Terrington St. Clement Cricket Club 
 

The club made the following comments: 
 

260



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 108 

• ‘We are currently going through a change with younger members replacing the older 
members (just naturally, not a coup.....). We are losing our big money raising evening this 
year. We are continually overlooked when we apply for grants. We tried to set up youth 
coaching and ladies softball post World-Cup then covid hit and we haven't really got back 
on our feet’. 
 

• ‘We have had problems gaining access to the pavilion where the changing 
rooms/showers/kitchen etc. facilities are housed. Most teams nowadays just get changed 
by the cars as it is 100 yards from the pitch. There is no need for a kitchen as no teas are 
required’. 

 

• ‘Cricket is dying in Norfolk. There is no pathway for juniors to go further in the sport if 
you live outside of Norwich due to biased quotas. The big teams suck up the juniors then 
don't play them so they get lost. The football season being nearly 12 months a year is a 
major problem. Cricket isn't even an option in local schools’. 

 

6.6 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which cricket facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 

 

• There are a number of thriving cricket clubs in the borough, but participation rates in  the 
borough have fallen in recent times, with five facilities no longer in use.  
 

• The recently introduced Allstars and Dynamos cricket programmes are aimed at primary 
school-aged children and have been successful in attracting the next generation of players. 

 
6.6 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been a number of significant changes since 2023: 
 

• The total number of cricket teams in the borough has grown from 87 in 2022 to 127 in 
2025, a 48.3% increase. 
 

• Women and girl’s cricket has grown rapidly in the borough, with the number of women’s 
teams increasing threefold and the number of junior girl’s teams increasing fivefold since 
2022. 

 

• A non-turf pitch has been provided at Downham Stow CC. 
 

• The use of the pitch at Hall House Cricket Field in Boughton has been discontinued since 
2022, taking four standard quality wickets out of the used supply. 

 

• Clubhouse improvements have been implemented at Castle Rising CC, Grimston CC and 
North Runcton CC. 

 

• Practice nets improvements have been made at Bircham CC and Downham Stow CC. 

 
  

261



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 109 

6.7 The implications for cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Analysis of local supply of cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk indicates the 
following: 
 

• Pitch quality: The quality of pitches is generally rated as at least ‘standard’. No pitches are 
rated as ‘poor’ quality. 

 

• Shared usage: Several sites with cricket pitches are also used for football and this causes 
problems for both sports in the seasonal overlap periods (April-May and August-
September). 

 

6.8 Assessment of current needs 
 

6.8.1 The basis of the assessment 
 

To assess whether the current supply of pitches is adequate to meet existing demand an 
understanding of the situation at all sites available to the community needs to be developed.  This 
is achieved by providing a brief overview for each site, which comprises: 
 

• A comparison between the carrying capacity of a site with how much demand currently 
takes place there. The carrying capacity of a site is defined as the amount of play it can 
regularly accommodate without adversely affecting its quality and use. Demand is defined 
in terms of the number of ‘match equivalent sessions’ per season at each site. 
 

• An indication of the extent to which pitches are being used during their peak periods. 
The site overviews identify the extent to which pitches are: 
 

• Being overplayed: Where use exceeds the carrying capacity (highlighted in red below). 
 

• Being played to the level the site can sustain: Where use matches the carrying capacity 
(highlighted in yellow in the tables below). 

 

• Potentially able to accommodate some additional play: Where use falls below the 
carrying capacity (highlighted in green in the tables below). 

 
In line with ECB guidance, the following assumptions have been made in relation to the number 
of weekly match equivalents that can be accommodated by different quality pitches:  
 

• Overall capacity is expressed as match equivalents per season, as opposed to per week for 
all other pitch types.  
 

• The number of wickets at each site is shown below. 
 

• The supply-demand balance for grass and artificial turf wickets respectively have been 
assessed separately because there is little or no use of artificial wickets by adult teams, with 
use confined to junior teams. 

 

• In line with the guidance it has been assumed that a ‘good’ quality grass wicket will 
accommodate five matches per season, a ‘standard’ quality wicket will accommodate four 
and a ‘poor’ quality wicket will accommodate no play.  

 

262



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 110 

• ‘Good’ and ‘standard’ quality non-turf pitches will accommodate 60 matches per season and 
the additional capacity that they provide is analysed in a separate table. 

 

• Adult teams typically play ten home games per season and junior teams typically play seven 
home games per season. 

 

• Aspects of each site shaded in red indicate a deficiency, those shaded in yellow indicate that 
supply and demand are balanced and those shaded in green have some spare capacity. 

 
6.7.2 Grass wickets 
 

Table 66: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Grass pitch supply - demand balance 
 

Site Users Seasonal 
capacity 

Seasonal 
demand 

Seasonal 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Bircham Playing Field Bircham Cricket Club 32 70 -38 1 1 Balanced 

Castle Acre Playing 
Field 

Castle Acre Cricket 
Club 

40 37 +3 1 1 Balanced 

Castle Rising Playing 
Field 

Castle Rising Cricket 
Club 

24 40 -16 1 1 Balanced 

Denver Playing Field Denver Cricket Club 32 109 -77 1 1 Balanced 

East Rudham Playing 
Field 

Rudham and District 
CC 

16 10 +6 1 1 Balanced 

Grimston Cricket 
Ground 

Grimston Cricket Club 20 20 Balanced 1 1 Balanced 

Hockwold Cricket 
Club 

Hockwold Cricket Club 50 106 -56 1 1 Balanced 

Memorial Playing Field Downham Stow 
Cricket Club 

50 60 -10 1 1 Balanced 

North Runcton Cricket 
Club 

North Runcton Cricket 
Club 

60 90 -30 1 1 Balanced 

Sandringham Cricket 
Club 

Sandringham Cricket 
Club 

50 61 -11 1 1 Balanced 

Snettisham Cricket Club Snettisham Cricket 
Club 

36 125 -89 1 1 Balanced 

Stow Hall Cricket 
Ground 

Downham Stow 
Cricket Club 

50 60 -10 1 1 Balanced 

Terrington Memorial 
Playing Field 

Terrington St. Clement 
CC 
North Runcton CC 

40 20 +20 1 1 Balanced 

The Pastures, 
Dersingham  

Dersingham Cricket 
Club 

32 10 +12 1 1 Balanced 

Thornham Recreation 
Ground 

Thornham Cricket Club 24 91 -67 1 1 Balanced 

TOTALS - 572 909 -337 15 15 Balanced 

 

The supply-demand balance of grass cricket pitches by sub-area is as follows: 
 

  

263



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 111 

Table 67: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Grass pitch supply - demand balance by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Seasonal 
capacity 

Seasonal 
demand 

Seasonal 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton  190 367 -177 6 6 Balanced 

Kings Lynn  144 170 -26 4 4 Balanced 

Downham Market  238 372 -134 5 5 Balanced 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 572 909 -337 15 15 Balanced 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There is a collective seasonal deficit of 337 match equivalent sessions. 
 

• Ten sites show a seasonal deficit although peak usage in the borough is balanced.  
 

• The sub-area analysis shows a large seasonal deficit is in all areas. 
 

6.7.3 Non-turf pitches 
 

Table 68: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Non-turf pitch supply - demand balance 
 

Site Users Seasonal 
capacity 

Seasonal 
demand 

Seasonal 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Bircham Playing Field Bircham Cricket Club 60 52 +8 1 1 Balanced 

Grimston Cricket Ground Grimston Cricket Club 60 51 +9 1 1 Balanced 

Memorial Playing Field Downham Stow 
Cricket Club 

60 56 +4 1 1 Balanced 

North Runcton Cricket 
Club 

North Runcton 
Cricket Club 

60 63 -3 1 1 Balanced 

TOTALS - 240 222 +18 4 4 Balanced 
 

The supply-demand balance of artificial turf cricket wickets by sub-area is as follows: 
 
Table 69: Cricket pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Non-turf pitch supply - demand balance by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Seasonal 
capacity 

Seasonal 
demand 

Seasonal 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

Hunstanton  60 52 +8 1 1 Balanced 

Kings Lynn  120 114 +6 2 2 Balanced 

Downham Market  60 56 +4 1 1 Balanced 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 240 222 +18 4 4 Balanced 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There is collective seasonal spare capacity of 18 match equivalent sessions. 
 

• Peak usage is balanced in the borough as a whole. 
 

6.8 Assessment of future needs 
 

6.8.1  Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 

264



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 112 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

6.8.2 Potential changes in demand 
 

Changes in demand for cricket in the future can be modelled on a trend-based projection.  
 

• Expressed demand: The total number of cricket teams in the borough has grown from 
87 in 2022 to 127 in 2025, a 48.3% increase. This level of growth is likely to have 
eliminated any unmet or latent demand, so future participation rates are projected to 
remain ay current levels. 

 

6.8.3 Site-specific pressures 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council needs to identify sites upon which it can deliver 
its housing targets. Whilst planning policy offers protection to playing pitches, some sites may be 
vulnerable unless it can be proved that they are needed to accommodate existing or future 
shortfalls in supply or serve some other green space functions. At present, the analysis in section 
6.7 above shows that all sites are used to capacity in the peak periods, so the case for retention is 
strong. 
 

6.8.4 Potential changes in supply 
 

There are no known potential changes in cricket pitch supply. 
 

6.8.5 Existing spare capacity 
 

There is no effective spare capacity at peak times based on the assessment.  
 

6.8.6 Future cricket pitch needs 
 

Future cricket pitch needs to 2040 are modelled below using ‘Team Generation Rates’ (TGRs), 
which identify how many people in a specified age group in the borough are required to generate 
one team. These are then applied to projected changes in population to identify the likely number 
of teams in the future. The projections include provision for the unmet demand identified by 
local clubs. 
 

Table 70: Cricket Team Generation Rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

• ONS projections:  
 

Team type Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Open age 18-55 31,024 64 1: 485 30,779 63 -1 

Adult females 18-55 31,373 12 1: 2,614 30,154 12 0 

Mixed junior 7-17 9,392 43 1: 218 8,185 38 -5 

Junior females 7-17 9,085 10 1: 909 7,446 8 -2 

 

265



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 113 

• Housing projections:  
 

Team type Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Open age 18-55 31,024 64 1: 485 36,019 74 +10 

Adult females 18-55 31,373 12 1: 2,614 36,424 50 +2 

Mixed junior 7-17 9,392 43 1: 218 10,904 44 +7 

Junior females 7-17 9,085 10 1: 909 10,548 12 +2 

 

6.9 Key findings and issues 
 

6.9.1 What are the main characteristics of current supply and demand? 
 

• Expressed demand: The number of cricket teams in the borough increased from 87 in 
2022 to 127 in 2025, a 48.3% increase. 

 

• Pitch quality: The quality of pitches is generally rated as at least ‘standard’. No pitches are 
rated as ‘poor’ quality. 

 

• Shared usage: Several sites with cricket pitches are also used for football and this causes 
problems for both sports in the seasonal overlap periods (April-May and August-
September). 

 

6.9.2 Is there enough accessible and secured community use to meet current 
demand? NO 

 

• Seasonal pitch capacity: There is a seasonal deficit for grass wickets at secured sites of 
337 match equivalent sessions. This is marginally offset by collective seasonal spare 
capacity of 18 match equivalent sessions at artificial turf pitches. 

 

• Peak time pitch capacity: Peak time pitch capacity is balanced. 
 

6.9.3 Is the accessible provision of suitable quality and appropriately maintained? 
YES, MOSTLY  

 

All pitches are at least ‘standard’ quality, but the outfield at Castle Acre CC is poor quality as are 
the practice nets at Castle Acre CC, East Rudham CC, Hockwold CC and Snettisham CC. 
 

6.9.4 What are the main characteristics of future supply and demand? 
 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

• Changes in demand: Projecting future need based on current demand patterns, including 
the estimate of current unmet demand by local clubs is a reasonable basis for forecasting. 
 

• Changes in supply: There are no known changes in cricket pitch supply. 

266



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 114 

 

• Existing spare capacity: There is no peak time spare capacity as present. 
 

• Future needs:  Based upon the above factors, in the case of the lower population estimate 
there will be a small reduction in demand for cricket by 2040, equivalent to eight fewer 
teams or 59 seasonal match equivalent sessions. In the case of the higher population 
estimate, there will be an increase in demand by 21 teams or 183 seasonal match equivalent 
sessions. 

 

6.9.5 Is there enough accessible and secured provision to meet future demand? NO 
- There is no effective spare capacity at present. 
 

There is insufficient accessible and secured provision to meet future demand at present, but 
additional capacity could be created in five ways: 
 

• New pitch provision: Securing the provision of additional pitches at part of new housing 
developments in the borough. 
 

• Reinstating existing pitches: There are disused pitches at Hall House Field, Hovells 
Lane Recreation Ground, Hunstanton Recreation Ground, River Lane Playing Field, 
Station Road Playing Field and the William Marshall Centre that could be reinstated and 
which would add 72 seasonal grass pitch match equivalent sessions and 180 seasonal non-
turf pitch match equivalent sessions. 

 

• Pitch quality improvements: If the ‘standard’ quality pitches at Bircham Playing Field, 
Castle Rising Playing Field, Denver Playing Field, East Rudham Playing Field, Grimston 
Cricket Ground, Snettisham Cricket Club, Terrington Memorial Playing Field, The Pastures 
and Thornham Recreation Ground were upgraded to ‘good’ quality, it would add 64 
seasonal match equivalent sessions to seasonal capacity. 

 

• Installation of non-turf pitches: Installing non-turf pitches at sites like Castle Rising 
Playing Field, Denver Playing Field, Grimston Cricket Ground, Hockwold Cricket Club, 
Sandringham Cricket Club, Snettisham Cricket Club, Stow Hall Cricket Ground and 
Thornham Recreation Ground that are currently used to over capacity would help to 
expand seasonal carrying capacity for junior play, although would have little impact on peak 
time provision if provided as part of an existing square.  

 

• Using pitches on school sites with no community use: Gaining community access to  
cricket pitches on school sites would offer some additional capacity, although the quality of 
pitches is generally below club standards. 

 

6.10 Scenario Testing 
 

6.10.1 Introduction 
 

Based upon the key findings and issues identified above, a number of scenarios have been 
examined, to identify the optimum approach to addressing needs. 
 

6.10.2 Scenario 1: Increasing capacity by improving the ‘standard’ quality pitches to 
‘good’ quality. 

 

267



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 115 

• Rationale: If the ‘standard’ quality pitches at Bircham Playing Field, Castle Rising Playing 
Field, Denver Playing Field, East Rudham Playing Field, Grimston Cricket Ground, 
Snettisham Cricket Club, Terrington Memorial Playing Field, The Pastures and Thornham 
Recreation Ground were upgraded to ‘good’ quality, it would add 64 seasonal match 
equivalent sessions to seasonal capacity. 
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The collective seasonal deficit of 337 match equivalent sessions on grass wickets in 
the borough would be reduced to 273 seasonal match equivalent sessions.  

 

- The pitch improvements should be achievable at relatively low cost. 
 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- Additional investment would be required to improve maintenance standards. 
 

- There would still be a large seasonal capacity deficit. 
 

• Conclusions: This scenario should be pursued in conjunction with other options to meet 
additional cricket pitch demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The capacity deficits at 
Sandringham CC and Stow Hall CC would both be eliminated by this option. 

 

6.10.3 Scenario 2: Installation of additional non-turf pitches 
 

• Rationale: Installing non-turf pitches at sites like Castle Rising Playing Field, Denver 
Playing Field, Grimston Cricket Ground, Hockwold Cricket Club, Sandringham Cricket 
Club, Snettisham Cricket Club, Stow Hall Cricket Ground and Thornham Recreation 
Ground that are currently used to over capacity would help to expand seasonal carrying 
capacity for junior play.  

 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The pitches can be installed at relatively low cost (£12,000 per pitch). 
 

-  They have the potential to accommodate 60 match equivalent sessions per season, or 
480 in total if pitches were installed at all sites with a capacity deficit. 

 

- Pitch maintenance costs are relatively low compared with natural turf. 
 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- Non-turf wickets are used primarily for junior matches, so they would have limited 
impact on addressing capacity issues in relation to adult play. 

 

-  Unless there is space to accommodate non-turf pitches away from the main square, 
they would not address peak-time deficiencies because they could not be used 
simultaneously with the grass wickets. 

 

• Conclusions: This scenario should be examined further on a site-by-site basis. 
 

6.10.4 Scenario 3: Increasing capacity by reinstating disused pitches. 
 

268



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 116 

• Rationale: There are disused pitches at Hall House Cricket Field, Hovells Lane Recreation 
Ground, Hunstanton Recreation Ground, River Lane Playing Field, Station Road Playing 
Field and the William Marshall Centre that could be reinstated and which would add 72 
seasonal grass pitch match equivalent sessions and 180 seasonal non-turf pitch match 
equivalent sessions. 
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The collective seasonal deficit of 337 match equivalent sessions on grass wickets in 
the borough would be reduced to 265 seasonal match equivalent sessions.  

 

- An additional 180 match equivalent sessions would be created on non-turf pitches. 
 

- Six additional peak time match equivalent sessions would be created. 
 

- Re-instating the pitches could be achieved at relatively low cost. 
 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- Additional investment would be required to improve maintenance standards. 
 

- The Heacham site also accommodates football use so there would be fixture clashes 
during the seasonal overlap periods. 

 

• Conclusions: This scenario should be pursued in conjunction with other options to 
meeting additional cricket pitch demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

6.10.5 Scenario 4: Using pitches on school sites with no community use 
 

• Rationale: There are ten grass wickets and five non-turf pitches at school sites in the 
borough that have no community at present. Gaining access to these would provide an 
additional 40 seasonal match equivalent sessions on grass pitches and 300 seasonal match 
equivalent sessions on non-turf pitches to the available supply (less any use by the schools 
themselves), which could be particularly useful for junior cricket.  
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- Up to 340 additional seasonal match equivalent sessions and seven peak time match 
equivalent sessions would be created. 

 

- There would be opportunities to establish closer school-club links if community-
based clubs were playing on the school site. 

 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The pitches are already used by the schools so the overall capacity is reduced. 
 

- The sites are not subject to formal Community Use Agreements so continued access 
would not be secured. 

 

• Conclusions: This scenario offers limited possibilities for meeting additional cricket pitch 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk from junior teams. 

 

269



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 117 

6.11 Policy recommendations 
 

6.11.1 Introduction 
 

The recommendations in relation to cricket are made in the context of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 104, which stipulates that existing open space including 
playing pitches, should not be built upon unless: 
 

• An assessment has taken place which has clearly shown the open space to be surplus to 
requirements, or; 
 

• The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality, in a suitable location, or;  

 

• The development is for alternative sport and recreation provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweighs the loss. 

 

6.11.2 Protect 
 

Recommendation 1 - Safeguarding existing provision: The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
PPS comprises a robust and evidence-based assessment of current and future needs for cricket in 
the borough. The PPS identifies a need for all current cricket pitch sites to be retained and 
protected on the basis of the specific identified roles that each can play in delivering the needs of 
the sport in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk both now and in the future. It is therefore 
recommended that planning policies continue to support the retention of all sites based upon the 
evidence in the PPS. If any pitch sites do become the subject of development proposals, this will 
only be permissible if they are replaced and meet policy exception E4 of Sport England’s Playing 
Fields Policy. This states that ‘the playing field or playing fields which would be lost as a result of 
the proposed development must be replaced by a playing field or playing fields of an equivalent 
or better quality and of equivalent or greater quantity, in a suitable location and subject to 
equivalent or better management arrangements, prior to the commencement of development’. 
 

6.11.3 Enhance 
 

Recommendation 2 - Improving existing ‘standard’ quality pitches: If the pitches at the 
nine sites are rated as ‘standard’ quality. If improved to ‘good’ quality, it would add 64 seasonal 
match equivalent sessions to seasonal capacity. The capacity deficits at Sandringham CC and 
Stow Hall CC would l be eliminated by this option. It is recommended that the site owners 
should be supported to improve pitch quality, including the receipt of developer contributions 
(see below) where the usage capacity would be enhanced. 
 

Recommendation 3 - Developer contributions and external funding (enhancements): 
Some of the demand for cricket arising from the proposed housing development in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk to 2040 can be accommodated through enhancements to existing pitches and 
facilities. It is recommended that the site-specific action plan in the Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk PPS be used as the basis for determining facility enhancements that demonstrably relate 
to the scale and location of specific developments and that an appropriate level of financial 
contributions be sought under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL is a limited 
resource whose availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of development 
realised and which is subject to a wide range of competing infrastructure demands) and/or 
through applications for external funding  to cover the capital and revenue implications of the 
enhancements. 

270



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 118 

6.11.4  Provide 
 

Recommendation 4 - Developer contributions and external funding (new provision): 
Some of the extra demand for cricket arising from the proposed housing development in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk to 2040, may need to be accommodated through the provision of new 
pitches and facilities. It is recommended that an appropriate level of financial contributions be 
sought under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL is a limited resource whose 
availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of development realised and which 
is subject to a wide range of competing infrastructure demands) and/or through applications for 
external funding to provide cricket facilities to meet the future needs identified in the Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk PPS.  
 

6.12 Action Plan 
 

6.12.1 Introduction 
 

In the context of the high-level recommendations above, the tables below set out the cricket 
action plan to guide the implementation of the Study. The abbreviations stand for KL&WNBC - 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk ad Borough Council, ECB - England and Wales Cricket Board 
and NC - Norfolk Cricket. The capital cost estimates are based upon Sport England’s ‘Facility 
Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 
 

6.12.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 71: Key strategic action plan for cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Issues Action  Lead/ 
Facilitator 

Partners Resources Priority 

Securing 
developer 
contributions 

Ensure that policy provision is made to 
secure developer contributions towards 
new and improved cricket facilities.  

KL&WNBC Developers 
Local clubs 

Determined by Sport 
England’s New 
Development 
Calculator 

High 

 
6.12.3 Site specific actions 
 

Table 72: Site-specific action plan for cricket in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Bircham Playing 
Field 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

Improve pitch to 
‘good’ quality. 

Bircham CC - Additional 
maintenance 

High 

Castle Acre 
Playing Field 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
outfield 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
practice nets 

• Improve outfield to 
‘standard’ quality. 

• Provide new nets 

Castle Acre CC Castle 
Acre 
Parish 
Council 

Additional 
maintenance 
£40,000 for 
new nets 

High 

Castle Rising 
Playing Field 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

 

• Improve pitch to 
‘good’ quality. 

• Provide a non-turf 
pitch 

Castle Rising 

Cricket Club 

- Additional 
maintenance 
£12,000 for 
non-turf pitch 

High 

Denver Playing 
Field 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

• Improve pitch to 
‘good’ quality. 

• Provide a non-turf 
pitch 

Denver Parish 
Council 

Denver 
CC 

Additional 
maintenance 
£12,000 for 
non-turf pitch 

High 

271



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 119 

Site Issues Action Lead Partners Resources Priority 

East Rudham 
Playing Field 

‘Poor’ quality practice 
nets 

Provide new nets Rudham & 
District CC 

- £40,000 for 
new nets  

Medium 

Grimston 
Cricket Ground 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

 

Provide a non-turf 
pitch 
 

Grimston CC Congham 
Hall 

£12,000 for 
non-turf 
pitch 

High 

Hockwold 
Cricket Club 

• Used to over-
capacity on a 
seasonal basis 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
practice nets 

Provide new nets Hockwold CC - £40,000 for 
new nets  

Medium 

Memorial 
Playing Field 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

Improve pitch to 
‘good’ quality. 

Downham 
Stow CC 

Downham 
Sports Fed. 

Additional 
maintenance 

High 

North Runcton 
Cricket Club 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

- - - - - 

Sandringham 
Cricket Club 

• Used to over-
capacity on a 
seasonal basis 

• Aspiration for a 
new pavilion 

• Provide a non-turf 
pitch  

• Provide new pavilion 
 

Sandringham 
Cricket Club 

Sandringham 
Estate 

£12,000 for 
non-turf 
pitch 
£690,000 for 
pavilion 

High 

Snettisham 
Cricket Club 

• Used to over-
capacity on a 
seasonal basis 

• Aspiration for a 
new pavilion 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
practice nets 

• Provide a non-turf 
pitch  

• Provide new nets 
 

Snettisham CC Snettisham 
Parish 
Council 

£12,000 for 
non-turf 
pitch 
£690,000 for 
pavilion 
£30,000 for 
new nets 

High 

Stow Hall 
Cricket Ground 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

Provide a non-turf 
pitch 

Downham 
Stow CC 

- £12,000 for 
non-turf 
pitch 

Medium 

Terrington 
Memorial 
Playing Field 

No current issues. - - - - - 

The Pastures, 
Dersingham  

No current issues. - - - - - 

Thornham 
Recreation 
Ground 

Used to over-capacity 
on a seasonal basis 

 

Provide a non-turf 
pitch  

Thornham CC Thornham 
Parish 
Council 

£12,000 for 
non-turf 
pitch 

High 

 

6.12.4 Potential project impact 
 

Installing non-turf pitches at sites like Castle Rising Playing Field, Denver Playing Field, 
Hockwold Cricket Club, Sandringham Cricket Club, Snettisham Cricket Club, Stow Hall Cricket 
Ground and Thornham Recreation Ground that are currently used to over capacity has the 
greatest potential to increase capacity to meet shortfalls.  

  

272



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 120 

7 RUGBY UNION PITCH NEEDS  

 
7.1 Organisational context 
 

• Rugby Football Union: The RFU is the governing body of the sport and supports the 
development of the game in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

• RFU-affiliated Rugby Clubs: There is one club in the borough, West Norfolk Rugby 
Club. 

 
7.2 Strategic context 
 

7.2.1 National rugby facilities strategy 
 

The RFUs ‘England Rugby Strategy’ (2021) contains priorities and objectives of relevance to 
facilities provision: 

 
Enjoyment:  The objective underpinning this priority is to ‘enable positive player experiences on 
and off the field’. Sub-objectives include: 

 

• ‘Improve accessibility for women and girls across the game’.  
 

• ‘Make the game inclusive and attractive for 14 to 18 year olds’. 
 

• ‘Redefine playing opportunities, structures and competitions for current and future players, 
recognising the strategic importance of the adult male game’. 

 

• ‘Develop match officials and coaches in the community game to enhance player enjoyment’. 
 
Flourishing rugby communities:  The objective underpinning this priority is to ‘support clubs 
to sustain and grow themselves and to reflects society’. Sub-objectives include: 
 

• ‘Provide support to club and constituent body volunteers so they can attract new, diverse 
volunteers and help clubs to be fit for the future and self-sustaining’. 
 

• ‘Provide support to help clubs maximise the benefit from their facilities and assets’. 
 

• ‘Help clubs manage their risk and liabilities’. 
 
Diversity and inclusion:  The objective underpinning this priority is to ‘drive rugby union in 

England to reflect the diversity of society’. The sub-objective is to ‘improve the diversity of all 
facets of our game and continue to create an inclusive environment for all’. 

 

7.2.2 Neighbouring local authorities 
 
Playing pitch strategies in neighbouring local authority areas identify cross-boundary issues: 
 
 

273



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 121 

East Cambridgeshire 
 
The ‘East Cambridgeshire Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2020) identifies that there is a shortage of pitch 
capacity in the district at Ely Tigers RFC.  
 
Fenland 
 
The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is a shortage of pitch 
capacity at Wisbech RFC.  

 
South Holland 
 
The ‘South Holland Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that there is spare capacity to meet 
current and future pitch needs at Spalding RFC. 
 
North Norfolk 
 
The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that ‘there is very little spare capacity 
at existing club pitches to meet demand from adult teams and/or mini/midi teams. At all three 
clubs, all rugby training pitches and youth and mini pitches are being overplayed and there is 
hardly any capacity at all for expansion in the number of adult male teams’. 
 

Breckland 
 
Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of 
current or projected pitch needs. 
 

West Suffolk  
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that there is some evidence of unmet 
demand for rugby in the district, with Haverhill RFC having a waiting list. 

 
7.2.3 Implications of the strategic context 
 
The implications of the strategic context for rugby union in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are: 

 

• Local corporate priorities: Given the increasing limitations on public finances, 
demonstrating the role rugby can play in delivering wider agendas such as health and 
wellbeing is a key requirement for attracting investment. 
 

• Planning policy:  Whilst local planning policy is supportive of the retention and provision 
of playing pitches, including those for rugby, the current work on the Playing Pitch Strategy 
will provide a methodologically robust basis for determining current and future needs. 

 

• Policy shifts: The move in national sports policy towards prioritising new participants will 
create a challenge for rugby to demonstrate that it can attract new and lapsed participants. 
The RFU’s support for Touch Rugby, Tag Rugby and walking rugby are all positive 
developments in this regard. 

 

274



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 122 

• Additional demand for pitch capacity: The RFU’s targets for increased participation will 
create additional demand for pitch capacity, including activity in the summer period when 
traditionally much pitch maintenance is undertaken. 

 
7.3 Rugby demand 
 

7.3.1 Expressed demand 
 

The information on rugby clubs and teams based in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk was supplied 
by the RFU, cross-referenced to a survey of the local club.  
 

Table 73: Rugby clubs and teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Home Ground Men’s 
teams 

Women’s 
teams 

Age grade 
boy’s teams 

Age grade 
girl’s teams 

Age grade 
mixed 
teams 

West Norfolk RFC Gate House Lane, Kings Lynn 2 1 7 4 5 

 
7.3.2 Changes since 2023 
 

Team numbers in 2022 compare with the current figures (2025) as follows: 
 

• District summary: 
 

Table 74: Changes in rugby team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2021-2025 
 

Season Men’s teams Women’s 
teams 

Age grade 
boy’s teams 

Age grade 
girl’s teams 

Age grade 
mixed teams 

2022 3 1 6 3 5 

2025 2 1 7 4 5 

Change -1 0 +1 +1 0 

 

7.3.3 Displaced demand 
 

There is no evidence of any displaced demand for rugby in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
although Fakenham Rugby Club may provide some opportunities for players from the north of 
the borough and Wisbech Rugby Club may attract some players from the south of the borough. 
 

7.3.4 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Teams may have access to a pitch for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some pitches may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and consequent limited capacity of pitches in the area and/or a lack of 
provision and ancillary facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 

275



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 123 

Consultation with West Norfolk Rugby Club indicated that the club has some unmet demand 
relating to the overuse of one of its pitches for midweek training and a lack of changing capacity. 
 

7.3.5 Latent demand 
 

Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population should they have access to more or better 
provision. Given the generally low rates of participation in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and a 
demographic profile that is more typically associated with lower rates of sport and physical 
activity, there appears to be no latent demand in the borough. 
 

7.4 Rugby pitch supply  
 

7.4.1 Quantity 
 

This section summarises the detail of rugby pitch supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The 
pitches included in the analysis are defined as natural turf areas permanently laid out with 
regulation markings. The categories assessed are as follows: 
 

• Available for community use and used: These are as follows.  
 

Table 75: Rugby pitches with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Adult floodlit 
pitches 

Adult non-
floodlit pitches 

West Norfolk Rugby Club Gate House Lane, King’s Lynn PE30 3RJ 2 1 
 

• Available for community use and not used: There are no rugby pitches available for 
community use that are not used. 
 

• Not available for community use: The following pitches are not available for community 
use. All are non-floodlit: 

 

Table 76: Rugby pitches not available for community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site  Address Pitches 
Iceni Academy Stoke Road, Methwold IP26 4PE 1 

King Edward VII Academy Gaywood Road. King's Lynn PE30 2QB 3 

King’s Lynn Academy Queen Mary Road, King's Lynn PE30 4QG 1 

St. Clements High School Churchgate Way, Terrington St. Clement PE34 4LZ 1 

Smithdon High School Downs Road, Hunstanton PE36 5HY 1 

Springwood High School Queensway, King's Lynn PE30 4AW 2 

TOTAL - 9 
 

• Not available as disused: There are no rugby pitches in this category. 
 

7.4.2 Quality 
 

The qualitative analysis involved a visit to all rugby pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk with 
community use and used during the playing season, to undertake the sport-specific non-technical 
visual inspections produced by the RFU for Sport England’s ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ (2013). 
The assessment generated ‘scores’ for each pitch by evaluating the condition of: 

276



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 124 

• Pitch drainage:  
 

Drainage Rating 
Natural inadequate D0 

Natural adequate D1 

Pipe drained D2 

Pipe and slit drained D3 
 

• Grounds maintenance: Frequency of aeration, sand-dressing, fertilising, weed killing and 
chain harrowing.  

Maintenance Rating 
Poor D0 

Adequate D1 

Good D2 
 

The scores for each pitch in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as follows. ‘Standard’ ratings are 
highlighted in yellow. Floodlit pitches are asterisked: 
 

Table 77: Rugby pitches with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Site Maintenance Drainage 
West Norfolk RFC pitch one* M1 D1 

West Norfolk RFC pitch two* M1 D1 

West Norfolk RFC pitch three M1 D1 

 

7.4.3 Grass pitch carrying capacity 
 

The carrying capacity of grass pitches is related to their quality and is expressed as the number of 
‘match equivalent sessions’ that can be accommodated each week. The ‘Playing Pitch Strategy 
Guidance’ indicates the following weekly carrying capacities for rugby union pitches: 
 
 

Table 78: Rugby pitch carrying capacity  
 

Drainage Maintenance 
 Poor Adequate Good 
Natural inadequate 0.5 1.0 2.0 

Natural adequate 1.5 2.0 3.0 

Pipe drained 1.75 2.5 3.25 

Pipe and slit drained 2.0 3.0 3.5 

 
The weekly collective carrying capacity of the rugby pitch sites with community use and used in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, expressed as ‘match equivalents’ is therefore as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

277



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 125 

Table 79: Rugby pitch carrying capacity in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Midweek 
capacity 

Weekend 
capacity 

Total 
capacity 

West Norfolk Rugby Club 2.0 4.0 6.0 

 

7.4.4 Changing quality 
 

The quality of the changing facilities at West Norfolk Rugby Club in 2022 was rated as ‘standard’. 
The building was too small for the club’s expanding needs. Since then, the club is currently 
completing brand-new facilities, including two bespoke segregated changing rooms, along with 
showers and toilets, specifically designed to attract and retain women and girl’s players. 
 

Table 80: Rugby changing facilities quality in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Rating 
West Norfolk Rugby Club Good 

 

7.4.5 Pitch maintenance 
 

West Norfolk Rugby Club employs a grounds maintenance contractor to maintain its pitches. 
 

7.4.6 Ownership, management and security of access 
 

The ownership, management and security of community access of the West Norfolk Rugby Club 
site is detailed below.  
 

Table 81: Rugby pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Ownership, management and security of access 
 

Site Ownership Management Access 
West Norfolk Rugby Club  West Norfolk Rugby Club  West Norfolk Rugby Club  Secured 

 
7.4.7 Geographical distribution 

 
The geographical distribution of rugby pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has been 
assessed by identifying catchments to illustrate local level accessibility. The clubs’ survey 
identified 20-minutes travel time as the typical maximum. Based upon this, the map overleaf 
shows that the north and south of the borough is outside the catchment of a pitch. 

278



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 126 

 

279



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 127 

7.5 The views of local stakeholders 
 

7.5.1 The Rugby Football Union 
 

Consultation with the RFU highlighted that: 
 

• There is only one club in the borough, West Norfolk Rugby Club, based in Kings Lynn. 
 

• The club runs a successful and expanding women and girl’s programme. 
 

• The RFU and the club are supportive of a proposal for an additional ‘3G’ football turf 
pitch in Kings Lynn to be World Rugby Regulation 22-compliant, to enable it to be used 
for full-contact rugby play. The issue of whether the pitch should be provided with 
dimensions to accommodate adult ruby matches (130m x 80m) as opposed to the standard 
football dimensions (106m x 70m) is still to be resolved. In any event, the RFU would like 
the level of rugby access to the pitch to be secured via formal agreement.  

 

7.5.2 West Norfolk RFC 
 

The key comments were as follows: 
 

• ‘Our pitches have an unevenness in the playing surface and we would like to improve the 
grass coverage’. 

 

• ‘Our new changing facilities will solve the previous problems of inadequate provision for 
women and girls’. 

 
7.6 Changes since 2023 

 
There have been a number of significant changes since 2023: 
 

• The total number of rugby teams in the borough increased from 18 in 2022 to 19 in 2025, a 
5.6% increase, driven by a growth in boys and girl’s age grade teams. 
 

• The club is currently completing brand-new facilities, including two bespoke segregated 
changing rooms, along with showers and toilets, specifically designed to attract and retain 
women and girl’s players. 

 
7.7 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which rugby facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 

 

• There is one very successful rugby club in the borough which provides for all local needs.  
 

• Rugby has widened its appeal to a broad spectrum of age groups, with age grade play for 
younger players and walking rugby for older players. 

 

7.8 The implications for rugby in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 
Analysis of local supply of rugby union pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk indicates the 
following: 

280



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 128 

• Local clubs:  There is one local club serving Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• Unmet demand: There is some unmet demand relating to the overuse of one of its 
pitches for midweek training and a lack of changing capacity. 

 

• Pitch quality: The quality of pitches is generally rated as ‘standard’, although the club 
would like to make further improvements to levels and grass cover, including end-of-
season renovations as recommended by the Grounds Maintenance Association’s Pitch 
Adviser.  

 

7.9 Assessment of current needs 
 
To assess whether the current supply of pitches is adequate to meet existing demand an 
understanding of the situation at all sites available to the community needs to be developed.  This 
is achieved by providing a brief overview for each site, which comprises: 
 

• A comparison between the carrying capacity of a site and how much demand currently 
takes place there. The carrying capacity of a site is defined as the amount of play it can 
regularly accommodate without adversely affecting its quality and use. Demand is defined 
in terms of the number of ‘match equivalent’ sessions at each site. 
 

• An indication of the extent to which pitches are being used during their peak periods. 
 

The site overviews identify the extent to which pitches are: 
 

• Being overplayed: Where use exceeds the carrying capacity. 
 

• Being played to the level the site can sustain: Where use matches the carrying capacity. 
 

• Potentially able to accommodate some additional play: Where use falls below the 
carrying capacity. 

 
As per RFU guidance, rugby union pitch capacity, demand and the resultant balance are 
expressed as ‘match equivalent sessions’ at weekly and peak times. Floodlit pitches are asterisked. 

 
Overall demand is based upon adult teams requiring an average of 1.5 match equivalent sessions 
per week for training and matches and age grade teams requiring an average of 0.5 match 
equivalent sessions per week. 
 

Table 82: Rugby pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance 
 

Site Pitches Users Weekly 
capacity 

Weekly 
demand 

Weekly 
balance 

Peak 
capacity 

Peak 
demand 

Peak 
balance 

West Norfolk 
Rugby Club 

1* West Norfolk RFC 2.0 3.0 -1.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

2* West Norfolk RFC 2.0 5.0 -3.0 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

3 West Norfolk RFC 2.0 3.25 -1.25 1.0 1.0 Balanced 

SITE TOTALS 3 - 6.0 11.25 -5.25 3.0 3.0 Balanced 

 
The split between midweek training supply and demand and weekend match supply and demand 
on match pitches is tabulated below, to highlight the main capacity pinch points.  

281



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 129 

Table 83: Rugby pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance midweek and weekends 
 

Site Pitches Midweek 
training 
capacity 

Midweek 
training 
demand 

Midweek 
training 
balance 

Weekend 
match 

capacity 

Weekend 
match 

demand 

Weekend 
match 

balance 
West Norfolk 
Rugby Club 

1* 2.0 2.25 -0.25 0.0 1.0 -1.0 

2* 2.0 4.0 -2.0 0.0 1.0 -1.0 

3 0.0 0.0 Balanced 2.0 3.0 -1.0 

SITE TOTALS 3 4.0 6.25 -2.25 2.0 5.0 -3.0 

 

The key findings are that:  
 

• There is insufficient capacity to meet current match needs, including the use of off-site 
pitch space at West Norfolk Rugby Club for age-grade matches. 
 

• There is a shortfall in floodlit pitch capacity for midweek training, which means that pitch 
two is heavily overused. 

 

7.10 Assessment of future needs 
 

7.10.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

7.10.2 Potential changes in demand 
 

The 2025 Rugby World Cup, hosted in England, aims to be more than just a tournament; it 
envisions a lasting legacy for women's rugby, both on and off the field. This includes expanding 
the tournament to 16 teams, showcasing the sport across eight venues, and driving participation 
and opportunities for women and girls in rugby. With participation already strong at West 
Norfolk RFC, we anticipate an increased demand in the area. 
 

7.10.3 Site-specific pressures 
 

There is a small shortfall in floodlit pitch capacity for midweek training. 
 

7.10.4 Potential changes in supply 
 

There are no known potential changes in rugby pitch supply in the borough, although there is a 
current proposal to make the proposed additional ‘3G’ football turf pitch in Kings Lynn World 
Rugby Regulation 22 compliant. 
 

7.10.5 Existing spare capacity 
 

There is a shortfall in floodlit pitch capacity for midweek training. 
 

282



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 130 

7.10.6 Future rugby pitch needs 
 

Future rugby pitch needs are modelled below using ‘Team Generation Rates’ (TGRs), which 
identify how many people in a specified age group in the borough are required to generate one 
team. These are then applied to projected changes in population to identify the likely number of 
teams in the future.  
 

Table 84: Rugby Team Generation Rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

• ONS projections:  
 

Team type Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Adult males 19-45 19,624 2 1: 9,812 20,831 2 0 

Adult females 19-45 20,286 1 1: 20,286 19,699 1 0 

Junior males 13-18 4,807 7 1: 687 4,739 7 0 

Junior females 13-18 4,446 4 1: 1,112 4,453 4 0 

Mini-rugby (mixed) 7-12 10,643 5 1: 2,129 9,166 4 -1 
 

• Housing projections:  
 

Team type Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Adult males 19-45 19,624 2 1: 9,812 22,783 2 0 

Adult females 19-45 20,286 1 1: 20,286 23,552 1 0 

Junior males 13-18 4,807 7 1: 687 5,581 8 +1 

Junior females 13-18 4,446 4 1: 1,112 5,162 5 +1 

Mini-rugby (mixed) 7-12 10,643 5 1: 2,129 12,357 6 +1 
 

7.11 Key findings and issues 
 

7.11.1 What are the main characteristics of current supply and demand? 
 

• Expressed demand:  The total number of teams in the borough increased from 18 in 
2022 to 19 in 2025, a 5.6% increase, driven by a growth in boys and girl’s age grade teams. 

 

• Unmet demand: There is some unmet demand relating to the overuse of one of its 
pitches for midweek training and a lack of changing capacity. 
 

• Changing quality: The club is currently completing brand-new facilities, including two 
bespoke segregated changing rooms, along with showers and toilets, specifically designed 
to attract and retain women and girl’s players. 

 

• Pitch quality: The quality of pitches is generally rated as ‘standard’, although the club 
would like to make further improvements to levels and grass cover, including end-of-
season renovations as recommended by the Grounds Maintenance Association’s Pitch 
Adviser.  

 

  

283



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 131 

• Pitch capacity: There is insufficient capacity to meet current match needs, although this 
depends in part on the use of off-site pitch space at West Norfolk Rugby Club for age-
grade matches. There is a shortfall in floodlit pitch capacity for midweek training, which 
means that pitch two is heavily overused. 
 

7.11.2 Is there enough accessible and secured community use to meet current 
demand? NO - There is a midweek capacity deficit for training 

 

There is a shortfall in floodlit pitch capacity for midweek training amounting to 2.25 match 
equivalent sessions and a shortage of 4.0 match equivalent sessions at weekends. 
 

7.11.3 Is the accessible provision of suitable quality and appropriately maintained? 
NO  

 

The pitches would benefit from enhanced drainage and maintenance. 
 

7.11.4 What are the main characteristics of future supply and demand? 
 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

• Changes in demand: Projecting future need based on current demand patterns is the 
most appropriate basis for forecasting. 

 

• Changes in supply: There are no known changes in rugby pitch supply. 
 

• Existing spare capacity: There is a shortfall in capacity for midweek training showing a 
deficit of 2.25 match equivalent sessions. 
 

• Future needs: There will be a small reduction in team numbers by 2040 based on the 
lower population projections and a small increase in numbers based on the higher 
projections, but this will have a negligible effect on demand for pitches. 

 
7.11.5 Is there enough accessible and secured provision to meet future demand? NO 

 
There is a shortfall in capacity for midweek training equivalent to 2.25 match equivalent sessions. 
Additional capacity to meet extra future needs could be created in three ways: 
 

• Pitch quality improvements: Improvements in maintenance and drainage of the pitches 
could potentially increase their collective capacity by 4.5 match equivalent sessions per 
week. 
 

• Installation of floodlights: The provision of floodlighting to the non-floodlit pitch would 
improve the potential for additional midweek use. 

 

284



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 132 

• Rugby-compliant artificial grass pitch: As an alternative to the above options, providing 
the proposed additional ‘3G’ football turf pitch in Kings Lynn as World Rugby Regulation 
22-compliant would have the potential to accommodate all current and future projected 
surplus demand, subject to agreed levels of access. 

 

7.12 Scenario testing 
 

7.12.1 Introduction 
 

Based upon the key findings and issues identified above, some scenarios examining the effect of 
securing additional pitch capacity have been rehearsed to identify the optimum approach to 
addressing needs. 

 

7.12.2 Scenario 1: Enhancing grass pitch carrying capacity with maintenance and 
drainage improvements 

 

• Rationale: Improvements in maintenance and drainage of the pitches could potentially 
increase their collective capacity by 4.5 match equivalent sessions per week. 

 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows:  
 

- The additional capacity would reduce the current shortfall in midweek pitch 
capacity. 

 

- The extra capacity could be achieved at the existing site without the need for 
additional land acquisition costs. 

 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are that:  
 

- The main limiting factor for midweek training is that only two pitches are floodlit, 
the quality of pitch one needs to be preserved for match play, so the majority of 
midweek training is focused on pitch two. Whilst pitch quality improvements would 
add capacity, without additional floodlights there would be limited impact on 
midweek usage. 

 

- The cost of grounds maintenance to sustain the enhanced pitch capacity may be 
problematic. 

 

• Conclusions: There would be merit in exploring the potential for drainage and 
maintenance improvements to the three pitches. However, to maximise the benefits of 
this, the review will also need to consider the issue of floodlighting to maximise the 
benefits in the midweek evening period (see below). 

 

7.12.3 Scenario 2: Enhancing grass pitch carrying capacity by providing floodlights 
 

• Rationale: Whilst improved maintenance and drainage would add overall capacity, to 
achieve the maximum benefits floodlighting will be required to facilitate use during 
midweek evenings.  

 

• Advantage: The advantage of this scenario is that floodlighting pitch three would 
increase its availability on midweek evenings when training sessions take place.  
 

285



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 133 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- Its effectiveness is contingent upon the pitch capacity enhancements achievable 
through the drainage and maintenance improvements, so it needs to be considered 
in conjunction. 
 

- On its own, it would have negligible impact upon the existing deficit. 
 

• Conclusions: Whilst floodlighting pitch three would create additional midweek training 
capacity, even with maintenance and drainage improvements it would still leave a shortfall 
of 0.25 match equivalent sessions. 
 

7.12.4 Scenario 3: Enhancing pitch carrying capacity by providing a rugby-compliant 
artificial grass pitches  

 

• Rationale: There is a current active proposal to provide a ‘3G’ football turf pitch in 
Kings Lynn. There have been active discussions about making the pitch World Rugby 
Regulation 22-compliant, which would enable it to accommodate full contact rugby play. 
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 

- The pitch would add 10.0 midweek match equivalent sessions and 4.0 weekend 
match equivalent sessions which has the potential to meet all current and future 
rugby needs. 

 
-  The pitch would contribute to meeting identified deficiencies in ‘3G’ Football Turf 

Pitches in the borough.  
 

• Disadvantages: The disadvantages of this scenario are as follows: 
 
- There is substantial demand for football use of the pitch, so it might not be 

available to accommodate all rugby’s needs. 
 

- If the pitch is provided with dimensions to accommodate adult rugby matches, it 
would need to be 130m x 80m as opposed to 106m x 70m for adult football. Based 
in Sport England’s latest costings, the larger pitch with a rugby-compliant shock 
pad would be £410,000 more expensive to install. 

 

• Conclusions: The feasibility of installing a World Rugby Regulation 22-compliant 
artificial grass pitch in Kings Lynn should be investigated further as an alternative to 
improvements to grass pitch drainage and floodlighting. If the pitch is installed as rugby 
compliant, but with football dimensions only (106m x 70m), it would still meet a range of 
rugby needs, including age grade matches and training for all ages. 

 

  

286



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 134 

7.13 Policy recommendations 
 

7.13.1 Introduction 
 

The recommendations in relation to rugby union are made in the context of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 104, which stipulates that existing open space 
including playing pitches, should not be built upon unless: 
 

• An assessment has taken place which has clearly shown the open space to be surplus to 
requirements, or; 

 

• The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality, in a suitable location, or;  

 

• The development is for alternative sport and recreation provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweighs the loss. 

 

The following recommendations are arranged under ‘protect’, ‘enhance’ and ‘provide’. 
 

7.13.2 Protect 
 

Recommendation 1 - Safeguarding existing provision: The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
PPS comprises a robust and evidence-based assessment of current and future needs for rugby 
union in the borough. The PPS has identified a need to increase local rugby pitch capacity and to 
this extent, it will be important for all current community used rugby pitch sites to be retained 
and protected. It is therefore recommended that planning policies continue to support the 
retention of all sites, based upon the evidence in the PPS. If proposals to redevelop rugby pitches 
do come forward, this will only be permissible they are replaced and meet policy exception E4 of 
Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy. This states that ‘the playing field or playing fields which 
would be lost as a result of the proposed development must be replaced by a playing field or 
playing fields of an equivalent or better quality and of equivalent or greater quantity, in a suitable 
location and subject to equivalent or better management arrangements, prior to the 
commencement of development’. 
 

7.13.3 Enhance 
 

Recommendation 2 - Improving existing pitch capacity: Additional pitch capacity could be 
developed at the existing pitches by improving the quality of pitch drainage and maintenance with 
related floodlighting provision. 
 

Recommendation 3 - Developer contributions and external funding: All the additional 
demand for rugby arising from housing development in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk to 2040, 
should be accommodated through the recommendations outlined above. It is recommended that 
the action plan in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk PPS be used as the basis for seeking an 
appropriate level of financial contributions under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL 
is a limited resource whose availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of 
development realised and which is subject to a wide range of competing infrastructure demands) 
and/or through applications for external funding to cover the capital and revenue implications of 
the enhancements, in conjunction with any other external sources of funding that might be 
available.  

287



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 135 

7.13.4 Provide 
 

Recommendation 4 - Developer contributions and external funding (new provision): 
Some of the extra demand for rugby arising from the proposed housing development in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk to 2040, may need to be accommodated through the provision of new 
pitches and facilities. It is recommended that an appropriate level of financial contributions be 
sought under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL is a limited resource whose 
availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of development realised and which 
is subject to a wide range of competing infrastructure demands) and/or through applications for 
external funding to provide rugby facilities to meet the future needs identified in the Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk PPS.  
 

7.14 Action Plan 
 

7.14.1 Introduction 
 

In the context of the recommendations above, the rugby union action plan below will guide the 
implementation of the Study. The abbreviations stand for KL&WNBC - Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk Borough Council and RFU - Rugby Football Union. The capital cost estimates are based 
upon Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 
 

7.14.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 85: Key strategic action plan for rugby in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Issues Action  Lead/ 
Facilitator 

Partners Resources Priority 

Securing developer 
contributions 

Ensure that policy provision is 
made to secure developer 
contributions towards new and 
improved rugby facilities. 

KL&WNBC Developers Determined by Sport 
England’s New 
Development 
Calculator 

High 

  
7.14.3 Site specific actions 
 

Table 86: Site specific action plan for rugby in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Issues Action  Lead/ 
Facilitator 

Partners Resources Priority 

Kings Lynn 
Rugby Club 

Capacity shortfall. 
 

Investigate capacity 
improvement options, 
then either: 

• Improve drainage and 
maintenance and 
provide floodlighting to 
pitch 3; or 

• Provide a floodlit rugby-
compliant artificial grass 
pitch in Kings Lynn. 

Kings Lynn 
Rugby Club 

RFU 
CIL 
funding 

£100,000 for 
drainage/ 
floodlights 
£1,590,000 for 
artificial grass 
pitch 
 

High 

 

 
 

  

288



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 136 

8 HOCKEY PITCH NEEDS  

 
8.1 Organisational context 
 

• England Hockey: England Hockey is the governing body of the sport and supports the 
development of the game in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

• England Hockey-affiliated club: There is one affiliated club in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, Pelicans Hockey Club. In addition, Evergreens Hockey Club, which draws its 
membership from the Fakenham area of North Norfolk, is also based at the Lynnsport 
pitches. 

 
8.2 Strategic context 
 

8.2.1 National hockey strategy 
 

• England Hockey’s strategic plan 2017 - 2027 ‘A Nation Where Hockey Matters’ (2017) 
contains the following priorities of relevance to Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 

 
The vision is for England to be a ‘Nation Where Hockey Matters’.  
 
Adults: The number playing regularly in the club network will be increased by: 

• Working with universities, schools and colleges to deliver quality playing experiences and clear 
pathways to club hockey.  

• Working with regional and local leagues and affiliated clubs, to deliver the highest quality playing 
experience and appropriate competition frameworks. 

• Developing more opportunities for over 40s to play hockey.  

• Delivering a quality programme of competitions that meet the needs of players and clubs. 
 
Young people: The number playing hockey in schools and clubs will be increased by: 

• Developing more relationships between clubs and primary and secondary schools.  

• Working with clubs to increase the number of junior hockey sessions being provided. 

• Delivering a quality programme of competitions that meet the needs of players, schools and clubs. 

• Developing an ability-based pathway for children aged 5-12 for adoption in clubs, schools and 
youth organisations. 
 

Informal hockey: The numbers of people playing informal hockey will be increased by: 

• Setting up opportunities to play Quicksticks and Hockey Heroes in community sites.  

• Increasing the opportunities to play Rush Hockey at schools, colleges, universities, clubs and 
community sites.  

• Increasing the opportunity for women to take part in Back to Hockey sessions at clubs and 
community sites. 

 
8.2.2 Hockey facilities strategy 
 

England Hockey’s ‘Facilities Strategy’ (2016) contains the following key elements: 
 
 

289



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 137 

Vision:  For every hockey club in England to have appropriate and sustainable facilities that 
provide excellent experiences for players.  

 

Mission: ‘More, Better, Happier Players with access to appropriate and sustainable facilities’. The 
3 main objectives of the facilities strategy are:  

 

• Protect - To conserve the existing hockey provision:  There are currently over 800 pitches 
that are used by hockey clubs (club, school, universities.) The current provision must be 
retained where appropriate, to ensure that hockey is maintained across the country.   

 

• Improve - To improve the existing facilities stock (physically and administratively): 
The current facilities stock is ageing and there needs to be strategic investment into 
refurbishing the pitches and ancillary facilities. There needs to more support for clubs to 
obtain better agreements with facilities providers and education around owning an asset. 

 

• Develop - To strategically build new hockey facilities where there is an identified need 
and ability to deliver and maintain: The research has identified key areas across the country 
where there is a lack of suitable Hockey provision and there is a need for additional pitches. 
There is an identified demand for multi pitches in the right places to consolidate hockey and 
allow clubs to have all of their provision catered for at one site. 

 

England Hockey has identified key areas across the country where there is a lack of suitable 
hockey provision and there is a need for additional pitches, suitable for hockey. There is an 
identified demand for multi pitches in the right places to consolidate hockey and allow clubs to 
have all of their provision catered for at one site. 

 

8.2.3 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Playing pitch strategies in neighbouring districts identify cross-boundary issues: 
 

East Cambridgeshire 
 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2020) identifies that there is sufficient spare 
capacity to meet existing and future hockey needs.  
 

Fenland 
  
The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is sufficient spare 
capacity to meet existing and future hockey needs.  
 

South Holland  
 

The ‘South Holland Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that there is no spare capacity to meet 
current and future pitch needs and that the pitch in Long Sutton requires urgent resurfacing. 
 

North Norfolk  
 

The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that ‘there is very little capacity for 
growth in hockey within North Norfolk’.  
 

Breckland 
 

Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of 
current or projected pitch needs. 

290



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 138 

West Suffolk 
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity 
to meet existing and future hockey needs.  

 

8.2.4 Implications of the strategic context 
 

The implications of the strategic context are as follows: 
 

• Local corporate priorities: Given the increasing limitations on public finances, 
demonstrating the role hockey can play in delivering wider agendas such as health and 
wellbeing is a key requirement for attracting investment. 
 

• Planning policy:  Whilst local planning policy is supportive of the retention and provision 
of playing pitches, including those for hockey, the current work on the Playing Pitch 
Strategy will provide a methodologically robust basis for determining current and future 
needs. 

 

• Policy shifts: The move in national sports policy towards prioritising new participants is 
being addressed by hockey which is attracting new and lapsed participants through 
initiatives including Back to Hockey, Hockey Heroes and walking hockey. 

 

8.3 Hockey demand 
 

8.3.1 Expressed demand 
 

Pelican’s Hockey Club is the only club in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

Table 87: Hockey clubs and teams in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Men’s teams Women’s teams Boy’s teams Girl’s teams Mixed junior teams 
Pelicans HC 4 3 3 3 2 

 

Changes since 2023 
 

Team numbers in 2022 compare with the current figures (2025) as follows: 
 

Table 88: Changes in hockey team numbers in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2021-2025  
 

Club Year/change Men’s 
teams 

Women’s 
teams 

Boy’s 
teams 

Girl’s 
teams 

Mixed 
junior 
teams 

TOTAL 

Pelican’s Hockey Club 2022 4 4 3 3 2 16 

2025 4 3 3 3 1 14 

Change 0 -1 0 0 -1 -2 

Evergreen’s Hockey Club 2022 0 2 0 0 0 2 

2025 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Change 0 -2 0 0 0 -2 
 

  

291



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 139 

8.3.2 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to play by teams from within the study area which takes place outside 
of the area, or vice versa. There is no evidence of any displaced demand. 
 

8.3.3 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Teams may have access to a pitch for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some pitches may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and consequent limited capacity of pitches in the area and/or a lack of 
provision and ancillary facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 

Consultation with Pelicans Hockey Club indicated that the club would like to have additional 
pitch time amounting to 15 hours per week for training and seven hours per week for matches 
but use for football training inhibits midweek hockey usage. 
 

8.3.4 Latent demand 
 

Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population if they had access to more or better 
provision. There is no evidence of any latent demand for hockey in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 
 

8.4 Hockey pitch supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 
8.4.1 Quantity 

 
This section summarises the detail of the supply of artificial turf pitches suitable for hockey in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.  
 

• Water-based pitches are the preferred surface for elite-level hockey. The sports turf uses a 
denser pile than other surface types which, combined with the water layer, provides the 
truest ball roll of any artificial turf system. There are no pitches of this type in the borough. 
 

• Sand-dressed artificial turf is a higher specification surface designed specifically for fast-
paced hockey.  
 

• With sand-filled pitches, the playing surface is only partially filled (usually about two-thirds 
of the pile height) so the game is played on the sports carpet, not the sand infill.  

 

• Both types of sand-based pitches can also be used for football, but the rubber crumb-filled, 
long-pile surface of ‘3G’ football turf pitches and/or World Rugby Regulation 22-
compliant pitches are not suitable of hockey use. The peak demand period for hockey is 
Saturday for match play and midweek 6.00pm to 10.00pm for training. 

 
 
 

292



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 140 

• Full-sized pitches with community use and used: 
 

Table 89: Hockey pitches with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Dimensions Surface Floodlit Built 
Lynnsport Pitch 1 Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 

2NB 
99m x 62m Sand-dressed Yes 2018 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 
2NB 

99m x 62m Sand-dressed Yes 2018 

 

• Pitches with community access but not used for hockey: There are no pitches with 
community access that are not used for hockey by external hirers. 

 

• Pitch not available for community use: This is as follows 
 

Table 90: Hockey pitches with no community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Dimensions Surface Floodlit Built Resurfaced 
RAF Marham Woodview Road, Marham 

PE33 9JX 
100m x 60m Sand-filled Yes 2000 2015 

 

8.4.2 Use of hockey pitches for football 
 

With a shortage of ‘3G’ football turf pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, one of the pitches 
at Lynnsport accommodates significant amounts of football usage: 
 

Table 91: Football use of hockey pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

 

 
 
 
 

The split between midweek and weekend use at each pitch is as follows: 
 

Table 92: Midweek/weekend use of hockey pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Midweek 
used hours 

% capacity Saturday 
used hours 

% capacity Sunday 
used hours 

% capacity 

Lynnsport Pitch 1 18.0 93.3% 3.5 58.3% 0.0 0.0% 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 11.0 73.3% 4.5 75.0% 0.0 0.0% 

TOTALS 25.0 86.7% 8.0 66.7% 0.0 0.0% 

 

8.4.3 Quality 
 

The qualitative analysis of pitches and related facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk involved 
a visit to all hockey pitches, to undertake the sport-specific non-technical visual inspections 
produced by England Hockey for Sport England’s ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ (2013). The 
assessment generates an overall ‘score’ for each pitch by evaluating the condition of the playing 
surface, fencing, floodlighting, disability access and changing provision. The scores for each 
artificial grass pitch for hockey with community use and used are as follows: 

Site Hockey 
use  

Hockey 
use (%) 

Football 
use 

Football 
use (%) 

Unused Unused 
(%) 

Lynnsport Pitch 1 4 hours 20.0% 14 hours 70.0% 2 hours 10.0% 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 15.5 hours 77.5% 0 hours 0.0% 4.5 hours 22.5% 

293



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 141 

Table 92: Artificial grass pitches for hockey in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Site Pitch Changing 
Lynnsport Pitch 1 Good Good 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 Good Good 

 

8.4.4 Pitch maintenance 
 

Maintenance of the pitches is shared between the Council and Pelicans Hockey Club. 
 

8.4.5 Ownership, management and security of access 
 
The ownership, management and security of community access of hockey pitch sites is detailed 
below. Security of access refers to the extent to which community use is protected. 
 

Table 93: Artificial grass pitches for hockey in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Ownership, management and 
access 

 

Site Ownership Management Security  of access 
Lynnsport Pitch 1 KLWNBC  KLWNBC/Pelicans HC Secured 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 Pelicans Hockey Club KLWNBC/Pelicans HC Secured 

 
8.4.6 Geographical distribution 

 
The geographical distribution of artificial grass pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has been 
assessed by identifying catchments to illustrate local level accessibility. This is based on the results 
of the clubs’ survey, which identifies 20-minutes travel time as the typical maximum. Based upon 
this, the map overleaf shows that the north and south of the borough is outside the catchment of 
a hockey pitch. 

294



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 142 

 
 

  

295



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 143 

8.5 The views of stakeholders on pitch supply and demand 
 
England Hockey: Consultation with England Hockey raised the following issues: 
 

• There is only one club drawing its membership from the borough, Pelicans Hockey Club, 
based at Lynnsport.  

 

• The club provides a varied programme for adults and juniors. 
 

• Providing an additional ‘3G’ football turf pitch in Kings Lynn would divert sufficient 
football demand from the sand-dressed pitches to enable them to meet all current and 
future hockey demand. 

 
Pelicans Hockey Club: 

 

The key comments were as follows: 
 

• ‘We are in the process of setting up an Adapted Sports Hub Trust with the Little 
Discoverers to build a bespoke clubhouse to allow all to access sports at Lynnsport, the 
clubhouse will have designated disabled changing rooms, lifts for access to upstairs where 
there will be a social area so able to chat and socialise with others before or after their 
activity. Lynnsport has many great facilities but not presently utilised by disabled sports so 
would like to put Kings Lynn on the map with this building’.  
 

• ‘Having our own clubhouse and changing facilities besides our pitch will also allow us to 
attract new players and to expand and to increase the number of hockey competitions we 
already host due to our facilities and to allow other sports to use the pitches during the day 
etc when not being used by ourselves. The club also has Evergreens Hockey Club from 
Fakenham use our pitch for training and matches on Saturdays as their previous host didn't 
want them anymore, we would like to build this relationship’. 

 

• ‘We could have another ladies team if pitch times were available, we hire the 2nd pitch 
when required and isn't available till after midday on Saturdays and booked for football 
each night during the week so our winter training is often cut short due to the lowering 
temperatures as the men don't finish till nearly 10pm on Wednesdays, would be perfect to 
have more pitch time available so can train at more sociable times. Also would like to offer 
more training time for the junior sections, 12s and below so could also train during the 
week, often Saturday mornings clash with other activities or parent pressure to be 
elsewhere and not always ideal starting at 8.45am’. 

 

• ‘We have launched Hockey Heroes this year for the under 8s which has been a great 
success, once we have the correct facilities looking to introduce Flyerz, walking hockey etc. 
going forward’. 

 

• ‘Local secondary schools use our facilities for hockey and we have private schools hiring 
our pitches for round robin matches, central facility’. 

 

• ‘Our pitches could be used for many other uses (subject to not damaging the surface) and 
with the new clubhouse could open up many other opportunities for us and Lynnsport to 
generate funds from them’. 

296



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 144 

8.6 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been a number of significant changes since 2023: 
 

• The total number of hockey teams in the borough reduced from 16 in 2022 to 14 in 2025, a 
12.5% decrease, although the number of junior members increased from 147 to 161 in the 
same period, a 9.5% increase. 
 

• Evergreens Hockey Club, which draws its members from the Fakenham area of North 
Norfolk, has two women’s teams was based at Lynnsport in 2023, but now plays at 
Dereham Hockey Club in Breckland. 

 
8.7 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which hockey facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• There is one very successful hockey club in the borough which provides for all local needs.  
 

• Hockey has widened its appeal to a broad spectrum of age groups, with Quicksticks and 
Hockey Heroes for younger players and back to Hockey and walking hockey for older 
players. 

 
8.8 The implications for hockey in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 
Analysis of local supply and demand for hockey pitches in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
indicates the following: 

 

• Local clubs:  There is one club, Pelicans HC serving hockey needs in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk.  
 

• Unmet demand: Consultation with Pelicans Hockey Club indicated that the club would 
like to have additional pitch time amounting to 15 hours per week for training and seven 
hours per week for matches but use for football training inhibits midweek hockey usage of 
one of the Lynnsport pitches. 

 

• Changing facilities: Pelicans Hockey Club has aspirations to provide an on-site clubhouse 
next to the pitches.  

 
8.9 Assessment of current needs 
 

To assess whether the current supply of pitches is adequate to meet existing demand an 
understanding of the situation at all sites available to the community needs to be developed.  This 
is achieved by providing a brief overview for each site, which comprises: 
 

• A comparison between the carrying capacity of a site and how much demand currently 
takes place there. The carrying capacity of a site is defined as the amount of play it can 
regularly accommodate without adversely affecting its quality and use. Demand is defined 
in terms of the number of ‘match equivalent’ sessions at each site. 
 

297



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 145 

• An indication of the extent to which pitches are being used during their peak periods. 
 

The site overviews identify the extent to which pitches are: 
 

• Being overplayed: Where use exceeds the carrying capacity. 
 

• Being played to the level the site can sustain: Where use matches the carrying capacity. 
 

• Potentially able to accommodate some additional play: Where use falls below the 
carrying capacity. 

 

As per England Hockey guidance, pitch capacity is expressed as weekly peak time hours of 
availability, demand as actual hours of use and the resultant balance is expressed as hours of 
availability at peak times. The actual used capacity of artificial turf pitches is based upon their 
hours of use in the peak period supplied by the pitch operators.  
 

Table 94: Artificial grass pitches for hockey in: Supply - demand balance 
 

Site Users Saturday 
capacity 

Saturday 
demand 

Saturday  
balance 

Sunday 
capacity 

Sunday 
demand 

Sunday 
balance 

Lynnsport Pitch 1 Pelicans HC 
Evergreens HC 

6.0 3.5 +2.5 6.0 0.0 +6.0 

Lynnsport Pitch 2 Pelicans HC  6.0 4.5 +1.5 6.0 0.0 +6.0 

TOTALS - 12.0 8.0 +4.0 12.0 0.0 +12.0 

 
The assessment shows that:  
 

• There is some spare capacity during the Saturday peak period. 
 

• Midweek used hours average 86.7% utilisation across the two pitches, including 14 hours of 
football usage. 

 

8.10 Assessment of future needs 
 

8.10.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

8.10.2 Potential changes in demand 
 
Consultation with Pelicans Hockey Club indicated that the club would like to have additional 
pitch time amounting to 15 hours per week for training and seven hours per week for matches. 
 

298



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 146 

8.10.3 Site-specific pressures 
 

14 hours use for per week for football training inhibits midweek hockey usage. 
 

8.10.4 Potential changes in supply 
 

There are no known potential changes in hockey pitch supply, although the proposed additional 
‘3G’ football turf pitch in Kings Lynn would divert sufficient football demand from the existing 
sand-dressed pitches to enable them to meet all current and future hockey demand. 
 

8.10.5 Existing spare capacity 
 

There is effective spare capacity at the pitches during the Saturday peak period. 
 

8.10.6 Future hockey pitch needs 
 

Future hockey pitch needs are modelled below using ‘Team Generation Rates’, which identify 
how many people in a specified age group in the borough are required to generate one team. 
These are then applied to projected changes in population to identify the likely number of future 
teams.  
 

Table 95: Hockey Team Generation Rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

• ONS projections:  
 

Team type Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Adult male hockey 18-45 21,116 4 1: 5,279 21,672 5 0 

Adult female hockey 18-45 20,990 3 1: 6,997 20,468 4 0 

Boys junior hockey 8-17 8,466 3 1: 2,822 8,039 4 0 

Girls junior hockey 8-17 8,180 3 1: 2,727 7,655 4 0 
 

• Housing projections:  
 

Team type Age 
range 

Current 
population  

Current 
teams  

TGR Population 
2040 

Teams 
2040 

Extra 
teams 

Adult male hockey 18-45 21,116 4 1: 5,279 24,516 5 +1 

Adult female hockey 18-45 20,990 3 1: 6,997 24.369 3 0 

Boys junior hockey 8-17 8,466 3 1: 2,822 9,829 3 0 

Girls junior hockey 8-17 8,180 3 1: 2,727 9,497 3 0 
 

8.11 Key findings and issues 
 

8.11.1 What are the main characteristics of current supply and demand? 
 

• Local clubs:  There is one club, Pelicans HC serving hockey needs in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk.  
 

• Unmet demand: Consultation with Pelicans Hockey Club indicated that the club would 
like to have additional pitch time amounting to 15 hours per week for training and seven 
hours per week for matches but use for football training inhibits midweek hockey usage of 
one of the Lynnsport pitches. 

299



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 147 

• Changing facilities: Pelicans Hockey Club has aspirations to provide an on-site clubhouse 
next to the pitches.  

 

8.11.2 Is there enough accessible and secured community use to meet current 
demand? YES 

 

There is some spare capacity during the Saturday peak period. Midweek used hours average 
86.7% utilisation across the two pitches, including 14 hours of football usage. 
 

8.11.3 Is the accessible provision of suitable quality and properly maintained? YES 
 

The pitches are relatively new and are well-maintained. 
 

8.11.4 What are the main characteristics of future supply and demand? 
 

• Population growth: The lower population projections will leave existing team formation 
the same as at present, whereas the higher projections would generate four additional 
teams. 
 

• Changes in demand: Projecting future need based on current demand patterns is the 
most appropriate basis for forecasting. 

 

• Existing spare capacity: There is some spare capacity during the Saturday peak period. 
Midweek used hours average 86.7% utilisation across the two pitches, including 14 hours of 
football usage. 

 

• Future needs: All additional demand to 2040 can be accommodated by existing pitch 
provision, particularly if football demand is diverted onto extra ‘3G’ football turf pitches. 
 

8.11.5 Is there enough accessible and secured provision to meet future demand? 
YES - Provided that football demand is diverted onto ‘3G’ pitches   

 

There is some spare capacity at existing pitches to accommodate future demand. Additional 
capacity would best be created by providing additional ‘3G’ football turf pitch capacity in the 
borough in the critical midweek training period and would provide sufficient extra capacity for 
extra hockey development initiatives to be developed. 
 

8.12 Scenario testing 
 

8.12.1 Introduction 
 

Based upon the key findings and issues identified above, some scenarios examining the effect of 
securing additional facility capacity have been rehearsed to identify the optimum approach to 
addressing needs.  
 

8.12.2 Scenario 1: Diverting football demand to a new ‘3G’ pitch 
 

• Rationale: At present, football training occupies 14 hours per week of capacity on the 
sand-dressed pitches at Lynnsport. A new ‘3G’ football turf pitch at a site in Kings Lynn 
could accommodate this demand, freeing up additional pitch capacity for hockey on the 
sand-dressed surface. 
 

300



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 148 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are that: 
 

- Pelicans Hockey Club has identified a range of additional development activities 
that it could initiate with additional pitch capacity. 

 
- The ‘3G’ surface on the new pitch would better meet football needs. 

 

• Disadvantages: There are no obvious disadvantages to this scenario.  
 

• Conclusions: There is merit in developing the proposals further.  
 

8.12.3 Scenario 2: Providing a new clubhouse 
 

• Rationale: Pelicans Hockey Club would like to develop a new clubhouse alongside the 
Lynnsport pitches and in so doing provide facilities for an Adapted Sports Hub for 
disabled sports. 
 

• Advantages: The advantages of this scenario are that: 
 

- Pelicans Hockey Club would have a dedicated clubhouse alongside the pitches, 
which would help with hosting tournaments. 

 
- The provision of specialist disabled facilities as part of the clubhouse would 

increase opportunities for disability sport. 
 

• Disadvantages: The advantages of this scenario are that: 
 

- There are no obvious unmet needs for disabled sport in the borough. The Council 
runs multi-sports Ability Counts, wheelchair bowls and football Ability Counts 
sessions every week at Lynnsport and disabled access to facilities at Lynnsport is 
rated as ‘very good’. 

 
- There is currently no capital funding for the project and it is unclear what grant 

sources might be available. 
 
- Pelicans Hockey Club already has access to the general changing and social facilities 

at Lynnsport. 
 

• Conclusions: More detailed feasibility work is needed to establish the extent of the need 
for the project and its capital and revenue cost implications.  

 

8.13 Policy recommendations 
 

8.13.1 Introduction 
 

The recommendations in relation to hockey are made in the context of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 104, which stipulates that existing open space including 
playing pitches, should not be built upon unless: 
 

301



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 149 

• An assessment has taken place which has clearly shown the open space to be surplus to 
requirements, or; 
 

• The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality, in a suitable location, or;  

 

• The development is for alternative sport and recreation provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweighs the loss. 

 
The following recommendations are arranged under the main headings of ‘protect’, ‘enhance’ and 
‘provide’. 
 

8.13.2 Protect 
 

Recommendation 1 - Safeguarding existing provision: The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
PPS comprises a robust and evidence-based assessment of current and future needs for hockey in 
the borough. The PPS has identified a need to increase local hockey pitch capacity and to this 
extent, it will be important for all current community used hockey pitch sites to be retained and 
protected. It is therefore recommended that planning policies continue to support the retention 
of all sites, based upon the evidence in the PPS. If proposals to redevelop hockey pitches do 
come forward, this will only be permissible if they are replaced and meet policy exception E4 of 
Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy. This states that ‘the playing field or playing fields which 
would be lost as a result of the proposed development must be replaced by a playing field or 
playing fields of an equivalent or better quality and of equivalent or greater quantity, in a suitable 
location and subject to equivalent or better management arrangements, prior to the 
commencement of development’. 

 
Recommendation 2 - Managing the football-hockey demand interface: Football clubs in 
the borough currently use 14 hours per week of midweek artificial grass pitch time for training 
purposes, displacing some hockey demand. Managing this demand via co-operative working 
between the FA and England Hockey is key to ensuring that all existing hockey pitches are 
retained  and that additional ‘3G’ pitches provision is made to redeploy demand from football for 
floodlit training/match facilities.  
 

8.13.3 Enhance 
 
Recommendation 3 - Maintaining existing pitch capacity: The pitches at the Lynnsport will 
need to be resurfaced due course to ensure that they remain usable. 

 
  

302



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 150 

8.13.4 Provide 
 
Recommendation 5 - Developer contributions and external funding: It is recommended 
that the action plan in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk PPS be used as the basis for seeking an 
appropriate level of financial contributions under CIL arrangements (taking into account that CIL 
is a limited resource whose availability and extent is dependent on the phasing and degree of 
development realised and which is subject to a wide range of competing infrastructure demands) 
and/or through applications for external funding to cover the capital and revenue implications of 
securing additional hockey pitch capacity to meet the needs of the additional population arising 
from housing growth by 2040.  

 
8.14 Action Plan 

 
8.14.1 Introduction 

 
In the context of the high-level recommendations above, the tables below set out the hockey 
action plan to guide the implementation of the Study. The abbreviation stands for KL&WNBC - 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council. The capital cost estimates are based upon Sport 
England’s ‘Facility Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 
 

8.14.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 96: Key strategic action plan for hockey in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  

 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Securing developer 
contributions 

Ensure that policy provision is 
made to secure developer 
contributions towards 
additional hockey pitch capacity 
and ancillary facilities. 

KL&WNBC Developers Determined by Sport 
England’s New 
Development 
Calculator 

High 

Need for additional 
pitch capacity 

Pursue the provision of a ‘3G’ 
football turf pitch in Kings 
Lynn, to accommodate football 
demand from the existing 
hockey pitches. 

KL&WNBC Football 
Foundation 

£1,155,000 for a ‘3G’ 
pitch 

High 

Aspiration for a 
Hockey clubhouse 
and Adapted Sports 
Hub 

Undertake additional feasibility 
work to make the case for 
provision and to establish the 
financial implications. 

Pelicans HC Little 
Explorers 

£10,000 for a 
feasibility study 

Medium 

  

303



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 151 

9 TENNIS AND PADEL COURT NEEDS  

 

9.1 Organisational context 
 

• Lawn Tennis Association: The Lawn Tennis Association is the governing body of the 
tennis and padel and supports their development in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

• Affiliated Clubs: There are seven LTA-affiliated tennis clubs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, along with one unaffiliated club. 
 

9.2 Strategic context 
 

9.2.1  National tennis strategy 
 

The LTA’s Vision is ‘tennis is for everyone. All ages, all backgrounds, all levels of fitness, all 
abilities. Anyone can pick up a racket, anyone can be part of the tennis family’. Its Strategic Plan 
2024 - 2026 ‘Tennis for Britain’ (2024) contains the following priorities:  

 

• Embed and grow LTA Youth across all venues and in the hearts and minds of children, parents, 
and the tennis workforce.  
 

• Engage with and promote different formats of the sport and ways to play and enable a flexible 
approach to equipment to support positive experiences for adult players.  

 

• Deliver resilient digital services, transformational digital products, and increase nationwide adoption 
of LTA Play Tennis.  

 

• Implement and support comprehensive parks tennis operating models, particularly through Free 
Parks Tennis, Local Tennis Leagues and programme delivery in parks.  

 

• Develop and enhance our support and engagement with Local Authorities, Active Partnerships, our 
Member Organisations, venues and operators to open up tennis. 

 

9.2.2 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Outdoor sports facilities strategies in neighbouring districts identify cross-boundary issues: 
 

East Cambridgeshire 
 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy’ (2020) identifies that there is sufficient spare 
capacity to meet existing and future tennis needs.  
 
Fenland  
 

The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity to 
meet existing and future tennis needs.  

 

South Holland 
 

The ‘South Holland Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity to meet 
existing and future tennis needs. 

304



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 152 

North Norfolk 
 
The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that ‘the existing number of courts across the 
district as a whole would appear adequate’. 
 

Breckland 
 
Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of current or 
projected tennis needs. 
 

West Suffolk 
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity to meet 
existing tennis needs, but that an additional six courts will be required to meet future needs.  

 

9.2.3 Implications of the strategic context 
 
Tennis is embarking on an ambitious effort to attract new and lapsed participants and its 
programmes will be supported by strategic initiatives at county and local level to implement its 
strategy.  

 
9.3 Stakeholder consultation 
 

9.3.1 Lawn Tennis Association 
 

Consultation with the Lawn Tennis Association highlighted the following issues: 
 

• Tennis is addressing a number of issues in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.  
 
- Whilst there are a number of thriving local clubs in the borough, many public courts 

on recreation grounds are in a poor state of repair.  
 

- Heacham Tennis Club recently folded, although its court is now run by the Sports and 
Social Club. 

 
- The Tennis Academy at King Edward VII Academy in Kings Lynn has been 

disbanded and the courts are no longer available for community use. 
 

- The tennis programme at Lynnsport has expanded to include some of the programmes 
displaced from the King Edward VII Academy. 

 

• The LTA’s vision for tennis has recently been introduced following a major consultative 
process. The vision is ‘Tennis Opened Up’ and the mission is to grow tennis by making it 
more relevant, accessible, welcoming and enjoyable. Strategic initiatives at county and 
national level aim to support this.  

 

• The LTA wants to work with local authorities, clubs, coaches, community organisations 
and volunteers to promote a joined up, transformational improvement to the tennis 
landscape including existing facilities, largely through increasing the number of courts that 
are floodlit and covered but also courts that can be booked online to improve the 
‘customer journey’ to find a court and book it. 

305



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 153 

• The LTA has a Parks Tennis Renovation Fund which recognises that tennis courts in parks 
play a key role in introducing people to tennis, with around 1.7 million people in Britain 
playing on parks courts in the past 12 months. 

 

- The LTA is committed to promoting tennis and working with councils to implement 
sustainable low-cost usage models for parks tennis courts. The aim is to bring courts 
across the country back to a good condition that can be maintained for the long-term 
and the LTA is keen to work with local authorities to secure these facilities for future 
community benefits. 
 

- The Government recognises that many local authorities have not invested in parks 
courts in recent years due to budget cuts, meaning that the quality of courts has 
deteriorated. In October 2021, recognising the need for investment the LTA and the 
Government announced a £30 million package to refurbish more than 4,500 public 
tennis courts, with a vision to get one million more people participating in tennis by 
2024. This includes £8.4 million from the LTA and whilst funding will be priorities 
for deprived areas, there is believed to be sufficient funding to improve provision in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

- The funding supports the provision of an online booking system available to all local 
authorities at no cost to them, in conjunction with refurbishment of tennis courts 
that are unplayable or in the poorest condition (prioritised by the lowest socio-
demographic areas) and the installation of gate access aligned to online booking. 

 

- There is an established operating model for all courts and activities, including free 
usage and a recreational competition offer via local tennis leagues. A sustainability 
plan must be in place to ensure that courts continue to be maintained appropriately. 

 

• The LTA also runs the ‘Clubspark’ online booking system, which enables players to book 
local courts.  

 

• Most clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are operating at full capacity. 
 

• The LTA’s facility loan scheme provides interest free loans from £25,000 with no upper 
limit. The funding stream will prioritise investment into low cost indoor structures and 
floodlights to enable communities to grow participation by accessing all year round 
facilities. The objectives of the fund are: 

 

- To provide indoor or floodlit and year round playing facilities to encourage 
community accessible play all year, including LED lighting conversions. 
 

- Enhance facilities to create better playing environments to encourage play all year. 
 

- Retain and increase the number of participants at the venue. 
 

- Offer and increase non-member ‘pay-and-play’ usage and coaching opportunities. 
- Grow the numbers of adults and juniors on the coaching programme. 

 

- Provide online booking through ClubSpark with courts available through LTA Rally. 
 

  

306



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 154 

• One of the LTA’s key strategies is to find new ways to grow participation and Padel is an 
innovative format of tennis that’s fun, flexible, easy to play and extremely sociable. 
 
- Padel is a form of tennis that's easy to play, fun and extremely sociable. It's played 

mainly in a doubles format on an enclosed court about a third of the size of a tennis 
court and can be played in groups of mixed ages and abilities, as it's not power 
dominant. The rules are broadly the same as tennis, although you serve underhand 
and the walls are used as part of the game with the ball allowed to bounce off them. 
 

- One of the fastest growing sports across continental Europe, Padel has gained 
increasing popularity over recent years, with over six million people currently playing 
in Spain. There were 150 Padel courts in Great Britain in 2021, with a target of 400 
by 2023. There are currently no Padel Tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 

 

9.3.2 Local tennis clubs 
 

A questionnaire survey was circulated to all LTA-affiliated clubs in the borough:  
 

• Collectively the clubs in the borough have 1,202 members.  
 

• Demand for tennis locally shows a slight increase over the past three years, with all clubs 
reporting increased membership numbers. 

 

9.3.3 Deepdale and Brancaster Tennis Club 
 

The club commented that ‘villages in West Norfolk are well supplied with tennis courts. We are 
fortunate to have a lot of use by holiday makers who contribute to our funds and help us keep 
our courts in good order’.  
 

9.3.4 Dersingham Tennis Club 
 

The club commented that ‘we are working in partnership with local Sports Ground Management 
Committee to get necessary permissions to refurbish the pavilion’. 
 

9.4 Tennis and Padel Court Demand 
 

9.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for tennis in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and includes: 
 

• National tennis demand patterns. 
 

• LTA-affiliated clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 

307



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 155 

9.4.2 National demand patterns 
 

LTA data on national tennis playing demand patterns is instructive for describing activity 
patterns in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Location of play: The importance of parks courts is emphasised by the following data on 
where people play tennis:  

 

Table 97: National tennis demand: Location of play 
 

Location % players 
Parks 32% 

Education sites 21% 

Tennis clubs 14% 

Leisure centres 10% 

Gyms/health clubs 7% 

Private courts 5% 

Indoor tennis centres 5% 

Elsewhere 5% 
 

• Organised play: Parks players are less reliant on organised tennis activity:  
 

Table 98: National tennis demand: Types of play 
 

Type of tennis % parks players % club players 
Social tennis with friends/family 90% 74% 

Informal tennis 15% 18% 

Individual tennis competition 2% 17% 

Group coaching/lessons 2% 15% 

Team tennis competition 1% 13% 

Private lessons 1% 11% 

Cardio tennis 3% 8% 
 

• Satisfaction levels with courts: The % of players of each type who are ‘very satisfied’ are 
as follows:  
 

Table 99: National tennis demand: Satisfaction levels 
 

Aspects of courts % parks players % club players 
Safety of courts 28% 49% 

Proximity to home 31% 45% 

Condition of courts 13% 39% 

Ease of booking 16% 35% 

Cost of courts 36% 31% 

Availability of courts 19% 30% 

Number of courts 13% 30% 

Customer service 10% 27% 

Ancillary facilities 5% 26% 

 

308



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 156 

• Awareness of local tennis courts: The importance of publicising court availability is 
emphasised by the following findings:  

 
Table 100: National tennis demand: Awareness levels 

 

Type of court % people aware  
Parks courts 31% 

Tennis club courts 28% 

Leisure centres 27% 

Education courts 15% 

Indoor tennis centres 10% 

Gyms/health clubs 12% 

Other courts 9% 

No facilities nearby 11% 

No known facilities nearby 25% 

 

9.4.3 Local demand patterns 
 

LTA data on local tennis playing demand patterns in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk was gathered 
for the Community Tennis Partnerships programme in 2012 and 2013. The key findings are 
summarised below: 
 

• Participation rates: 2.9% pf borough residents played tennis in the previous 12 months, 
compared with 4.3% nationally.  
 

• Participation profile: Those who play locally tend either to be young (16 - 19) or older 
(45 - 64), with a balanced gender profile, but a strong bias towards higher socio-economic 
groups. 

 

• Location of play: The places where borough residents play, compared with the national 
data are as follows. It shows a disproportionate dependence on school and club courts as 
opposed to courts in parks.  

 
Table 101: Local tennis demand: Location of play 

 

Location % local players % national players 
Parks 38% 53% 

Education sites 45% 17% 

Tennis clubs 28% 16% 

Leisure centres 11% 15% 

Gyms/health clubs 6% 7% 

Elsewhere 14% 9% 
 

• Non-participants: Non-participants in tennis in the borough cited the following reasons:  
 

  

309



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 157 

Table 102: Reasons for non-participation in tennis 
 

Reason % respondents 
Just not for me 35% 

Too busy 22% 

Too physically demanding 16% 

Don’t like the game 13% 

Poor health 12% 

Already play other sports 8% 

Nowhere to play locally 6% 

Difficult game to play 4% 

Don’t know where to play 3% 

Nobody to play with 2% 
 

9.4.4 Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Clubs 
 

Tennis clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and where they play are as follows.  
 

Table 103: Tennis clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Home courts No. members 
Deepdale and Brancaster Tennis Club Brancaster Village Hall 110 

Dersingham Tennis Club  Dersingham Recreation Ground 50 

Great Massingham Tennis Club Great Massingham Recreation Ground 260 

Overy Tennis Club* Overy Tennis and Sports Club 115 

South Creake Tennis Club South Creake Recreation Ground 75 

Terrington St. Clement Tennis Club Terrington St. Clement Recreation Ground 145 

The Burnhams Tennis Club Burnham Market Recreation Ground 205 

West Norfolk Tennis Club North Runcton Recreation Ground 120 
 

* Not affiliated to the LTA. 
 

9.4.5 Changes since 2023 
 

Club membership in 2022 compares with the current figures (2025) as follows: 
 

Table 104: Tennis club membership in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk in 2022 and 2025 
 

Club Members 2022 Members 2025 Change 
Deepdale and Brancaster Tennis Club 110 130 +20 

Dersingham Tennis Club  50 55 +5 

Great Massingham Tennis Club 260 260 0 

Overy Tennis Club 115 105 -10 

South Creake Tennis Club 75 200 +125 

Terrington St. Clement Tennis Club 145 157 +12 

The Burnhams Tennis Club 205 212 +7 

West Norfolk Tennis Club 120 120 0 

TOTALS 1,080 1,239 +159 

 

310



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 158 

9.4.6 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to play by players from within the study area which takes place outside 
of the area, or vice versa. Based upon the results of the clubs’ survey, there is no evidence of any 
displaced demand for tennis. 
 

9.4.7 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Players may have access to a court for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some facilities may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and limited capacity of facilities and/or a lack of provision and ancillary 
facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 

There is no evidence of unmet demand for outdoor tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present.  
 

9.4.8 Latent demand 
 

Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population should they have access to more or better 
provision. The LTA’s ‘Periscope’ modelling exercise has assessed the latent demand in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk and concluded that there is latent demand for tennis from 6,722 people 
in the borough, which with an assumed ‘penetration rate’ of 8%, could convert to 538 additional 
players, based on court access and spare capacity. With no padel courts in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present, the LTA calculates latent demand as follows: 
 

Table 105: Latent demand for padel courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Population Tennis demand (20% of 
population) 

Padel market 
penetration @ 8% 

Courts needed to 
meet demand 

154,300 30,860 2,469 12 
 

9.4.9 Future demand 
 

This has been assessed as follows: 
 

• Participation rates: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for tennis at national level since 2015: 

 

Table 106: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National tennis participation rates 2015 - 2022 
 

Nov ’15 - 
Nov ‘16 

 May ’16 -  
May ‘17 

Nov ‘16- 
Nov ‘17 

 May ‘17-  
May ‘18 

Nov ‘17- 
Nov ‘18 

May ‘18-  
May ‘19 

Nov ‘18-
Nov ‘19 

May ‘19-  
May ‘20 

Nov ‘19-
Nov ‘20 

May ‘20-  
May ‘21 

Nov ’20-
Nov ‘21 

Nov ’21-
Nov ‘22 

% 
Change 

6.8% 7.0% 6.9% 6.6% 6.2% 6.0% 5.9% 6.0% 6.1% 5.8% 5.1% 6.0% -0.8% 
 

• LTA adult tennis participation rates: The LTA’s participation data shows and upward 
trend in participation rates for adult tennis (people aged 16 and over): 

 

311



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 159 

Table 107: LTA national adult tennis participation rates 2018 - 2022 
 

Frequency 
of play 

Feb-Apr 
2018 

Feb-Apr 
2019 

Feb-Apr 
2020 

Feb-Apr 
2021 

Feb-Apr 
2022 

% Change 

Past year 7.29% 6.91% 7.77% 5.20% 8.11% +0.81% 

Past month 2.07% 2.23% 2.09% 1.18% 3.24% +1.17% 

 

• LTA junior tennis participation rates: The LTA’s participation data shows and upward 
trend in participation rates for junior tennis (people aged between 4 and 15): 

 
Table 108: LTA national junior tennis participation rates 2020 - 2022 

 

Apr 2020 Apr 2021 Apr 2022 % Change 
9% 11% 15% +4% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

9.4.10 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• There are eight local clubs serving Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Collective membership 
numbers have increased by 14.7% since 2022. 
 

• There is some evidence of latent demand for outdoor tennis courts in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk at present, with potentially 538 additional players based on LTA modelling. 

 

• Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels, based on participation 
trends but the higher population projections will create a requirement for 3.1% additional 
capacity by 2040 based on the lower population projection or 16.1% additional capacity 
based on the higher projection.  

 
9.5 Tennis and Padel Court Supply 
 

9.5.1 Introduction 
 
This section summarises the detail of outdoor tennis court supply in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. The courts included in the analysis are defined as courts permanently laid out with 
regulation markings for tennis.  
 

  

312



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 160 

9.5.2 Tennis courts with community use and used 
 

Table 109: Tennis courts with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site  Address Floodlit 
courts 

Non-floodlit 
courts 

Sub-area 

Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn 
PE30 2NB 

4 Tarmac - Kings Lynn 

Brancaster Playing 
Fields 

Cross Lane, Brancaster PE31 8AE - 1 
Synthetic Grass 

Hunstanton 

Deepdale and 
Brancaster Tennis Club 

Main Road, Brancaster Staithe PE31 
8BX 

- 2 Tarmac Hunstanton 

Dersingham Tennis 
Club 

Manor Road, Dersingham PE31 
6LN 

2 Tarmac - Hunstanton 

Docking Playing Field Bradmere Road, King’s Lynn PE31 
8NQ 

- 1 Polymeric Hunstanton 

East Rudham Playing 
Field 

School Road, East Rudham PE31 
8GN 

1  
Synthetic Grass 

- Hunstanton 

Feltwell Playing Field Paynes Lane, Feltwell IP26 4BB - 1 Tarmac Downham 
Market 

Great Massingham 
Tennis Club 

Station Road, Great Massingham 
PE32 2HU 

2 Tarmac - Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Recreation 
Ground 

Greevegate, Hunstanton PE36 6AE 2 Tarmac 10 Grass Hunstanton 

Memorial Playing Field Lynn Road, Downham Market PE38 
9QE 

2 Tarmac - Downham 
Market 

Northwold Recreation 
Ground 

Hovells Lane, Northwold IP26 5LX 1 Tarmac - Downham 
Market 

Overy Tennis Club Gong Lane, Burnham Overy PE31 
8JG 

- 2 Tarmac Hunstanton 

South Creake Tennis 
Club 

The Playing Field, South Creake 
NR21 9PP 

- 2 Grass Hunstanton 

Terrington St. Clement 
Tennis Club 

Lynn Road, King’s Lynn PE34 4JU 2 
Tarmac 

- Kings Lynn 

The Burnhams Tennis 
Club 

Main Road, Brancaster Staithe PE31 
8BX 

- 2 Tarmac Hunstanton 

Thornham Recreation 
Ground 

High Street, Thornham PE36 6LX - 1  
Synthetic Grass 

Hunstanton 

West Norfolk Tennis 
Club 

New Road, North Runcton PE33 
0RA 

- 2 Tarmac 
3 Grass 

Kings Lynn 

TOTALS - 17 courts 26 courts - 

 
9.5.3  Tennis courts by sub-area 
 
Courts with community use and used by sub-area are as follows. It shows that levels of provision 
vary widely across the borough, being highest in the Hunstanton sub-area and poorest in the 
Downham Market sub-area: 
 
 

313



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 161 

Table 110: Tennis courts with community use and used by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Population No. Courts  Courts per capita 
Hunstanton  28,316 28 1: 1,011 

Kings Lynn  67,643 11 1: 6,149 

Downham Market  55,286 4 1: 13,822 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 43 1: 3,517 

 
9.5.4  Tennis courts where use was recently discontinued 

 

The use of the following courts was recently discontinued: 
 

Table 111: Tennis courts where use was recently discontinued in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Courts Sub-area 
Heacham Social Club Station Road, Heacham PE32 7EX 1 Tarmac - 

William Burt Community Complex Watering Lane, West Winch  PE33 0JY 2 Tarmac Kings Lynn 

 

9.5.4  Tennis courts with no community use  
 

The following courts are not available for community use: 
 

Table 112: Tennis courts without community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Courts 
Bircham Newton Training Centre Bircham Newton, King's Lynn PE31 6RH 2 Tarmac 

Downham Market Academy Bexwell Road, Downham Market PE38 9LL 2 Tarmac 

Glebe House School Cromer Road, Hunstanton PE36 6HW 2 Artificial Grass 

Iceni Academy Stoke Road, Methwold IP26 4PE 3 Tarmac 

King Edward VII Academy  Gaywood Road, King’s Lynn PE30 2QB 3 Synthetic Grass 
4 Tarmac 

Kings Lynn Academy Queen Mary Road, Kings Lynn PE30 4QG 3 Tarmac 

Marshland High School  School Road, West Walton PE14 7HA 4 Tarmac 

RAF Marham Woodview Road, King's Lynn PE33 9JX 2 Tarmac 

Smithdon High School Downs Road, Hunstanton PE36 5HY 6 Tarmac 

Springwood High School Queensway, King’s Lynn PE30 4AW 3 Artificial Grass 

St. Clements High School Churchgate Way, Terrington St. Clement PE34 4LZ 2 Tarmac 

TOTALS - 36 courts 

 

9.5.5  Padel courts  
 

There are currently no padel courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

9.6 Quality 
 
9.6.1 The criteria assessed for tennis courts 

 
The quality of tennis courts was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site visit to 
all facilities. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 

314



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 162 

 

• The court: Court surface, line markings and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Fencing: Condition and appearance. 

• Disability access: Provision for disabled access to the courts. 
 

• General access: Parking, signage and proximity to public transport. 
 

• Lighting: The quality, illumination levels and evenness of floodlights. 
 
 

9.6.2 The basis of the ratings 
 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’ (highlighted in green 
below), 4 to ‘good’ (also highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’ (highlighted in yellow below), 
2 to ‘poor’ (highlighted in red below) and 1 to ‘very poor’ (also highlighted in red below).  
 

9.6.3 Tennis court assessment 
 

The ratings for tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 113: Tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility Courts Fencing Disability 
Access 

Changing Lighting 

Alive Lynnsport 5 5 4 5 5 

Brancaster Playing Fields 4 4 3 - - 

Deepdale and Brancaster TC 4 4 3 3 - 

Dersingham Tennis Club 5 5 3 3 5 

Docking Playing Field 4 3 3 - 4 

East Rudham Playing Field 3 3 3 - 3 

Feltwell Playing Field 2 4 4 4 - 

Great Massingham Tennis Club 4 4 4 2 4 

Hunstanton Recreation Ground 
tarmac courts 

5 5 3 - 4 

Hunstanton Recreation Ground 
grass courts 

5 4 3 - - 

Memorial Playing Field 5 5 4 4 5 

Northwold Recreation Ground 3 3 1 2 3 

Overy Tennis Club 4 3 2 2 - 

South Creake Tennis Club 3 3 2 5 - 

Terrington St. Clement TC 5 4 4 3 5 

The Burnhams Tennis Club 4 5 4 5 5 

Thornham Recreation Ground 3 4 3 - - 

West Norfolk Tennis Club 3 4 2 2 - 

 
 
  

315



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 163 

9.7 Accessibility 
 

The LTA applies a 10 minute drivetime catchment to define accessibility. The map overleaf 
shows that several rural parts of the Downham Market sub-area are beyond 10-minutes’ 
drivetime of a tennis court. 

 

316



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 164 

9.8 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the basis of use and cost of tennis court usage in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk: 
 

Table 114: Tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Basis of use 
 

Facility Basis of use 
Lynnsport Membership and ‘Pay-and-play’ 

Membership £50 per annum  
£16.50 ‘Pay-and-play’ peak court hire 
£8.60 ‘Pay-and-play’ off-peak court hire 

Brancaster Playing Fields ‘Pay-and-play; £5 per hour 

Deepdale and Brancaster TC Membership only 
Adult membership £40 per annum  
Junior membership £12 per annum 

Dersingham Tennis Club Membership and ‘Pay-and-play’ (via Clubspark) 
Adult membership £40 per annum  
Junior membership £12 per annum 
‘Pay-and-play’ £2.50 per person (plus £5 for floodlights) 

Docking Playing Field Open access - No charge 

East Rudham Playing Field Open access - No charge 

Feltwell Playing Field Open access - No charge 

Great Massingham Tennis Club Membership and ‘Pay-and-play; 
Adult membership £35 per annum  
Junior membership £9.50 per annum 
‘Pay-and-play’ £5 per hour 

Hunstanton Recreation Ground ‘Pay-and-play’ £5.35  

Memorial Playing Field, Downham Market Open access - No charge 

Northwold Recreation Ground No details available 

Overy Tennis Club Membership and ‘Pay-and-play’  
Adult membership £45 per annum  
Junior membership £15 per annum 
‘Pay-and-play’ £2.50 per person  

South Creake Tennis Club Membership and ‘Pay-and-play’  
Household membership £45 per annum  
Junior membership £12 per annum 
‘Pay-and-play’ £12 per hour 

Terrington St. Clement TC Membership only 
Adult membership £45 per annum  
Junior membership £10 per annum 

The Burnhams Tennis Club Membership and ‘Pay-and-play’  
Adult membership £90 per annum  
Junior membership £12 per annum 
‘Pay-and-play’ £13 per hour 

Thornham Recreation Ground Membership only 
Membership £35 per annum  

  

317



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 165 

Facility Basis of use 

West Norfolk Tennis Club Membership only 
Adult membership £60 per annum  
Junior membership £10 per annum 

 

9.9 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are 55 tennis courts with community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 24 of 
which are floodlit. 
 

• The quality of club-owned tennis courts is generally good, but there are issues with disabled 
access and changing facilities at five and four sites respectively. 

 

• Several rural parts of the Downham Market sub-area are beyond 10-minutes’ drivetime of a 
tennis court. 

 

• 25 courts are available for casual use on a ‘pay-and-play’ or open access basis. All other 
courts are for club members only. 

 

9.10 Changes since 2023 
 
There have been the following changes since 2023: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 
9.11 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which tennis facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• There is a good mix of club and open access courts to cater for a range of standards of 
play.  
 

• There are capacity and quality issues at some courts that will need to be addressed if 
current and future participation levels are to be sustained. 

 
9.12 The balance between tennis court supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between tennis court supply and demand 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough courts with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

318



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 166 

• Quality: Are the courts fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the courts in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the courts available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

9.13 Quantity 
 
9.13.1 Tennis current needs 

 

The LTA calculates the capacity of tennis courts in relation to ‘Estimated Membership Capacity’. 
This is applied to club courts, on the basis that: 
 

• A floodlit outdoor court has a capacity of 60 members. 
 

• A non-floodlit outdoor court has a capacity of 40 members. 
  
The results of applying this to courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is tabulated below. 
Capacity shortfalls are shown in brackets and the analysis shows that: 
 

• Seven sites are operating at over capacity. 
 

• When aggregated for the borough as a whole, there is a small deficit of provision, 
equivalent to five floodlit courts. 

 
Table 115: Tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Supply - demand balance at club courts 

 

Facility No. courts Capacity No. members Balance 
Deepdale and Brancaster TC 2 80 130 (50) 

Dersingham Tennis Club  2 120 55 65 

Great Massingham TC 2 120 260 (140) 

Overy Tennis Club 2 80 105 (25) 

South Creake Tennis Club 2 80 200 (120) 

Terrington St. Clement TC 2 120 157 (37) 

The Burnhams Tennis Club 2 120 212 (92) 

West Norfolk Tennis Club 5 200 120 (80) 

TOTALS 19 920 1,239 (319) 

 
9.13.2 Tennis future needs 
 
Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

319



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 167 

Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels based on participation trends, but 
the lower population growth projections will create a requirement for 3.1% additional capacity by 
2040, which is equivalent to two extra courts, whilst the higher population growth projections 
will create a requirement for 16.1% additional capacity by 2040, which is equivalent to nine extra 
courts. 
 

9.13.3 Padel current needs 
 

The LTA calculates the need for padel courts as follows: 
 

Table 116: Current demand for padel courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Population Tennis demand (20% of 
population) 

Padel market 
penetration @ 8% 

Courts needed to 
meet demand 

154,300 30,860 2,469 12 

 

9.13.4 Padel future needs 
 

Future demand can be calculated on the same basis: 
 

Table 117: Future demand for padel courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Population Tennis demand (20% 
of population) 

Padel market 
penetration @ 8% 

Courts needed to 
meet demand 

159,050 31,810 2,545 13 

179,300 35,860 2,869 14 

 

9.14 Quality 
 

9.14.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of club-owned tennis courts is generally at least ‘standard’, but four courts have ‘poor’ 
quality playing surfaces and there are issues with disabled access and changing facilities at five and 
four sites respectively. 
 

9.14.2 Future quality 
 

All court providers will need to continue to invest in maintaining and improving their facilities, so 
if this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the future, it seems 
reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 
 

9.15 Accessibility 
 

9.15.1 Current accessibility 
 

Several rural parts of the Downham Market sub-area are beyond 10-minutes’ drivetime of a 
tennis court. None of the borough is within the catchment of a padel court. 
 
 
 

320



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 168 

9.15.2 Future accessibility 
 

Providing locally accessible outdoor tennis and padel courts as part of the housing developments 
would be consistent with meeting health and well-being objectives in the new developments.  
 

9.16 Availability 
 

9.16.1 Current availability 
 

25 courts are available for casual use. All other courts are for club members only. 
 

9.16.2 Future availability 
 

Provision should be made for ‘pay and play’ access to all new courts. 
 

9.17 The options for securing additional tennis and padel court capacity 
 

The options for securing existing and additional tennis and padel court capacity to meet current 
and future needs are as follows: 

 
9.17.1 Protect 

 
Protecting existing tennis courts through the Local Plan will be key both to securing local 
provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing facilities, unless the 
loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality 
and accessibility. 
 

9.17.2 Provide 
 

There is a need to provide seven additional tennis and padel courts to meet demand arising from 
the higher population growth projections and there is a case for making locally-accessible 
provision in any major new housing developments. 
 

9.17.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing tennis court capacity by: 
 

• Addressing the disabled access issues at the three sites where this is rated as ‘poor’. 
 

• Ensuring that the courts and ancillary facilities receive regular maintenance and 
improvements, funded by developer contributions where appropriate. 

 

• Considering the addition of floodlights at appropriate sites, particularly in conjunction with 
netball developments at shared use sites. 

 

• Investigating gate access technology and the Clubspark court booking system. 

 
  

321



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 169 

9.18 Action Plan 
 

9.18.1 Introduction 
 

The tables below set out the action plan for tennis courts to guide the implementation of the 
strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. The capital cost estimates are based upon 
Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 

 

9.18.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 118: Key strategic action plan for tennis in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing tennis 
courts. 

Include a policy in the Local Plan to 
protect all existing tennis courts. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Funding for 
future tennis and 
padel court 
needs. 

Ensure that S106 contributions are 
collected from developers.   

KL&WNBC Developers - High 

Improving the 
use of parks and 
recreation 
ground courts  

Investigate gate access technology and 
Clubspark court booking system.  

KL&WNBC LTA TBC Medium 

9.18.3 Site-specific actions 
 

Table 119: Site-specific action plan for tennis in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Alive Lynnsport No current issues No action - - - - 

Brancaster Playing 
Fields 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Deepdale and 
Brancaster TC 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Dersingham Tennis 
Club 

Aspiration to improve 
changing facilities 

Upgrade changing Dersingham 
TC 

- £150,000 High 

Docking Playing 
Field 

No current issues No action - - - - 

East Rudham 
Playing Field 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Feltwell Playing 
Field 

Poor quality court 
 

Resurface court Feltwell PC - £15,000 Medium 

Great Massingham 
Tennis Club 

Poor quality changing Upgrade changing Great 
Massingham 
Sports Assoc. 

- £150,000 High 

Hunstanton 
Recreation Ground 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Memorial Playing 
Field, Downham 
Market 

No current issues No action - - - - 

322



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 170 

Site Issues Action Lead Partners Resources Priority 

Northwold 
Recreation Ground 

• Poor quality 
changing 

• Poor disability access 

Provide new 
clubhouse with 
improved disabled 
access. 

Northwold PC -  £150,000 for 
changing 

High 

Overy Tennis Club • Poor quality 
changing 

• Poor disability access 

Provide new 
clubhouse with 
improved disabled 
access. 

Burnham  
Overy PC 

-  £150,000 for 
changing 

High 

South Creake 
Tennis Club 

Poor disability access Provide a tarmac path 
from the access point 

South Creake 
PC 

- £1,500 for 
path 

High 

Terrington St. 
Clement TC 

No current issues No action - - - - 

The Burnhams 
Tennis Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Thornham 
Recreation Ground 

No current issues No action - - - - 

West Norfolk 
Tennis Club 

• Poor quality 
changing 

• Poor disability access 

Provide new clubhouse 
with improved disabled 
access. 

West Norfolk 
Tennis Club 

-  £150,000 for 
changing 

High 

 

  

323



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 171 

10 BOWLS GREEN NEEDS  

 

10.1  Organisational context 
 

• Bowls England: Bowls England is the governing body of the sport and supports the 
development of the game in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

• Affiliated Clubs: There are 35 bowls clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 
10.2 Strategic context 
 

10.2.1  Bowls England Strategic Plan 
 
Bowls England’s strategic plan ‘Fit for the Future: Bowls England Strategy 2021 - 2026’ (2021) 
contains the following material of relevance: 
 

Target: To target is to create a million more ‘bowls experiences’ by 2026. 
 

Mission: The mission is ‘to promote and develop the sport of bowls across England so it enriches the 
lives of its participants, connects communities and is in good health for future generations’. 

 

Making bowls accessible: The actions include: 
 

• ‘Developing and marketing new, introductory forms of the game to service identified target 
markets of new bowlers’.  

 

• ‘Modernising our digital platforms and experiences so new bowlers can easily locate 
opportunities to get involved in our sport’.  

 

• ‘Working with clubs and facility owners to break down barriers and ensure every new bowler’s 
first time is uncomplicated and compelling’.  

 
 

• ‘Developing and implementing a Diversity and Inclusion Strategy to ensure our sport is more 
representative of society’.  

 

• ‘Building new partnerships with like-minded organisations to engage groups of people from 
outside our sport’. 

 

Support our communities: The actions include: 
 

• ‘Delivering and expanding our range of club services to support club management teams, 
increase their capability and empower them to thrive’.  

 

• ‘Working at a local and national level to arrest the decline in facilities to ensure places to play 
bowls are accessible, inclusive and sustainable’. 

 

10.2.2 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Outdoor sports facilities strategies in neighbouring districts identify cross-boundary issues: 
 

324



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 172 

East Cambridgeshire 
 
The ‘East Cambridgeshire Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy’ (2020) identifies that there is sufficient spare 
capacity to meet existing and future bowls needs.  
 
Fenland 
 
The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity to 
meet existing and future bowls needs.  

 
South Holland 
 
The ‘South Holland Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity to meet 
existing and future bowls needs. 
 
North Norfolk 
 
The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) notes that ‘at present, there is considerable spare 
capacity at most bowling greens in the district. At one stage, 80 bowlers per club was often regarded as 
a stable number to aim for to keep the club sustainable - no clubs in North Norfolk reach that figure’. 
 

Breckland 
 
Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of current or 
projected bowls needs. 
 

West Suffolk 
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that there is sufficient spare capacity to meet 
existing and future bowls needs.  

 

10.3 Stakeholder consultation 
 

10.3.1 Bowls England 
 

Consultation with Bowls England highlighted the following issues: 
 

• There are 35 outdoor bowls clubs in the district, variously affiliated either to the Norfolk 
Bowls Association, the Norfolk Bowls Federation or operating on an unaffiliated basis. 
There used to be more but clubs in Burnham, East Rudham, South Lynn and West Lynn 
all recently closed. 
 

• The key issue for clubs is the recruitment of participants. 
 

• The average age of bowls participants in Norfolk is 65. 
 

10.3.2 The Albert Victor Bowls League 
 
Consultation with the League Secretary highlighted that: 

 

325



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 173 

• ‘The League has been running since the 1950’s, mainly based around Dersingham where it 
is still currently based. Up until the last 10 years the membership of the league was 40 clubs 
in four divisions. This membership has slowly dwindled over the past 10 years but still had 
a membership of 37 clubs pre-covid’.  
 

• ‘The main reasons in the decline in bowls clubs over the past 10 to 15 years has been the 
closure of greens/clubs attached to pubs and the inability of independent clubs to attract 
members and consequently are unable to sustain funding for their activities with the high 
cost of green maintenance and in some cases green rental. There is now not a single club 
attached to a pub in the. League whereas there were probably 7 or 8 at one time’.  

 

• ‘The overall effect of covid on the League was to reduce the number of clubs. We actually 
lost 8 participating teams. Two of these clubs folded, one of which could not financially 
survive the lack of funds due to covid. The others withdrew a team as their membership 
post-covid did not allow the participation in more than 2 leagues. The loss of membership 
generally was partly due to covid, or the fear of covid, but also some older members are no 
longer fit enough to play’. 

 

• ‘Bowls as a community sport is and has been on the decline for a number of years for a 
multitude of reasons. Some are mentioned above, others are not so obvious. There seems 
to have been a decline in the understanding of mutual community benefits attached to all 
types of organisations and sporting activities in general. Several Bowls greens have been 
lost over the years due to relationships between the bowls club members and their hosts 
that provide the facility’.  

 

• ‘There is also a general lack of enthusiasm in the under 55’s to actually volunteer to help 
their own clubs, with a very common resulting factor that in the majority of clubs where a 
very few people do all the work to make the club viable, these people are mostly over 65 or 
older. I personally do not think the decline can be halted by ‘throwing money at it’ but 
obviously additional funding would allow clubs to improve their facilities. Also help with 
obtaining grant monies could be a help to some clubs’. 

 

10.3.3 Local bowls clubs 
 

A questionnaire survey was circulated to all clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. All 
responding clubs have experienced falling memberships in recent years. Specific comments made 
by clubs were as follows: 
 

• Hunstanton Cliff Parade Bowls Club: The club commented that ‘covid affected us very 
badly with many members not returning. Only through a recruitment drive did the club 
keep going and even now many new members still learning to play. I hope more money 
will be spent on the playing green and clubhouse otherwise the slow deterioration could see 
the club close’. 
 

• Marshland St. James Bowls Club: ‘We had our own changing rooms and showers but 
when Marshland Hall was built a grant from Sport England was obtained by the hall 
committee. Our Changing room was demolished and we now have to pay to use the toilets 
etc at the hall. We felt we were robbed’. 

 

326



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 174 

• Massingham Bowls Club: ‘As a club there have not been any long-standing effects 
from Covid. Although we lost some older members in 2019 / 2020 this would probably 
have happened anyway. We were also fortunate to have a group of local men in their 50's 
join at the outset of the 2022 season which has more than compensated for the older 
members ceasing to play’. 
 

• Northwold Bowls Club: The club commented that ‘we cannot see this club lasting 
another 3 years’. 
 

• Wiggenhall Bowls Club: The club commented that ‘for the duration of lockdown and 
the uncertain restrictions that followed we were not able to use the club, and so felt we 
could not charge members the annual subscriptions. Some members were reluctant to 
start playing again even when restrictions began to be lifted. Our volunteer team 
continued to maintain and upgrade the green, working by rota. We were unable to hold 
our usual fund-raising events for well over a year. We therefore lost income for nearly 2 
years, and still had expenditure. We were fortunate to qualify for a £10,000 grant via the 
local authority, which has in effect allowed the Club to continue in existence. Over the 
nearly 2 years, although we did not lose any members to covid, some members have 
stopped playing for other health reasons’.  

 

10.4 Bowls Green Demand 
 

10.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for bowls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and includes: 
 

• Expressed demand. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 
 

12.4.2 Expressed demand 
 

Bowls clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and the greens where they play are as follows.  
 

Table 120: Bowls clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Green 
Albert Victor Bowls Club Ingoldisthorpe 

Anmer Bowls Club Anmer Social Club 

Bircham Bowls Club Great Bircham Social Club 

Castle Acre Coronation Castle Acre Playing Field 

Dersingham Institute Bowls Club Dersingham Institute 

Docking Bowls Club Docking Bowls Club 

Downham Market Conservative Downham Market Conservative 

Feltwell Bowls Club Feltwell Royal British Legion 

Flitcham Bowls Club Flitcham Bowls Club 

Gaywood Park Bowls Club Gaywood Park 

327



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 175 

Club Green 
Globe Bowls Club Globe Bowls Club 

Great Massingham Bowls Club Great Massingham Multi-sports Club 

Heacham Social Bowls Club Heacham Social Club 

Hockwold Village Bowls Club Hockwold Sports Club 

Emneth Bowls Club Emneth Bowls Club 

Hunstanton Bowls Club Hunstanton Recreation Ground 

Hunstanton Cliff Parade Cliff Parade 

Kings Lynn Bowls Club River Lane Recreation Ground 

King William Bowls Club Terrington St. Clement Recreation Ground 

Marham Sports and Social Coronation Playing Field 

Marshland St. James Bowls Club Marshland Hall 

Northwold Bowls Club Northwold Recreation Ground 

Runcton Holme Bowls Club Runcton Holme Recreation Ground 

Sandringham Bowls Club Sandringham Social Club 

Searles Bowls Club Searles Leisure Resort 

Shouldham Bowls Club Shouldham Bowls Club 

South Creake Bowls Club South Creake Bowls Club 

Southery Bowls Club Southery Recreation Ground 

Terrington Memorial Bowls Club Terrington St. Clement Recreation Ground 

United Bowls Club United Bowls Club 

Upwell Bowls Club Upwell Bowls Club 

Watlington Sports & Social Club Watlington Sports & Social Club 

West Winch Bowls Club West Winch Bowls Club 

Wiggenhall Bowls Club Wiggenhall Bowls Club 

Wolferton Bowls Club Wolferton Social Club 

Wootton Park Bowls Club Gaywood Park 

 
10.4.3 Displaced demand 

 
Displaced demand relates to play by teams from within the study area which takes place outside 
of the area, or vice versa. Based upon the results of the clubs’ survey, there is no evidence of any 
displaced demand for bowls. 
 

10.4.4 Unmet demand 
 
Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Clubs may have access to a facility for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some facilities may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and limited capacity of facilities and/or a lack of provision and ancillary 
facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 
There is no evidence of unmet demand for outdoor bowls greens in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present, with all clubs reporting spare capacity to accommodate additional members. 
 

328



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 176 

10.4.5 Latent demand 
 

Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population should they have access to more or better 
provision. There is no evidence of latent demand for bowls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk at 
present with no clubs operating waiting lists. 
 

10.4.6 Future demand 
 

This has been assessed as follows: 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for bowls at national level since 2015: 

 

Table 121: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National bowls participation rates 2015 - 2022 
 

Nov ’15 - 
Nov ‘16 

 May ’16 -  
May ‘17 

Nov ‘16- 
Nov ‘17 

 May ‘17-  
May ‘18 

Nov ‘17- 
Nov ‘18 

May ‘18-  
May ‘19 

Nov ‘18-
Nov ‘19 

May ‘19-  
May ‘20 

Nov ‘19-
Nov ‘20 

May ‘20-  
May ‘21 

Nov ’20-
Nov ‘21 

Nov ’21-
Nov ‘22 

% 
Change 

0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.7% 0.7% 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.2% 0.4% 0.6% -0.2% 
 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult 
(16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that 
whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 
2015 and 2023: 

 

Table 122: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk participation rates 2015 - 2024 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% 74.8% -3.7% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

10.4.7 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• There are 34 local clubs serving Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• There is no evidence of any displaced or unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels, based on a balance 
between participation trends and population projections. 

  

329



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 177 

10.5 Bowls Green Supply 
 

10.5.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the detail of bowls green supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The 
greens included in the analysis are defined as grassed permanently laid out greens.  
 

10.5.2 Greens with community use and used 
 

Table 123: Bowls greens with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Sub-area 
Albert Victor Bowls Club Smithy Road, Ingoldisthorpe PE31 6PA Hunstanton 

Anmer Bowls Club Main Road, Anmer PE31 6RN Hunstanton 

Bircham Railway Bowls Club Church Lane, Great Bircham PE31 6XS Hunstanton 

Castle Acre Coronation BC St. James’s Green, Castle Acre PE32 2BD Downham Market 

Dersingham Institute Bowls Club Manor Road, Dersingham PE31 6LD Hunstanton 

Docking Bowls Club High Street, Docking PE31 8NG Hunstanton 

Downham Market Bowls Club Bridge Street, Downham Market PE38 9DH Downham Market 

Emneth Bowls Club Hungate Road, Emneth PE14 6DE Downham Market 

Feltwell Bowls Club Long Lane, Feltwell IP26 4BJ Downham Market 

Flitcham Bowls Club Abbey Road, Flitcham PE31 6BT Hunstanton 

Gaywood Park Bowls Club Gayton Road, Kings Lynn PE30 4EG Kings Lynn 

Globe Bowls Club St. John’s Walk, King Lynn PE30 5HQ Kings Lynn 

Great Massingham Bowls Club Station Road, Great Massingham PE32 2HU Hunstanton 

Heacham Social Bowls Club Station Road, Heacham PE31 7HG Hunstanton 

Hockwold Sports Club Main Street, Hockwold IP26 4LN Downham Market 

Hunstanton Bowls Club Cromer Road, Hunstanton PE36 6BT Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Cliff Parade Cliff Parade, Hunstanton PE36 6DX Hunstanton 

Kings Lynn Bowls Club Beulah Street, Kings Lynn PE30 4DN Kings Lynn 

King William Bowls Club Churchwaygate, Terrington St. Clement PE34 4PG Kings Lynn 

Marham Sports and Social Club The Street, Marham PE33 9JQ Downham Market 

Marshland St. James Bowls Club Smeeth Road, Marshland St. James PE14 8JB Downham Market 

Northwold Bowls Club Hovells Lane, Northwold IP26 5LX Downham Market 

Runcton Holme Bowls Club School Lane, Runcton Holme PE33 0AQ Downham Market 

Sandringham Bowls Club Lynn Road, West Newton PE31 6AY Hunstanton 

Searles Leisure Resort South Beach, Hunstanton PE36 5BB Hunstanton 

Shouldham Bowls Club Fairstead Road, Shouldham PE33 0DL Downham Market 

South Creake Bowls Club Fakenham Road, South Creake NR21 9PB Hunstanton 

Southery Bowls Club Recreation Drive, Southery PE38 0NB Downham Market 

United Bowls Club London Road, Kings Lynn PE30 5PY Kings Lynn 

Upwell Bowls Club New Road, Upwell PE14 9AB Downham Market 

Watlington Sports and Social Club Church Road, Watlington PE33 0HE Downham Market 

West Winch Bowls Club Watering Lane, West Winch PE33 0JY Kings Lynn  

Wiggenhall Bowls Club Mill Road, Wiggenhall St. Germans PE34 3HL Kings Lynn 

Wolferton Bowls Club Wolferton PE31 6HA Hunstanton 

Wootton Park Bowls Club Cemetery Drive, Kings Lynn PE30 4EG Kings Lynn 

330



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 178 

10.5.3  Greens by sub-area 
 

The number of greens by sub-area are as follows. It shows that there is a geographically equitable 
distribution of provision across the borough: 

 

Table 124: Bowls greens with community use and used by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Population No. Greens  Greens per capita 
Hunstanton  28,316 14 1: 2,023 

Kings Lynn  67,643 8 1: 8,455 

Downham Market  55,286 13 1: 4,253 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 35 1: 4,321 

 

10.5.4  Greens where use was recently discontinued 
 

These are as follows: 
 

Table 125: Bowls greens in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk where use was recently discontinued 
 

Site Address Sub-area 
Burnham Coronation BC Station Road, Burnham Market PE31 8HA Hunstanton 

Clenchwarton Bowls Club Main Road, Clenchwarton PE34 4DT Kings Lynn 

Houghton Bowls Club Bircham Road, Houghton PE31 6UE Hunstanton 

Rudham United Bowls Club School Lane, East Rudham PE31 8GN Hunstanton 

St. Lawrence Bowls Club Old Lynn Road, Tilney All Saints PE34 4RU Kings Lynn 

South Lynn Bowls Club Wootton Road, Kings Lynn PE30 3AZ Kings Lynn 

West Lynn Bowls Club St. Peter’s Road, West Lynn PE34 3LB Kings Lynn 

 

10.6 Quality 
 

10.6.1 The criteria assessed for bowls greens 
 

The quality of bowls greens was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site visit to 
all facilities during the playing season. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 
 

• The green: The quality of the grass, flatness and regulation ditches. 
 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Parking, signage and proximity to public transport. 
 

10.6.2 The basis of the ratings 
 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’ (highlighted in green 
below), 4 to ‘good’ (also highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’ (highlighted in yellow below), 
2 to ‘poor’ (highlighted in red below) and 1 to ‘very poor’ (also highlighted in red below).  
 
 

331



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 179 

10.6.3 Bowls greens assessment 
 

The ratings for bowls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 126: Bowls greens in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility Green Changing Disability Access General access 
Albert Victor Bowls Club 5 5 5 5 

Anmer Bowls Club 4 4 4 4 

Bircham Railway Bowls Club 4 5 3 4 

Castle Acre Coronation BC 5 5 5 5 

Dersingham Institute Bowls Club 5 5 5 5 

Docking Bowls Club 4 4 4 4 

Downham Market Conservative 5 5 4 4 

Emneth Bowls Club 3 3 3 4 

Feltwell Bowls Club 5 5 4 5 

Flitcham Bowls Club 3 3 3 3 

Gaywood Park Bowls Club 5 3 3 5 

Globe Bowls Club 5 5 4 5 

Great Massingham Bowls Club 4 4 4 4 

Heacham Social Bowls Club 5 5 3 5 

Hockwold Sports Club 2 3 3 4 

Hunstanton Bowls Club 5 4 4 4 

Hunstanton Cliff Parade 5 4 2 4 

Kings Lynn Bowls Club 3 4 4 4 

King William Bowls Club 5 3 2 5 

Marham Sports and Social Club 4 4 2 4 

Marshland St. James Bowls Club 4 5 3 5 

Northwold Bowls Club 4 3 1 2 

Runcton Holme Bowls Club 3 2 1 2 

Sandringham Bowls Club 3 3 3 3 

Searles Leisure Resort 5 4 4 4 

Shouldham Bowls Club 5 4 3 4 

South Creake Bowls Club 4 4 4 4 

Southery Bowls Club 5 4 2 4 

United Bowls Club 3 3 4 4 

Upwell Bowls Club 5 5 4 5 

Watlington Sports and Social Club 3 4 3 4 

West Winch Bowls Club 4 4 3 5 

Wiggenhall Bowls Club 4 4 3 3 

Wolferton Bowls Club 3 4 3 3 

Wootton Park Bowls Club 4 4 3 5 

 

10.7 Accessibility 
 

Bowls England applies a 20 minute drivetime catchment to define accessibility. The map overleaf 
shows that the whole of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is within 20-minutes’ drivetime of a 
green. 

332



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 180 

 

  

333



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 181 

10.8 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the basis of use of a representative selection of bowls greens in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

Table 127: Bowls greens in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Basis of use 
 

Club Basis of use 
Anmer Bowls Club Membership only 

Membership £10 per annum £2 green fee per game 

Great Massingham 
Bowls Club 

Membership only 
Membership £10 per annum 

Heacham Social Bowls 
Club 

Membership only 
Membership £20 per annum 

Hunstanton Cliff 
Parade 

Membership only 
First year membership £15 per annum Full membership £25 per annum 

Searles Leisure Resort ‘Pay-and-play’ 
£3 per hour plus £2 for hire of woods 

Shouldham Bowls 
Club 

Membership only 
Full membership £30 per annum 
Concessionary Membership £25 per annum Junior membership £15 per annum 

United Bowls Club Membership only 
Membership £20 per annum £1.20 green fee per game 

Watlington Sports & 
Social Club 

Membership only 
Membership £10 per annum 

Wolferton Bowls 
Club 

Membership only 
Membership £5 per annum 

 
10.9 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are 35 bowls greens in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• The quality of greens is generally good, but disability access is ‘poor’ at five sites. 
 

• Accessibility of greens is good, with the entire population within 15 minutes driving time of 
the nearest facility. 

 

• Most greens are available to non-members for free introductory sessions and membership 
fees are set at reasonable rates. 

 

• There is significant spare capacity at all greens. 
 

10.10 Changes since 2023 
 
Three bowls clubs have folded (Clenchwarton BC, Houghton BC and St. Lawrence BC) since 
2023, a reduction of 7.9% in the number of clubs in the borough. 

  

334



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 182 

10.11 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Bowls appeals to an older demographic and in the context of a borough with an ageing 
population, it has the potential to meet a range of local needs. 
 

• There is a good geographical spread of bowls facilities in the borough, offering local 
opportunities to play the sport. 

 

• Participation rates locally and nationally have declined in recent years, despite efforts to 
promote the game. 

 
10.12 The balance between bowls green supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between bowls green supply and demand 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough greens with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the greens fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the greens in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the greens available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

10.13 Quantity 
 
10.13.1 Current needs 

 
There is no evidence of a shortfall in current provision for outdoor bowls, based upon the 
following evaluation: 
 

• Used capacity: Local clubs have indicated that there is significant spare capacity.  
 

• Satisfied demand: There is no evidence of unmet demand in the borough. 
 

• Changes in supply: There are no known current planned changes to bowls green supply. 

 
10.13.2 Future needs 
 
Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

335



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 183 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 
Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels based on participation trends, but 
the lower population growth projections will create a requirement for 3.1% additional capacity by 
2040, whilst the higher population growth projections will create a requirement for 16.1% 
additional capacity by 2040. Spare capacity at the existing bowls facilities will be able to 
accommodate all additional future demand, based upon falling participation rates and limited 
population growth. 
 

10.14 Quality 
 

10.14.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of greens is generally good, but disability access is ‘poor’ at five sites. 
 

10.14.2 Future quality 
 

All bowls facility providers will need to continue to invest in maintaining and improving their 
facilities, so if this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the 
future, it seems reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 

 
10.15 Accessibility 

 
10.15.1 Current accessibility 

 
All of the population is within 20-minutes’ drive of the nearest bowls green.  
 

10.15.2 Future accessibility 
 

It is reasonable to assume that the current geographical coverage will be maintained in the future. 
 

10.16 Availability 
 

10.16.1 Current availability 
 

Most greens are available to non-members for free introductory sessions.  
 

10.16.2 Future availability 
 

It is reasonable to assume that similar access arrangements will be offered in the future.  
 
10.17 The options for securing bowls green capacity 

 
The options for securing existing bowls green capacity to meet current and future needs are as 
follows: 

 
  

336



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 184 

10.17.1 Protect 
 

Protecting existing bowls greens through the Local Plan will be key both to securing local 
provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing facilities, unless the 
loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality 
and accessibility or it can be proven that there is sufficient spare capacity to accommodate any 
displaced demand at other existing facilities in the borough. 

 
10.17.2 Provide 

 
There is no need to provide additional facilities based on current and projected future demand. 
 

10.17.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing bowls green capacity by: 
 

• Addressing the issues at the two sites where features are rated as ‘poor’. 
 

• Ensuring that the greens and ancillary facilities receive regular maintenance and 
improvements. 

 

10.18 Action Plan 
 

10.18.1 Introduction 
 

The tables below set out the action plan for bowls greens to guide the implementation of the 
strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. The capital cost estimates are based upon 
Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 

 

10.18.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 128: Bowls key strategic actions in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing bowls 
greens 

Include a policy in the Local Plan to 
protect all existing bowls greens unless it 
can be proven that there is sufficient 
spare capacity to accommodate any 
displaced demand at other existing 
facilities in the borough. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

 

  

337



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 185 

10.18.3 Site-specific actions 
 

Table 129: Bowls site-specific actions in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Albert Victor Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Anmer Bowls Club No current issues No action - - - - 

Bircham Railway 
Bowls Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Castle Acre 
Coronation BC 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Dersingham 
Institute Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Docking Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Downham Market 
Conservative 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Emneth Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Feltwell Bowls Club No current issues No action - - - - 

Flitcham Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Gaywood Park 
Bowls Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Globe Bowls Club No current issues No action - - - - 

Great Massingham 
Bowls Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Heacham Social 
Bowls Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Hockwold Sports 
Club 

Poor quality green Improve green Hockwold SC - £3,000 p.a. High 

Hunstanton Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Hunstanton Cliff 
Parade 

Poor disability access Provide/improve access 
ramps between levels 

Clenchwarton 
BC 

- £5,000 High 

Kings Lynn Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

King William Bowls 
Club 

Poor disability access Provide/improve access 
ramps between levels 

Clenchwarton 
BC 

- £5,000 High 

Marham Sports and 
Social Club 

Poor disability access Provide/improve access 
ramps between levels 

Clenchwarton 
BC 

- £5,000 High 

Marshland St. James 
Bowls Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Northwold Bowls 
Club 

• Poor disability access 

• Poor general access 

Provide/improve access 
ramps between levels 

Northwold 
BC 

- £5,000 High 

Runcton Holme 
Bowls Club 

• Poor changing 

• Poor disability access 

• Poor general access 

• Improve changing 

• Provide/improve 
access ramps between 
levels 

Runcton  
Holme BC 

 £50,000 for 
changing 

£5,000 for 
disabled 
access 

High 

  

338



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 186 

Site Issues Action Lead Partners Resources Priority 

Sandringham Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Searles Leisure 
Resort 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Shouldham Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

South Creake Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Southery Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

United Bowls Club No current issues No action - - - - 

Upwell Bowls Club No current issues No action - - - - 

Watlington Sports 
and Social Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

West Winch Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Wiggenhall Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Wolferton Bowls 
Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Wootton Park 
Bowls Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

 

  

339



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 187 

11 NETBALL COURT NEEDS  

 

11.1  Organisational context 
 

• England Netball: England Netball is the governing body of the sport and supports the 
development of the game in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• West Norfolk Netball League: The league is based on the sand-based hockey pitch at 
Lynnsport. 

 

• Affiliated Clubs: There are up to 18 England Netball-affiliated teams in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk. 

 
11.2 Strategic context 
 

11.2.1  England Netball’s strategy 
 

England Netball’s ‘Adventure Strategy 2021 - 2031’ (2021) contains the following relevant material: 
 

A Game for Life: This ‘destination’ has the following targets: 
 

• A 50% increase in the number of women playing netball across all life stages. 

• A year-on-year increase in the diversity of the netball playing population, with an ambition to 
reflect the diversity of the nation. 

• A countrywide accessible offer for men and boys. 

• 90% of all schools delivering a quality netball experience. 

• A clear and connected offer of choice for every community, with world class experiences in 
clubs and leagues at the heart of community netball. 

• A place to play within easy travel of every household. 
 

11.2.2 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Outdoor sports facilities strategies in neighbouring districts identify cross-boundary issues: 
 

East Cambridgeshire  
 
The ‘East Cambridgeshire Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy’ (2020) identifies that ‘there is substantial 
evidence of unmet demand in the district, with no site capable of hosting a central venue league’.  
 
Fenland 
 
The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) does not include an assessment of existing and 
future netball court needs.  

 
South Holland 
 
The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy’ (2019) does not include an assessment of existing and future 
netball court needs. 
 

340



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 188 

North Norfolk 
 
The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) does not include an assessment of existing and future 
netball court needs. 
 
Breckland 
 
Breckland does not have a Playing Pitch Strategy and therefore there is no assessment of current or 
projected netball needs. 
 
West Suffolk 
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that ‘there is clear evidence of unmet 
demand for netball courts in West Suffolk’.  

 
11.3 Stakeholder consultation 
 

11.3.1 England Netball 
 

Consultation with the England Netball highlighted the following issues: 
 

• ‘The West Norfolk Netball League is a central venue league that was formerly based at 
King Edward VII Academy in Kings Lynn. The poor quality of the court surface meant 
that the league had had to relocate to the artificial grass pitch at Lynnsport’. 
 

• ‘Whilst the sand-dressed surface at Lynnsport is usable for netball, the preferred surface is 
an open-textured porous macadam. Ideally, England Netball would like to see a specialist 
netball facility comprising at least three floodlit courts provided, to create a hub facility in 
the borough’. 

 

• ‘Access to school courts locally has been problematic, particularly post-pandemic’. 
 

11.3.2 West Norfolk Netball League 
 

Consultation with West Norfolk Netball League highlighted that: 
 

• The League has been established for over 20 years and used to be based at the courts at 
King Edward VII Academy in Kings Lynn on Tuesday evenings. There is a winter and a 
summer league. 

 

• There were problems with the quality of the courts at King Edward VII Academy, with 
only one of the four courts usable. Rather than the usual tarmac which gives a good grip, 
the surface is a carpet which is too slippery and it is poorly lined. 

 

• There League has moved to Lynnsport, using courts marked on the hockey pitch, although 
the surface is not ideal. In the longer term, it would like to move to specialist floodlit 
netball courts. 

 
  

341



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 189 

11.4 Netball Court Demand 
 

11.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for netball in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and includes: 
 

• Expressed demand. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 
 

11.4.2 Expressed demand 
 

There are currently seven netball teams playing in the West Norfolk Netball League, all of whom 
are based at Lynnsport. A commercial ‘Power Play’ indoor league, also involving seven teams, is 
based at Alive Lynnsport. 
 

11.4.3 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to play by teams from within the study area which takes place outside 
of the area, or vice versa. There is no current evidence of any displaced demand in the borough 
at present, although a team from Fakenham in North Norfolk district played in the league prior 
to the covid pandemic. 
 

11.4.4 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Clubs may have access to a facility for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some facilities may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and limited capacity of facilities and/or a lack of provision and ancillary 
facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 
There is clear evidence of unmet demand for outdoor netball courts in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present, with the poor quality of the courts at King Edward VII Academy causing the 
West Norfolk League to relocate to non-specialist facilities at Lynnsport. 
 

11.4.5 Latent demand 
 
The involvement of 18 teams in the League prior to the covid pandemic, compared with the 
seven teams that are playing subsequently, suggests that there is latent demand for more netball 
activity in the borough. 
 
  

342



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 190 

11.4.6 Future demand 
 
This has been assessed as follows: 
 

• Participation rates: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for netball at national level since 2015. This shows a slight fall in the 
period, although local affiliation numbers rose by 40% between 2019 and 2022: 

 
Table 130: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National netball participation rates 2015 - 2022 

 

Nov ’15 - 
Nov ‘16 

 May ’16 -  
May ‘17 

Nov ‘16- 
Nov ‘17 

 May ‘17-  
May ‘18 

Nov ‘17- 
Nov ‘18 

May ‘18-  
May ‘19 

Nov ‘18-
Nov ‘19 

May ‘19-  
May ‘20 

Nov ‘19-
Nov ‘20 

May ‘20-  
May ‘21 

Nov ’20-
Nov ‘21 

Nov ’21-
Nov ‘22 

% 
Change 

2.0% 2.1% 2.2% 2.1% 2.2% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 2.0% 1.6% 1.3% 1.7% -0.3% 
 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult 
(16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that 
whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 
2015 and 2020: 

 

Table 131: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk participation rates 2015 - 2024 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% 74.8% -3.7% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

11.4.7 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• There are currently seven adult teams playing in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, a reduction 
from the 18 teams that played in the West Norfolk League prior to the covid pandemic. In 
addition, a seven team commercial ‘Power Play’ indoor league is based at Alive Lynnsport. 
 

• There is clear evidence of unmet demand for outdoor netball courts in the borough at 
present. 

 

• Future demand patterns are likely to increase, based on participation trends and population 
projections. 

 

  

343



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 191 

11.5 Netball Court Supply 
 

11.5.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the detail of netball court supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The 
courts included in the analysis are defined as hard courts permanently laid out with regulation 
markings for netball. This includes multi-use games areas also marked for other sports, in 
particular tennis, that are therefore not exclusively used for netball. The categories assessed are as 
follows: 
 

11.5.2 Courts with community use and used 
 

Table 132: Netball courts with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site  Address Floodlit courts Sub-area 
Lynnsport  Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 2NB 3 Artificial Grass Kings Lynn 

 
11.5.3 Courts with no community use  
 
The following courts are not available for community use.  

 
Table 133: Netball courts without community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Site Address Floodlit 
courts 

Non-floodlit 
courts 

Downham Market Academy Bexwell Road, Downham Market PE38 9LL 2 Tarmac 1 Tarmac 

Glebe House School Cromer Road Hunstanton PE36 6HW - 2 artificial grass 

Greenpark Academy Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 2RE - 1 Tarmac 

Iceni Academy Stoke Road, Methwold IP26 4PE - 2 Tarmac 

King Edward VII Academy  Gaywood Road, King’s Lynn PE30 2QB 4 Tarmac - 

Kings Lynn Academy Queen Mary Road, Kings Lynn PE30 4QG - 2 Tarmac 

Marshland High School  School Road, West Walton PE14 7HA - 4 Tarmac 

Smithdon High School Downs Road, Hunstanton PE36 5HY - 3 Tarmac 

TOTALS - 8 courts 14 courts 

 
11.6 Quality 

 
11.6.1 The criteria assessed for netball courts 

 
The quality of outdoor netball courts was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a 
site visit to all facilities. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 
 

• The court: Court surface, line markings and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Fencing: Condition and appearance. 
 

• Disability access: Provision for disabled access to the courts. 
 

• General access: Parking, signage and proximity to public transport. 

344



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 192 

 
• Lighting: The quality, illumination levels and evenness of floodlights. 

 
11.6.2 The basis of the ratings 

 
The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’  and 1 to ‘very poor’.  
 

11.6.3 Netball court assessment 
 

The ratings for netball courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 134: Netball courts with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 

 

Facility Courts Fencing Disability 
Access 

Changing Lighting 

Lynnsport 3 5 4 5 5 

 
11.7 Accessibility 
 
England Netball applies a 20 minute drivetime catchment to define accessibility. The map 
overleaf shows that the Hunstanton and Downham Market sub-areas are both outside the 20-
minutes’ drivetime of a court. 

345



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 193 

 

346



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 194 

11.8 Availability 
 
The table below identifies the basis of use of outdoor netball courts in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk: 
 

Table 135: Netball courts with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Basis of use 
 

Site Basis of use 
Lynnsport Block bookings 

Court hire £37 per hour 

 
11.9 Ownership, management and security of access 

 
The ownership, management and security of community access of outdoor netball court sites is 
detailed below. Security of access refers to the extent to which community use is protected 
(through public ownership, community use agreements etc.), rather than the security of tenure of 
specific club users.  
 

Table 136: Netball courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Ownership, management and access 
 

Site Ownership Management Access 
Lynnsport KL&WNBC KL&WNBC Secured 

 
11.10 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are three netball courts with community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
which are floodlit but have a non-specialist surface. 
 

• The quality of the playing surface is ‘standard’. 
 

• The courts are in the Kings Lynn sub-area, so there is an accessibility deficiency in the 
Hunstanton and Downham Market sub-areas. 

 

• The courts have secured community use. 
 

11.11 Changes since 2023 
 
The changes since 2023 are as follows: 
 

• The West Norfolk Netball League has relocated from the courts at King Edward VII 
Academy to the artificial grass pitch at Lynnsport. 
 

• Local netball participation has still not recovered to pre-covid levels, largely due to the 
problems with the lack of court availability. 

 
  

347



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 195 

11.12 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which netball facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Netball has wide appeal to women and girls, although its development in the borough is 
currently compromised by poor quality facilities.  
 

• Netball has widened its appeal to a broad spectrum of age groups, with Bee Netball for 
younger players and Back to Netball and walking netball for older players. 

 
11.13 The balance between netball court supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between netball court supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough courts with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the courts fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the courts in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the courts available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

11.14 Quantity 
 
11.14.1 Current needs 

 
There is clear evidence of unmet demand for outdoor netball courts in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present, with reliance on non-regulation court surfaces. 
 

11.14.2 Future needs 
 
Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels based on participation trends, but 
the lower population growth projections will create a requirement for 3.1% additional capacity by 
2040, whilst the higher population growth projections will create a requirement for 16.1% 
additional capacity by 2040. Additional court capacity will be required to meet the extra demand. 
 

11.15 Quality 
 

11.15.1 Current quality 
 

The non-regulation surface of the courts at Lynnsport compromise usage capacity. 
 

  

348



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 196 

11.15.2 Future quality 
 

Netball court providers will need to continue to invest in maintaining and improving their 
facilities, so if this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the 
future, it seems reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 

 
11.16 Accessibility 

 
11.16.1 Current accessibility 

 
There is an accessibility shortfall in the Hunstanton and Downham Market sub-areas 
 

11.16.2 Future accessibility 
 

Options should be examined for extending the current geographical coverage. 
 

11.17 Availability 
 

11.17.1 Current availability 
 

The courts have secured community access. 
 

11.17.2 Future availability 
 

To secure netball court availability on school sites in the future, formal Community Use 
Agreements should be pursued.  
 

11.18 The options for securing netball court capacity 
 

The options for securing existing netball court capacity to meet current and future needs are as 
follows: 
 

11.18.1 Protect 
 

Protecting existing netball courts through the Local Plan will be key both to securing local 
provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing facilities, unless the 
loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality 
and accessibility. 

 
11.18.2 Provide 

 
There is a need to provide additional courts to meet existing need as well as demand arising from 
the higher population growth projections and there is a case for making locally-accessible 
provision in any major new housing developments. 
 

11.18.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing netball court capacity by: 
 

349



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 197 

• Improving the court surfaces on school sites to create additional opportunities for 
community use. 

 

• Getting community access at sites without external usage at present. 

 

• Adding floodlights at sites where this is appropriate. 

 

• Including netball court markings on existing and new Multi-use Games Areas. 

 

11.19 Action Plan 
 

11.19.1 Introduction 
 

The tables below set out the action plan for netball courts to guide the implementation of the 
strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. The capital cost estimates are based upon 
Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 

 

11.19.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 137: Key strategic actions for netball courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing netball 
courts. 

Consider including a policy in the Local 
Plan to protect all existing netball courts. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Need for a 
Netball hub site 

Investigate the feasibility of providing 3 
courts with floodlights and a compliant 
playing surface in a central location. 

KL&WNBC - £5,000 for 
feasibility study 
£385,000 for 

courts 

High 

Funding for 
future netball 
court needs. 

Ensure that S106 contributions are 
collected from developers.   

KL&WNBC Developers - High 

Netball court 
markings on 
MUGAs 

Ensure that netball courts are marked on 
all MUGAs, to facilitate the expansion of 
the game. 

KL&WNBC - £1,000 per 
MUGA 

High 

 

 

  

350



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 198 

12 ATHLETICS TRACK NEEDS  
 

12.1 Organisational context 
 

• England Athletics: England Athletics is the governing body of the sport and supports 
the development of the sport in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

• Affiliated Clubs: There are two athletics clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

12.2 Strategic context 
 

12.2.1  Athletics facilities strategy 
 

England Athletics’ ‘Facilities Strategy 2018 - 2025’ (2018) contains the following material of 
relevance: 
 

Strategic ambition: The strategic ambition is ‘to create an innovative and inspiring network of 
sustainable athletics facilities, with the capacity to meet current and future demand across England’. 
 

• The importance of tracks: The strategy states that ‘facilities are crucial to participating in track and 
field athletics for recreation, training and competition. Quality of design, social amenities, facility 
condition and layout have a substantial impact on athlete enjoyment, club capacity to operate 
effectively, venue flexibility to accommodate a broad range of athletics related uses and multi-sport 
provision. Ultimately, all these factors affect venue (and club) capacity to function on an effective 
business-like footing’. 
 

• Multi-sport hubs: ‘Proactive management and sustainable models of operation are most 
commonly found at venues that are part of a wider sports complex. This tends to result in more 
creative uses of athletics facilities and has the benefit that changing provision, track supervision and 
maintenance are part of a wider operation with consequent economies of scale’. 

 

• Clubhouses: ‘Clubhouses should be attractive and function well in order to attract new members 
and retain existing ones. Clean well designed changing rooms and toilets, a multifunctional room in 
which people can gather for meetings or to socialise, and convenient car parking, all help to sustain 
participation not just for athletes, but also volunteers. For example, having a space for volunteers to 
relax and take a break is crucial to making them feel valued. All new athletics tracks should be 
provided with access to suitable clubhouse facilities including social space, changing rooms and 
toilets and, where possible’. 

 

• Running facilities: ‘The number of people running in England has grown by 67% in the last 10 
years. Current participation is dominated by those that run alone, with 80% of runners doing some 
form of solo running and half of those only running alone. However, studies have shown that 
regular contact with others increases participation and reduces dropout rates, suggesting that the 
majority of runners are extrinsically motivated and need motivation from peers, expert support and 
the camaraderie of like-minded people. It is therefore important that any discussion about facilities 
considers the needs of this group too. Running doesn’t require a specific facility, with the majority 
of participants making use of non-specialist (and largely free of charge) existing facilities and 
infrastructure, including roads, rights of way, parks and open spaces. Wherever possible, the needs 
of runners for well lit, suitably surfaced, safe, running routes are built into the design of new 
infrastructure development projects for the benefit of all residents’ health and wellbeing’. 

351



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 199 

12.2.2 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Outdoor sports facilities strategies in neighbouring districts identify cross-boundary issues: 
 

East Cambridgeshire 
 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy’ (2020) identifies that ‘consideration should be 
given to providing a Compact Athletics Facility in the district [in Ely] to address track and field needs’. 
 

Fenland 
 

The ‘Fenland Playing Pitch Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) identifies that there is a Compact Track in March 
that is used by March AC.  

 

South Holland  
 

The ‘South-East Lincolnshire Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2025) states that ‘The NewGen ActiveTrack at the 
Castle Leisure Centre will serve the needs of South Holland’.  
 

North Norfolk 
 

The ‘North Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy’ (2019) concludes that ‘the provision within the district of a 6/8 
lane synthetic track facility with the full range of field facilities should be subject to further feasibility 
work’.  
 

Breckland 
 

Breckland is currently producing a Playing Pitch Strategy. It identifies that ‘Breckland is an England 
Athletics priority area for a ‘NewGen’ track. A mini-track should be established in a suitable location 
for the benefit of Attleborough Athletics Academy, Harling AC and Thetford AC’.   
 

West Suffolk  
 

The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch Assessment’ (2022) identifies that ‘the existing track [in Bury St. Edmunds] 
meets all local competition and training needs for the district as a whole, although with an upgrade to 
covered seating, it could potentially host national and regional events’. However, ‘England Athletics’ 
catchment modelling also identifies latent demand for a training facility in the Haverhill area’. 

  

12.3 Stakeholder consultation 
 

12.3.1 England Athletics 
 

Consultation with England Athletics highlighted the following issues: 
 

England Athletics Facilities Priorities: These are as follows:  
 

• ‘To ensure that the allocation of resources to new and existing track and field facilities is 
prioritised to those that have the greatest potential to impact positively on general 
participation, club membership growth and retention, and improved personal 
performance’. To support this priority England Athletics will:  

 
- Encourage all tracks to seek accreditation through ‘TrackMark’. 

352



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 200 

- ‘Help venues to identify the level in the Hierarchy of Facilities that is most 
appropriate for them and support clubs and operators seeking to raise funding to 
maintain facilities at that level’. 

- Prioritise new track and field facilities within multi-sport hubs. 
 
- Seek to be actively involved in the development of local planning policies wherever 

possible. 
 
- Support new 200m indoor tracks and indoor athletics training facilities where there is 

a proven demand and a clear geographical gap in supply. 

 

• ‘To actively encourage athletics and running facilities to be used to their fullest possible 
extent by the sport and by all sections of the community in order to maximise viability’. To 
support this priority England Athletics will: 

 
- Support athletics clubs in discussions with facility operators and local authorities over 

the use of the track infield for other pitch sports and collate examples of good 
practice and design guidance. 
 

- Support clubs and groups to ensure the facilities they use for athletics activity are 
accessible to all. 

 
- Help clubs to develop a strong partnership with facility owners/operators and will 

share examples of good practice. 
 

- Provide advice and guidance to clubs actively pursuing an asset transfer. 
 

- Help athletics and running clubs to become more professional and sustainable in how 
they operate. 

 
- Encourage new partnerships between athletics clubs and schools that have available 

indoor facilities. 

 

• ‘To encourage innovative approaches to the location and design of facilities for individual 
components of the sport in order to increase reach and create sustainability and viability’. 
To support this priority England Athletics will: 

 
- Expect all new and refurbished floodlight schemes to deliver a minimum of 100lux 

across the whole of the track and the infield. 
 

- Support clubs in exploring options for improved environmental sustainability and will 
share examples of good practice. 

 
- Support the development of MiniTracks/Compact athletics facilities where there is a 

viable business case.  
 

- Consider supporting facility innovations involving non-standard track shapes, designs 
and uses providing they are backed by a sound business case. 

 

353



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 201 

- Continue to lobby bodies with an influence over urban design, to ensure that the 
needs of runners are considered alongside those of cyclists and pedestrians. 

 
- Continue to lobby for the free use of public parks and open spaces by runners and 

voluntary running groups. 
 

- Assist road running clubs that are looking for somewhere to meet, by introducing 
them to sports clubs in their area that have suitable facilities. 

 
Facilities supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: The following issues were identified: 

 

• Existing provision: England Athletics confirmed that the Lynnsport track is ‘Trackmark’ 
accredited until 2026. 

 

• Outdoor competition venues: England Athletics also confirmed that: 
 

- ‘The Lynnsport track is well located and when using England Athletics’ recommended 
30-minute drivetime zone the facility services a population catchment of circa 164,000 
people  and an EA membership catchment of circa 250’. 
 

- ‘The track at Lynnsport hosts circa seven licenced track and field competitions per year 
(the average number of competitions held at athletics facilities in England is four per 
year’).  

 
- ‘The local authority area is generally well serviced by the 400m outdoor track at 

Lynnsport. However, the map overleaf shows that there is potential demand for an 
entry level running/athletics facility in the Downham Market area. This could be as an 
add on to a future multi-sport project in the area. Equally, if neighbouring Fenland 
were to introduce a new athletics/running facility in the authority this would likely 
service demand in the Downham Market area’.  

 
 
 

 

354



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 202 

 
 

12.3.2 West Norfolk Athletics Club 
 

Consultation with the club identified the following issues of note:  
 

• ‘We are one of the largest athletic clubs in the East of England with around 125 members 
and are based at the track at Lynnsport’. 
 

• ‘We have adult, junior and veterans sections and in addition to track and field activities, we 
compete in and organise cross country and road running events’. 

 

12.3.3 Ryston Runners 
 

Consultation with the club identified the following issues of note:  
 

• ‘Ryston Runners has 287 members. We currently have a waiting list of 6 juniors, but it has 
been as high as 20. We were formed in 1986 at Ryston End, Downham Market. Originally 
just a running club, we expanded to cover cross country and track and field and now are 
one of the most active, versatile and successful clubs of its kind in Norfolk’. 

355



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 203 

• ‘We are open to all ages and all abilities and try and offer a suitable level of support for all 
members, from beginners trying to get fit, juniors trying out athletics for the first time 
through to the more seasoned, older and elite athletes’. 
 

• ‘We use the track and barn at Lynnsport. The track is fit for purpose now that the throwing 
cage has been upgraded it meets requirements. The barn is fit for purpose but showing its 
age’. 

 

• ‘We are based at the Sports Federation Club at Memorial Field in Downham Market. A 
track and large indoor space at Downham Market would be an advantage. Local access to a 
floodlit track or similar for winter evening running groups’. 
 

12.3.4 Lynnsport Ladybirds 
 

Consultation with the club identified the following issues of note:  
 

• ‘We are an all-women's running club who run for ‘Fun, Fitness and Friendship’. The club 
was founded in 1993 and is open to all women from the age of 16+. Members meet on a 
Wednesday night in and around the King's Lynn area’. 
 

• ‘Our group is made up of mixed ability runners who run for fitness and to meet others of a 
like mind. We run in small groups, matching running speed and distances. On a typical 
Wednesday night some members do a gentle run/walk of 2-3 miles while faster and 
endurance groups can run up to 6 miles round the town during the winter. In the summer 
we travel out of town to local beauty spots and run following trails and paths’.  

 

• ‘Members take part in a number of local runs such as the Run for All Grand East Anglian 
Run, Race for Life, Peterborough Half-Marathon, Cambridge Half-Marathon, Great North 
Run and many more organised events. 

  

12.4 Athletics Track Demand 
 

12.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for athletics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and includes: 
 

• Expressed demand. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 
 

12.4.2  Expressed demand 
 
Local club membership is currently as follows: 

 
 

356



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 204 

Table 138: Athletics club membership in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Members 
West Norfolk Athletics Club 125 

Ryston Runners 287 

Lynnsport Ladybirds 40* 

TOTAL 452 

 
* The club does not use the Lynnsport track. 

 
Parkruns: Parkruns are organised on a weekly basis throughout the year, to allow all runners 
(whether or not they are members of affiliated clubs) to run in 5k timed races. Parkruns in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk are as follows:  

 

Table 139: Parkruns in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Average participants 
Kings Lynn (The Walks) 239 

Sandringham (Royal Park) 203 

Downham Market (Academy) 68 

Hunstanton (Promenade) 90 
 

12.4.3 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to activity from within the study area which takes place outside of the 
area, or vice versa. Given the absence of a 400m synthetic athletics track in all but one of the 
neighbouring local authorities, there is some imported demand for the track. 
 

12.4.4 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Teams may have access to a facility for competitions but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some facilities may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and limited capacity of facilities and/or a lack of provision and ancillary 
facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 

England Athletics has identified unmet demand for athletics facilities in the Outwell area. 
 

12.4.5 Latent demand 
 

Latent demand is demand that evidence suggests may be generated from the current population if 
they had access to more or better provision. There is no evidence of any latent demand for 
athletics and running in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

12.4.6 Future demand 
 

This has been assessed as follows: 
 

357



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 205 

• National track and field participation rates: One factor in considering future sports 
participation rates is to track historical trends, as a guide to possible future developments. 
Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey showed statistically significant reductions in track and 
field participation nationally from 0.6% of the adult population in 2016 to 0.4% in 2023. 
However, this excludes under 16s, many of whom experience the sport in some form 
through PE programmes at school. 
 

• National running participation rates: The Active Lives’ survey also showed reductions 
in track and running participation nationally from 12.3% of the adult population in 2016 to 
10.0% in 2023. 

 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult 
(16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that 
whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 
2015 and 2022: 

 
Table 140: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk participation rates 2015 - 2024 

 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% 74.8% -3.7% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

12.4.7 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• There are three athletics and running clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• Four weekly Parkrun events provide additional running opportunities for casual 
participants. 

 

• Future demand patterns are likely to decrease, based on participation trends, although this 
is likely to be offset by projected population increases. 

 
12.5 Athletics Track Supply 
 

12.5.1 Introduction 
 
This section summarises the detail of athletics facilities in and adjacent to Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. Athletics tracks are defined as 400m tracks with full field events provision. 
 

358



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 206 

12.5.2 Facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Table 141: Athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site  Address No. lanes Sub-area 
Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 2NB 6 Kings Lynn 

  

12.6 Quality 
 

The quality of the track was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site visit. The 
criteria assessed were as follows: 
 

• The competition facilities: The quality of the track, throwing circles and cages, jumping 
pits and landing areas, lights and storage. 
 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Parking, signage and proximity to public transport. 
 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’ (highlighted in green 
below), 4 to ‘good’ (also highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ (highlighted in red 
below) and 1 to ‘very poor’. 
 

Table 142: Athletics facilities quality in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility Track Changing Disability Access General access 
Alive Lynnsport 3 5 4 5 

 
12.7 Accessibility 
 
England Athletics applies a 40 minute drivetime catchment to define track accessibility for 
competitions. Most of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is within 40-minutes’ drivetime of the 
track. A 20-minute drivetime is defined for access for training purposes and England Athletics 
has identified potential demand for an entry level running/athletics facility in the Outwell area. 
This could be as an add on to a future multi-sport project in the area. Equally, if neighbouring 
Fenland were to introduce a new athletics/running facility in the authority this would likely 
service demand in the Outwell area’. 

 

  

359



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 207 

12.8 Availability 
 
The table below identifies the basis of use the Lynnsport track: 

 
Table 143: Athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Basis of use 
 

Site Basis of use 
Lynnsport Casual use and club hire 

Casual users £3.10 per session 
Club training (2 hours) £68 
League meetings £380 
Evening meetings/Schools use £260  

 

12.9 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• The track at Lynnsport serves the whole of the borough, as well as several neighbouring 
areas. It has spare capacity to accommodate additional use if required. 
 

• The track quality is ‘standard’ because a specialist report noted some areas of wear. Making 
financial provision for re-surfacing (probably in 2030) should be a priority. 

 

• The track is available for hire at reasonable rates. 
 

• England Athletics has identified that ‘there is potential demand for an entry level 
running/athletics facility in the Outwell area. This could be as an add on to a future multi-
sport project in the area. Equally, if neighbouring Fenland were to introduce a new 
athletics/running facility in the authority this would likely service demand in the Outwell 
area’. 

 
12.10 Changes since 2023 
 
The changes since 2023 are as follows: 
 

• West Norfolk Athletics Club increased its membership from 103 to 125, a 21.4% increase. 
 

• England Athletics identified a number of facility quality issues before 2023 that have since 
been addressed, in particular a fully-compliant throwing cage and outdoor pole vault 
facilities have been provided. 

 
12.11 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Whilst athletics and running participation rates have fallen in recent years, running remains 
a popular and accessible sport that appeals to a wide cross-section of the community. 

360



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 208 

Track and field athletics is a sub-set of this activity, but the Lynnsport track serves a wide 
geographical catchment and supports a vibrant programme of club activity.  

• The local Parkrun programme provides a good geographical spread of opportunities to 
participate in low-key races, providing a link between recreational and competitive running. 
 

12.12 The balance between athletics track supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between athletics track supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 
12.13 Quantity 
 
12.13.1 Current needs 

 
The track at Lynnsport meets all needs for track and field in the borough and has spare capacity 
to accommodate additional demand in the future, although England Athletics has identified 
potential demand for an entry level running/athletics facility in the Outwell area. Given that 
Ryston Runners are based in Downham Market, locating such a facility there would make more 
sense. 

 

12.13.2 Future needs 
 
The Lynnsport track has sufficient spare capacity to meet all additional demand by 2040, based 
on both the higher and lower population estimates. 
 

12.14 Quality 
 

12.14.1 Current quality 
 

The track quality is ‘standard’ because a specialist report noted some areas of wear. Making 
financial provision for re-surfacing (probably in 2030) should be a priority. 
 

12.14.2 Future quality 
 

If the track is re-surfaced when the need arises the quality of provision will continue to meet 
needs. 

 
  

361



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 209 

12.15 Accessibility 
 

12.15.1 Current accessibility 
 

Most of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is within 40-minutes’ drivetime of the track. A 20-minute 
drivetime is defined for access for training purposes and England Athletics has identified 
potential demand for an entry level running/athletics facility in the Downham Market area. This 
could be as an add on to a future multi-sport project in the area. Equally, if neighbouring Fenland 
were to introduce a new athletics/running facility in the authority this would likely service 
demand in the Downham Market area’. 
 

12.15.2 Future accessibility 
 

The position regarding accessibility needs in the south of the borough should be kept under 
review, particularly in relation to any new provision in Fenland. 
 

12.16 Availability 
 

12.16.1 Current availability 
 

The track is available for hire at reasonable rates and has secured community access.  
 
12.16.2 Future availability 

 
It is reasonable to assume that similar access arrangements will be offered in the future. 
 

12.17 The options for securing additional athletics facilities capacity 
 

The options for securing existing and additional athletics facilities capacity to meet current and 
future needs are as follows: 

 
12.17.1 Protect 

 
Protecting existing athletics facilities through the Local Plan will be key to securing local 
provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing facilities, unless the 
loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality 
and accessibility. 

 
12.17.2 Provide 

 
Some unmet needs in the south of the borough could be met by a Compact Athletics Facility (or 
similar provision), which could be part of a wider multi-sports facility. 
 

12.17.3 Enhance 
 

If the track is re-surfaced when the need arises the quality of provision will continue to meet 
needs. 
 

 

 

362



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 210 

12.18 Action Plan 
 

12.18.1 Introduction 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for athletics facilities to guide the implementation of the 
strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. The capital cost estimates are based upon 
Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - Third Quarter of 2024’ (2024). 
 

12.18.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 144: Key strategic actions for athletics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Accessibility 
deficiency in the 
south of the borough 

Review the need for a ‘Compact 
Athletics Facility’ in the south of the 
borough 

KL&WNBC - £150,000 Medium 

Lynnsport track 
surface is worn in 
places 

Re-surface the track in 2030. KL&WNBC - £300,000 High 

  

363



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 211 

13 WATERSPORTS FACILITIES NEEDS  

 

13.1 Organisational context 
 

• Royal Yachting Association:  The RYA is the governing body for dinghy, motor and 
sail cruising, all forms of sail racing, RIBs and sports boats, windsurfing and personal 
watercraft and a leading representative body for inland waterways cruising.  
 

• British Canoeing: British Canoeing is the governing body for canoeing and paddle 
sports.  
 

• British Rowing:  British Rowing is the governing body for rowing.  
 

• British Waterski and Wakeboard:  British Waterski and Wakeboard is the governing 
body for waterskiing and its related disciplines. 

 

• Affiliated Clubs: There are 13 watersports clubs and businesses in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 

 
13.2 Strategic context 
 

13.2.1  Royal Yachting Association 
 

The RYA’s ‘’Together on Water Strategy’ (2024) contains the following material of relevance: 

 
We will inspire and encourage more people to get on the water and we will enable and nurture them to 
do so safely and with the right skills: 

• Inclusion: Create an environment where everyone feels welcome, safe, and valued. 

• Inspiration: Making more people feel inspired to explore and learn through being on the water. 

• Engagement: Encourage more people to stay involved in sailing and boating for longer. 

• Influence: Continue to be a leading voice for sailing and boating nationally and internationally. 

• Connections: Aligning efforts and collaborating with partners to create a greater joint impact. 

• Sustainability: Achieving a meaningful reduction in our sports’ impact on climate and biodiversity 
while inspiring positive action. 

 

13.2.2  British Canoeing 
 

British Canoeing’s ‘Stronger Together: Strategic Plan for British Canoeing 2022 - 2026’ (2022) contains 
the following material of relevance: 
 

Increase participation and membership: Ambitions include: 
 

• Engaging recreational paddlers and attracting new paddlers  

• Increasing membership and improving member services. 

• Promoting access, places to paddle and environmental awareness.  

• Supporting clubs and delivery partners. 

• Developing and supporting coaches, leaders, instructors and guides. 

• Developing and supporting volunteers. 

364



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 212 

 
13.2.3 British Rowing 

 
British Rowing’s ‘Recreational Rowing Strategy 2022 - 2025’ (2022) contains the following material of 
relevance: 

 
The vision is ‘to develop a vibrant recreational rowing community in every region, welcoming and 
supporting people of all ages and backgrounds who wish to get on, or back on, the water to 
enhance their fitness, friendships, wellbeing and skills’. The priorities are: 

• Coaching:  ‘Ensuring that British Rowing coaching learning, education and development 
activities consider the needs of recreational rowers’. 

• Equipment:  ‘Supporting clubs to use their existing equipment for recreational rowing 
activities; promoting the Charles Stanley equipment packages; encouraging clubs to share stable 
boats for recreational events; and expanding the number of stable boats available across 
England’.  

• Communication: ‘By making recreational rowing activities and pathways easy to find online; 
and promoting opportunities to take part in tours, fun races and other events’. 

 
British Rowing’s ‘Coastal Sculling Strategy 2025 - 2028’ (2025) contains the following material of 
relevance: 

 
At a community level, the aims of the strategy are to: 
 

• Increase the number of well-supported clubs delivering and/or engaging with coastal sculling 
activity. 

• Increase access and affordability to World Rowing standard boats and equipment.  

• Increase the number of qualified coaches and volunteers to enable coastal sculling activity to 
happen both locally and as part of exciting outreach programmes. 

• Increase the number of competitors participating at recognised and affiliated local, regional and 
national events. 

Key to this will be the extension of the Coastal Sculling Academy Programme, which aims to 
recognise and provide enhanced support to the clubs that are key deliverers of coastal sculling 
activity and provide the equipment and coaching needed to introduce people to the format. 

 
13.2.4 British Waterski and Wakeboard 
 
British Waterski and Wakeboard’s ‘Strategic Plan 2022 - 2027' (2022) contains the following 
material of relevance: 
 

The ambitions include the following: 

• Grow and retain participation. 

• Support Our Facilities and Delivery Partners.  

• Provide High Standards of Welfare and Safety. 

• Tackle Inequality by Delivering an Inclusive Sport. 

• Raise Awareness and Profile of the Sport. 

 
13.2.5 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

None of the neighbouring local authorities has an assessment of watersports needs. 

365



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 213 

13.3 Stakeholder consultation 
 

13.3.1 Royal Yachting Association 
 

Consultation with the Royal Yachting Association highlighted that ‘we have eight affiliated clubs in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, collectively offering the full range of watersports activities covered 
by the RYA’. 
 

13.3.2 British Canoeing 
 

Consultation with the British Canoeing highlighted that ‘we have no affiliated clubs in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk, although canoe and kayak hire is available at Hunstanton and Burnham 
Overy’.  
 

13.3.3 British Rowing 
 

Consultation with British Rowing highlighted that:  
 

• ‘We have one affiliated club in the borough, West Norfolk Rowing Club, which is based at 
Denver Sluice’. 
 

• ‘The Wells and Kings Lynn Coastal Rowing Club is affiliated to the South-Eastern Coastal 
Rowing Forum and builds skiffs and rows at King’s Lynn, Burnham Overy Staithe, 
Hunstanton, Brancaster, and Thornham. We are keen to promote coastal rowing, which 
will become an Olympic sport in 2028 and the coastline of West Norfolk lends itself to this 
activity’. 

 

13.3.4 British Waterski and Wakeboarding 
 

Consultation with British Waterski and Wakeboard highlighted that funding was recently 
received from Sport England to ‘expose a dynamic ‘destination sport’ to a broader audience at 
local touchpoints. Through a system of continuous improvement and working with key 
stakeholders, we aim to deliver targeted change; a key vision is to significantly improve on gender 
parity, improve adaptive access and provide for greater urban access to more diverse/non-
traditional audiences. 
 

13.3.5 Local water sports clubs 
 

A questionnaire survey was circulated to all watersports clubs in the borough:  
 

• Bawsey Bay Watersports: ‘We are based in the grounds of Bawsey Estate and Country 
Park and offer windsurfing lessons, sailing courses, kayaking and paddleboarding’. 

 

• Ouse Amateur Sailing Club: The club responded as follows: 
 
- ‘We sail at Saddlebow, an inland stretch of non-tidal water at the end of the Fenland 

drainage system about a mile south of King's Lynn. We enjoy exclusive navigation 
rights over about one-and-a-quarter miles of safe water’. 
 
 

366



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 214 

- ‘There is easy launching from our two slipways and we have a recently rebuilt 
clubhouse with showers, kitchen facilities and plenty of room for non-sailors to keep 
out of the elements, a viewing balcony with full views of the water and wheelchair 
access to toilet and changing facilities’. 
 

- ‘The club owns a number of sailing dinghies for use by members and a small amount of 
sailing clothing and buoyancy aids for those just starting out’. 
 

• Snettisham Beach Sailing Club: The club responded as follows: 
 

- ‘We are one of the leading watersports clubs on the east coast, with family-friendly, 
multi-level dinghy fleets, wind and kite surfing, paddleboarding and kayaking’. 

 
- ‘We run organised sailing activities alongside our friendly bur competitive racing 

programme. We welcome visiting watersports enthusiasts and their families and 
encourage regular participation in all club activities’. 

 
- ‘We have plans to introduce a ‘Sailability Centre’ for disabled users, to convert our 

electricity supply (currently a generator) to a green alternative and to extend and 
improve clubhouse facilities’. 

 

• Hunstanton Sailing Club: ‘Our clubhouse is on the seafront in Hunstanton. We have 
over 200 members and provide a wide range of watersports including kitesurfing, 
windsurfing, sailing paddleboarding and kayaking’. 
 

• Denver Cruising Club: ‘The club is located on the Great Ouse halfway between Ely and 
Denver Sluice at Southery, with moorings for up to 45 boats. 

 

• Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club: ‘We are a thriving club with a large junior section and 
currently have a waiting list for membership applications’. 

 

• Overy Staithe Sailing Club: ‘We are a club without a clubhouse, but plenty of space for 
boat storage. We organise dinghy racing and an annual regatta’. 

 

• Burnham Overy Boathouse: ‘We deal with boat storage, repair and sales, but also hire 
kayaks’. 

 

• Wells and Kings Lynn Coastal Rowing Club: The club responded as follows: 
 

- ‘We are a Community Coastal Rowing Club, building and rowing St Ayles Skiffs in the 
Great Ouse at King’s Lynn, Wells-next-the-Sea and around Norfolk’s inland and 
coastal waters’.  

 
- ‘Our regular rowing spots are Wells-next-the-Sea, King’s Lynn, Burnham Overy 

Staithe, Hunstanton, Brancaster and Thornham’. 
 

- ‘The club is rapidly developing due to recent strategic rebadging and location changes, 

local positive support and facilities (at Wells-next-the-Sea)’. 
 

367



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 215 

- ‘The (single) slipway in King's Lynn is appalling and dangerous; Wells-next-the-Sea is 
the opposite; very good in all aspects accept undercover accommodation’. 

 
- ‘We have a semi-derelict warehouse in King's Lynn which is open to the weather and 

vandalism; we have a secure open-air compound in Wells’. 
 

- ‘Our access to the Great Ouse (our only venue in King's Lynn) is constrained to the 
single, dangerous and muddy slipway. I have proposed in the past, that our (and others) 
sports would benefit from small boat winch access to the pontoons or a floating 
pontoon. All has proved 'too hard', so we have moved the majority of our activity to 
Wells-next-the-Sea who are very welcoming and have offered us simple facilities in turn 
for developing the sport of rowing in their town and harbour’. 

 

• West Norfolk Rowing Club: ‘West Norfolk Rowing Club is a Community Amateur 
Sports Club based at the Denver Sluice complex, near Downham Market. The club rows 
on the freshwater River Great Ouse’. 
 

• Hunstanton Watersports: ‘We are a business founded in 2006 that offers tuition in 
Kitesurfing, Windsurfing, Stand Up Paddleboard and Powerkiting’. 

 

• Hunstanton Waterski Club: ‘We are based at South Beach, Hunstanton and offer 
waterskiing and jetskiing opportunities to members and non-members. Established for over 
50 years with a long history in water ski racing, and jet skiing, the Club also hosted the 
World championships in 2005’.  

 

• Premier Waterski School: ‘The School is based at Pentney Lakes and offers waterski 
tuition and video coaching’. 

 

• Hunstanton Kayaks: ‘We offer kayak hire and tuition from Hunstanton and Brancaster 
Staithe as well as group kayak trips’. 

 

13.4 Watersports Demand 
 

13.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for watersports in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and 
includes: 
 

• Expressed demand. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 
 

  

368



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 216 

13.4.2 Expressed demand 
 
Watersports activity provision in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is currently as follows: 

 

Table 145: Watersports activities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Activities accommodated 
Bawsey Bay Watersports Windsurfing 

Dinghy sailing  
Kayaking  
Paddleboarding 

Ouse Amateur Sailing Club Dinghy racing 
Dinghy cruising 

Snettisham Beach Sailing Club Dinghy sailing 
Windsurfing 
Kitesurfing 
Paddleboarding 
Kayaking 

Hunstanton Sailing Club Dinghy sailing 
Windsurfing 
Kitesurfing 
Paddleboarding 
Kayaking 

Denver Cruising Club Motor boating 

Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club Dinghy sailing 
Powerboating 

Overy Staithe Sailing Club Dinghy sailing 
Sports boat RIBS 

Burnham Overy Boathouse Kayaking 

Wells and Kings Lynn Coastal Rowing Club Rowing 

West Norfolk Rowing Club Rowing 

Hunstanton Watersports Windsurfing 
Kitesurfing 
Paddleboarding 
Powerkiting 

Hunstanton Waterski Club Waterskiing 
Jetskiing 

Premier Waterski School Waterskiing 

Hunstanton Kayaks Canoeing 

 

13.4.3 Displaced demand 
 
Displaced demand relates to play by teams from within the study area which takes place outside 
of the area, or vice versa. Given the quality of the coastal waters around Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, there is significant imported demand from tourists and day visitors to the area, which 
has a positive impact on the local economy. 
 

  

369



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 217 

13.4.4 Unmet demand 
 
The only evidence of unmet demand for water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
at present is from Wells and Kings Lynn Coastal Rowing Club, who have poor-quality water 
access and storage facilities in Kings Lynn and have therefore relocated much of their activity to 
Wells-next-the-sea in North Norfolk district. 
 

13.4.5 Latent demand 
 
Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population should they have access to more or better 
provision. There is no evidence of latent demand for water sports in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present. Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club has a waiting list for membership, but all other 
facilities have spare capacity to accommodate additional use. 
 
13.4.6 Future demand 
 
This has been assessed as follows: 
 

• Participation rates: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for the water sports at national level since 2015: 
 

Table 146: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National water sports participation rates 2015 - 2023 

 

Activity 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21  2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
Canoeing 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.4% 0.5% +0.1% 

Rowing 0.4% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% -0.1% 

Sailing 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% -0.1% 

Waterskiing 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% 0.1% 0.1% -0.1% 

Watersports 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.1% -0.2% 

 

• Local sports participation trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the 
proportion of the adult (16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated 
below and show that whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a 
downward trend between 2015 and 2020: 

 
Table 147: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk participation rates 2015 - 2024 

 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% 74.8% -3.7% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

370



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 218 

13.4.7 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• There are nine watersports clubs and five commercial operators offering watersports in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• Future demand patterns are likely to decrease, based on participation trends, although this 
is likely to be offset by projected population increases. 

 
13.5 Watersports Facilities Supply 
 

13.5.1 Introduction 
 
This section summarises the detail of water sports facilities supply in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. Water sports facilities are defined as permanent, built facilities that cater for the diverse 
needs of sailing, windsurfing, kite surfing, water-skiing, canoeing, sub-aqua and rowing. 
 

13.5.2 Facilities with community use and used 
 

Table 148: Water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Address Sub-area 
Bawsey Bay Watersports Bawsey Country Park, B1145, Bawsey PE32 1EP Kings Lynn 

Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club Harbour Way, Brancaster Staithe PE31 8BW Hunstanton 

Burnham Overy Boathouse East Harbour Way, Burnham Overy Staithe PE31 8FF Hunstanton 

Denver Cruising Club Ferry Bank, Southery PE38 0PN 

 
Downham 

Market 

Hunstanton Kayaks North Promenade, Hunstanton PE36 6GB Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Sailing Club North Promenade, Hunstanton PE36 5BF Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Watersports North Promenade, Hunstanton PE36 6GB Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Waterski Club South Beach Road, Hunstanton PE36 5BA Hunstanton 

Ouse Amateur Sailing Club Saddlebow, Kings Lynn PE34 3AW Kings Lynn 

Overy Staithe Sailing Club East Harbour Way, Burnham Overy Staithe PE31 8FF Hunstanton 

Premier Waterski School Pentney Lakes, Common Road, Pentney PE32 1LE Kings Lynn 

Snettisham Beach Sailing Club Snettisham Beach, Snettisham PE31 7RB Hunstanton 

Wells and Kings Lynn Coastal 
Rowing Club 

Common Staithe Slipway, Ferry Street, Kings Lynn 
PE30 1LL 

Kings Lynn 

West Norfolk Rowing Club Sluice Road, Denver PE38 0EG Downham 
Market 

 
13.5.3  Facilities by sub-area 
 
Watersports facilities by sub-area are as follows. It shows that levels of provision vary widely 
across the borough, being highest in the Hunstanton sub-area and poorest in the Downham 
Market sub-area: 
 
 
 

371

https://www.oasc.co.uk/map2.html


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 219 

Table 149: Water sports facilities by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Population No. Facilities  Facilities per capita 
Hunstanton  28,316 9 1: 3,146 

Kings Lynn  67,643 4 1: 16,911 

Downham Market  55,286 2 1: 27,643 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 14 1: 10,803 
 

13.5.4  Quality 
 

The quality of water sports facilities was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site 
visit to all sites. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 
 

• The clubhouse: The quality of the social area(s), changing facilities and other provision. 
 

• Boat/equipment storage: The availability of a hard-standing area, secure fencing and 
covered spaces. 

 

• Water access: The arrangement for accessing the water, including jetties, pontoons, 
slipways and moorings.  

 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Parking, signage and proximity to public transport. 
 

13.6.2 The basis of the ratings 
 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’ (highlighted in green 
below), 4 to ‘good’ (also highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’ (highlighted in yellow below), 
2 to ‘poor’ (highlighted in red below) and 1 to ‘very poor’ (also highlighted in red below).  
 

Table 150: Water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility Clubhouse Storage Water access Disability Access General access 
Bawsey Bay Watersports 3 3 4 3 5 

Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club 5 4 5 2 4 

Burnham Overy Boathouse - 4 - 3 4 

Denver Cruising Club 4 - 5 1 2 

Hunstanton Kayaks 5 3 3 2 3 

Hunstanton Sailing Club 5 3 3 2 3 

Hunstanton Watersports 3 3 3 3 3 

Hunstanton Waterski Club 4 4 5 4 4 

Ouse Amateur Sailing Club 5 5 5 5 4 

Overy Staithe Sailing Club - 3 3 3 3 

Premier Waterski School 3 4 5 2 3 

Snettisham Beach Sailing Club 4 3 3 2 2 

Wells and Kings Lynn Coastal 
Rowing Club 

- 1 2 1 4 

West Norfolk Rowing Club 4 4 3 2 4 

  

372



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 220 

13.7 Accessibility 
 
A 30-minute drivetime catchment is appropriate to define accessibility to specialist watersports 
facilities. The map overleaf shows that the whole borough is within 30-minutes’ drive of at least 
one watersports facility. 

 

373



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 221 

13.8 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the opening hours, usage arrangements and pricing of selected 
watersports facilities. 

 

Table 151: Water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Basis of use 
 

Facility Opening hours and basis of use Pricing 
Bawsey Bay 
Watersports 

Thursday - Sunday: 10.00 - 16.00 Paddleboarding £50 per person 
Double Kayak £30 per person 
Windsurfing £55 per person 

Burnham Overy 
Boathouse 

Varies seasonally 
‘Pay and play’ usage 

Double kayak hire (per day) £35 
Single kayak hire (per day) £25 

Hunstanton Kayaks From 10.00am daily 
‘Pay and play’ usage 

Double kayak hire (per hour) £30 
Single kayak hire (per hour) £20 

Hunstanton Sailing 
Club 

Varies seasonally 
Membership usage 

£150 Annual adult membership 
£70 Annual junior membership 

Hunstanton 
Watersports 

Varies seasonally 
Pre-booked usage 

£150 Beginners Kitesurfing (one day) 
£20 Paddleboard Group Lesson (half-day) 

Hunstanton 
Waterski Club 

Varies seasonally 
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

£125 Annual adult membership 
£250 Annual craft registration 
£75 day pass for non-members 

Ouse Amateur 
Sailing Club 

Varies seasonally 
Membership usage 

£60 Annual adult membership 
£15 Annual junior membership 
£30 Annual boat park fee 

Overy Staithe 
Sailing Club 

Weekends 
Membership  

£15 Annual adult membership 
£5 Annual junior membership 

Snettisham Beach 
Sailing Club 

Varies seasonally 
Membership usage 

£120 Annual adult membership 
£50 Annual junior membership 

West Norfolk 
Rowing Club 

Varies seasonally 
Membership usage 

£150 Annual adult membership 
£60 Annual junior membership 

 

13.9 Key findings on supply 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are 14 watersports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, covering a full-range 
of activities and with a good geographical distribution. 
 

• Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club has a waiting list for membership, but all other facilities 
have spare capacity to accommodate additional use. 

 

• There are some quality issues, particularly relating to disabled access. 
 

• Membership charges vary, but in most instances are relatively affordable. 
 

13.10 Changes since 2023 
 

Bawsey Bay Watersports is an additional facility available for community use since 2023. 
 

374



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 222 

13.11 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• There is provision for a wide range of watersports activities in the borough, facilitated by 
the attractive coastal and inland water assets in the area.  
 

• The facilities make an important contribution to the tourist offer in the borough, as well as 
meeting the needs of local people. 

 

13.12 The balance between watersports supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between watersports facilities supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

13.13 Quantity 
 

13.13.1 Current needs 
 

There are 14 watersports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, covering a full-range of 
activities. Brancaster Staithe Sailing Club has a waiting list for membership, but all other facilities 
have spare capacity to accommodate additional use. 

 

13.13.2 Future needs 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels based on participation trends, but 
the lower population growth projections will create a requirement for 3.1% additional capacity by 
2040, whilst the higher population growth projections will create a requirement for 16.1% 
additional capacity by 2040. In both instances, existing facilities have sufficient spare capacity to 
accommodate all additional demand. 
 
 

375



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 223 

13.14 Quality 
 

13.14.1 Current quality 
 

There are some quality issues, particularly relating to disabled access. 
 

13.14.2 Future quality 
 

All facility providers will need to continue to invest in maintaining and improving their facilities, 
so if this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the future, it 
seems reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 
 

13.15 Accessibility 
 

13.15.1 Current accessibility 
 

All of the population is within 30-minutes’ drive of the nearest watersports facility.  
 

13.15.2 Future accessibility 
 

It can be assumed that future accessibility will remain as it is at present.  
 

13.16 Availability 
 

13.16.1 Current availability 
 

The facilities are available to use at reasonable rates and have secured community access.  
 

13.16.2 Future availability 
 

It can be assumed that future availability will remain as it is at present.  
 

13.17 The options for securing additional water sports facilities capacity 
 

The options for securing existing water sports facilities capacity to meet current and future needs 
are as follows: 
 

13.17.1 Protect 
 

Protecting existing water sports facilities through the Local Plan will be key to securing provision 
by ensuring that policy supports the retention of existing facilities, unless the loss of a facility 
would involve replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality and accessibility. 
 

13.17.2 Provide 
 

There is no need to provide additional water sports facilities. 
 

13.17.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing water sports facilities capacity by: 
 

• Addressing the disabled access issues at the eight sites where this is rated as ‘poor’. 

• Ensuring that the facilities receive regular maintenance and improvements, funded by 
developer contributions where appropriate. 

 

376



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 224 

13.18 Action Plan 
 

13.18.1 Introduction 
 

The tables below set out the action plan for water sports facilities to guide the implementation of 
the strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and the staffing necessary to 
undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

13.18.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 152: Key strategic action plan for water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of existing 
water sports facilities. 

Include a policy in the Local Plan to 
protect all existing water sports facilities. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

 

13.18.3  Site-specific actions 
 

Table 153: Site-specific action plan for water sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Bawsey Bay 
Watersports 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Brancaster 
Staithe C 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for improving 
clubhouse access. 

Brancaster 
Staithe S C 

- TBC Medium 

Burnham Overy 
Boathouse 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Denver Cruising 
Club 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for improving 
disabled and general access. 

Denver 
Cruising Club 

- TBC Medium 

Hunstanton 
Kayaks 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for improving 
disabled access. 

Hunstanton 
Kayaks 

- TBC Medium 

Hunstanton 
Sailing Club 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for 
improving disabled access. 

Hunstanton 
Sailing Club 

- TBC Medium 

Hunstanton 
Watersports 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Hunstanton 
Waterski Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Ouse Amateur 
Sailing Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Overy Staithe 
Sailing Club 

No current issues No action - - - - 

Premier 
Waterski School 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for 
improving disabled access. 

Premier 
Waterski Sch. 

- TBC Medium 

Snettisham 
Beach SC 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for 
improving disabled and general 
access. 

Snettisham 
Beach SC 

- TBC Medium 

Wells and Kings 
Lynn Coastal 
Rowing Club 

Poor boat storage 
and water access 
issues in Kings 
Lynn 

Examine options for 
improving boat storage and 
water access. 

Wells & Kings 
Lynn Coastal 
Rowing Club 

KL&WNBC TBC Medium 

West Norfolk 
Rowing Club 

Poor disability 
access 

Examine options for 
improving disabled access. 

West Norfolk 
Rowing Club 

- TBC Medium 

377



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 225 

14 MULTI-USE GAMES AREA NEEDS  

 

14.1  Organisational context 
 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council: The Council provides and maintains 
four Multi-use Games Areas (MUGAs), all in Kings Lynn 

 

• Town and Parish Councils: Town and parish councils provide and maintain 12 
MUGAs in the borough. 

 
14.2 Strategic context 
 

14.2.1  Basketball England 
 

Basketball England designated 2022 ‘The Year of 3v3 Basketball’. 3x3 is simple and flexible enough to 
be played almost anywhere by anybody - and is the number one urban team sport in the world. All 
that is required is a hoop, a half-court and six players - it is basketball in one of its most basic forms. 
The game featured in the 2022 Commonwealth Games in Birmingham. MUGAs provide an excellent 
facility for accommodating both 3v3 and 5v5 basketball play.   

 

14.2.2 Football Foundation 
 

The Football Foundation’s ‘National Facilities Strategy’ (2020) contains a priority for ‘small-sided 
facilities to grow the small-sided game for teams and leagues, recreational and informal play’.  

 

• MUGAs have an important role to play in this regard and the Football Foundation has grants 
of up to £25,000 to improve playing surfaces for recreational football and small-sided facilities.  
 

• The ‘Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Local Football Facility Plan’ (2020) was commissioned by the 
Football Foundation in conjunction with other partners and identified a priority for a MUGA 
at King’s Way Playing Field, Kings Lynn. 

 
14.2.3 England Netball 
 

England Netball’s ‘Adventure Strategy 2021 - 2031’ (2021) include a ‘destination termed ‘a Game for 
Life’. This includes an aspiration to have ‘a place to play within easy travel of every household’. To 
facilitate this, England Netball is keen to encourage the provision of netball court markings on all 
Multi-use Games Areas (MUGAs), to expand opportunities to play the game. 

 
14.3 Stakeholder consultation 

 
None of the neighbouring local authorities has an assessment of MUGA needs. 
 

14.4 MUGA Demand 
 

14.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and includes: 
 

378



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 226 

• Expressed demand. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 
 

14.4.2 Expressed demand 
 

Expressed demand for MUGAs is difficult to gauge because all facilities are accessed on a casual 
basis and usage is therefore ‘unmetered’. However, consultation with local MUGA providers 
indicates that the facilities are receiving regular use particularly for informal football and 
basketball play. 

 

14.4.3 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to activity from within the study area which takes place outside of the 
area, or vice versa. Given the localise catchment of MUGAs, there is no evidence of cross-border 
usage, either into or out of the borough. 
 

14.4.4 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Clubs may have access to a facility for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some facilities may be unavailable to the community.  
 

• The poor quality and limited capacity of facilities and/or a lack of provision and ancillary 
facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 
There is no evidence of unmet demand for MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk at present. 
 

14.4.5 Latent demand 
 
Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population should they have access to more or better 
provision. There is no evidence of any latent demand for MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 
 
14.4.6 Future demand 
 
This has been assessed as follows: 
 

• Participation rates: One factor in considering future sports participation rates is to track 
historical trends, as a guide to possible future developments. Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ 
survey has recorded national adult (aged 16+) participation rates in the sports that use 
MUGAs between 2015 and 2023 (as follows: 

 

379



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 227 

Table 154: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National MUGA sports participation rates 2015 - 2023 
 

Activity 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21  2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
Basketball 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.6% 0.5% 0.5% 0.6% 0.7% No change 

Football 5.2% 5.0% 4.5% 4.4% 3.0% 3.2% 4.4% 4.6% -0.6% 

Netball 0.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.7% 0.4% 0.3% 0.6% 0.6% -0.1% 

Tennis 2.0% 1.9% 1.7% 1.6% 1.5% 1.4% 2.0% 1.9% -0.1% 
 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult 
(16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that 
whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 
2015 and 2023: 

 

Table 155: ‘‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk participation rates 2015 - 2024 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% 74.8% -3.7% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

14.4.7 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• MUGAs are well-used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, although there is no evidence of 
any displaced, unmet or latent demand. 
 

• Future demand patterns are likely to decrease, based on participation trends, although this 
is likely to be offset by projected population increases. 

 

14.5 MUGA Supply 
 

14.5.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the detail of MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. MUGAs are 
defined as hard-surfaced courts surrounded by robust, high fences with markings for football, 
basketball and other sports. 
 

14.5.2 MUGAs with community use and used 
 

The location and number of MUGAs with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is as 
follows. Floodlit facilities are asterisked: 

 
 

380



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 228 

Table 156: MUGAs with community use and used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Sub-area 
Castle Acre Playing Field MUGA St. James Green, Castle Acre PE32 2BD Downham 

Market 

Centrepoint MUGA Middlewood, Kings Lynn PE30 4SR Kings Lynn 

Docking Playing Field MUGA* Bradmere Road, Docking PE31 8NQ Hunstanton 

East Rudham Playing Field MUGA* School Road, East Rudham PE31 8GN Hunstanton 

Hockwold Village Hall MUGA Main Street, Hockwold IP26 4LW Downham 
Market 

Hunstanton Recreation Ground MUGA* Greevegate, Hunstanton  PE36 6AE Hunstanton 

KGV Playing Field, Shouldham Fairstead Drove, Shouldham PE33 0DL Downham 
Market 

Kingsway MUGA* Edward Benefer Way, King's Lynn PE30 2HY King's Lynn 

Marham, Coronation Playing Fields MUGA The Street, Marham PE33 9JQ Downham 
Market 

Marshland Hall MUGA* Smeeth Road, Marshland St. James PE14 8JB Downham 
Market 

Parkway MUGA* Parkway, King's Lynn PE30 4QJ King's Lynn 

Rouses Lane Playing Field MUGA* Rouses Lane, Downham Market PE38 9AN Downham 
Market 

Snettisham Memorial Playing Field MUGA* Old Church Road, Snettisham PE31 7LX Hunstanton 

The Walks MUGA* South Street, King's Lynn PE30 5EP King's Lynn 

Tilney St. Lawrence Recreation Ground* Magdalen Road, Tilney St. Lawrence PE34 4RF King's Lynn 

Watlington Recreation Ground MUGA* Church Road, Watlington PE33 0HE Downham 
Market 

 
14.5.3 Provision by sub-area 

 
MUGA provision by sub-area are as follows. It shows that levels of provision are poorest in the 
Kings Lynn sub-area: 

 
Table 157: MUGA provision by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Sub-area Population No. facilities Facilities per capita 
Hunstanton  28,316 4 1: 7,079 

Kings Lynn  67,643 5 1: 13,529 

Downham Market  55,286 7 1: 7,898 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 16 1: 9,453 

 
14.6 Quality 

 
14.6.1 The criteria assessed for MUGAs 

 
The quality of outdoor netball courts was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a 
site visit to all facilities. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 
 

• The court: Court surface, line markings and fitness for purpose. 
 

381



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 229 

• Fencing: Condition and appearance. 
 

• Disability access: Provision for disabled access to the courts. 

 
• Lighting: The quality, illumination levels and evenness of floodlights. 

 
14.6.2 The basis of the ratings 

 
The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’  and 1 to ‘very poor’. The ratings for MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 158: MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 

 

Facility Court Fencing Disability Access Lighting 
Castle Acre Playing Field MUGA 2 - 1 - 

Centrepoint MUGA 5 5 5 - 

Docking Playing Field MUGA 5 5 2 5 

East Rudham Playing Field MUGA 4 4 3 4 

Hockwold Village Hall MUGA 3 3 2 - 

Hunstanton Recreation Ground MUGA 5 5 3 4 

KGV Playing Field, Shouldham 2 - 2 - 

Kingsway MUGA 5 5 5 5 

Marham, Coronation Playing Fields MUGA 5 5 2 - 

Marshland Hall MUGA 5 5 4 5 

Parkway MUGA 5 5 5 5 

Rouses Lane Playing Field MUGA 2 2 4 4 

Snettisham Memorial Playing Field MUGA 5 5 4 5 

The Walks MUGA 5 5 5 5 

Tilney St. Lawrence Recreation Ground 4 4 5 5 

Watlington Recreation Ground MUGA 5 5 4 5 

 
14.7 Accessibility 
 
A 10-minute drivetime catchment is appropriate to define accessibility to MUGAs. Some parts of 
the Downham Market sub-area are more than 10-minutes’ drive of a MUGA. 

382



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 230 

  

383



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 231 

14.8 Availability 
 
All MUGAs are freely accessible at all times, although only 11 are floodlit and therefore usable 
during the hours of darkness. 

 
14.9 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are 16 MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, with a good geographical 
distribution. 
 

• There is no evidence of any unmet demand. 
 

• There are some quality issues, particularly relating to disabled access. 
 

• Some parts of the Downham Market sub-area are more than 10-minutes’ drive of a 
MUGA. 

 

• Access to all MUGAs is free-of-charge. 
 

14.10 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no significant changes in supply and demand for MUGAs in the borough since 
2023, although the facility at Hunstanton Recreation Ground was resurfaced.. 

 
14.11 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 
Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• MUGAs comprise local-scale facilities that cater for a range of recreation-level sports and a 
such they have wide appeal to participants.  
 

• The unprogrammed nature of MUGAs makes them attractive to young people in 
particular, who can use them to play sport on their own terms. 

 
14.12 The balance between MUGA supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between MUGA supply and demand in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough MUGAs with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in 
the future? 
 

• Quality: Are the MUGAs fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the MUGAs in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

384



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 232 

• Availability: Are the MUGAs available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

14.13 Quantity 
 
14.13.1 Current needs 

 

There are 16 MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and no evidence of any unmet demand. 
 

14.13.2 Future needs 
 

Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels based on participation trends, but 
the lower population growth projections will create a requirement for 2.2% additional capacity by 
2040, whilst the higher population growth projections will create a requirement for 12.8% 
additional capacity by 2040. In both cases, existing court capacity will be required to meet the 
extra demand. 
 

14.14 Quality 
 

14.14.1 Current quality 
 

Poor-quality surfaces compromise usage capacity at three sites and disabled access is an issue at 
seven sites. 
 

14.14.2 Future quality 
 

MUGA providers will need to continue to invest in maintaining and improving their facilities, so 
if this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the future, it seems 
reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 
 

14.15 Accessibility 
 

14.15.1 Current accessibility 
 

Some parts of the Downham Market sub-area are more than 10-minutes’ drive of a MUGA. 
 

14.15.2 Future accessibility 
 

Options should be examined for extending the current geographical coverage. 
 

14.16 Availability 
 

14.16.1 Current availability 
 

There are no current issues with court availability, although the addition of floodlights at the five 
facilities without it would extend their periods of use. 
 

14.16.2 Future availability 
 

It is reasonable to assume that similar availability will apply in the future.  
 
 

385



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 233 

14.17 The options for securing MUGA capacity 
 

The options for securing existing MUGA capacity to meet current and future needs are as 
follows: 
 

14.17.1 Protect 
 

Protecting existing MUGAs through the Local Plan will be key both to securing local provision 
by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing facilities, unless the loss of a 
facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality and 
accessibility. 
 

14.17.2 Provide 
 

There is a need to provide additional MUGAs to meet demand arising from both the population 
growth projections and there is a case for making locally-accessible provision in any major new 
housing developments. 
 

14.17.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing MUGA capacity by: 

 

• Adding floodlights at sites where this is appropriate. 

 

• Improving disabled access at MUGAs where it is currently rated as poor. 

 

• Including netball court markings on existing and new Multi-use Games Areas. 

 

14.18 Action Plan 
 

14.18.1 Introduction 
 

The tables below set out the action plan for MUGAs to guide the implementation of the strategy. 
The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some instances 
detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary to 
undertake the work required to pursue the actions. The capital cost estimates are based upon 
Sport England’s ‘Facility Costs - Second Quarter of 2021’ (2021). 
 

14.18.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 159: Key strategic actions for MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing MUGAs. 

Consider including a policy in the Local 
Plan to protect all existing MUGAs. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Funding for 
future MUGA 
needs. 

Ensure that S106 contributions are 
collected from developers.   

KL&WNBC Developers - High 

Netball court 
markings on 
MUGAs 

Ensure that netball courts are marked on 
all MUGAs, to facilitate the expansion of 
the game. 

KL&WNBC - £1,000 per 
MUGA 

High 

386



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 234 

14.18.3 Site-specific actions 
 

Table 160: Site-specific actions for MUGAs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Castle Acre Playing 
Field MUGA 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
court surface 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
disabled access 

• No floodlights 

• Resurface court 

• Provide a tarmac path 
from the access point 

• Provide floodlights 

Castle Acre 
PC 

- £10,000 for 
resurfacing 
£1,500 for 
access path 
£30,000 for 
floodlights 

Medium 

Centrepoint 
MUGA 

No floodlights Provide floodlights KL&WNBC  £30,000 for 
floodlights 

High 

Docking Playing 
Field MUGA 

‘Poor’ quality 
disabled access 

Provide a tarmac path 
from the access point 

Docking PC - £1,500 Medium 

East Rudham 
Playing Field 
MUGA 

No current issues No action required - - - - 

Hockwold Village 
Hall MUGA 

‘Poor’ quality 
disabled access 

Provide a tarmac path 
from the access point 

Hockwold PC - £1,500 Medium 

Hunstanton 
Recreation Ground 
MUGA 

No current issues No action required - - - - 

KGV Playing Field, 
Shouldham 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
court surface 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
disabled access 

• No floodlights 

• Resurface court 

• Provide a tarmac path 
from the access point 

• Provide floodlights 

Shouldham 
PC 

- £10,000 for 
resurfacing 
£1,500 for 
access path 
£30,000 for 
floodlights 

High 

Kingsway MUGA No current issues No action required - - - - 

Marham, 
Coronation Playing 
Fields MUGA 

‘Poor’ quality 
disabled access 

Provide a tarmac path 
from the access point 

Marham PC - £1,500 Medium 

Marshland Hall 
MUGA 

No current issues No action required - - - - 

Parkway MUGA No current issues No action required - - - - 

Rouses Lane 
Playing Field 
MUGA 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
court surface 

• ‘Poor’ quality 
fencing 

• Resurface court 

• Replace fencing 

Downham TC - £30,000 High 

Snettisham 
Memorial Playing 
Field MUGA 

No current issues No action required - - - - 

The Walks MUGA No current issues No action required - - - - 

Tilney St. Lawrence 
Recreation Ground 

No current issues No action required - - - - 

Watlington 
Recreation Ground 
MUGA 

No current issues No action required - - - - 

 

  

387



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 235 

15 FOOTPATHS AND CYCLEPATHS NEEDS  

 

15.1  Organisational context 
 
Footpaths and cycle paths provision in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk involves a mixed economy 
comprising: 
 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council. 
 

• Sustrans. 
 

• Private landowners. 
 

15.2 Assessing the need for footpaths and cycle paths 
 

15.2.1 Introduction 
 

The formalised supply and demand assessments of the ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ 
(2014) do not lend themselves well to identifying how best to address the need for footpaths and 
cycle paths. In particular: 
 

• Most of the ‘supply’ involves public rights of way where it is difficult to define ‘capacity’ 
precisely. 
 

• Much of the ‘demand’ is ‘unmetered’ - there is very little detailed data on the usage of 
specific rights of way. 

 

10.2.2 Assessment methodology 
 
The following approach has therefore been devised and applied to assess the need for informal 
provision for walking, cycling and running in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• Establishing the extent of designated running, cycling and walking trails providing local 
opportunities to undertake short, medium and long forms (15 minutes, 45 minutes and 90 
minutes) of activity, on or off-road, 

 

• Assessing gaps in provision. 

 
15.2 Strategic context 
 

15.2.2  Government Cycling and Walking Strategy 
 
The Government’s national strategy for cycling and walking ‘Gear Change: A Bold Vision for Cycling 
and Walking’ (2020) contains the following material of relevance: 

 
 
 
 

388



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 236 

• National Cycle Network: ‘The National Cycle Network consists of 12,763 miles of route. There 
is a bias towards ‘leisure’ routes in the countryside and not enough routes for commuting or 
everyday journeys in and around the urban areas where most people live. A 2018 audit by 
Sustrans, its custodian, classed 42% of the network as ‘very poor’, 4% as ‘poor’ 53% as ‘good’ and 
only 1% as ‘very good’. It also highlighted the fact that there were 16,435 barriers or obstructions 
on the network, including chicanes, flights of steps, and gates; and that surfacing on the off-road 
sections was often poor and not suitable for all weathers. Since this report was published, many of 
the very poor routes have been removed from the network’.  

• ‘The network is now made up of 59% on road routes and 41% traffic free routes. The aim is to 
make the whole network either off road or traffic calmed by 2040. We will improve the Network, 
especially where it is most useful for everyday journeys, significantly increasing funding, removing 
obstacles, increasing the proportion that is traffic-free or protected from traffic, and providing 
smooth, all-weather surfacing on the traffic-free parts that is still consistent with its mainly rural 
nature. We will extend the Network where it can be done in accordance with our new design 
standards, especially where it can be most useful for everyday journeys’. 

 

15.2.2  Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 
 
The ‘Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018 - 2028’ (2018) sets out priorities for improving access to 
the countryside in the county. There are more than 2,400 miles of public rights if way in the 
county as a whole, including footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways, cycle tracks and permissive 
routes. Many of these are promoted as long-distance trails and attached circular walks and rides. 
 

• Aims: ‘To create an easy to use, healthy, sustainable way to enjoy the Norfolk coast and 
countryside, we will: 
- Manage the countryside access network so that it is better able to handle the varying 

demands placed upon it. 
- Increase public, environmental and economic benefit. 
- Actively seek the involvement of communities. 
- Take a collaborative and pragmatic approach to responsibilities and resources. 
- Increase investment in the countryside access network’. 

 

• Assessment of the network: ‘Walkers are relatively well-catered for and off-road cyclists and 
horse riders are supported wherever possible. However, there are still issues with: 
- Poor maintenance (vegetation not cut enough, uneven surfaces, muddy paths). 
- Safety (primarily from motor traffic). 
- Obstructions (locked gates, barbed wire fences). 
- Poor continuity and connectivity of cycle and bridle routes. 
- Poor signposting/waymarking. 
- Limited opportunities for people with disabilities. 
- Lack of good information for infrequent users to encourage them to go on to the network’. 

 

• Proposed projects: Proposed projects of direct relevance to Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
include the following: 
- Create a new strategic long-distance path along the disused railway line between Kings Lynn 

and Hunstanton.  
- Create a new long-distance path along the disused railway line between Kings Lynn and 

Fakenham/Wells.  
 

389



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 237 

15.2.3  British Cycling 
 
The relevant strategic priorities identified by British Cycling (2017) are as follows: 
 

• A comprehensive network of accessible traffic-free multi-disciplined cycling facilities enabling 
the effective and safe delivery of cycling activities both at a participation and excellence level. 

• Support for clubs and groups who wish to develop new, or improve existing, facilities and 
infrastructure. 

 
15.3 Stakeholder consultation 

 
15.3.1 Ramblers 
 
Consultation with the Rambler’s Association highlighted the following issues:  
 

• The Ramblers and Macmillan have hosted the national Walking for Health programme 
since 2012. Every week, local Walking for Health schemes run over 1,800 free, friendly, 
short group walks that reach approximately 20,200 individuals.  
 

• West Norfolk Walking for Health organises at least three walks per week in the borough, 
from the following locations: 

 
- The Walks, Kings Lynn - Sandringham North Car Park 
- Lynnsport - Hunstanton Community Centre 
- Gaywood Community Centre - Leziate Village Hall 
- Castle Acre Castle Car Park - Roydon Common 
- Brancaster Staithe - Ringstead Courtyard Farm 
- Grimston Woods - Little Massingham Church 
- North Wootton - Thornham Village Hall 
- Wolferton - Bircham Windmill 
- Congham - Holme 
- Dersingham Heath - Snettisham Ken Hill 
- Burnham Overy Staithe - West Acre Church 
- Burnham Thorpe Village Hall - Castle Rising 
- North Creake Abbey - Narborough 
 

• The Ramblers place a high priority on enhancing, improving and protecting the paths, 
parks and other green spaces that millions of people rely upon for their regular dose of 
walking.  

 
15.3.2 British Cycling 

 
Consultation with British Cycling highlighted the following issues:  

 

• Dedicated cycling facilities provide safe, traffic-free environments for any cyclist of any 
ability to participate, train, compete and - most importantly - have fun whilst riding a bike. 
British Cycling is working closely with Sport England to develop a national network of new 
cycling facilities which meets local demand, making use of a £15 million investment 
programme called ‘Places to Ride’. 

390



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 238 

• The funding is available to any organisation that is developing cycling activity in their 
community and can be used for anything from equipment packages to activate an existing 
local space, through to a brand new-cycling facility. 

 

15.3.3 Neighbouring local authorities 
 

Of the neighbouring local authorities, only East Cambridgeshire District Council and West 
Suffolk Council have an assessment of footpaths and cycle paths: 
 

East Cambridgeshire 
 
The ‘East Cambridgeshire Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy’ (2020) identifies that ‘current provision is 
assessed to be adequate to meet current needs, given that there is sufficient existing capacity to 
accommodate all demand’. 

 
West Suffolk 
 
The ‘West Suffolk Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2021) includes an assessment 
of cycling needs which concludes that ‘there is no evidence of a shortfall in current provision for 
cycling facilities’ and that  ‘spare capacity at the existing facilities will be able to accommodate all 
additional future demand, even accounting for increasing participation rates and population 
growths. 
 

15.4 Footpaths and Cycle Paths Demand 
 

15.4.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the demand for footpaths and cycle paths in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk and includes: 
 

• Expressed demand. 
 

• Displaced demand. 
 

• Latent and unmet demand. 
 

• Future demand. 
 

15.4.2 Expressed demand 
 

Because use of footpaths and cycle paths in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is free of charge and 
therefore ‘unmetered’, assessments of local demand are based upon a combination of national 
participation figures and trends and local data from Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey. 
 

• Cycling: The number of adults aged 16 and over cycling at least twice a month for leisure 
and sport nationally is around 6,170,000 people, and around 3,116,000 cycled for travel. 
Over 60% of the cycling for leisure and sport and about 70% of cycling for travel was by 
men. The rates of participation have fallen slightly since 2015.  
 

391



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 239 

• Walking: The number of adults walking for leisure at least twice a month in the period up 
to November 2018 was around 19,069,000 and the walking for travel figure was 
14,914,500. Both have seen an increase since 2015. Slightly more women than men walk 
for both leisure and travel. The Ramblers Association has published the following figures 
on walking for leisure: 

 
- Around 63% of English adults walk for leisure at least once a year, and around 20 

million people say they walk for leisure at least once a month (National Transport 
Survey (NTS), 2017). 

 
- 38% of English adults have used a ‘strategic recreational route’ such as a National Trail 

or long-distance path in the past year (NTS 2017).  
 
- Walking is the joint most popular activity (along with eating out) for people taking 

days out in England, and the most important reason for 18% of the 3.6 billion trips 
per year. It is the main activity on 36% of countryside and 33% of seaside visits 
(Natural England, 2016).  

 
- Of 386.1million trips on the National Cycle Network per year, 191.4million, or around 

half, are on foot (Sustrans, 2018).  
 
- A third of adults in Britain say walking for more than 10 minutes is their only form of 

exercise in a typical month (Office of National Statistics, 2016). 
 

Natural England has identified the demands of different user groups as follows: 
 

• Local walkers:  Paths of 1.4km to 1.8km in length to complete a walk of 30 minutes 
duration to support the target for 150 minutes per week of moderate exercise. 
 

• Recreational walkers and runners: This user group requires a much greater distance than 
2.4km in a typical walk and most require a circular route. Linear routes that are connected 
by public transport are also useful. 

 

• Cyclists: Cyclists need routes of 7km to 8km for a 30 minute ride and 15.5km for an 
hour’s ride. 

 

15.4.3 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to activity from within the study area which takes place outside of the 
area, or vice versa. There are around 482,000 staying tourist visitors per annum and around 7.8 
million day visitors each year in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. A high proportion of these 
visitors use the footpaths and cycle paths network, which therefore makes a significant 
contribution to the tourism offer.  
 

15.4.4 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand takes a number of forms: 
 

• Clubs may have access to a facility for matches but nowhere to train or vice versa.  
 

• Some facilities may be unavailable to the community.  

392



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 240 

• The poor quality and limited capacity of facilities and/or a lack of provision and ancillary 
facilities which meet a certain standard of play/league requirement.  

 
There is some evidence of unmet demand for footpaths and cycle paths in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk at present, with some discontinuities in the network. 
 

15.4.5 Latent demand 
 
Whereas unmet demand is known to currently exist latent demand is demand that evidence 
suggests may be generated from the current population should they have access to more or better 
provision. There is no evidence of any latent demand for footpaths and cycle paths in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 
15.4.6 Future demand 
 
This has been assessed as follows: 
 

• Participation rates: One factor in considering future sports participation rates is to track 
historical trends, as a guide to possible future developments. Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ 
survey has recorded national adult (aged 16+) participation rates in the activities that use 
footpaths and cycle paths between 2015 and 2023 as follows: 

 
Table 161: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National walking and cycling participation rates 2015 - 2023 

 

Activity 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21  2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
Walking 41.2% 41.6% 42.4% 44.9% 47.6% 52.6% 49.7% 48.9% +7.7% 

Cycling 10.3% 10.4% 9.6% 9.5% 12.6% 11.1% 9.6% 8.9% -1.4% 
 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult 
(16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that 
whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 
2015 and 2023: 

 

Table 162: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk participation rates 2015 - 2024 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% 74.8% -3.7% 

 

• Population growth: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 
2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 
 

 

 

393



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 241 

15.4.7 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings on demand are as follows: 
 

• Footpaths and cycle paths are well-used in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, with evidence of 
significant imported demand from tourists and day visitors and some unmet demand due 
to discontinuities in the network. 
 

• Future demand patterns are likely to increase, based on participation trends and this is 
likely to be further supplemented by projected population increases. 

 

15.5 Footpaths and Cycle Paths Supply 
 

15.5.1 Introduction 
 

This section summarises the detail of footpaths and cycle paths in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
Footpaths and cycle paths are defined as public rights of way and permissive access that provide 
for walking and cycling. 
 

15.5.2 Long distance footpaths 
 

Table 163: Long distance footpaths in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Footpath Description 

Peddars Way The Peddars Way starts in Suffolk at Knettishall Heath Country 
Park and follows the route of a Roman road for 49 miles to Holme-
next-the-Sea, meeting the Norfolk Coast Path at Holme-next-the-
Sea. 

Norfolk Coast Path The Norfolk Coast Path provides 84 miles of walking 
from Hunstanton to Hopton-on-Sea. 

Fen Rivers Way The Fen Rivers Way runs for nearly 50 miles between Cambridge 
and Kings Lynn and traces the course of rivers that drain slowly 
across the Fens into the Wash. 

Nar Valley Way 34-mile-long walk, running from King’s Lynn to the Museum of 
Rural life at Gressenhall. It links with other long-distance routes, 
the Wash Coast Path at King’s Lynn and the Peddars Way at Castle 
Acre. 

Sir Peter Scott Walk The walk follows the old sea bank along the Wash from Kings 
Lynn for 13.5 miles to the Peter Scott lighthouse at Sutton Bridge, 
Lincolnshire. 

 
15.5.3 Long distance cycle paths 
 

Table 164: Long distance cycle paths in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Cycle path Description 

National Cycle Network Route 1 Wisbech - Kings Lynn - Hunstanton - Burnham Overy 

National Cycle Network Route 11 Ten Mile Bank - Downham Market - Kings Lynn 

Rebellion Way Castle Acre - Kings Lynn - Hunstanton 

  

394

http://www.visitwestnorfolk.com/things-to-do/activities/walking/peddars-way/


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 242 

15.6 Quality 
 

The ‘Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018 - 2028’ (2018) identifies that in terms of quality of 
footpaths and cycle paths, ‘walkers are relatively well-catered for and off-road cyclists and horse 
riders are supported wherever possible. However, there are still issues with: 
 

• Poor maintenance (vegetation not cut enough, uneven surfaces, muddy paths). 
 

• Safety (primarily from motor traffic). 
 

• Obstructions (locked gates, barbed wire fences). 
 

• Poor continuity and connectivity of cycle and bridle routes. 
 

• Poor signposting/waymarking. 
 

• Limited opportunities for people with disabilities. 
 

• Lack of good information for infrequent users to encourage them to go on to the network’. 

 
15.6 Accessibility 
 
A map of the long-distance routes in the borough is overleaf. The footpaths and cycle paths 
network in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk provides good accessibility to the whole population of 
the borough. 
 

395



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 243 

 
 

15.7 Availability 
 

All footpaths and cycle paths are freely available at all times. 
 

15.8 Key findings on supply 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• In addition to the public rights of way network, there are five designated long-distance 
walking routes and two designated cycling routes in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

396



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 244 

• There are some quality issues, particularly relating to disabled access. 
 

• The whole population of the borough is within easy reach of the rights of way network. 
 

• Access to all footpaths and cycle paths is free-of-charge. 

 
15.9 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no significant changes in supply and demand for footpaths and cyclepaths in 
the borough since 2023. 

 

15.10 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which footpaths and cyclepaths in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk contribute to shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Footpaths and cycle paths provide a network of local routes that facilitate exercise and 
physical activity, supported by local programmes such as West Norfolk Walking for 
Health. 
 

• The ‘Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018 - 2028’ (2018) estimates that the value of the 
rights of way network in the county as a whole to the visitor economy is £12,477,576 per 
annum. The health benefits of the network, including exercise, mental health and wellbeing 
is valued at £170,355,000 per annum. 

 

• With an ageing population, accessible provision that provides local opportunities to 
exercise at different levels of intensity will become increasingly valuable. 

 

15.11 The balance between footpaths and cycle paths supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between footpaths and cycle paths supply 
and demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough footpaths and cycle paths with sufficient capacity to meet 
needs now and in the future? 
 

• Quality: Are the footpaths and cycle paths fit for purpose for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Accessibility: Are the footpaths and cycle paths in the right physical location for the users 
now and in the future? 

 

• Availability: Are the footpaths and cycle paths available for those who want to use them 
now and in the future? 

 

15.12 Quantity 
 

15.12.1 Current needs 
 

Current provision of walking and cycling trails in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed to 
be adequate to meet current needs, given that there is sufficient existing capacity to 
accommodate all demand.  

397



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 245 

15.12.2 Future needs 
 

Future demand patterns are likely to be similar to current levels based on participation trends, but 
the lower population growth projections will create a requirement for 2.2% additional capacity by 
2040, whilst the higher population growth projections will create a requirement for 12.8% 
additional capacity by 2040. In both cases, the existing network should have sufficient capacity to 
meet the extra demand. 
 

15.13 Quality 
 

15.13.1 Current quality 
 

There are some current issues with: 
 

• Poor maintenance (vegetation not cut enough, uneven surfaces, muddy paths). 
 

• Safety (primarily from motor traffic). 
 

• Obstructions (locked gates, barbed wire fences). 
 

• Poor continuity and connectivity of cycle and bridle routes. 
 

• Poor signposting/waymarking. 
 

• Limited opportunities for people with disabilities. 
 

• Lack of good information for infrequent users to encourage them to go on to the network’. 
 

15.13.2 Future quality 
 

The current quality issues with the footpaths and cycle paths network will need to be addressed 
to ensure that provision is fit-for-purpose in the future. 
 

15.14 Accessibility 
 

15.14.1 Current accessibility 
 

The footpaths and cycle paths network in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk provides good 
accessibility to the whole population of the borough. 
 

15.14.2 Future accessibility 
 

It is reasonable to assume that current accessibility will be maintained in the future. 
 

15.15 Availability 
 

15.15.1 Current availability 
 

All footpaths and cycle paths are freely available at all times. 
 

15.15.2 Future availability 
 

It is reasonable to assume that similar availability will apply in the future.  

398



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 246 

15.16 The options for securing footpaths and cycle paths capacity 
 

The options for securing existing footpaths and cycle paths capacity to meet current and future 
needs are as follows: 
 

15.16.1 Protect 
 

Protecting existing footpaths and cycle paths through the Local Plan will be key both to securing 
local provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing routes, unless 
the loss of a route would involve its replacement with a route of at least the equivalent distance, 
quality and accessibility. 
 

15.16.2 Provide 
 

It opportunities arise to provide additional links within, and connections to the existing network, 
there is a case for making locally-accessible provision in any major new housing developments. 
 

15.16.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing footpaths and cycle paths capacity by: 
 

• Improving maintenance. 
 

• Improving safety. 
 

• Removing obstructions. 
 

• Improving continuity and connectivity of cycle and bridle routes. 
 

• Improving signposting/waymarking. 
 

• Enhancing opportunities for people with disabilities. 
 

• Providing information for infrequent users to encourage them to go on to the network 
 

15.17 Action Plan 
 

The table below set out the action plan for footpaths and cycle paths to guide the implementation 
of the strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in 
some instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and the staffing necessary to 
undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 165: Key strategic actions for footpaths and cycle paths in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing footpaths 
and cycle paths 

Consider including a policy in the Local 
Plan to protect all existing footpaths and 
cycle paths. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Network 
improvements. 

Work with landowners to improve the 
network with the addition of permissive 
routes to provide better connectivity.   

KL&WNBC Landowners - High 

Route quality 
improvements 

Work with landowners to address quality 
issues.   

KL&WNBC Landowners - High 

399



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 247 

16 APPLYING AND REVIEWING THE STRATEGY 

 

16.1 Introduction 
 

This section identifies the applications of the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk PPS and the 
mechanisms for reviewing it to ensure that it remains robust and up-to-date. 
 

16.2 Study applications 
 
The success of the PPS will be determined by how it is used. While the use of the PPS should be 
led by Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council, its application and delivery should be the 
responsibility of the project steering group involving other key local stakeholders including Sport 
England and the governing bodies of the pitch sports. The PPS has a number of applications: 
 

16.2.1 Sports development planning 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Highlight, justify and make the case for sports development activities with particular sports, 
groups and clubs and in particular areas.  
 

• Identify current and future trends and changes in the demand for individual sports and how 
they are played. 

 

• Inform the work, strategies and plans of sporting organisations active in the area. 
 

• Advocate the need to work with specific educational establishments to secure community 
use of their site(s).  

 

• Develop and/or enhance school club links by making the best use of school sites where 
they have spare capacity and are well located to meet demand. 

 

16.2.2 Planning policy 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Develop new, and review the effectiveness of existing, local planning policy (e.g. Local and 
Neighbourhood Plans) in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 

• The implementation of local planning policy to meet the needs of the community in line 
with the NPPF. 

 

16.2.3 Planning applications 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Inform the development of planning applications which affect existing and/or proposed 
new sports facilities provision. 

400



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 248 

• Inform pre-application discussions to ensure any subsequent planning applications 
maximise their benefit to sport and are developed in line with national and local planning 
policy. 
 

• Sports clubs and other organisations provide the strategic need for development proposals 
thereby potentially adding support to their application(s) and saving them resources in 
developing such evidence. 

 

• The Council to assess planning applications affecting existing and/or proposed new playing 
pitch provision in line with national and local planning policy. 

 

• Sport England and other parties respond to relevant planning application consultations. 
 
The PPS can also be applied to help the Council to meet other relevant requirements of the 
NPPF including:  

 

• Taking account of and supporting local strategies to improve health, social and cultural 
wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities and services to meet 
local needs.  
 

• Delivering the social, recreational, cultural facilities and services the community needs. 
 

• Planning positively for the development and infrastructure required in the area to meet the 
objectives, principles and policies of the framework. 

 

• Working with public health leads and health organisations to understand and take account 
of the health status and needs of the local population, including expected future changes, 
and any information about relevant barriers to improving health and well-being). 

 

16.2.4 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Advocate the need for playing pitch provision to be taken into account when the local 
authority is developing and/or reviewing an approach to CIL contributions and the wider 
benefits of doing so (e.g. improving health and wellbeing). 
 

• Provide prioritised infrastructure requirements for playing pitch provision including 
deliverable sport, area and site-specific projects with costings (where known). 

 

16.2.5 Funding bids 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Provide the evidence base and strategic need to support funding bids by a range of parties 
to a variety of potential funding sources. 
 

• Inform potential bidders of the likely strategic need for their project. 

401



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 249 

16.2.6 Facility and asset management 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Ensure a strategic approach is taken to the provision and management of playing pitches. 
 

• Inform the current management, strategies and plans of playing pitch providers e.g. the 
Council, leisure trusts and educational establishments. 

 

• Share knowledge of how sites are managed and maintained, the lessons learnt and good 
practice. 

 

• Highlight the potential of asset transfers and ensure any proposed are beneficial to all 
parties. 

 

• Provide additional protection for particular sites over and above planning policy, for 
example through deeds of dedication. 

 

• Resolve issues around security of tenure. 
 

16.2.7 Public health 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Understand how the community currently participates in sport, the need for playing pitches 
and how this may evolve. 
 

• Raise awareness of and tackle any barriers to people maintaining and increasing their 
participation. 

 

• Highlight and address any inequalities of access to provision within the study area. 
 

• Provide evidence to help support wider health and well-being initiatives. 
 

16.2.8 Co-ordinating resources and investment 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Raise awareness of the current resources and investment (revenue and capital) going into 
the management, maintenance and improvement of playing pitch provision. 
 

• Co-ordinate the current and any future resources and investment to ensure the maximum 
benefit to sport and that value for money is secured.  

 

• Ensure the current and any future resources and investment are complimentary and do not 
result in their inefficient use. 

 

  

402



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                           Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                            Playing Pitch and Outdoor Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 250 

16.2.9 Capital programmes 
 

The PPS can be applied to help:  
 

• Provide the evidence base to justify the protection and investment in playing pitch 
provision. 
 

• Influence the development and implementation of relevant capital programmes (e.g. school 
refurbishment and new build programmes). 

 
16.3 Monitoring delivery 
 
A process should be put in place to ensure regular monitoring of how the recommendations and 
action plan are being delivered. This monitoring should be led by Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
Borough Council and supported by all members of, and reported back to, the steering group. 
Understanding and learning lessons from how the PPS has been applied should also form a key 
component of monitoring its delivery. 
 

16.4 Keeping the Study robust and up-to-date 

 
Along with ensuring that the PPS is used and applied, a process should be put in place to keep it 
robust and up to date. This will expand the life of the PPS, providing people with the confidence 
to continue to both use it and attach significant value and weight to its key findings and issues, 
along with its recommendations and actions. 
 
Sport England advocates that the PPS should be reviewed on a regular basis from the date it is 
formally signed off by the steering group. This will help to maintain the momentum and 
commitment built up when developing the PPS. Taking into account the time to develop the PPS 
this should also help to ensure that the original supply and demand information is no more than 
two years old without being reviewed. 
 
The reviews should highlight:  

 

• How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any changes 
required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g. the priority of some may increase 
following the delivery of others). 
 

• How the PPS has been applied and the lessons learnt. 
 

• Any changes to particularly important facilities and/or sites in the area (e.g. the most used 
or high-quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what 
this may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues. 

 

• Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport. 
 

• Any new or emerging issues and opportunities. 

 
 

403



 

 

 
 
 

Ploszajski Lynch 
 Consulting Ltd. 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

Borough Council 
 

Sports Facilities Strategy 
First Review 

 

June 2025  

 

 

 

404



 

                              

 

 

      
CONTENTS 

 

1   INTRODUCTION       1 

     

2   ASSESSING SPORTS FACILITIES NEEDS   5 

 

3   THE LOCAL CONTEXT      9 

 

4   STRATEGIC INFLUENCES     18 

 

5   SPORTS HALLS       32 

 

6   SWIMMING POOLS      47 

 

7   HEALTH AND FITNESS FACILITIES    61 

 

8   SQUASH COURTS       75 

 

9   INDOOR TENNIS       85  

 

10   INDOOR BOWLS       96 

 

11   GYMNASTICS FACILITIES     107 

  

12  INDOOR ATHLETICS FACILITIES    118 

 

13  VILLAGE AND COMMUNITY HALLS    125 

 

14  POLICIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS   140 

 

15  IMPLEMENTING AND REVIEWING THE STRATEGY 143 

 

405



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 1 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 Introduction 
 
In 2022, Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council (KLWNBC) appointed Ploszajski Lynch 
Consulting Ltd. (PLC) to update Sports Facilities and Playing Pitch Strategies for the Borough. The 
study covers: 
 

• Indoor sports and active recreation facilities. 

 

• Playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities. 

 

• Informal/casual outdoor active recreational opportunities.  

 
This document comprises an updated assessment of indoor sports facilities needs in 2025. 

 
1.2 The rationale for the strategy 
 

1.2.1 Purpose 
 
The Council produced a Sports Facilities Strategy since 2011 and a Playing Pitch and Outdoor 
Facilities Strategy in 2023. Following Sport England guidance on the need for regular reviews, it 
therefore now requires an update of both documents to help shape the future of leisure provision 
for West Norfolk. The future need assessments have been extended from 2036 in the original 
strategy, to 2040, to conform with the new Local Plan period. 
 

1.2.2 Benefits 
 
The benefits of the strategy update are as follows: 
 

• The case for facilities developments: The Council has a number of sports projects at 
concept stage and the need and demand for these will be determined by the results of this 
strategy. 
 

• The Local Plan: The Local Plan/ Neighbourhood Plans: The strategy documents will 
form part of the evidence base for the Local Plan review and/or emerging Neighbourhood 
Plans, which will enable the Borough Council and Town/Parish Councils to: 
 
- Include evidence-based policies on the provision and retention of sports facilities in the 

Borough. 
 

- Identify the additional sports facilities needs arising from new development. 
 

- Compile a charging schedule for developer contributions to fund additional facilities 
provision. 

 

• Health and wellbeing: Facilities needs will be related to local health and wellbeing priorities 
and the delivery of sport and physical activity programmes. 

406



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 2 

• Stakeholder engagement: Sports facilities and pitch provision is a ‘mixed economy’ 
involving the public sector (KL&WNBC, schools and town/parish councils), the voluntary 
sector (sports clubs and associations) and the commercial sector (fitness gyms). The strategy 
compilation process (which is covered in more detail below) involved engagement with all 
providers (and the umbrella organisations that represent them like Sport England, Active 
Norfolk and the governing bodies of sport), so has identified who is best placed to deliver 
the established needs. 
 

• External funding bids: All bids for external funding for sports facilities and pitch provision 
will involve demonstrating the strategic priority of the proposed developments, so the 
strategy documents will provide the basis for this. 

 

• Tourism and the visitor economy: The visitor economy in West Norfolk is estimated to 
be worth around £496 million to the wider economy. Around 482,000 staying visitors spend 
an estimated £111 million per annum. Around 7.8 million day visitors spend around £300 
million. The visitor economy supports around 17% of jobs in the economy. Sports facilities 
such as the Oasis Pool in Hunstanton and some coastal water sports provision make a 
significant contribution to the tourism offer and the update will address these needs in 
addition to those of the resident population. 

 

1.3 The study brief 
 
The study brief states that the project should culminate with the production of an updated Sports 
Facilities and Playing Pitch Strategy for West Norfolk considering short, medium and long term 
requirements and accounting for the West Norfolk Local Plan which runs to 2040.  The plan should 
also consider the geography of the borough and the rurality and population demographic. In doing 
so, the assessment considers the following questions:  
 

• What is the overall picture across West Norfolk in terms of the quantity of sports provision?  
 

• What is the overall picture across West Norfolk in terms of the quality, accessibility, and 
sustainability of sports provision? 

 

• What is the overall picture for West Norfolk in terms of disability sport and inclusive 
facilities, considering if demand for facilities is being met? 

 

• Which geographical areas have poor access to sports facilities? 

 

• How much informal and formal community use and security of community access is there 
to educational sites? 

 

• Are there facilities which complement the natural environment and features of West Norfolk 
and is there demand for them? 

 

• Is there a need to develop new standards for provision for sports facilities and pitches? 

 
The study assesses need at a boroughwide, sub-area (north, central and south) and site-specific 
level and takes account of facilities in neighbouring areas that serve the needs of the Borough’s 
population. 

407



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 3 

1.4 The scope of the strategy 
 

The indoor sports facilities included in the Strategy are: 
 

• Sports halls. 
 

• Swimming pools. 

 

• Health and fitness facilities. 
 

• Squash courts. 

 

• Indoor tennis facilities. 

 

• Indoor bowls facilities.  

 

• Gymnastics facilities. 

 

• Village and community halls. 
 

1.5 The study methodology 
 

The methodology for the study follows the ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ (2014) 
approach (ANOG), developed by Sport England. The process involves two parts and three stages 
as follows: 
 

• Part One - Undertaking the assessment. 
 
- Stage A: Prepare and tailor the assessment. 

 
- Stage B: Gather information on supply and demand. 

 
- Stage B: Bring the information together. 
 

• Part Two - Stage C: Applying the assessment. 

 
1.6 Strategy format 
 

This structure of the document is as follows: 
 

• Assessing sports facilities needs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• The local context for facilities provision. 
 

• Strategic influences on facilities provision. 
 

• Sports halls. 
 

• Swimming pools. 
 

408



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 4 

• Health and fitness facilities. 
 

• Squash courts. 
 

• Indoor tennis facilities. 
 

• Indoor bowls facilities.  
 

• Gymnastics facilities. 
 

• Village and community halls. 

 

• Policies and recommendations. 

 

• Applying and reviewing the strategy. 

 

409



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 5 

2 ASSESSING SPORTS FACILITIES NEEDS IN KINGS 
LYNN AND WEST NORFOLK 

 
2.1 Introduction 
 
This section explains the basis upon which the current sports facilities needs in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk have been identified, along with the approach for identifying the additional provision 
that will be needed as a result of population growth.  

 
The methodology applied to assess the needs and opportunities for sports facilities follows Sport 
England’s recommended approach, advocated in ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ (2014). 
It also takes account of Sport England’s ‘Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance’ (2020). 
 

2.2 Preparing and tailoring the approach 
 

KL&WNBC convened a project steering group led by officers from leisure, planning, green spaces, 
grounds maintenance, public health, tourism and economic development and involving advice 
from Sport England and the relevant governing bodies of sport to devise: 
 

• The vision and objectives of the review of sports facilities in the borough. 
 

• The scope of the exercise, including the types of facilities to include, the geographical scope 
and the overall timeframe for the assessment. 

 

• The local and wider strategic context. 
 

• The project management arrangements for the study.  
 

A project brief was produced, approved and signed-off to complete Stage A of the process.  

 
2.3 Assessing sports facilities supply 

 
The assessment of sports facilities supply at Stage B of the study involved four main elements:  
 

• Quantity: Establishing what facilities there are in the borough, with details of their 
dimensions, technical information like playing surfaces and floodlighting. This included 
consideration of facilities not currently in use, those not available to the community and 
significant provision in neighbouring areas that serves some needs of Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk residents and visitors. 

 

• Quality: Auditing the quality of facilities. This involved assessing each facility in terms of its 
condition (its age, appeal, fabric and ancillary provision like changing and car parking - factors 
that will influence its attractiveness to users) and fitness for purpose (its technical 
specifications and ability to accommodate an appropriate standard of play). 

 

• Accessibility: Determining spatial distribution of provision in the borough by GIS mapping 
of each facility type, including catchment analysis appropriate to the scale and role of each 
facility.  

410



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 6 

• Availability: Identifying how much each facility is used, whether there is any existing spare 
capacity and if there is any scope to increase capacity. This involved consideration of 
programming and usage data, opening times and pricing levels, which was secured through 
consultation with facility providers and operators. 

 

The information was collated and analysed in a facilities supply report, which was evaluated and 
approved by the project steering group. 
  

2.4 Assessing sports facilities demand 
 

The assessment of sports facilities demand at Stage B of the study involved five main elements:  
 

• Local population profile: Establishing the local demography, including the size, age profile, 
affluence/deprivation, health indices and growth projections. 

 

• Sports participation: Identifying local sports participation characteristics, through analysing 
the results of Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey, local facilities usage figures and a survey 
of local clubs to establish membership patterns and trends. 

 

• Unmet, displaced and future demand: In addition to current expressed demand, analysis 
of unmet (demand which exists but cannot currently be satisfied), displaced (demand from 
within the borough that is satisfied elsewhere) and future demand (based on projected 
population and participation increases) was identified. 
 

• Local participation priorities: Establishing any local priorities for the use of sports facilities, 
such as those relating to corporate health and well-being policies. 

 

• Sport-specific priorities: Determining through consultation with Active Norfolk, the 
governing bodies of sport and a local sports clubs survey, whether there are any sport-specific 
priorities for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 

The information was collated and analysed in a facilities demand report, which was evaluated and 
approved by the project steering group. 
 

2.5 Assessing the balance between sports facilities supply and demand 
 

To complete Stage B of the process, the supply and demand information was brought together for 
each type of facility to establish:  
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users? 
 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them? 
 

Where appropriate for some types of facility, the assessment included the use of Sport England 
planning tools, in particular the Sports Facility Calculator (SFC). The SFC has been developed by 
Sport England to help local planning authorities quantify how much additional demand for three 
key community sports facilities (swimming pools, sports halls and indoor bowls) is generated as a 
result of new growth linked to specific development locations 

411



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 7 

2.6 Applying the assessment - Developing the strategy 
 

The results of the assessment has been applied to produce a Sports Facilities Strategy for the 
borough, which includes: 
 

• Options for provision: The options for meeting current and future facilities needs were 
identified under Sport England’s recommended headings of ‘Protect’, ‘Provide’ and 
‘Enhance’. 
 

• Policy recommendations: Arranged under the headings of ‘Protect’, ‘Provide’ and 
‘Enhance’, planning policy recommendations were developed to ensure that the 
implementation of the strategy will be supported by the provisions of the Local Plan.   

 

2.7 Keeping the Assessment robust and up-to-date 

 
Sport England advocates that the SFS should be reviewed on an annual basis from the date it is 
formally signed off by the steering group. Along with ensuring that the strategy is used and applied, 
the process to keep it robust and up to date will expand the life of the strategy, providing people 
with the confidence to continue to both use it and attach significant value and weight to its key 
findings and issues, along with its recommendations and actions. Taking into account the time to 
develop the SFS this should also help to ensure that the original supply and demand information 
is no more than two years old without being reviewed. 
 
The review should highlight:  

 

• How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any changes 
required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g. the priority of some may increase 
following the delivery of others). 
 

• How the SFS has been applied and the lessons learnt. 
 

• Any changes to particularly important facilities and/or sites in the area (e.g. the most used or 
high-quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what this 
may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues. 

 

• Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport. 
 

• Any new or emerging issues and opportunities. 

 
2.8 Sources of information 
 
Information was gathered throughout the process from a wide range of consultees including: 
 

• Sport England: Guidance on the assessment methodology.  
 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council: Consultation with officers from 
leisure, policy planning, grounds maintenance, public health, tourism and economic 
development. 

 

412



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 8 

• Other local sports facilities providers: Consultation with organisations such as local 
sports clubs and commercial health and fitness operators on usage levels and spare capacity.  
 

• Neighbouring local authorities: Information on their sports facilities assessments and 
the impact of any cross-border issues was obtained from Breckland District Council, North 
Norfolk District Council, South Holland District Council, Fenland District Council, East 
Cambs District Council and West Suffolk Council 
 

• Active Norfolk: Information on local and wider strategic priorities. 
 

• National Health Service: The NHS Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Board and the 
West Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Partnership provided information on links with sport 
and physical activity. 
 

• Governing bodies of sport: Information on local and wider strategic priorities and local 
supply and demand information. 

 

• Sports clubs: Information on sports facilities provision and use, current and future needs 
and opinions on quality, which was submitted via an on-line survey. 
 

• Schools: Information on sports facilities provision and use, plus attitudes towards 
community use, which was submitted via an on-line survey. 
 

• Town and parish councils: Information on sports facilities provision and use, current 
and future needs and opinions on quality, which was submitted via an on-line survey. 
 

• Local residents: Views and aspirations on local sports facilities provision, which was 
submitted via the Council’s website. 

 

2.9 Summary 
 

Assessing sports facilities needs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk using the approach advocated by 
Sport England in its ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance’ and ‘Strategic Outcomes Planning 
Guidance’ has ensured that the exercise is both robust and evidence-based and as a result complies 
with the provisions of the Government’s national planning policy framework. 

  

413



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 9 

3 THE LOCAL CONTEXT FOR FACILITIES PROVISION 

 

Key findings: 
 

• An elderly and ageing population: The borough has an elderly age profile and 
demographic change by 2040 will see a significant increase in the proportion of people 
aged over 50. Since sport and physical activity rates typically decline with age, the market 
for local sports facilities will evolve accordingly. 
 

• Population growth: The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections increase of 
4,750 (or 3.1%) over the period 2021 to 2040. If housing targets are met, population 
growth could be as high as 25,000 (or 12.6%). This will increase demand for facilities for 
sport and physical activity. 

 

• Overall sports participation rates: Local participation rates in sport and physical 
activity are low and have fallen over the past eight years (based upon Sport England’s 
‘Active Lives’ survey) and they are well below the respective national, regional and county 
figures.  

 

• Facilities supply: Sports facilities are provided by a mosaic of owners and operators 
from the public, voluntary and commercial sectors, which highlights the need for and 
benefits of a strategic approach to co-ordinating provision. 

 

3.1 Introduction 
 

This section identifies the context within which sports facilities provision is made in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 
 

3.2 Background 
 

3.2.1 Location 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk borough covers approximately 556 square miles, which makes it 
the thirteenth largest authority area in England. The council area shares boundaries with six local 
authorities across four counties. These are Breckland District Council and North Norfolk District 
Council from Norfolk, South Holland District Council from Lincolnshire, Fenland District 
Council and East Cambs District Council from Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk Council. 
 

3.2.2 Settlement pattern 
 

King’s Lynn is the major settlement in the area with a population of 42,800. The remainder of the 
population is spread across a network of small villages and market towns. Downham Market at 
10,000 is the largest town in the south of the borough.  To the north the largest settlement is the 
seaside town Hunstanton at 4,300 residents. Other larger settlements like Dersingham, Heacham, 
Terrington St Clements, Upwell/Outwell are of similar size and population. There are 102 parishes 
in the borough. 
 

The replacement Local Plan review, which will cover a period of 15 years ahead, proposes a focus 
for growth along the A10/ Main Rail Line corridor, specifically at King’s Lynn, Downham Market 
and the Growth Key Rural Service Centres of Marham and Watlington.  Other significant growth 
is proposed east of Wisbech (Walsoken Parish) and at Hunstanton. 

414



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 10 

3.2.3 Transport links 
 

Road links to and through the borough include the A10, which links Kings Lynn and Downham 
Market with to the south, the A17, which links Kings Lynn to the west, the A47, which links Kings 
Lynn to Wisbech and Norwich and the A148 which links to Fakenham and Cromer. A north-south 
rail line links the Kings Lynn and Downham Market with London via Ely and Cambridge. 
 

3.2.4 Tourism and the visitor economy 
 
The visitor economy in West Norfolk is estimated to be worth around £496 million to the wider 
economy. Around 482,000 staying visitors spend an estimated £111 million per annum. Around 
7.8 million day visitors spend around £259 million. The visitor economy supports around 17% of 
jobs in the economy. Sports facilities such as the Oasis Pool in Hunstanton make a significant 
contribution to the tourism offer. 
 

3.3 Demography 
 

3.3.1 Current population 
 

The 2021 census data for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk indicates 154,300 residents. This 
represents an increase of 6,849 people (4.6% growth) since the 2011 Census figure of 147,451.  
 

3.3.2 Age structure 
 
Analysis of the 2021 census data shows that Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has a relatively elderly 
age profile compared with both Norfolk and England. The average age of residents of the borough 
is 48.4 years, compared with a national average of 43.1 years. 
 

Table 1: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Age Structure 
 

Age Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk No. 

Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk % 

Norfolk % England % 

0-14 24,000 15.6% 15.2% 17.4% 

15-24 14,400 9.3% 10.7% 11.7% 

25-49 43,400 28.1% 29.1% 33.0% 

50-64 32,600 21.1% 26.6% 19.4% 

65+ 39,900 25.9% 24.4% 18.4% 

Total 154,300 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

3.3.3 Sub-areas 
 
The borough can be divided into sub-areas, to assist with analysing provision at a more local level 
and in particular to assess the differential spatial impact on supply and demand for sports facilities 
arising from housing growth. Three areas have been selected on the basis that they comprise 
discrete areas within which the resident population will typically look to access provision like sports 
facilities on a relatively local basis.  
 
 

415



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 11 

 
 
 
 

416



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 12 

The sub-area ward populations are based upon ONS 2019 small-area estimates and are as follows: 
 

Table 2: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk sub-areas 

 

Sub-area Wards Ward Population 
2020 

Sub-area 
Population 2020 

Hunstanton and 
surrounds 

Bircham with Rudhams 
Brancaster 
Burnham Market and Docking 
Dersingham 
Heacham 
Hunstanton 
Massingham with Castle Acre 
Snettisham 

2,645 
2,256 
2,520 
5,807 
5,197 
4,189 
3,094 
2,608 

28,316 

Kings Lynn and 
surrounds 

Clenchwarton 
Fairstead 
Gayton and Grimston 
Gaywood Chase 
Gaywood Clock 
Gaywood North Bank 
North Lynn 
South and West Lynn 
Springwood 
St. Margaret's with St. Nicholas 
Terrington 
The Woottons 
West Winch 

2,705 
6,930 
5,700 
2,903 
3,300 
7,746 
6,701 
5,399 
3,426 
5,285 
5,857 
6,816 
4,875 

67,643 

Downham 
Market and 
surrounds 

Airfield 
Denver 
Downham Old Town 
East Downham 
Emneth and Outwell 
Feltwell 
Methwold 
North Downham 
South Downham 
Tilney, Mershe Lande and Wiggenhall 
Upwell and Delph 
Walsoken, West Walton and Walpole 
Watlington 
Wissey 

6,128 
2,381 
3,344 
3,165 
4,883 
5,814 
2,814 
2,425 
2,135 
4,919 
6,155 
5,762 
2,717 
2,644 

55,286 

 

3.3.4 Population growth 
 

The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 2040, an 
increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). Comparison of the 2021 census data with the 2018 sub-national 
population projections for 2040 shows that the percentage of people aged under 50 falls from 
53.0% to 48.0%, with proportion population increases amongst the over 50s.  
 
 

417

javascript:sym('E05012322')
javascript:sym('E05012323')
javascript:sym('E05012324')
javascript:sym('E05012327')
javascript:sym('E05012337')
javascript:sym('E05012338')
javascript:sym('E05012339')
javascript:sym('E05012344')
javascript:sym('E05012325')
javascript:sym('E05012331')
javascript:sym('E05012333')
javascript:sym('E05012334')
javascript:sym('E05012335')
javascript:sym('E05012336')
javascript:sym('E05012342')
javascript:sym('E05012345')
javascript:sym('E05012347')
javascript:sym('E05012343')
javascript:sym('E05012348')
javascript:sym('E05012349')
javascript:sym('E05012354')
javascript:sym('E05012321')
javascript:sym('E05012326')
javascript:sym('E05012328')
javascript:sym('E05012329')
javascript:sym('E05012330')
javascript:sym('E05012332')
javascript:sym('E05012340')
javascript:sym('E05012341')
javascript:sym('E05012346')
javascript:sym('E05012350')
javascript:sym('E05012351')
javascript:sym('E05012352')
javascript:sym('E05012353')
javascript:sym('E05012355')


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 13 

Table 3: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Population Projections to 2040 
 

Age  Population 2021 % 2021 Population 2040 % 2040 
0-14 24,000 15.6% 22,736 14.3% 

15-24 14,400 9.3% 14,690 9.2% 

25-49 43,400 28.1% 38,974 24.5% 

50-64 32,600 21.1% 30,339 19.1% 

65+ 39,900 25.9% 52,311 32.9% 

Total 154,300 100.0% 159,050 100.0% 

 

3.3.5 Housing needs 
 

The location of population growth will be determined to a large extent by housing development 
allocations. The Local Plan (submission Plan, para 2.1.3) specified a Local Housing Need (LHN) 
for 554 dwellings per year (8,085 dwellings over the next 15 years). At an average of 2.3 people per 
dwelling this would amount to a population increase of approximately 25,000, which is significantly 
more than the ONS projection. This would take the population in 2040 to 179,300, a 16.2% from 
2021. 

 

3.3.6 Deprivation 
 
The English Indices of Deprivation (2019) show that the borough is ranked 73 out of 317 local 
authority areas in England on a range of deprivation issues. 14.6% of the population live in Lower 
Super Output Areas that are amongst the 20% most deprived in the country. These areas are mostly 
concentrated in the urban parts of the borough. Average weekly earnings in the borough are low 
at £558 compared with the regional average of £629 and national average of £613. 
 

 

418



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 14 

3.3.7 Ethnicity 
 

Figures from the 2011 census reveal that a low proportion of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk’s 
population identifies themselves as from the Black and Minority Ethnic groups - only 7.4% 
compared to the England average of 14.6%.  
 

3.3.8 Health 
 

Local health indices recorded in Public Health England’s ‘Health Profile for Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk’  (2019) show that in general the health of people in the borough is around the average for 
England as a whole, although: 
 

• Life expectancy at birth in in the borough is 0.1 years shorter for men and 0.4 years shorter 
for women than the respective national averages. However, life expectancy is 7.4 years lower 
for men and 1.2 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of the borough than in 
the least deprived areas. 
 

• The prevalence of obese children aged 10-11 years is 21.5%, compared with 21.0% nationally. 
 

• 62.8% of the adult population of the borough is classified as overweight or obese the same 
as the national average. 

 

3.4 Disability  

 
The Public Health Profile for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk identifies that the proportion of 
people in the borough reporting that they have a limiting long-term illness or disability is 21.3%, 
compared with 17.6% nationally. Based on the borough’s population of 154,300 this equates to 
32,866 people. 
 
People with disabilities have significantly higher levels of inactivity than the population as a whole, 
43% compared with the national figure of 23%. 
 
According to the National Disability Survey 2021 Over a quarter of disabled respondents often 
had difficulty accessing public buildings, whilst one in three disabled respondents often had 
difficulty accessing public spaces. These figures present substantial barriers to participation.  
 
In line with most comparable local authorities, there are no disability-specific sports facilities but 
the following programmes for disabled people are provided within general sports facilities: 

 

• The council runs multi-sports Ability Counts, wheelchair bowls and football Ability Counts 
sessions every week at Lynnsport. 
 

• The council runs inclusive swimming lessons at Downham Market Sports Centre. 
 

• Little Discoverers, an education charity, provides Conductive Education to children with 
movement difficulties and delayed developmental between 0 and 5 years. The charity runs 
three session per week for a total of 24 children at the Dutton Pavilion on River Lane Playing 
Fields in Kings Lynn. There is no waiting list at present, but Little Discoverers is keen to 
develop expanded facilities in conjunction with Pelicans Hockey Club.  

 

419



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 15 

• Active Norfolk runs the countywide ‘On the Move’ programme that takes sport and physical 
activity to day care providers across Norfolk to deliver 10-week blocks of activity in day 
centres. It also provides videos featuring home workouts for people with disabilities. The 
project has worked locally with the West Norfolk Deaf Association, Independence Matters 
and Forward Day Centre. 

 

3.5 Sport and physical activity 
 

3.5.1 Participation rates  
 

Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey measures physical activity rates amongst people aged 16 and 
over at district, county, regional and national levels. The definitions used in the survey are as 
follows: 

 

• Sport and physical activity: This includes at least 10-minutes of moderate or higher 
intensity sports activities, walking and cycling for leisure or travel, fitness and dance. 
 

• Active: The ‘Active’ population is defined as those doing at least 150 minutes of the above 
activities per week. 

 

• Fairly active: The ‘Fairly active’ population is defined as those doing between 30 and 149 
minutes of the above activities per week. 

 

• Inactive: The ‘Inactive’ population is defined as those doing 30 minutes or less of the above 
activities per week. 

 

The key data for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk since 2015 is set out below and shows a downward 
trend in activity levels: 
  

Table 4: ‘Active Lives’ survey sport and physical activity participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Activity 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
Active 58.2% 55.2% 53.1% 56.6% 57.0% 50.2% 51.6% 53.9% -4.3% 

Fairly active 16.3% 10.0% 12.8% 14.4% 12.5% 12.1% 12.7% 11.4% -4.9% 

Inactive 25.5% 34.8% 34.1% 29.0% 30.4% 37.7% 35.6% 34.7% +9.2% 

 
In comparative terms, activity levels are well below the county, regional and national figures: 
 

Table 5: ‘Active Lives’ survey 2022/23 sport and physical activity participation rates comparisons 
 

Area Active Fairly active Inactive 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 53.9% 11.4% 34.7% 

Norfolk 60.4% 10.8% 28.8% 

East of England 63.2% 11.6% 25.3% 

England 63.4% 10.9% 25.7% 

 

3.5.2 Demographic variations 
 

The ‘Active Lives’ survey national level data identifies that there are significant demographic 
variations in participation rates: 

420



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 16 

• Gender: Men’s participation rates are higher at 65% than women’s at 61%. 
 

• Socio-economic groups: Those in routine/semi-routine jobs and those who are long-term 
unemployed or have never worked have lower participation rates (54%) than those in 
professional/managerial roles (72%). 

 

• Age: Activity levels decrease with age, from 70% in the 16 - 34 age group, to 66% on the 35 
- 54 age group, 61% for 55 - 74 year olds to 40% for those aged 75 and over.  

 

• Disability and long-term health conditions: Activity is less common for disabled people 
or those with a long -term health condition (47%) than those without (68%). 

 

• Ethnicity: participation rates are lower for minority ethnic groups than for the White 
population and are lowest for those of Asian heritage (54%). 

 

3.5.3 Sports club membership 
 

The ‘Active Lives’ survey also records rates of sports club membership amongst people aged 16 
and over and who participated at least twice in the previous 28 days. The figures below show that 
rates are higher in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk than for all the wider geographical comparators: 
 

Table 6: ‘Active Lives’ survey 2022/23sports club membership rates comparisons 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Norfolk East England 
48.1% 41.9% 42.6% 42.8% 

 

3.6 The local sports facilities supply network 
 

Sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk comprises a mixed economy involving 
the public, voluntary and commercial sectors. The key providers are as follows: 
 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council: The Council provides the borough’s 
leisure centres at Lynnsport, St. James’s Pool in Kings Lynn, Downham Market Leisure 
Centre and The Oasis, Hunstanton. The facilities are managed by the council from April 2025. 

 

• Town and parish councils: Town and Parish Councils provide a range of small-scale 
facilities, in particular village and community halls. 

 

• Schools: Schools are significant sports facilities providers in the borough, although not all 
provision is fully community accessible. 

 

• Sports clubs: Voluntary sector sports clubs provide and run a range of mostly smaller 
facilities. 

 

• Commercial providers: The commercial sector has a limited presence in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, with some locally-owned health and fitness facilities. 

  

421



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 17 

3.7 The implications for sports facilities provision 
 

The implications of the local context for sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
are as follows: 
 

• An elderly and ageing population: The borough has an elderly age profile and demographic 
change by 2040 will see a significant increase in the proportion of people aged over 50. Since 
sport and physical activity rates typically decline with age, the market for local sports facilities 
will evolve accordingly. 
 

• People with a disability: Almost 33,000 people in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk have a 
have a limiting long-term illness or disability, so ensuring that sports facilities are accessible 
for people with disabilities is an important local priority. 

 

• Population growth: The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections increase of 4,750 
(or 3.1%) over the period 2021 to 2040. If housing targets are met, population growth could 
be as high as 25,000 (or 14.6%). This will increase demand for facilities for sport and physical 
activity. 

 

• Overall sports participation rates: Local participation rates in sport and physical activity 
are low and have fallen over the past eight years (based upon Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ 
survey) and they are well below the respective national, regional and county figures.  

 

• Facilities supply: Sports facilities are provided by a mosaic of owners and operators from 
the public, voluntary and commercial sectors, which highlights the need for and benefits of a 
strategic approach to co-ordinating provision. 

  

422



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 18 

4 STRATEGIC INFLUENCES ON FACILITIES PROVISION 

 

Key findings: 
 

The review of strategic influences on sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk identified policy convergence on the following issues: 
 

• Active, healthy communities: There is strong policy support for the creation of active, 
healthy communities, including the provision of affordable accessible facilities with 
appropriate activity programmes. 

• Active design: Ensuring that the community provision creates opportunities for active 
travel and an attractive range of co-located facilities is embedded in local and wider 
policies. 

• Protect and retain: Local and national planning policy is supportive of protecting and 
retaining sports facilities for which there is an assessed need. 

• Integration with health and social care: Closer links with the health and social care 
system, to ensure that there is better integration between the needs of low participant 
groups and the sport and physical activity opportunities provided is a strong theme. 

• Low participant groups: There is universal recognition of which groups have lower 
engagement with sport and physical activity and a shared policy commitment to address 
this. 

 

Based upon the shared policy influences, the local strategic outcomes that will provide the 
underpinning rationale for the provision of sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
are as follows: 
 

• To promote active, healthy communities in the borough, local stakeholders will support 
the provision of sustainable community sport and leisure facilities and the spaces and 
infrastructure that individuals, clubs, schools and individuals can access and use to take 
part. 

• The network of sports facilities and supporting community infrastructure will be 
reviewed to ensure that their quantity, quality, accessibility and availability is appropriate 
to the needs of existing and prospective users. 

• Closer links will be developed with the health and social care system, including the co-
location of health and sports facilities where feasible and appropriate, to ensure that there 
is better integration between the needs of low participant groups and the sport and 
physical activity opportunities provided. 

 

4.1 Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance 
 

In May 2019 Sport England supplemented its guidance on the production of sports facilities 
strategies by publishing ‘Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance’.  The approach advocated involves  

 

• Developing an understanding of the wider local strategic outcomes of the study area. 
 

• Using a cross sector approach to identify local community needs and priorities. 
 

• Establishing the contribution that sport and physical activity can make. 
 

423



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 19 

• Securing stakeholder ‘buy-in’ to the shared local outcomes. 
 
The aim is to ensure that the development of sports and leisure facilities is not just an end in itself 
but is fully integrated into the strategic objectives of a range of key stakeholders in any given area. 
For example, rationale for the design, siting and operation of a new swimming pool in addition to 
the obvious benefits for sport and physical activity, should include the role it can play in delivering 
objectives relating to health inequalities, economic regeneration, tourism and socio-economic 
deprivation. 
 
As a prelude to the assessment of supply and demand for facilities in King’s Lynn and West 
Norfolk,  this section reviews the relevant policies and priorities of the council and its strategic 
partners, to establish:  
 

• The key relevant policies and local strategic outcomes. 
 

• The extent to which these are convergent or divergent in respect of sport and physical activity. 
 

4.2 Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council Corporate Strategy 
 

4.2.1 Corporate vision  
 

The Council’s current aspirations for the borough are set out in its ‘Corporate Strategy 2023-2027’ 
(2023). The Council’s current aspirations for the borough are set out in its ‘Corporate Strategy 2023-
2027’ (2023). The vision of the plan is ‘to establish West Norfolk as a place on the map rather than 
an administrative boundary and ensure it is a welcoming rural district, with vibrant communities 
and successful, growing businesses. A place where people can thrive, the environment is protected, 
heritage is preserved, and development meets the needs of people as well as legislation’. 
 

4.2.2 Corporate priorities 
 

To achieve this vision the Strategy sets out four priorities: 
 

• Promoting growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk. 
 

• Protecting our environment. 
 

• Efficient and effective delivery of services. 
 

• Supporting our communities. 
 

Priorities three, five and six are directly relevant to this study and the other priorities are of at least 
tangential relevance. 
 

4.2.3 Delivery objectives 
 

To support the priorities, the following delivery objectives relate directly to sport and physical 
activity: 
 

• Promote West Norfolk as a desirable leisure, cultural and tourism destination. 
 

• Encourage active travel by reducing barriers to walking and cycling. 

424



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 20 

• Work with partners, and provide access to leisure, cultural and outreach experiences, to reduce 
isolation, improve health and wellbeing, and support people to live independently at home 
for longer. 

 

• Tackle social and health inequalities, encourage healthy, active lifestyles and help prevent 
avoidable hospital admissions by working with the NHS and other partners. 

 

• Support the local voluntary sector as a vital element of the local community. 
 

• Promote and maintain attractive public open spaces across the borough for all to enjoy. 
 

4.3 Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Local Plan 
 

4.3.1 Introduction 
 

Kings Lynn and West Norfolk’s current adopted development plan is made up of:  
 

• The ‘West Norfolk Local Plan 2024-2040’ (2025). 
 

• ‘Made’ (adopted) Neighbourhood Plans covering individual Parish areas. 
 

4.3.2 The Local Plan 
 

The Local Plan Vision is that ‘people want to be part of the success story that is West Norfolk, 
drawn here to live, work, invest and visit. West Norfolk enjoys an unparalleled balance between 
quality of life and quality of opportunity with people drawn to the area to take advantage of this’.  
 

Policy LP36: Community and Culture:  
 

• ‘Delivering community well-being and enhancing quality of life through good design’. 
 

• ‘Where possible, developers should examine best practice on design in new development and 
should aim to involve the community early in the design process of new development. 
 

• ‘The form, design, location and layout of development should enhance community wellbeing, 
by: 

 
- Being accessible and inclusive - ensuring that people of any age, gender, ethnicity and 

ability can use and access the development. 
- Being adaptable - creating high quality development which is capable of being modified 

either for different uses or to suit people with different needs. 
- Being locally distinctive - contributing to a sense of place and identity. 
- Reducing the opportunity for crime - considering factors such as natural surveillance, 

boundaries and security features, lighting and the management of public space to promote 
safe living environments. 

- Being within walking distance of open space - to increase peoples quality of life and enable 
active and healthy lifestyles. 

- Creating places that promote social interaction, to allow people who are isolated and more 
vulnerable to cope with the impacts of climate change’. 

 

425



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 21 

• ‘Creating sustainable communities through the provision of community infrastructure. The 
Borough Council will: 
 
- Support proposals that protect, retain or enhance sports, leisure and recreation facilities 

including children’s playgrounds or create new facilities in accessible locations. 
- Work with NHS Norfolk to ensure that new health facilities are provided to serve an 

expanded population, particularly in growth areas in King's Lynn’. 
 

• ‘The Borough Council recognises the importance of community facilities and services (also 
referred to as community infrastructure) to improving people’s quality of life, reducing 
inequality and improving community cohesion. The Council will, working with partners, seek 
opportunities to gain funding for the development of community infrastructure, particularly 
in deprived parts of the borough (see Policy LP05)’. 
 

• ‘Protecting, enhancing and promoting cultural facilities The Borough Council will seek to 
protect and enhance existing cultural assets. If a cultural facility is no longer viable and the 
Council cannot secure funding, the Council will seek to explore alternative options such as co-
locating multiple facilities on a single site to prevent the loss of cultural facilities and to increase 
the economic viability of such facilities’. 

 

• ‘Development will not be permitted in cases where it would result in a loss of existing cultural 
facilities, unless equivalent new or improved facilities, where need justifies, can be provided 
within the same settlement boundary or in close proximity of the existing facility’. 

 

• ‘New cultural facilities will actively be encouraged by the Borough Council, providing they are 
compatible with their location and setting and do not conflict with Economy Policy 
LP07.  New cultural facilities will be located sequentially, in accessible sites in King's Lynn and 
the Main Towns of Hunstanton and Downham Market.  Cultural facilities proposed in 
accessible locations in Key Rural Service Centres or the more rural settlements and areas will 
be considered based on localised impacts’. 

 
Policy LP37 – Community Facilities: 

 

• ‘The Council will encourage the retention of existing community facilities and the provision 
of new facilities, particularly in areas with poor levels of provision and in areas of major 
growth’. 
 

• ‘Development leading to the loss of an existing community facility will not be permitted unless 
it is demonstrated that either: 

 
- The area currently served by it would remain suitably provided following the loss, or, if not; 
- It is no longer viable or feasible to retain the premises in a community facility use’. 

 

  

426



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 22 

4.3.3 Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
 
The latest assessment of Local Housing Need for the Borough equates to 554 new homes per year.  
This would require delivery of an additional 8,085 new dwellings over the next 15 years. The 
location of new housing development in the Local Plan is identified as follows: 
 

Table 8: Location of new housing development in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk (Local Plan - breakdown of 
housing land allocations) 

 

Place New dwellings  % Allocation 
Kings Lynn and surrounds 3,835 62% 

Downham Market 390 6% 

Hunstanton 333 5% 

Wisbech fringe 550 9% 

Key Rural Service Centres 857 14% 

Rural villages 210 3% 

TOTAL 6,175 100% 

 
4.4 Active Norfolk 
 

4.4.1 Introduction 
 

Active Norfolk is the County Sports Partnership, one of a network of 43 Active Partnerships across 
the country. It works with sports clubs and organisations and a range of partners in the public, 
private and voluntary sectors to increase participation in sport and physical activity. Active 
Norfolk’s strategy ‘Getting Norfolk Moving’ covers the period 2021-26.  
 

4.4.2 Vision 
 

‘A Norfolk where being physically active is just ‘what people do’ in their daily life. Where financial 
circumstances, health and ability aren’t a barrier to exercise. Where opportunities are designed 
around individual and community needs and promoted so effectively that everyone knows about 
them and why they should be involved’. 

 
The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to assess the extent to which 
the existing facilities network addresses local needs, particularly those of non-users and propose 
appropriate changes. 

 

4.4.3 Priorities 
 

Physical Health and Mental Well-Being 
 

• Building and strengthening connections between health and social care partners to embed 
physical activity into health system culture. 
 

• Using insight to support population health management approaches. 
 

• Improving health and care professionals’ understanding and use of physical activity to support 
patient outcomes 

427



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 23 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to propose ways to better 
integrate the existing facilities network and the activity programmes it offers with the needs and 
priorities of health and social care and propose appropriate changes if necessary. 
 

Children and Young People  
 

• Improving awareness and understanding of the role that physical activity plays in improving 
outcomes for young people. 
 

• Ensuring physical activity is a normal part of the day for education settings. 
 

• Making physical activity accessible to all young people and families regardless of their 
circumstances. 

 

• Integrating physical activity into health, education and community strategies and services. 
 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address the extent to 
which the existing facilities network addresses the needs of young people and propose appropriate 
changes if necessary. 
 
Active Environments 
 

• Advocating for walking and cycling to be the first choice for short journeys. 
 

• Improving and increasing the use of green and blue spaces and infrastructure for all. 
 

• Increasing physical activity’s prominence in local policy – promoting good design decisions 
that help people to move more. 

 
The strategy will need to address the extent to which the existing environment, both built and 
natural, promotes or inhibits physical activity and propose appropriate changes if necessary. 
 
Strengthening Communities 

 

• Working more closely with communities to develop accessible and appropriate opportunities 
to be active. 
 

• Improving communities’ awareness and understanding of the opportunities available to them 
locally. 

 

• Identifying and using national and local funding to create more relevant activity opportunities. 
 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address the extent to 
which existing sports facilities and the programmes that they deliver provide ‘accessible and 
appropriate opportunities to be active’ and propose appropriate changes if necessary. 
 

  

428



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 24 

4.5 Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

4.5.1 Introduction 
 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires local Health and Wellbeing Boards to be responsible 
for the production of a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for their area. This enables them 
and the community as a whole to understand the health and wellbeing needs of their area. The local 
Health and Wellbeing Boards Strategy is built on the needs identified within the JSNA. The JSNA 
is used to: 
 

• Inform the Health and Wellbeing board and their strategy. 
 

• Provide information from a central resource for commissioners and funding bids. 
 

• Provide demographics and information for various population levels or need profiles. 
 

4.5.2 Norfolk JSNA 
 
Norfolk’s JSNA provides a picture of the health and wellbeing of the people in the county and the 
issues which affect their needs, inequalities and services, aiming to inform and improve their health 
and wellbeing. There are three local health priorities:  
 

• Starting Well - Promoting the social and emotional wellbeing of pre-school children. 
 

• Living Well - Reducing obesity. 
 

• Ageing Well - Making Norfolk a better place to live for people with dementia and their carers.  
 
The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address ways in which 
facilities for sport and physical activity and the programmes that they deliver can address the three 
local health priorities, which a particular emphasis on reducing obesity. 
 

4.5.3 West Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Partnership 
 
The West Norfolk Health and Wellbeing Partnership (HWP) has three priorities at present, mental 
health, weight management and alcohol reduction. All three are benefitted by access to exercise 
and the Partnership is funding 12 projects to deliver improvements in community provision at 
present. The council will be delivering a range of activities. Active Norfolk also sits on the HWP 
and amongst other sub-groups there is a Healthy and Active Lifestyles group. 

 
The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address ways in which 
facilities for sport and physical activity and the programmes that they deliver can address these 
issues, in particular:  

 

• Their role within a Single Sustainable system. 
 

• How they can be involved in the prevention and mitigation of harmful health conditions. 
 

• Ways in which they can be used to tackle inequalities. 
 

429

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/partnerships/health-partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/strategy


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 25 

• How they and their activity programmes can become better integrated with the wider health 
and wellbeing sector. 

 

4.5.4  Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Strategy 
 

The ‘Norfolk and Waveney Integrated Care Strategy’ (2022) builds on the ‘Norfolk Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2018-2020’ setting out priorities, identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, that 
partners will deliver together to improve health and wellbeing outcomes.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Boards for Norfolk and Suffolk have their own strategies aimed at 
highlighting the need for collective responsibility for health and wellbeing. The recent changes 
under the Health Act 2022, has created a new Integrated Care System (ICS) which has formally 
brought together a wide range of organisations and stakeholders to improve services and provide 
more joined-up health and care for residents.  
 
It also created an Integrated Care Partnership which key organisations - including health, care, local 
authority, Healthwatch, and voluntary sector from across Norfolk and Waveney - are part of. This 
partnership has produced an Integrated Care Strategy which is the key document for all ICS 
partners to develop their strategies and plans from and sets out the challenges and opportunities 
we face that can only be addressed by partnership working and joint approaches. As there is a clear 
cross-over between an Integrated Care Strategy and a Health and Wellbeing Strategy, this creates 
an opportunity to work together as a collective ICS around shared high-level health and wellbeing 
priorities. 
 
The strategic vision is working as a single sustainable system that enables us to achieve the 
overarching mission’ to help the people of Norfolk and Waveney to live longer, healthier, and 
happier lives’. Prevention and early intervention are critical to the long- term sustainability of the 
health and wellbeing system - stopping ill health and care needs happening in the first place and 
targeting high risk groups, as well as preventing things from getting worse through systematic 
planning and proactive management. Sport and physical activity has a key role in supporting this 
objective. 
 

4.5.5  NHS Core 20 plus five 
 
‘Core20PLUS5’ is a national NHS England approach to inform action to reduce healthcare 
inequalities at both national and system level. The approach defines a target population - the 20% 
most deprived areas of the country - and additionally identifies five focus clinical areas requiring 
accelerated improvement plus disadvantaged groups in the community identified at local level. 
Sport and physical activity has an important role in addressing these priorities. 

 
4.6 The Government’s Planning Policies 
 
4.6.1 Introduction  
 
In December 2024, the Government published an update to the ‘National Planning Policy Framework’  
setting out its economic, environmental and social planning policies for England. Taken together, 
these policies articulate the Government’s vision of sustainable development, which should be 
interpreted and applied locally to meet local aspirations.  

 
  

430



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 26 

4.6.2 Sustainable development 
 

The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Sustainable development means development that meets the needs of the present 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs’. 
 

4.6.3 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
 

Paragraph 96 of the NPPF states that ‘planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve 
healthy, inclusive and safe places and buildings which:  

 

• Promote social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people who might 
not otherwise come into contact with each other - for example through mixed-use 
developments, strong neighbourhood centres, street layouts that allow for easy pedestrian and 
cycle connections within and between neighbourhoods, and active street frontages. 

 

• Are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 
the quality of life or community cohesion - for example through the use of well-designed, 
clear and legible pedestrian routes, and high-quality public space, which encourage the active 
and continual use of public areas. 
 

• Enable and support healthy lives, through both promoting good health and preventing ill-
health, especially where this would address identified local health and well-being needs and 
reduce health inequalities between the most and least deprived communities - for example 
through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, 
access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling’.  

 

4.6.4 Open space and recreation 
 

Paragraph 103 of the NPPF states that ‘access to a network of high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of 
communities and can deliver wider benefits for nature and support efforts to address climate 
change. Planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the need for 
open space, sport and recreation facilities (including quantitative or qualitative deficits or surpluses) 
and opportunities for new provision. Information gained from the assessments should be used to 
determine what open space, sport and recreational provision is needed, which plans should then 
seek to accommodate’. 
 

4.6.5 Planning Practice Guidance  
 

The Government’s ‘Planning Practice Guidance’ (2022) contains the following of particular relevance: 
 

• Open space, sport and recreation provision: ‘Open space should be taken into account in 
planning for new development and considering proposals that may affect existing open space 
(see National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 96). Open space, which includes all open 
space of public value, can take many forms, from formal sports pitches to open areas within 
a development, linear corridors and country parks. It can provide health and recreation 
benefits to people living and working nearby; have an ecological value and contribute to green 
infrastructure (see National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 171, as well as being an 
important part of the landscape and setting of built development, and an important 
component in the achievement of sustainable development (see National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 7-9)’. 

431

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/8-promoting-healthy-and-safe-communities#para96
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment#green-infrastructure
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/natural-environment#green-infrastructure
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/15-conserving-and-enhancing-the-natural-environment#para171
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/2-achieving-sustainable-development


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 27 

• ‘It is for local planning authorities to assess the need for open space and opportunities for 
new provision in their areas. In carrying out this work, they should have regard to the duty to 
cooperate where open space serves a wider area. See guidance on Local Green Space 
designation, which may form part of the overall open space network within an area’. 

 

• Assessing needs: ‘Local planning authorities are required to consult Sport England in 
certain cases where development affects the use of land as playing fields. Where there is no 
requirement to consult, local planning authorities are advised to consult Sport England in 
cases where development might lead to: 
 

- loss of, or loss of use for sport, of any major sports facility; 
- proposals which lead to the loss of use for sport of a major body of water; 
- creation of a major sports facility; 
- creation of a site for one or more playing pitches; 
- development which creates opportunities for sport (such as the creation of a body of 

water bigger than two hectares following sand and gravel extraction); 
- artificial lighting of a major outdoor sports facility; 
- a residential development of 300 dwellings or more’. 

 

4.7 The Government’s Sports Strategy 
 

4.7.1 Introduction 
 

The Government’s sports strategy ‘Get Active - A Strategy for the Future of Sport and Physical Activity’ 
(2023) contains three main priorities, outlined below. 
 

4.7.2 Driving participation and addressing inactivity 
 

• ‘Ensuring everyone is focused on increasing physical activity, meaning fewer inactive 
children, and narrowing the gap on inactivity where groups are not being reached, with visible 
progress across the country by 2030’. 

 

• ‘Setting the future direction for facilities and spaces where people can be active by delivering 
multi-million pound investment into grassroots facilities and setting a clear strategic ambition 
for the future. This will mean facilities that reflect the needs of local communities, supported 
by hundreds of millions of pounds of government and local authority investment’. 

 

4.7.3 Strengthening the integrity of sport 
 

• ‘Help the sector to be welcoming to all, by promoting women’s and disability sport, 
championing diversity across the sector and holding the sector to account for investing in 
these groups. This will mean groups feel the benefit of public and private investment, that 
we see meaningful progress by 2030 and that cultural issues which put people off sport are 
relentlessly tackled’. 

 

• ‘Improve how issues and concerns are dealt with in the sector, starting by launching a call 
for evidence around sport integrity issues. This will increase confidence in sport so that 
everyone knows that their welfare is at the heart of the sport system, whatever sport they 
play’. 

 

  

432

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/duty-to-cooperate
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/duty-to-cooperate
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#Local-Green-Space-designation
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-planning
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters#Statutory-consultees-on-applications


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 28 

4.7.4 Making sport more sustainable 
 

• ‘Supporting the sector to access additional, alternative forms of investment to help it 
continue to grow and thrive, and by highlighting best practice, good governance mechanisms, 
and opportunities offered by technology and innovation. This will allow sport to thrive for 
future generations and support the continuation of our sporting institutions’. 

 

• ‘Working towards a more environmentally sustainable sector that delivers on the 
government’s net-zero ambitions. We will do this by championing the role that sport can 
play in sustainability, and bringing together government departments, the sport sector and 
subject matter experts to share information and provide support’. 

 

4.8 Sport England Strategy 
 
4.8.1 Vision 
 

Sport England’s strategy ‘Uniting the Movement’ (2021) contains a vision for ‘a nation of more equal, 
inclusive and connected communities. A country where people live happier, healthier and more 
fulfilled lives’.  

 
4.8.2 Context 

 
The strategy concludes that ‘there are deep-rooted inequalities in sport and physical activity, which 
mean there are people who feel excluded from being active because the right options and 
opportunities are not there:  

 

• Disabled people and people with a long-term health condition are twice as likely to be 
physically inactive than those without a disability or health condition.  
 

• People from a lower socioeconomic group (NS-SEC 6-8) are more likely to be inactive than 
people in higher social groups.  

 

• Women are less active than men and this gender gap starts with girls being less active from a 
very young age.  

 

• People from Asian and black backgrounds are far more likely to be physically inactive than 
people who are white’. 

 
4.8.3 Advocating movement, sport and physical activity  
 
Proposed actions include: 
 

• ‘Continue to build, establish and grow partnerships and a common purpose across both the 
government and our sector to join up policies, strategies and approaches’. 
 

• ‘Continue to develop and deliver behavioural change campaigns, building on the success of 
‘This Girl Can’, ‘We Are Undefeatable’ and ‘Join the Movement’, to put movement, sport and 
physical activity at the forefront of national conversations’.  

 

433



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 29 

• ‘Keep building evidence that shows the links between the issues we all care about as a nation 
and the value of movement, sport and physical activity as part of the solution’. 

 

• ‘Grow the extent to which we communicate, both to people and organisations, the power of 
getting active to help strengthen public consensus around the importance of being physically 
active’. 

 

4.8.4 Five key issues 
 
These are identified as: 
 

• Recover and reinvent: ‘Recovering from the biggest crisis in a generation and reinventing as 
a vibrant, relevant and sustainable network of organisations providing sport and physical 
activity opportunities that meet the needs of different people’. 
 

• Connecting communities: Focusing on sport and physical activity’s ability to make better 
places to live and bring people together.  

 

• Positive experiences for children and young people: Unrelenting focus on positive 
experiences for all children and young people as the foundations for a long and healthy life. 

 

• Connection with health and wellbeing: Strengthening the connections between sport, 
physical activity, health and wellbeing, so more people can feel the benefits of, and advocate 
for, an active life.  

 

• Active environments: Creating and protecting the places and spaces that make it easier for 
people to be active.  

 

4.8.5 Active Environments 
 

The key proposals for facilities are contained in the ‘Active Environments’ theme. This identifies 
three types of provision: 
 

• Dedicated sport and physical activity facilities: ‘Dedicated sport and leisure facilities like 
leisure centres need to be co-created, well designed, supported and maintained to benefit the 
local community and their users’. 

 

• Other community spaces: ‘Not usually designed exclusively for exercise, and certainly not 
for specific sports, these places are a vital resource for many and the activity they host 
provides a useful income to the venue. They may never be perfect competition or training 
spaces, but they attract people who might never go to a sports club, leisure centre or private 
gym. The development of community spaces like these is important to people who are 
regularly or newly active’. 

 

• The wider built environment: ‘These places and spaces influence how much we move. 
Good design can help to increase activity levels by encouraging walking and cycling. This 
means connecting dedicated sport and activity facilities and community spaces, by making it 
easy for people to walk and cycle, by better design and by using the built and natural 
environments around us’. 

 

434



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 30 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to address the extent to 
existing sports facilities and the programmes that they deliver address Sport England’s new strategic 
priorities and in particular the emphasis on non-specialist community spaces or informal facilities. 
 

4.9 Activity Alliance Strategy 

 
The Activity Alliance is the leading voice for disabled people in sport and activity. Established in 
1998 as a national charity, they were previously known as the English Federation of Disability 
Sport. ‘We All Belong’ (2024) is the Alliance’s Strategy for 2025 to 2028: 
 

• Vision:: The vision is for ‘a future where all disabled people feel they belong in sports and 
activities’. 

 

• Mission: This is as follows:  
 

- To improve opportunities to be active, empowering disabled people to get involved in 
sports and activities in the way they choose.  
 

- We will work with disabled people and an alliance of committed partners to build a 
movement for change. 

 

• Ambitions: These are as follows:  
 

- Sports and activities meet disabled people’s needs.  
 

- Disabled people influence campaigning, policy and decision making.  
 

- Address inequalities by working with others. 
 
The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy will need to assess the ability of sports 
facilities to accommodate the needs of disabled people and plan the provision of facilities and 
services accordingly.   
 

4.10 The implications for shared strategic outcomes 
 

4.10.1 Policy convergence 
 

The review of strategic influences on sports facilities provision in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
identifies policy convergence on the following issues: 
 

• Active, healthy communities: There is strong policy support for the creation of active, 
healthy communities, including the provision of affordable accessible facilities with 
appropriate activity programmes. 

 

• Active design: Ensuring that the community provision creates opportunities for active travel 
and an attractive range of co-located facilities is embedded in local and wider policies. 

 

• Protect and retain: Local and national planning policy is supportive of protecting and 
retaining sports facilities for which there is an assessed need. 

 

435



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 31 

• Integration with health and social care: Closer links with the health and social care system, 
to ensure that there is better integration between the needs of low participant groups and the 
sport and physical activity opportunities provided is a strong theme. 

 

• Low participant groups: There is universal recognition of which groups have lower 
engagement with sport and physical activity and a shared policy commitment to address this. 

 

4.10.2 Shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the shared policy influences, the shared strategic outcomes that provide the 
underpinning rationale for providing sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as 
follows: 
 

• To promote active, healthy communities in the borough, local stakeholders will support the 
provision of sustainable community sport and leisure facilities and the spaces and 
infrastructure that individuals, clubs, schools and individuals can access and use to take part. 

 

• The network of sports facilities and supporting community infrastructure will be reviewed to 
ensure that the quantity, quality, accessibility and availability is appropriate to the needs of 
existing and prospective users. 

 

• Closer links will be developed with the health and social care system, including the co-location 
of health and sports facilities where feasible and appropriate, to ensure that there is better 
integration between the needs of low participant groups and the sport and physical activity 
opportunities provided. 

436



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 32 

5 SPORTS HALLS 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are two community-accessible sports halls in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, plus seven other facilities without public access. Sport England’s Facilities 
Planning Model calculated a shortfall in sports hall provision in the borough equivalent 
to two 4-badminton court-sized Sports Halls. Additional demand by 2040 will be 1.30 
badminton courts (equivalent to around 0.33 of a sports hall) for the lower population 
projection and 5.80 badminton courts (equivalent to 1.70 sports halls) for the higher 
population projections.  

 

• Quality: The quality of all aspects of all sports halls is rated as ‘standard’ or better. No 
quality issues have any impact upon either capacity or usage levels at present. 

 

• Accessibility: The population in the north of the borough is more than 20-minutes’ 
driving time of a community-accessible sports hall.    

 

• Availability: Seven sports halls in the borough are on education sites where there is no 
current community use. 

 

5.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Sports halls 
are indoor halls with multi-sport markings and minimum dimensions equivalent to three 
badminton courts (27m x 18m x 6.1m). The specific needs of gymnastics are assessed separately 
elsewhere in the Strategy but are included for completeness in the overall evaluation of sports hall 
needs. 
 

5.2 Quantity 
 

5.2.1 Sports halls with community use 
 

The location and dimensions of sports halls with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
are below: 

 

Table 9: Sports halls with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address  Dimensions Built Sub-Area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 2NB 40m x 36m 

 
2002 Kings Lynn 

Downham Market 
Leisure Centre 

Bexwell Road, Downham Market PE38 9LL 37m x 18m 1994 Downham Market 

 
5.2.2 Sports halls without community use 
 
The sports halls without community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as follows. These 
include facilities where community use was discontinued during the covid pandemic and has not 
been re-instated and sites where there is very limited usage such as periodic holiday play schemes: 
 

437



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 33 

Table 10: Sports halls without community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address  Dimensions Built Sub-Area 
Bircham Newton Training 
Centre 

B1155, Bircham Newton PE31 6RH 33m x 18m 1966 Hunstanton 

King Edward VII Academy Gaywood Road. King's Lynn PE30 2QB 34.5m x 20m 1991 Kings Lynn 

Kings Lynn Academy Queen Mary Road, Gaywood, King's 
Lynn PE30 4QG 

33m x 17m 1995 Kings Lynn 

RAF Marham Woodview Road, Marham PE33 9JX 33m x 18m 2007 Downham Market 

St. Clements High School Churchgate Way, Terrington St. Clement 
PE34 4LZ 

27m x 18m 1980 Kings Lynn 

Smithdon High School Downs Road, Hunstanton PE36 5HY 27m x 18m 2006 Hunstanton 

Springwood High School Queensway, King's Lynn PE30 4AW 34.5m x 20m 1960 Kings Lynn 

 

5.2.3 Sub-area analysis 
 

The distribution of sports halls with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
is below: 
 

Table 11: Sports halls with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Sub-area population 2020 No. sports halls Sports halls per capita 
Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 0 - 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 1 1: 67,643 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 1 1: 55,286 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 2 1: 75,623 

 

5.3 Quality 
 

5.3.1 The criteria assessed 
 

The quality of sports halls with community access was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection 
during a site visit to all facilities. The criteria that were evaluated were as follows: 

 

• Playing area: The overall condition, playing surface, clear span roof height, lighting, 
spectator provision, equipment and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• Maintenance and cleanliness: The quality of maintenance and cleanliness standards. 
 

• General access:  Including car parking, signposting, external lighting and proximity to public 
transport. 

 
 
 

438



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 34 

5.3.2 The basis of the ratings 
 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’ (highlighted in green 
below), 4 to ‘good’ (also highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’ (highlighted in yellow below), 
2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’ . The ratings for the sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 12: Sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Playing 
area 

Changing Disability 
Access 

Maintenance General 
access 

Alive Lynnsport 5 5 5 5 5 

Downham Market Leisure Centre 5 4 4 5 4 

 

5.3.3 Condition surveys 
 

Condition surveys of the Council’s leisure centres were undertaken in late 2021. The key findings  
in relation to sports halls were as follows: 

 

• Alive Lynnsport: The main building is in ‘good to fair condition’. The mechanical services 
in the main building are ‘in fair condition but some plant is nearing the end of its useful life. 
The main boiler plant is circa 40 years old and should be considered for complete replacement 
with a greater efficiency heat source such as gas condensing boiler plant’. 
 

• Downham Market Leisure Centre: The building is in ‘a satisfactory state of repair’. 
The exposed areas of metal frame of the sports hall are corroding, these should be inspected 
and redecorated to provide further protection. Mechanical services are in good condition. 

 

5.3.4 Disabled access 
 

The key findings  in relation to sports halls were as follows: 
 

• Alive Lynnsport: Disability access to the sports hall is rated as ‘very good’, with no 
impediments to access or use. 
 

• Downham Market Leisure Centre: Disability access to the sports hall is rated as ‘good’, 
with no significant impediments to access or use. 

 

5.4 Accessibility 
 
Based on Sport England research, the ‘effective catchment’ for sports halls (defined as the 
time/distance travelled and the prevailing mode of transport used by up to 90% of facility users) 
is 20 minutes driving time. The population of most of the Hunstanton sub-area is more than 20-
minutes’ drive time of a community accessible sports hall. 

 

439



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 35 

 

440



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 36 

5.5 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the opening hours, usage arrangements, pricing, booking arrangements, 
secured access via a formal Community Use Agreement and used capacity in the peak periods.  
 

Table 13: Sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Availability 
 

Facility Opening hours and basis 
of use 

Pricing and booking arrangements Peak period 
usage levels 

Secured 
access 

Alive 
Lynnsport 

Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 
Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm  
Casual use/block bookings 

Whole hall £51 per hour.  
Badminton court (adults) £13.75 per 
hour for non-members, £10.75 for 
members and £7.75 concessions 
Bookings in person, on-line or by phone. 

74% Yes 

Downham 
Market 
Leisure 
Centre 

Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat 8.30am - 5pm 
Sun 8am - 6.30pm  
Casual use/block bookings 

Whole hall £51 per hour.  
Badminton court (adults) £13.75 per 
hour for non-members, £10.75 for 
members and £7.75 concessions 
Bookings in person, on-line or by phone. 

100% Yes 

 
5.6 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Only two of the sports halls in the borough have community access, with seven halls on 
education sites having very limited or no external use. 
 

• The quality of sports halls in the borough is generally good. There are no issues with regard 
to disabled access. 

 

• Accessibility of sports halls is variable, with the entire population within 20 minutes driving 
time of a sports hall. 

 

• Pricing is relatively consistent between the local sports halls. 
 

• Sport England recognises a measure of ‘comfortable capacity’, where a sports hall is regarded 
as effectively fully utilised when peak usage levels reach 80%. This reflects the fact that 
changeover periods between bookings, particularly those that involve removing and/or 
installing equipment, will reduce the usage time available. Both the currently available sports 
halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are used at close to or above ‘comfortable capacity’. 

 

5.7 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no significant changes in sports hall supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
with no gains or losses of provision. No progress has been made in securing access to school sports 
halls. 

  

441



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 37 

5.8 Current demand for sports halls 
 

5.7.1  Expressed demand 
 
Actual expressed community use demand for sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is as 
follows: 
 

Table 14: Sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Peak utilisation rates 
 

Facility  Peak hours 
available 

Peak hours 
utilised 

% Peak 
utilisation 

Alive Lynnsport 46 34 74% 

Downham Market Leisure Centre 45.5 45.5 100% 

TOTALS 91.5 79.5 86.9% 

 

5.7.2 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to users of sports halls from within the study area which takes place 
outside of the area. The following sports halls with community accessibility are located in adjacent 
local authority areas, close enough to the borough boundary to provide potential usage 
opportunities for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 
 

Table 15: Proximity of sports halls in neighbouring areas 
 

 Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Fakenham Sports Centre • Trap Lane, Fakenham NR21 9HL 4 miles 

Hudson Leisure Centre • Harecroft Road, Wisbech PE13 1RL 1 mile 

Thomas Clarkson Academy Corporation Road, Wisbech PE13 2SE 1 mile 

Wisbech Grammar School North Brink, Wisbech PE13 1JX 1 mile 

 

5.7.3 Unmet demand 
 

There is some evidence of unmet demand for sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk at 
present. Peak time usage is above comfortable capacity at both community accessible sites. 
 

5.7.4  Facilities Planning Model assessment 
 

In 2021, KL&WNBC commissioned a run of Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model (FPM) to 
assess sports hall needs in the borough. The FPM is a computer model that compares the supply 
of facilities with demand, to calculate shortfalls. The findings of the FPM ‘run’ for sports halls in 
2020 in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk were as follows:     
 

• Supply-demand balance: The FPM calculates that the supply of sports halls in the peak 
period in the borough is equivalent to 32 badminton courts, whilst demand is for 40.5 
badminton courts. This suggests a deficit of 8.5 badminton courts (equivalent to 2.13 four-
badminton court-sized sports halls).  
 

442



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 38 

• Used peak capacity: Average peak utilisation rates for sports halls in the borough are 71.3%, 
which is below Sport England’s ‘comfortable capacity’ figure of 80%. This suggests that there 
is some spare capacity to accommodate additional demand.  

 

• Satisfied demand: The FPM supports this conclusion, calculating that 74.7% of demand for 
sports halls in the borough is met by current provision.  

 

• Displaced demand: The FPM calculates that 17.0% of all sports hall demand in the borough 
is exported to facilities in neighbouring areas, principally sports halls in Wisbech. 

 

• Location of unmet demand: The main focus for unmet demand is in the Hunstanton sub-
area, where the only sports hall at Smithdon High School has no community use. 

 

5.9 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

The table below summarises strategic assessments of sports hall needs in neighbouring areas. 
 

Table 16: Assessments of sports hall needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk 

East Cambs 
District 
Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, Strategy 
and Action Plan’ (2015) states that ‘the overall supply of sports 
halls is sufficient to meet demand in 2014 and up to 2026’. 

There are no facilities close 
enough to serve demand from 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

Fenland 
District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 2031’ 
(2016) identifies ‘a current under-supply of sports hall space 
within the local authority area (8.45 courts), and a future 
demand for an additional 5.29 courts’. 

There is no spare capacity at the 
Wisbech sports halls to meet 
demand from Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk. 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ (2018) 
identifies that ‘there is a current shortfall equivalent to 2.9 
badminton courts (0.73 of a four-badminton court sports hall). 
Additional demand by 2040 will be equivalent to an extra 3.4 
badminton courts (0.85 of a four-badminton court sports hall). 

There are no facilities close 
enough to serve demand from 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

North 
Norfolk 
District 
Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) 
identified that ‘there are insufficient sports halls to meet all the 
needs of the community. Demand exceeds supply by 7 
badminton courts’.  

There is no spare capacity at 
the Fakenham sports hall to 
meet demand from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 

Breckland 
District 
Council 

The Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and 
Recreation Facilities’ (2017) identified that ‘unmet demand in 2016 
equates to just over 6 badminton courts and is unchanged in 
2031’.  

There are no facilities close 
enough to serve demand from 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

West 
Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) concludes that 
‘spare capacity at existing sports halls can accommodate some 
projected demand to 2040. Peak capacity issues in the 
Newmarket sub-area would be addressed by providing an 
additional two-badminton court sports hall. 

There are no facilities close 
enough to serve demand from 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 
  

443



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 39 

5.10 Sport-specific priorities 
 

Analysis of sport-specific strategies and consultation with the governing bodies of sport produced 
a range of priorities in relation to local sports hall provision: 
 

Table 17: Governing bodies of sport: Sports hall needs 
 

Sport Facilities priorities Local implications  
Badminton Badminton England’s ‘Badminton - A Sport for Everyone 2023 - 2033’ (2023) 

includes a ‘Places’ theme relating to facilities provision, which aims to:  

• Lobby to protect and open up facilities. 

• Develop a network of dedicated badminton facilities. 

• Expand the school facilities lettings model. 

• Open community centres, village halls and other non-traditional venues 
for play. 

• Drive a digital bookings transformation. 

• Build partnerships with community providers. 

The school facilities 
lettings model could 
provide some 
opportunities to 
access facilities with 
no community use 
at present. 

Basketball Basketball England’s ‘Growing Basketball Together 2018 - 2024’ (2018) 
contains a facilities objectives to ‘develop, support and sustain a high-
quality infrastructure network that inspires the next generation and meets 
the needs and demands of the game for the future’. 

• ‘Enhance the playing experience through an appropriate network of 
innovative and inspirational facilities and playing environments that not 
only meet the needs and demands of the game but inspire growth within 
the sport’. 

• ‘Pilot new and alternative pricing and booking models for indoor 
facilities to improve access and affordability for clubs and individuals 
supporting both formal and informal play’. 

Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk is not 
identified as a 
priority area. 

Gymnastics 
and 
Trampolining 

British Gymnastics’ ‘Facility Strategy 2017 - 2021’ (2017) identifies a range 
of gymnastics facilities options: 

• Standalone dedicated facilities - Achievable for most clubs. Can 
provide for participation and competition. 

• Multi-venue dedicated facilities - For large club-based organisations 
looking to further expand opportunities. 

• Dedicated facility as part of a multi-sport venue - Most likely to be 
local authority-based projects.  

• Non-dedicated space as part of leisure centre - Ideal for club 
delivery and mass participation activities.  

• Satellite venues - Opportunities for clubs to scale up their programmes 
and increase activity options.  

• Non-dedicated spaces in leisure centres - Ideal for introductory level, 
mass participation programmes. 

All of the options 
within the facilities 
hierarchy are relevant 
to gymnastics 
delivery in Kings 
Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 

Judo British Judo’s ‘Strategic Plan 2017 - 2021’ (2017) has an objective to increase 
participation to 50,000 members by 2021. There are no facilities objectives. 

No specific 
implications. 

  

444



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 40 

Sport Facilities priorities Local implications 

Netball England Netball’s ‘Adventure Strategy 2021 - 2031’ (2021) contains the 
following relevant material: A Game for Life: This ‘destination’ has the 
following targets: 

• A 50% increase in the number of women playing netball across all life 
stages. 

• A year-on-year increase in the diversity of the netball playing population, 
with an ambition to reflect the diversity of the nation. 

• A countrywide accessible offer for men and boys. 

• 90% of all schools delivering a quality netball experience. 

• A clear and connected offer of choice for every community, with world 
class experiences in clubs and leagues at the heart of community 
netball. 

• A place to play within easy travel of every household. 

Netball is a well-
developed sport in 
Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk and is 
seeking additional 
indoor and outdoor 
court space. 

Table tennis Table Tennis England’s ‘Facilities Strategy 2015 - 2025’ (2015) identifies that 
table tennis takes place in a variety of settings: 

• Formal club-led environments - Consisting of dedicated table tennis 
facilities (equipped for and predominantly used by table tennis), school 
halls, community halls, church halls, multisport clubs and leisure centres.  

• Informal social environments - Including bars, workplaces, parks, 
sport-specific clubs and community spaces. 

To support sustainable clubs, the priorities are:  

• Establish a minimum of one accessible, high quality dedicated multi-
table facility in every active county. 

• Support current clubs to ensure long-term security of use of their 
facilities and to develop facilities or access multisport and multi-use 
environments.  

To support the social recreational game, the priorities are:  

• Support the implementation of free-to-use outdoor tables, prioritising 
centres of population.  

• Establish a network of social table tennis venues offering vibrant 
informal environments for all. 

Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk is not 
identified as a 
priority area. 

Volleyball Volleyball England’s ‘Facilities Strategy’ (2009) is the most recent assessment 
of needs. The strategy identifies that a court size of 18m x 9m x 7.5m is 
required for National League standard play and below. It also states that 
‘the minimum width of standard sports halls should be raised to 20m from 
the current 18m, to allow two practice courts in a single hall’.  

Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk is not 
identified as a 
priority area. 

 

5.11 Governing body of sport consultations 
 

5.11.1 Badminton England 
 

Consultation with Badminton England’s Relationship Manager identified the following issues: 
 

• Overview: ‘Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is a key area for us with regards to badminton 
provision as following a very successful Community Badminton Network being set up there 
badminton activity is high. In addition we are having problems with facilities due to high hire 
prices (Lynnsport) and some of our clubs having not been able to resume post Covid. There 
is good badminton engagement in both primary and secondary schools’. 

445



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 41 

• Current shortfall: ‘There is a current calculated shortfall in sports halls supply of 1.7 
badminton courts to meet existing badminton needs in the borough’. 

 

• Future shortfall: ‘There is a future projected calculated shortfall in sports halls supply of 1.8 
badminton courts to meet badminton needs in the borough in 2030’. 

 

5.11.2 British Gymnastics 
 
Consultation with British Gymnastics’ Business Support Officer (Facilities) identified that: 
 

• British Gymnastics is in the process of developing a new organisation strategy and vision in 
2023. Ensuring Gymnastics is enjoyable, safe and open to everyone will be at the core of this 
strategy. 
 

• A key part of British Gymnastics’ strategy to increase participation is to support clubs moving 
into their own dedicated facility, offering more time and space for classes. The target by 2021 
was for half of all clubs to have their own dedicated facilities, compared with one-third in 
2014. 

 

• The main issue for gymnastics development is having access to sufficient dedicated (non-
sports hall) space to enable clubs to grow and extend their programmes. The sport is 
experiencing challenges with the availability of a qualified coach workforce which is creating 
a barrier to development. Work on this will align to its strategic priorities and it welcomes 
collaborative working to address the issue. 

 

5.11.3 British Judo 
 
Consultation with British Judo’s Club Support Officer identified that there is one club in the 
borough, Happidojo Marham Judo Club, which is based at the Sandringham Centre in Marham. 
The club is keen to develop a permanent dojo in the area and has been actively seeking a venue 
for this for some time. 
 

5.11.4 Table Tennis England 
 
Consultation with Table Tennis England identified that there are two clubs in the borough, 
Heacham Table Tennis Club (based at Heacham Social Club) and Great Dunham Table Tennis 
Club (based at Great Dunham Village Hall). The collective membership is 108 and neither club 
uses sports halls in the borough. 
 

5.12 Future demand for sports halls  
 

5.12.1 Population growth 
 
Two scenarios are considered: 

 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

446



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 42 

5.12.2 Participation rates 
 
One factor in considering future sports participation rates is to track historical trends, as a guide to 
possible future developments. The most recent covid-affected figures have been excluded as 
anomalous. 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey records adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for each sport at national level. The results for those sports that use sports 
halls are tabulated below. Badminton, Table Tennis and Tennis have also experienced 
statistically significant decreases, whilst only martial arts has achieved a statistically significant 
increase: 

 
Table 18: ‘Active Lives’ survey: National participation rates for individual sports 2015-2023 

 

Sport 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
Badminton 2.1% 2.0% 1.9% 1.7% 1.2% 0.8% 1.6% 1.6% -0.5% 

Basketball 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.6% 0.5% 0.5% 0.6% 0.7% 0.0% 

Gymnastics 0.6% 0.7% 0.6% 0.5% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.5% -0.1% 

Judo 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 

Martial Arts 0.4% 0.5% 0.6% 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.5% 0.6% +0.2% 

Netball 0.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.7% 0.4% 0.3% 0.6% 0.6% -0.1% 

Table Tennis 1.0% 1.0% 0.9% 1.0% 0.6% 0.5% 0.8% 0.8% -0.2% 

Tennis  2.1% 1.9% 1.7% 1.6% 1.5% 1.4% 2.0% 1.9% -0.2% 

Volleyball 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 

 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 19: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Sports participation rates for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015-2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 
5.12.3 Future projections 
 
Sport England has developed the Sport Facility Calculator (SFC), to help to quantify how much 
additional demand for key community facilities like sports halls, will be generated by population 
increases. The SFC uses Sport England survey data on who uses facilities and applies this to the 
population profile of the local area. This builds up a profile of usage, which can be then applied to 
estimate how much demand any given population would generate. This demand is then converted 
into the quantity of facilities needed and expressed as badminton courts to define sports hall needs.  
For the purposes of projecting future demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk current 
participation rates have been assumed since there have been no statistically significant increases 
since 2015, either locally in the borough or collectively for the sports that use sports halls. Two 
population scenarios are considered: 

 
 

447



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 43 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). Based upon this, the SFC calculates demand for an 
additional 1.30 badminton courts, which is equivalent to 0.33 four-badminton court sized 
sports halls with full community access. 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. Based upon this, the SFC calculates demand for an additional 
6.80 badminton courts, which is equivalent to 1.70 four-badminton court sized sports halls 
with full community access. 

 

5.13 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There is limited spare capacity in sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk at present, 
with average peak utilisation rates well above the 80% ‘comfortable capacity’ figure.  
 

• Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model calculated the existing shortfall in sports hall 
provision in the borough equivalent to two 4-badminton court-sized Sports Halls. 

 

• Sport England’s Sport Facility Calculator projects future demand for  an additional 1.30 
badminton courts by 2040, equivalent to 0.33 four-badminton court sports halls based on 
the lower population projection and 6.80 badminton courts, equivalent to 1.70 four-
badminton court-sized sports halls based on the higher population projection. 

 

5.14 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no significant changes in sports hall demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, 
although local rates of sport and physical activity continue to rise after the covid pandemic, overall 
levels are still significantly below the levels in 2015. 
 

5.15 The balance between sports hall supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between sports hall supply and demand in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

  

448



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 44 

5.16 Quantity 
 

5.15.1 Current needs 
 

Current sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed collectively to be operating at 
just within ‘comfortable capacity’, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used peak capacity: Average peak utilisation rates for sports halls in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk are 86.9%, well above Sport England’s ‘comfortable capacity’ figure of 80%. 
 

• Supply-demand balance: Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model calculated a shortfall 
in sports hall provision in the borough equivalent to two 4-badminton court-sized Sports 
Halls. 
 

• Displaced demand: The FPM calculates that 17.0% of all sports hall demand in the borough 
is exported to facilities in neighbouring areas, principally sports halls in Wisbech. 

 

• Location of unmet demand: The main focus for unmet demand is the Hunstanton sub-area. 
 

5.15.2 Future needs 
 

The quantity of sports halls required to meet future needs has been assessed as follows: 
 

• Population increases: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 
by 2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, 
an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

• Participation trends: Based on national and local sports participation trends, for the 
purposes of forecasting future demand the likeliest scenario is for participation rates to 
remain at their current levels.  

 

• Additional needs:  
 

- Based upon a population increase of 4.750 people in the district by 2040 and sports 
participation rates remaining at current levels, Sport England’s Sport Facility Calculator 
projects demand for an additional 1.30 badminton courts, which is equivalent to 0.33 
four-badminton court sized sports halls with full community access. This can be 
accommodated by securing community access to school sports halls. 
 

- Based upon a population increase of 25,000 people in the district by 2040 and sports 
participation rates remaining at current levels, Sport England’s Sport Facility Calculator 
projects demand for an additional 6.80 badminton courts (equivalent to 1.70 four-
badminton court sized sports halls with full community access). This could be met by 
providing one additional four-badminton court sized sports hall. 

 

  

449



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 45 

5.17 Quality 
 

5.16.1 Current quality 
 

There are no critical quality issues relating to sports halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, although 
the position should be kept under review. 
 

5.16.2 Future quality 
 
By 2040, all of the sports halls in the borough will be in need of refurbishment.  
 
 

5.18 Accessibility 
 

5.17.1 Current accessibility 
 

Northern parts of the borough are more than 20 minutes driving time of a sports hall. 
 

5.17.2 Future accessibility 
 

To ensure that there is adequate accessibility to sports halls in the future, an appropriate level of 
developer contributions will be required to upgrade existing facilities and/or to provide new ones, 
appropriately located in relation to the new population. 
 

5.19 Availability 
 

5.18.1 Current availability 
 

Seven of the sports halls in the borough do not have any community access. 
 

5.18.2 Future availability 
 

Addressing the current availability issues in the future will either involve providing sports halls on 
non-education sites, with appropriate management arrangements, or looking at innovative 
solutions to facilitate community access to school sports halls. 
 

5.20 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which sports halls provision in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk contribute to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Sports halls are flexible indoor facilities that can accommodate a range of sports and physical 
activities that are likely to appeal to existing and potential participants. 
 

• The high utilisation rates at existing sports halls preclude the introduction of opportunities 
to accommodate additional need and demand from current non-participants. 

 

• The lack of access to school sports halls does not make best use of available facility resources 
to deliver wider programmes of community activity. 

 

• There is a geographical accessibility shortfall in sports hall availability in the north of the 
borough, which limits opportunities for residents and visitors in the Hunstanton sub-area. 

 

450



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 46 

5.21 The options for securing additional sports hall capacity 
 

The options for securing existing and additional sports hall capacity to meet current and future 
needs are as follows: 
 

5.19.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of sports halls will be key both to securing 
local provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention of existing sports halls for 
which existing and/or future demand has been identified, including any without current community 
access, unless the loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the 
equivalent size, quality and accessibility. 

5.19.2 Provide 
 

Ensuring that extra sports hall capacity is achieved by providing a new facility.  
 

5.19.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing sports hall capacity by: 
 

• Encouraging schools without existing community use to make their facilities available to 
external users. 

 

• Supporting schools to improve their management of community use arrangements, to 
improve community access to sports halls. 

 

• Securing formal Community Use Agreements at existing and proposed future facilities on 
school sites, to enhance community accessibility. 
 

5.22 Action Plan 
 

The table below set out the action plan for sports halls to guide the implementation of the strategy. 
All actions are generic, rather than facility specific. The implementation of proposals will be subject 
to resource availability (and in some instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding 
and in terms of the staffing necessary to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 20: Key strategic action plan for sports halls 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing sports halls 

Consider including a policy in the Local 
Plan to protect all existing sports halls. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Community access 
to sports halls 

Pursue formal Community Use 
agreements at all existing and any future 
proposed sports halls on education sites. 

KL&WNBC Academies 
and schools 

- High 

Funding for future 
sports hall needs 

Ensure that provision is made to secure 
developer contributions towards new and 
improved facilities. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Need for an 
additional 1.70 
sports halls by 2040 

Identify potential sites in the Hunstanton 
sub-area 

KL&WNBC - -  High 

 
  

451



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 47 

6 SWIMMING POOLS 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are five community accessible swimming pools at three sites in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk, collectively providing 959.5sq.m of water space. Two of the key 
pools in the borough (in Kings Lynn and Downham Market) are currently used to well 
above the ‘comfortable capacity’ figure, although the average figure for all sites in the 
borough is 60%. There is projected demand for an additional 54.26sq.m of water space 
by 2040, equivalent to 0.94 lanes or 0.24 of a 25m pool based on the lower population 
projection and an additional 263.43sq.m of water space, equivalent to 4.94 lanes or 1.23 
of a 25m pool based on the higher population projection. 
 

• Quality: All aspects of the quality of most facilities is ‘average’ or better, although the 
pools in Kings Lynn and Hunstanton are both ageing and in urgent need of 
refurbishment or replacement. 

 

• Accessibility: Most of the population of the borough is within 20 minutes’ drive of the 
nearest pool.  

 

• Availability: Three sites are available for casual swimming on a non-membership basis. 

 
6.1 Introduction 

 
This section examines the provision of swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
Swimming pools are defined as indoor facilities with minimum pool length of 20 metres, although 
smaller teaching and diving pools are included in the assessment where they are integral to a facility 
with a main pool. 

 
6.2 Quantity 
 

6.2.1 Indoor swimming pools with community use 
 
The swimming pools with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as follows: 

 
Table 21: Swimming pools with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Facility  Address Dimensions Year built Sub-area 
Downham Market 
Leisure Centre 

Bexwell Road, Downham Market 
PE38 9LL 

25m x 10.5m 2003 Downham Market 

Oasis Leisure Centre Seagate Road, Hunstanton PE36 5BD 25m x 10m 
6m x 3m 

1984 Hunstanton 

St. James Swimming 
and Fitness Centre 

Blackfriars Street, King's Lynn PE30 
1NN 

25m x 13m 
13m x 8m 

1974 Kings Lynn 

 

6.2.2 Smaller indoor swimming pools with community use 
 

The smaller swimming pools with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as follows: 
 
 

452



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 48 

 

Table 22: Small swimming pools with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility  Address Dimensions Year built Sub-area 
Energise Pentney 
Fitness and Spa 

Low Road, Pentney PE32 1JF 15m x 5m 2008 Kings Lynn 

Imagine Health Spa Grimston Road, Kings Lynn PE30 3HQ 17.5m x 5m 1989 Kings Lynn 

Searle’s Leisure Resort South Beach Road, Hunstanton PE36 
5BB 

13m x 10m 2008 Hunstanton 

 

6.2.3 Sub-area analysis 
 

The distribution of full-sized swimming pools with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk is as follows: 
 

Table 23: Swimming pools with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Sub-area 
population 2020 

No. pool 
sites 

Pools per 
capita 

Pool space per 
1,000 people 

Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 1 1: 28,316 9.46sq.m 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 1 1: 67,643 6.34sq.m 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 1 1: 55,286 4.78sq.m 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 3 1: 50,425 6.34sq.m 
 

6.3 Quality 
 

6.3.1 The criteria assessed 
 

The quality of swimming pools was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site visit 
to all facilities. The criteria that were evaluated were as follows: 

 

• Pool area(s): The overall condition, lighting, aquatic activities provided for, temperature, 
spectator provision and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Changing facilities: Capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: Provision for disabled access throughout the facility. 
 

• Maintenance and cleanliness: The quality of maintenance and cleanliness standards. 
 

• General access: Car parking, lighting, signposting and proximity to public transport. 

 
6.3.2 The basis of the ratings 

 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’ (highlighted in green 
below), 4 to ‘good’ (also highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’ (highlighted in yellow below), 
2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’.  
 
 
 
 
 

453



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 49 

 

Table 24: Swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Pool 
area 

Changing Disability 
Access 

Maintenance General 
access 

Downham Market Leisure Centre 5 5 4 5 4 

Oasis Leisure Centre 4 5 5 5 4 

St. James Swimming and Fitness Centre 4 3 3 5 5 

 

6.3.3 Condition surveys 
 

Condition surveys of the pools were undertaken in late 2021. The key findings  in relation to 
swimming pools were as follows: 

 

• Oasis Sports and Leisure Centre: ‘Generally the facility is in fair condition. Some areas 
would benefit from internal redecoration and replacement flooring in due course. The 
condition of the pool enclosure from ground level indicates that it is starting to weather. In 
the medium to long-term the replacement of this structure will be required. Mechanical 
services are in reasonable condition but would benefit from some improvement’. 
 

• Downham Market Leisure Centre: The building is in ‘a satisfactory state of repair. 
Within the swimming pool plant room a water tank has been leaking for a number of years. 
The underside of the concrete slab shows signs of staining and the steel frame is corroding. 
been leaking for a number of years. Mechanical services are in good condition’. 

 

• St. James’s Pool: ‘The building is in good to fair condition internally, although some areas 
would benefit from internal redecoration and replacement flooring in the medium term. 
Further investigations should be carried out by a structural engineer to the floor of the pool 
tank. Various areas of repair and treatment are required to the reinforced concrete pool basins 
and services areas within the service corridor/boiler room. The mechanical services plant is 
in good condition and has benefitted from energy saving improvements such as the combined 
heat and power unit’.   

 

6.3.4 Disabled access 
 

The key findings  in relation to swimming pools were as follows: 
 

• Downham Market Leisure Centre: Disability access to the pool is rated as ‘good’, with no 
significant impediments to access or use. 
 

• Oasis Leisure Centre: Disability access to the pool is rated as ‘good’, with no significant 
impediments to access or use. 

 

• St. James’s Pool: Disability access to the sports hall is rated as ‘standard’, although there is 
no pool hoist. 

 
 
 

454



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 50 

6.4 Accessibility 
 
Based on Sport England research, the ‘effective catchment’ for indoor swimming pools (the 
time/distance travelled by up to 90% of facility users and the prevailing mode of transport used) 
is 20 minutes’ drive time. Most of the population is within 20-minutes’ drive time of a pool. 

 

455



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 51 

6.5 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the opening hours, usage arrangements, pricing and used capacity in the 
peak periods.  
 

Table 25: Swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Availability 
 

Facility Opening hours and basis of 
use 

Pricing  Peak 
usage  

Secured 
access 

Downham 
Market Leisure 
Centre 

Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat 8.30am - 5pm 
Sun 9am - 6.30pm 
Casual use/clubs/schools/ 
swimming lessons 

Adult ‘pay-and-play’ £5.35 
Junior ‘pay-and-play’ £3.30 
Family ticket £13.30 

98% Yes 

Oasis Leisure 
Centre 

Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat-Sun 7.30am - 6pm 
Casual use/clubs/schools/ 
swimming lessons 

Adult ‘pay-and-play’ £6.40 
Junior ‘pay-and-play’ £4.95 
Family ticket £16.75 

42% Yes 

St. James 
Swimming and 
Fitness Centre 

Mon-Fri 6am - 9pm 
Sat 7am - 5pm 
Sun 8am - 7pm  
Casual use/clubs/schools/ 
swimming lessons 

Adult ‘pay-and-play’ £5.35 
Junior ‘pay-and-play’ £3.30 
Family ticket £13.30 

100% Yes 

 

6.6 Key findings on supply 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are three community accessible facilities with swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, all of which have secured community use. 
 

• The pools in Kings Lynn and Hunstanton are ageing and need refurbishment or replacement. 
 

• Most of population of the borough is within 20-minutes' drive time of a pool.    
 

• Sport England recognises a measure of ‘comfortable capacity’, where a swimming pool is 
regarded as effectively fully utilised when peak usage levels reach 70%. Two of the pools in 
the borough are currently used to well above ‘comfortable capacity’ and the average is 80%. 

 

6.7 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been a number of significant changes in swimming pool supply since 2023: 
 

• The pool at Glebe House School in Hunstanton, which had some restricted community use, 
is no longer available for external users. 
 

• Funding has been obtained for a new 25m pool in Fakenham, whose 20 minute drivetime 
catchment will include the north-eastern part of Kings Lynn as West Norfolk.  

 

456



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 52 

• There are active proposals to replace the pools in Kings Lynn and Hunstanton. The council 
is currently giving detailed consideration to the size and location of replacement facilities via 
consultations with the West Norfolk Swimming Club, Swim England and other stakeholders. 

 

6.8 Current demand for swimming pools 
 

6.8.1  Expressed demand 
 

Expressed demand for swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is as follows: 
 

Table 26: Swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Utilisation rates 
 

Facility  % Peak utilisation 
Downham Market Leisure Centre 98% 

Oasis Leisure Centre 42% 

St. James Swimming and Fitness Centre 100% 

 

6.8.2 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to swimming from within the study area which takes place outside of 
the area. The following community-accessible pool in neighbouring areas is close enough to the 
borough boundary to provide usage opportunities for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. In 

addition, a new 25m pool is planned for Fakenham and funding has been secured. 
 

Table 27: Proximity of swimming pools in neighbouring areas 
 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk  

Hudson Leisure Centre Harecroft Road, Wisbech PE13 1RL 1 mile 

 

6.8.3 Unmet demand 
 

Swim England has adopted a national standard of 12m2 of pool space per 1,000 population as a 
broad measure of demand for swimming pools.  Based on this standard, the borough’s population 
of 154,300 requires a pool area of 1,852 m2 of water space.  This compares with current provision 
of 959.5 m2 leading to a what Swim England terms a deprivation of 892.5m2.  
 

6.9 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

The table below summarises strategic assessments of swimming pool needs in neighbouring areas. 
 

Table 28: Assessments of swimming pool needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk 

East 
Cambs 
District 
Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, Strategy 
and Action Plan’ (2015) states that ‘demand for swimming pools 
exceeds supply and the unmet demand is 277sq.m (4.5 lane 25 
metre) of water in 2014 and 397sq.m (6 lane 25 metre) of water 
by 2026’. 

There is no spare capacity to 
serve demand from Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 

  

457



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 53 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk 

Fenland 
District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 2031’ 
(2016) identifies that the ‘current under-supply of water space 
equates to 1.2 lanes of a 25m pool. Future demand to 2031 based 
on population growth equates to 3.42 lanes of a 25m pool’. 

There is no spare capacity at the 
Wisbech swimming pools to 
meet demand from Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ (2018) 
identifies that existing pools ‘are assessed to be at operating at 
over ‘comfortable capacity. An additional 130sq.m of pool space 
will be required by 2040’. 

There are no facilities close 
enough to serve demand from 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

North 
Norfolk 
District 
Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) identified 
that ‘North Norfolk has a good level of swimming pool 
provision. However, the provision is skewed in terms of its 
distribution within the district, with no pool in Fakenham’.  

A new 25m pool is planned for 
Fakenham and funding has been 
secured. This may meet some 
demand from Hunstanton. 

Breckland 
District 
Council 

The Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and Recreation 
Facilities’ (2017) identified that ‘unmet demand for pools in 
Swaffham equates 130 sq.m of water in 2016 and increasing to 
145 sq.m of water in 2031’.  

Swimming demand from the 
Swaffham area is likely to be 
exported to facilities in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 

West 
Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) concludes that 
‘spare capacity at existing pools can accommodate all projected 
demand to 2040, subject to the reprovision of facilities from the 
Bury St. Edmunds Leisure Centre. 

There are no facilities close 
enough to serve demand from 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 
6.10 Sport-specific priorities 
 

Table 29: Sports-specific priorities for swimming 
 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Swim England’s ‘Towards a Nation Swimming: A Strategic Plan for Swimming in 
England 2017 - 2021’ (2017) includes a commitment to ‘working with providers 
to create a swimming environment that is more inclusive and exceeds the 
expectations of swimmers’. 

No specific local facilities 
priorities in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 

 

Consultation with Swim England’s Facilities Officer in 2023 identified the following issues: 
 

• ‘There appears to be unmet demand across the central part of the borough, including King’s 
Lynn itself’. 
 

• ‘There are three local authority owned facilities, Oasis LC, Downham LC and St James Leisure 
and Fitness Centre’. 

 

• ‘All the local authority owned pools are at an age where replacement could be likely to ensure 
long term sustainability’. 

 

• ‘We are unaware of any significant investment into aquatic facilities in recent years’. 
 

• ‘Swim England is of the opinion that future development and investment is needed to provide 
accessible water space for the community’. 

 

458



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 54 

• ‘We would advise that with a number of facilities having reached 25yrs+, a site condition 
survey should be completed to assess potential refurbishment works’. 

  

6.11 Future demand for swimming pools  
 

6.11.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

6.11.2 Participation rates 
 

One factor in considering future sports participation rates is to track historical trends, as a guide to 
possible future developments. The most recent covid-affected figures have been excluded as 
anomalous. 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for swimming at national level since 2015: 

 

Table 30: ‘Active Lives’ Survey: National swimming participation rates 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
11.0% 10.2% 10.5% 9.3% 5.2% 4.4% 8.2% 9.0% -2.0% 

 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 31: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Sports participation rates for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015-2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 

6.11.3 Future projections 
 

Sport England has developed the Sport Facility Calculator (SFC), to help to quantify how much 
additional demand for key community facilities like swimming pools, will be generated by 
population increases. The SFC uses Sport England survey data on who uses facilities and applies 
this to the population profile of the local area. This builds up a profile of usage, which can be then 
applied to estimate how much demand any given population would generate. For the purposes of 
projecting future demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk current participation rates have been 
assumed since there have been no statistically significant increases since 2015, either locally in the 
borough or for swimming. Two population scenarios are considered: 

 

459



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 55 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). Based upon this, the SFC calculates demand for an 
additional 54.26sq.m of water space, which is equivalent to 0.94 of a 25m pool lane or 0.24 
of a four-lane 25m pool with full community access. 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. Based upon this, the SFC calculates demand for an additional 
263.43sq.m of water space, which is equivalent to 4.94 25m pool lanes or 1.23 four-lane 25m 
pools with full community access. 

 

6.12 Key findings on demand 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Two of the three pools in the borough (in Kings Lynn and Downham Market) are currently 
used to well above the ‘comfortable capacity’ figure. 

 

• Sport England’s Sport Facility Calculator projects future demand for an additional 52.26sq.m 
of water space, which is equivalent to 0.94 of a 25m pool lane or 0.24 of a four-lane 25m 
pool based on the lower population projection and 264.43sq.m of water space, which is 
equivalent to 4.94 25m pool lanes or 1.23 four-lane 25m pools based on the higher 
population projection. 

 

6.13 Changes since 2023 
 
The key changes are as follows: 
 

• There have been no significant changes in swimming pool demand in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, although local rates of sport and physical activity and national rates of swimming 
participation continue to rise after the covid pandemic, overall levels are still significantly 
below the levels in 2015. 

 

• The Borough Council has commissioned ‘runs’ of Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model 
to assess the implications of replacing the existing pools in Hunstanton and Kings Lynn with 
new facilities (see below). 

 

• Plans are currently being considered to replace the St. James’s Street Pool with a new facility 
at Lynnsport comprising a 6-lane x 25m main pool and a 4-lane x 20m learner pool, with the 
new provision totalling 495sq.m, a net gain of 66sq.m of water space. 

 
6.14 Facilities Planning Model Assessment 
 
6.14.1 Introduction 
 
To supplement and complement the strategic assessment, Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough 
Council commissioned an additional assessment of swimming pool needs using the Sport England 
Facilities Planning Model (FPM) spatial modelling tool. The FPM study is a quantitative, accessibility 
and spatial assessment of the supply, demand and access to swimming pools in the borough. It 
included three modelling ‘runs’: 

460



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 56 

• A baseline assessment of provision in 2023. 
 

• A forward assessment of demand for swimming pools and its distribution, based on the 
projected changes in population between 2023 and 2033 and changes in supply in King’s Lynn 
and West Norfolk (Oasis Leisure Centre excluded and the proposed Fakenham Sports and 
Fitness Centre Swimming Pool included). 

 

• An assessment of the impact that further modelled options for changes in supply in King’s 
Lynn and West Norfolk (King’s Lynn New Swimming Pool replacing St James Swimming and 
Fitness Centre and a new swimming pool in Hunstanton replacing the Oasis Leisure Centre) 
have in meeting the demand for swimming pools and its distribution up to 2033. 

 

6.14.2 Key findings 
 

• The provision of both King’s Lynn New Swimming Pool and Hunstanton New Swimming 
Pool are supported by the FPM assessment, but further consideration should be given to the 
scale of water provision at each site. 
 

• The outcome is that the King’s Lynn and West Norfolk will then have a significantly improved 
swimming offer, with a fit-for-purpose modern stock of swimming pools in the three main 
towns (including Downham Market) that provides all swimming activities. This will increase 
the attractiveness of the offer and contribute to viability. 

 

• The Borough has a very large land area with small levels of demand located in small 
settlements throughout. This leads to quite a high level of unmet demand, but this is 
distributed in small amounts in many areas and is caused by these settlements being located 
too far from a swimming pool. The amount of unmet demand in these areas is insufficient to 
justify further swimming pool provision. 

 

• Almost all the satisfied demand is met within the Borough. Demand is greatest in King’s Lynn 
and Downham Market. 

 

6.14.3 Conclusions 
 

The quantitative and spatial findings interact to identify that:  
 

• Nearly all the demand for swimming can be met with new pools in Kings Lynn and 
Hunstanton, to replace the existing facilities, but King’s Lynn New Swimming Pool and 
Downham Leisure Centre are still projected to be very full at peak times. The intervention is 
to consider increasing the scale of the pool at King’s Lynn and increase availability (opening 
hours) at Downham Market.  
 

• Hunstanton New Swimming Pool is projected to be reasonably full at 52%. The intervention 
is to increase utilisation at peak times by including tourism use or reduce the scale of the pool. 

 
6.15 The balance between swimming pool supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between swimming pool supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

461



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 57 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

6.16 Quantity 
 

6.16.1 Current needs 
 

Current swimming pools in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed to be operating with some 
limited spare capacity based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used peak capacity: Two of the key pools in the borough (in Kings Lynn and Downham 
Market) are currently used to well above the ‘comfortable capacity’ figure of 70%. 
 

• Unmet demand: Given the high levels of used capacity, there is some evidence of unmet 
demand.  

 
6.16.2 Future needs 

 

Additional pool space will be required to meet future needs. 
 

• Population increases: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 
by 2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, 
an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

• Participation trends: Based on national and local sports participation trends, for the 
purposes of forecasting future demand the likeliest scenario is for participation rates to 
remain at their current levels.  

 
6.17 Quality 

 

6.17.1 Current quality 
 

The pools in Kings Lynn and Hunstanton are ageing and need refurbishment or replacement. 
 

6.17.2 Future quality 
 

The St. James’s and Oasis Pools were built in 1974 and 1984 respectively and both need major 
refurbishment or replacement. It is currently proposed to replace both facilities, based upon the 
assessment of need. 

462



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 58 

 

6.18 Accessibility 
 

6.18.1 Current accessibility 
 

All parts of the borough are within a 20-minute drivetime catchment of the nearest swimming pool. 
 

6.18.2 Future accessibility 
 

To ensure that there is adequate accessibility to swimming pools in the future, an appropriate level 
of developer contributions will be required to upgrade existing facilities and/or to provide new 
ones, appropriately located in relation to the new population. 
 

6.19 Availability 
 

6.19.1 Current availability 
 

Current availability is good, with the three leisure centre available for casual swimming on a non-
membership basis, as well as club and schools hire and swimming lessons.  
 

6.19.2 Future availability 
 

It has been assumed that the current availability of pools will remain for the duration of the strategy 
period to 2040. 
 

6.20 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which swimming pools provision in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Swimming is an activity that appeals to a broad cross-section of the community, both 
residents and visitors to the borough. 
 

• The high utilisation rates at existing swimming pools preclude the introduction of 
opportunities to accommodate additional need and demand from current non-participants. 

 
6.21 The options for securing additional swimming pool capacity 

 

The Council is seeking to improve access to swimming across the borough by replacing the ageing 
facilities at St. James Swimming and Fitness Centre in King’s Lynn and the Oasis in Hunstanton. 
It is currently working with external partners to define the exact facility mix and location for the 
new facilities. The emerging options include replacing the St. James pool by developing a new 
facility at Lynnsport and replacing/refurbishing the Oasis on their current site.   
 
In addition to the quantum of water space, a range of other factors are being considered including 
improved access for disability and inclusive swimming, spectator accommodation, energy efficiency 
and car parking 
 
For the replacement facility in Kings Lynn, three possible main pool configurations are being 
considered, all of which include a learner pool larger than the current St James learner pool, with 
main pool dimensions as follows. Currently option two is the favoured scenario. 
 

463



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 59 

• Option one: 25m x 13m (6 x 2.16m wide lanes) 325m2 overall.  
 

• Option 2: 25m x 15m (6 x 2.5m wide lanes) 375m2 overall. 
 

•  Option 3: 25m x 17m (8 x 2.5m wide lanes) 425m2 overall. 
 
West Norfolk Swimming Club, supported by Swim England, has prepared a detailed report which 
argues strongly for Option 3 - that the replacement for St. James pool should be a 25 metre, eight-
lane main pool supported by a learner pool.  It bases its argument on a number of key points: 

 

• The club has a waiting list amongst Masters swimmers. Additional water space will allow to 
to grow from its current membership of 200. 
 

• More water space and improved access is required to make provision for para-swimming 
(disability swimming). Up until now the club has not been able to develop a para-swimming 
squad. 

 

• An eight lane pool would enable the staging of county and regional competitions. 
 

• The larger pool could be built in a cost-effective manner with an increased capital cost 
estimated to be only £213,000. It should be noted that if the additional changing and related 
space related to this expansion is included, based upon Sport England guidance the additional 
cost is closer to £2,000,000. 

 
Swim England supports the development of an eight lane pool as making a contribution to reducing 
the current deficit in water space.  

 
6.22 Policy considerations 
 

The options for securing existing and additional swimming pool capacity to meet current and future 
needs are as follows: 
 

6.21.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of swimming pools through the Local Plan 
will be key both to securing local provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the retention 
of existing facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been identified, unless the loss 
of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality and 
accessibility.  
 

6.21.2 Provide 
 

The provision of a new pool with additional capacity in Kings Lynn to replace the St. James’s Pool 
and a new pool in Hunstanton to replace the Oasis Pool, should be considered. 
 

6.21.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing swimming pool capacity by ensuring that pool quality is enhanced when 
opportunities arise. 
 

464



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 60 

6.23 Action Plan 
 

6.23.1 Introduction 
 

The tables below set out the action plan for swimming pools to guide the implementation of the 
strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

6.23.2 Key strategic actions 
 

Table 32: Key strategic action plan for swimming pools 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of existing 
swimming pools 

Consider including a policy in the 
Local Plan to protect all existing 
swimming pools. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Funding for future 
swimming pool needs 

Ensure that provision is made to 
secure developer contributions 
towards new and improved 
facilities. 

KL&WNBC Developers  - High 

Demand equivalent to 
0.24 25m x 6-lane pools 
by 2040 based on the 
lower population. 

Consider providing additional pool 
capacity in Kings Lynn when the 
St. James Pool is replaced. 

KL&WNBC - TBC High 

Demand equivalent to 
1.23 25m x 6-lane pools 
by 2040 based on the 
higher population. 

Consider providing additional pool 
capacity in Kings Lynn when the 
St. James Pool is replaced. 

KL&WNBC - TBC High 

 
6.23.3 Site-specific actions 
 

Table 33: Site-specific action plan for swimming pools 
 

Site Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Downham Market 
Leisure Centre 

Facility used to over-
capacity in the peak 
period. 

Review usage programme 
to maximise capacity. 

KL&WNBC - - Medium 

Oasis Leisure 
Centre 

The facility is ageing and 
needs to be replaced. 

Provide a new pool in 
Hunstanton. 

KL&WNBC - TBC High 

St. James Swimming 
and Fitness Centre 

• Facility used to over-
capacity in the peak 
period. 

• The facility is ageing 
and needs to be 
replaced. 

Provide a new pool in 
Kings Lynn. 

KL&WNBC - TBC High 

  

465



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 61 

7 HEALTH AND FITNESS 
 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are 17 publicly accessible health and fitness facilities currently available in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, collectively comprising 837 equipment stations. Additional 
demand by 2040 is for an additional 68 stations based on the lower population estimate 
and 150 stations based upon the higher population estimate. 
 

• Quality: The quality of facilities is generally ‘good’, although disabled access is poor at St. 
James’s Swimming Centre. 

 

• Accessibility: Almost the whole population of the borough is within 20-minutes’ 
drivetime of at least one health and fitness facility. 

 

• Availability: Five facilities offer ‘pay-and-play’ public access, but some of the other 
facilities offer a ‘day pass’ arrangement, allowing short-term access to non-members. 

 

7.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines health and fitness facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. These are 
defined as dedicated community accessible facilities with a range of exercise equipment. 
 

7.2 Quantity 
 

7.2.1 Health and fitness facilities with community use 
 

The location and number of equipment stations at health and fitness facilities with community use 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is as follows. All facilities have secured community access: 
 

Table 34: Health and fitness facilities with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site  Address Stations Sub-area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 2NB 105 Kings Lynn 

Crown Health Club Downham Road, Outwell PE14 8SE 20 Downham Market 

Downham Market Leis. Ctre Bexwell Road, Downham Market PE38 9LL 60 Downham Market 

Energise Pentney Low Road, Pentney PE32 1JF 25 Kings Lynn 

Everlast Fitness Hamburg Way, Kings Lynn  PE30 2ND 78 Kings Lynn 

Heacham Manor Hunstanton Road, Heacham PE31 7JX 20 Hunstanton 

Heros Gym  Bryggen Road Kings Lynn PE30 2HZ 130 Kings Lynn 

Imagine Health and Spa Grimston Road Kings Lynn PE30 3HQ 32 Kings Lynn 

Just4YouFitness Hansa Court, Lubeck Rd, Kings Lynn PE30 2HN 70 Kings Lynn 

Motiv8 Bergen Way, Kings Lynn PE30 2JG 50 Kings Lynn 

Oasis Leisure Centre  Seagate Road, Hunstanton PE36 5BD 40 Hunstanton 

Rebel 24 St. Hilary Trade Park, Kings Lynn PE30 4NA 50 Kings Lynn 

Searles Leisure Resort South Beach Road Hunstanton PE36 5BB 17 Hunstanton 

St. James Swimming Centre Blackfriars Street,  Kings Lynn PE30 1NN 18 Kings Lynn 

Snap Fitness St. Nicholas Retail Park, Kings Lynn PE30 2HW 50 Kings Lynn 

The Gym Group Hardwick Road, Lings Lynn PE30 4YN 60 Kings Lynn 

Valeo Athletic Fitness Paxman Rd, Kings Lynn PE30 4NE 12 Kings Lynn 

TOTAL - 837 - 

466



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 62 

7.2.2 Health and fitness facilities without community use 
 

There are no health and fitness facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk with no community use. 
 

7.2.3 Sub-area analysis 
 

The distribution of fitness facilities by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is as follows. It 
shows that per capita rates of provision vary widely, being best in Kings Lynn and poorest in 
Downham Market: 
 

Table 35: Health and fitness facilities with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Sub-area population 2020 No. stations Stations per capita 
Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 77 1: 368 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 680 1: 99 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 80 1: 691 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 837 1: 181 
 

7.3 Quality 
 

7.3.1 The criteria assessed 
 

The quality of health and fitness facilities was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during 
a site visit to all facilities. The criteria that were evaluated were as follows: 
 

• Fitness facilities: The overall condition, mix of cardio-vascular and resistance equipment, 
lighting and ambience. 

 

• Changing facilities: Capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: Provision of disability-specific equipment and disabled access throughout. 
 

• General access: Car parking, lighting, signposting and proximity to public transport. 
 

7.3.2 The basis of the ratings 
 

The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, , 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’.  
 

Table 36: Health and fitness facilities with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Fitness facilities Changing Disability Access General access 
Alive Lynnsport 5 5 5 5 

Crown Health Club 4 4 3 5 

Downham Market Leis. Ctre. 4 3 4 4 

Energise Pentney 4 5 4 3 

Everlast Fitness 5 5 4 5 

Heacham Manor 5 5 5 5 

Heros Gym  5 3 3 3 

Imagine Health and Spa 4 5 4 4 

Just4YouFitness 5 4 4 4 

467



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 63 

Facility  Fitness facilities Changing Disability Access General access 

Motiv8 4 3 3 4 

Oasis Leisure Centre  5 5 4 4 

Rebel 24 5 4 4 4 

Searles Leisure Resort 5 4 4 4 

St. James Swimming Centre 2 2 2 5 

Snap Fitness 5 5 5 5 

The Gym Group 5 4 4 4 

Valeo Athletic Fitness 4 3 3 4 
 

7.3.3 Disabled access 
 

Only Alive Lynnsport has specialist adaptive equipment for disabled users, but the equipment at 
most other facilities can be used by people with impaired mobility. The facility at St. James’s 
Swimming Centre is rated as poor for disabled access. 

 
7.4 Accessibility 
 

Based on Sport England research, the ‘effective catchment’ for health and fitness facilities is 20 
minutes driving time. The map overleaf shows that almost the whole population of the borough 
is within 20-minutes’ drivetime of at least one health and fitness facility. 
 

468



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 64 

 
 

  

469



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 65 

7.5 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the opening hours, usage arrangements and pricing (shown as monthly 
direct debit costs to facilitate comparison). 
 

Table 37: Health and fitness facilities with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Availability 
 

Facility Opening hours and basis of use Pricing  
Alive Lynnsport Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 

Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm  
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

Adult membership £25 per month 
Junior membership £15 per month 
Adult member £6.90 
Adult non-member £5.40 
Junior member £5.35 
Junior non-member £3.80 

Crown Health Club Mon-Fri: 7am - 9pm 
Sat-Sun 9am - 6pm  
Members and hotel guests only 

Membership £25 per month 

Downham Market 
Leisure Centre 

Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat 8.30am - 5pm 
Sun 9am - 6.30pm 
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

Adult membership £25 per month 
Junior membership £15 per month 
Adult member £6.90 
Adult non-member £5.40 
Junior member £5.35 
Junior non-member £3.80 

Energise Pentney Mon-Fri: 7am - 9pm 
Sat-Sun 9am - 6pm  
Members only 

Membership £45 per month 

Everlast Fitness Mon-Thurs 6am - 10pm 
Fri 6am - 9pm 
Sat-Sun 8am - 8pm 
Members only 

Membership £20 per month 
 

Heacham Manor Mon-Sun 7.30am - 8pm 
Members only but day passes available 

Membership £35 per month 
Day passes £10 

Heros Gym  Mon-Fri 6am - 10pm 
Sat 7am - 6pm 
Sun 7am - 2pm 
Members only 

Membership £28 per month 
 

Imagine Health and 
Spa 

Mon-Fri 7am - 10pm 
Sat-Sun 7am - 8pm 
Members only 

Membership £75 per month 
 

Just4YouFitness Mon-Thurs 5am-10pm 
Fri 5am-9pm 
Sat 7am-6pm 
Sun 8am-4pm 

Membership from £50 per month 

Motiv8 24 hours 7 days a week Membership £14.99 per month 

Oasis Leisure Centre  Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat-Sun 7.30am - 6pm 
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

Adult membership £25 per month 
Junior membership £15 per month 
Adult member £6.90 
Adult non-member £5.40 
Junior member £5.35 
Junior non-member £3.80 

470



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 66 

Facility Opening hours and basis of use Pricing 
Rebel 24 24 hours 7 days a week Membership £19.99 per month 

Searles Leisure 
Resort 

Mon-Sun 7am - 10pm 
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

Membership £26.50 per month 
Day pass £5 

St. James Swimming 
Centre 

Mon-Fri 6am - 9pm 
Sat 7am - 5pm 
Sun 8am - 7pm  
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

Adult membership £25 per month 
Junior membership £15 per month 
Adult member £6.90 
Adult non-member £5.40 
Junior member £5.35 
Junior non-member £3.80 

Snap Fitness 24 hours 7 days a week Membership £40.99 per month 

The Gym Group 24 hours 7 days a week Membership £19.99 per month 

Valeo Athletic 
Functional Fitness 

Mon-Fri 6.30am - 8.30pm 
Sat 9am - 1pm 
Sun 9am - 12pm 
Members only 

Membership £75 per month 
 

 
7.6 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are 17 publicly accessible health and fitness facilities currently available in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk, collectively comprising 837 equipment stations. All have secured 
community access.  
 

• Levels of provision per capita vary widely across the borough, with the Kings Lynn sub-area 
having almost seven times the rate of equipment stations per 1,000 people than the Downham 
Market sub-area and around four times the rate in the Hunstanton sub-area. 
 

• The quality of facilities is generally ‘good’, although disability access is problematic at St. 
James’s Swimming Centre. 

 

• Almost the whole population of the borough is within 20-minutes’ drivetime of at least one 
health and fitness facility. 

 

• Five facilities offer ‘pay-and-play’ public access, but many of the remaining facilities offer a 
‘day pass’ arrangement, allowing short-term access on a non-membership basis. 

 

• Membership charges vary between £20 and £75 per month, although there are discounted 
introductory offers at many facilities. There are varying approaches to membership terms with 
some operators insisting on minimum term contracts whilst others allow month by month 
membership with the ability to cancel at any time. 

 

7.7 Changes since 2023 
 

The main changes in fitness facilities supply in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk since 2023 were@ 
 

• The opening of Snap Fitness in Kings Lynn in April 2025, which added an additional 50 
fitness stations to local supply. 

471



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 67 

• The opening of a new fitness facility at Heacham Manor, which added an additional 20 fitness 
stations to local supply. 

 
7.8 Current demand for health and fitness facilities 
 

7.7.1  Expressed demand 
 
The 2024 ‘State of the UK Fitness Industry’ report reveals that the UK health and fitness industry is 
continuing to grow, with just over 7,000 fitness facilities, a fall of 3.3% from the high of 7,239 in 
2019.  
 
10.7 million people in the UK (1 in 7) was a member of a gym in 2024, an all-time penetration rate 
high of 15.9%. The low-cost market with its large membership numbers, online joining, long 
opening hours and low-prices has continued to expand rapidly. The private low-cost sector now 
accounts for 12% of the total number of private clubs, 13% of the private market value and 32% 
of the private sector membership.  
 

• Pure Gym and GLL remain the UK's leading private and public operators (by number of 
gyms and members).  

 

• Local fitness facility operators all indicated that there was an overall growth in the market 
(although no actual figures were given due to commercial sensitivity) although it is highly 
competitive and gyms are having to work hard to maintain their share of the market.  
Members are now more sophisticated and willing to switch between clubs. Operators are 
having to develop a wider range of fitness products including individual, health-related 
programmes and app-based fitness regimes and to vary and update their classes on a regular 
basis to keep up to date with changing fashions.   

 

7.7.2 Spare capacity 
 
Consultations with local health and fitness facility operators revealed that there is some spare 
capacity at peak periods. All but the smallest operators emphasise ‘no waiting’ as a selling point to 
prospective members. Peak time spare capacity is assessed to be around 10% or the equivalent of 
77 equipment stations.   
 

7.7.3 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to use of health and fitness facilities from within the study area which 
takes place outside of the area. The following facilities are located in adjacent areas, close enough 
to the borough boundary to provide usage opportunities for residents of the borough. 
 
  

472



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 68 

Table 38: Proximity of health and fitness facilities in neighbouring areas 

 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Alderman Peel Sports College • Market Lane, Wells-next-the-Sea NR23 1RB 4 miles 

Brandon Leisure Centre • Church Road, Brandon IP27 0JB 2 miles 

Cromwell Barn Fitness Centre • Oak Street, Fakenham NR21 9DX 4 miles 

Ironworks Gym • Europa Way, Wisbech PE13 2TZ 1 mile 

Lakers Gymnasium Anglia Way, Wisbech PE13 2TY 1 mile 

Lynx Fitness (Brandon) • Wimbledon Avenue, Brandon IP27 0NZ 2 miles 

Pure Gym Wisbech • Cromwell Road, Wisbech PE14 0RG 1 mile 

Fakenham Sports Centre Trap Lane, Fakenham NR21 9HL 4 miles 

Tydd St. Giles Country Club Kirkgate, Tydd St. Giles PE13 5NZ 1 mile 

Hudson Leisure Centre Harecroft Road, Wisbech PE13 1RL 1 mile 

Thomas Clarkson Academy Corporation Road, Wisbech PE13 2SE 1 mile 

Wisbech Grammar School North Brink, Wisbech PE13 1JX 1 mile 
 

7.7.3 Unmet demand 
 

UK Active has devised a model that provides guidance on the supply of health and fitness stations 
against the current anticipated demand. The model uses national data from fitness facility operators, 
with the most recent local data for health and fitness participation from the ‘Active Lives’ survey. 
The model anticipates a need for 836 fitness stations, which compares with actual supply of 837 
stations, supply and demand are almost exactly balanced. 
 

Table 39: Health and fitness facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Demand modelling 
 

Element Value Number 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk adult population - 126,185 

% health and fitness participants 5.95% 7,508 

Average visits per week 2.4 18,019 

No. visits at peak period 65% 11,712 

Capacity in one hour of peak time  28 418 

No. stations required at peak time - 836 

 
7.9 Local sports participation priorities 
 

There are no specific local sports participation priorities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, other 
than a general policy commitment to promote health and well-being through increased levels of 
physical activity. Health and fitness facilities have a particular role to play in this, given the breadth 
of appeal to all age groups. 
 

7.10 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

The table below summarises strategic assessments of health and fitness facilities needs in 
neighbouring areas. 
  

473



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 69 

Table 40: Assessments of health and fitness facilities needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local Authority Facilities priorities Implications for Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk 

East Cambs 
District Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, 
Strategy and Action Plan’ (2015) identifies an undersupply 
of 28 stations in 2011, with a projected undersupply of 
8 stations by 2026. 

There is no spare capacity to meet 
any exported demand from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 

Fenland District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 
2031’ (2016) identifies current spare capacity of 278 
fitness stations in the district, with a surplus of 226 
stations in 2031. 

There is significant spare capacity 
that can meet needs from the 
Downham Market sub-area in 
particular. 

South Holland 
District Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ 
(2018) identifies that existing health and fitness 
facilities are currently operating at full capacity and that 
there will be a need for an additional 51 stations by 
2040. 

There is no spare capacity to meet 
any exported demand from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 

North Norfolk 
District Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) 
identified that ‘Overall there is a good distribution of 
gyms across the whole district, with all the main towns 
(except Cromer) served by centres’.  

There is some spare capacity that 
can meet needs from the 
Hunstanton sub-area in particular. 

Breckland District 
Council 

The Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports 
and Recreation Facilities’ (2017) identified that for health 
and fitness facilities ‘supply exceeds demand by 80 
stations’.  

There is some spare capacity but 
outside the catchment for residents 
of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

West Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) 
concludes that ‘there is spare capacity equivalent to 
224 stations’. 

There is some spare capacity in the 
Brandon sub-area that could serve 
the needs of residents from the 
Downham Market sub-area in 
particular. 

 

7.11 Future demand for health and fitness facilities  
 

7.11.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

7.11.2 Participation rates 
 

One factor in considering future sports participation rates is to track historical trends, as a guide to 
possible future developments. Recent covid-affected figures have been excluded as anomalous. 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for fitness activities since 2016: 

474



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 70 

Table 41: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Health and fitness facilities national participation rates 2016 - 2023 

 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
29.5% 30.0% 30.8% 28.0% 24.9% 27.2% 28.7% -0.8% 

 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 42: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk sports participation rates 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 
7.11.3 Future projections 
 
Two scenarios are considered: 

 

• ONS Projections: The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population 
of 159,050 by 2040, an increase of 4,750 or 3.1%. Based on current demand for 837 
equipment stations effective spare capacity of 10% at local facilities in the peak period 
(equivalent to 84 stations). Population growth of 3.1% will create a demand for an additional 
26 stations by 2040. Participation increases of 15% will create demand for a further 126 
stations by 2040, creating total additional demand for 152 stations.  
 

Table 43: Health and fitness demand Kings Lynn and West Norfolk based on lower population estimates 
 

Element No. stations 
Existing stations 837 

Existing peak demand 753 

Existing spare capacity 84 

Population increase (3.1%) 26 

Participation increase (15%) 126 

No. stations required at peak time by 2040 905 

Surplus(+)/deficit(-) -68 

 

• Housing projections: A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population 
of 179,300 by 2040, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. Based on current demand for 817 
equipment stations effective spare capacity of 10% at local facilities in the peak period 
(equivalent to 82 stations). Population growth of 16.1% will create a demand for an additional 
118 stations by 2040. Participation increases of 15% will create demand for a further 123 
stations by 2040, creating total additional demand for 241 stations.  

 
  

475



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 71 

Table 44: Health and fitness demand Kings Lynn and West Norfolk based on higher population estimates 
 

Element No. stations 
Existing stations 837 

Existing peak demand 753 

Existing spare capacity 84 

Population increase (16.1%) 121 

Participation increase (15%) 113 

No. stations required at peak time by 2040 1,071 

Surplus(+)/deficit(-) -150 

 

7.12 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Demand for health and fitness facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk equates to 836 
equipment stations, based upon the UK Active market calculation.  
 

• With 837 stations at facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, supply and demand is almost 
precisely balanced, although collective peak time spare capacity of around 10%, or the 
equivalent of 84 stations, is still evident within Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.   

 

• Based on the lower population projections, additional demand for 152 stations by 2040 will 
require the provision of an additional 68 equipment stations. 

 

• Based on the higher population projections, additional demand for 234 stations by 2040 will 
require the provision of an additional 150 equipment stations. 

 

7.13 Changes since 2023 
 

National fitness facility participation rates increased by 1.5% between 2022 and 2023. 

 
7.14 The balance between health and fitness supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between health and fitness facility supply 
and demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 

 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

476



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 72 

7.15 Quantity 
 

7.14.1 Current needs 
 

Current health and fitness facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed to be operating 
at close to full capacity, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used peak capacity: Current peak capacity averages 90% across all facilities. 
 

• Unmet demand: There is evidence that some unmet demand is being exported to facilities 
in neighbouring areas, equivalent to 19 fitness stations. 

 

7.14.2 Future needs 
 

The quantity of health and fitness provision required to meet future needs has been assessed as 
follows: 
 

• Participation trends: Based on national and local sports participation trends, for the 
purposes of forecasting future demand the likeliest scenario is for participation rates to 
increase at 1% per annum.  
 

• Population increases: Two scenarios are considered: 
 

- The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 
by 2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 

 

- A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, 
an increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 
Based on the lower population estimate, there will be a need for an additional 68 fitness stations 
by 2040 and based upon the higher population estimate, there will be a need for an additional 150 
equipment stations. 
 

7.16 Quality 
 

7.15.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of facilities is generally ‘good’. 
 

7.15.2 Future quality 
 

In a highly competitive market, commercial health and fitness providers place a premium on 
equipment innovation and facility quality, so it seems reasonable to assume that local provision will 
continue to be upgraded regularly.  
 

7.17 Accessibility 
 

7.16.1 Current accessibility 
 

The whole population is within 20 minutes driving time of the nearest health and fitness facility. 
 
 

477



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 73 

7.16.2 Future accessibility 
 

Commercial health and fitness operators are likely to ensure that additional facilities are provided 
that are well-located in relation to new housing developments. 
 

7.18 Availability 
 

7.17.1 Current availability 
 

Membership charges vary between £20 and £75 per month, although there are discounted 
introductory offers at many facilities. There are varying approaches to membership terms with 
some operators insisting on minimum term contracts whilst others allow month by month 
membership with the ability to cancel at any time. 
 

7.17.2 Future availability 
 

With a competitive local market, it seems unlikely that cost will be a barrier to accessibility in the 
future. However, less affluent residents may be discouraged by long-term contracts and the 
comparative paucity of ‘pay-and-play’ facilities. 
 

7.19 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which health and fitness facility provision in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Health and fitness appeals to a broad cross-section of the community, both residents and 
visitors to the borough. 
 

• Whilst there is some limited spare capacity at existing health and  fitness facilities in the 
borough, a significant amount if demand is exported to neighbouring areas. 

 

• The council offers a Lifestyle Referral Scheme at its health and fitness facilities in 
collaboration with a number of local health partners. There would be benefits in extending 
this initiative to involve other local health and fitness providers. 

 

7.20 The options for securing additional health and fitness capacity 
 

The options for securing existing and additional health and fitness facility capacity to meet current 
and future needs are as follows: 
 

7.18.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of existing health and fitness facilities 
through the Local Plan will be key both to securing local provision by ensuring that planning policy 
supports the retention of existing facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been 
identified, including those with membership-only access, unless the loss of a facility would involve 
its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality and accessibility. 
 

7.18.2 Provide 
 

Ensuring that extra health and fitness capacity is achieved by encouraging the provision of health 
and fitness facilities by commercial leisure providers. 
 

478



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 74 

7.18.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing health and fitness capacity for people with disabilities. 

 
7.21 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for health and fitness facilities to guide the implementation 
of the strategy. All actions are generic, rather than facility specific. The implementation of proposals 
will subject be to resource availability (and in some instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms 
of funding and the staffing necessary to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 45: Health and fitness facilities action plan 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of existing 
health and fitness 
facilities. 

Consider including a policy in the 
Local Plan to protect all existing 
health and fitness facilities. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Need for an additional 
150 fitness stations by 
2040 based on the 
higher population 
estimate. 

Encourage additional provision by 
commercial providers and expand 
capacity at the Council-owned 
facilities when opportunities allow. 

 

All providers - 
 

- High 

Poor disabled access 
and general fitness 
facility provision at St. 
James’s Pool. 

Improve disabled access and general 
fitness facility provision at St. James’s 
Pool when it is refurbished. 

KL&WNBC - TBC High 

Funding for future 
health and fitness 
needs. 

Ensure that provision is made to 
secure developer contributions 
towards and improved facilities. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

 

  

479



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 75 

8 SQUASH COURTS 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are two squash facilities with community access in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, collectively containing four squash courts. There is sufficient spare 
capacity to meet additional demand to 2040 based on both the lower and higher 
population projections. 

 

• Quality: The quality of most facilities is rated as ‘good’. 
 

• Accessibility: Most of the population is within 20-minutes’ drive of a squash court. 
 

• Availability: Four courts available on a ‘pay-and-play’ basis. 

 

8.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of squash courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Squash 
courts are defined as specialist courts for squash and racquetball, complying with regulation 
dimensions. 
 

8.2 Quantity 
 

8.2.1 Squash Courts with Community Use 
 
The location and number of squash courts with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
is as follows. All facilities have secured community access: 

 
Table 46: Squash courts with community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

 

Facility  Address Courts Year built/ 
refurbished 

Sub-area 

Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 
2NB 

3 2014 Kings Lynn 

Oasis Leisure Centre  Seagate Road. Hunstanton PE36 5BD 1 2007 Hunstanton 
 

8.2.2 Squash Courts without Community Use 
 

Table 47: Squash courts without community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility  Address Courts Year built Sub-area 
Bircham Newton 
Training Centre 

B1155, Bircham Newton PE31 6RH 2 1970 Kings Lynn 

RAF Marham Woodview Road, Marham PE33 9JX 2 1972 Downham 
Market 

 
 
 

480



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 76 

8.2.3 Squash courts where use was recently discontinued 
 

Table 48: Squash courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk where us is discontinued 

 

Facility  Address Courts Year built/ 
refurbished 

Sub-area 

Crown Squash Club 40 Downham Road Outwell PE14 8SE 2 2007 Downham 
Market 

Downham Market 
Squash Club 

Mill Lane, Downham Market PE38 
9QT 

2 2006 Downham 
Market 

 

8.2.4 Sub-area analysis 
 

Squash courts with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are as follows: 
  

Table 49: Squash courts with community access by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Sub-area Sub-area population 2020 No. courts Courts per capita 
Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 1 1: 28,316 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 3 1: 22,548 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 0 - 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 4 1: 37,811 

 
8.3 Quality 

 
8.3.1 The criteria assessed 

 
The quality of squash courts was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site visit to 
all facilities. The criteria that were assessed to give a single overall score for each squash facility 
were the court surface, changing provision, line markings, walls, disability and general access and 
fitness for purpose. 

 
8.3.2 The basis of the ratings 

 
The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’ 
(highlighted in green below), 3 to ‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’. The ratings for the 
squash courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 50: Squash facilities with community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Courts Changing Disability 
Access 

General 
Access 

Alive Lynnsport 5 5 5 5 

Downham Market Squash Club 4 4 3 4 

Oasis Leisure Centre  4 5 4 4 

 

8.3.3  Disabled access 
 
There are no specific issues with disabled access at any of the squash courts in the borough. 

481



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 77 

8.4 Accessibility 
 
Based on Sport England research, the ‘effective catchment’ for squash courts is 20 minutes driving 
time. Most of the population is within 20-minutes’ drive of a squash court. 

 

482



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 78 

8.5 Availability 
 

The table below identifies the opening hours, usage arrangements, pricing and used capacity in the 
peak period. 
 

Table 51: Squash courts with community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Availability 
 

Facility Opening hours and basis of 
use 

Pricing Peak 
usage  

Alive Lynnsport Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 
Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm  
‘Pay-and-play’ 

Adult court hire £6.00 - £11.50 for 40 mins 
Junior court hire £4.50 - £8.60 for 40 mins 

60% 

Oasis Leisure Centre  Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat-Sun 7.30am - 6pm 
‘Pay-and-play’ 

Adult court hire £6.00 - £11.50 for 40 mins 
Junior court hire £4.50 - £8.60 for 40 mins 

40% 

 
8.6 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are two facilities with community use in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, collectively 
containing four squash courts. Bothl have secured community access. 
 

• England Squash states that there should be one squash court per 10,000 people in England, 
based upon existing levels of provision. Current per capita levels of provision in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk are worse than the national average at one court per 37,811 people. 

 

• The quality of most facilities is rated as ‘good’. 
 

• ‘Pay-and-play’ squash courts are available at all the sites.  
 

• Most of the population is within 20-minutes’ drive of a squash court. 
 

8.7 Changes since 2023 
 

Downham Market Squash Club closed in 2024, reducing the supply of courts in the borough by 
one-third. 

 

8.8 Current demand for squash courts 
 

8.7.1  Expressed demand 
 

Peak period demand at Squash courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is relatively low, with 
substantial peak-time spare capacity. 
 

Table 52: Squash courts with community access in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Used capacity 
 

Facility Peak usage  
Alive Lynnsport 60% 

Oasis Leisure Centre  40% 

483



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 79 

8.7.2 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to users of squash courts from within the study area which takes place 
outside of the area. The following facilities are located in adjacent local authority areas, close 
enough to the borough boundary to provide usage opportunities for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
residents. 
 

Table 53: Proximity of squash courts in neighbouring areas 
 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Brandon Leisure Centre • Church Road, Brandon IP27 0JB 2 miles 

Fakenham Sports Centre Trap Lane, Fakenham NR21 9HL 4 miles 

Wisbech Squash Club Harewood Road, Wisbech PE13 1RL 1 mile 

 

8.7.3 Unmet demand 
 

Unmet demand involves two components: 
 

• Demand that cannot be met within a facility catchment due to excess demand for that facility. 
 

• Demand that cannot be met because it is located outside the catchment of a facility. 
 

There is no evidence of any unmet demand.   
 

8.9 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

The table below summarises strategic assessments of squash court needs in neighbouring areas. 
 

Table 54: Assessments of squash court needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for King Lynn 
and West Norfolk 

East Cambs 
District 
Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, Strategy 
and Action Plan’ (2015) identifies that ‘all main settlements and 
the vast majority of residents in East Cambridgeshire have 
access to squash facilities within a 20 minute drive time’. 

There is substantial spare 
capacity but outside the 
catchment for residents of 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

Fenland 
District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 2031’ 
(2016) identifies that Wisbech Squash Club has declining 
membership and that ‘no need for additional squash courts has 
been identified in the area, assuming the existing level of supply 
is retained’. 

There is significant spare 
capacity in Wisbech that can 
meet needs from the Downham 
Market sub-area in particular. 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ (2018) 
identifies that ‘the courts in the district are currently used to 
50% capacity in the peak period, there is no evidence of unmet 
demand in the district’.  

There is substantial spare 
capacity but outside the 
catchment for residents of 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

North 
Norfolk 
District 
Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) 
identified that ‘it is unlikely there is a need for additional courts’.  

There is some spare capacity in 
Fakenham that can meet needs 
from the Hunstanton sub-area 
in particular. 

  

484



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 80 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for King Lynn and 
West Norfolk 

Breckland 
District 
Council 

The Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and 
Recreation Facilities’ (2017) identified that ‘there is no identified 
need to provide further squash courts up to 2031’.  

There is some spare capacity but 
outside the catchment for residents 
of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

West 
Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) concludes 
that ‘current squash courts are collectively assessed to be at 
operating with spare capacity and no additional courts will be 
required by 2040’. 

The court in the Brandon sub-area 
could serve the needs of residents 
from the Downham Market sub-
area in particular. 

 
8.10 Sport-specific priorities 

 

England Squash and Racquetball’s ‘Squash in a Changing World 2021-2024 (2021) contains the 
following material of relevance to squash court provision: 
 

Table 55: Sport-specific facilities priorities for squash 
 

Facilities priorities  Implications for 
Kings Lynn and 

West Norfolk 
England Squash and Racquetball’s ‘Squash in a Changing World 2021-2024 (2021) 
contains no facilities objectives, but there is a general aim to ‘develop and 
introduce a broader range of playing opportunities that attract and retain players 
of all backgrounds, aspirations and skill levels’. 

There is a limited role 
for the governing body 
in promoting squash 
court provision. 

 

Consultation with the England Squash and Racquetball identified the following issues: 
 

• ‘Squash is a sport that has long been recognised as providing a great ‘all around fitness 
workout’ at all levels of play. It remains a very interesting option to casual players as well as 
committed club players.  It is relatively simple for beginners to develop basic skills, instantly 
providing the opportunity for fun and a huge scope for progression. It provides an excellent 
workout in just 45 minutes. The sport of Racquetball (now rebranded by World Squash as 
Squash57) has in the past few years increasingly been gaining ground as a go-to sport for 
women and older people’. 
 

• ‘That said the number of people playing squash has clearly declined since the extraordinary 
heyday of the 1980s and 1990s - when it was a self-advertising, ‘new’ sport and first recognised 
as a very social activity. But all sports have their peaks and troughs of success and, although 
now less popular, squash still has a very strong following.  Nationally, English players and 
representative teams are still amongst the best in the world’.  

 

• ‘Squash courts are, obviously, the essential facility requirement to play squash. Each club has 
its own courts and programme to attract new adult and junior players. In addition, the public 
availability of squash courts is essential - whilst clubs can organise local trial opportunities 
(especially for juniors) the public facilities in Leisure Centres have always been a playing 
opportunity that helps build the initial interest of so many new players to our sports’.  

 

  

485



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 81 

8.11 Future demand for squash courts  
 

8.10.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1%. 

 

8.10.2 Participation rates 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for squash at national level since 2015. They show a significant fall in the 
period and have not recovered to pre-pandemic levels. 

 

Table 56: ‘Active Lives Survey: National participation rates for squash 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
1.0% 0.8% 0.7% 0.7% 0.4% 0.2% 0.6% 0.5% -0.5% 

 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 57: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Kings Lynn and West Norfolk sports participation rates 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 

8.10.3 Future projections 
 

National squash participation rates have been falling in recent years and set alongside reductions in 
general activity rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk over the same period, it would therefore be 
reasonable to assume that demand for squash will at best remain static until 2040. Based on current 
demand, there is effective spare capacity of 50% at local facilities in the peak period. An increase 
of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase demand 
for squash court capacity by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase demand for squash court capacity 
by a similar amount. In both cases, this can also be accommodated by existing spare capacity.  

 

8.12 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Squash participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are projected to remain static 
until 2040.  
 

486



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 82 

• An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will 
increase demand for squash court capacity by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 
25,000 or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase 
demand for squash court capacity by a similar amount. 

 

8.13 Changes since 2023 
 

Downham Market Squash Club closed in 2024, due to falling demand. National participation rates 
in Squash fell between 2022 and 2023. 

 
8.14 The balance between squash court supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between squash court supply and demand 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough courts with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 

 

• Quality: Are the courts fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the courts in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the courts available for those who want to use them now and in the future? 
 

8.15 Quantity 
 

8.14.1 Current needs 
 

Current squash courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are collectively assessed to be at operating 
with substantial spare capacity, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used peak capacity: The courts in the borough are currently used to 50% capacity in the 
peak period. 

  

• Unmet demand: There is no evidence of any unmet demand.   
 

• Changes in supply: There are no known planned changes to supply. 
 

8.14.2 Future needs 
 

Spare capacity at the existing courts will be able to accommodate all additional future demand, 
based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Demand increases: An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for squash court capacity by a similar amount. 
Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population 
by 2040 will increase demand for squash court capacity by a similar amount. 
 

• Participation trends: Based on national and local sports participation trends, for the 
purposes of forecasting future demand the likeliest scenario is for participation rates to 
remain at their current levels.  

487



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 83 

• Additional needs: With spare capacity at present, no additional courts will be required by 
2040. 

 

8.16 Quality 
 

8.14.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of most facilities is rated as ‘good’. 
 

8.14.2 Future quality 
 

Assuming that existing providers continue to invest in maintaining and improving their facilities 
and that this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the future, it 
seems reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 
 

8.17 Accessibility 
 

8.15.1 Current accessibility 
 

The whole population is within 20 minutes driving time of the nearest squash court. 
 

8.15.2 Future accessibility 
 

Since the current facilities are geographically relatively well-located to serve boroughwide needs, 
they will continue to serve future needs, although the loss of provision in Downham Market creates 
a dependence on accessing facilities in neighbouring areas. 
 

8.18 Availability 
 

8.16.1 Current availability 
 

Pay-and-play’ squash courts are available at both sites.  
 

8.16.2 Future availability 
 

It is reasonable to assume that similar usage arrangements will be offered in the future. 
 

8.19 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which squash court provision in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Squash is a specialist activity that appeals to a limited cross-section of the community and as 
such it is unlikely to engage many new or lapsed participants. 
 

• Some local courts have been re-purposed on a temporary or permanent basis to 
accommodate other sports and this flexibility allows a wider range of activities to be 
programmed using the space available. 

 

  

488



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 84 

8.20 The options for securing additional squash court capacity 
 

The options for securing existing squash court capacity to meet current and future needs are: 
 

8.18.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of existing squash courts through the Local 
Plan will be key both to securing local provision by ensuring that planning policy supports the 
retention of existing facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been identified, unless 
the loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, 
quality and accessibility. 
 

8.18.2 Provide 
 

Future demand relating to population growth will not require the provision of additional squash 
courts. 
 

8.18.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing squash courts by ensuring that the courts and ancillary facilities receive regular 
maintenance and improvements. 
 

8.21 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for squash courts to guide the implementation of the 
strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 

 

Table 58: Action plan for squash 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of existing 
squash courts. 

Consider including a policy in the Local 
Plan to protect all existing squash courts. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Maintaining existing 
squash courts 

Encourage providers to maintain existing 
courts to sustain and improve current 
quality and improve access wherever 
possible. 

KL&WNBC - TBC High 

 

  

489



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 85 

9 INDOOR TENNIS COURTS 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: The Sports Barn at Alive Lynnsport can be used for indoor tennis. Two 
specialist facilities in neighbouring West Suffolk provide usage opportunities for some 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 

 

• Quality: The quality of the indoor courts is ‘standard’. 
 

• Accessibility: Most of the population in the north of the borough is within 30-minutes’ 
drive time of an indoor tennis court either in the borough or in a neighbouring area. 

 

• Availability: The Lynnsport courts can be accessed on a membership or ‘pay-and-play’ 
basis. 

 

9.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of indoor tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
Indoor tennis courts are defined as indoor facilities with appropriate playing surface, line markings, 
nets and court dimensions for tennis. 
 

9.2 Quantity 
 

9.2.1 Indoor tennis courts with community use 
 

There are two indoor tennis courts at Alive Lynnsport, which are in the Sports Barn, marked on 
an area that also accommodates football, netball and indoor athletics, so tennis use is not exclusive 
and is a minority user. 
 

Table 59: Indoor tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address  Courts Surface Sub-Area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 2NB 2 Acrylic Kings Lynn 

 

9.2.2 Indoor tennis courts in neighbouring areas 
 

The following facilities are located in adjacent local authority areas, close enough to the borough 
boundary to provide usage opportunities for some Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 
 

Table 60: Indoor tennis courts in neighbouring areas 
 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Culford Sports and Tennis Centre • Culford School, Culford IP28 6TX 12 miles 

Newmarket Tennis Club • Hamilton Road, Newmarket CB8 0NQ 15 miles 

 

490



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 86 

9.3 Quality 
 

9.3.1 The criteria assessed for indoor courts 
 

The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 
 

• The court: The overall condition, playing surface, clear span roof height, lighting, spectator 
provision, equipment and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Car parking, signposting, external lighting and proximity to public transport. 

 
9.3.2 The basis of the ratings 

 
The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’.  
 

9.3.3 Indoor court assessment 
 

The ratings for the indoor tennis courts are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 61: Indoor tennis courts in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Courts Changing Disability 
Access 

General 
access 

Alive Lynnsport 3 5 5 5 

 
 

9.3.4  Disabled access 
 
Disabled access to the Sports Barn at Lynnsport is rated as ‘very good’.  
 

9.4 Accessibility 

 
Based on LTA research, the ‘effective catchment’ for indoor tennis courts is 30 minutes driving 
time. Most of the population in the north of the borough is within 30-minutes’ drive time of an 
indoor tennis court either in the borough or in a neighbouring area. 

491



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 87 

 
 
 
 

492



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 88 

9.5 Availability 
 

The courts at Lynnsport are available on the following basis: 
 

Table 62: Indoor tennis courts in neighbouring areas: Availability 
 

Facility Opening hours use Pricing Peak usage  
Alive 
Lynnsport 

Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 
Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm  
Membership and ‘pay-and-play’ 

Court hire: £27.50 per hour full price 
                 £22 per hour with ‘Alive Card’ 

60%* 

 
* Tennis use comprises less than 5% of overall use, which is primarily for indoor football. 

 
9.6 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Two indoor tennis courts are marked in the Sports Barn at Lynnsport on an area that also 
accommodates football, netball and indoor athletics, so tennis use is not exclusive and is a 
minority user. 
 

• Two specialist facilities in neighbouring areas provide some usage opportunities for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 
 

• The quality of the indoor courts at Alive Lynnsport are ‘average’ because they are not a 
specialist tennis surface. 

 

• Most of the population in the north of the borough is within 30-minutes’ drive time of an 
indoor tennis court either in the borough or in a neighbouring area. 

 

• ‘Pay-and-play’ access is available at Alive Lynnsport. 

 
9.7 Changes since 2023 

 
There have been no changes in indoor tennis court provision since 2023. 
 

9.8 Current demand for indoor tennis courts 
 

9.7.1  Expressed demand 
 
Peak period demand at Alive Lynnsport is around 60% utilisation, although most of this is football 
and athletics use. Outdoor tennis clubs in the borough have the following membership numbers: 
 
  

493



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 89 

Table 63: Tennis club membership in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

Club No. members 
Deepdale and Brancaster Tennis Club 197 

Dersingham Tennis Club  50 

Great Massingham Tennis Club 260 

Heacham Tennis Club 40 

Overy Tennis Club 115 

South Creake Tennis Club 75 

Terrington St. Clement Tennis Club 145 

The Burnhams Tennis Club 205 

West Norfolk Tennis Club 120 

TOTAL 1,202 
 

9.7.2 Displaced demand 
 

The following facilities are located in adjacent local authority areas, close enough to the borough 
boundary to provide usage opportunities for some Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 
 

Table 64: Indoor tennis courts in neighbouring areas 
 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Culford Sports and Tennis Centre • Culford School, Culford IP28 6TX 12 miles 

Newmarket Tennis Club • Hamilton Road, Newmarket CB8 0NQ 15 miles 
 

9.7.3 Unmet demand 
 

There is no evidence of any unmet demand in the borough. 
 

9.9 Local sports participation priorities 
 

There are no specific local sports participation priorities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, other 
than a general policy commitment to promote health and well-being through increased levels of 
physical activity. As an activity appealing to both genders and most age groups, tennis is likely to 
have some appeal to new and lapsed sports participants. 
 

9.10 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

The table below summarises strategic assessments of indoor tennis needs in neighbouring areas. 
 

Table 65: Assessments of indoor tennis needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

East Cambs 
District 
Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, Strategy and 
Action Plan’ (2015) identifies that ‘there are no indoor tennis courts in 
East Cambridgeshire but the majority of residents in the district are 
within a 20 minute drive time of indoor tennis facilities in 
neighbouring authorities’. 

There are no facilities in 
East Cambs to serve the 
needs of West Norfolk 
residents. 

  

494



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 90 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk 

Fenland 
District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) 
does not include an assessment of indoor tennis needs. 

No assessment. 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ (2018) 
identifies that ‘despite the lack of provision within South Holland, 
most of the population is within the 30-minute drivetime 
catchment of an indoor tennis court in adjacent areas’.  

There are no facilities in South 
Holland to serve the needs of 
West Norfolk residents. 

North 
Norfolk 
District 
Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) identified 
that ‘there is justification to consider a demand and provision for 
an indoor tennis centre of 2 courts’.  

The proposed location in 
Cromer would be outside the 
catchment of residents of 
Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. 

Breckland 
District 
Council 

Breckland Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and 
Recreational Facilities’ (2017) identified that ‘the recommendation is 
not to consider provision of an indoor tennis centre, until there is 
an increase in tennis participation and a viable club base that can 
create sufficient demand for at least 2 indoor courts’. 

There are no facilities in 
Breckland to serve the needs 
of West Norfolk residents. 

West 
Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) concludes that 
‘spare capacity at the existing indoor tennis facilities in the district 
can meet all current and future demand to 2040’. 

There is some limited spare 
capacity to accommodate 
demand from the Downham 
Market sub-area. 

 
9.11 Sport-specific priorities 

 

The LTA’s Vision is ‘tennis is for everyone. All ages, all backgrounds, all levels of fitness, all 
abilities. Anyone can pick up a racket, anyone can be part of the tennis family’.  
 

Table 66: Sports specific facilities priorities for tennis 
 

Facilities priorities  Implications for 
Kings Lynn and 

West Norfolk 
The LTA Strategic Plan 2024 - 2026 ‘Tennis for Britain’ (2024) contains the following 
priorities: 

• Embed and grow LTA Youth across all venues and in the hearts and minds of 
children, parents, and the tennis workforce.  

• Engage with and promote different formats of the sport and ways to play and 
enable a flexible approach to equipment to support positive experiences for 
adult players.  

• Deliver resilient digital services, transformational digital products, and increase 
nationwide adoption of LTA Play Tennis.  

• Implement and support comprehensive parks tennis operating models, 
particularly through Free Parks Tennis, Local Tennis Leagues and programme 
delivery in parks.  

• Develop and enhance our support and engagement with Local Authorities, 
Active Partnerships, our Member Organisations, venues and operators to open 
up tennis. 

Some opportunities 
to improve local 
facilities, linked to 
tennis participation 
programmes. 

495



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 91 

Consultation with the Lawn Tennis Association identified the following issues: 
 

• To establish target locations for future community indoor tennis centres, the LTA modelled 
data from existing successful indoor tennis centres. This helped to identify the demographic 
type, volume and catchment size of a successful indoor facility. This modelling was applied 
across the country to establish the areas of potential demand. 

 

• The key metrics established are that a target location must demonstrate a minimum threshold 
population of 70,000 within a 20 minute drive time. Of this population, at least 12,500 must 
identify as having an interest in playing tennis. The drive time extends to 30 minutes for rural 
areas. 

 

• This approach has enabled the LTA to identify 72 target locations for new indoor tennis 
venues in England. Kings Lynn is identified as a priority target area for indoor tennis 
provision. 

 
Consultation with the outdoor tennis clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk identified the 
following issues: 
 

• Collectively, the eight LTA-affiliated clubs in the borough have 1,162 members.  
 

• Demand for tennis locally shows a slight increase over the past three years. 
 

9.12 Future demand for indoor tennis courts  
 

9.11.1 Population growth 
 
Two scenarios are considered: 

 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 (or 16.1%). 

 

9.11.2 Participation rates 
 

• LTA national adult tennis participation rates: The LTA’s participation data for 2022 
shows and upward trend in participation rates for adult tennis (people aged 16 and over): 

 
- The number of adults reporting that they had played tennis during the year increased 

43% compared to the previous year, rising from 3.3 million to 4.7 million from January 
through to December.  This is the highest total recorded since 2017 and has continued 
the growth seen in 2018-19 which was interrupted during the pandemic.  

 
- In addition, more than two million adults play monthly, and this is the highest level 

recorded since the LTA started tracking this measure seven years ago. 

 
- This means that the LTA has achieved the targets set out in its five-year 2018-23 strategy 

for adult annual and monthly participation one year ahead of schedule. 

496



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 92 

- Finally, children’s weekly participation in tennis has seen positive growth in the past year 
with over three and a half million children playing tennis with an extra 328,000 children 
playing tennis in schools. 

 
Table 67: LTA national tennis adult participation rates 2018 - 2020 

 

Frequency 
of play 

Feb-Apr 
2018 

Feb-Apr 
2019 

Feb-Apr 
2020 

Feb-Apr 
2021 

Feb-Apr 
2022 

% Change 

Past year 7.29% 6.91% 7.77% 5.20% 8.11% +0.81% 

Past month 2.07% 2.23% 2.09% 1.18% 3.24% +1.17% 

 

• LTA junior tennis participation rates: The LTA’s participation data shows an upward 
trend in participation rates for junior tennis (people aged between 4 and 15): 

 
Table 68: LTA national tennis junior participation rates 2020 - 2022 

 

Apr 2020 Apr 2021 Apr 2022 % Change 
9% 11% 15% +6% 

 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 69: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Sports participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 

9.11.3 Future projections 
 

National tennis participation rates have been falling in recent years as have general activity rates in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk over the same period, it would therefore be reasonable to assume 
that demand for tennis will remain static until 2040. An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor tennis capacity by a 
similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor tennis capacity by a similar amount. In both 
cases, this can also be accommodated by existing spare capacity.  
 

9.13 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Tennis participation rates in the borough are projected to remain static until 2040.  
 

• Population growth of in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by 2040 will increase demand for 
indoor tennis court capacity by a similar amount. 

 

• The LTA has identified Kings Lynn is identified as a priority target area for community 
indoor tennis centre provision. 

497



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 93 

 
9.14 Changes since 2023 

 
There have been no significant changes in indoor tennis court demand since 2023. 

 
9.15 The balance between indoor tennis court supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between indoor tennis court supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough courts with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the courts fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the courts in the right location for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Availability: Are the courts available for those who want to use them now and in the future? 
 

9.16 Quantity 
 

9.14.1 Current needs 
 

Current indoor tennis courts needs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are met in part by the Sports 
Barn and Alive Lynnsport and in part by the provision at accessible facilities in neighbouring areas, 
based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used capacity: Peak usage rates average 60% at Alive Lynnsport (including athletics and 
football) and 80% at accessible facilities in neighbouring areas, indicating some limited spare 
capacity.  
 

• Satisfied demand: There is no evidence of unmet demand in the borough. 
 

9.14.2 Future needs 
 

Spare capacity at the existing Lynnsport facility and indoor tennis courts in neighbouring areas is 
likely to be able to accommodate all additional future demand, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Demand increases: An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor tennis capacity by a similar amount. 
Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population 
by 2040 will increase demand for indoor tennis capacity by a similar amount. 
 

• Participation trends: Based on national and local sports participation trends, for the 
purposes of forecasting future demand the likeliest scenario is for participation rates to 
remain at their current levels.  

 

• Additional needs: The LTA has identified Kings Lynn is identified as a priority target area 
for community indoor tennis centre provision. 

 
 

498



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 94 

9.17 Quality 
 

9.15.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of the indoor courts at Lynnsport is ‘standard because of the non-specialist court 
surface and accessible facilities in neighbouring areas are both rated as ‘good’.  
 

9.15.2 Future quality 
 

It seems reasonable to assume that courts at Lynnsport and accessible facilities in neighbouring 
areas will continue to be maintained to a high standard. 

 
9.18 Accessibility 

 

9.16.1 Current accessibility 
 

Most of the population in the north of the borough is within 30-minutes’ drive time of an indoor 
tennis court either in the borough or in a neighbouring area. 
 

9.16.2 Future accessibility 
 

Future accessibility is likely to remain the same. 
 

9.19 Availability 
 

9.17.1 Current availability 
 

‘Pay-and-play’ access to the indoor courts is available at Alive Lynnsport. 
 

9.17.2 Future availability 
 

Future availability is likely to reflect the current arrangements. 

 

9.20 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which indoor tennis court provision in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Indoor tennis is a specialist activity that appeals to a limited cross-section of the community 
and as such it is unlikely to engage many new or lapsed participants. 
 

• The courts in the sports barn at Alive Lynnsport are also used for tennis and athletics so the 
multi-functional nature of the facility delivers opportunities with wider appeal. 

 
9.21 The options for securing additional indoor tennis court capacity 

 
The options for securing existing indoor tennis court capacity to meet current and future needs are 
as follows: 
 

499



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 95 

9.19.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of existing tennis courts through the Local 
Plan will be key to securing local provision. Planning policy supports the retention of existing 
facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been identified, unless the loss of a facility 
would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality and accessibility. 
 

9.19.2 Provide 
 

The LTA has identified Kings Lynn is identified as a priority target area for community indoor 
tennis centre provision. Investigating in greater detail the feasibility of providing for the identified 
needs would be beneficial.  
 

9.22 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for indoor tennis courts. The implementation of proposals 
will be subject to resource availability (and in some instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms 
of funding and the staffing necessary to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 70: Action plan for indoor tennis  
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of existing 
indoor tennis 
facilities. 

Consider including a policy in the Local 
Plan to protect all existing health and 
fitness facilities. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Protection of existing 
indoor tennis courts 
in neighbouring areas. 

Co-operate with West Suffolk Council 
to include a policy in its local plan to 
protect all existing indoor tennis courts. 

KL&WNBC West Suffolk 
Council 

- High 

The need for a 
Community Indoor 
Tennis Centre 

Commission a feasibility study to 
explore the potential for providing a 
community indoor tennis centre in 
Kings Lynn. 

LTA KL&WNBC £10,000 Medium 

 

  

500



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 96 

10 INDOOR BOWLS FACILITIES 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are two indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk and 
three facilities in neighbouring areas are close enough to serve the borough’s needs. 
There is sufficient spare capacity at existing indoor facilities to cater for all additional 
demand to 2040. 

 

• Quality: The quality of the facilities is generally good. 
 

• Accessibility: The whole borough population is within the 30-minute drivetime 
catchment of an indoor bowls facility. 

 

• Availability: Both facilities provide ‘pay-and-play’ opportunities as well as memberships. 

 

10.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
Indoor bowls halls are defined specialist indoor facilities with appropriate playing surface and rink 
dimensions for bowls. 
 

10.2 Quantity 
 

10.2.1 Indoor Bowls Facilities with Community Use 
 
There are two indoor bowls facility in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Both have secured 
community access: 
 

Table 71: Indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  

 

Facility  Address Rinks Sub-area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn PE30 2NB 5 Kings Lynn 

Oasis Leisure Centre Seagate Road. Hunstanton PE36 5BD 4 Hunstanton 

 
10.2.2 Indoor bowls facilities that recently closed 
 

Table 72: Recently closed indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  

 

Facility  Address Rinks Sub-area 
Pentney Indoor Bowls Club Narborough Road, Pentney PE32 1JD 6 Kings Lynn 

 

10.2.3 Sub-area analysis 
 

The distribution of indoor bowls facilities with community use by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk is as follows: 
 
 

501



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 97 

Table 73: Indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Sub-area population 2020 No. rinks Rinks per capita 
Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 4 1: 7,079 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 5 1: 13,529 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 0 - 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 9 1: 16,805 

 
10.3 Quality 
 
The quality of the indoor bowls hall was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection during a site 
visit. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 

 

• The green: The overall condition, lighting, spectator provision, equipment storage and 
fitness for purpose. 

 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Car parking, signposting, external lighting and proximity to public transport. 

 
The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’. The ratings for the indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 74: ‘Indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Green Changing Disability Access General access 
Alive Lynnsport 5 5 5 5 

Oasis Leisure Centre 5 4 5 4 

 
Disabled access is rated as ‘very good’ or ‘good’ at all facilities in the borough. 

 
10.4 Accessibility 
 
Based on Sport England research, the ‘effective catchment’ for indoor bowls facilities (defined as 
the time/distance travelled and the prevailing mode of transport used by up to 90% of facility 
users) is 30 minutes driving time. The whole population of the borough is within 30-minutes’ drive 
time of an indoor bowls green. 

 

502



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 98 

 

503



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 99 

 
10.5 Availability 
 
The table below shows the basis of use of indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk.  
 

Table 75: Availability of indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 

Facility Opening hours and basis of use Pricing Peak use 
Alive Lynnsport Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 

Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm 
Members and casual users 

Adult annual membership £44 
Junior annual membership Free 
Adult ‘pay-and-play’ £7.20 
Junior ‘pay-and-play’ £5.20 

70% 

Oasis Leisure Centre Mon-Fri 7am - 9.30pm 
Sat-Sun 7.30am - 6pm 
Members and casual users 

Adult annual membership £44 
Junior annual membership Free 
Adult ‘pay-and-play’ £7.20 
Junior ‘pay-and-play’ £5.20 

60% 

 
10.6 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are two indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, collectively comprising 
nine rinks. 
 

• The quality of all facilities is generally ‘good’. 
 

• The whole population is within 30-minutes’ drive of an indoor bowls green.  
 

• Both facilities are available for casual use. 

  
10.7 Changes since 2023 

 
Pentney Indoor Bowls Club closed in 2024, which reduced local indoor rink capacity by 40%: 

 
10.8 Current demand for bowls facilities 
 

10.8.1 Expressed demand 
 
Sport England’s ‘Indoor Bowls Guidance Note’ (2005) stipulates that full capacity for an indoor bowls 
facility is reached at 80 - 100 members per rink. The respective membership figures at the three 
facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, compared with the facility capacities is tabulated below: 
 

Table 76: Used capacity of indoor bowls facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility Capacity 2024 Membership % Used Capacity 
Alive Lynnsport 400 - 500 167 22% - 42% 

Oasis Leisure Centre 320 - 400 121 30% - 38% 

 
 

504



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 100 

10.8.2 Displaced demand 
 

The following facilities are located in adjacent local authority areas, close enough to the borough 
boundary to provide usage opportunities for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. Two other 
facilities within the catchment of the borough boundary in Wisbech (Fenland) and Long Sutton 
(South Holland) both recently closed due to falling demand: 
 

Table 77: Indoor bowls facilities in neighbouring areas 
 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Gallow Indoor Bowls Club The Racecourse, Fakenham NR21 7NY 4 miles 

Lakenheath Indoor Bowls Club Back Street, Lakenheath IP27 9HN 2.5 miles 

Sutton St. James Indoor BC Fishergate, Sutton St. James PE12 0EN 6 miles 
 

10.8.3 Unmet demand 
 

There is no evidence of any unmet demand in the borough. 
 

10.9 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

The table below summarises strategic assessments of indoor bowls needs in neighbouring areas. 
 

Table 78: Assessments of indoor bowls needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

East 
Cambs 
District 
Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, Strategy and 
Action Plan’ (2015) identifies ‘current demand for 5.81 rinks. The 
future demand for indoor bowls facilities in East Cambridgeshire is 
7.6 rinks. Therefore, with the current supply of 10 rinks, both current 
and future demand for indoor bowls facilities in the district is met’. 

There are no facilities in 
East Cambs close enough to 
serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

Fenland 
District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 2031’ (2016) 
identifies that ‘there is currently an oversupply of indoor bowls rinks 
of 4.77 indoor rinks. Allowing for an additional 1.32 rinks to meet 
future demand population growth there remains an oversupply of 
3.45 indoor rinks by 2031, assuming all existing provision is retained’. 

There are no facilities in 
Fenland close enough to 
serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

South 
Holland 
District 
Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ (2018) identifies 
that ‘there is sufficient spare capacity at existing indoor facilities to 
accommodate all additional demand to 2040 and this should add to 
the long-term viability of the current clubs.  

The Sutton St. James facility 
is close enough to serve 
some needs of West Norfolk 
residents. 

North 
Norfolk 
District 
Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) identified that 
‘there is no need for additional provision of indoor bowling centres 
or rinks. The focus should be on supporting the existing centres to 
increase their membership (as there is around 40% of spare capacity 
across all centres). The projected increase in demand for indoor 
bowls from population growth can be absorbed by the spare capacity 
at the existing venues’.  

The Fakenham facility is 
close enough to serve some 
needs of West Norfolk 
residents. 

  

505



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 101 

Local 
Authority 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Breckland 
District 
Council 

Breckland Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and 
Recreational Facilities’ (2017) identified that ‘the supply of indoor 
bowling centres is more than sufficient to meet current demand and 
can accommodate a very large increase in membership. Overall there 
is more than sufficient provision of indoor bowling centres in 
Breckland to 2031’. 

There are no facilities in 
Breckland close enough to 
serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

West 
Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) concludes that 
‘spare capacity at the existing indoor bowls facilities in the district can 
meet all current and future demand to 2040’. 

The Lakenheath facility is 
close enough to serve some 
West Norfolk needs. 

 

10.10 Sport-specific priorities 
 

Consultation with The English Indoor Bowling Association in 2025 identified the following issues: 
 

• ‘Since the 2022 NGB Consultation, the situation has changed with regards to the provision 
of purpose built Indoor Bowls sites. There are now only two clubs in this Local authority, 
both being located in Leisure Centres. There are no alternative sites within the recommended 
driving time of 30 minutes’. 
 

• ‘As the sport is popular with the ‘older population’ and participants with disabilities, 
especially Wheelchair and Visually Impaired, it is vital that the clubs in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk Local continue to operate and enable the local population to enjoy our wonderful 
sport’. 

 

• ‘All of our Affiliated Clubs are encouraged to: 
 

- Develop and implement a robust Sports Development Plan.  
 

- Actively review the Sport England ‘Buddle’ website. 
 

- Ensure that they actively promote their club in the local community amongst those who 
are both able-bodied and classified as disabled’. 

 

• ‘Where clubs have an effective recruitment and retention programme in place, we are seeing 
that they are able to recruit sufficient members to cover natural wastage and in many cases, 
increase their membership numbers’. 
 

• ‘As well as internal club bowling, both local clubs are active participants in the Norfolk 
County Inter-Club League, which is available to all clubs with four or more rinks. A minimum 
of Four Rinks is also recommended by the EIBA to ensure that any facility can be 
sustainable’. 

 

• ‘We are somewhat surprised that there are only opportunities at both local sites for casual 
and wheelchair bowling on a Wednesday’. 

 

• ‘For indoor bowls facility planning purposes, the following criteria should be applied: 
 

506



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 102 

- The catchment should be 30-minutes’ driving time. 
 

- As a guide, demand is calculated as one rink per 14,000-17,000 of total population. 
A six-rink green, therefore, is required for a population of 85,000-100,000.  

 
- Assume 80-100 members per rink. 

 

10.11 Future demand for bowls  
 

10.11.1 Population growth 
 
Two scenarios are considered: 

 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 157,689 by 
2040, an increase of 3,389 (or 2.2%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 174,030 by 2040, an 
increase of 19,730 or 12.8%. 

 

10.11.2 Participation rates 
 

• National bowls trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for bowls at national level since 2015: 
 

Table 79: ‘Active Lives’ survey national bowls participation rates 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
0.8% 0.8% 0.7% 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.6% 0.6% -0.2% 

 

Local general trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the 
adult (16+) population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that 
whilst rates have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 
and 2020: 
 
Table 80: ‘Active Lives’ Sports participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015 - 2023 

 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 

• Local bowls trends: Recent membership trends at the facilities in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk are as follows: 
 

Table 81: Recent membership trends at indoor bowls clubs Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2018 - 2021 
 

Facility 2018 2019 2021 2025 % Change 2018 - 2025 
Alive Lynnsport 160 154 104 167 +4% 

Oasis Leisure Centre 144 148 119 121 -16% 

Pentney  IBC 146 158 120 0 -100% 

TOTALS 450 460 343 288 -36% 

507



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 103 

10.11.3 Future projections 
 
Sport England has developed the Sport Facility Calculator (SFC), to help to quantify how much 
additional demand for key community facilities like indoor bowls halls, will be generated by 
population increases. The SFC uses Sport England survey data on who uses facilities and applies 
this to the population profile of the local area. This builds up a profile of usage, which can be then 
applied to estimate how much demand any given population would generate. This demand is then 
converted into the quantity of facilities needed and expressed as rinks to define indoor bowls needs.  
Two population scenarios are considered: 

 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections population growth of 4,750 by 2040, an 
increase of 3.1%. Based upon this, the SFC calculates demand for an additional 0.10 of an 
indoor bowls rink or 0.02 of an indoor bowls centre. 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts population growth of 25,000 by 2040, 
an increase of 16.1%. Based upon this, the SFC calculates demand for an additional 0.53 of 
an indoor bowls rink or 0.14 of an indoor bowls centre. 

 

10.12 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Expressed demand for indoor bowls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has fallen in recent 
years, reflecting a downward trend nationally. 

 

• Utilisation rates at indoor bowls facilities in the borough are between 26% and 40% meaning 
that there is substantial spare capacity to accommodate additional demand. 

 

• Population growth of 3.1% in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by 2040 based on the lower 
population estimate will increase demand for indoor bowls facility capacity by a similar 
amount, whilst an increased population of 16.1% based on the higher estimate will increase 
demand for indoor bowls facility capacity by a similar amount.  

 
10.13 Changes since 2023 

 
Local bowls club membership has fallen by 36% since 2018 and by 16% since 2021. Membership 
at Alive Lynnsport increased between 2021 and 2025 as a result of the closure of the Pentney 
Indoor Bowls Club, with some former members transferring. 

 
10.14 The balance between indoor bowls supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between indoor bowls supply and demand 
in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Do the facilities have sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

508



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 104 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use it now and in the future? 
 

10.15 Quantity 
 

10.15.1 Current needs 
 

The indoor bowls facilities serving Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed to be operating with 
significant spare capacity, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used capacity: The average usage at the three facilities is less than 30% of capacity. 
 

• Satisfied demand: There is no evidence of unmet demand in the borough. 
 
10.15.2 Future needs 
 
Spare capacity at the existing indoor facilities will be able to accommodate all additional future 
demand, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Demand trends: Given the sustained decrease in demand for indoor bowls both locally and 
nationally, it is likely that demand will continue to fall until 2040.  

 

• Additional indoor bowls needs: The Sport Facility Calculator assesses that the extra 
demand is equivalent to 0.10 indoor rinks for the lower population estimate and 0.53 of a 
rink for the higher estimate. The additional demand can be accommodated by spare capacity 
at the existing facilities. 

 

• Rationalising provision: Current spare capacity at the existing facilities is sufficient to 
accommodate any additional demand to 2040. Given the trend of falling demand and 
notwithstanding the recent loss of the Pentney facility, consideration could be given to 
reducing the number of rinks at both Lynnsport and the Oasis Centre at such time as either 
facility is redeveloped (although four rinks is the minimum required for league play). 

 

10.16 Quality 
 

10.16.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of most aspects of all facilities is ‘good’. 
 

10.16.2 Future quality 
 

There will need to be continued investment in maintaining and improving the existing facilities. 
 

10.17 Accessibility 
 

10.17.1 Current accessibility 
 

The whole population is within 30-minutes’ drive of an indoor bowls facility in the borough and/or 
in a neighbouring area.  
 
 

509



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 105 

10.17.2 Future accessibility 
 

The current geographical spread of facilities will meet the needs of the increased population by 
2040.  
 

10.18 Availability 
 

10.18.1 Current availability 
 

Both facilities provide ‘pay-and-play’ opportunities in addition to membership arrangements. 
 

10.18.2 Future availability 
 

It is reasonable to assume that similar arrangements for use will be offered in the future. 
 

10.19 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which indoor bowls provision in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Bowls appeals to the older age groups, which matches the demographic profile of the 
borough with its relatively elderly population. 
 

• The geographical coverage of facilities in the borough optimises accessibility. 

 
10.20 The options for securing additional indoor bowls capacity 

 

The options for securing indoor bowls capacity to meet current and future needs are as follows: 
 

10.20.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies should be considered for the protection of indoor bowls 
facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been identified, unless the loss of a facility 
can be justified by sustained reductions in demand or would involve rationalising provision to 
better meet current and future needs. 
 

10.20.2 Provide 
 

With significant spare capacity at all three existing indoor facilities, all additional demand can be 
accommodated by current spare capacity. 
 

10.20.3 Enhance 
 

Enhancing the existing indoor bowls facilities by ensuring that the green and ancillary facilities 
receive regular maintenance and improvements will be important. 

 

  

510



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 106 

10.21 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for indoor bowls facilities to guide the implementation of 
the strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 82: Action plan for indoor bowls  
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of existing 
indoor bowls facilities. 

Consider including a policy in the 
Local Plan to protect indoor bowls 
facilities for which demand has been 
identified. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Improving the viability 
of existing indoor bowls 
facilities. 

Assess the case for rationalising 
provision to improve the viability of 
facilities.  

KL&WNBC - - High 

  

511



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 107 

11 GYMNASTICS FACILITIES 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are two specialist gymnastics centres in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
and one non-specialist facility. Extra facilities capacity will be required to meet additional 
demand to 2040. 

 

• Quality: The quality of all aspects of the facilities used is rated as at least ‘good’ 
 

• Accessibility: The population in the north and south of the borough are outside the 
catchment of a specialist facility. 

 

• Availability: There are no availability issues. 
 

11.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
Specialist gymnastics facilities are defined as permanently rigged, built facilities that cater for the 
needs of gymnastics and trampolining. Non-specialist facilities comprise sports halls and smaller 
halls that accommodate gymnastics and trampolining on a regular basis, involving the temporary 
installation of equipment. These needs have therefore also been reflected in the section assessing 
general sports hall provision. 
 

11.2 Quantity 
 

11.2.1 Purpose-built facilities 
 

The following purpose-built facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk both have secured 
community access: 
 

Table 83: Specialist gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Club Location Sub-area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 2NB Kings Lynn 

Eagles Gymnastics Club Hamlin Way, Kings Lynn PE30 4NG Kings Lynn 
 

11.2.2 Non-specialist facilities 
 

Local clubs also use the following non-specialist facilities: 
 

Table 84: Non-specialist facilities used for gymnastics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Club Facility Location Sub-area 
Titans Gymnastics 
Club 

Walpole St. Andrews 
Community Centre 

Summer Close, Walpole St. Andrew PE14 
7JW 

Downham 
Market 

 

11.2.3 Sub-area analysis 
 

The distribution of specialist and non-specialist gymnastics facilities by sub-area in Kings Lynn  and 
West Norfolk is as follows: 

512



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 108 

Table 85: Gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by sub-area 
 

Sub-area Sub-area population 2020 No. facilities Facilities per capita 
Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 0 - 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 2 1: 33,822 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 1 1: 55,286 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 3 1: 50,415 

 

11.3 Quality 
 

The quality of facilities used by gymnastics clubs was assessed by a non-technical visual inspection 
during a site visit to all sites. The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 
 

• The hall: The quality of the activity space, including lighting and storage facilities. 
 

• The equipment: The quality of the equipment, matted areas and foam-filled pits. 
 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Parking, signage and proximity to public transport. 
 

The criteria were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’.  
 

Table 86: Gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Hall Equipment Changing Disability 
access 

General 
access 

Alive Lynnsport 4 4 5 5 5 

Eagles Gymnastics Club 4 4 4 5 4 

Walpole St. Andrews Community Centre 4 4 4 5 4 

 
Disabled access is rated as ‘very good’ or ‘good’ at all facilities in the borough. 

  
11.4 Accessibility 
 

The ‘effective catchment’ for gymnastics facilities is 20 minutes driving time. The population in 
the north and south of the borough are outside the catchment of a specialist facility.  

513



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 109 

 

514



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 110 

11.5 Availability 
 

11.5.1 Purpose-built facilities 
 

Table 87: Availability of specialist gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility Opening hours and basis of use Pricing Peak use Secured access 
Alive Lynnsport Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 

Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm 
Members only 

£22.50 - £30 
per month 

80% Yes 

Eagles Gymnastics 
Club 

Mon 5pm - 8pm 
Tues 4pm - 8pm 
Weds 4pm - 8pm 
Thurs 12pm - 2.30pm 4pm - 7.30pm 
Fri 12pm - 2.30pm 4pm - 7.30pm 
Sat 9.30am - 7pm 
Members only 

£20 - £50 per 
month 

80% Yes 

 

11.5.2 Non-specialist facilities 
 

The table below identifies the opening hours and gymnastics usage of the non-specialist facilities: 
 

Table 88: Availability of non-specialist gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility Usage time for gymnastics Secured access 
Walpole St. Andrews Community 
Centre 

Thurs 6pm - 8pm 
Fri 6pm - 8pm 
Sat 9am - 12pm 

Yes 

 

11.6 Key findings on supply 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are two specialist gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, plus one non-
specialist hall.  

 

• The quality of most aspects of all facilities used is rated as at least ‘good’. Whilst being of 
‘good’ general quality, the gymnastics hall at Lynnsport is too short to accommodate a full-
sized tumbling track. 

 

• The population in the north and south of the borough are outside the catchment of a specialist 
facility. 

 

11.7 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no changes in gymnastics facilities provision in the borough since 2023. 

 
11.8 Current demand for Gymnastics 
 

11.8.1 Expressed demand 
 

There are three gymnastics clubs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

515



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 111 

• Kings Lynn Gymnastics Club: The club has 180 members and is based at Lynnsport. In 
addition between 500 and 600 non-members are enrolled in the gymnastics lessons 
programme at Alive Lynnsport. 
 

• Eagles Gymnastics Club: The club has 284 members and is based at a specialist facility in 
Kings Lynn. 

 

• Titans Gymnastics Club: The club has 50 members and is based at Walpole St. Andrews 
Community Centre. 

 
11.8.2 Displaced demand 

 
The following facilities are located in adjacent local authority areas, close enough to the borough 
boundary to provide usage opportunities for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 
 

Table 89: Specialist gymnastics facilities in neighbouring areas 
 

Facility  Address Distance from Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

Fenland Flyers Trampoline Club • Harecroft Road, Wisbech PE13 1RL 1 mile 

Holbeach and Fenland Gym Club • Lime Walk, Long Sutton PE12 9HG 4 miles 

Fenland Gymnastics Academy Algores Way, Wisbech PE13 2TQ 1 mile 

 
11.8.3 Unmet demand 
 
Unmet demand involves two components: 
 

• Demand that cannot be met within a facility catchment due to excess demand for that facility. 
 

• Demand that cannot be met because it is located outside the catchment of a facility. 
 

There is some evidence of unmet demand for gymnastics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Kings 
Lynn Gymnastics Club operates a waiting list. 
 

11.9 Local sports participation priorities 
 
There are no specific local sports participation priorities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, other 
than a general policy commitment to promote health and well-being through increased levels of 
physical activity. Gymnastics appeals to young people in particular and from that perspective it 
offers one option in the campaign against childhood obesity. 
 

11.10 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 
The table below summarises strategic assessments of gymnastics needs in neighbouring areas. 
 
  

516



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 112 

Table 90: Assessments of gymnastics needs in neighbouring areas 
 

Local Authority Facilities priorities Implications for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

East Cambs 
District Council 

The ‘East Cambridgeshire Sports Facilities Needs Assessment, 
Strategy and Action Plan’ (2015) does not include an 
assessment of gymnastics facilities needs. 

There are no facilities in East 
Cambs close enough to serve 
the needs of West Norfolk 
residents. 

Fenland District 
Council 

The ‘Fenland District Indoor Sports Facility Strategy 2016 - 
2031’ (2016) identifies that ‘Current and future need has 
been identified by British Gymnastics for additional 
provision for gymnastics clubs’.  

Two facilities in Wisbech 
serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

South Holland 
District Council 

The ‘South Holland Sports Facilities Strategy 2018-2023’ 
(2018) identifies that ‘current gymnastics facilities are 
assessed to be at operating at full capacity. One additional 
facility will be required to meet future demand to 2040’. 

The Long Sutton facility is 
close enough to serve some 
needs of West Norfolk 
residents. 

North Norfolk 
District Council 

The ‘North Norfolk Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy’ (2015) 
identified that ‘there is a need for a specialist facility for 
North Walsham Sports Hall Gymnastics Club’.  

There are no facilities in 
North Norfolk close enough 
to serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

Breckland District 
Council 

Breckland Council’s ‘Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports 
and Recreational Facilities’ (2017) does not include an 
assessment of gymnastics facilities needs. 

There are no facilities in 
Breckland close enough to 
serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

West Suffolk 
Council 

The ‘West Suffolk Sports Facilities Assessment’ (2022) 
concludes that ‘current gymnastics facilities are assessed 
to be at operating at full capacity. Additional capacity will 
be required to meet future demand to 2040’. 

There are no facilities in 
West Suffolk close enough 
to serve the needs of West 
Norfolk residents. 

 

11.11 Sport-specific priorities 
 

11.11.1 Strategy 
 

Table 91: Gymnastics facilities strategy 
 

Facilities priorities Implications for Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk 

British Gymnastics’ ‘Facility Strategy 2017-2021’ (2017) identifies facilities options: 

• Standalone dedicated facilities - Achievable for most clubs. Can provide for 
participation and competition. 

• Multi-venue dedicated facilities - For large club-based organisations looking 
to further expand opportunities. 

• Dedicated facility as part of a multi-sport venue - Most likely to be local 
authority-based projects.  

• Non-dedicated space as part of leisure centre - Ideal for club delivery and 
mass participation activities.  

• Satellite venues - Opportunities for clubs to scale up their programmes and 
increase activity options.  

• Non-dedicated spaces in leisure centres - Ideal for introductory level, mass 
participation programmes. 

There are two specialist 
facilities in the borough. 

517



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 113 

11.11.2 Consultation with British Gymnastics 
 
Consultation with British Gymnastics’ Facilities Development Partner identified that: 
 

• ‘There is a large demand for more gymnastics opportunities and clubs all report large waiting 
lists. The total number of people estimated to be on waiting lists for gymnastics in 2020 was 
1 million, with a further 1.9 million interested in the sport but not on a waiting list’.  
 

• ‘A key part of British Gymnastics’ strategy to increase participation is to support clubs moving 
into their own dedicated facility, offering more time and space for classes. The target by 2021 
if for half of all clubs to have their own dedicated facilities, compared with one-third in 2014’. 

 

• ‘The main issue for gymnastics development is having access to sufficient dedicated space to 
enable clubs to grow and extend their programmes. The other key factor is the availability of 
coaches qualified at the right level’.   

 

• ‘Eligible British Gymnastics clubs are able to apply for Club Capital, a social investment 
impact loan. The £10m Club Capital fund offers unsecured loans of between £25,000 to 
£250,000 (up to £750,000 in exceptional circumstances) to enable clubs to move into new, or 
expand or safeguard existing, dedicated gymnastics facilities. Most loans will be over 4 years 
at an interest rate of 4%. 21 projects have gained approval thus far’. 

 

• ‘Recent developments for dedicated gymnastic provision include modular buildings and use 
of former retail units in town centres’. 

 

• ‘Titans Gymnastics Club are registered on our Facility Project List as wanting to develop a 
dedicated facility project. We understand that they have had to relocate due to lack of access 
to facilities during the pandemic. Supporting Titan’s to increase access to both non dedicated 
and dedicated space is a priority’. 

 

• ‘Ensuring that Kings Lynn Gymnastics Club and Eagles Gymnastics club have long term 
access to dedicated spaces is also a priority’. 

 

• ‘In neighbouring areas both Fenland Gymnastics Academy and Fenland Flyers  are registered 
on our Facility Project List. Fenland Gymnastics Academy state that they are at capacity in 
their existing dedicated facility and Fenland Flyers would like to transition from a non-
dedicated to dedicated facility’.  

 

11.12 Future demand for Gymnastics  
 

11.12.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 (or 16.1%). 

 

518



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 114 

11.12.2 Participation rates 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded young people’s (under 
16s) weekly participation rates for gymnastics at national level since 2017: 
 

Table 92: ‘Active Lives’ survey national gymnastics participation rates 2017 - 2024 
 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2121-22 2022-23 2023-24 % Change 
13.6% 14.3% 13.6% 8.9% 11.7% 12.3% 12.4% -1.2% 

 

• Figures supplied by British Gymnastics suggest that participation in gymnastics is increasing, 
contrary to the ‘Active Lives’  figures which are for adults only. British Gymnastics membership 
reached 390,500 in 2017 and increased by about 12% in the period 2013-17. There was an 
increase in the East region of 12,000 participants to 43,000 in the years 2014 to 2020. 
 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 
Table 93: ‘Active Lives’ Sports participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015 - 2023 

 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 
11.12.3 Future projections 
 
An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase 
demand for gymnastics facilities capacity by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 
or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase demand for 
gymnastics capacity by a similar amount. In both cases, this is likely to require additional facilities 
provision. 
 

11.13 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Expressed demand for gymnastics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is increasing but can be 
accommodated by current facilities supply at present.  
 

• An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will 
increase demand for gymnastics facilities capacity by a similar amount. Alternatively, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will 
increase demand for gymnastics capacity by a similar amount. In both cases, this is likely to 
require additional facilities provision. 

 

11.14 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no significant changes in demand for gymnastics since 2023. 
  

519



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 115 

11.15 The balance between gymnastics facilities supply and demand 
 
Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between gymnastics facilities supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right physical location for the users now and in the 
future? 

 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

11.16 Quantity 
 

11.16.1 Current needs 
 

Current gymnastics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed to be at operating at 
close to full capacity. 

 
11.16.2 Future needs 
 
There will be sufficient capacity to accommodate all additional future demand, based upon the 
following evaluation: 
 

• Demand increases: An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for gymnastics facilities capacity by a similar 
amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for gymnastics capacity by a similar amount. In 
both cases, this is likely to require additional facilities provision. 

 

• Participation trends: Expressed demand for gymnastics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
is increasing and this is likely to continue until 2040, offset slightly by the falling number of 
people aged under 18.  

 

11.17 Quality 
 

11.17.1 Current quality 
 

All aspects of the facilities used for gymnastics in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are rated as at 
least ‘good’ quality. However, the gymnastics hall at Lynnsport is currently too short to 
accommodate a full-sized tumbling track. 

 
  

520



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 116 

11.17.2 Future quality 
 

It is assumed that local providers will continue to invest in maintaining and improving their 
facilities, so if this process can be assisted with funding from developer contributions in the future, 
it seems reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. If the 
opportunity arises to extend the gymnastics facility at Lynnsport in the future, it should be taken.  

 
11.18 Accessibility 

 

11.18.1 Current accessibility 
 

The population in the north and south of the borough are outside the catchment of a specialist 
facility. 

 
11.18.2 Future accessibility 

 
The current facilities are geographically poorly-located to serve boroughwide need, given the 
absence of specialist provision in the north of the borough. 

 

11.19 Availability 
 

11.19.1 Current availability 
 

All local clubs have membership fees that are set at reasonable rates. 

 
11.19.2 Future availability 

 
It is reasonable to assume that similar membership arrangements will be offered in the future. If 
an additional capacity is provided, the additional capacity will improve availability. 
 

11.20 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which gymnastics facilities provision in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Gymnastics is most popular with younger people and whilst they form a lower than average 
proportion of the local population, early involvement in sport and physical activity can create 
positive early years experiences. 
 

• Specialist facility provision is concentrated in the central part of the borough, creating an 
accessibility deficiency in the north and south. 

 
11.21 The options for securing additional gymnastics facilities 

 
The options for securing existing and additional facilities capacity for gymnastics to meet current 
and future needs are as follows: 
 
 
 

521



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 117 

11.21.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of existing facilities used for gymnastics 
through the Local Plan will be key to securing local provision, by ensuring that planning policy 
supports the retention of existing facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been 
identified, unless the loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the 
equivalent size, quality and accessibility. 
 

11.21.2 Provide 
 

There is a need to provide additional facilities capacity for gymnastics in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk by 2040. This could be met through additional specialist facilities provision, extra sports 
hall capacity or a combination of the two. If the opportunity arises to extend the gymnastics facility 
at Lynnsport in the future, it should be taken. 
 

11.21.3 Enhance 
 

Ensuring that existing facilities used for gymnastics receive regular maintenance and improvements 
will be key to maintaining capacity. 
 

11.22 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for gymnastics facilities to guide the implementation of 
the strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in some 
instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing necessary 
to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 94: Action plan for gymnastics facilities 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing specialist 
gymnastics facilities. 

Consider including a policy in the 
Local Plan to protect the existing 
specialist gymnastics facility. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

Additional specialist 
gymnastics facilities  
required to meet 
future needs. 

Examine the feasibility of further 
extensions to the existing specialist 
facilities. 

Eagles 
Gymnastics 
Club 
KL&WNBC 

British 
Gymnastics 

Costings 
unknown 

High 

 

  

522



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 118 

12 INDOOR ATHLETICS FACILITIES 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There is one specialist indoor athletics facility in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. This has sufficient capacity to meet all needs until 2040. 

 

• Quality: The quality of the facility is ‘good’. 
 

• Accessibility: The population of all the main settlements in the borough is within the 
60-minute drivetime catchment of the Lynnsport facility. 

 

• Availability: The facility can be accessed on a block-booked basis. 

 

12.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of indoor athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
Indoor athletics facilities are defined as specialist permanent indoor facilities with appropriate 
synthetic-surfaced floor and field event facilities. 
 

12.2 Quantity 
 

12.2.1 Indoor athletics facilities with community use 
 

There is an indoor athletics facility at Alive Lynnsport, in the Sports Barn, an area that also 
accommodates football, netball and indoor athletics tennis use. 
 

Table 95: Indoor athletics facilities in King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Site Address Sub-Area 
Alive Lynnsport Greenpark Avenue, Kings Lynn PE30 2NB Kings Lynn 

 

12.2.2 Indoor athletics facilities in neighbouring areas 
 

There are no indoor athletics facilities close enough to the borough boundary to provide usage 
opportunities for some Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents. 

 
12.3 Quality 

 
12.3.1 The criteria assessed for indoor athletics facilities 

 
The criteria that were assessed were as follows: 

 

• The playing area: The overall condition, playing surface, clear span roof height, lighting, 
spectator provision, equipment and fitness for purpose. 
 

• Changing facilities: The capacity, condition and fitness for purpose. 
 

523



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 119 

• Disability access: The extent of full disabled access to the facility, including the provision 
of access ramps, dedicated changing, toilets and car parking. 

 

• General access: Car parking, signposting, external lighting and proximity to public transport. 

 
12.3.2 The basis of the ratings 

 
The facilities were rated on a five-point scale, where 5 equates to ‘very good’, 4 to ‘good’, 3 to 
‘average’, 2 to ‘poor’ and 1 to ‘very poor’.  
 

12.3.3 Indoor athletics facilities assessment 
 

The ratings for the indoor athletics facilities are shown in the table below.  
 

Table 95: Indoor athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Quality audit 
 

Facility  Playing 
area 

Changing Disability 
Access 

General 
access 

Alive Lynnsport 4 5 5 5 

 

12.4 Accessibility 
 

Based on England Athletics research, the ‘effective catchment’ for indoor athletics facilities is 60 
minutes driving time. The population of the whole borough is within 60-minutes’ drive time. 

 
  

524



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 120 

12.5 Availability 
 

The indoor athletics facility at Lynnsport is available on the following basis: 
 

Table 96: Indoor athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: Availability 
 

Facility Opening hours use Pricing Peak usage  
Alive 
Lynnsport 

Mon-Fri 8.30am - 10pm 
Sat-Sun 8am - 6pm  
Block-bookings 

Facility hire: £55 per hour full price 
                    £44 per hour with ‘Alive Card’ 

60%* 

 

* Includes non-athletics use. 
 

12.6 Key findings on supply 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• The indoor athletics facility at Alive Lynnsport provides usage opportunities for Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk residents. 
 

• The quality of the indoor facility is good. 
 

• The population of the whole borough is within 60-minutes’ drive time, with the overall 
catchment comprising 450,000 people including 1,000 England Athletics affiliated members. 

 

• Block-booked access is available at Alive Lynnsport. 
 

12.7 Current demand for indoor tennis courts 
 

12.7.1 Expressed demand 
 

Peak period demand at Alive Lynnsport is around 60% utilisation, although most of this is football 
netball and tennis use.  

 
12.7.2 Displaced demand 
 

With the nearest similar facilities in Cambridge, Nottingham and Chelmsford, there is significant 
imported demand for the Lynnsport facility from outside the borough. 
 

12.7.3 Unmet demand 
 

There is no evidence of any unmet demand in the borough. 
 

12.8 Local sports participation priorities 
 

There are no specific local sports participation priorities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, other 
than a general policy commitment to promote health and well-being through increased levels of 
physical activity. As an activity appealing to both genders and most age groups, athletics is likely to 
have some appeal to new and lapsed sports participants. 
 

12.9 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

There are no assessments of indoor athletics needs in neighbouring areas. 

525



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 121 

12.10 Sport-specific priorities 
 

England Athletics’ ‘Facilities Strategy 2018 - 2025’ contains the following material of relevance to 
indoor facilities:  
 

Table 97: Sports specific facilities priorities for tennis 
 

Facilities priorities  Implications for 
Kings Lynn and 

West Norfolk 

• There are 20 indoor straights and four permanent 200m indoor track facilities 
in England, along with a temporary indoor facility located in Birmingham. 

• Indoor athletics facilities rely heavily on clusters of clubs, regular 
community/school usage and cross boundary competition programmes to 
make them operationally viable. Strategy consultation suggests that use of the 
current network of indoor straight facilities in England is not being maximised. 
Therefore the primary focus moving forward will be on retention of existing 
venues and improvement in their levels of use.  

• However, whilst indoor facilities serve a much larger catchment area than their 
outdoor equivalents, ideally the majority of the population should be within 60 
minutes journey time of an indoor athletics facility and this is not achieved 
uniformly across the country. Previous studies have suggested that geographical 
coverage of indoor athletics facilities is weakest in the South-west, the South 
Coast, London, the East Midlands and East Anglia. 

The Lynnsport 
facility serves a 
wide, strategically 
important 
catchment. 

 

England Athletics’ Facilities and Planning Manager commented that ‘the indoor athletics facility at 
Lynnsport is strategically important not only for Kings Lynn and West Norfolk but also for the 
Eastern region. The indoor facility at Lynnsport services a population catchment of 450,000 and 
over 1,000 EA affiliated members’. 
 

12.11 Future demand for indoor athletics facilities  
 

12.11.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 (or 16.1%). 

 

12.11.2 Participation rates 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for athletics and running at national level since 2015: 
 

Table 98: ‘Active Lives’ survey national athletics and running participation rates 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
15.6% 15.6% 15.3% 14.7% 15.6% 13.7% 13.0% 13.5% -2.1% 

526



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 122 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 99: ‘Active Lives’ survey: Sports participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 
12.11.4 Future projections 
 
National track and field athletics participation rates have been falling in recent years as have general 
activity rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk over the same period, it would therefore be 
reasonable to assume that demand for athletics will remain static until 2040. An increase of 4,750 
or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor 
athletics capacity by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the 
population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor athletics capacity by a similar amount. 
 

12.12 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Athletics participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are projected to remain static 
until 2040.  
 

• An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will 
increase demand for indoor athletics capacity by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase 
of 25,000 or 16.1% in the population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor athletics 
capacity by a similar amount. In both cases, the existing facility will meet all needs. 
 

12.13 Changes since 2023 
 
There have been no significant changes in demand for indoor athletics in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk since 2023. 

 
12.14 The balance between indoor athletics facility supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between indoor athletics facility supply and 
demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 
 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right location for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

527



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 123 

12.15 Quantity 
 

12.14.1 Current needs 
 

Current indoor athletics needs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are met by the specialist facility at 
Alive Lynnsport, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used capacity: Peak usage rates average 60% at Alive Lynnsport (including tennis, netball 
and football) indicate some spare capacity.  
 

• Satisfied demand: There is no evidence of unmet demand in the borough. 
 
12.14.2 Future needs 
 
Spare capacity at the existing indoor athletics facility at Lynnsport is likely to be able to 
accommodate all additional future demand, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Demand increases: An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for indoor athletics capacity by a similar amount. 
Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the population by 2040 will increase demand 
for indoor athletics capacity by a similar amount.  
 

• Participation trends: Based on national and local sports participation trends, for the 
purposes of forecasting future demand the likeliest scenario is for participation rates to 
remain at their current levels.  

 

• Additional needs: There is no evidence of unmet demand to justify the provision of 
additional indoor athletics facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 

 
12.16 Quality 

 

12.15.1 Current quality 
 

The quality of the existing facility at is ‘good’.  
 

12.15.2 Future quality 
 

It seems reasonable to assume that the facility will continue to be maintained to a high standard. 

 
12.17 Accessibility 

 

12.16.1 Current accessibility 
 

The population of the whole borough is within 60-minutes’ drive time, with the overall catchment 
comprising 450,000 people including 1,000 England Athletics affiliated members. 
 

12.16.2 Future accessibility 
 

Future accessibility is likely to remain the same. 

528



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 124 

12.18 Availability 
 

12.17.1 Current availability 
 

‘Block-booked access to the indoor facility is available at Alive Lynnsport. 
 

12.17.2 Future availability 
 

Future availability is likely to reflect the current arrangements. 

 

12.19 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which indoor athletics facilities provision in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Indoor athletics is a specialist activity that appeals to a limited cross-section of the community 
and as such it is unlikely to engage many new or lapsed participants. 
 

• The facility Alive Lynnsport are also used for tennis, netball and football so the multi-
functional nature of the facility delivers opportunities with wider appeal. 

 
12.20 The options for securing additional indoor tennis court capacity 

 
The options for securing indoor athletics facilities capacity to meet current and future needs are as 
follows: 
 

12.19.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of the existing facility through the Local 
Plan will be key to securing local provision. Planning policy supports the retention of existing 
facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been identified, unless the loss of a facility 
would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the equivalent size, quality and accessibility. 
 

12.19.2 Provide 
 

There is insufficient evidence of need to provide additional indoor athletics facilities in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk. 
 

12.21 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for indoor athletics facilities to guide the implementation 
of the strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource availability (and in 
some instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms of the staffing 
necessary to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 100: Action plan for indoor athletics facilities 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing indoor 
athletics facilities. 

Consider including a policy in the 
Local Plan to protect the existing 
indoor athletics facilities. 

KL&WNBC - - High 

529



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 125 

13 VILLAGE AND COMMUNITY HALLS 

 

Key findings: 
 

• Quantity: There are 94 village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
There is spare capacity at all facilities to accommodate some additional usage. 

 

• Quality: All halls can accommodate some informal, recreational sport and physical 
activity, but 11 have badminton court markings. 

 

• Accessibility: All parts of the borough are within 10 minutes driving time of at least one 
village or community hall.  

 

• Availability: Usage charges and opening hours are consistent with attracting a wide 
range of users. 

 

13.1 Introduction 
 

This section examines the provision of village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk. Village and community halls are defined as community accessible facilities with the 
potential to accommodate some sport and physical activity. 
 

13.2 Quantity 
 

The location of village and community halls with community use in the borough is as follows: 
 

Table 101: Village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Hall Address Dimensions Sub-area 
Amy Robsart Hall  The Street, Syderstone PE31 8SD  15m x 8m x 3m Hunstanton 

Barroway Drove Village Hall 
 

Barroway Drove PE38 0AL 18m x 9m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Barton Bendish Village Hall 
 

Church Road, Barton Bendish PE33 9GF 
 

10.5m x 8.5m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Brancaster Village Hall Main Road, Brancaster PE31 8AA 12m x 7m x 4m Hunstanton 

Brancaster Staithe Village Hall Main Road, Brancaster Staithe PE31 8BX 12.7m x 7.2  Hunstanton 

Burnham Market Village Hall 
 

Beacon Hill Rd, Burnham Market PE31 
8ER 

12m x 5m x 3m Hunstanton 

Burnham Overy Staithe Village 
Hall 

New Road, Burnham Overy Staithe PE31 
8JD 

8m x 5m x 4m Hunstanton 

Castle Acre Village Hall Pye's Lane, Castle Acre PE32 2XB 12m x 9m x 3m  Kings Lynn 

Central Hall, Emneth Gaultree Square, Emneth PE14 8DA 20m x 10m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Clenchwarton Memorial Hall 
 

Black Horse Road, Clenchwarton PE34 
4DN 

18m x 7m x 3m 
Plans to replace 

Kings Lynn 

Crimplesham Village Hall  Market Lane Crimplesham PE33 9DZ 15m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Denver Village Hall 24 Sluice Rd Denver PE38 0DY 13m x 7m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Dersingham Village Centre 83 Manor Road Dersingham PE31 6YU 18m x 13m x 4m Hunstanton 

530

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/5672/brancaster-village-hall
https://l.facebook.com/l.php?u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2Fmaps%2Fdir%2F%3Fapi%3D1%26destination%3D52.606253279779%252C0.43232917785645%26fbclid%3DIwAR2ndOUo3I3rjR2-rfRbwFuwvEC-kVntQ8pFt8pAtg94wEyXPBd0v7S99aA&h=AT2bTNTdAxbS1bedMkVWrE3xxYRWfscuUfdX1Ul1pgBeMxK3zT8M0cn6sHLJiT1ATXhhqKbQ5hgXR-sxnewXHGGa1xM03cmi1V7umuB_EdZesgGMafQSvIWwZcevblEfbK8tKmKbL6OOZ2jA4Mc


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 126 

Hall Address Dimensions Sub-area 
Discovery Youth Centre Columbia Way, King's Lynn PE30 2LA 33m 16m x 5m Kings Lynn 

Docking Pavilion Bradmere Lane, Docking PE31 8NQ 10m x 6m x 3m Hunstanton 

Downham Market Methodist 
Church Hall 

Paradise Road, Downham Market PE38 9JE 14m x 8.5m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Downham Market Town Hall Bridge St., Downham Market PE38 9DW 11m x 9.8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

East Rudham Village Hall School Road, East Rudham PE31 8GN 15m x 8m x 4m Hunstanton 

East Winch Village Hall Station Rd, East Winch PE32 1NR 8m x 5m x 2.5m Kings Lynn 

Fairstead Community Centre Fairstead Estate, King's Lynn PE30 4SR 15m x 10m x 4m Kings Lynn 

Feltwell British Legion Long Lane, Feltwell IP26 4BJ 12m x 5m x 2.5m Downham 
Market 

Fincham Memorial Hall 122 Main Road, Fincham PE33 9EN 15m x 8m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Flitcham cum Appleton 
Community Centre 

Bell Hill, Flitcham PE31 6BU 10m x 8m x 2.5m Hunstanton 

Gayton Jubilee Village Hall Lynn Road, Gayton PE32 1PA 15m x 8m x 3m Kings Lynn 

Gaywood Community Centre Cemetery Drive, King's Lynn PE30 4EL 19m x 9m x 3m Kings Lynn 

Great Massingham Village Hall Station Rd, Great Massingham PE32 2HU 15m x 10m x 3m Hunstanton 

Grimston Village Hall Cliff-en-Howe Road Grimston PE32 1BY 15m x 10m x 3m Kings Lynn 

Harpley Village Hall Nethergate Street Harpley PE31 6TW 8m x 6m x 3m Hunstanton 

Heacham Public Hall Station Road, Heacham PE31 7HG 15m x 8m x 4m Hunstanton 

Hilgay Village Hall 22 High St. Hilgay PE38 0LH 12m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Hockwold Village Hall 86 Main Street Hockwold IP26 4LW 15m x 8m x 5m Downham 
Market 

Holme Next the Sea Village Hall Kirkgate Holme-next-the-Sea PE36 6LH 11.5m x 7m x 4m Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Community Centre Avenue Rd Hunstanton  PE36 5BW 12m x 6m x 3m Hunstanton 

Hunstanton Town Hall The Green Hunstanton PE36 6BQ 18m x 12m x 4m Hunstanton 

Ingoldisthorpe Church Hall 36 Hill Road Ingoldisthorpe PE31 6NZ 12m x 8m x 3m Hunstanton 

Jepson Hall Sutton Rd, Walpole Cross Keys PE34 4HD 12m x 8m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Jubilee Community Centre Howdale Road Downham Market PE38 
9AH 

15m x 10m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Kings Lynn Masonic Centre Hamburg Way, King's Lynn PE30 2ND 15m x 10m x 4m Kings Lynn 

Leziate Village Hall Brow of the Hill, Leziate PE32 1EN 10m x 6m x 3m Kings Lynn 

Lakes End Village Hall Main Road, Lakes End PE14 9QL 15m x 6m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Marham Village Hall School Lane, Marham PE33 9JA 15m x 6m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Marshland Hall Smeeth Rd, Marshland St. James PE14 8JB 18m x 6m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Middleton Village Hall School Road, Middleton PE32 1SA 15m x 8m x 4m Kings Lynn 

Nelson Memorial Hall Church Lane Burnham Thorpe PE31 8HS 15m x 6m x 4m Hunstanton 

Nordelph Village Hall Birchfield Road, Nordelph PE38 0BP 10m x 10m x 3m Downham 
Market 

North Creake Village Hall Church Street, North Creake NR21 9LQ 15m x 8m x 4m Hunstanton 

North Wootton Village Hall Priory Lane, North Wootton PE30 3PT 15m x 8m x 4m Kings Lynn 

531

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/5452/gaywood-community-centre
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/3558/kings-lynn-masonic-centre


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 127 

Hall Address Dimensions Sub-area 
Northwold Village Hall  School Lane, Northwold IP26 5LL 10m x 5m x 4m Downham 

Market 

Old Friends Hall Sunnyside, Heacham PE31 7DU 6m x 4m x 3m Hunstanton 

Old Hunstanton Village Hall Old Hunstanton Road, Old Hunstanton 
PE36 6HS 

10m x 6m x 3m Hunstanton 

Outwell Village Hall 136 Wisbech Rd, Outwell PE14 8PF 18m x 10m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Pentney Village Hall Narborough Road Pentney PE32 1JD 15m x 8m x 2.5m Downham 
Market 

Reffley Community Hall Reffley Lane, King's Lynn PE30 3EQ 17m x 10m x 3m Kings Lynn 

Ringstead Village Hall High Street, Ringstead PE36 5JU 12m x 8m x 4m Hunstanton 

Ripper Memorial Hall Docking High Street, Docking PE31 8NG 18.5m x 7.5m x 5m Hunstanton 

Runcton Holme Parish Hall 
 

Downham Road, Runcton Holme PE33 
0AD 

15m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Sedgeford Village Hall Jarvie Close, Sedgeford PE36 5NR 14m x 6m x 3.5m  Hunstanton 

Shouldham Village Hall Eastgate Street, Shouldham PE33 0DD 12m x 8m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Snettisham Memorial Hall Old Church Rd, Snettisham  PE31 7LX 18m x 8m x 4m Hunstanton 

South Creake Memorial Pavilion The Green, South Creake NR21 9PD 10m x 6m x 3m Hunstanton 

South Lynn Community Centre St Michaels Rd, King's Lynn, PE30 5HE 15m x 10m x 4m Kings Lynn 

South Wootton Village Hall Church Lane, South Wootton, PE30 3LJ 13m x 11m x 3m Kings Lynn 

Southery Village Hall Recreation Drive, Southery PE38 0NB 20m x 12m x 3m Downham 
Market 

St. George's Hall Complex High Street, Methwold IP26 4NT 15m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Stanhoe Village Hall Room 1 Cross Lane, Stanhoe PE31 8PS 14m x 6m x 2.5m Hunstanton 

Stoke Ferry Community Centre Wretton Road, Stoke Ferry PE33 9QJ 33m x 17m x 4.5m Downham 
Market 

Stoke Ferry Village Hall Lynn Road, Stoke Ferry PE33 9SE - Downham 
Market 

Stow Bridge Village Hall Holme Road, Stow Bridge PE34 3PW 15m x 6m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Ten Mile Bank Village Hall Station Road, Ten Mile Bank PE38 0EP 6m x 4m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Terrington St. John Methodist 
Church Hall 

Ely Row, Terrington St John  PE14 7RS 5m x 4m x 3m Kings Lynn 

The Pavilion  Churchgate Way, Terrington St Clement  
PE34 4PG 

10m x 8m x 4m Kings Lynn 

Thornham Village Hall High Street, Thornham PE36 6LX 15m x 8m x 4m Hunstanton 

Three Holes Village Hall Squires Drove, Three Holes PE14 9JY 17m x 10m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Tilney St. Lawrence Village Hall Magdalen Rd, Tilney St Lawrence PE34 
4RF 

20m x 10m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Tilney All Saints Village Hall Church Road, Tilney All Saints PE34 4SJ 12m x 7m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Tottenhill & Wormegay Village 
Hall 

Whin Common Rd, Tottenhill, PE33 0RS 8m x 5m x 3m Downham 
Market 

  

532

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/2327/ripper-memorial-hall-docking
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/6337/southery-village-hall
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/3338/st-georges-hall-complex


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 128 

Hall Address Dimensions Sub-area 

Upwell Village Hall 6 New Road, Upwell PE14 9AB 15m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Village Meeting Place, North 
Runcton 

School Lane, North Runcton PE33 0RB 6m x 5m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Walpole Community Centre 
 

Summer Close, Walpole St Andrew PE14 
7JW 

15m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Walpole Highway Village Hall Hall Road Walpole Highway PE14 7QD 
18m x 10 mx 4m 

Downham 
Market 

Walpole St Peter Parish Hall Church Road, Walpole St. Peter PE14 7NS 18m x 10m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Walsoken Village Hall  Kirkgate Street, Walsoken PE13 3QX 15m x 8m x 4,5m Downham 
Market 

Watlington Village Hall Lynn Road, Watlington PE33 0HP 10m x 9m x 4m Downham 
Market 

William Marshall Centre Hurne Drove, Welney PE14 9SD 18m x 10m x 5m Downham 
Market 

Wereham Village Hall Church Road, Wereham, PE33 9AP 6m x 5m x 3m Hunstanton 

West Acre Village Hall Sandy Lane West Acre PE32 1TX. 18m x 8m x 4m Downham 
Market 

West Dereham Village Hall Church Road, West Dereham PE33 9RW - Kings Lynn 

West Newton Village Hall St. Peter's Road, West Lynn PE34 3LB 10m x 4m x 3m Downham 
Market 

West Walton Village Hall Mill Road West Walton PE14 7EU 16m x 8m x 4m Kings Lynn 

West Winch Village Hall 
(William Burt Complex) 

Watering Lane West Winch  PE33 0JY 17m x 8m x3m Downham 
Market 

Wiggenhall St Germans 
Memorial Hall 

School Road Wiggenhall St Germans PE34 
3DR 

20m x 11m x 4m Downham 
Market 

Wiggenhall St. Mary Magdalen 
Village Hall 

Park Crescent Wiggenhall St. Mary 
Magdalen PE34 3BU 

15m x 8m x 3m Downham 
Market 

Wimbotsham Village Hall Low Road Wimbotsham PE34 3QQ - Hunstanton 

Wormegay Mission Room 118 Wolferton Sandringham PE31 6HA 18m x 8m x 3m Downham 
Market 

 
The distribution of village and community halls by sub-area in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk is as 
follows: 
 

Table 102: Village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk by Sub-area  
 

Sub-area Sub-area population 2020 No. halls Halls per capita 
Hunstanton and surrounds 28,316 29 1: 976 

Kings Lynn and surrounds 67,643 19 1: 3,979 

Downham Market and surrounds 55,286 46 1: 1,202 

KL & WEST NORFOLK 151,245 94 1: 1,609 

 
  

533

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/6358/walsoken-village-hall


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 129 

13.3 Quality 
 

13.3.1 The criteria assessed 
 

The quality of village and community halls was assessed on the basis of their suitability to 
accommodate sport and physical activity:  
 

• Provision for formal sport: Including dedicated sports facilities and markings and changing 
rooms. These are given a rating of 4. 
 

• Available for a range informal physical activity: The provision of a space which can be 
used for several recreational sports. These are given a rating of 3. 
 

• Limited availability for physical activity: The provision of a space which can be used for 
exercise classes such as yoga or aerobics. These are given a rating of 2. 
 

• Not available for physical activity: These are given a rating of 1. 
 

Table 103: Village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Facility Rating 
Amy Robsart Hall  2 

Barroway Drove Village Hall 2 

Barton Bendish Village Hall 2 

Brancaster Village Hall 2 

Brancaster Staithe Village Hall 2 

Burnham Market Village Hall 2 

Burnham Overy Staithe Village Hall 2 

Castle Acre Village Hall 2 

Central Hall, Emneth 3 

Clenchwarton Memorial Hall 2 

Crimplesham Village Hall  2 

Denver Village Hall 3 

Dersingham Village Centre 3 

Discovery Youth Centre 4 

Docking Pavilion 2 

Downham Market Methodist Church Hall 2 

Downham Market Town Hall 3 

East Rudham Village Hall 3 

East Winch Village Hall 2 

Fairstead Community Centre 3 

Feltwell British Legion 2 

Fincham Memorial Hall 2 

Flitcham cum Appleton Community Centre 2 

Gayton Jubilee Village Hall 2 

Gaywood Community Centre 2 

Great Massingham Village Hall 3 

Grimston Village Hall 2 

Harpley Village Hall 2 

Heacham Public Hall 2 

534

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/5672/brancaster-village-hall
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/5452/gaywood-community-centre


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 130 

Facility Rating 

Hilgay Village Hall 2 

Hockwold Village Hall 3 

Holme Next the Sea Village Hall 2 

Hunstanton Community Centre 2 

Hunstanton Town Hall 2 

Ingoldisthorpe Church Hall 2 

Jepson Hall 2 

Jubilee Community Centre 2 

Kings Lynn Masonic Centre 2 

Leziate Village Hall 2 

Lakes End Village Hall 2 

Marham Village Hall 2 

Marshland Hall 4 

Middleton Village Hall 3 

Nelson Memorial Hall 3 

Nordelph Village Hall 2 

North Creake Village Hall 2 

North Wootton Village Hall 2 

Northwold Village Hall  2 

Old Friends Hall 1 

Old Hunstanton Village Hall 2 

Outwell Village Hall 3 

Pentney Village Hall 2 

Reffley Community Hall 2 

Ringstead Village Hall 2 

Ripper Memorial Hall Docking 3 

Runcton Holme Parish Hall 2 

Sedgeford Village Hall 4 

Shouldham Village Hall 2 

Snettisham Memorial Hall 3 

South Creake Memorial Pavilion 4 

South Lynn Community Centre 3 

South Wootton Village Hall 2 

Southery Village Hall 2 

St. George's Hall Complex 3 

Stanhoe Village Hall Room 2 

Stoke Ferry Community Centre 4 

Stoke Ferry Village Hall 1 

Stow Bridge Village Hall 4 

Ten Mile Bank Village Hall 2 

Terrington St. John Methodist Church Hall 1 

The Pavilion  3 

Thornham Village Hall 2 

Three Holes Village Hall 3 

Tilney St. Lawrence Village Hall 3 

Tilney All Saints Village Hall 3 

Tottenhill & Wormegay Village Hall 2 

535

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/3558/kings-lynn-masonic-centre
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/2327/ripper-memorial-hall-docking
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/6337/southery-village-hall
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/3338/st-georges-hall-complex


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 131 

Facility Rating 

Upwell Village Hall 3 

Village Meeting Place, North Runcton 2 

Walpole Community Centre 3 

Walpole Highway Village Hall 3 

Walpole St Peter Parish Hall 2 

Walsoken Village Hall  2 

Watlington Village Hall 4 

William Marshall Centre 4 

Wereham Village Hall 4 

West Acre Village Hall 2 

West Dereham Village Hall 3 

West Newton Village Hall 2 

West Walton Village Hall 2 

West Winch Village Hall (William Burt Complex) 4 

Wiggenhall St Germans Memorial Hall 3 

Wiggenhall St. Mary Magdalen Village Hall 4 

Wimbotsham Village Hall 3 

Wormegay Mission Room 1 

 

13.4 Accessibility 
 

The ‘effective catchment’ for village and community halls is 20 minutes driving time. The whole 
of the borough is within the catchment of at least one facility.  

536

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/6358/walsoken-village-hall


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 132 

 

537



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 133 

13.5 Availability and use 
 

The table below identifies the sport and physical activity currently accommodated at village and 
community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. The information was supplied by the facility 
operators: 
 

Table 104: Sports activities in village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk  
 

Facility Sports activities accommodated 
Amy Robsart Hall  None 

Barroway Drove Village Hall Fitness training 

Barton Bendish Village Hall Yoga 

Brancaster Village Hall Pilates, Line dancing 

Brancaster Staithe Village Hall Carpet bowls 

Burnham Market Village Hall None 

Burnham Overy Staithe Village Hall Table tennis 

Castle Acre Village Hall None 

Central Hall, Emneth Yoga, Carpet bowls, Dance fit 

Clenchwarton Memorial Hall None 

Crimplesham Village Hall  Dance classes 

Denver Village Hall Yoga, line dancing 

Dersingham Village Centre Yoga, Pilates, Dance, Carpet bowls 

Discovery Youth Centre Badminton, 5-a-side football 

Docking Pavilion None 

Downham Market Methodist Church Hall Carpet bowls 

Downham Market Town Hall Yoga 

East Rudham Village Hall Badminton, Fitness classes 

East Winch Village Hall Keep fit, Dance 

Fairstead Community Centre Keep fit 

Feltwell British Legion Carpet bowls 

Fincham Memorial Hall Zumba 

Flitcham-cum-Appleton Community Centre Keep fit, Yoga 

Gayton Jubilee Village Hall Keep fit 

Gaywood Community Centre Line dancing 

Great Massingham Village Hall Carpet bowls, keep fit, snooker 

Grimston Village Hall Keep fit, dance 

Harpley Village Hall Zumba 

Heacham Public Hall Fitness, badminton 

Hilgay Village Hall Yoga 

Hockwold Village Hall Badminton, Keep fit 

Holme Next the Sea Village Hall Carpet bowls 

Hunstanton Community Centre Dance, Keep fit 

Hunstanton Town Hall None 

Ingoldisthorpe Church Hall Keep fit 

Jepson Hall Short mat bowls, Yoga 

Jubilee Community Centre Fitness classes 

Kings Lynn Masonic Centre Yin Yoga 

Leziate Village Hall Keep fit 

Lakes End Village Hall Fitness classes 

538

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/5672/brancaster-village-hall
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/5452/gaywood-community-centre
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/3558/kings-lynn-masonic-centre


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 134 

Facility Sports activities accommodated 

Marham Village Hall Yoga 

Marshland Hall Fitness, Pilates, Karate, Carpet bowls 

Middleton Village Hall Short mat bowls, Yoga 

Nelson Memorial Hall Fitness classes 

Nordelph Village Hall Yoga 

North Creake Village Hall Keep fit 

North Wootton Village Hall Fitness classes 

Northwold Village Hall  Yoga 

Old Friends Hall None 

Old Hunstanton Village Hall Yoga, Pilates, Zumba, Kettlecise 

Outwell Village Hall Dance, fitness 

Pentney Village Hall Dance 

Reffley Community Hall Yoga, Pilates, Dance 

Ringstead Village Hall Line dancing 

Ripper Memorial Hall Docking Badminton, Short Mat Bowls, Pilates 

Runcton Holme Parish Hall Table Tennis, fitness 

Sedgeford Village Hall Yoga, table tennis, carpet bowls 

Shouldham Village Hall None 

Snettisham Memorial Hall Indoor bowls, Dance, Pilates 

South Creake Memorial Pavilion Yoga, Paracise 

South Lynn Community Centre Keep fit 

South Wootton Village Hall Dance 

Southery Village Hall Fitness 

St. George's Hall Complex Badminton, Zumba 

Stanhoe Village Hall Room None 

Stoke Ferry Community Centre Basketball, five-a-side football, fitness 

Stoke Ferry Village Hall None 

Stow Bridge Village Hall Dance, fitness 

Ten Mile Bank Village Hall None 

Terrington St. John Methodist Church Hall None 

The Pavilion  Fitness, zumba 

Thornham Village Hall Cinema, dance 

Three Holes Village Hall Indoor bowls, fitness 

Tilney St. Lawrence Village Hall Short mat bowls, table tennis 

Tilney All Saints Village Hall Table Tennis 

Tottenhill & Wormegay Village Hall Chair yoga, Boxfit 

Upwell Village Hall Pilates, fitness, indoor bowls 

Village Meeting Place, North Runcton None 

Walpole Community Centre Gymnastics, Badminton 

Walpole Highway Village Hall None 

Walpole St Peter Parish Hall None 

Walsoken Village Hall  None 

Watlington Village Hall Badminton, dance, indoor bowls 

William Marshall Centre Fitness, boxercise. 

Wereham Village Hall Pilates, Zumba, Dodgeball, Badminton 

West Acre Village Hall None 

West Dereham Village Hall Yoga, dance 

539

https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/2327/ripper-memorial-hall-docking
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/6337/southery-village-hall
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/3338/st-georges-hall-complex
https://www.hallshire.com/halls/view/6358/walsoken-village-hall


 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 135 

Facility Sports activities accommodated 

West Newton Village Hall Hiit Fitness 

West Walton Village Hall Running club  

West Winch Village Hall (William Burt Complex) Badminton, fitness 

Wiggenhall St Germans Memorial Hall Indoor bowls, youth club 

Wiggenhall St. Mary Magdalen Village Hall Short mat bowls 

Wimbotsham Village Hall Yoga 

Wormegay Mission Room None 

 
13.6 Key findings on supply 
 
The key findings are as follows: 
 

• There are 94 village and community halls currently available in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

• All facilities are available for hire by groups and individuals. 
 

• Hire charges vary widely from £8 to £12 an hour or £18 to £127 for half-a-day, but most 
offer discounted rates to local and/or regular hirers. 

 

• All halls can accommodate some informal, recreational sport and physical activity, but 11 have 
formal badminton court markings. 

 

13.7 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no changes in the supply of village and community halls since 2023. 

 
13.8 Current demand for village and community halls 
 

13.8.1 Expressed demand 
 
Most of the village and community halls accommodate at least some sport and physical activity, 
but this is generally a small component of usage programmes that include a wide range of other 
social and community functions. Most of the demand served is for recreational level sports 
activities, complementing the more formal sports opportunities available in the specialist indoor 
sports facilities.  

 

13.8.2 Displaced demand 
 

Displaced demand relates to users of village and community halls from within the study area which 
takes place outside of the area. Because they serve a relatively localised catchment, there is no 
evidence of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk residents accessing halls outside the borough. 
 

13.8.3 Unmet demand 
 

All village and community halls have some spare capacity to accommodate additional activities, so 
there is no evidence of unmet demand in the borough.  

  

540



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 136 

13.9 Assessments of need in neighbouring areas 
 

There are no assessments of need for village and community halls in neighbouring areas. 
 

13.10 Sport-specific priorities 
 

There are no identified strategic priorities for developing village and community halls in Kings 
Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

13.11 Future demand for village and community halls  
 

13.11.1 Population growth 
 

Two scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 (or 16.1%). 

 

13.11.2 Participation rates 
 

• National trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey has recorded adult (16+) weekly 
participation rates for activities accommodates in village and community halls at national level 
since 2015: 

 

Table 105: ‘Active Lives’ survey national participation rates for village hall activities 2015 - 2020 
 

Sport 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
Fitness class 14.3% 14.6% 14.1% 14.9% 14.0% 12.1% 12.5% 13.4% -0.9% 

Fit activities - 29.5% 30.0% 30.8% 28.0% 24.9% 27.2% 28.7% -0.8% 

Martial arts 0.4% 0.5% 0.6% 0.5% 0.4% 0.4% 0.5% 0.6% 0.0% 
 

• Local trends: Sport England’s ‘Active Lives’ survey recorded the proportion of the adult (16+) 
population who are active for at least 150 minutes per week in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
between 2015 and the present. The results are tabulated below and show that whilst rates 
have fluctuated over the survey periods, there is a downward trend between 2015 and 2023: 
 

Table 106: ‘Active Lives’ Sports participation rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 2015 - 2023 
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 % Change 
78.5% 70.1% 71.4% 77.5% 71.7% 67.3% 66.3% 71.7% -6.8% 

 

13.11.3 Future projections 
 

Participation rates in sports that use village and community halls have increased slightly in recent 
years, whilst general activity rates in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk have fallen, so it would therefore 
be reasonable to assume that demand for village and community halls will remain steady until 2040. 
An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will increase 
demand for halls by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the 
population by 2040 will increase demand by that figure.  

541



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 137 

13.12 Key findings on demand 
 

The key findings are as follows: 
 

• Village and community halls meet demand for a wide range of sport and physical activities 
at a recreational level.  
 

• An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk population by 2040 will 
increase demand for halls by a similar amount. Alternatively, an increase of 25,000 or 16.1% 
in the population by 2040 will increase demand by that figure.  

 

13.13 Changes since 2023 
 

There have been no significant changes in demand for village and community halls since 2023. 

 
13.14 The balance between village and community halls supply and demand 
 

Four criteria have been assessed to evaluate the balance between village and community hall supply 
and demand in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk: 
 

• Quantity: Are there enough facilities with sufficient capacity to meet needs now and in the 
future? 

 

• Quality: Are the facilities fit for purpose for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Accessibility: Are the facilities in the right location for the users now and in the future? 
 

• Availability: Are the facilities available for those who want to use them now and in the 
future? 

 

13.15 Quantity 
 

13.15.1 Current needs 
 

Current village and community halls in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are assessed to be at 
operating with some spare capacity, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Used peak capacity: Analysis of usage programmes in the peak period for all village and 
community hall use, including non-sports activity, reveals around 20% spare capacity, which 
is collectively equivalent to 19 of the 95 halls. 

 

• Satisfied demand: There is no evidence of unmet demand, with a good geographical spread 
of provision. 

 

13.15.2 Future needs 
 

The quantity of village and community halls required to meet future needs has been assessed as 
adequate to meet additional demand by 2040, based upon the following evaluation: 
 

• Demand increases: An increase of 4,750 or 3.1% in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
population by 2040 will increase demand for halls by a similar amount. Alternatively, an 
increase of 25,000 or 16.1% in the population by 2040 will increase demand by that figure.  

542



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 138 

• Participation trends: Participation trends for sports using village and community halls are 
projected to remain static. 

 

• Additional needs: Existing spare capacity at village and community halls is around 20%, 
which will be sufficient to accommodate all additional demand by 2040. 

  

13.16 Quality 
 

13.16.1 Current quality 
 

There are no significant quality issues relating to village and community halls in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, although the position should be kept under review. 
 

13.16.2 Future quality 
 

All local providers continue to invest in maintaining and improving their facilities, so it seems 
reasonable to assume that local provision will continue to be upgraded regularly. 
 

13.17 Accessibility 
 

13.17.1 Current accessibility 
 

The whole population is within 10 minutes driving time of the nearest village and community hall.  
 

13.17.2 Future accessibility 
 

Existing facilities are well located to serve additional future demand. 
 
 

13.18 Availability 
 

13.18.1 Current availability 
 

All facilities offer ‘pay-and-play’ public access.  
 

13.18.2 Future availability 
 

It is likely that prices will continue to be geared towards affordability. 
 

13.19 Contribution to shared strategic outcomes 
 

Based upon the assessment above, the extent to which village and community halls provision in 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk contributes to the shared strategic outcomes is as follows: 
 

• Village and community halls provide a network opportunities to participate in sport and 
physical activity at a local level and in a familiar environment and as such they can overcome 
some of the barriers for lapsed or new participants. 
 

• At present, there is no con-ordination between village and community hall providers to help 
address the shared strategic outcome of ‘better integration between the needs of low 
participant groups and the sport and physical activity opportunities provided’. 

  

543



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 139 

13.20 The options for securing additional village and community halls 
 

The options for securing existing and additional village and community hall capacity to meet 
current and future needs are as follows: 
 

13.20.1 Protect 
 

Local/Neighbourhood Plan policies for the protection of existing village and community halls 
through the Local Plan will be key both to securing local provision by ensuring that planning policy 
supports the retention of existing facilities for which existing and/or future demand has been 
identified, unless the loss of a facility would involve its replacement with a facility of at least the 
equivalent size, quality and accessibility. To maximise the potential for sports use, all replacement 
halls should comply with the dimensions needed for a badminton court (18m x 10m x 6.1m) and 
the provisions of Sport England’s ‘Village and Community Halls: Design Guidance Note’ (2001). 
 

13.20.2 Enhance 
 

Enhancing existing village and community hall capacity by supporting applications by hall providers 
for extensions or enhancements such as the addition of changing facilities. 
 

13.21 Action Plan 
 

The table below sets out the action plan for village and community halls to guide the 
implementation of the strategy. The implementation of proposals will be subject to resource 
availability (and in some instances detailed feasibility work) both in terms of funding and in terms 
of the staffing necessary to undertake the work required to pursue the actions. 
 

Table 107: Village and community halls action plan 
 

Issues Action  Lead Partners Resources Priority 
Protection of 
existing village and 
community halls. 

Consider including a policy in the 
Local Plan to protect all existing 
village and community halls 

KL&WN
BC 

- - High 

Improving sport 
and physical activity  
usage potential of 
halls. 

Support applications by hall 
providers for extensions or 
enhancements such as the addition 
of changing facilities. 

Hall 
providers 

KL&WNBC TBC High 

 
  

544



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 140 

14 POLICIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

14.1 Introduction 
 

This section contains policies and recommendations for the protection, enhancement and 
provision of sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 

14.2 Policy context 
 
The recommendations made in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
which stipulates that existing sports facilities, should not be built upon unless: 
 

• An assessment has taken place which has clearly shown the facility to be surplus to 
requirements, or; 
 

• The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better 
provision in terms of quantity and quality, in a suitable location, or;  

 

• The development is for alternative sport and recreation provision, the needs for which clearly 
outweighs the loss. 

 

14.3 Protect 
 

14.3.1 Recommendation 1: Safeguarding existing provision 
 

The Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy (SFS) comprises a robust and 
evidence-based assessment of current and future needs for sports facilities in the borough. The 
Assessment has identified a need for all current facilities to be retained, on the basis of the specific 
identified roles that each can play in delivering the needs of sport in the borough both now and in 
the future. It is therefore recommended that existing planning policies continue to support the 
retention of all sites, based upon the evidence in the SFS.  

 

14.3.2 Recommendation 2: Community access to education sports facilities 
 

A significant proportion of some types of sports facility in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk are 
located on school sites. Most of these facilities are not subject to formal Community Use 
Agreements and external use could, therefore in theory be withdrawn at any time. Some education 
sports facilities have no community use at all at present, which does not optimise the use of public 
resources. Furthermore, the management arrangements for many school sports facilities with 
external use are not conducive to maximising that use. It is therefore recommended that: 

 

• Efforts are made to secure formal Community Use Agreements at existing education sports 
facilities. 
 

• Community Use Agreements become a standard condition of planning consent at all new 
education sports facilities, along with a design and specification that is consistent with 
maximising school and community use. 

545



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 141 

• Community Use Agreements become a standard condition of receiving funding from 
developer contributions to improve or enhance the capacity of existing sports facilities on 
education sites, to meet the additional demand arising from housing developments. 
 

• Support be offered to schools with their community use management arrangements. 
 

14.4 Enhance 
 

14.4.1 Recommendation 3: Capacity improvements 
 
Some of the current demand for sports facilities in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk can be 
accommodated through enhancements to existing facilities that will facilitate extra usage at existing 
sites. It is recommended that the site-specific action plan in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk SFS 
be used as the basis for prioritising facilities enhancements that will help to alleviate the current 
identified and future projected deficits. 
 

14.4.2 Recommendation 4: Developer contributions (enhancements) 
 
Some of the additional demand arising from the proposed housing development and the related 
population growth in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk, can be accommodated through enhancements 
to existing sports facilities. It is therefore recommended that: 
 

• The action plan in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk SFS be used as the basis for determining 
facility enhancements that demonstrably relate to the scale and location of specific 
developments.  
 

• An appropriate level of financial contributions should then be sought under Section 106 or 
CIL arrangements, using Sport England’s Sports Facility Calculator tool, to cover the capital 
and revenue implications of the enhancements.  

 

14.5 Provide 
 

14.5.1 Recommendation 6: New sports facilities 
 
Two population growth scenarios are considered: 
 

• The ONS 2018 sub-national population projections forecast a population of 159,050 by 
2040, an increase of 4,750 (or 3.1%). 
 

• A projection based on assessed housing needs predicts a population of 179,300 by 2040, an 
increase of 25,000 (or 16.1%). 

 
Whilst spare capacity in most types of sports facility can meet current and future needs to 2040, 
specific shortfalls identified in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk SFS by an evidence-based needs 
assessment based upon the above projections, that would best be met through new provision 
include: 
 
 
 
 

546



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 142 

Table 108: Summary of current and future sports facilities needs in Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
 

Facility type Current surplus or deficit Additional needs by 2040 - 
Lower population 

Additional needs by 2040 - 
Higher population 

Sports halls Current sports halls are 
operating at just within 
‘comfortable capacity’. 

0.33 four-badminton court 
sized sports halls with full 
community access. This can 
be accommodated by 
securing community access 
to school sports halls. 

1.70 four-badminton court 
sized sports halls with full 
community access). This 
could be met by providing 
one additional four-
badminton court sized 
sports hall. 

Swimming 
pools 

Current swimming pools are 
operating with some limited 
spare capacity. 

0.24 four-lane 25m pool 
with full community access, 
to be met by expanding 
capacity at existing pools 
when refurbished. 

1.23 four-lane 25m pools 
with full community access, 
to be met by expanding 
capacity at existing pools 
when refurbished. 

Health and 
fitness 

Current health and fitness 
facilities are operating at 
close to full capacity. 

66 fitness stations, to be met 
by additional provision by 
leisure centres and 
commercial providers. 

159 fitness stations, to be 
met by additional provision 
by leisure centres and 
commercial providers. 

Squash 
courts 

Spare capacity of 50% in the 
peak period. 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Indoor 
tennis 
courts 

Needs met by courts in the 
sports barn at Lynnsport and 
sites in neighbouring areas.  

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Indoor 
bowls 

Spare capacity of 60% in the 
peak period. 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Gymnastics 
facilities 

Additional capacity needed Extension to the existing 
specialist facilities 

Extension to the existing 
specialist facilities 

Indoor 
athletics 

Needs met by the sports 
barn at Lynnsport 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Village and 
community 
halls 

Spare capacity of 20% in the 
peak period. 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

Additional needs met by 
current spare capacity 

 

It is recommended that Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council should play an active role 
in encouraging the provision of these facilities, in conjunction with other local stakeholders. 
 

14.5.2 Recommendation 7: Developer contributions (new provision) 
 

Some of the additional demand arising from the proposed housing development in Kings Lynn 
and West Norfolk can be accommodated through the provision of new sports facilities. It is 
therefore recommended that: 
 

• The action plan in the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk SFS be used as the basis for determining 
new facility provision that demonstrably relates to the scale and location of specific 
developments.  
 

• An appropriate level of financial contributions should then be sought under Section 106 or 
CIL arrangements, using Sport England’s Sports Facility Calculator tool, to cover the capital 
and revenue implications of providing the facilities.  

547



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 143 

15 IMPLEMENTING AND REVIEWING THE STRATEGY 

 

15.1 Introduction 
 

This section identifies the applications of the Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Sports Facilities 
Strategy (SFS) and the mechanisms for reviewing it to ensure that it remains robust and up-to-date. 
 

15.2 Assessment implementation 
 
The success of the SFS will be determined by how it is used. While the use of the SFS should be 
led by Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council, its application and delivery will also be the 
responsibility of the other key local stakeholders including: 
 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council: The Council provides the borough’s 
leisure centres at Lynnsport, St. James’s Pool in Kings Lynn, Downham Market Leisure 
Centre and The Oasis, Hunstanton. The facilities are managed by the borough council. 

 

• Town and parish councils: Town and Parish Councils provide a range of small-scale 
facilities, in particular village and community halls. 

 

• Schools: Schools are significant sports facilities providers in the borough, although not all 
provision is fully community accessible. 

 

• Sports clubs: Voluntary sector sports clubs provide and run a range of mostly smaller 
facilities. 

 

• Commercial providers: The commercial sector has a limited presence in Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, with some locally-owned health and fitness facilities. 

  

15.3 Assessment applications 
 
The SFS has a number of applications: 
 

15.3.1 Sports development planning 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Highlight, justify and make the case for sports development activities with particular sports, 
groups and clubs and in particular areas.  
 

• Identify current and future trends and changes in the demand for individual sports and how 
they are played. 

 

• Inform the work, strategies and plans of sporting organisations active in the area. 
 

• Advocate the need to work with specific educational establishments to secure community use 
of their site(s).  

 

548



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 144 

• Develop and/or enhance school club links by making the best use of school sites where they 
have spare capacity and are well located to meet demand. 

 

• An understanding of supply and demand to assist in temporary relocations due to major 
facility refurbishments. 

 

15.3.2 Planning policy 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Develop new, and review the effectiveness of existing, local planning policy (e.g. Local and 
Neighbourhood Plans) in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 

• The implementation of local planning policy to meet the needs of the community in line with 
the NPPF. 

 

15.3.3 Planning applications 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Inform the development of planning applications which affect existing and/or proposed new 
sports facilities provision. 
 

• Inform pre-application discussions to ensure any subsequent planning applications maximise 
their benefit to sport and are developed in line with national and local planning policy. 
 

• Sports clubs and other organisations provide the strategic need for development proposals 
thereby potentially adding support to their application(s) and saving them resources in 
developing such evidence. 

 

• Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council to assess planning applications affecting 
existing and/or proposed new playing sports facilities provision in line with national and local 
planning policy. 

 

• Sport England and other parties respond to relevant planning application consultations. 
 
The SFS can also be applied to help Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council to meet other 
relevant requirements of the NPPF including:  

 

• Taking account of and supporting local strategies to improve health, social and cultural 
wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities and services to meet 
local needs.  
 

• Delivering the social, recreational, cultural facilities and services the community needs. 
 

• Planning positively for the development and infrastructure required in the area to meet the 
objectives, principles and policies of the framework. 

 

549



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 145 

• Working with public health leads and health organisations to understand and take account of 
the health status and needs of the local population, including expected future changes, and 
any information about relevant barriers to improving health and well-being. 

 

15.3.4 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Advocate the need for sports facilities provision to be taken into account when the local 
authority is developing and/or reviewing an approach to the CIL (Charging Schedule and 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan) and the wider benefits of doing so (e.g. improving health and 
wellbeing). 
 

• Provide prioritised infrastructure requirements for sports facilities provision including 
deliverable sport, area and site-specific projects with costings (where known). 

 

15.3.5 Funding bids 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Provide the evidence base and strategic need to support funding bids by a range of parties to 
a variety of potential funding sources. 
 

• Inform potential bidders of the likely strategic need for their project. 
 

15.3.6 Facility and asset management 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Ensure a strategic approach is taken to the provision and management of sports facilities. 
 

• Inform the current management, strategies and plans of sports facility providers e.g. local 
authorities (within the study area and neighbouring areas), leisure trusts and educational 
establishments. 

 

• Share knowledge of how sites are managed and maintained, the lessons learnt and good 
practice. 

 

• Highlight the potential of asset transfers and ensure any proposed are beneficial to all parties. 
 

• Provide additional protection for particular sites over and above planning policy, for example 
through deeds of dedication. 

 

• Resolve issues around security of tenure. 
 

15.3.7 Public health 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

550



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 146 

• Understand how the community currently participates in sport, the need for sports facilities 
and how this may evolve. 
 

• Raise awareness of and tackle any barriers to people maintaining and increasing their 
participation. 

 

• Highlight and address any inequalities of access to provision within the study area. 
 

• Provide evidence to help support wider health and well-being initiatives. 
 

15.3.8 Co-ordinating resources and investment 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Raise awareness of the current resources and investment (revenue and capital) going into the 
management, maintenance and improvement of sports facilities provision. 
 

• Co-ordinate the current and any future resources and investment to ensure the maximum 
benefit to sport and that value for money is secured. 

  

• Ensure the current and any future resources and investment are complimentary and do not 
result in their inefficient use. 

 

15.3.9 Capital programmes 
 

The SFS can be applied to help:  
 

• Provide the evidence base to justify the protection and investment in sports facilities 
provision. 
 

• Influence the development and implementation of relevant capital programmes (e.g. school 
refurbishment and new build programmes). 

 

15.4 Monitoring delivery 
 

A process should be put in place to ensure regular monitoring of how the recommendations and 
action plan are being delivered. This monitoring should be led by Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
Borough Council and supported by all members of, and reported back to, the steering group. 
Understanding and learning lessons from how the SFS has been applied should also form a key 
component of monitoring its delivery. The material to review should include changes in: 
 

15.5 Keeping the Assessment robust and up-to-date 
 

Along with ensuring that the SFS is used and applied, a process should be put in place to keep it 
robust and up to date. This will expand the life of the SFS providing people with the confidence 
to continue to both use it and attach significant value and weight to its key findings and issues, 
along with its recommendations and actions. Sport England advocates that the SFS should be 
reviewed on an annual basis from the date it is formally signed off by the steering group. This will 
help to maintain the momentum and commitment built up when developing the SFS. Taking into 
account the time to develop the SFS this should also help to ensure that the original supply and 
demand information is no more than two years old without being reviewed. 

551



 

Ploszajski Lynch Consulting Ltd.                                    Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
                                                                                                                                          Sports Facilities Strategy: First Update 

 

 147 

The annual review should highlight:  

 

• How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any changes 
required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g. the priority of some may increase 
following the delivery of others). 
 

• How the SFS has been applied and the lessons learnt. 
 

• Any changes to particularly important facilities and/or sites in the area (e.g. the most used or 
high-quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what this 
may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues. 

 

• Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport. 
 

• Any new or emerging issues and opportunities. 
 

15.6 Assessment implementation 
 

The action plans in the SFS provide a long list of prioritised actions, but many will not be applicable, 
appropriate or manageable to deliver initially and all are dependent upon resource availability.   
 

552



REPORT TO CABINET 

Open Would any decisions proposed : 

(a) Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide NO 

(b) Need to be recommendations to Council YES 

(c) Be partly for recommendations to Council YES 
and partly within Cabinet’s powers –

Any especially 
affected Wards 

None 

Mandatory/ 

Operational 

Lead Member: Councillor Chris Morley 
E-mail: cllr.chris.morley@west-norfolk.gov.uk

Other Cabinet Members consulted: All Cabinet 

Other Members consulted: 

Lead Officer:  Carl Holland 
E-mail:  carl.holland@west-norfolk.gov.uk
Direct Dial: 01553 616432

Other Officers consulted:  Senior Leadership Team, Service 
Managers. 

Financial 
Implications 
YES 

Policy/Personnel 
Implications 
NO 

Statutory 
Implications (incl 
S.17) YES

Equal Opportunities 
Implications  
NO 

Risk Management 
Implications 
YES 

Cabinet Date:  23 September 2025 

BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 1 2025/2026 

Summary 

This report provides an assessment of the council’s financial performance against its 
2025/2026 approved budget, incorporating key financial risks, issues, and opportunities 
since 1 April 2025 for revenue and capital items. The year-end forecasts take into 
consideration emerging data from service managers along with actual income and 
expenditure from 1 April 2025 to 30 June 2025. 

Revenue 
Approved 

budget 
2025/2026 

Forecast budget 
position 

2025/2026 

Forecast 
Variance 
2025/2026 

£ £ £ 

Borough Spend  26,128,470  25,980,120 (148,350) 

Financing (26,128,470) (26,640,470) (512,000) 
Contributions to/(from) General Fund 
Reserve 

 - 660,350 660,350 

The current forecast position is estimating a £660,350 transfer to the General Fund Reserve. 
This is a favourable movement of £660,350 against the original budget which will result in 
an increased balance in the General Fund Reserve as at 31st March 2026 of £10,678,920. 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
1. Note the forecast outturn for revenue and Capital monitoring position as at 30th June

2025 for 2025/2026.
2. Review and approve the new transfer of Capital Items from Tier 3 to Tier 2.

553

Agenda Item 13



 
Cabinet Recommends to Full Council. 
 
3. Revisions as set out in Appendix F to this report to the ‘Capital Programme Process’ 

within the approved Capital Strategy for 2025/2026 are adopted. 
 

 
Reason for Decision 
To keep Cabinet informed of performance against budget for Capital and Revenue 
2025/2026 based on Quarter 1 data. 
 

 

554



 

 

  

        
 
 
 
 
 
 

The  
Budget 2025/2026 
 
 
 

Monitoring Report 
 

30 June 2025 – Quarter 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carl Holland 
Assistant Director Finance 
Deputy Section 151 Officer       
               
  

555



 

 

The Budget Monitoring Report 2025/2026: 30 June 2025 – Quarter 1 
 

1. Introduction and Summary 
 

This report provides an assessment of the council’s financial performance against its 2025/2026 
approved budget, incorporating key financial risks, issues, and opportunities since 1 April 2025 for 
revenue and capital items. The year-end forecasts take into consideration emerging data from service 
managers along with actual income and expenditure from 1 April 2025 to 30 June 2025. 
 
The key sections of the report are laid out as follows: 
 General Fund (Revenue) – Section 2 and Appendix A 
 Capital – Section 3 and Appendix B 
 Reserves – Section 4 

Risks and Key Items 
 

Following Norfolk being accepted onto the Governments Devolution Priority Programme, Council 
Leaders and Officers from across the Norfolk councils are working together on Local Government 
Reorganisation proposals. This continues to progress at pace in order to achieve the requirements and 
timeframe outlined by MHCLG. With full proposals being required to be submitted by 26 September 
2025, there is ongoing uncertainty surrounding the impact this may have on the authority. 
 
As of June 2025, inflation is at 3.6%, which is above the 2% target level set by Government. The lasting 
effect from inflation on individuals and businesses is being monitored in terms of impacts: 
-  from increasing revenue costs and demand for the Council’s services, 
- risk to recovery of monies collected by the Council and 
- risk that could delay and/or increase the cost of capital projects. 

 
At the end of Quarter 1, the Bank of England base rate remained at 4.25%, following a reduction from 
4.5% in May 2025.  

 
The Council set its original budget for Revenue and Capital at its meeting of 27 February 2025. The 
following table shows a summary of the forecast revenue position for the year based on information 
arising from the period to 30 June 2025: 

  
 Table 1 
 

Revenue 
Approved 

budget 
2025/2026 

Forecast budget 
position 

2025/2026 

Forecast 
Variance 
2025/2026 

 £ £ £ 

Borough Spend   26,128,470    25,980,120  (148,350) 

Financing (26,128,470) (26,640,470) (512,000) 
Contributions to/(from) General Fund 
Reserve 

                -   660,350 660,350 

 
The Council approved a balanced budget for the 2025/2026 financial year, as a result, there was no 
budget requirement for a contribution to/from the General Fund Reserve for the financial year. However, 
the current forecast position is estimating a £660,350 transfer to the General Fund Reserve.  
This is a favourable movement of £660,350 against the original budget which will result in an increased 
balance in the General Fund Reserve as at 31st March 2026 of £10,678,920. 
 
Included within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy the Council approved a Savings and Efficiency 
Plan with a target of £3.47m. Monitoring to Quarter 1 forecasts that this will be achieved and exceeded 

556



 

 

by £199k. The forecast revenue net spend within table 3 to the report includes the relevant forecasts in 
line with the quarter 1 Savings and Efficiency Plan monitoring forecast. 

 
Table 2 below shows a summary of the forecast capital position for the year based on information arising 
from the period to 30 June 2025: 

 
 Table 2 
 

Capital Approved 
budget 

2025/2026 

Rephased 
budget 

2025/2026 

Actual as at 
30th June 

2025 

Spend 
Percentage 

 £ £ £ % 

Tier 1: Major Projects 35,389,470 41,321,250 5,053,061 12% 

Tier 2: Operational Schemes 4,952,570 6,597,410 552,129 8% 

Subtotal 40,342,040 47,918,660 5,605,190 12% 

Tier 3: Pipeline Schemes 2,629,530 2,609,030 - - 

Total Including Exempt 42,971,570 50,527,690 5,605,190 11% 

 
There are three projects currently under Tier 3 which are ready to commence. It is therefore asked of 
cabinet to approve these projects, detailed below, into Tier 2. 
 
Project specific information can be found in appendices C - E 
 

Project Budget 
Resort - Visitor Digital Sign £50,000 
Sewage Treatment Works/Public Sewer £28,000 
ICT Development Programme £500,000 

 
This process has been reviewed following recent requests to commence projects in Tier 3. The Council’s 
Monitoring Officer has provided a clarification in line with the Scheme of Delegation in Section 3 of the 
report. 
 
If further information is required regarding this report, please do not hesitate to contact Carl 
Holland (Interim Assistant Director – Finance and Deputy S151 Officer).  

557



 

 

2. Revenue Budget 2024/2025 
 

The budget for 2025/2026 was presented to Cabinet on 4 February 2025 and approved by Council on 
27 February 2025 in accordance with the process for approving the Medium-Term Financial Plan 
2024/2029.  

 
A summary of the budget position as at 30 June 2025 is shown below in Table 3. Further detail of the 
movements can be seen in Appendix A. 

  
 Table 3 
 

Q1 Forecast Outturn Position 

  
Approved 

budget 
2025/2026 

  
Forecast 
budget 

position 
2025/2026 

  
Forecast 
Variance 
2025/2026 

Service £ £ £ 

Corporate Services (previously Central Services)     4,334,330      4,334,330                  -   

Chief Executive          55,000           55,000                  -   

Environment and Planning     2,618,640      2,521,850  (96,790) 

Health Wellbeing and Public Protection        489,400         489,400                  -   

Legal, Governance and Licensing     2,286,990      2,286,990                  -   

Leisure and Community Facilities     1,805,420      1,805,420                  -   

Operations and Commercial        454,880         433,320  (21,560) 

Programme and Project Delivery (579,290) (629,290) (50,000) 

Property and Projects (1,395,780) (1,395,780)                 -   

Regeneration Housing & Place     1,560,320      1,580,320           20,000  

Resources     8,226,140      8,226,140                  -   

Financing Adjustment     2,542,640      2,542,640                  -   

Internal Drainage Boards     3,729,780      3,729,780                  -   

Borough Spend   26,128,470    25,980,120  (148,350) 

        
Contributions to/(from) General Fund Balance                 -   660,350 660,350 
        

Borough Requirement   26,128,470    26,640,470    512,000  

        

Revenue Support Grant (1,052,270) (1,052,270)                 -   

New Homes Bonus (293,360) (293,360)                 -   

Other Government Grants (1,147,680) (1,496,680) (349,000) 

Business Rates  (14,971,290) (14,971,290)                 -   

Council Tax (8,663,870) (8,826,870) (163,000) 

Total Funding (26,128,470) (26,640,470) (512,000) 

        

Funding Position                 -                   -                   -   
 
 
 
 
 
 

558



 

 

3. Capital Budget and Spend 2025/2026 

The Capital outturn for 2024/2025 was presented to Cabinet on 24 July 2025.  The report provided the 
updated capital programme based on the outturn position of 2024/2025. The meeting approved 
rephasing and amendments to projects with balances to be brought forward to 2025/2026. This has 
been applied to the revised budget 2025/2026 in table 4 and is the basis of reporting going forwards in 
2025/2026.  

 
A summary of the position as of 30 June 2025 for the capital programme is shown below in Table 4.  A 
further breakdown of the capital programme is included at Appendix B. 
 
Table 4  
 

Capital Expenditure 
Approved 

budget 
2025/2026 

Rephased 
budget 

2025/2026 
Actual as at 

30th June 2025 
Spend 

Percentage  

  £ £ £ % 
Tier 1: Major Projects     

Enterprise Zone 
(Property and Projects) 

- 448,460 103,992 23.19 

Major Housing Development 
(Companies and Housing) 

26,877,440 23,983,370 4,547,602 18.96 

Other Major Projects 8,512,030 16,889,420 401,467 2.38 

Total Tier 1 35,389,470 41,321,250 5,053,061 12.23 

     

Tier 2: Operational Schemes     

Health, Wellbeing & Public Protection 2,477,500 2,620,160 348,048 13.28 

Leisure and Community Facilities 82,480 287,480 - - 

Operational and Commercial 2,153,670 3,275,450 115,020 3.51 

Programme and Projects 150,000 36,300 32,609 89.83 

Property and Projects 22,700 53,430 320 0.60 

Resources 50,000 324,590 56,132 17.29 

Corporate Services 16,220 - - - 

Total Tier 2 4,952,570 6,597,410 552,129 8.37 

     

Tier 3: Operational Schemes     
Health, Wellbeing & Public Protection 86,850  86,850  - - 
Leisure and Community Facilities 390,000  383,000  - - 
Operational and Commercial 568,150  494,150  - - 
Property and Projects 376,470  406,970  - - 
Regeneration, Housing & Place 241,060 241,060 - - 

Resources 800,000  800,000  - - 

Corporate Services 0  0  - - 
Subtotal 2,462,530 2,412,030 - - 
     
Exempt schemes 167,000 197,000 - - 
Total Tier 3 2,629,530 2,609,030 - - 
     
Total Capital Programme 42,971,570 50,527,690 5,605,190 11.09 

 
559



 

 

 

The procedural framework in the Council’s Capital Strategy (extract shown at Appendix F) outlines the 
three-tier structure of our capital programme, ensuring thorough planning, execution, and monitoring 
of all capital projects from development through to major project completion. 
 
The finance process involves requesting approval to implement the capital project by completing the 
Request to Proceed with the Capital Project form and submitting it to Finance where this will then be 
subject to approval by the Chief Finance Officer under the Scheme of Delegation. This is Cabinet where 
it is a key decision or Council if amendments are required to the approved Capital Programme. Once 
approved the project will be promoted to Tier 1 or 2 of the Capital Programme depending on whether 
the project is classed as a major project or not. 

 
 

4. Reserves 

The main reasons the Council holds reserves are to: 
 

 Manage known financial risks. 
 Hold funding as one-off contributions to expenditure, allowing ongoing revenue budget reductions. 
 Manage timing difference between the receipt of funding and actual spend. 
 Hold ring-fenced funds such as specific grants. 

Table 5 below shows the estimated impact to the General Fund Reserve balance based on the current 
forecast position: 

 
 

Table 5 
 

Projected Movements in General Fund Reserve Balance  
2025/2026 

£ 

Balance brought forward 1 April 2025 (pre audit) 8,208,570 
Estimated contribution to/(from) General Fund Reserve 660,350 
Pension lump sum replenishment  1,810,000 
Projected General Fund Balance 31 March 2026 10,678,920 

 
 
The General Fund Reserve Balance is used to support the revenue budget as set out in the Medium-
Term Financial Plan. However, the council also holds a number of earmarked reserves which are held 
for specific purposes. Table 6 shows the budgeted movements to/(from) earmarked reserves and 
provides notes in respect of any in year movements against these reserves for the period to 30 June 
2025. 

 
Table 6 

 

Reserves 
Opening 
balance 

 1 April 2025 

Budgeted 
movement 
To/(From) 
Revenue 

In year 
movement 
To/(From) 
Revenue 

Note 
Forecast 

Outturn Balance 
31 March 2026 

Ring Fenced Reserves      

Amenity Areas (52,195) - -  (52,195) 

Capital Programme Resources (825,857) 520 -  (825,337) 
Collection Fund Adjustment 
Reserve 

(4,153,779) - - 
 

(4,153,779) 

560



 

 

Reserves 
Opening 
balance 

 1 April 2025 

Budgeted 
movement 
To/(From) 
Revenue 

In year 
movement 
To/(From) 
Revenue 

Note 
Forecast 

Outturn Balance 
31 March 2026 

Grants Reserves (1,803,500) 46,010 -  (1,757,490) 

Holding Accounts (374,296) - -  (374,296) 

Other (144,025) (57,240) -  (201,265) 

Planning Reserves (183,972) (22,390) -  (206,362) 

Repairs and Renewal Reserves (662,242) (50,640) -  (712,882) 

Ring Fenced Reserves (7,332,432) (1,035,720) -  (8,368,152) 

Educational Skills Attainment (187,902) 80,000 -  (107,902) 

Sub Total (15,720,200) (1,039,460) -  (16,759,660) 

Risk Management      

Capital Programme (64,413) - -  (64,413) 

Holding Accounts (30,003) - -  (30,003) 

Insurance (204,908) (79,080) -  (283,988) 

Planning Reserves (22,947) - -  (22,947) 

Ring Fenced Reserves (45,155) - -  (45,155) 

Sub Total (367,426) (79,080) -  (446,506) 

Service Delivery      

Capital Programme Resources (3,746,036) (2,412,380) 41,487 1 (6,116,929) 

Climate Change Strategy (679,276) 334,350 -  (344,926) 

Grants Reserves (1,779,422) (101,000) 8,495 2 (1,871,927) 

Holding Accounts (2,221,598) (53,000) 5,000 3 (2,269,598) 

Planning Reserves - - (526,366) 4 (526,366) 

Project Reserves (4,128,674) 205,000 -  (3,923,674) 

Repairs and Renewal Reserves (1,249,601) 7,870 -  (1,241,731) 

Restructuring Reserve (120,049) - -  (120,049) 

Ring Fenced Reserves (138,674) 21,000 2,000 5 (115,674) 

Sub Total (14,063,331) (1,998,160) (469,384)  (16,530,875) 

Grand Total (30,150,956) (3,116,700) (469,384)  (33,737,040) 
 

The above table shows various movements to the reserves in year: 

Budgeted Movements to/from reserves total £3,116,700: Movements to/from reserves which were 
included within the approved budget 

In year movements to/from revenue total £469,384: This balance accounts for other movements to 
and from reserves during the year of £56,982, as well as the additional transfer to reserves of £526,366, 
following the presentation and approval of the outturn report for 2024/2025 to Cabinet on 24th July 2025. 

 

Notes to Reserves movements 
 
Note 1: Capital Programme Resources 
£8k transfer from reserves to cover the cost of coastal repair works and floodgates. £33 transfer from 
reserves for the provision of CCTV Software licensing upgrade. 
 
Note 2: Grants Reserves 

561



 

 

Transfer from reserves to cover the cost of the Collection Fund Suite subscription £9k for 2025/2026. 
 
Note 3: Holding Accounts 
Transfer from reserves to fund one off MoonCup project £5k 
 
Note 4: Planning Reserves 
£526,366 transfer to reserves following 2024/2025 Outturn report  
 
Note 5: Ring Fenced Reserves 
Transfer from reserves toward cost of RAF Marham Tea Party £2k 
 

 
 
 
 

5. Age Debt Analysis 

The effective management and collection of debt is an essential contributor to the councils’ financial 
resources. Debt recovery levels can be volatile and at risk especially when there is economic financial 
instability.  
 
Sundry Debtors Arrears Monitoring 
 
Data for performance reporting continues to be developed in conjunction with a review of the corporate 
policy on debt recovery.  
 
The first table below shows the comparison of overdue debt between 2024-25 and 2025-26 as at 30 
June in each year based on age. The second table shows the comparison at directorate level.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

562



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In summary, robust reminder and targeted recovery processes are maintained. Monitoring is not 
indicating a material concern for debts in arrears.  
 
 
 
 
 
Housing Benefit Overpayment Recovery Monitoring 
 
In relation to Housing benefits overpayment recovery, the target as of 30 June 2025 is £62,490 and 
£74,484 has been raised in invoices.  
 
See table below showing monthly performance against budget for 2025/2026. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

563



 

 

 

6. Council Tax and Business Rates 

As of 30 June 2025, 27.94% of council tax has been collected against the target of 27.98% which was 
the percentage the same time last year. See Chart below with comparison. 
  

Table 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
33.74% of business rates has been collected against the target of 32.18%, which was the percentage the 
same time last year. See chart below with comparison. 
 
Table 8 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

A P R M A Y J U N J U L A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R

%
 C

O
LL

EC
TE

D
 

COUNCIL TAX
2024-25 Actual 2025-26 Target 2025-26 Actual

0

20

40

60

80

100

A P R M A Y J U N J U L A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R

%
 C

O
LL

EC
TE

D

BUSINESS RATES
2024-25 Actual 2025-26 Target 2025-26 Actual

564



 

 

 
 
 

7. Treasury management 2025/2026 
 
The “Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2025/2026 was 
approved by Council on 27 February 2025. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy will be 
updated as appropriate for any changes made to the code of practice by CIPFA. 
 
In Quarter 1 income generated from investments is higher than originally expected. This is due to 
institutes paying a higher rate of return, as the Bank of England base rate has remained above where 
economists predicted it to be. The council builds its investment income estimate around this core data. 

 
The graph below compares the interest earned each month to the forecasted budget:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The graph below compares the cumulative interest earned and forecasted budget: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The graph below compares the average value invested each month to the forecasted budget: 

565



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The below tables update on movements in borrowing and investments during the period: 
 
Loans 

Institution 
  

Principal 
£ 

              Rate  
% 

Public Works Loan Board 20,000,000 4.860% 

Total Short Term  20,000,000  

Barclays 5,000,000 3.810% 

Barclays 5,000,000 3.810% 

Total Long Term 10,000,000   

Total Borrowing 30,000,000   
 
 

Investments 

 

Institution 
  

Principal 
£ 

Rate  
%  

BNP (Banque Nationale de Paris) – MMF 2,150,000 4.270% 
LGIM - MMF 2,830,000 4.326% 
Total Money Market Fund Investment 4,980,000  
Handlesbanken 1,260,000 3.950% 
South Ayrshire Council 4,000,000 5.650% 

Total Other Investments 5,260,000  

Overall Investments 10,240,000   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

566



 

 

8. Conclusion 

 
The primary objective of this report is to monitor service area performance against allocated budgets and to   
consider variances to the budget figure in the light of current circumstances. 
 
Careful budgetary control throughout the year ensures that resources are applied as planned, fulfilling the 
goal to secure the long-term economic future of the borough.  Budgetary control is applied in a consistent 
manner across all budgets, and individual decisions to be taken during the financial year are reviewed for 
impact on a case-by-case basis before they are taken, so that any identified impact can be considered and 
taken into account at the appropriate time. 
 
The content of this budget monitoring report is designed to enable councillors and senior officers to see the 
financial position of the Council as a whole, as required by the Local Government Act. 

567



Full year 
Approved 

budget 25/26

 Approved 
budget to 30 

June 2025

Actual to 30 
June 2025

Q1 Forecast 
variance

Forecast 
budget 

position 
24/25

Impact 
on 

financial 
planning

£ £ £ £ £

Communications:
Corporate Communications 275,830           62,670             53,933            275,830           
Graphics 38,180             23,190             24,982            38,180             
Printing & Copying- Floor Copiers 14,790             3,780               4,174              14,790             
Printroom 131,750           58,810             39,047            131,750           
Corporate Initiatives:
One Vu Project 45,000             -                   -                  45,000             
Councillors:
Cllr Allowance & Expenses 731,600           160,280           214,540          731,600           
Customer Information Centre:
Customer information Centre 750,150           201,860           196,273          750,150           
ICT:
ICT 1,642,490        267,320           638,893          1,642,490        
Mayoral Allowances:
Mayoral Allowance & Expenses 13,110             3,270               3,344              13,110             
Mayoral Transport 35,290             8,820               8,173              35,290             
Personnel Services:
Personnel Services 324,340           79,130             93,990            324,340           
Personnel Welfare 95,330             21,000             21,408            95,330             
R & D Holding Account 7,270               1,060               -                  7,270               
Recruitment Portal 250                  60                    -                  250                  
Training Holding Account 228,950           57,210             53,764            228,950           
Vivup Salary Sacrifice schemes -                   -                   5,269              -                   
Total 4,334,330        948,460           1,357,790       -                  4,334,330        

Councillor Community Grant 55,000             13,740             5,395              55,000             
Total 55,000             13,740             5,395              -                  55,000             

Back Office:
Corporate Scanning Team 261,230           65,600             65,123            261,230           
Postage Services Kings Court 5,750               1,430               (8,907) 5,750               
Community Infrastructure Levy:
Community Infrastructure Levy -                   375,260           (165,222) -                   

Appendix A

Reason for Forecast movement

Corporate Services:

Chief Executive:

Environment and Planning:

568



Development Control:
Building Control Non Fee 56,570             (1,950) 17,905            56,570             

Development Control 267,520           66,790             (138,749) (33,820) 233,700           Y
Captured via savings and efficiencies plan - income forecast to 
exceed amounts included within initial proposal

Enforcement 249,790           61,850             42,125            249,790           
Extra planning Income - 20% 31,300             (7,780) 68,770            31,300             
Major Planning Appeals 87,220             21,810             (1,038) 87,220             
Planning Control 207,870           23,620             55,616            207,870           
Section 106 Contributions -                   (1,380) (173) -                   
Emergency Planning:
Emergency Planning 34,300             7,080               8,494              34,300             
Home Defence 78,520             19,410             19,770            78,520             
Radio Phones 10,440             2,170               (5,680) 10,440             
Flood Defence:
Coast Defence/Protection 145,480           34,320             2,346              145,480           
Wash East Coast - CIC 5,000               1,250               (975) 5,000               
Local Land Charges:

Local Land Charges (144,830) (36,630) (58,336) (38,790) (183,620) Y
Captured via savings and efficiencies plan - income forecast to 
exceed amounts included within initial proposal

Planning Policy:

Conservation & Heritage 319,090           79,740             16,760            (44,180) 274,910           N Defra grant income received toward Ecology responsibilites.
Habitat Regulations -                   (35,290) (18,326) -                   
Neigbhd Planning Grant -                   4,740               (18,132) -                   
Planning Policy 175,000           27,960             4,616              175,000           
Planning Policy - Support 304,620           68,420             88,211            304,620           
Pollution Monitoring:
Air Quality 83,510             19,310             (11,408) 83,510             
Coastal Pollution Cost Recovery -                   -                   13,814            -                   
Contaminated Land Act 194,320           48,310             46,780            194,320           
Climate Change 127,510           31,860             39,410            127,510           
Enviro Quality-Water Mg 79,560             19,890             20,224            79,560             
Pollution Montr Sals/Sup -                   -                   89                   -                   
Street Naming & Numbering:
Local Land and Property Gazetteer 18,620             4,640               5,614              18,620             

Street Naming & Numbering 20,250             3,330               6,873              20,000            40,250             N
Reduction in applications received to date, income expected to 
not meet full year budget

Total 2,618,640        905,760           95,593            (96,790) 2,521,850        

Interest Payable on Balances 10,000             -                   -                  10,000             
Interest Payable on Borrowing 382,000           -                   -                  382,000           
Interest Receivable - Capital Loans (176,080) -                   (43,651) (176,080)
Interest Receivable -Other (8,350) -                   (1,704) (8,350)

Financing requirement: 

569



Interest Receivable -Treasury Investments (411,280) -                   55,541 (411,280)
Minimum Revenue Provision 844,880           -                   -                  844,880           
REFCUS 2,212,170        -                   -                  2,212,170        
Unsupported Borrowing (310,700) -                   -                  (310,700)
Total 2,542,640        -                   10,187 -                  2,542,640        

Care & Repair:
Handyperson Scheme K Lynn (32,610) 37,650             41,845            (32,610)
Home Improvements Agency 438,030           163,360           731                 438,030           
Housing Grants REFCUS (2,212,170) (552,810) (210,356) (2,212,170)
Careline:
Assistive Technology 13,190             3,300               (7,378) 13,190             
Careline (70,720) (463,620) (632,706) (70,720)
Homes for Ukraine -                   9,090               6,736              -                   
LILY 5 -                   (42,790) (62,657) -                   
Community Safety & Nuisance:
Community Safety 103,680           23,400             23,117            103,680           
Environmental Protection 677,720           144,500           154,780          677,720           
Health & Wellbeing Fund 50,800             12,690             -                  50,800             
MARMOT Initiative 10,000             2,490               1,481              10,000             
Noise Control 7,950               1,110               3,220              7,950               
Out of Hours payments 54,340             13,590             10,522            54,340             
Community Transport:
Community Transport 115,180           51,830             53,013            115,180           
Corporate Health & Safety:
Corporate Health & Safety 4,620               -                   2,203              4,620               
Food Hygiene:
Chrg Priv Water Supplies -                   -                   (466) -                   
Food Hygiene General 5,400               1,240               1,232              5,400               
Food Hygiene & Health and Safety - Support 722,680           177,050           169,279          722,680           
Occupational Health & Safety (1,900) (480) (1,290) (1,900)
Port Health - Environmental Protection 160                  20                    961                 160                  
Housing Standards:
Housing standards 603,050           146,910           103,509          603,050           
Total 489,400           (271,470) (342,224) -                  489,400           

Drainage Boards 3,729,780        1,864,890        1,839,464       3,729,780        
Total 3,729,780        1,864,890        1,839,464       -                  3,729,780        

Health, Wellbeing and Public Protection:

Legal, Governance and Licensing:

Internal Drainage Boards:

570



Corporate Policy: -                   
Apprenticeship Scheme 257,710           64,410             14,157            257,710           
Community Information Points -                   -                   70                   -                   
Corporate Policy 98,660             44,580             24,314            98,660             
Equal Opportunities 4,660               1,170               2,500              4,660               
Improving Attainment -                   -                   3,345              -                   
Policy & Partnership Support Service 9,170               -                   2,340              9,170               
Democratic Process & Events:
Adv Comm 1,300               300                  -                  1,300               
At Homes 1,450               360                  -                  1,450               
Chief Executive - Member services 36,010             1,520               5,255              36,010             
Civic Function Expenses 77,700             20,640             19,723            77,700             
Democratic Process Support 320,890           80,190             71,734            320,890           
Design Awards 590                  150                  -                  590                  
Festival 250                  60                    -                  250                  
Freedom of the Borough 1,970               480                  -                  1,970               
Honorary Alderman -                   -                   -                  -                   
Mart 690                  180                  -                  690                  
Mayor making 1,500               390                  1,387              1,500               
Rememberance Day 1,500               360                  208                 1,500               
Special Events 3,380               840                  (826) 3,380               
Elections:
County Council Elections -                   -                   51,427            -                   
Elections -                   -                   95,145            -                   
Electoral Integrity Programme -                   -                   (97,687) -                   
Parish and Borough Council Elections 149,660           24,520             1,690              149,660           
Register of Electors 305,830           79,710             68,232            305,830           
Legal Services: 
Corporate Governance 260,670           62,490             70,825            260,670           
Head of Legal Services 516,750           104,420           133,447          516,750           
Procurement 155,390           38,350             35,520            155,390           
Licensing: -                   
Licensing 81,260             17,490             22,655            81,260             
Total 2,286,990        542,610           525,460          -                  2,286,990        

Community Centres:
Fairstead Community  Centre (19,210) (3,380) (10,885) (19,210)
Highgate Community Centre 710                  170                  560                 710                  
South Lynn Community Centre (690) 14,620             (3,938) (690)
Community and Sports Development:
Active Schools (22,170) (7,310) (7,562) (22,170)
Community and Sports Development 23,690             9,270               8,183              23,690             
Elite Football (21,440) (3,040) (9,757) (21,440)

Leisure and Community Facilities:

571



KL Arts Centre:
KL Arts Centre 96,020             43,540             55,059            96,020             
Leisure and Culture:
Alive Card 133,490           33,360             33,322            133,490           
Alive Corn Exchange (72,890) (28,670) (82,005) (72,890)
Alive Corn Exchange Catering (100,160) (34,950) (38,484) (100,160)
Alive Downham Market (61,270) 43,750             (66,713) (61,270)
Alive Downham Market Catering (6,480) (1,890) (1,664) (6,480)
Alive Lynnsport 16,890             130,410           (22,458) 16,890             
Alive Lynnsport Catering (44,470) (6,040) (7,510) (44,470)
Alive Oasis 238,880           111,600           47,653            238,880           
Alive Oasis Catering (11,950) (11,820) (972) (11,950)
Alive St James 101,680           53,130             (38,296) 101,680           
Alive St James Catering (11,520) (3,730) (7,282) (11,520)
Lynnsport Pelicans 300                  60                    -                  300                  
Leisure and Culture Management:
Advertising and Marketing 206,150           51,540             41,892            206,150           
Leisure and Culture Management Costs 935,190           196,170           258,614          935,190           
Pavillions & Grounds:
DuttonSports Pavillion (400) 12,270             3,182              (400)
Kingsway Sports Pavillion (280) 3,820               2,490              (280)
River Lane Bowls Club 1,190               300                  3,690              1,190               
West Lynn Sports Pavillion 310                  60                    160                 310                  
Town Hall, Stories of Lynn and Custom House:
Custom House 31,580             11,580             15,184            31,580             
Kings Lynn  Gaol House 10                    -                   -                  10                    
Stories of Lynn 99,420             21,190             (651) 99,420             
Town Hall Kings Lynn 292,840           75,150             (17,986) 292,840           
Total 1,805,420        711,160           153,826          -                  1,805,420        

Allotments:
Allotments (2,230) (520) (815) (2,230)
Allotments Directly Managed (6,840) 1,660               (17,504) (6,840)
Carparking King's Lynn & West Norfolk: -                   
Adhoc Events -                   -                   10,720            -                   

Burnham Market Car Park (62,900) 630                  7,392              (12,300) (75,200) Y
Captured via savings and efficiencies plan - income forecast to 
exceed amounts included within initial proposal

Bus Shelters -                   6,540               2,767              -                   
Car Parks Excess Charges -                   -                   (430,503) -                   
Car Park Promotions Hunstanton 35,000             8,760               658                 35,000             
Car Park Promotions KL 104,000           25,980             -                  104,000           
Car Parks - BCKLWN (930) (2,610) (1,268) (930)
Cashless Pk KZ (KLWN Carparks) -                   10,080             (8,090) -                   
Event / Trailer / Stage / Gen Equip -                   -                   11,146            -                   

Operations and Commercial:

572



Hanse -                   -                   3,964              -                   
Kings Lynn Bus Station 108,190           55,440             69,405            108,190           
Kings Lynn Christmas Lights -                   -                   (500) -                   
Kings Lynn Mart (19,600) (5,520) -                  (19,600)
London Bridge Operations -                   -                   507                 -                   

Parking Operations - Brgh (2,885,690) (383,990) (222,777) (12,120) (2,897,810) Y
Captured via savings and efficiencies plan - income forecast to 
exceed amounts included within initial proposal

Projections -                   -                   919                 -                   
Special Events / Bowls Tournaments 27,990             7,020               -                  27,990             
Urban Open Spaces 10,000             -                   -                  10,000             
Water Ski -                   -                   9,324              -                   
Carparking Shared Services:
Breckland Carpark operation -                   -                   (359) -                   
Car Park - Great Yarmouth (16,000) (14,790) 2,843              (16,000)
Car Parks - South Norfolk (6,600) (3,810) (19,913) (6,600)
Car Parks- Norwich City (Off Street) (50,000) (3,000) (23,976) (50,000)
Car Parks- Norwich City (on street) (100,000) (52,000) (332,388) (100,000)
Cashless Pk JE (NN Carparks) (6,000) (127,490) (85,219) (6,000)
Cashless Pk JE (NN on street) (350) (120) (1,716) (350)
Cashless Pk JC (SN Carparks) -                   -                   (26,450) -                   
Cashless Pk JC (SN on street) -                   -                   (610) -                   
Cashless Pk JG (Bk on street) (600) (150) (345) (600)
Cashless Pk JI (GY Carparks) -                   (223,110) (110,602) -                   
Cashless Pk JI (GY on street) (500) (74,520) (157,322) (500)
Cashless Pk JT (Brd on street) (2,000) (510) (21) (2,000)
Cashless Pk KZ (KLWN on street) (7,300) 60                    (17,843) (7,300)
Decrim - Operational (142,520) 70,750             66,528            (142,520)
Decrim - Other -                   (105,570) -                  -                   
Hospital Parking- Agency (10,000) (600) (63,173) (10,000)
NNDC Carpark Operation (32,580) (69,740) 46,459            (32,580)
NNDC Penalty Notice (40,000) (34,560) -                  (40,000)
On Street Pay and Display -                   (7,500) (5,167) -                   
Resident Parking Permits -                   (3,510) (8,607) -                   
CCTV:
CCTV (303,680) (81,090) (176,203) (303,680)
CCTV Breckland (67,400) (13,200) (34,763) (67,400)
Network Hardware holding 138,000           10,240             2,073              138,000           
Radios (3,570) (2,280) (660) (3,570)
Cleansing & Street Sweeping:
Disposal of Abandoned Vehicles 860                  210                  -                  860                  
Dog Warden and Services 22,050             960                  7,888              22,050             
Neighbourhood Teams 426,860           108,500           107,452          426,860           
Public Cleansing & Street Sweeping - Support 42,760             10,080             9,814              42,760             
Public Cleansing 424,580           87,780             (134,566) 424,580           
Street Sweeping 1,229,660        303,910           319,924          1,229,660        
Tech/Officers/Repairs 122,670           24,900             27,614            122,670           

573



Vehicle Recharge on account -                   -                   15,534            -                   
Crematorium & Cemeteries:
Closed Churchyards 20,090             13,490             10,985            20,090             
Crematorium Trading Account -                   (32,490) (24,128) -                   
Mintlyn Crematorium (1,395,630) (253,240) (24,080) (1,395,630)
National Assistance Act - Burials 10,000             2,490               1,138              10,000             

Open Cemeteries 37,620             13,570             23,141            2,860              40,480             Y
Captured via savings and efficiencies plan - minimal uptake to 
service in first quarter, not expected to meet full year proposal

Public Health Act 2,760               690                  -                  2,760               
St Edmunds, Downham Market 1,500               390                  -                  1,500               
Depots:
Heacham Depot 2,130               4,840               3,515              2,130               
NEWS Depot 115,530           78,250             94,397            115,530           
Events:
Forties Event -                   -                   (700) -                   
Halloween Town Centre Event -                   -                   191                 -                   
General Markets:
Kings Lynn Market - Support costs 1,400               360                  360                 1,400               
Kings Lynn Saturday Market 3,790               (180) -                  3,790               
Markets (11,050) (2,760) (1,253) (11,050)
Sunday Market (700) 960                  1,650              (700)
Parks,Sport Grounds & Open Spaces:
Boston Square 12,950             3,200               3,078              12,950             
Cafe in the Park (3,720) (1,700) (3,280) (3,720)
DSO Grounds Maint Support 23,090             5,010               4,972              23,090             
GM Central Area 159,700           26,730             (44,349) 159,700           
Grounds Northern Area 19,040             11,560             22,321            19,040             
Grounds Southern Area 24,050             9,090               (1,514) 24,050             
Public & Open Spaces 71,910             17,940             2,108              71,910             
North Sea Haven 19,750             4,040               1,983              19,750             
Nursery 53,110             44,670             54,342            53,110             
Parks - Other Support 74,800             18,390             17,776            74,800             
Parks & Open Spaces 331,700           242,820           228,956          331,700           
Public Clocks 6,990               1,710               2,337              6,990               
Sports Grounds - Support Costs 3,860               5,070               4,914              3,860               
Sports Grounds Central 39,270             20,080             11,249            39,270             
Sports Grounds South 35,240             14,090             12,247            35,240             
The Walks 285,540           74,550             62,534            285,540           
Willows Park & Nature Reserve 3,840               960                  570                 3,840               
Play Areas:
Play Areas (13,020) 10,560             5,733              (13,020)
Playareas Downham Market -                   -                   (840) -                   
Playareas Hunstanton Town -                   10                    (230) -                   
Playareas Kings Lynn -                   (20) -                  -                   

574



Play Areas - Support Services 17,310             4,320               4,178              17,310             
Pontoons:
Pontoons at South Quay 26,340             15,360             14,052            26,340             
Public Conveniences:
Public conveniences 379,400           100,550           133,337          379,400           
The Walks Public Convenience 830                  160                  217                 830                  
Refuse & Recycling:
Commercial Food Waste 111,500           6,210               33,914            111,500           
Domestic Refuse 1,360,350        46,520             289,744          1,360,350        
Dry Box Collection Scheme 1,568,370        (54,390) 486,108          1,568,370        
Fly Tipping 194,880           48,690             24,157            194,880           
Food Waste 821,360           (24,850) 226,984          821,360           
Recycling - Clothing Bank (13,000) (3,240) -                  (13,000)
Recycling - Commercial (262,470) (327,030) (323,542) (262,470)
Recycling - Composting (1,746,760) (1,180,210) (1,578,582) (1,746,760)
Recycling Paper (830) (240) -                  (830)
Refuse & Recycling Management (544,460) (459,330) 223,641          (544,460)
Trade Refuse (501,440) (835,510) (469,517) (501,440)
Resort:
Caravan Park & Beach Huts (69,720) (53,960) (9,851) (69,720)
Heacham Beach (67,200) (69,670) (66,844) (67,200)
Resort Seafront 176,570           (70,000) 35,233            176,570           
Resort Trading Operations (11,850) (15,680) (40,804) (11,850)
Resorts - Support 5,290               1,320               1,320              5,290               
Sports Grounds North 63,870             20,110             23,119            63,870             
Resort Investment Properties:
Investment Properties Resort (6,700) (5,300) (4,221) (6,700)
Section 106:
Beechy Close,Denver 22-23 -                   (10) -                  -                   
Bishops Park, Fairstead 26-27 -                   (2,220) -                  -                   
Civray Ave DMkt C D & E 26-27 -                   (1,830) -                  -                   
Coriander Rd DMkt 25-26 -                   10                    -                  -                   
Gap Farm, Sth Wootton 20-21 -                   (10) -                  -                   
Kings Chase A&B DMkt 23-24 -                   (1,010) -                  -                   
King's Reach, Fairstead -                   (3,360) -                  -                   
Lette Way, West Winch -                   10                    -                  -                   
Micklefields,Stoke Ferry 22-23 -                   20                    -                  -                   
Nursery Drive, Hunst 24-25 -                   (20) -                  -                   
Park/Meadowfields DMkt 24-25 -                   (1,710) -                  -                   
Strickland Ave,Snettisham25-26 -                   (1,950) -                  -                   
The Howards, S Wootton 24-25 -                   (10) -                  -                   
The Willows Gayton 22-23 -                   (10) -                  -                   
Wheatfields,Watlington 19-20 -                   20                    -                  -                   
Town Centre Operations:

575



Purfleet Retail Pods -                   -                   2,920              -                   
Town Centre Manager 92,370             15,250             18,886            92,370             
Total 454,880           (2,994,560) (1,663,861) (21,560) 433,320           

Corporate Projects:

Corporate Project Manager 183,570           43,530             32,183            (50,000) 133,570           Y

Proportion of staff time which can be capitalised against projects 
in excess of Q1 budget and expected to exceed full year budget 
by c £50k 

Project Management Officers 134,110           33,510             28,562            134,110           
Active & Clean Connectivity -                   -                   (37,760) -                   
Housing Subsidiaries:
West Norfolk Housing Co Ltd (50,000) (13,420) 5,071              (50,000)
West Norfolk Property Ltd (846,970) (18,150) 31,080            (846,970)
Total (579,290) 45,470 59,136 (50,000) (629,290)

General Properties:
Bridge Inspections -                   2,640               -                  -                   
General Property (209,850) (37,830) (46,443) (209,850)
Marriotts Warehouse (4,690) (5,240) (254) (4,690)
Mintlyn Bungalow (3,130) (760) (875) (3,130)
Princess Theatre Main 6,520               1,620               -                  6,520               
Sewerage 8,180               5,650               5,176              8,180               
Upwell Community Carpark -                   (30) (2,774) -                   
General Properties Investments:
General Properties Investment (3,800) (900) (2,400) (3,800)
Industrial Units:
Austin Fields Industrial Estate (8,780) (2,080) (905) (8,780)
Flitcham Workshops (15,190) (3,820) (1,540) (15,190)
Hardwick Industrial Estate (717,620) (172,360) (182,682) (717,620)
Hardwick Narrows Industrial Estate (116,940) (27,880) (37,475) (116,940)
Heacham Depot (14,700) (3,660) 100                 (14,700)
Heacham Workshops (19,400) (4,760) (9,896) (19,400)
Horsleys Fields Industrial Estate 620                  150                  150                 620                  
Industrial Estates- General 52,810             52,810             9,988              52,810             
Lower Canada Industrial Estate (6,750) (1,630) (2,563) (6,750)
Nar Ouse Business Park 16,640             3,170               (10,864) 16,640             
North Lynn Industrial Estate (394,180) (95,070) (44,302) (394,180)
North Lynn Managed Workshops 28,050             22,520             23,847            28,050             
Regis Place 1,790               390                  1,960              1,790               
Regis Place Unit 2 (11,350) (2,510) (3,611) (11,350)
Regis Place Unit1 (2,670) 7,840               14,253            (2,670)
Saddlebow Industrial Estate (47,730) (11,430) (13,683) (47,730)

Programme and Project Delivery:

Property and Projects:

576



Saddlebow Waste Disposal Site (34,970) (8,400) (10,088) (34,970)
St Johns Business Park (46,630) (11,020) (15,919) (46,630)
Trafalgar Industrial Estate (72,960) (17,540) (10,059) (72,960)
KLAC Rentals:
KLAC Complex Rentals 10,990             2,300               1,979              10,990             
KLIC:
KL Innovation Centre (207,900) (44,520) (27,079) (207,900)
Offices:
KC Office accom rental (166,370) (77,790) (155,561) (166,370)
Kings Court Kings Lynn (100,340) 17,250             1,456              (100,340)
Kings Court Service Charges 620                  120                  41,725            620                  
Offices - Support Service 3,670               -                   930                 3,670               
Priory Road D Market (210) (320) (8,116) (210)
Valentine Road Hunstanton 59,900             27,190             28,487            59,900             
Property Services:
Property Services 703,720           173,500           163,866          703,720           
Shops and Offices:
Phase 5 Town Centre KL (196,020) (41,500) (46,963) (196,020)
Town Centre Development (9,150) (1,290) 10,210            (9,150)
Street Lighting:
Street Lighting 122,040           22,880             28,871            122,040           
Total (1,395,780) (232,310) (301,050) -                  (1,395,780)

Conservation & Heritage:
Greyfriars Tower 21,080             3,390               2,960              21,080             
Red Mount Chapel 3,500               860                  153                 3,500               
Economic Regeneration:
Economic Development - Operational 203,730           50,010             48,010            203,730           

Economic Partnership Working 14,350             1,320               -                  20,000            34,350             Y

Following the closure of LEP, NCC have taken over the 
administration of the Enterprise Zone. New obligation is in 
excess of budget set for contribution, which was based on 
previous levels

Investment & Place 10,250             2,550               2,700              10,250             
Shared Prosperity Grant Fund 5,140               14,790             14,396            5,140               
Guildhall & Arts
Arts Initatives 25,910             6,450               350                 25,910             
Guildhall and Arts - Support 87,570             21,870             7,239              87,570             
Housing Options:
Homechoice 96,760             20,880             49,531            96,760             
Housing Options Programme 524,070           128,310           41,996            524,070           
Housing Strategy:
Domestic Abuse Funding 35,800             8,940               11,540            35,800             
Enabler Role 268,530           67,110             66,853            268,530           
Rough Sleeper Fund 60                    -                   -                  60                    

Regeneration, Housing and Place:

577



West Winch Growth Area -                   -                   31,254            -                   
King's Lynn & Downham Market:
Custom House & Tourist information centre 10                    -                   -                  10                    
Museums:
Museums 36,490             9,120               -                  36,490             
Trues Yard 390                  90                    -                  390                  
Regeneration Projects:
Regeneration Projects 86,200             24,780             45,998            86,200             
Tourism:
Brochure and lead generation 14,610             3,660               -                  14,610             
Communications 2,000               510                  -                  2,000               
Day visitor awareness 21,500             4,150               11,540            21,500             
Discover KL Distribution 22,300             5,580               693                 22,300             
Downham Market 1,340               330                  1,340               
Explore West Norfolk 6,000               1,500               -                  6,000               
Hunstanton Marketing 2,540               630                  -                  2,540               
Hunstanton TIC 20                    -                   20                    
KL Maritime Trail 10                    -                   61                   10                    
Signposting maintenance 1,500               360                  -                  1,500               
Tourism Salaries and support 59,160             13,240             16,587            59,160             
Special Events 3,000               750                  -                  3,000               
Website & Social Media marketing 6,500               1,620               6,500               
Total 1,560,320 392,800 351,860 20,000            1,580,320

Corporate Costs & Provisions:
Subscriptions 36,070             6,490               24,697            36,070             
General Fund write offs -                   -                   8,510              -                   
Corporate Insurance:
Corporate Insurance 209,630           634,420           524,818          209,630           
Corporate Management Team:
Assistant Directors 1,271,700        337,560           307,866          1,271,700        
Chief Executive & Secretary 240,670           58,740             66,225            240,670           
Corporate 3,002,460        239,610           151,423          3,002,460        
Financial Assistance:
Community Projects 42,000             10,500             -                  42,000             
Community Projects CRS 155,290           38,790             76,374            155,290           
Community Projects CS 115,000           28,740             2,500              115,000           
westnorfolkwins 3,960               (14,020) (307) 3,960               
Financial Services:
Financial Services 1,094,120        256,320           286,951          1,094,120        
Internal Audit & Fraud:
Internal Audit 164,100           24,290             26,395            164,100           
Revenues & Benefits:

Resources:

578



Benefit Administration 499,600           67,650             88,899            499,600           
Benefit Payments 500,000           124,950           59,611            500,000           
Cost of Collection - Council Tax 869,610           198,700           314,873          869,610           
Cost of Collection - Non Domestic Rates 61,660             (119,000) 312                 61,660             
Council Tax Support Admin 57,630             (77,510) -                  57,630             
Covid 19 Grants -                   -                   2,450              -                   
Housing Benefit Overpayments (225,000) (62,490) -                  (225,000)
Kings Lynn Bid -                   (54,150) 165,895          -                   
Welfare Reform Funding -                   (26,950) (3,108) -                   
Special Expenses: 
Special Expenses 115,830           500                  -                  115,830           
Treasury Management:
Treasury Management 11,810             2,940               (2,793) 11,810             
Total 8,226,140        1,676,080        2,101,590       -                  8,226,140        

Grand Total 26,128,470 3,602,630        4,193,166 (148,350) 25,980,120

(124,170)
(24,180)

Impact on Financial Planning

No
Yes 579



Appendix B - 2025/2026 Q1 Capital Monitoring
Original Budget 

2025/2026

Revised budget 
2025/2026       

(Cabinet 24 
July 2025)

Actuals to 30 
June 2025

Tier 1 
 Major projects Enterprise Zone (Property and Projects):

Project Management / Marketing 0 9,800 20,980
Roads / Infrastructure 0 0 1,673
EZ Premises Costs 0 0 1,500
EZ Development of Spec Units 1 0 0 79,840
NORA Remediation 0 438,660

Total Enterprise Zone 0 448,460 103,992

Major Housing Development (Companies and Housing):
Salters Road 0 536,730 867
Phase 3-Lynnsport 1 9,153,840 7,719,070 1,743,210
Phase 2 -Lynnsport 4 /5 0 0 9,371
Major Housing Management 0 0 6,580
Major Housing Projects Unallocated Budget 0 27,770
Florence Fields 17,713,600 15,600,230 2,683,296
Nora Phase 2 0 0
Nora Phase 3 0 0
Nora Phase 4 10,000 99,570 2,825
Hunstanton Regeneration Southend Road Car Park 0 0 101,452

Total Major Housing Development 26,877,440 23,983,370 4,547,602

Other Major ProjectsTowns Fund:
St Georges Guildhall Complex 6,102,790 6,084,090 191,463
Active and Clean Connectivity 641,340 1,846,200 102,869
Rail to River 0 62,000
Riverfront Regeneration 596,010 3,340,030 68,338
Multi User Community Hub 0 2,581,450
Programme Management 22,110 45,880 12,073

Leisure and Community Facilities:
Lynn Sport New 3G Pitch 870,000 900,000

Regeneration, Housing & Place:
Southgate Regen Area Business Rate Pool Contribution 279,780 167,780 15,800
UK Shared Prosperity Fund 0 0 4,574
Rural England Prosperity Fund 0 0 321
Local Authority Housing Fund 0 1,861,990 6,029
Town Centre Development (Historical H&M)

Total Other Major Projects 8,512,030         16,889,420       401,467            

Total Tier 1 35,389,470 41,321,250 5,053,061

Tier 2 
 Operational SchemesHealth, Wellbeing & Public Protection

Disabled Facilties Grant 618,200 618,200 138,118
Adapt Grant 1,281,800 1,424,460 208,801
Preventative works: 267,500 267,500
Home Repair Assistance Loan 0 0
Emergency Repair Grant 0 0 1,129
Careline Grant 25,000 25,000
Safe and Secure Grant 0 0
Discretionary Adaptation Assistance 0 0
Low Level Prevention Fund 225,000 225,000

Private Sector Housing Assistance 2,417,500 2,560,160 348,048

580



Appendix B - 2025/2026 Q1 Capital Monitoring
Original Budget 

2025/2026

Revised budget 
2025/2026       

(Cabinet 24 
July 2025)

Actuals to 30 
June 2025

Health, Wellbeing & Public Protection
Careline-Replacement Alarm Units 60,000 60,000

Leisure and Community Facilities:
Corn Exchange -Refurbish Seating 0 0
Corn Exchange - Auditorium LED Lighting 0 0
Lynns Drainage Pipeline Enhancement 0 0
Lynn Sport Gym Centre Flooring Replacement 0 165,000
Lynn Sport Roof 0 0
Lynn Sport 3G Replacement 0 0
L/Sport Gymnastics - Acro Floor and Tumble Track replacement 20,000 20,000
L/Sport Toilets & Changing Room 52,480 52,480
Oasis lockers replacement 0 30,000
Town Hall Redecoration 0 0
Town Hall Prep Kitchen Replacement 10,000 20,000

Operational and Commercial:
Public Conveniences 300,000 366,000
Resurfacing (various car parks) 0 61,800
Car Parks Pay & Display Machine Replacement 165,000 41,080
Car Pk Multi-storey Barrier Ticket Machine 0 38,130
Car Prk Multi-storey Lighting + Controls 0 102,470
Car Parking Strategy 0
Mintlyn Crem Ext Car Park
CCTV Control Room Upgrade 246,050 271,050
CCTV Kettlewell Gadens 24,840 24,840
CCTV Multi-storey 9,890 9,890
CCTV Crematorium 7,730 7,730
CCTV Safer Streets 50,000 46,680
Heacham North Beach Pay & Display Infrastructure 0 23,000
Christmas Lights Replacement 167,550 187,550
Parking/Gladstone Server Upgrade 0 12,030
Digital Signge Installation - NTP 0 43,000
High Street Public Realm TF Accelerated project 0 0 2,738
NSF Events Equipment 0 5,170
Reopening High Street
Replacement Stage 0 0
Replacement Play Area Equipment S106 0 95,880 96,782
Replacement Play Area Equipment 0 89,000
Refuse - Black Bins 40,000 40,000
Brown Bins/Compost 40,000 40,000
Green Bins/Recycling 40,000 40,000
Trade Bins 40,000 40,000
Bandstand Roof Replacement - Hunstanton 0 30,000
Resort - Beach Safety Signage 0 15,000
Resort Chalet Window Replacement 50,000 100,000
Resort - Visitor Digital Sign 50,000 50,000
Grounds Maintenance Vehicles 436,730 436,730
Grounds Maintenance Equipment 139,080 711,620 15,500
Public Cleansing Vehicles 156,800 156,800

Mintlyn Crematorium - Customer Toilets Refurb 40,000 40,000
Mintlyn Crem - Memorial Gardens - Drainage for paths

20,000 20,000
Mintlyn Cremator 1 - Refactory reline 100,000 100,000
Mintlyn Crematorium - redecoration 30,000 30,000

Programme and Projects:
Changing Places Toilet - St James's 39,000 2,050 8,142
Downham Market Public Conveniences 111,000 34,250 24,467

581



Appendix B - 2025/2026 Q1 Capital Monitoring
Original Budget 

2025/2026

Revised budget 
2025/2026       

(Cabinet 24 
July 2025)

Actuals to 30 
June 2025

Property and Projects:
South Quay Somerfield Thomas Silo 0 0
Factory Unit 1 - New Depot Site 0 0
Air Source Heat Pump Project - Enterprise Works 0 0
North Promenade Erosion 0 0
Re:Fit Project 0 16,730 320
E-Energy Solar Project 8,700 8,700
Industrial Estate Roof (Historical adj)
Sewage Treatment Works Refurb/Connect Public Sewer 14,000 28,000

Resources:
ICT Development Programme 0 307,940 56,132
Standard Desktop Refresh 0 0
Community Projects 50,000 16,650

Central Services:
CIC customer service transformation 16,220 0

Total Operational Schemes 4,952,570 6,597,410 552,129

Total Tier 2 4,952,570 6,597,410 552,129

Tier 3 
 Operational SchemesHealth, Wellbeing & Public Protection

Careline - Replacement Vehicles 56,850 56,850
Community Safety Vehicle 30,000 30,000

Leisure and Community Facilities:
Corn Exchange -Internal Dec 0 0
Corn Exchange -Refurbish Seating 15,000 15,000
DMLC - Flooring Replacement 0 0
DMLC - Replacement Lighting Pool 0 13,000
DMLC - Replacement Distribution Boards 25,000 25,000
DMLC - Changing room refurb 30,000 30,000
DMLC - Pool Cover 0 0
DMLC - Window Replacement (dryside) 0 20,000
L/Sport - Floor Surface Reseal 0 0
L/Sport Fire Alarm Upgrade 70,000 0
L/Sport Flooring (changing/toilets/reception) 30,000 0
L/Sport Cubical and locker replacement 0 0
L/Sport Track and Barn Line marking 15,000 15,000
L/Sport Window replacement 40,000 40,000
St James - Floor/Surface Replace 0 0
St James Pool Covers 0
St James Flooring (reception/corridors/viewing) 15,000 15,000
St James Pool Hall replacement lighting 0 0
St James Fire Alarm System 0 0
St James Pool plate heat exchange 0 0
Oasis Fitness Flooring bowls hall/fitness stairs 0 10,000
Oasis Pool Hall lighting 15,000 15,000
Oasis Cubicles replacement 0 50,000
Oasis distribution board replacement 0 0
Town Hall:
Roofing 50,000 50,000
Electrical Switch Replacement 40,000 40,000
Redecoration 15,000 15,000
Replacement flooring/stairs 10,000 10,000
Stone Mason external works 20,000 20,000
Fairstead Replacement Flooring 0 0

582



Appendix B - 2025/2026 Q1 Capital Monitoring
Original Budget 

2025/2026

Revised budget 
2025/2026       

(Cabinet 24 
July 2025)

Actuals to 30 
June 2025

Operational and Commercial:
Decrim Car Park 49,150 49,150
Resurfacing (various car parks) 200,000 200,000
Car Parks Pay & Display Machine Replacement 0 0
Christmas Lights Replacement 0 0
Emergency Plan - Replace Radios 15,000 30,000
The Walks Crazy Golf Equipment 120,000 120,000
Replacement Play Area Equipment 155,000 66,000
Play Area Equipment - King's Lynn (KLACC) 8,000 8,000
Replacement Dog Bins 21,000 21,000
Resort Replacement Play Area Equipment 0 0
Tourist Signs A47 0

Programme and Projects:

Property and Projects:
Re:Fit Project 126,470 126,470
Estate Roads - Resurfacing 0 30,500
Bergen Way Industrial Estate Roof Replacement 250,000 250,000

Regeneration, Housing & Place:
ICI/Active Travel Hub (KLIC2) 121,060 121,060
South Quay Stage 3 120,000 120,000

Resources:
ICT Development Programme 500,000 500,000
Standard Desktop Refresh 300,000 300,000

Total Operational Schemes 2,462,530 2,412,030 0
 Exempt Schemes

Total Exempt Schemes 167,000 197,000 0

Total Tier 3 2,629,530 2,609,030 0

Total Capital Programme 42,971,570 50,527,690 5,605,190

583



Appendix C

Project or Scheme Title 2025/26

Assistant Director Martin Chisholm

Project Manager David Morton

Description of Scheme

Please confirm you have consulted 
with your Executive Director and 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and have 
their support to commence this 
scheme

Confirm the cost of the scheme is 
still within the original estimated 
budget allocated to the scheme.  Is 
this supported by a quote or 
tender? 

If the costs are above the original 
estimated budget, please provide 
an explanation why the costs have 
increased and how it is proposed 
that this additional cost is met.

Please update the following tables for any changes to the budget profile and cost:

Total Capital Cost of Scheme 
(please do not include ongoing 
maintenance costs)

Year 1         
Qtr1             

£

Year 1         
Qtr2             

£

Year 1         
Qtr3             

£

Year 1         
Qtr4             

£

Year 2        
Total             

£

Year 3         
Total             

£

Year 4         
Total             

£

Year 5         
Total             £

Phased as follows:

Description of capital costs:

Annual Revenue Cost of Scheme
Year 1         
Qtr1             

£

Year 1         
Qtr2             

£

Year 1         
Qtr3             

£

Year 1         
Qtr4             

£

Year 2        
Total             

£

Year 3         
Total             

£

Year 4         
Total             

£

Year 5         
Total             £

Phased as follows:

Description of revenue costs:

Notes for Project Managers

3. Please note that you may be required to complete a post-completion project evaluation form.

Reviewed by: (Assistant Director)

Date:

Installation of Digital Sign on Redgate hill as you enter Hunstanton

1. This form will be used to request approval (via the budget monitoring report process) from Cabinet to commence the scheme subject to the 
cost being within the Capital Programme Framework.  If this falls outside that Framework, then it will need approval from Full Council.  

2. If your acheme is approved to progress, the it will be added to tier 1 (major projects) or tier 2 (operational projects) of the capital programme 
(as determined by Cabinet). 

REQUEST TO PROCEED WITH CAPITAL PROJECT

Financial Year:

If agreed work would commence in Q3/Q4 of 2025/26 & finish Q1 of 2026/27 ready for the start of the 2026 season.

No direct costs for this project obtained to date. However costs for a simialr project in King's Lynn 
replacing a VMS sign have come in more than the budget for this project, however the KL signs are much 
larger than the Hunstanton version. Budget for this, on that basis appears to be in the right ballpark. 

N/A

Advertising of whats on always been a big thing in Hunstanton, this will enhance and make everything easier and 
safer for staff. No longer having to update the signs manually. 

We currently have a maunal sign that only has 3 available slots to advertise whats on. That sign requires staff to 
design, print and put up when events change. Time consuming, labour intensive and puts staff on the side of the 
highway to update regularly. Digital display will enable remote updating, can be changed quickly and offers 
oportunity to advertise more things more often. Can also be used to direct traffic flows on busy days / events 

584



Appendix D

Project or Scheme Title 2025/26

Assistant Director Jason Birch

Project Manager Allison Bingham

Description of Scheme

Please confirm you have consulted 
with your Executive Director and 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and have 
their support to commence this 
scheme

Confirm the cost of the scheme is 
still within the original estimated 
budget allocated to the scheme.  Is 
this supported by a quote or 
tender? 

If the costs are above the original 
estimated budget, please provide an 
explanation why the costs have 
increased and how it is proposed 
that this additional cost is met.

Please update the following tables for any changes to the budget profile and cost:

Total Capital Cost of Scheme 
(please do not include ongoing 
maintenance costs)

Year 1         
Qtr1             

£

Year 1         
Qtr2             

£

Year 1         
Qtr3             

£

Year 1         
Qtr4             

£

Year 2        
Total             

£

Year 3         
Total             

£

Year 4         
Total             

£

Year 5         
Total             

£

Phased as follows: 28000

Description of capital costs:

Annual Revenue Cost of Scheme
Year 1         
Qtr1             

£

Year 1         
Qtr2             

£

Year 1         
Qtr3             

£

Year 1         
Qtr4             

£

Year 2        
Total             

£

Year 3         
Total             

£

Year 4         
Total             

£

Year 5         
Total             

£

Phased as follows: 930 930 930 930 930 930

Description of revenue costs:

Notes for Project Managers

3. Please note that you may be required to complete a post-completion project evaluation form.

Reviewed by: Jason Birch (Assistant Director)

Date: 31/07/2025

Flitcham Barns STW Replacement

1. This form will be used to request approval (via the budget monitoring report process) from Cabinet to commence the scheme subject to 
the cost being within the Capital Programme Framework.  If this falls outside that Framework, then it will need approval from Full Council.  

2. If your acheme is approved to progress, the it will be added to tier 1 (major projects) or tier 2 (operational projects) of the capital 
programme (as determined by Cabinet). 

REQUEST TO PROCEED WITH CAPITAL PROJECT

Financial Year:

Removal and installation of new sewage treatment plant and associated works at Flitcham Barns

Inspection, servicing and maintenance every other month

This is supported by a quotation and is within the original capital budget allocation

N/A

Mark Parkinson has been appraised of the situation

The treatment plant at Flitcham Barns is over 30 years old and is beyond its serviceable life and
proving difficult to maintain, to mitigate the risk of untreated waste from entering the river waste is
currently being tankered away on a 4 to 6 week basis, 

585



Appendix E

Project or Scheme Title 25/26

Assistant Director Paul Lowes (Assistant Director for Corporate Services)

Project Manager Mark Willetts (Technical Services Manager)

Description of Scheme

Please confirm you have consulted 
with your Executive Director and 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder and have 
their support to commence this 
scheme

Confirm the cost of the scheme is 
still within the original estimated 
budget allocated to the scheme.  Is 
this supported by a quote or tender? 

If the costs are above the original 
estimated budget, please provide an 
explanation why the costs have 
increased and how it is proposed 
that this additional cost is met.

Please update the following tables for any changes to the budget profile and cost:

Total Capital Cost of Scheme (please 
do not include ongoing maintenance 
costs)

Year 1         
Qtr1             

£

Year 1         
Qtr2             

£

Year 1         
Qtr3             

£

Year 1         
Qtr4             

£

Year 2        
Total             

£

Year 3         
Total             

£

Year 4         
Total             

£

Year 5         
Total             

£

Phased as follows: £350,000 £150,000 £150,000

Description of capital costs:

Annual Revenue Cost of Scheme
Year 1         
Qtr1             

£

Year 1         
Qtr2             

£

Year 1         
Qtr3             

£

Year 1         
Qtr4             

£

Year 2        
Total             

£

Year 3         
Total             

£

Year 4         
Total             

£

Year 5         
Total             

£

Phased as follows:

Description of revenue costs:

Notes for Project Managers

3. Please note that you may be required to complete a post-completion project evaluation form.

Reviewed by: (Assistant Director)

Date:

Desktop Refresh 

1. This form will be used to request approval (via the budget monitoring report process) from Cabinet to commence the scheme subject to 
the cost being within the Capital Programme Framework.  If this falls outside that Framework, then it will need approval from Full Council.  

2. If your acheme is approved to progress, the it will be added to tier 1 (major projects) or tier 2 (operational projects) of the capital 
programme (as determined by Cabinet). 

REQUEST TO PROCEED WITH CAPITAL PROJECT

Financial Year:

Ongoing costs will be covered by warranty, licensing costs covered by the Microsoft Enterprise agreement.  
There are no other revenue costs.

Still within budget based on provisional quotes - tender process under discussion with Procurement

Paul Lowes (Assistant Director for Corporate Services) and Cllr Chris Morley are aware and supportive of the 
project

This project will fund the purchase and deployment of new Windows 11-ready laptops and equipment to 
replace ageing devices currently in use across the organisation. Desktop PCs will be replaced with laptops with 
the ability to dock, wherever practical, and equipment on desks will be brought up to a common standard, 
which will include replacement of the oldest monitors and replacement of Mitel handsets with Teams Phone.

The replacement programme will target laptops approaching or exceeding their end-of-life, many of which are 
running Windows 10 and will be unable to support future software updates beyond Microsoft’s Windows 10 end 
of support date (14 October 2025).

The rollout will:

Provide modern, secure, and high-performance laptops to staff.

Ensure all devices are compliant with the council’s security and software standards.

Support flexible and hybrid working models.

Deployment will be managed by the ICT Services team and scheduled to minimise operational disruption.

586



Appendix F - Capital Strategy (Extract) 

 

3.3 Capital Programme Process  

The procedural framework outlines the three-Ɵer structure of our capital 
programme, ensuring thorough planning, execuƟon, and monitoring of all 
capital projects from development through to major project compleƟon.  

1. Development Stage  

The purpose of this stage is to involve iniƟal fact-finding, project development, 
and preliminary research to assess the feasibility and benefits of proposed 
projects.  

Fact-Finding and Needs Assessment (Discovery Phase):  

• During this phase, the strategic context of the project is determined. 
Workshops and wider officer consultaƟons are conducted, followed by the 
preparaƟon of a mandate and a risk register.  

• The outputs of this phase include workshop outcomes, the mandate, and the 
risk register.  

• The finance process involves Strategic Assessment Approval, with no approvals 
required at this stage.  

Project Development (IniƟate Phase):  

• In this phase, the business jusƟficaƟon for the project is made by exploring the 
preferred way forward, outlining the procurement strategy, and developing the 
project management approach.  

• The outputs include the Strategic Outline Business Case, Outline Procurement 
Strategy, and the Project Management Plan.  

• The finance process involves requesƟng New Capital Project Approval by 
compleƟng the Capital Appraisal Form and submiƫng it to Finance where once 
approved it will be added to Tier 3 of the Capital Programme.  

Research on Benefits and Feasibility (Plan Phase):  

• The delivery strategy is determined by assessing potenƟal Value for Money 
(VfM) and preparing for the potenƟal deal, ascertaining affordability and funding 
requirements, and planning for successful delivery.  

587



• The outputs include the Engagement Strategy, Project DefiniƟon, and the 
Outline Business Case.  

• The finance process involves requesƟng approval to implement the capital 
project by compleƟng the Request to Proceed with the Capital Project form and 
submiƫng it to Finance where this will then be subject to approval by the Chief 
Finance Officer under the Scheme of DelegaƟon, Cabinet where it is a key 
decision or Council if amendments are required to approved Capital Programme. 
Once approved the project will be promoted to Tier 1 or 2 of the Capital 
Programme depending on whether the project is classed as a major project or 
not. 

588



REPORT TO CABINET 
 

Open 
 

Would any decisions proposed : 
 
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES 
Need to be recommendations to Council      NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    YES 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr Paul Bland  
E-mail: cllr.paul.bland@west-norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Cllr Simon Ring 

Other Members consulted:  

Lead Officer:  Chris Black/Martin Chisholm 

E-mail: martin.chisholm@west-
norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Officers consulted:  
 

Financial 
Implications  
YES 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications   
NO 
 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 
YES 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
YES 

 

Date of meeting: 23 September 2025 
 
TITLE: KING’S LYNN CEMETERY PROVISION 
 
Summary  
 
The Gayton Road Cemetery is the only operational burial site in King’s Lynn, offering 
over 5,000 plots with inclusive provisions for various faith groups; however, its long-
term viability is under threat due to environmental constraints, particularly a high water 
table that has rendered more than half of the plots non-compliant as defined by the 
Ground Water Regulations enforced by the Environment Agency (EA). With only 55 
compliant single-depth plots remaining and an annual burial rate of around 30 new 
graves required, capacity is rapidly diminishing.  
 
Reviews in 2009 and 2018 highlighted this issue, prompting further action in 2019.  In 
2024 efforts were renewed to identify alternative sites within the King’s Lynn boundary 
due to the growing urgency of securing future burial provision, the feasibility study 
conducted an externally appointed contractor could not identity a suitable site within 
the Kings Lynn boundary. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Cabinet Resolves: 
 

1) Close Gayton Road Cemetery to new full body burials from 1 April 2026, unless 

operational circumstances require this date to be brought forward. 

2) To review any future sites which may be suitable within the King’s Lynn 

boundary, as the opportunities present. 

Reason for Decision 
 
The above set of actions ensures that the Council can fulfil commitments for burials in 
Gayton Road Cemetery, and will provide the ability to consider any suitable site that 
becomes available in the future. 

589

Agenda Item 14



1 Background 
 

Our only operational cemetery in King’s Lynn is on Gayton Road.  There is provision for 
c. 5400 burial plots and all sections of the community are catered for with areas 
dedicated for various faith groups.  We reviewed capacity at this site in 2009 and 2018 
and as we conduct in the region of 60 burials a year the capacity has continued to 
dwindle.  
 
This is due in part to a reduction in the number of available graves due to the 
identification of a high water table meaning that parts of the cemetery are unsuitable for 
burial. 
 

Total Number of Graves:  5418 

Total Number of Reserved (pre-paid) Graves:  258 

Total Number of Graves in area of cemetery identified by Environment 
Agency (EA) & Cemetery Development Services (CDS) as in breach 
of Ground Water Regulations (GWR):  

3113 

Total Number of Reserved Graves in area identified by EA & CDS as 
in breach of GWR:  

104 

Total Number of Graves with one burial and rights for second burial in 
area identified by EA & CDS as in breach of GWR :  

780* 

Number of unpurchased / available graves in area identified by EA & 
CDS as compliant:  

55 single 
depth** / 0 
double 
depth 

 
*in these instances, we manage each request to open a grave on a case by case basis 
working with guidance and agreements from EA that the grave must be dry / no standing 
water and that the defined depth for a grave can be achieved and that at least 1m of soil 
will cover the coffin – to date we have fulfilled all requests. 
 
**BCKLWN have always provided grave spaces for 2 burials – therefore the figure of 55 
single grave spaces could effectively reduced to 27 grave spaces. 
  
A renewed focus on future provision meant that this matter was brought to Management 
Team in November 2019 and a number of steps were agreed upon.  Specialists were 
retained to carry out additional investigative works at the site and some tentative site 
visits were undertaken with little success in identifying a suitable alternative location. 
 
We again retained specialists to carry out a feasibility study in 2024, their scope was to 
identify potential sites within the King’s Lynn boundary.  
 

2 Options Considered  
 

A) Extending Gayton Road Cemetery 
 

• 2009 - planning permission was granted for the change of use of allotment area to 
facilitate an extension to the cemetery, providing in the region of an extra 800 spaces. 
The land was cleared, levelled and fenced off, thus activating the planning permission.    
 

• 2018 – decision to progress the design of the old allotment area in readiness for future 
use.  To ensure compliance with Environment Agency statutory guidance for managing 
ground water pollution, a full survey of the site was commissioned, and undertaken by 
specialist contractors.  It was identified during the course of these that the old allotment 

590



area was not suitable due to poor ground conditions and confirmation from the 
Environmental Agency (EA) that they would not support the extension of the existing 
cemetery.  Ground water regulations also applied to the existing cemetery. 
 

• Due to the above EA constraints this option had to be rejected. 
 
B) Providing an alternative site 
 

• A new “flagship” cemetery: 
– Local to the Kings Lynn area. 
– Would meet residents' expectations of a new facility. 
– Full infrastructure, including 

• Car Parking 
• Utilities  
• Ceremony Hall 
• Visitors Toilets 
• Staff welfare facilities 

– Inclusion of: 
• Woodland Burial (Colney Wood style) 
• Traditional Lawn Cemetery (Gayton Road style) 
• Gardens of Remembrance for cremated remains. 

– Professional design concept & initial feasibility studies. 
• Commission expert in this field (ie Cemetery Development Services) 

  
• A new “basic” cemetery: 

– Local to the Kings Lynn area. 
– Would meet the minimum expected requirement of a cemetery. 
– Functional infrastructure, including 

• Car Parking 
• Utilities  
• Limited paths and roadways 

– Inclusion of: 
• Traditional Lawn Cemetery (Gayton Road style) 
• Cremated remains area. 

 

 A feasibility study was commissioned to identify if there were potential sites in the Kings 
Lynn boundary. The desktop study, which does not look at detail such as ground water 
conditions, found just one site within the Kings Lynn boundary, and that was the area 
detailed above as an extension area for the current cemetery, a full site study would 
have discounted this site as an option. The desktop study identified potential sites 
within a radius of up to 5 miles from the centre of Kings Lynn, however it is likely many 
of these would be discounted either due to planned developments, highway concerns 
or topographical issues. Further studies would be required including cost analysis and 
groundwater risk assessments.  
 
 
C) Utilise existing facilities: 

– Parish and churches in the district have some limited capacity. 
• This is usually reserved for parishioners or members of the church. 

– Borough Council has capacity at Hunstanton for c.350 burials. 
• A large facility within the Borough but might not appeal to King’s Lynn 

residents. 
 
 
  

591



3 Policy Implications 
 
 None 
 
4 Financial Implications 
  

The closure of Gayton Road will have a negative impact on revenue income, along 
with continued revenue costs, whatever option is chosen, as the authority will remain 
responsible for ongoing maintenance.  There will also be a significant capital, and 
additional revenue costs, should a new cemetery be considered. 

 
5 Personnel Implications 
 

There will be no change to our public open space staff who provide maintenance for 
these areas, however, should a new cemetery be considered this will have additional 
resourcing implications.  

 
6 Environmental Considerations 
 

Any new cemetery will have to meet any planning regulations, the Environment Agency 
permitting rules and the Council’s own sustainability priorities.  

 
7 Statutory Considerations 
 
 None 
 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 

Pre screening report template attached 
 
9 Risk Management Implications 
 

Leaving Gayton Road operational indefinitely is not an option as the site will be at full 
capacity with 12 months, when considering existing commitments for pre-sold graves.   
 
Utilising Hunstanton Cemetery could give 10 years worth of capacity, however, it is 
unlikely that many King’s Lynn residents will want to be buried in Hunstanton due to 
distance.  

 
10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
 None 
 
11 Background Papers 
 

A presentation provided by specialist, attached.  

592



Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  
 
For equalities profile information please visit Norfolk Insight - Demographics and Statistics - Data Observatory 

 

Name of policy/service/function Cemeteries 

Is this a new or existing policy/ 
service/function? (tick as appropriate) 

New   Existing x 

Brief summary/description of the main aims 
of the policy/service/function being screened. 

 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations, and 
identify relevant legislation. 

To explore the options open to the Council with regard to 
dwindling burial spaces in King’s Lynn and consideration 
of any future cemetery. 

Cemetery provision is not a statutory function. 

Who has been consulted as part of the 
development of the policy/service/function? – 
new only (identify stakeholders consulted with) 

Portfolio Holder, previous Cabinet briefing in September 
2024 

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a specific 
impact on people from one or more of the 
following groups, for example, because they 
have particular needs, experiences, issues 
or priorities or in terms of ability to access 
the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 
impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are identified, 
then a full Equality Impact Assessment 
(Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

 

*For more information on health inequalities 
please visit The King's Fund 

 

 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a

ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u
re

 

Age   x  

Disability   x  

Sex   x  

Gender Re-assignment   x  

Marriage/civil partnership   x  

Pregnancy & maternity   x  

Race   x  

Religion or belief  x   

Sexual orientation   x  

Armed forces community   x  

Care leavers   x  

Health inequalities*   x  

Other (eg low income, caring 
responsibilities) 

  x  

Please provide a brief explanation of the answers above: 
 
As some belief groups have a preference to burial. 
 
 
 

593

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell


 
 Please tick to confirm completed EIA Pre-screening Form has been shared with Corporate Policy 
(corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk) 

 

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 
affect relations between certain equality 
communities or to damage relations between 
the equality communities and the Council, for 
example because it is seen as favouring a 
particular community or denying 
opportunities to another? 

No   

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as 
impacting on communities differently? 

No  

4. Are any impacts identified above minor 
and if so, can these be eliminated or reduced 
by minor actions? 
If yes, please agree actions with a member 
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group 
and list agreed actions in the comments 
section 

No Actions: 
 
 
 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 
………………………………………. 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 
 
 
 
Decision agreed by EWG member: ………………………………………………….. 

5. Is the policy/service specifically designed 
to tackle evidence of disadvantage or 
potential discrimination? 

No Please provide brief summary: 

Assessment completed by: 
Name  

Martin Chisholm 
 

Job title  Assistant Director Operations and Commercial 

Date completed  19/08/2025 

Reviewed by EWG member Amy Pearce Date 19/08/2025 

594

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


REPORT TO CABINET 
 

Open 
 

Would any decisions proposed : 
 
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES 
Need to be recommendations to Council      NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

Mandatory/ 
 
Discretionary /  
 
Operational 

Lead Member: Councillor Alistair Beales 
E-mail: cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk 

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Councillor Moriarty 

Other Members consulted: Members of the 
Regeneration and Development Panel and Members of 
the Transport Informal Working Group 

Lead Officer: Duncan Hall   
E-mail: Duncan.hall@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Other Officers consulted:   
 

Financial 
Implications  
NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications  NO 
 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 
YES If YES: 
Pre-screening/ 
Full Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES 

Environmental 
Considerations 
NO 

 

Date of meeting: 23 September 2025 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL – TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE INFORMAL WORKING GROUP 
 

Summary  
 
This report presents the recommendations from the Regeneration and 
Development Panel relating to the work of the Transport and Infrastructure 
Informal Working Group which was tasked by the Panel to assist with the 
formation of high-level strategy and action plan for Transport and consider the 
existing and future uses and opportunities for transport over the next 30 years.  
 

Recommendation 
 

1. That Cabinet acknowledge and note the recommendations put forward 
by the Panel, as set out in part 3 of the report, and that they be submitted 
to officers to inform future plans, strategies and policies dealing with 
Transport and Infrastructure as appropriate. 

2. That Cabinet express their thanks to Members and officers involved in 
the work of the Informal Working Group. 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
To allow for Member input on matters relating to Transport and Infrastructure 
during the development of policies and strategies. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

595

Agenda Item 15

mailto:cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 
1 Background 
 
The Transport Strategy Informal Working Group was established by the Regeneration 
and Development Panel at its meeting on 16th April 2025.  The Group’s terms of 
reference are summarised below. 
 

1. To assist with the formation of a high-level strategy and action plan for 
Transport in King’s Lynn, including considering and inputting into: 

a. King’s Lynn Area Transport Strategy 
b. Norfolk Rail Prospectus 
c. Car Parking Strategy 
d. Future plans for the Ferry Service 

2. The Group will consider the existing and future issues and opportunities for 
transport in King’s Lynn over the next 30 years. 

 
2 Options Considered  
 
2.1 The Group met on ten separate occasions.  Agendas and Minutes for the 

meetings are available for Councillors to view on Mod Gov and a summary of 
topics discussed at the meetings are set out below. 

 
22nd August 2024 – Setting the Work Programme, topics for discussion and 
agreeing the Terms of Reference. 
 
12th September 2024 – The Group received a presentation from the Planning 
Policy Manager on the emerging Local Plan, Government consultations on the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Wider Planning Reform. 
 
15th October 2024 – Representatives from Norfolk County Council and the 
County Council Portfolio Holder for Transport were present at the meeting and 
provided information and answered questions on the King’s Lynn Transport 
Study, Rail Prospectus Consultation. 
 
7th November 2024 – The Group held a discussion on the Ferry. 
 
19th November 2024 – Ben Colson was present at the meeting and presented 
his thoughts and ideas on the future of bus services.   
 
2nd January 2025 – Representatives from Norfolk County Council were present 
at the meeting to discuss the further allocation of Bus Service Improvement 
Funding for the 25-26 Financial Year.  The Group put forward their ideas for 
consideration.  Following the meeting a survey was also sent to all Councillors 
to enable them to put forward ideas for funding opportunities. 
 
14th January 2025 – Representatives from Norfolk County Council were 
present at the meeting and provided an update on the Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan and STARS. 
 

596



4th March 2025 – Representatives from Norfolk County Council were present 
at the meeting and presented information on the Norfolk Rail Prospectus, New 
Rail Stations Feasibility Study. The Group also received information from 
Borough Council officers on King’s Lynn and Hunstanton Parking Strategy 
including an update on the progress of the Draft King’s Lynn Transport Study 
with a presentation of the findings and work carried out to date.  
 
11th March and 1st April 2025 – The Group discussed and formulated their 
recommendations back to the Panel. 
 

2.2  The Informal Working Group submitted their recommendations to the 
Regeneration and Development Panel on 3rd June 2025 and the Panel 
supported the recommendations for onward consideration by Cabinet. 

 
3 Proposals 
 

The Regeneration and Development Panel request that Cabinet consider the 
below recommendations, indicate their support for all or part of the 
recommendations and agree that they be submitted to officers for use in future 
plans, strategies and policies dealing with Transport and Infrastructure as 
appropriate. 
 
3.1 Recommendations relating to Rail 
 

1. A viability study on a parkway station and transport hub near or on the 
Enterprise Zone, King’s Lynn is carried out, considering timetabling 
constraints, proximity to provision of a travel hub and associated car 
parking. 

2. The Group acknowledge the Rail Prospectus Report from Norfolk 
County Council and the issues it highlights, but feel that priority should 
be given to making improvements and providing additional provision to 
accommodate future growth in the area.  Creation of new settlements 
and their needs to access railway stations, be it improvements to existing 
stations, or additional provision should be considered in the next Local 
Plan.  

3. Watlington Station. 
a. Improvements to the roads leading to the station. 
b. Increase car parking provision to accommodate future growth 
c. Explore opportunities to create a transport hub. 

4. Downham Market Station 
a. Investigate making this a ‘travel hub’ by connecting with other 

modes of transport i.e. better bus services. 
b. Additional provision of CCTV covered cycle storage. 
c. Improve walkways from nearby car parks to encourage users to 

park in other car parks and walk to the station. 
d. Increase car parking provision 
e. Improvements to the platform crossings. 
f. Explore opportunities to create a transport hub. 

5. King’s Lynn Station 

597



a. Consider expanding the car park provision into King’s Lynn 
Station and creating a travel hub.  Possible location for a multi 
storey car park. 

6. Work with bus operators to explore opportunities to provide joint 
ticketing. 

7. Recognise the importance of supporting growth and multi modal 
transport by investing in stations and increasing the frequency of service. 

 
3.2 Recommendations relating to the Ferry 

 
1. Ensure it is included in the new Local Plan and King’s Lynn Masterplan as 

appropriate to support future growth in the area which could unlock access 
to funding opportunities. 

2. Continue to work on feasibility studies and improvements as budgets allow.  
Acknowledging that the full scheme presented by WSP was unfeasible. 

3. Clarify ownership and responsibility. 
4. Continue to engage with the operator and provide signposting and support 

on how to access business support funding/grants. 
5. Consider the former Del Monte site as additional car parking for the Ferry, 

for inclusion within the King’s Lynn Masterplan. 
6. Promote ‘Park and Sail’ to commuters and tourists, consider this within the 

King’s Lynn Parking Strategy. 
7. West Lynn site for overnight campervan parking and leisure provision, for 

consideration of future land use within the King’s Lynn Masterplan. 
8. Later services to improve access to the nighttime economy. 

 
3.3 Recommendations relating to Travel/Cycling 
 

1. Endorse that priority is being given to active travel at the West Winch Growth 
Area and support the work of the LCWIP in this area. 

2. Improvements to crossings at Tennyson Road should continue to be a 
priority, working with Network Rail. 

3. Endorse STARS and Southgates Regeneration as a priority. 
 
3.4 Recommendations relating to Buses 
 

1. Joint Ticketing opportunities to be explored – including with rail. 
2. Consider opportunities in the Bus Services Act including Franchising.  

Encourage/lobby that this work is commenced now so that it can be 
progressed by the new Unitary/Strategic Authority. 

3. Endorse the priority areas in the Bus Service Improvement Plan and 
continue to engage with NCC to ensure that funding is used to make 
improvements to services in West Norfolk which include: 

a. Later services to support the night time economy and employment. 
b. Investigate an ‘orbital’ service for King’s Lynn which can assist with 

active travel/park and ride/parkway station access. 
c. Upgrading to smart shelters across the Borough. 
d. Bus service to complement the Ferry – e.g. later on in the evening a 

service to the Ferry Car Park etc. 

598



e. Circular/town centre service in Downham Market, including access to 
the Leisure Centre now that car parking charges have been 
introduced in this area. 

4. Investigate active travel hubs in Hunstanton to support the tourist 
offer/access to the coast etc and support cycle hire in this area. 

 
4 Policy Implications 
 

Recommendations from the Panel will be taken into consideration during 
creation of future plans, policies and strategies relating to Transport and 
Infrastructure as appropriate. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

None directly associated with this report.  Any proposals from this group will 
form part of overarching policies and projects. 

 
6 Personnel Implications 
 
 None 
 
7 Environmental Considerations 
 
 None 
 
8 Statutory Considerations 
 
 None 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
 Pre-screening Form is attached. 
 
 

10 Risk Management Implications 
 
 None. 
 
11 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
 None. 
 
12 Background Papers 
 

Agendas and minutes from the Informal Working Group and 4th June 2025 
report to the Regeneration and Development Panel. 

  

599



Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  
 
For equalities profile information please visit Norfolk Insight - Demographics and Statistics - Data Observatory 

Name of policy/service/function Report from the Transport Informal Working Group 

Is this a new or existing policy/ 
service/function? (tick as appropriate) 

New   Existing  

Brief summary/description of the main aims 
of the policy/service/function being screened. 

 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations, and 
identify relevant legislation. 

To ask Cabinet to indicate their support to the 
recommendations relating to Transport and Infrastructure 
and that those recommendations be taken into 
consideration in the formulation of relevant future plans 
and policies as appropriate. 

 

Comments and recommendations will feed into future 
projects and policies which will be subject to the usual 
democratic processes and subject to further EIA pre-
screening. 

Who has been consulted as part of the 
development of the policy/service/function? – 
new only (identify stakeholders consulted with) 

Members of the Transport Informal Working Group. 

Relevant Portfolio Holders 

Members of the Regeneration and Development Panel. 

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a specific 
impact on people from one or more of the 
following groups, for example, because they 
have particular needs, experiences, issues 
or priorities or in terms of ability to access 
the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 
impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are identified, 
then a full Equality Impact Assessment 
(Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

 

*For more information on health inequalities 
please visit The King's Fund 

 

 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a

ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u
re

 

Age     

Disability     

Sex     

Gender Re-assignment     

Marriage/civil partnership     

Pregnancy & maternity     

Race     

Religion or belief     

Sexual orientation     

Armed forces community     

Care leavers     

Health inequalities*     

Other (eg low income, caring 
responsibilities) 

    

Please provide a brief explanation of the answers above: 

600

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell


 Please tick to confirm completed EIA Pre-screening Form has been shared with Corporate Policy 
(corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk) 

The recommendation is that the recommendations from the Informal Working Group be taken into 
consideration during the formulation of future plans and projects.  Those future plans and projects would 
be subject to separate decisions and EIA monitoring as required, 
 

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 
affect relations between certain equality 
communities or to damage relations between 
the equality communities and the Council, for 
example because it is seen as favouring a 
particular community or denying 
opportunities to another? 

Yes / No  

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as 
impacting on communities differently? 

Yes / No  

4. Are any impacts identified above minor 
and if so, can these be eliminated or reduced 
by minor actions? 
If yes, please agree actions with a member 
of the Corporate Equalities Working Group 
and list agreed actions in the comments 
section 

Yes / No Actions: n/a 
 
 
 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 
Alison Demonty 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 
 
 
 
Decision agreed by EWG member: Alison Demonty 

5. Is the policy/service specifically designed 
to tackle evidence of disadvantage or 
potential discrimination? 

Yes / No Please provide brief summary: 

Assessment completed by: 
Name  

Duncan Hall 
 

Job title  Assistant Director 

Date completed   

Reviewed by EWG member Alison Demonty Date  
24.07.25 

601

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 

  

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

Open/Exempt 
 

Would any decisions proposed: 
 
Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide  YES/NO 
Need to be recommendations to Council      YES/NO 
 

Is it a Key Decision    YES/NO 
  

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 

 
Mandatory/ 
Discretionary/ 
Operational 

Lead Member: Cllr Alistair Beales, Leader 
E-mail: cllr.alistair.beales@west-
norfolk.gov.uk 
 

Other Cabinet Members consulted:  
 

Other Members consulted: Constitution Informal 
Working Group 
 
Group Leaders (regarding the Electoral Arrangements 
Committee) 
 

Lead Officer:  Alexa Baker, Monitoring 
Officer 
E-mail: alexa.baker@west-norfolk.gov.uk  
Direct Dial: 01553 616270 
 

Other Officers consulted:  
 
Michelle Drewery, Chief Finance Officer (regarding 
increased co-opted member expenses) 
 

Financial 
Implications  
YES/NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Equal Impact 
Assessment  
Pre-screening: 
Neutral impact 
 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES/NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
YES/NO 

 

Date of meeting: 23 September 2025 
 
Subject: Constitution Review   
 

Summary  
 
This report presents a Schedule of proposed Substantive Changes to the 
Constitution, developed through cross-party engagement and officer consultation 
from the Constitution Informal Working Group (“CIWG”). The Corporate Performance 
Panel recommended the Schedule of Substantive Changes to Cabinet on 3 
September 2025.  
 
The following is attached as Annex 1: 
 
Schedule of proposed Substantive Changes to the Constitution including: 
 

 Appendix 1: Outside Bodies (new Article 17) 

 Appendix 2: Shareholder Function (new Article 18) 

 Appendix 3: Audit Committee Independent Members 

 Appendix 4: Electoral Arrangements Committee  
 
Recommendation 
 
Cabinet recommends to Full Council: 
 

1. The Schedule of Substantive Changes to the Constitution at Annex 1 are 
approved, to be effective immediately. 

602

Agenda Item 16

mailto:cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:cllr.alistair.beales@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:alexa.baker@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To fulfil the Council’s duty to review its Constitution and keep it uptodate.  
 

 
1 Background 
 
This report proposes changes to the Constitution, based on the recent work 
undertaken by the Constitution Informal Working Group (“CIWG”). The 
proposed changes were considered by the Corporate Performance Panel, as 
the body which constituted the CIWG, on 3 September 2025, and were 
onwards recommended to Cabinet. 
 
The CIWG was convened as the mechanism through which the Council’s 
Constitution is reviewed, with support from the Monitoring Officer and 
Democratic Services Manager, to ensure that the Constitution is complete, 
accurate, up to date, clear, consistent, lawful and fit for purpose.  
 
 
2 Options Considered  
 
2.1 It is a constitutional and statutory requirement for the Constitution to be 

reviewed. It is a Full Council function to approve changes to the 
Constitution following the review.   
 

2.2 The proposal recommended to Cabinet is to approve the following 
Schedule at Annex 1: 

 
Schedule of proposed Substantive Changes to the Constitution 
including: 
 
Appendix 1: Outside Bodies (new Article 17) 
Appendix 2: Shareholder Function (new Article 18) 
Appendix 3: Audit Committee Independent Members 
Appendix 4: Electoral Arrangements Committee  

 
2.3 There is commentary within the Schedule at Annex 1 regarding the 

reasons why each change is proposed.  
 

2.4 It is an option to not make the changes; however, the changes have 
been submitted by the CIWG as necessary to keep the Constitution 
complete, accurate, up to date, clear, consistent, lawful and fit for 
purpose.  
 

2.5 If Cabinet is minded to consider alternative options that significantly 
alter the proposed recommendations from the CIWG, then it is 
recommended that these be returned to the CIWG for consideration 
before being recommended to Full Council.  
 

603



 

 

2.6 Commentary on the Appendices to the Schedule of Substantive 
Changes: 

 
Appendix 1 – Outside Bodies 
Introduces Article 17 to define and regulate appointments to external 
organisations. This improves transparency and ensures appointments align 
with strategic objectives and legal frameworks. 
 
Appendix 2 – Shareholder Function 
Introduces Article 18 to formally recognise the Council’s role in overseeing 
wholly owned companies. Establishing a Shareholder Committee ensures 
governance is structured and legally compliant. 
 
Appendix 3 – Audit Committee Independent Members 
Clarifies the role and appointment process for independent co-opted 
members, aligning with CIPFA guidance and enhancing the robustness of 
audit oversight. Introduces an increased allowance to support recruitment and 
retention. 
 
Appendix 4 – Electoral Arrangements Committee 
Establishes a new non-executive committee to oversee electoral reviews, 
polling arrangement  and Community Governance Reviews. This ensures 
statutory compliance and provides a clear governance route for electoral 
matters. 
 
 
3 Policy Implications 
 
3.1 The review of the Constitution supports the effectiveness of the 

Council’s governance framework which will be reflected in the Annual 
Governance Statement. It also supports the Corporate Strategy priority 
of Efficient and effective delivery of our services. 

 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 The Chief Finance Officer has confirmed that the changes to the 

allowances for co-opted independent persons for Standards Committee 
and Audit Committee can be met from the current budget for Members 
Allowances and can be built into the budget going forwards.  
  

5 Personnel Implications 
 
5.1 If the Electoral Arrangements Committee is established, this will be one 

more Committee that Democratic Services will support, which can be 
absorbed into the team structure.  
 

6 Environmental Considerations 
 
6.1 None 
 
7 Statutory Considerations 
 

604



 

 

7.1 Under section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000, local authorities 
must prepare a constitution and keep it up to date.  

 
7.2 Where the proposed changes relate to legislation this is set out in the 

Schedule at Annex 1.   
 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 (Pre-screening report template attached) 

 
 Neutral impact.  
 
 

9  Risk Management Implications 
 

9.1 Undertaking the Constitution review and making recommendations to 
Full Council for changes to the Constitution will serve as mitigation 
actions against the following risks in the Risk Register: 

 
Corporate Governance -  
 

The risk of failures in systems of governance within the council, within 
council owned/influenced organisations and partnerships and other  
collaboration arrangements, leading to governance issues, fraud and 
corruption, failures in management systems, poor policy and decision 
making. 
 

Reputation Management –  
 

The risk that the council’s reputation is damaged by major service 
failure, failure to respond to a significant incident(s), governance 
issues, dispute with a key partner, failure to deliver corporate business 
plan. 

 
 
10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  
 
 None 
  
 
11 Background Papers 
 
 None 
 
 
 

605



 

 

 
 
Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  
 
For equalities profile information please visit Norfolk Insight - Demographics and Statistics - Data 
Observatory 

Name of policy/service/function Review of the Constitution   

Is this a new or existing policy/ 
service/function? (tick as appropriate) 

New   Existing X 

Brief summary/description of the main 
aims of the policy/service/function being 
screened. 

 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations, and 
identify relevant legislation. 

It is a statutory requirement to continually review the 
Constitution, under the Local Government Act 2000. 
Through the work of the Constitution Informal Working 
Group, supported by the Monitoring Officer and Democratic 
Services Manager, a Schedule of Substantive Changes 
are proposed and attached as Annex 1 to this report. 

The attached Schedule identifies the relevant legislation 
where applicable. 

The proposed changes improve governance within the 
Constitution and have no direct impact on service delivery 
or decisions affecting members of the public.  

  

Who has been consulted as part of the 
development of the 
policy/service/function? – new only 
(identify stakeholders consulted with) 

Constitution Informal Working Group and the 
Corporate Performance Panel has onwards 
recommended the proposed changes be made.  

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a 
specific impact on people from one or 
more of the following groups, for example, 
because they have particular needs, 
experiences, issues or priorities or in 
terms of ability to access the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each 
group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 
impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are 
identified, then a full Equality Impact 
Assessment (Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

 

*For more information on health inequalities 
please visit The King's Fund 

 

 
P

o
s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a

ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u
re

 

Age   X  

Disability   X  

Sex   X  

Gender Re-assignment   X  

Marriage/civil partnership   X  

Pregnancy & maternity   X  

Race   X  

Religion or belief   X  

Sexual orientation   X  

Armed forces community   X  

Care leavers   X  

Health inequalities*   X  

Other (eg low income, caring 
responsibilities) 

  X  

Please provide a brief explanation of the answers above: 
 
The proposed changes improve governance within the Constitution and have no direct impact on 
service delivery or decisions affecting members of the public  
 
 

606

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Please tick to confirm completed EIA Pre-screening Form has been shared with Corporate Policy 
(corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk) 

 

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 
affect relations between certain equality 
communities or to damage relations 
between the equality communities and the 
Council, for example because it is seen as 
favouring a particular community or 
denying opportunities to another? 

Yes / No  

3. Could this policy/service be perceived 
as impacting on communities differently? 

Yes / No  

4. Are any impacts identified above minor 
and if so, can these be eliminated or 
reduced by minor actions? 
If yes, please agree actions with a 
member of the Corporate Equalities 
Working Group and list agreed actions in 
the comments section 

N/A Actions: 
 
 
 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 
………………………………………. 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 
provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 
 
 
 
Decision agreed by EWG member: ………………………………………………….. 

5. Is the policy/service specifically 
designed to tackle evidence of 
disadvantage or potential discrimination? 

Yes / No Please provide brief summary: 

Assessment completed by: 
Name  

 
Alexa Baker 

Job title  Assistant Director, Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

Date completed  15/09/2025 

Reviewed by EWG member Amy Pearce Date 15/09/2025 

607

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


CONSTITUTION INFORMAL WORKING GROUP 

TABLE OF PROPOSED SUBSTANTIVE AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION: 

No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

1 Policy Framework  
 
 
 

Part 2 Articles – 4.01 
Functions of the Council 
– Definitions  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Replace the current definition of Policy 
Framework with the following: 
 
(i) Policy framework: The Policy Framework 
comprises of the following policies, plans 
and strategies:- 

 Corporate Strategy  

 Constitution  

 Capital Strategy  

 Capital Programme  

 Treasury Management Strategy  

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 Risk Management Policy  

 Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans and 
other Development Plan Documents 

 Asset Management Strategy; 

 Health and Safety Policies  

 Fees and Charges Policy; 

 Licensing Policies  

This limits the Policy 
Framework to those 
policies connected to 
non-executive 
functions, meaning 
the remainder of 
Council policies 
become an executive 
function, subject to 
the Scheme of 
Delegation.  
 
This is the practice 
adopted by most 
other Councils, 
including local 
Councils.  
 
 
 

608



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

 
 
 
 
 
Part 3 Remits and 
Terms of Reference of 
Council Bodies – Part B 
Cabinet 
 
 
 
 
 

 Gambling Policy  

 Pay Policy 
 
 
Amend B.11 as follows: 
 
Adopt corporate and service policies and 
make recommendations to Council on its 
Policy Framework 

2 Discretion of 
Cabinet to make 
recommendations 
on Full Council 
function decisions  
 
 

Part 3 Remits and 
Terms of Reference of 
Council Bodies – Part B 
Cabinet 

Remove current wording: 
 
B.7 Be the source of timely reports to the 
Council to enable it to take decisions on 
matters reserved to the Council to decide 
and which form Part 1 of the list in 
Appendix F 
 
And replace with: 
 

 

609



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

Make recommendations to the Council on 
matters reserved to the Council set out in 
Part 1 of Part G below, where Cabinet elects 
to do so.  
 

3 Remove ICT 
Development 
Group Reference 
from Financial 
Regulations  
 

Financial Regulations  Remove Regulation 11 in its entirety and 
replace with NOT USED so as not to disrupt 
remaining numbering  

This conflicts with the 
Scheme of Delegation 
on decision making; 
the ICT Development 
Group is not 
constituted to take 
operational decisions 
    

4 Enabling Full 
Council to remove 
a Councillor from a 
Council Body or 
remove the 
position of 
Chair/Vice Chair in 
response to a 
Standards 
Committee 

Standing Order 29 Add in a new Standing Order 29.2B: 
 
Full Council may resolve at any time to: 
 

i) remove any Member (including the 
Chair) from a Council Body 

ii) remove and (where relevant) 
replace a Chair/Vice Chair of a 
Council Body 

 

To provide the 
Standards regime 
with more impact and 
force.  

610



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

recommendation 
following a hearing 
 

pursuant to a recommendation from the 
Standards Committee or its sub-committee, 
following a finding of breach of the 
Member Code of Conduct. 
 

5 Inclusion of 
Outside Bodies 
into the Articles  

Part 2 - Articles  See Appendix 1 
 

To provide greater 
explanation and 
transparency to the 
public and new 
Members on the 
Council’s presence on 
Outside Bodies 
 

6 Inclusion of wholly 
owned Council 
Companies and the 
Shareholder 
function into the 
Articles  
 

Part 2 Articles See Appendix 2 The Council has had 
wholly owned 
companies since 2016 
but this function has 
never formally been 
recognised in the 
Constitution before, 
save for reference in 
the Scheme of 
Delegation.  
 

611



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

7 Crime and disorder 
scrutiny function  

Part 2 Articles and Part 
3 Terms of Reference 
for the Policy Review & 
Development Panels   

Add in a new 6.07 (j) to Part 2 Articles and 
reflect in Part H of Part 3: 
 
(j) To discharge crime and disorder scrutiny 
functions to review or scrutinise decisions 
made, or other action taken, in connection 
with the discharge by the responsible 
authorities of their crime and disorder 
functions under Section 19 of the Police 
and Justice Act 2006 and associated 
regulations, including reviewing 
Community Safety Partnership strategies, 
holding at least one dedicated meeting per 
year, and noting the role of the Norfolk 
Police and Crime Panel in overseeing the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Norfolk, and to liaise as appropriate. 
 
Amend Article 6.01 (d) as shown: 
 
(d) Other non-executive members (i.e. 
those not sitting on a Policy Review and 
Development  

To explicitly set out 
statutory compliance 
with the Police and 
Justice Act 2006 

612



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

Panel) may put any matter for discussion 
forward for inclusion on a relevant Scrutiny 
and  
Overview agenda. In such instances, 
inclusion of the matter is at the discretion 
of the relevant Scrutiny and Overview 
body’s Chair and Vice-Chair, in 
consultation with the relevant officers, 
save where the matter relates to crime 
and disorder under section 19 of the Police 
and Justice Act 2006 in which case it will 
be included onto the next agenda. The 
decision, on whether to approve inclusion 
or not, then being reported under Chair’s 
Correspondence at the body’s next 
meeting. The following factors would be 
influential in arriving at such a decision: 
i.) the appropriateness of the item to the 
relevant Panel’s/ Committee’s remit; 
ii.) any similar items that may already be 
on work programmes/ schedules; 
iii.) existing workloads and priorities (these 
would not preclude the item from  

613



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

 consideration but may affect the 
scheduling of such consideration. 
 

8 Independent 
Person for 
Standards  
Committee  

 
 
Part 3 Remits and 
Terms of Reference of 
Council Bodies – Part A 
Appointments 
Board/Investigating and 
Disciplinary Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Standing Order 29.1 
 
 
 
 
 

Make the following amendments: 
 
A.8 Within the procedures established by 
the Council, the Appointments Board shall 
appoint persons to the Councillors’ 
Independent Allowances Panel and shall 
select the nominations to the non-
councillor places on the Standards  
Committee (subject to the involvement of 
the Chair/Vice Chair) for recommendation 
to Full Council for appointment. 
Standards Committee 7 Members 
(Politically Proportional) (plus up  
to 2 non-voting Parish representatives and 
one  
Independent Person selected from a pool 
of up to 3 co-optees) 
 
 
 

  
To regularise with 
statutory 
requirements and to 
make explicit 
provisions for the 
selection of 
Independent Persons, 
in respect of which 
we ought to be 
appointing at least 
two to secure 
compliance with 
procedures under the 
Appointments 
Board/Investigating 
and Disciplinary 
Committee. 
 
A review of expenses 
for this role has been 

614



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

 
 
Member Allowances 
Scheme 
 
 
 
Part 3 Scheme of 
Delegation 
Section 15 – Standards 
Committee 
 

Amend the Special Responsibility 
Allowance for a Standards Committee co-
optee from £273 to: £30.00 per hour 
(capped at a total of 70 hours) 
 
Add to Officer Delegations to the 
Monitoring Officer: 
 
Determine and undertake arrangements 
for the purposes of enabling the selection 
of co-opted Independent Persons for 
Standards Committee by the 
Appointments Board/Investigating and 
Disciplinary Committee 
 
Consultation  
 
In consultation with the Chair of Standards 
Committee 
 

undertaken to 
increase the 
likelihood of 
recruitment and 
retention into the 
posts which shall be 
going out to advert 
shortly, and bring in 
line with other 
Norfolk authorities’ 
approach.  

9 Independent 
Person – Audit 
Committee – 

Part 3 Remits and 
Terms of Reference of 
Council Bodies – Part F 
Audit Committee 

Appendix 3  To clarify the 
delegations in 
relation to 
appointment.  

615



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

appointment 
process 

 

 
 
 
Standing Order 29.1 
 
 
 
 
Member Allowances 
Scheme 
 
 
 
Part 3 Scheme of 
Delegation 
 

 

 
A review of expenses 
for this role has been 
undertaken to 
increase the 
likelihood of 
recruitment and 
retention into the 
posts which shall be 
going out to advert 
shortly, and bring in 
line with other 
Norfolk authorities’ 
approach. 

10 Electoral 
Arrangements 
Committee  

 

Part 2 – Articles 
Part 3 – Remits and 
Terms of Reference  
Part 4 – Standing 
Orders  

See Appendix 4  Establishes a new 
non-executive 
committee to 
oversee electoral 
reviews, polling 
arrangement and 
Community 

616



No. Summary Section of 
constitution  
 

Proposed change Why? 

Governance Reviews. 
This ensures 
statutory compliance 
and provides a clear 
governance route for 
electoral matters that 
maintains a clear 
separation of roles 
between the 
executive and non-
executive.  
 

 

617



APPENDIX 1 – OUTSIDE BODIES  

 

1. ADDITION TO PART 2 - ARTICLES: NEW ARTICLE 17: 
 

Article 17 – Outside Bodies 
 

17.01 An Outside Body means any organisation, association, company, trust, partnership, joint committee, charity, or other legal 
entity, whether incorporated or unincorporated, to which the Council appoints or nominates one or more Members or officers 
to serve in the designated capacity. 

 
17.02 This includes (but is not limited to): 
 

 Statutory partnerships or joint authorities 
 

 Charitable or voluntary sector organisations 
 

 Wholly or jointly owned companies 
 

 Trust boards, management committees, and advisory bodies 
 

 Public sector organisations and cross-agency boards 
 
17.03 Appointees may serve in various capacities including as a member of the Outside Body, a director of a board, a trustee, an 

observer, monitoring role or advisory role, depending on the legal nature of the body. 
 
17.04 The Council may appoint or nominate Members or officers to Outside Bodies where it is considered to further the Council’s 

strategic objectives, in compliance with a statutory requirement or to foster collaboration. 
 
17.05 Appointments shall be made by Cabinet to executive function Outside Bodies, by the relevant Policy Review & Development 

Panel for scrutiny based Outside Bodies and the remainder by Full Council. Appointments and nominations to executive 
and scrutiny based Outside Bodies shall be deemed to be delegated to those respective functions by Full Council.  

 

618



APPENDIX 1 – OUTSIDE BODIES  

17.06  Where the Council makes a nomination, formal appointments by the Outside Body must still be made with due regard to 
the nature and legal status of the Outside Body, where relevant. 

 
17.07 The Council shall maintain and publish on its website a register of all current Outside Body appointments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

619



APPENDIX 2 – SHAREHOLDER FUNCTION  
 

 

1. ADDITION TO PART 2 - ARTICLES: NEW ARTICLE 18: 
 

Article 18 – Wholly Owned Companies 
 

Establishment 
 
18.01 The Council may establish companies which are wholly-owned by the Council (hereafter “Council Companies”). Council 

Companies are separate legal entities, governed by their own boards and subject to company law.   
 
18.02 Any company established by the Council in which the Council exercises the majority control – whether limited by shares or 

limited by guarantee – shall be considered a Council Company.  
 
18.03 The Council shall have a Shareholder Function in respect of each of the Council Companies.  
 
18.04 Where a company is limited by guarantee, and the Council is the sole member or has effective control, the Council shall be 

treated as the ‘Shareholder’ for the purposes of this Constitution. This terminology is used for consistency and ease of 
reference and does not affect the underlying legal structure of the company.  

 

Shareholder Function  
 
18.05  The Shareholder Function is an executive function. 
 
18.06 The Shareholder Function will be exercised via a sub-committee of Cabinet known as the Shareholder Committee, with terms 

of reference approved by Cabinet, with officer delegation set out in the Scheme of Delegation.  
 

 

 
 
 
 

620



APPENDIX 2 – SHAREHOLDER FUNCTION  
 

2. ADDITION TO PART 3 - REMITS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE OF COUNCIL BODIES – B CABINET 
 
After B.19 add a new B.20: 
 
B.20 Exercising the Council’s Shareholder Function (see Part 2 – Article 17) in respect of the Council Companies, or companies in 

which the Council has an interest 
 
(renumber the rest of Part B accordingly) 
 
 

 

621



APPENDIX 3 – AUDIT COMMITTEE INDEPENDENT 
MEMBERS  
 

1. AMENDMENT to Part 3 - Remits and Terms of Reference of Council Bodies – Part F Audit Committee 
 
At least one member should be an independent co-opted member (in a non-voting capacity) where an appointment 
has been made by the Audit Committee. However, the Audit Committee may still operate and conduct meetings 
in the absence of an independent co-opted member 
 
 

2. ADDITION to the Members Allowances Scheme 
 
Amend the Special Responsibility Allowance section entitled ‘3 Policy and Review Panels & Audit Committee’ to 
add in an Audit Committee independent co-opted Member at an amount of £242.00 per Audit Committee meeting 
 
 

3. ADDITION to Scheme of Delegation – Audit Committee 
 
Add a new section 16 ‘Audit Committee’ 
 

Body 
 

Functions 
 

Consultations  Officer Delegations Limits on 
delegation 

16 Audit 
Committee 

16.1 Approve annual Financial 
Statements 
 
 

 CFO 

 

Preparation of annual financial statements for 
submission to Audit Committee and external 
auditors. 
 

 
 
 

 16.2 Approval Annual 
Governance Statement  

 Chief Officers  

622



APPENDIX 3 – AUDIT COMMITTEE INDEPENDENT 
MEMBERS  

 

 
4. AMENDMENT of Standing Order 29.1 

 
Audit Committee  9 Members (Politically Proportional) plus up to 2 non-voting 

independent co-opted members 
 
 
 
 

 

Preparation of Annual Governance Statement for 
submission to Audit Committee and external 
auditors. 

 

 16.3 Appointment of 
independent co-opted members 
of Audit Committee 
 

Chair of Audit 
Committee 
 
 
 
 

CFO 

 
Determine and undertake arrangements for the 
purposes of enabling the selection of independent 
co-opted Members by Audit Committee 
 
 

 

623



APPENDIX 4 – ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS COMMITTEE  

 

 

1. ADDITION to Part 3 - Remits and Terms of Reference of Council Bodies – NEW Part I - Electoral 
Arrangements Committee 

 
PART I - ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS COMMITTEE 

Composition 

I.1 The Electoral Arrangements Committee shall consist of up to 10 members and shall be politically proportional. No Councillor 

shall be disqualified from appointment by membership of any other Council body.  

I.2 The Committee is a non-executive Committee whose functions are delegated to it by Full Council.  

I.3 For the making of general arrangements for its operation, the whole Committee shall be convened.  

I.4 Panels of the Committee may be used for undertaking the Committee’s functions relating to Community Governance Reviews. 

The Chair in consultation with the Monitoring Officer shall designate at least three Committee Members to form such Panels. 

In designating the Members to form a Panel, regard shall be had to political proportionality and the nature of the issues under 

consideration in the Review.  

Functions referred to the Committee 

The Committee shall have the following functions. 

I.5 To oversee reviews conducted by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England; 

I.6 To oversee the designation and periodic review of polling districts, polling places and polling stations for Parliamentary, District, 

and Parish elections. 

624



APPENDIX 4 – ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS COMMITTEE  

 

I.7 To oversee Community Governance Reviews (“CGR”), including: 

a. formulating recommendations to Full Council on commencing a discretionary CGR that has been requested; 

b. making recommendations to Full Council on the Terms of Reference for each valid CGR; 

c. reviewing responses received following consultation exercises; 

d. formulating recommendations to Full Council on governance changes; and 

e. reviewing Reorganisation Orders and related electoral/boundary changes and making recommendations to Full Council 

 

I.8 To make any other reports and/or recommendations to Full Council in connection with the discharge of any of the Committee’s 

functions.  

 
 

2. ADDITION to Scheme of Delegation – Electoral Arrangements Committee 
 
Add a new section 17 ‘Electoral Arrangements Committee’ 
 

Body 
 

Functions 
 

Consultations  Officer Delegations Limits on 
delegation 

17 Electoral 
Arrangements 
Committee 

17.1 Overseeing 
Community Governance 
Reviews (CGR) 
 
 

Chair of the 
Electoral 
arrangements 
Committee 

Chief Officers 

 
For mandatory CGRs: confirm validity  (e.g. it has 
sufficient valid signatures, and contains 
necessary information) and thereby the 
commencement of the CGR 
 

 
 
 

625



APPENDIX 4 – ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS COMMITTEE  

 

 

 
3. ADDITION to Standing Order 29.1 

 
Electoral Arrangements Committee  10 Members (Politically Proportional)  
 

4. ADDITIONS  
 
All other consequential additions to reference and lists of Committees in the Constitution 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 16.2  Overseeing 
Community Governance 
Reviews (CGR) 

 Chief Officers 

 

Day to day management of consultation 
procedures  

Preparation of Annual Governance Statement for 
submission to Audit Committee and external 
auditors. 

 

 

626


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	Minutes
	Minutes , 24/07/2025 Cabinet

	4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	8 FORWARD DECISIONS
	9 MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET FROM OTHER BODIES
	Recommendations from Corporate Performance Panel
	Recommendations from Environment and Community Panel

	10 QUARTER 1 2025-2026 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT
	20250916 Cabinet Q1 2025-26 Performance Management Report
	REPORT TO CABINET
	Date of meeting:     16 September 2025
	Recommendation

	Q1 2025-26 Performance Management Report

	11 COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) - FUNDING POLICY AND SPENDING STRATEGY
	Signed_CIL Policy and Spend_EIA Pre-screening form Rev 6
	Appendix A PAS CIL Governance Report
	1. Summary
	2. Introduction
	3. Findings & Recommendations

	Appendix B V1 Cabinet_CIL Policy Document
	Introduction
	CIL Funding Applications
	Award of funding
	Starting the project
	Approved projects for CIL funding
	Payment of funding
	Withholding or recovery of payment
	Compliance and insurance
	Limitation of liability
	Communication and monitoring
	Publicity for the project
	Freedom of information

	CIL Funding – Strategic Projects
	Award of funding
	Payment of funding
	Communication and monitoring

	Miscellaneous

	Appendix C CIL Spending Strategy_Tracked Changes
	Project Plan
	TORs_CIL Spending Panel
	3 - Corporate & Local Plan Priorities
	Corporate Priorities
	Promote growth & prosperity to benefit West Norfolk
	Protect our environment
	Efficient and effective delivery of our services
	Support our communities

	Current LP Priorities
	Economy
	Society
	Environment
	Places

	Current LP Infrastructure Requirements
	LP05
	LP13
	LP19
	LP38
	LP39
	LP40

	Current IDP (2022)
	Annual List (2021)
	Specific projects in schedule

	Neighbourhood Plans
	Brancaster – 22.02.2021
	Burnham Market – 26.09.2023
	Castle Acre – 10.02.2022
	Grimston, Pott Row, Roydon, Congham – 27.08.2024
	Heacham – 30.06.2022
	Holme-next-the-Sea – 27.07.2021
	North Wootton – 27.11.2024
	Ringstead – 20.02.2025
	Sedgeford – 16.09.2019
	South Wootton – 20.01.2023 (review; prev 2015)
	Stoke Ferry – 29.08.2023
	Terrington St John – 12.10.2021
	Tilney All Saints – 27.07.2021
	Upwell – 27.07.2021
	Walpole Cross Keys – 05.10.2017
	Watlington – 13.12.2023
	West Winch & North Runcton – 05.10.2017


	5 - PAS Start with the Spend in Mind_Best Practice Guide on Developer Contributions (February 2020)

	12 PLAYING PITCH AND SPORTS FACILITIES STRATEGY ADOPTION
	West Norfolk Playing Pitch Strategy June 2025
	West Norfolk Sports Facilities Strategy June 2025 FINAL

	13 BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 1 - 2025/2026
	Q1 revenue monitoring report
	Appendix A
	Appendix B - Capital
	Appendix C - Digital Sign
	Appendix D - STW
	Appendix E - ICT Development
	Appendix F - Captial Strategy Extract

	14 KING'S LYNN CEMETERY PROVISION
	15 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT PANEL - TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE INFORMAL WORKING GROUP
	16 CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION
	401579 - 2025 Substantive Amendments to Constitution
	403733 - Outside Bodies - Appendix 1
	403734 - Shareholder Function - Appendix 2
	404020 - Audit Committee Independant Person - Appendix 3
	404206 - Electoral Arrangements Committee - Appendix 4


